Sergio Duarte · Jean-Pierre Gazeau Sofiane Faci · Tobias Micklitz Ricardo Scherer · Francesco Toppan *Editors*

Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries

Proceedings of the 31st International Colloquium in Group Theoretical Methods in Physics



Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries

Sergio Duarte • Jean-Pierre Gazeau • Sofiane Faci Tobias Micklitz • Ricardo Scherer Francesco Toppan Editors

Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries

Proceedings of the 31st International Colloquium in Group Theoretical Methods in Physics



Editors Sergio Duarte Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Sofiane Faci Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Ricardo Scherer Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro Seropédica, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Jean-Pierre Gazeau Laboratoire APC Paris Diderot University Paris, France

Tobias Micklitz Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Francesco Toppan Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

ISBN 978-3-319-69163-3 ISBN 978-3-319-69164-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017957055

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 20G42, 20-06, 37K20, 37N20, 65H17, 70S15, 81Q60

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Dedication to Bertram Kostant



Bertram Kostant, Professor Emeritus of Mathematics at MIT, died at the Hebrew Senior Rehabilitation Center in Roslindale on Thursday February 2 at the age of 88.

He was a Professor of Mathematics at MIT from 1962 until 1993 when he officially retired yet continued his active life in research, traveling and lecturing at various universities and conferences around the world. Kostant's legacy spans well over five decades, highlighting his originality and creativity in 107 published papers. His remarkable ability to connect seemingly diverse ideas led to brilliant results that formed the cornerstone of rich and fruitful theories both in mathematics and theoretical physics. It has been said, "Bert's gift to the world showed a deep passion for truth, for understanding, and for beauty, and an unshakeable faith that these things are woven together."

Bertram Kostant was born on May 24, 1928 in Brooklyn, New York. He graduated from Peter Stuyvesant High School in 1945. After studying chemistry for two years at Purdue University, he switched to mathematics having fallen in love with the subject in the classes of Arthur Rosenthal and Michael Golomb, who were recent immigrants from Germany. In 1950 he earned a bachelor's degree with distinction in mathematics.

Kostant was awarded an Atomic Energy Commission Fellowship for graduate studies at the University of Chicago. There he found a stimulating environment. The various influences on him included Marshall Stone, Adrian Albert, Shing Shen Chern, Paul Halmos, Irving Kaplansky, Irving Segal, but above all, via André Weil he was exposed to the French Revolution led by the Bourbaki group with their stunning innovations in thinking about and writing down mathematics. Ed Spanier's course on Group Theory used Chevalley's text—a treasure in Kostant's library. It marked a turning point in his life, and as he often said, "the sheer beauty of it all resonated with me." And it was indeed Kostant's entrée into Lie groups for the next sixty-five years. His fundamental and varied mathematical work entailed many aspects of Lie theory, which pervades almost all of mathematics, and is marked by simplicity and elegance. Notable among the Lie areas touched upon are the following: algebraic groups and invariant theory, the geometry of homogeneous spaces, representation theory, geometric quantization and symplectic geometry, Lie algebra cohomology, Hamiltonian mechanics, modular forms, and much more.

Kostant received an M.S. degree in Mathematics in 1951, and in 1954 his Ph.D. under Irving Segal. His thesis was on "Representations of a Lie algebra and its enveloping algebra on a Hilbert space."

Between 1953 and 1956 Kostant was a Member at the Institute for Advanced Study in Princeton. In 1955-56 he was a Higgins Lecturer at Princeton University. In Princeton, his lifelong passion for Lie groups—the continuous families of symmetries at the core of great parts of geometry, mathematical physics, and even algebra—began to blossom. He investigated the "holonomy groups" arising in differential geometry, and at the same time worked to deepen our understanding of the structure of the (deceptively named!) simple Lie algebras. From 1956 to 1962 Kostant was a faculty member at the University of California at Berkeley, where he became a full professor in 1962. He was a Member of the Miller Institute for Basic Research, 1958-59.

In 1962 in he joined the faculty at MIT, where he remained for the rest of his life. Early on, Norman Levinson urged him to build the MIT Department in Representation Theory. Kostant eagerly welcomed the task, attracting new graduate students and excellent mathematicians to come to MIT. He was devoted to his weekly Lie Seminars, with both colleagues and graduate students in attendance; over the years he had encouraged more than twenty Ph.D. students. He also served as a mentor to many postdocs and young faculty members.

In the early 1960s, Kostant began to develop the "method of coadjoint orbits" and "geometric quantization" (GQ 1965) relating symplectic geometry to infinitedimensional representation theory. Geometric quantization "provided a way to pass between the geometric pictures of Hamiltonian mechanics and the Hilbert spaces of quantum mechanics. These deep and complicated subjects with their profound connections have been at the heart of several very different mathematical disciplines ever since." Kostant's great contribution was also to relate such complex ideas to much simpler mathematics. Again and again he was able to make powerful use of these relationships. For example, in the early 1960s he proved a purely algebraic result about "tridiagonal" matrices. In the 1970s, he used that result and the ideas of geometric quantization to study Whittaker models (which are at the heart of the theory of automorphic forms) and the Toda lattice (a widely studied model for onedimensional crystals). Kostant received many awards and honors. He was a Guggenheim Fellow in 1959-60 (in Paris), and a Sloan Fellow in 1961-63. In 1962 he was elected to the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, and in 1978 to the National Academy of Sciences. In 1982 he was a Fellow of the Sackler Institute for Advanced Studies at Tel Aviv University. In 1990 he was awarded the Steele Prize of the American Mathematical Society, in recognition of his 1975 paper, "On the existence and irreducibility of certain series of representations."

In 2001, he was the Chern Lecturer in Berkeley. In 1989, the University of Cordoba, Argentina named him Honorary Professore. In 1992, the University of Salamanca in Spain named him Doctor Honoris Causa; in 1997, Purdue University gave him an honorary Doctor of Science degree. Purdue cited Kostant for his fundamental contributions to mathematics and the inspiration he and his work have provided to generations of researchers.

In May 2008, the Pacific Institute for Mathematical Sciences hosted a conference: "Lie Theory and Geometry: the Mathematical Legacy of Bertram Kostant," at the University of British Columbia, celebrating the life and work of Kostant in his 80th year. In 2012 he was elected to the inaugural class of Fellows of the American Mathematical Society.

In June 2016 Kostant traveled to Rio for the Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, where he received the prestigious Wigner Medal, "for his fundamental contributions to representation theory that led to new branches of mathematics and physics." Michio Jimbo of Rikkyo University, Tokyo, Chair of the Selection Committee said: "the lifelong achievements of Bertram Kostant have had a profound impact in pure mathematics". At the same time, his work miraculously has been finding its way to physics. Kostant's winning the award perfectly suits the spirit of Wigner who coined the famous phrase, "the unreasonable effectiveness of mathematics in the physical sciences."

Professor Kostant is survived by his wife Ann of 49 years; children Abbe Kostant Smerling of Lexington, Massachusetts; Steven Kostant of Chevy Chase, Maryland; Elizabeth Loew of Stoughton, Massachusetts; David Amiel of Glendale, California; Shoshanna Kostant of Boston, Massachusetts; and nine grandchildren and two great-grandchildren.

The MIT Mathematics Department held a memorial event on May 11 at 3:30 in the MIT Chapel. Further information will be posted on the MIT Mathematics Department website: math.mit.edu.

Preface

The 31st International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics (also shortened as "Group 31") was held in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, from June 19 to June 25, 2016. This was the first time that a colloquium of the prestigious and nowadays traditional ICGTMP series, which started in 1972 in Marseille, France, took place in South America.

The aim of the ICGTMP Colloquia is to provide a forum for physicists, mathematicians, and scientists of related disciplines who either develop or apply methods in group theory (further information on the history of the Colloquia and its recent development is found at the ICGTMP homepage http://icgtmp.blogs.uva.es/).

The Group 31 Colloquium was hosted by the *Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas* (CBPF), a Federal Research Institute which, since its creation in 1949, has been essential for Brazilian science in promoting research and scientific interchange. The Group 31 Colloquium, consisted of three venues, was located in different areas of Rio de Janeiro. The main activity (registration, parallel and poster sessions) took place at CBPF in the Urca neighborhood, while plenary sessions were held at the Auditorium of the *Fundação Casa de Rui Barbosa* in Botafogo. The Award Ceremony for the Wigner Medal and the Weyl Prize was held on June 22 in the new landmark of Rio de Janeiro, the *Museu do Amanhã* science museum, next to the waterfront of Pier Mauá. The last day of the colloquium a general public event was also held at *Museu do Amanhã*.

In recent years Brazil experienced a scientific boost (measured, e.g., by the number of scientific publications and their impact) which has been unparalleled in its history. To be sure, the group theoretical community was both a beneficiary and a promoter of this scientific rise. One of the motivations to organize the Group Theoretical Colloquium in Brazil was indeed to offer a unique opportunity to the growing, although scattered on a vast subcontinental nation and not yet fully organized, community of researchers working in the country (and profiting, as well, researchers from other South American nations). In this respect the colloquium was a great success, with more than 140 participants, equally split into Brazilians and foreigners. It is particularly remarkable that all continents were represented, this is a sign of the relevance of this scientific topic and of the world-wide esteem that the colloquium is held by our colleagues. This success was made possible, in particular, by grants received by TWAS, supporting participation of scientists from developing countries, and ICTP, supporting participants from Latin American countries outside of Brazil. The main sponsor of the event has been the CAPES Federal Agency which offered a substantial contribution to the Local Organizing Committee. Important logistic support with free use of the facilities was provided by CBPF, Fundação Casa de Rui Barbosa, and Museu do Amanhã.

The scientific program of Group 31 was particularly rich, with eleven plenary talks, thirteen parallel sessions with both oral and poster presentations, two laudatio speeches in honor of, respectively, the Wigner Medalist and the Weyl Prize winner, and two memorial talks. The memorial talks were held to honor renowned colleagues Laurence Boyle and Syed Twareque Ali, members of the ICGTMP Standing Committee, who sadly passed away.

Before the Colloquium, as a parallel program, a two-day Satellite Workshop on Mathematical Physics was organized on June 16 and 17 in S. Paulo by ICTP-SAIFR (the International Center for Theoretical Physics-South American Institute for Fundamental Research).

At the Inauguration of the colloquium welcome speeches were given by Mariano del Olmo, Chairman of the ICGTMP Standing Committee, Ronald Shellard, Director of the CBPF and Luiz Davidovich, President of the Brazilian Academy of Science.

A distinctive innovation of Group 31, with respect to previous colloquia, was the creation of a special prize reserved for the most interesting posters presented by Master and Ph.D. students, with the aim of promoting active participation of the new generation.

The nowadays traditional Wigner Medal and Weyl Prize Award Ceremony, held in the splendid and prestigious frame of *Museu do Amanhã*, was the highlight of the Colloquium. The Wigner Medal, established in 1978 and administered by *The Group Theory and Fundamental Physics Foundation* located at the University of Texas at Austin and represented by Arno R. Bohm, recognizes and awards outstanding contributions through group theoretical and representation methods. The 2016 Wigner Medal was awarded to Bertram Kostant. Quoting Michio Jimbo of Rikkyo University, Tokyo, chair of the selection committee, the lifelong achievements of Bertram Kostant have had profound impact in pure mathematics. At the same time his work miraculously has been finding his way to physics, suiting the spirit of Wigner who coined the famous phrase "the unreasonable effectiveness of mathematics in the physical sciences".

During his time as chairman (1994-2008), Heinz-Dietrich Dœbner convinced the Standing Committee of the International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics that it would be necessary for the future development of our field to acknowledge young researchers who presented outstanding work and to motivate them to continue and diversify their activity. Hence, the Weyl prize, established in 2002 by the Standing Committee, is awarded to young scientists who have performed original work in understanding physics through symmetries. A Selection Committee, chaired by Edward Frenkel of the University of California, Berkeley, awarded the 2016 Hermann Weyl Prize to Vasily Pestun of l'Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques for his groundbreaking results in the study of supersymmetric gauge theories.

Francesco Toppan Chairman of the Local Organizing Committee

Acknowledgments

A Colloquium of this type requires a large organization and would not have been possible without the active support of CBPF, its administration, the staff members, and the great help provided by its students. The Local Organizing Committee thanks them all for their contribution to a successful Group 31 Colloquium.

The Local Organizing Committee also thanks the colloquium other sponsors: Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES); Museu do Amanhã; Fundação Casa de Rui Barbosa; The World Academy of Sciences (TWAS); Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics (ICTP); and Fundação Roberto Marinho.

The Local Organizing Committee

Organization of the volume

This volume contains contributions to the 31st International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics held on June 19–25, 2016 in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Following the spirit of previous years, the colloquium covered a broad range of current topics from the fields of mathematical and theoretical physics. The variety of themes, joined by a common conceptual rather than a research theme, reflects well in the plenary talks given during the colloquium and range from cosmological problems to "the problem of life".

Two prestigious prizes were awarded during the colloquium: Bertram Kostant was honored with the "Wigner Medal", and Vasily Pestun received the "Hermann Weyl prize". A short description of the awardees and *exposés of the Laudatios* open the volume.

A selection of the *plenary talks* is presented in the first section of the volume. The contributions are organized in alphabetical order and were not subjected to size restrictions or to a refereeing process.

Regular talks given during the colloquium are found in the following section of *longer papers*. During the event, these talks were grouped into mathematicsand physics-oriented contributions, each further organized into one of five parallel sessions. While such a division has obvious advantages for the organization of the colloquium, we opted for an alphabetical presentation in order to facilitate their localization. Longer contributions were restricted to a maximum of 10 pages. They have undergone an independent refereeing process and editorial decisions, as a result of which most, but not all of them have been included.

Poster clips presented during the event resulted in *shorter paper* contributions, which make up the third section of the volume. Shorter papers, restricted to a maximum of two pages, underwent the same refereeing process as longer papers, and also appear in alphabetical order.

During the event a *best poster prize* was awarded to three young researchers. The first prize went to Grace Akinwande Itunuoluwa (AIMS, Senegal) for her poster "Finding a dictionary between Tensor Models and GEM crystallization manifolds". The second prize went to Diego Vidal (UNAM, Mexico) for the poster "Gravity from quantum space-time". The third and final awardee was Florencia Benitez

Martinez (U. de la República, Uruguay) for her poster "Primordial tensor modes of the early Universe". The Judging Committee was formed by Sylvie Paycha (Postdam, Germany), Sebastião Alves Dias (CBPF, Brazil) and José A. Helayël-Neto (CBPF, Brazil).

> The Editors Sergio Duarte, Sofiane Faci, Jean-Pierre Gazeau Tobias Micklitz, Ricardo Scherer, Francesco Toppan

Committees

Organizing Committee

Evaldo M. F. Curado (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro) Sergio J. B. Duarte (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro) Sofiane Faci (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro) Jean-Pierre Gazeau (Paris Diderot - Paris) José A. Helayel-Neto (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro) Zhanna Kuznetsova (UFABC - Santo André) Tobias Micklitz (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro) Hilario A. R. Gonçalves (CEFET-Rio de Janeiro) Ligia M. C. S. Rodrigues (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro) Ricardo Scherer (UFRRJ - Seropédica) Francesco Toppan - Chair (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro)

The ICGTMP Standing Committee

Chengming Bai (Nankai Univ., Tianjin, China) Cestmir Burdik (Czech Technical Univ., Prague, Czech Rep.) Octavio H. Castaños (ICN, UNAM, Mexico D.F., Mexico) Enrico Celeghini (INFN, Firenze Univ., Italy) Giulio Chiribella (IIIS, Tsinghua Univ., China) Heinz D. Doebner (Honorary Member, Clausthal Univ., Germany) Jean-Pierre Gazeau (Honorary Member, Paris Diderot Univ., France) Gerald Goldin (Rutgers Univ., USA) Piet Van Isacker (GANIL, Caen, France) Joris Van der Jeugt (Ghent Univ., Belgium) Piotr Kielanowski (Cinvestav, Mexico D.F., Mexico) Mariano A. del Olmo (Chairman, Valladolid Univ., Spain) George S. Pogosyan (Yerevan (Armenia) and Guadalajara Univ.) Michel Rausch de Traubenberg (IPHC, Strasbourg Univ., France) Christoph Schweigert (Hamburg Univ., Germany) Irina N. Stoilova (INRNE, Bulgarian Acad. Sc., Bulgaria) Francesco Toppan (CBPF, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil) Reidun Twarock (York Univ., UK) Apostolos Vourdas (Bradford Univ., UK) Katrin Wendland (Freiburg Univ., Germany)

Committees

International Advisory Committee

Nathan J. Berkovits (IFT - S. Paulo - Brazil) Luiz Davidovich (UFRJ - Rio de Janeiro - Brazil) Edward Frenkel (U. of California - Berkeley - USA) Vyacheslav Futorny (USP - S. Paulo - Brazil) Michio Jimbo (Rikkyo University - Ikebukuro - Japan) Takeshi Kodama (UFRJ - Rio de Janeiro - Brazil) Juan M. Maldacena (Princeton U. - Princeton - USA) Bogdan Mielnik (CINVESTAV - Mexico City - Mexico) Kumar S. Narain (ICTP - Trieste - Italy) Angel L. Plastino (UNLP - La Plata - Argentina) Maria Eulalia Vares (UFRJ - Rio de Janeiro - Brazil) Luc Vinet (Montreal University - Montral - Canada)

Secretary

Bruno Mariano (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro) Fabiana Scorzelli (CBPF - Rio de Janeiro)

Public Relations

Vera Lia Cardoso (UFRJ - Rio de Janeiro) Cássio Leite Vieira (CBPF & Instituto Ciência Hoje)

CBPF Student Team

Ivan E. de Cunha (TEO) Linneu Holanda (TEO) Gabriel de Lima (LAFEX) Amanda Nicotina (EXP) Cyntia Ohlig (EXP) Gabriel Freitas Silva (ICRA) Lais Soares (LAFEX)

Contents

Dedication to Bertram Kostant	v
Preface	ix
Acknowledgments	xi
Organization of the volume	xiii
Committees	xv

Part I Laudatios: Wigner Medal and Weyl Prize

Laudatio of Bertram Kostant by Michèle Vergne with Anthony Joseph and Shrawan Kumar	3
Reflecting on mathematics and mathematical physics	9
Laudatio of Vasily Pestun	11

Part II Plenary invited articles

Phenomenology of neutrinos and macroscopic bodies in non-	
commutative spacetime	17
by Giovanni Amelino-Camelia	

The dynamical evolution in quantum physics and its semi-group <i>by Arno Bohm</i>	27
Algebraic structures on the moduli spaces in gauge theories	41
Statistical mechanics for complex systems: On the structure of <i>q</i> -triplets . <i>by Constantino Tsallis</i>	51
Unconventional supersymmetry: Local SUSY without SUGRA by Jorge Zanelli	61

Part III Articles

Analysis of the production of exotic bottomonium-like resonances via heavy-meson effective theory	65
An alternative construction for the Type-II defect matrix for the sshG by A.R. Aguirre, J.F. Gomes, A.L. Retore, N.I. Spano, and A.H. Zimerman	73
Generalized supersymmetry and the Lévy-Leblond equation by N. Aizawa, Z. Kuznetsova, H. Tanaka and F. Toppan	79
Investigating the effect of cognitive stress on cardiorespiratory synchronization	85
Generalization of conserved charges for Toda models	93
On supersymmetric eigenvectors of the 5D discrete Fourier transform <i>by M. K. Atakishiyeva and N. M. Atakishiyev</i>	99
Remarks on Berezin quantization on the Siegel-Jacobi ball 1 by Stefan Berceanu	105
The good, the bad and the ugly coherent states through polynomial Heisenberg algebras 1 by Miguel Castillo-Celeita and David J. Fernández C. 1	111
Generation and dynamics of crystallised-type states of light within the Tavis-Cummings model	119

Contents

Immanants of unitary matrices and their submatrices
Group theoretical aspects of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$, $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and associated Laguerre polynomials
Galilean complex Sine-Gordon equation: symmetries, soliton solutionsand gauge couplingby Genilson de Melo, Marc de Montigny, James Pinfold, Jack Tuszynski
On completeness of coherent states in noncommutative spaces with the generalised uncertainty principle
Majorana neutrinos in an effective field theory approach
Feynman-Dyson propagators for neutral particles (local or non-local?) 159 by Valeriy V. Dvoeglazov
Generalized equations and their solutions in the (S,0)⊕(0,S) representations of the Lorentz group
Quantum cosmology with <i>k</i> -Essence theory
Troubles with the radiation reaction in electrodynamics
Gravitational "seesaw" and light bending in higher-derivative gravity 183 <i>by Antonio Accioly, Breno L. Giacchini and Ilya L. Shapiro</i>
History of particles in the early universe from contracting the Standard Model
Ternary Z ₆ -graded algebras
The zeta function approach applied to Casimir effects in a stack of conductive planes 203 by Nail Khusnutdinov, Rashid Kashapov and Lilia M. Woods 203
Rephasing invariant monomials of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix 209 by Piotr Kielanowski and S. Rebeca Juárez W.

Contents

The Schrödinger equation in rotating frames by using the stochastic variational method 215 by Tomoi Koide, Kazuo Tsushima and Takeshi Kodama
Perturbation of the Malliavin Calculus of Bismut type for a large order on a Lie group 221 by Rémi Léandre
Shift operators and recurrence relations for individual Lamépolynomialsby Eugenio Ley-Koo and Ricardo Méndez Fragoso
Shift operators and recurrence relations for Legendre polynomials with noninteger associativity and definite parity233by Eugenio Ley-Koo and Salvador A. Cruz
On completeness of Bethe Ansatz solutions for <i>sl</i> (2) Richardson–Gaudin systems
Nonadiabatic bounce in quantum cosmology
Two-dimensional massless light-front fields and conformal field theory 253 <i>by Lubomír Martinovič</i>
Pattern recognition of amino acids via a Poisson statistical approach 263 <i>by R.P. Mondaini and S.C. de Albuquerque Neto</i>
Real pseudo-orthogonal groups and the canonical commutation relations 271 <i>by Patrick Moylan</i>
Quantum isometry groups and Born reciprocity in 3d gravity
A new procedure for constructing basis vectors of irreducible representations of SU(3) under the SU(3)⊃SO(3) basis
Massive Dirac field in 3D and induced equations for higher spin fields 293 by L. Bonora, M. Cvitan, P. Dominis Prester, S. Giaccari, B. Lima de Souza and T. Štemberga
Current algebra for a generalized two-sites Bose-Hubbard model 299 by Gilberto N. Santos Filho
The role of "escort fields" in the relation between massless and massivevector (tensor) mesons305by Bert Schroer

Contents	xxi
String-localized infinite spin fields and inert matter	315
Toeplitz quantization of the quantum group $SU_q(2)$ <i>by Stephen Bruce Sontz</i>	319
The sinh-Gordon defect matrix generalized for <i>n</i> defects	325
Higher-genus amplitudes and resurgence in SUSY double-well matrixmodel for 2D IIA superstringsby Fumihiko Sugino	331
3D Higher spin gravity and the fractional quantum Hall effect	337
The "odd" Gelfand-Zetlin basis for representations of general linear Liesuperalgebrasby J. Van der Jeugt and N.I. Stoilova	343
Bannai–Ito algebras and the $osp(1,2)$ superalgebra by Hendrik De Bie, Vincent X. Genest, Wouter van de Vijver, and Luc Vinet	349
Exact state revival in a spin chain with next-to-nearest neighbour interactions <i>by Matthias Christandl, Luc Vinet and Alexei Zhedanov</i>	355
A triality between weak mutually unbiased bases, zeros of their analytic representations, and finite geometries	361
The U (2) Fourier group for rectangular pixellated images by Alejandro R. Urzúa and Kurt Bernardo Wolf	367

Part IV Short Articles

Finding a dictionary between tensor models and crystallization theory ... 377 *by Grace Itunuoluwa Akinwande*

Quantum cosmology of scalar-tensor theories and self-adjointness 381 *by Carla R. Almeida*

Luminosity of ultrahigh energy cosmic rays as a probe of black strings . . . 383 *by Rita C. Anjos, Carlos H. Coimbra-Araújo*

Contents

About nonlinear coherent states in graphene by Erik Díaz-Bautista, David J. Fernández C.	385
Painlevé IV solutions from systems with a harmonic oscillator gapped spectrum by MI Estrada-Delgado and David J. Fernández C.	389
Interior solution for a translating cylinder of matter by Pedro Henrique Meert Ferreira and Maria de Fátima Alves da Silva	391
A classical calculation of the W-boson magnetic moment by Alexandre Hefren de Vasconcelos Júnior	393
Quantum angle from E(2) coherent states quantization of motion on the circle	397
Free-energy formalism for inhomogeneous nonlinear Fokker-Planck equations <i>by Peter Rapčan, Gabriele Sicuro and Constantino Tsallis</i>	401
Relativistic deformation of Helmholtz wavefields	405

Part V Memorials: S. T. Ali and L. Boyle

Syad Twareque Ali	409
Laurence Boyle - In Memoriam	413

Group photo	
List of participants	

Part I Laudatios: Wigner Medal and Weyl Prize



2016 Wigner Medal is attributed to Bertram Kostant. Ceremony at the Museu do Amanã, Rio de Janeiro. From left to right: Olivier Fudym, Francesco Toppan, Shoshanna Kostant, Arno Bohm, Ann Kostant, Gerald Goldin, Bertram Kostant, Piotr Kielanowski, Abbe Kostant Smerling, Michelle Vergne, Jean-Pierre Gazeau, Mariano Del Olmo and Vasily Pestun. Image by Alvaro Farias.



2016 Weyl Prize is attributed to Vasily Pestun (left) by Mariano Del Olmo (right). Ceremony at the Museu do Amanã, Rio de Janeiro. Image by Alvaro Farias.

Laudatio of Bertram Kostant

Michèle Vergne with Anthony Joseph and Shrawan Kumar

The 2016 Wigner Medal has been awarded to Bertram Kostant of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (USA) for his fundamental contributions to the representation theory of Lie algebraic systems. Many of his results have led to new developments both in Mathematics and, as emphasized here, in Theoretical Physics.

For this occasion, let me highlight some of the themes in Kostant's work directly related to particle physics: Geometric quantization, convexity, and completely integrable systems. This brief account has been prepared with the help of Anthony Joseph and Shrawan Kumar.

The fundamental problem of quantum mechanics, as inaugurated by Dirac, is the passage from Hamiltonian mechanics to unitary representations of the symmetry group. Quantum mechanics should explain why some states of some physical systems take discrete values, and was directly motivated by the quantum theory of matter—at the time new—since it is the unitary transformations that preserve the all important probability density.

Valentine Bargmann and Eugene Wigner, the first recipients in 1978 of the Wigner medal, would have been delighted by the choice of the new laureate. Indeed, in his fundamental paper *Quantization and Unitary representations* (1970) B. Kostant showed that only those Hamiltonian manifolds admitting a prequantum line bundle, now called the Kostant line bundle, are candidates for giving rise to unitary representations of the symmetry group. Applied to the Poincaré group, this provided

Michèle Vergne,

Anthony Joseph,

Shrawan Kumar,

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

French National Academy of Sciences, CNRS, Université, Paris-Diderot 9 Rue de Navarre, Paris 75005, France e-mail: Michele.vergne@imp-prg.fr

Weizmann Institute of Science 234 Herzl Street Rehovot 7610001, Israel e-mail: Anthony.joseph@weizmann.ac.il

Dept. of Mathematics University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Chapel Hill, NC, 27599, USA e-mail: shrawan@unc.edu

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_1

a clear theoretical understanding as to why a massive elementary particle must have a discrete spin.

Convexity theorems are important in determining the domain where experiments should be done.

For completely integrable systems, the Hamiltonian equation is solvable in an explicit fashion, the classical example being that of the Kepler laws of planetary motion. The Toda lattice, originally introduced as a simple model for a one-dimensional crystal, was generalized by Kostant into a multi-dimensional completely integrable system defined for any semisimple Lie algebra. A very simple and brilliant idea of Kostant produces a maximal algebra of Poisson commuting functions. Furthermore, the representation theory of semisimple groups allows us to compute the evolution law of the system.

Let me comment in more detail on Geometric Quantization, its history and its recent developments along the lines of Kostant's theory. There were many ways, apparently very different, to construct unitary representations of Lie groups. For example, the unitary representation of the Heisenberg group in the Bargmann-Fock space of holomorphic functions on the *n*-dimensional complex vector space, the Borel-Weil-Bott construction of the irreducible representations of a compact Lie group K on the $\overline{\partial}$ cohomology of flag manifolds with line bundles. Kirillov's construction of unitary representations of unipotent Lie groups by polarizing coadjoint orbits, Harish-Chandra's construction of unitary representations of real semisimple Lie groups based on differential equations and induction. Kostant saw that all these constructions are part of the unique scheme of quantum mechanics: passing from a classical phase space to a Hilbert space. Kostant realized the fundamental fact that any coadjoint orbit of a Lie group gives a Hamiltonian system. These systems are the most basic ones: any Hamiltonian manifold with a transitive action of a Lie group covers a coadjoint orbit, and those that are quantizable cover an orbit satisfying some discrete integrality conditions.

Furthermore, Kostant explained quantum conditions in terms of Chern classes of line bundles: a quantizable manifold is a symplectic manifold equipped with a prequantum line bundle, now called the Kostant line bundle. It could be "quantized" as a unitary representation of the underlying Lie group of symmetry if a suitable "polarization" could be found. This separates (removes) one half of the variables of phase space, a process that encapsulated Dirac's original insight.

Building on the Bargmann-Fock realization of representations of the Heisenberg group and of the quantum harmonic oscillator, Kostant considered complex polarizations, and the notion that the corresponding Hilbert space of sections is to be found among holomorphic sections, or going into cohomological constructions among solutions of a Dirac operator.

As a first successful use of geometric quantization, Kostant (with Auslander) classified the unitary representations of real class 1 simply-connected solvable Lie groups. Geometric quantization greatly generalizes provided one allows for cohomological methods and the study of the complex structure associated to a polarization.

Kostant's study of the homology of certain nilpotent Lie algebras encompasses the Borel-Weil-Bott theorem for compact Lie groups, and is used as a fundamental tool in constructing unitary representations for any real semisimple Lie group. Finally, as shown by Duflo, and also following the deep work of many authors, notably Schmid on the discrete series, geometric quantization of admissible coadjoint orbits of maximum dimension produces most (but not all) unitary representations of any real Lie group.

Geometric quantization applies to any Hamiltonian manifold. The main intrinsic object is the Kostant line bundle, together with its connection. This provides a moment map, and a notion of reduction. The most basic pieces of geometric quantization theory are quantization of coadjoint orbits. It was shown by Meinrenken-Sjamaar how to associate to any Kostant line bundle on a manifold with a compact group of symmetry a quantum model made up of these basic pieces and reflecting the semi-classical properties obtained at the asymptotic limit.

Severe difficulties may arise in quantizing a general Hamiltonian manifold with an arbitrary symmetry group, involving the absence of a suitable polarization and the verification of unitarity. The quantization of "small" coadjoint orbits or real semisimple Lie groups are of particular interest because they lead to many relations outside of those of the Lie algebra which are often just those of a physical system. The quantization of those orbits is difficult to construct. It may seem paradoxical that it is more difficult to quantize small coadjoint orbits than orbits of maximal dimensions. This is because they are small dimensional manifolds, but with a large group of symmetries and it may not be possible to integrate the full group of symmetries with a group of symmetries of the quantized space. If the Hamiltonian space is just one point with a trivial line bundle, then the quantization is just the trivial representation of the group G.

Models of quantization are usually produced by producing several models with different groups of symmetry, and then piecing these models together. This is the way that the metaplectic representation, a representation of the full group of symmetries of the simplest phase space T^*R^n , was constructed by Segal-Shale-Weil using the uniqueness of the canonical commutation relation. The following is one of the most fundamental representations, namely, the quantization of the minimal orbit of the symplectic group. With R. Brylinski, Kostant constructed uniform Fock space models for quantizing minimal orbits. Kostant showed that the smallest non-trivial orbit (for a semisimple Lie algebra) is defined by quadratic relations, thereby giving rise to a so-called quadratic algebra. This result is of great importance. In particular, this quadratic algebra was shown to be Koszul, which meant that it could be rather readily quantized - Gerstenhaber's ghastly infinite set of quantization conditions thereby reduces to just three. Imitating this, symplectic reflection algebras were defined and have proved to be central to the understanding of several physical systems, notably the Knizhnik-Zamolodchikov equations arising in the study of quantum many-body problems.

Pursuing the work of Valentine Bargmann on the complementary series, Kostant computed a remarkable determinant (for real Lie groups) whose description still provides one of the best tests for unitarity of the complementary series. The Kostant

determinant had many other generalizations, notably by Parthasarathy-Ranga Rao-Varadarajan, Shapovalev, Jantzen and Kac. These have been used many times as a criteria for irreducibility and unitarity, and even for some infinite dimensional Lie groups.

Kostant's work on Lie algebra cohomology is an essential tool in representation theory. It was for example influential on Vogan's algebraic approach to the classification of irreducible representations of semisimple Lie groups, in particular in the success of the Atlas team in finding all unitary representations of the split form of E_8 . Let us quote Bert: "Dealing with E_8 is like looking at a diamond...from one direction, one sees 2s all over the place, from another direction, one sees 3s, from a third direction, one sees 5s,... it is magnificent, it is a symphony in the numbers 2,3 and 5".

Let us recall at this point that the classification of all irreducible unitary representations of a real Lie semisimple Lie group is still an open problem.

Can "everything" be quantized? Yes, if one abandons the idea of unitarity. Deformation quantization is in some sense an infinitesimal version of geometric quantization, and it might not be possible to integrate the symmetries. Using the powerful techniques of Feynman graphs, Kontsevich showed that deformation quantization allows us to produce a quantization of the commutation relations of any Poisson manifold as a formal series. This striking result of Kontsevich relies in part on the fundamental Hochschild-Kostant-Rosenberg theorem identifying the Hochschild homology of an affine regular algebra.

One important object of quantization is the study of the spectra of matrices. The simplest case of representation theory is to study the decomposition of a Hermitian space under the action of a Hermitian matrix. Horn-Schur showed that the diagonal of a Hermitian matrix with prescribed spectrum always lies in some convex polytope, the vertices being obtained when the matrix itself is diagonal. Convexity results are important notably in studying measurements related to quantum computers. Kostant generalizes convexity results for linear projections, and also in the context of the Iwasawa decomposition G = KAN of a real Lie group. It led to a further decomposition G = KNK of the latter. Moreover it provided a generalization of the Golden-Thompson rule which was widely used in the C^* algebra approach to quantum field theory.

Let us now discuss completely integrable systems. One of Kostant's most influential articles is his paper on the *Toda Lattice* in 1978. The fact that the solution of the Toda lattice problem can be solved by the representation theory of the corresponding semisimple Lie algebra is a result of atonishing beauty and significance. It was the ingenuity of Kostant who could see at the time the interplay between coadjoint orbits of the Borel subgroup, a Hamiltonian manifold with a solvable Lie group of symmetry, and invariant polynomials of the corresponding semisimple Lie algebra, two of Kostant's favorite subjects. As is the case with several of Kostant's ideas, it is a brilliant, surprising, yet very simple idea.

The Toda lattice, originally introduced as a simple model for a one-dimensional crystal, was transformed by Kostant into a multi-dimensional completely integrable system defined for any semisimple Lie algebra. The quantization of a transversal

slice, first undertaken by Kostant in the regular case and leading to the Whittaker model, was further developed by many in greater generality. This eventually allowed researchers (Premet, Losev, and others) to show that any nilpotent orbit could be quantized. When applied to Kac-Moody infinite dimensional Lie algebras, the Drinfeld-Sokolov generalization of the Toda system leads to *W*-algebras, the latter being important in the study of conformal field theory.

In this short talk, it is impossible to mention Kostant's various contributions to Pure Mathematics. Kostant is counted as one of the most remarkable mathematicians of the latter half of the last century in Lie Theory. Every paper by Kostant has a life of its own, being the precursor of many developments in representation theory of semisimple Lie groups and quantum groups, some developments being completely unexpected. His works and ideas have inspired innumerable mathematicians.

Each of the papers is a bright star in the dark sky of our knowledge. And, over the years, it has formed a beautiful constellation.

Thank you, Bert, for all this beautiful mathematics.

Reflecting on mathematics and mathematical physics

Bertram Kostant

Let me begin by expressing my appreciation to the Scientific Committee for awarding me the 2016 Wigner Medal, and to those on the Organizing Committee who have made it possible for me to be here tonight as well as all of you who are sharing with me in this great honor. The carefully chosen wording on this beautiful medal — "For fundamental work in representation theory that led to new branches of mathematics and physics" — resonates deeply with me, and captures the spirit of Wigner's phrase, "the unreasonable effectiveness of mathematics in the physical sciences."

I want to thank Michèle Vergne, distinguished member of the French Academy of Sciences, my colleague at MIT, and longtime friend for coming to Rio to give the Laudatio and speak about my work.

And I thank my wife Ann and two of my daughters, Abbe and Shoshanna, for coming with me to this memorable event. I would not have made it quite so easily without them. And they too insisted on being here.

I'd now like to go down memory lane with some unforgettable meetings related to mathematical physics.

I met Wigner many years ago in Princeton. Among the topics of conversation were the representation theory of the Lorenz group and the Poincaré group. I had discussions with Bargmann as well on a variety of subjects. Back in the 70s and 80s Bleuler and Doebner and so many colleagues from around the world regularly invited me to conferences in Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, which became an important part of my life, as I often recall those unforgettable meetings in Switzerland, Clausthal, and Salamanca, among others.

So, how did I get involved with group theory and Lie Groups in particular? It all began at the University of Chicago back in the late 40s and early 50s when I was a graduate student in mathematics. This was an historic time, exciting years for mathematics and physics. I met and spoke with Fermi and other physicists, and in mathematics, this period has been called the Stone Age, named for Marshall Stone

Bertram Kostant

Department of Mathematics, MIT, 5 Merrill Road Newton Centre, MA 02459. e-mail: Kostant@math.mit.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_2

who built an outstanding mathematics department. Those years became a turning point in my life.



André Weil also played a key role. He was among the many French mathematicians who led another French revolution, this time in mathematics, and brought critical ideas to the US. Weil spread the Bourbaki way of writing down and thinking about mathematics, and the sheer beauty of it all resonated with me immediately. I took a course with Ed Spanier who used Chevalley's book, which I marked up and still treasure and that was my initiation into Lie theory.

At Princeton after Chicago, I had conversations with Oppenheimer, Hermann Weyl, Von Neumann, and many others, and I often think back to Von Neumann whose engaging personality and warmth towards me was especially gratifying, as was the time he gave me to deal with some of my questions.

Fast forward to 1955, on one unforgettable day, a week before he died, I met Einstein at the Institute. I'll tell you a short story about my encounter with him. It was on a Good Friday. Einstein realized that his driver had the day off. I was

at the Institute and offered to drive him home. (In our conversation Einstein admitted his lack of mathematical knowledge.) We talked about a lot of different things and then he asked me what I was interested in. I told him I was interested in Lie Theory. Einstein looked at me, raised a shaking finger, nodded, and said "That will be very important some day."

Years later, I had stimulating conversations with Dirac in Florida. Dirac had invented a square root of the wave operator, and as a first-order operator it later gave rise by others to the theory of anti-particles. I was pleased to hear him tell me that the motivation for the operator was that it was mathematically beautiful.

This is but a very short glimpse into some of my enduring memories, which I've been privileged to share with you. Again, I want to thank the Scientific and Organizing Committees for this great honor.

Laudatio of Vasily Pestun

Luc Vinet

Dear colleagues and distinguished guests,

The Hermann Weyl Prize was established by the Standing Committee of the International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics in 2002 and is awarded every two years to recognize young scientists who have performed original work of significant scientific quality in the area of understanding physics through symmetries. To be eligible for the Weyl Prize, the candidate should be either under thirty-five years of age, or be within five years of having received the doctoral degree, at the time of the deadline of the application.

This year the members of the selection committee were:

- Edward Frenkel, UC Berkeley (Chair)
- Gitta Kutyniok, Berlin
- Neli Stoilova, Sofia
- Francesco Toppan, Rio de Janeiro
- Luc Vinet, Montreal

The Chair of our committe could not be here today and has asked me to introduce the 2016 winner of the prize which I am delighted to do.

It should first be said that the committee had a rather difficult task since there was a number of outstanding nominees that were all deserving to receive the prize. It is thus quite telling that in the end the members of the committee unanimously agreed to choose Vasily Pestun as the winner.

Vasily Pestun is currently a permanent professor at the IHS in Paris. Prior to this appointment he obtained his PhD in Physics from Princeton University under the supervision of Edward Witten; he has been a Junior Fellow at Harvard University and a member of the Institute for Advanced Study in Princeton. He has also received many awards including an ERC starting grant.

Luc Vinet,

Centre de Recherches Mathématiques, Université de Montréal, C.P. 6128, Succursale Centre-ville, Montréal, QC, Canada, H3C 3J7

e-mail: vinet@crm.umontreal.ca

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_3

Vasily Pestun is without doubt a leading mathematical physicist. His field of research is quantum field theory, its symmetries, and the use of symmetries in finding exact solutions of quantum field theory.

The groundbreaking result of Vasily Pestun is the computation of partition function of N=4 super-Yang-Mills theory on the four dimensional sphere. By an ingenious use of supersymmetric localization, he showed that this partition function, as well as the expectation values of the great circle supersymmetric Wilson loop, can be cast in the form of the correlation function of a two dimensional conformal field theory. This result led to tremendous activity in the field of BPS/CFT correspondence, with major discoveries in both two dimensional and four dimensional quantum field theories.

Let me now quote from the letter of recommendation of Nikita Nekrasov, himself a Weyl prize winner. Nikita writes:

Perhaps the most important consequence of Dr. Pestun's work was its impact on the theoretical physics community. More than to 700 papers were written following up his work, extending it in various direction here I had to change Nekrasovs text because the number of citations has grown by more than a hundred in the last 6 months. Continuing with Nikitas comments : people found that the localization approach used by Pestun for the theories on spheres can be extended to the theories on ellipsoids, giving additional parameters to the partition functions one can play with. The structure of the partition function found by V. Pestun led to the discovery of the four-dimensional version of the tt-fusion found by Cecotti and Vafa in 1992, which was resisting generalizations for almost 15 years!

More recently Pestun has given a complete and definite treatment of the ordinary and quantized Seiberg-Witten geometry of 4- and 5-dimensional quiver gauge theory. The quantized Seiberg-Witten geometry and a connection with quantum integrable systems arise in the Nekrasov-Shatashvili limit. Pestun and collaborators have developed a very elegant and powerful way of untangling the complexities of this limit. It is based on the idea of q-characters that goes back to Frenkel and Reshetikhin almost 20 years ago, and is now rapidly gaining importance and appreciation in the mathematical physics community.

Furthermore with Kimura, Pestun has defined a general notion of deformed Walgebra, which makes sense for any quiver and specialized it to the algebra considered by Frenkel and Reshetikhin for ADE quiver. He then connected the conjectural formulas for the generating fields to the geometry of the corresponding Nakajima variety and also to the notion of qq-characters investigated by Nekrasov in recent years.

Commenting on these results of Pestun the Fields medallist Sacha Okounkov wrote:

This beautiful construction completes a very important circle of ideas and represents very important progress in understanding the structure of the deformed W-algebras and in applying it to solve important problems in mathematical physics.

Okunkov concludes his recommendation letter by the following:

Vasily Pestun is a highly original, exceptionally gifted, and very successful researcher working on the interface of supersymmetric gauge theories and what you may call geometric representation theory. Both of these topics obviously relate to symmetries, but from very different perspectives and in very different ways. The way in which they become intertwined in Pestun's work is really beautiful and innovative, I therefore consider him an exceptionally fitting candidate for the Hermann Weyl Prize.

In the official award statement, Edward Frenkel the Chair of the committe had these words:

Vasily Pestun's original contributions opened new opportunities for fruitful interaction between mathematics and quantum physics. It is quite fitting that his work is honored by the prize named after Hermann Weyl, a pioneer in both of these fields who used to say that in his research, he always tried to unite the true and the beautiful.

Ladies and Gentlemen, please welcome the 2016 Weyl prize winner Vasily Pestun.

Part II Plenary invited articles

Phenomenology of neutrinos and macroscopic bodies in non-commutative spacetime

Giovanni Amelino-Camelia

Abstract Over the last decade the efforts in quantum-gravity phenomenology have been intensified significantly, and spacetime noncommutativity has inspired quite a few of the relevant proposals. I here focus on two recent developments for quantumgravity phenomenology inspired by spacetime noncommutativity, which concern neutrino observations and the description of the total momentum of a macroscopic body.

1 Introduction

The field of quantum-gravity phenomenology [3] has experienced strong growth over the last decade. Several proposals have been put forward for types of experiments and observations which might have the peculiar qualities needed to be sensitive to the minute quantum-gravity-scale effects. Among the formalisms which proved most fruitful in inspiring some of these phenomenological avenues a prominent role is played by theories with spacetime noncommutativity and the associated description of relativistic symmetries [1], which can be given in particular by Hopf algebras [5, 14, 16] (quantum groups). I here want to focus on two projects of this type, inspired by spacetime noncommutativity, which kept me busy recently and might have rather broad implications.

I have written elsewhere (see, e.g., Ref. [3] and references therein) about a phenomenology focused on propagation of photons in a quantum spacetime, for which indeed certain spacetime-noncommutativity models have provided a good part of the inspiration [5]. We are now starting to open a new window on the Universe. The first cosmological high-energy neutrinos have been observed. I here offer a short

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_4

Giovanni Amelino-Camelia

Dipartimento di Fisica, Università "La Sapienza" and Sez. Romal INFN, P.le A. Moro 2, 00185 Roma, Italia e-mail: amelino@roma1.infn.it

summary of (and perspective on) the first steps which have been taken for analyzing data from the perspective of neutrino propagation in a quantum spacetime.

Besides writing about neutrino phenomenology I shall also offer some observations on the description of the total momentum of a macroscopic body in a quantum spacetime. When there are nonlinearities in momentum space the description of macroscopic bodies can be pathologic: the same nonlinearities producing minute effects for microscopic particles (totally or for the most part not observable for us) could produce, if applicable, a picture of macroscopic bodies in sizable conflict with what is observed. Some spacetime-noncommutativity models do produce nonlinearities in momentum space, but, as I shall here show, these nonlinearities do not affect the total momentum of a macroscopic body.

2 Neutrino phenomenology

In-vacuo dispersion has been discussed extensively in the context of some muchstudied models of spacetime quantization (see, e.g., [1,3,6,7,11,12] and references therein), and particularly spacetime noncommutativity [5]. These results can inspire the hypothesis that the time needed for a ultrarelativistic particle to travel from a given source to a given detector receives a quantum-spacetime correction, here denoted with Δt . I here follow Ref. [10], so I focus on the class of scenarios whose predictions for Δt can all be described, for corresponding choices of the parameters η and δ , in terms of the formula (working in units with the speed-of-light scale "c" set to 1)

$$\Delta t = \eta \frac{E}{M_P} D(z) \pm \delta \frac{E}{M_P} D(z).$$
⁽¹⁾

Here the redshift- (z-)dependent D(z) carries the information on the distance between source and detector, for which it is customary to take exploratively the form [12]

$$D(z) = \int_0^z d\zeta \frac{(1+\zeta)}{H_0 \sqrt{\Omega_A + (1+\zeta)^3 \Omega_m}},$$
(2)

where Ω_{Λ} , H_0 and Ω_0 denote, as usual, respectively the cosmological constant, the Hubble parameter and the matter fraction. M_P denotes the Planck scale ($\simeq 1.2 \cdot 10^{28} eV$) while the values of the parameters η and δ in (1) characterize the specific scenario one intends to study. The notation " $\pm \delta$ " reflects the fact that δ parametrizes the size of quantum-uncertainty (fuzziness) effects.

The parameters η and δ are expected to take values somewhere in a neighborhood of 1, but values as large as 10^3 are plausible if the solution to the quantumgravity problem is somehow connected with the unification of non-gravitational forces while values significantly smaller than 1 find support in some renormalizationgroup arguments. In general, η and δ can take different values for different particles [3] and in particular, one should allow for a dependence of η and δ on the helicity [3] of the neutrino. The relevant phenomenology could be particularly powerful [10] for neutrinos produced by GRBs (gamma-ray bursts). For the analysis of candidate GRB neutrinos possibly affected by in-vacuo dispersion it is convenient to introduce a "distance-rescaled time delay" Δt^* defined as

$$\Delta t^* \equiv \Delta t \frac{D(1)}{D(z)} \tag{3}$$

so that (1) can be rewritten as

$$\Delta t^* = \eta \frac{E}{M_P} D(1) \pm \delta \frac{E}{M_P} D(1) \,. \tag{4}$$

If one measures a certain Δt for a candidate GRB neutrino and the redshift *z* of the relevant GRB is well known, then one gets a firm determination of Δt^* by simply rescaling the measured Δt by the factor D(1)/D(z). When the redshift of the relevant GRB is not known accurately one will be able to convert a measured Δt into a determined Δt^* with accuracy governed by how much one is able to still assume about the redshift of the relevant GRB.

In order to select some GRB-neutrino candidates one needs [9, 10] a temporal window and criteria of directional selection. The analysis of Ref. [10] focuses on neutrinos with energies between 60 TeV and 500 TeV, allowing for a temporal window of 3 days, and the directional criteria for the selection of GRB-neutrino candidates on the signal direction PDF depending on the space angle difference between GRB and neutrino: $P(v, GRB) = (2\pi\sigma^2)^{-1} \exp(-\frac{|\mathbf{x}_v - \mathbf{x}_{GRB}|^2}{2\sigma^2})$, a two dimensional circular Gaussian whose standard deviation is $\sigma = \sqrt{\sigma_{GRB}^2 + \sigma_v^2}$, denoting of course with σ_{GRB} and σ_v respectively the uncertainties in the direction of observation of the GRB and of the neutrino. One then requests [10] that a GRB-neutrino candidate should be such that the pair composed by the neutrino and the GRB is at angular distance compatible within a 2σ region.

Evidently whenever η and/or δ do not vanish one should expect on the basis of (4) a correlation between the $|\Delta t^*|$ and the energy of the candidate GRB neutrinos.

Ref. [10] considered four years of operation of IceCube, from June 2010 to May 2014. Since the determination of the energy of the neutrino plays such a crucial role in the analysis one focuses only on IceCube "shower events". There are 21 such events within our 60-500 TeV energy window, and 9 of them fit the requirements of Ref. [10] for candidate GRB neutrinos. For some of these 9 candidates the selection criteria produce multiple GRB-neutrino candidates, which one can handle by focusing on the case that provides the highest correlation.

For the majority of GRBs relevant for the analysis the redshift was not measured. For the rather rare cases of short GRBs this can be handled [10] by assuming the redshift of 0.6. For long GRBs one typically will have some in the relevant sample for which the redshift is known, and as argued in Ref. [10] one can use those known values of redshift for obtaining at least a rough estimate of the redshift of long GRBs for which the redshift is unknown.
Following these prescriptions one finds a correlation of 0.951 between $|\Delta t^*|$ and energy, for the 9 GRB-neutrino candidates found in Ref. [10]. This is a strikingly high value of correlation, which invites one to ask [10] how likely it would be to have accidentally data with such good agreement with the expectations of the quantumspacetime models here contemplated. Ref. [10] proposed that one needs to estimate how often a sample composed exclusively of background neutrinos would produce accidentally 9 or more GRB-neutrino candidates with correlation comparable to (or greater than) those found in data. This estimate was performed in Ref. [10] finding that background neutrinos could produce accidentally 9 or more GRB-neutrino candidates with correlation ≥ 0.951 only in 0.03% of cases.

These numbers are somewhat impressive but of course we should assess them prudently. These numbers already take into account the fact that the analysis involves only a few neutrinos, but somehow I still feel that because this is all about just a few neutrinos we should be more cautious than the numbers appear to suggest. There is no reason to rush to any conclusions, since more data is being gathered by IceCube and will soon be reported. Still, it is interesting to take for a moment as a working assumption that indeed these results are a true manifestation of in-vacuo dispersion. In that hypothesis what would most surprise me is that our tentative formulas provide such a good match. In particular, most results on in-vacuo dispersion, including those based on spacetime noncommutativity, were obtained for flat/non-expanding spacetimes, while of course these data analyses require to factor in the Universe expansion. The formula given above for D(z) is our best guess so far of how the effects of in-vacuo dispersion interface with spacetime expansion. For contexts where the universe is expanding at an accelerating rate we have some theory support for this D(z) (at least as one among a few possibilities [8]) by rather compelling arguments applicable to de Sitter expansion. However, at high redshifts, according to the current picture of cosmology, the Universe should be described by a phase of decelerating expansion, and we have no solid result on which to anchor our description of in-vacuo dispersion. For the case of decelerating expansion one still assumes the validity of D(z) without any support from theory. I feel that we urgently need studies of in-vacuo dispersion applicable to cases in which spacetime is in decelerated expansion.

3 On the description of macroscopic bodies in a non-commutative spacetime

An emerging characteristic of quantum-gravity research over the last decade has been a gradual shift of focus toward manifestations of the Planck scale on momentum space, particularly pronounced in some approaches to quantum gravity. In particular for some research lines based on spacetime noncommutativity several momentum-space structures have been in focus, including the possibility of deformed laws of composition of momenta. There has been growing interest in the conceptual implications and possible phenomenological implications [3] of nonlinear laws on momentum space and particularly nonlinear laws of composition of momenta. However, this interest is being tempered by concerns that a nonlinear law of addition of momenta might produce a pathological description of the total momentum of a macroscopic body (see, e.g., Refs. [2,13,15]). This issue has been often labelled as the "soccer-ball problem" [2]: the quantum-gravity pictures lead one to expect nonlinearities of the law of composition of momenta which are suppressed by the Planck scale (~ $10^{28}eV$) and would be unobservably small for particles at energies we presently can access, but in the analysis of a macroscopic body, such as a soccer ball, one might have to add up very many of such minute nonlinearities, potentially producing a conflict with experimentally-established facts.

I here show that previous discussions of this soccer-ball problem failed to appreciate the differences between two roles for laws of composition of momentum in physics. Previous results supporting a nonlinear law of addition of momenta relied exclusively on the role of a law of momentum composition in the description of spacetime locality. The notion of total momentum of a multi-particle system is not a manifestation of locality, but rather reflects translational invariance in interacting theories. After being myself confused about these issues for quite some time [2] I feel I am now in a position to address them. For definiteness I do this focusing here on a specific simple model affected by nonlinearities for a law of composition of momenta, a 2+1-dimensional model with pure-spatial κ -Minkowski noncommutativity [14, 16], so that the time coordinate is left unaffected by the deformation and the two spatial coordinates, x_1 and x_2 , are governed by

$$[x_1, x_2] = i\ell x_1 \tag{5}$$

(with the deformation scale ℓ expected to be of the order of the inverse of the Planck scale).

3.1 Soccer-ball problem and sum of momenta from locality

The ingredients needed for seeing a nonlinear law of composition of momenta emerging from noncommutativity of type (5) are very simple. Essentially one needs only to rely on results establishing that functions of coordinates governed by (5) still admit a rather standard Fourier expansion

$$\Phi(x) = \int d^4k \; \tilde{\Phi}(k) \; e^{ik_{\mu}x^{\mu}}$$

and that the notion of integration on such a noncommutative space preserves many of the standard properties, including

$$\int d^4x \, e^{ik_\mu x^\mu} = (2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)}(k) \,. \tag{6}$$

It is a rather standard exercise for practitioners of spacetime noncommutativity to use these tools in order to enforce locality within actions describing classical fields. For example, one might want to introduce in the action the product of three (possibly identical, but in general different) fields, Φ , Ψ , Υ , insisting on locality in the sense that the three fields be evaluated "at the same quantum point x", i.e., $\Phi(x)\Psi(x)\Upsilon(x)$. There is still no consensus on how one should formulate the more interesting quantum-field version of such theories, and it remains unclear to which extent and in which way our ordinary notion of locality is generalized by the requirement of evaluating "at the same quantum point x" fields intervening in a product such as $\Phi(x)\Psi(x)\Upsilon(x)$. Nonetheless for the classical-field case there is a sizable literature consistently adopting this prescription for locality. Important for my purposes here is the fact that, with such a prescription, locality inevitably leads to a nonlinear law of composition of momenta, as I show explicitly in the following example:

$$\int d^{4}\hat{x} \,\Phi(\hat{x}) \,\Psi(\hat{x}) \,\Upsilon(\hat{x}) =$$

$$= \int d^{4}\hat{x} \int d^{4}k \int d^{4}p \int d^{4}q \,\tilde{\Phi}(k) \,\tilde{\Psi}(p) \,\tilde{\Gamma}(q) e^{ik_{\mu}\hat{x}^{\mu}} e^{ip_{\nu}\hat{x}^{\nu}} e^{iq_{\rho}\hat{x}^{\rho}}$$

$$= \int d^{4}\hat{x} \int d^{4}k \int d^{4}p \int d^{4}q \,\tilde{\Phi}(k) \,\tilde{\Psi}(p) \,\tilde{\Gamma}(q) e^{i(k\oplus p\oplus q)_{\mu}\hat{x}^{\mu}}$$

$$= (2\pi)^{4} \int d^{4}k \int d^{4}p \int d^{4}q \,\tilde{\Phi}(k) \,\tilde{\Psi}(p) \,\tilde{\Gamma}(q) \,\delta^{(4)}(k \oplus p \oplus q)$$

$$(7)$$

where \oplus is such that

$$(k \oplus p)_0 = k_0 + p_0 \tag{8}$$

$$(k\oplus p)_2 = k_2 + p_2 \tag{9}$$

$$(k \oplus p)_1 = \frac{k_2 + p_2}{1 - e^{\ell(k_2 + p_2)}} \left[\frac{1 - e^{\ell k_2}}{k_2 e^{\ell p_2}} k_1 + \frac{1 - e^{\ell p_2}}{p_2} p_1 \right].$$
 (10)

This result is rooted in one of the most studied aspects of such noncommutative spacetimes, which is their "generalized star product" [4]. This is essentially a characterization of the properties of products of exponentials induced by rules of non-commutativity of type (5). Specifically, one easily arrives at (7) (with \oplus such that, in particular, (10) holds) by just observing that from the defining commutator (5) it follows that

$$\log \left[\exp \left(ik_2 \hat{x}_2 + ik_1 \hat{x}_1 \right) \exp \left(ip_2 \hat{x}_2 + ip_1 \hat{x}_1 \right) \right] =$$
(11)
$$= i\hat{x}_2 (p_2 + k_2) + i\hat{x}_1 \frac{k_2 + p_2}{1 - e^{\ell(k_2 + p_2)}} \left(\frac{1 - e^{\ell k_2}}{k_2 e^{\ell p_2}} k_1 + \frac{1 - e^{\ell p_2}}{p_2} p_1 \right).$$

The so-called soccer-ball problem concerns the acceptability of laws of composition of type (10). Since one assumes that the deformation scale ℓ is of the order of the inverse of the Planck scale, applying (10) to microscopic/fundamental particles

has no sizable consequences: of course (10) gives us back to good approximation $(k \oplus p)_1 \simeq k_1 + p_1$ whenever $|\ell k_2| \ll 1$ and $|\ell p_2| \ll 1$. But if a law of composition such as (10) should be used also when we add very many microparticle momenta in obtaining the total momentum of a multiparticle system (such as a soccer ball) then the final result could be pathological even when each microparticle in the system has momentum much smaller than $1/\ell$.

3.2 Sum of momenta from translational invariance

As clarified in the brief review of known results given in the previous subsection, a nonlinear law of composition of momenta arises in characterizations of locality, as a direct consequence of the form of some star products. My main point here is that a different law of composition of momenta is produced by the analysis of translational invariance, and it is this other law of composition of momenta which is relevant for the characterization of the total momentum of a multi-particle system. Here too I shall just use known facts about the peculiarities of translation transformations in certain noncommutative spacetimes, but exploit them for obtaining results relevant for the description of the total momentum of a multi-particle system.

A first hint that translation transformations should be modified in certain noncommutative spacetimes comes from noticing that (5) is incompatible with the standard Heisenberg relations $[p_j, x_k] = i\delta_{jk}$. Indeed, if one adopts (5) and $[p_j, x_k] = i\delta_{jk}$ one then easily finds that some Jacobi identities are not satisfied. The relevant Jacobi identities are satisfied if one allows for a modification of the Heisenberg relations which balances the noncommutativity of the coordinates:

$$[p_1, x_1] = i, \ [p_1, x_2] = 0, \ [p_2, x_2] = i,$$
(12)

$$[p_1, x_2] = -i\ell p_1 \,. \tag{13}$$

One easily finds that combining (5), (12) and (13) all Jacobi identities are satisfied.

Additional intuition for these nonstandard properties of the momenta p_j comes from actually looking at which formulation of translation transformations preserves the form of the noncommutativity of coordinates (5). Evidently the standard description

$$x_2 \to x'_2 = x_2 + a_2$$
, $x_1 \to x'_1 = x_1 + a_1$

is not a symmetry of (5):

$$[x'_1, x'_2] = [x_1 + a_1, x_2 + a_2] = i\ell x_1 = i\ell(x'_1 - a_1).$$
(14)

Unsurprisingly what does work is the description of translation transformations using as generators the p_j of (12)-(13), which as stressed above satisfy the Jacobiidentity criterion. These deformed translation transformations take the form

$$\begin{aligned} x_1' &= x_1 - ia_1[p_1, x_1] - ia_2[p_2, x_1] = x_1 + a_1 , \\ x_2' &= x_2 - ia_1[p_1, x_2] - ia_2[p_2, x_2] = x_2 + a_2 - \ell a_1 p_1 , \end{aligned}$$
(15)

and indeed are symmetries of the commutation rules (5):

$$[x'_1, x'_2] = [x_1 + a_1, x_2 + a_2 - \ell a_1 p_1] = = i\ell x_1 - \ell a_1 [x_1, p_1] = i\ell (x_1 + a_1) = i\ell x'_1 .$$
(16)

My main observation is that in order for us to be able to even contemplate the total momentum of a multiparticle system, we must be dealing with a case where translational invariance is ensured: total momentum is the conserved charge for a translationally invariant multi-particle system. Surely the introduction of translationally invariant multi-particle systems must involve some subtleties due to the noncommutativity of coordinates, and these subtleties are directly connected to the new properties of translation transformations (13), but they are not directly connected to the properties of the star product (11) and the associated law of composition of momenta (10). For my purposes, it is best to show the implications of this point very simply and explicitly, focusing on a system of two particles interacting via a harmonic potential.

I start by noticing that evidently one does not achieve translational invariance through a description of the form

$$\mathscr{H}_{non-transl} = \frac{(p_1^A)^2 + (p_2^A)^2 + (p_1^B)^2 + (p_2^B)^2}{2m} + \frac{\rho}{2} [(x_1^A - x_1^B)^2 + (x_2^A - x_2^B)^2]$$

where indices *A* and *B* label the two particles involved in the interaction via the harmonic potential. As stressed above, translation transformations consistent with the coordinate noncommutativity (5), must be such that (see (15)) $x_1 \rightarrow x_1 + a_1$ and $x_2 \rightarrow x_2 + a_2 - \ell a_1 p_1$, and as a result by writing the harmonic potential with $(x_1^A - x_1^B)^2 + (x_2^A - x_2^B)^2$ one does not achieve translational invariance.

One does get translational invariance by adopting instead

$$\mathscr{H} = \frac{(p_1^A)^2 + (p_2^A)^2 + (p_1^B)^2 + (p_2^B)^2}{2m} + \frac{\rho}{2} [(x_1^A - x_1^B)^2 + (x_2^A + \ell x_1^A p_1^A - x_2^B - \ell x_1^B p_1^B)^2]$$

This is trivially invariant under translations generated by p_2 , which simply produce $x_1 \rightarrow x_1$ and $x_2 \rightarrow x_2 + a_2$. And it is also invariant under translations generated by p_1 , since they produce $x_1 \rightarrow x_1 + a_1$ and $x_2 \rightarrow x_2 - \ell a_1 p_1$, so that $x_2 + \ell x_1 p_1$ is left unchanged:

$$x_2 + \ell x_1 p_1 \rightarrow x_2 - \ell a_1 p_1 + \ell (x_1 + a_1) p_1 = x_2 + \ell x_1 p_1.$$

It is interesting for my purposes to see which conserved charge is associated with this invariance under translations of the hamiltonian \mathcal{H} . This conserved charge will describe the total momentum of the two-particle system governed by \mathcal{H} , i.e., the center-of-mass momentum. It is easy to see that this conserved charge is just the

standard $\mathbf{p}^A + \mathbf{p}^B$. For the second component one trivially finds that indeed

$$[p_2^A + p_2^B, \mathscr{H}] = 0$$

and the same result also applies to the first component:

$$\begin{split} & [p_1^A + p_1^B, \mathscr{H}] \propto [p_1^A + p_1^B, (x_1^A - x_1^B)^2] + \\ & + [p_1^A + p_1^B, (x_2^A + \ell x_1^A p_1^A - x_2^B - \ell x_1^B p_1^B)^2] = \\ & = [p_1^A + p_1^B, (x_2^A + \ell x_1^A p_1^A - x_2^B - \ell x_1^B p_1^B)^2] \propto \\ & \propto [p_1^A + p_1^B, x_2^A + \ell x_1^A p_1^A - x_2^B - \ell x_1^B p_1^B] \\ & = -i\ell p_1^A + i\ell p_1^A + i\ell p_1^B - i\ell p_1^B = 0 \end{split}$$
(17)

where the only non-trivial observation I have used is that (5) leads to $[p_1, x_2 + \ell x_1 p_1] = -i\ell p_1 + i\ell p_1 = 0.$

The result (17) shows that indeed $\mathbf{p}^A + \mathbf{p}^B$ is the momentum of the center of mass of my translationally-invariant two-particle system, i.e., it is the total momentum of the system.

The concerns about total momentum that had been voiced in discussions of the Planck-scale soccer-ball problem were rooted in the different sum of momenta relevant for locality, the \oplus sum discussed in the previous section. It was feared that one should obtain the total momentum by combining single-particle momenta with the nonlinear \oplus sum. The result (17) shows that this expectation was incorrect. One can also directly verify that indeed $\mathbf{p}^A \oplus \mathbf{p}^B$ is not a conserved charge for my translationally-invariant two-particle system, and specifically, taking into account (10), one finds that

$$[(\mathbf{p}^A \oplus \mathbf{p}^B)_1, \mathscr{H}] \neq 0.$$

4 Outlook

The results I here summarized for candidate GRB neutrinos are evidently intriguing and set the stage for a very active research line, considering that IceCube will take much more data and other neutrino telescopes (such as KM3NeT) are at advanced stage of scheduling. By 2019 IceCube alone should put this sort of analyses in position to work with more than twice the amount of data so far available. In general I expect that the new opportunities provided by the birth of neutrino astrophysics will affect fundamental physics very strongly.

The description of macroscopic bodies in a quantum spacetime has been a very active area of study, to which I here contributed novel results for the description of total momentum. The "soccerball problem" fades away. From a conceptual perspective it is also interesting that the analysis I here reported makes us appreciate how our current theories are built on a non-trivial correspondence between the momentumspace manifestations of locality and translational invariance. I hope future studies will allow us to understand more in depth the subtleties of this correspondence, which were here only preliminarily exposed. This might be achieved by also taking as guidance the fact that in Galilean relativity all laws of composition of momenta and velocities are linear, and there is a linear relationship between velocity and momentum. Within Galilean-relativistic theories one could choose to never speak of momentum, and work exclusively in terms of velocities, with apparently a single linear law of composition of velocities. In our current post-Galilean theories, the relationship between momentum and velocity is non-linear (and velocities are composed non-linearly, while the laws of composition of momenta remain linear) and we then manage to better appreciate the differences between the logical roles of the composition law for momenta and those of the composition law for velocities.

References

- 1. Amelino-Camelia G., Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 11, 35 (2002).
- 2. Amelino-Camelia G., Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 11, 1643 (2002).
- 3. Amelino-Camelia G., Living Rev. Rel. 16, 5 (2013).
- 4. Amelino-Camelia G., Arzano M., Phys.Rev. D 65, 084044 (2002).
- 5. Amelino-Camelia G. and Majid S., Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15, 4301 (2000).
- 6. Amelino-Camelia G., Smolin L., Phys.Rev. D 80, 084017 (2009).
- Amelino-Camelia G., Ellis J., Mavromatos N.E., Nanopoulos D.V., Sarkar S., Nature 393, 763 (1998).
- 8. Amelino-Camelia G., Marciano A., Matassa M., Rosati G., Phys.Rev. D 86, 124035 (2012).
- 9. Amelino-Camelia G., Guetta D., Piran T., APJ 806, 269 (2015).
- 10. Amelino-Camelia G., L. Barcaroli, G. D'Amico, N. Loret and G. Rosati, Phys. Lett. B **761**, 318 (2016).
- 11. Gambini R., Pullin J., Phys. Rev. D 59, 124021 (1999).
- 12. Jacob U., Piran T., Nature Phys. 3, 87 (2007).
- 13. Kowalski-Glikman J., Lect. Notes Phys. 669, 131 (2005).
- 14. Lukierski J., Ruegg H., Zakrzewski W.J., Ann. Phys. 243 (1995) 90.
- 15. Maggiore M., Nucl. Phys. B 647, 69 (2002).
- 16. Majid S., Ruegg H., Phys.Lett. B 334, 348 (1994).

The dynamical evolution in quantum physics and its semi-group

Arno Bohm

Abstract Experiments on quantum systems are usually divided into preparation of states and the registration of observables. Using the traditional mathematical methods (the Hilbert space or the Schwartz space of distribution theory), it is *not* possible to distinguish mathematically between observables and states. The Hilbert space boundary conditions for the dynamical equation lead by mathematical theorems (Stone-von-Neumann) to unitary group evolution with $-\infty < t < +\infty$. In contrast, the set-up of a scattering experiments calls for time-asymmetric boundary conditions. Therefore, a new axiom of quantum theory is needed. This is the Hardy space axiom, which uses a pair of Hardy spaces, one of them for states (defined by detectors). The Paley-Wiener theorem for Hardy spaces then leads to semi-groups and time asymmetry. It introduces a finite beginning of time t_0 for a time asymmetric quantum theory, which can be observed by an ensemble of onset times $t_0^{(i)}$ of dark periods in Dehmelt's quantum jump experiments with single ions [1].

1 Time symmetric quantum theory

Time in quantum theory is usually assumed to extend over $-\infty < t < +\infty$.

Time Asymmetric Quantum Theory [2] is a quantum theory in which:

- the time *t* has a preferred direction: $t_0 = 0 \le t < \infty$
- the energy *E* (eigenvalue of the "essentially" selfadjoint Hamiltonian *H*) can take (discrete and continuous) values in the complex energy planes: *E* → *z* ∈ C_±

Arno Bohm

Department of Physics, University of Texas at Austin, U.S.A. e-mail: bohm@physics.utexas.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_5

The conventional mathematical theory for quantum physics [3]: is time-symmetric

- the time *t* extends over $-\infty < t < +\infty$
- the energy *E* is real (spectrum of selfadjoint Hamiltonian *H*) and it is bounded from below ("stability of matter"): $0 = E_0 \le E < \infty$.

This is a consequence of the choice of the *boundary conditions* for the dynamical equations

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\psi = -H\psi$$
 (2a) or $i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\phi = H\phi$ (2b)

the Heisenberg eq. for observables $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ and Schrödinger eq. for states ϕ .

To find the solutions of differential equations one needs *Boundary Conditions* (B.C.). In Standard Quantum Mechanics these B.C. are usually chosen to be given by the

Hilbert Space Axiom:

set of states $\{\phi\}$ =set of observables $\{\psi\} = \mathscr{H}$ = Hilbert space (norm-complete) (3)

This means energy wave functions $\langle E | \phi \rangle = \phi(E)$, $\langle E | \psi \rangle = \psi(E)$ are *Lebesgue* square integrable functions of energy, i.e., to one state ϕ does not correspond one wave function $\phi(E)$ but infinitely many that differ from each other on a set of measure zero, e.g., at all rational numbers *E*.

To avoid these complications one uses in quantum physics only smooth Schwartz space functions $\phi(E)$ and $\psi(E)$ and the convergence is defined not by one norm, but by a countable number of norms, e.g. for the harmonic oscillator by the definition of norms:

$$(\phi, \psi)_n = (\phi, (H+E_0)^n \psi), \quad n = 0, 1, 2, 3...,$$
 (4)

where *H* is the energy operator or the Nelson operator for the quantum system.

In the Dirac formulation one uses the Schwartz space Φ with countable norms, as e.g., defined by (4):

1) The solutions of both the Heisenberg equation as well as the solutions of the Schrödinger equation (observable and state) have a Dirac basis vector expansion for processes with continuous *E*:

$$\phi = \sum_{j,j_3,\eta} \int dE \ |E, j, j_3, \eta\rangle \langle E, j, j_3, \eta | \phi \rangle = \int dE \ |E\rangle \langle E | \phi \rangle, \tag{5}$$
(an analogue of $\mathbf{x} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mathbf{e}_i x^i$).

The basis vectors $|E, j, j_3, \eta\rangle$ are "eigenkets" of the energy operator *H* (and a complete system of commuting operators *H*, J^2 , J_3 , η^{op}), using angular momentum *j*, *j*₃ and possibly other quantum numbers η :

 $\langle \phi | H | E, j, j_3, \eta \rangle = E \langle \phi | E, j, j_3, \eta \rangle$ for all vectors $\phi, \psi \in \Phi, | E \rangle \in \Phi^{\times}$.

To each vector ϕ corresponds then one function $\langle E | \phi \rangle = \phi(E)$ of *E* (and additional quantum numbers, like *j*, *j*₃).

The components of φ, i.e. the bra-kets (E | φ) = φ(E) are smooth, rapidly decreasing functions of E ("Schwartz function" ∈ 𝟸_{ℝ+}), and

one has a triplet of function spaces $\{\phi(E)\} = \mathscr{S} \subset L^2 \subset \mathscr{S}^{\times}$ and a triplet of abstract vector spaces $\{\phi\} = \Phi \subset \mathscr{H} \subset \Phi^{\times}$ (6a)

called a Gelfand Triplet or Rigged Hilbert Space (RHS) [4]. In the Dirac formalism one uses the **same** RHS $\Phi \subset \mathscr{H} \subset \Phi^{\times}$ for the state vectors ϕ as well as for the observables $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$:

$$\{\phi\} = \{\psi\} = \Phi = \text{abstract Schwartz space.}$$
 (6b)

Is there a physical reason that the solutions of the dynamical (Schrödinger or Heisenberg) equation which fulfill the Hilbert space boundary condition (3), as well as those fulfilling the Schwartz space boundary condition, $\phi \in \Phi$, $\psi \in \Phi$, are given by the two time evolution groups?:

$$\phi(t) = e^{-iHt}\phi(0), \quad \psi(t) = e^{iHt}\psi(0), \quad -\infty < t < +\infty.$$
 (7)

The conclusion is: For standard quantum mechanics, even when amended with the Dirac formalism in a Schwartz-Rigged Hilbert Space, the time extends over $-\infty < t < +\infty$ and there is *no* finite beginning of time $t_0 > -\infty$, as required for time asymmetric quantum theory in condition (1) of Sect. 1. Therefore, the dynamical equations (2b) for the state vectors $\phi(t)$ and the dynamical equation (2a) for the observable (i.e., the solution of the Heisenberg equation (2a)) obey the unitary group evolution (1).

The question is: Could there be for quantum theory other boundary conditions of the dynamical equation, that do not lead to the unitary group evolution like (1), but to a quantum theory with a preferred direction of time, starting at a finite $t_0 < t < \infty$, which our Universe seems to posses as the big bang time t_0 ?

2 Dynamical equations of states and observables

The two fundamental entities of quantum theory are states (denoted by ϕ^+ or by operator ρ) and observables (denoted by operator *A* or vector ψ^-). The time evolution is expressed using two contrasting pictures:

In the Schrödinger picture

One solves

The Schrödinger equation

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial \phi^+(t)}{\partial t} = H \phi^+(t)$$
 (8)

for the state vector $\phi^+(t)$,

the von Neumann equation for the state operator ("density operator") $\rho(t)$

or

The Heisenberg equation

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial A(t)}{\partial t} = -[H, A(t)]$$
 (10)

In the Heisenberg picture

for the observables A(t),

or

the Heisenberg equation for special case $A_{\psi^-} = |\psi^-(t)\rangle \langle \psi^-(t)|$ for the vector observable ψ^-

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\rho(t)}{\partial t} = [H,\rho(t)]. \quad (9) \qquad \qquad i\hbar\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\psi^{-}(t) = -H\psi^{-}(t). \quad (11)$$

The Schrödinger equation (1) is the special case of the von Neumann equation (1) for the case: $\rho(t) = |\phi^+(t)\rangle \langle \phi^+(t)|$.

The Heisenberg equation (4) is the special case of the Heisenberg equation (2) for the "observable vector" $\psi^{-}(t)$ in the special case $A_{\psi^{-}} = |\psi^{-}(t)\rangle\langle\psi^{-}(t)|$.

State operator ρ or the state vector ϕ^+ , as well as the observable (-operators) *A* or the observable vector ψ^- , represent physical apparatuses in laboratory experiments.

The theoretical predictions which need to be compared with the experimental data are the Born probabilities:

$$\mathscr{P}_{\rho}(A(t)) \equiv \operatorname{Tr}(A(t) \,\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}(A \,\rho(t)). \tag{12}$$

In the special case that A is the projection operator $A = |\psi^-\rangle\langle\psi^-|$ onto the 1-dimensional subspace spanned by $|\psi^-\rangle$ and $\rho(t) = |\phi(t)\rangle\langle\phi(t)|$, one gets

$$\mathscr{P}_{\phi^+}(\psi^-(t)) = \operatorname{Tr}(|\psi^-(t)\rangle\langle\psi^-(t)||\phi^+\rangle\langle\phi^+|=|\langle\psi^-|\phi^+(t)\rangle|^2, \qquad (13)$$

which represents the probability of the observable $\psi^{-}(t)$ in the state ϕ^{+} .

3 Meaning of states ρ or ϕ^+ , and of observable *A* or ψ^-

States and observables are associated with two different aspects of scattering experiments. Scattering experiments test the structure of micro physical systems.

States: are described in the theory by "density operators" ρ or by state vectors ϕ^+ for pure states $\rho = |\phi^+\rangle \langle \phi^+|$.

Observables: are described by operators $A = A^{\dagger}$, or also by "observable vectors" ψ^{-} (i.e., vectors that obey the Heisenberg equation (4)).

In the experiment [5]:

1. States ρ (or the pure <i>in</i> -states	are defined	by the preparation appa-
ϕ^+ of scattering experiment)	experimentally	ratus (e.g., accelerator).

Preparation of a state $|\phi^+\rangle\langle\phi^+|$ or ρ



Fig. 1: Accelerator and target T define the in-state.

Due to interaction of beam and target T, the in-state ϕ^+ becomes an "uncontrolled out-state" $\phi^+(t) \rightarrow \phi^{\text{out}}$ outside the interaction region



Fig. 2: The preparation of the uncontrolled out-state: $\phi^{\text{out}} = S\phi^{\text{in}}$

States fulfill the Schrödinger equation.

2. *Observables A*, $|\psi^-\rangle\langle\psi^-|$ (*out- are defined* experi- by registration apparaobservable, often mis- mentally tus (e.g. detector) leadingly called "out-state")

Example: Preparation and decay of K_s^0 in the reaction [6] ("formation" of a "resonance" or of an unstable state K_s^0)

$$\pi^- \ p
ightarrow \Lambda K^0_{
m S}, \quad K^0_{
m S}
ightarrow \pi^+ \pi^-, \ \pi^0 \pi^0$$

Registration of an observable $|\psi^-\rangle\langle\psi^-|$ or *A*



Fig. 3: The detector is built according to what it needs to register (e.g, a $\pi^+\pi^-$ detector registers or "counts" the observable $A = |\psi^-(t)\rangle\langle\psi^-(t)| \rightarrow |\psi^{out}\rangle\langle\psi^{out}| = |\pi^+\pi^-\rangle\langle\pi^+\pi^-| = \text{two }\pi$'s (usually the objects π^+ and π^- are detected at different places (scattering angles)).

3. The scattering experiment combines the preparation apparatus in Fig. 1 (accelerator) with a registration apparatus (detector) to count the clicks at the detector $|\psi^{\text{out}}\rangle\langle\psi^{\text{out}}|$.



Fig. 4: Combining the preparation of the state ϕ and the registration of an observable ψ in a scattering experiment: One places the detector of Fig. 3 behind the target in Fig. 2 and counts the number $N(t) = N(t; \Delta \Omega, E^{out})$ of π^+, π^- at the time *t* into the solid angle $\Delta \Omega$.

Observables fulfill the Heisenberg equation

4 Theoretical description of states and observables

4.1 Born probabilities

As exhibited in the Figures 1, 2, 3 and 3, there are two different kinds of quantum theoretical entities associated to the two different kinds of physical apparatuses:

States
$$\rho$$
 (in-states vectors ϕ^+) are prepared
by the preparation apparatus,
(Figs. 1, 2) and governed by the
Schrödinger Eq. (1).
Observables *A* (or ψ^-) are registered
by the detector and governed by
Heisenberg Eq. (4)
Experimental (observed) They are calculated in the They are measured as ra-
quantities are the *proba*-
theory as Born Proba-
tios of large number of
bilities for observable *A* in
bilities solving dynamic detector counts ("relative
equations (1) or (4) frequencies") $N(t)/N$.
and (1) or (2).

$$\mathscr{P}_{\rho}(A(t)) \equiv \operatorname{Tr}(A(t) \ \rho_0) = \operatorname{Tr}(A_0 \ \rho(t)) \approx N(t)/N.$$
(14a)

In the special case of an observable $|\Psi^-\rangle\langle\Psi^-|$ in the pure state $\phi^+(t)$ the probability of the observable Ψ^- in the state ϕ^+ is:

$$\mathscr{P}_{\phi^+}(\psi^-(t)) \equiv |\langle \psi^-(t) | \phi^+ \rangle|^2 = |\langle \psi^- | \phi^+(t) \rangle \langle \phi^+(t) | \psi^- \rangle$$
(14b)
in Heisenberg's picture in Schrödinger's picture

The agreement of theory $\mathscr{P}_{\rho}(A(t))$ with the experimental counting rate N(t) of Fig. 3 is given by

$$\mathscr{P}_{\rho}(A(t)) \text{ or } |\langle \psi^{-}(t) | \phi^{+} \rangle|^{2} \approx \frac{N(t)}{N}.$$
 (15)

The theory-calculated probabilities $\mathscr{P}_{\rho}(A(t))$ must agree \approx with the registered detector counts N(t)/N; this must hold for an ensemble of N detector counts, where N are "large" numbers.

To make a comparison of *experimental* counting rates $\frac{N(t)}{N}$ and the *theoretical* probabilities $|\langle \psi^{-}(t)|\phi^{+}\rangle|^{2}$, one needs *to solve* either the Heisenberg equation (4) for the out observable $\psi^{-}(t)$ or one needs to solve the Schrödinger equation (1) for the in-state $\phi^{+}(t)$ and then calculate the Born probabilities: $\text{Tr}(A(t) |\phi^{+}\rangle\langle\phi^{+}|) = |\langle \psi^{-}(t)|\phi^{+}\rangle|^{2} = |\langle \psi^{-}|\phi^{+}(t)\rangle|^{2}$ using the solution of Heisenberg eq. (4), or the solution of Schrödinger eq. (1), respectively.

4.2 Solutions of the dynamical equations and their boundary conditions

To solve a differential equation (Schrödinger Eq. (1) and (1) or Heisenberg Eq. (2) and (4)), requires the choice of **Boundary Conditions**. This means one has to choose the *mathematical spaces*, to which the solutions of equations (1) and of equations (4) need to belong.

The right choice of a Boundary Condition is most important for quantum physics. The boundary condition will make the difference for the prediction of the theory and thus it is our choice of the Boundary Conditions, which will determine the theory of our choice. In the historical development of quantum theory, the following boundary conditions were used for the solutions of the dynamical equations (1) and (4) or (2) and (1):

1. Hilbert space boundary condition of von Neumann (called "Hilbert space axiom"): ¹

Set of state vectors $\{\phi\}$ = Set of observables $\{\psi\} \doteq \mathcal{H}$ = Hilbert space (16a)

2. Schwartz space boundary condition of the Dirac formalism chooses the Schwartz space for the states as well as the observables:

Set of state vectors $\{\phi\}$ = Set of observables $\{\psi\} \doteq \Phi$ = Schwartz space (16b)

From the standard boundary condition (16a) as well as (16b) follows by the Stonevon Neumann theorem, for Hilbert space and by a similar theorem for the Schwartz space, *the (unitary) group evolution* (1); (10) and (17b).

The solutions of the Schrödinger equation under the condition $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$ as well as under $\phi \in \Phi$ are given by

$$\phi(t) = U^{\dagger}(t)\phi = e^{-iHt/\hbar}\phi$$
, with $-\infty < t < +\infty$ for $\phi \in \mathscr{H}$ and $\phi \in \Phi$. (17a)

The same holds for the Schwartz space boundary condition $\phi \in \Phi$:

$$\phi(t) = U_{\Phi}^{\dagger}(t) \ \phi = e^{-iHt/\hbar} \phi \text{ with } -\infty < t, +\infty \text{ for } \phi \in \Phi,$$

where $U_{\Phi}^{\dagger}(t) = U^{\dagger}(t) \mid_{\Phi}$ is the restriction of U^{\dagger} to the subspace $\Phi \subset \mathscr{H}$.

Similar results hold for the solutions of the Heisenberg equation under these boundary conditions:

$$\Psi(t) = U(t) \ \Psi = e^{iHt/\hbar} \Psi, \text{ with } -\infty < t < +\infty \text{ for } \Psi \in \mathscr{H},$$
(17b)

and $\psi(t) = U_{\Phi}(t) \ \psi = e^{iHt/\hbar} \psi$ for $\psi \in \Phi$.

¹ "Complete" Hilbert space of von Neumann means the integrals which define the scalar product are Lebesgue integrals and not just Riemann integrals, but physicists do not want to deal with Lebesgue integrals anyway.

This result (10) and (17b) has been well known (Stone-von Neumann theorem [3, 7]) for the Hilbert space boundary condition and it can also be proven for the Schwartz space boundary condition ψ , $\phi \in \Phi$.

From this, follows that a theory which uses the *Hilbert space boundary condition* (16a) *or* the theory based on the *Schwartz space boundary condition* (16b) (i.e., the mathematical version of the Dirac formalism), *"predict"* the Born probabilities

 $\mathscr{P}_{\rho}(A(t)) = |\langle \psi^{-}(t) | \phi^{+} \rangle|^{2}$ to detect an observable $A(t) = |\psi^{-}(t)\rangle\langle\psi^{-}(t)|$ in the state ϕ^{+} for all $t: -\infty < t < +\infty$;

This would mean it predicts the probabilities, also for times $t < t_0$, *before* the state ϕ^+ will be prepared by the accelerator and target T at a time t_0 . This would, however violates causality, *because*:

The detector in Fig. 3 cannot detect anything relevant to the scattering process *be*-*fore* the times t_0 , at which the Accelerator will be turned on.

Thus, a theory that makes predictions for $-\infty < t < +\infty$ cannot be "quite" right. It would violate the causality principle of quantum physics, which asserts [8]:

A state ϕ^+ needs to be prepared first, by a time t_0 , *before* an observable $|\psi^-(t)\rangle\langle\psi^-(t)|$ can be measured in that state ϕ^+ at times $t \ge t_0$ by the detector counts, N(t)/N. There cannot be any $K_S^0 \to \pi^+ \pi^-$ counted in the detector of Fig. 3 before the accelerator has been turned on and π^{in} has hit the target T.

Thus the experimental result, as well as our intuitive feeling of causality suggests that the Born probabilities of the observable $A(t) = |\psi^{-}(t)\rangle\langle\psi^{-}(t)|$ in the prepared state ϕ^{+} :

$$\mathscr{P}_{\phi^+}(A(t)) = \operatorname{Tr}(A(t) |\phi^+\rangle \langle \phi^+|) = \mathscr{P}_{\phi^+}(|\psi^-(t)\rangle \langle \psi^-(t)|)$$
$$= |\langle \psi^-(t) |\phi^+(t_0)\rangle|^2 = |\langle \psi^-(t) |\phi^+\rangle|^2,$$
(18)

make physical sense only for times *t* later than t_0 , i.e., for $t > t_0$.

Here the time $t_0(=0)$ is the time at which the state ϕ^+ is prepared, and only after this time t_0 can the observable ψ^- be registered in the state for $t > t_0$.

Since a quantum state represents an *ensemble* of (large number of) micro systems in the lab, this beginning of time t_0 represents usually also an ensemble of *finite* times, $t_0 \leftrightarrow \{t_0^{(i)}\}$, where the $t_0^{(i)}$ are in general different times on a clock in the lab. (Such $t_0^{(i)}$ for single particles have been observed as the onset times of the dark periods in Dehmelt's quantum jump experiments with single ions in a Paul traps).

Comparison with the quantum jump experiments means that t_0 represents the ensemble $\{t_0^{(i)}\}$ of beginnings of time for the *i*-th individual quantum particles.

All this suggest that one must *not* solve the dynamical differential equation under the standard Hilbert space or under the standard Schwartz space boundary conditions which lead to (10), (17b), but under *new boundary conditions* which lead to "beginnings of time" t_0 , and thus to the *semi-group time evolution* like

$$\psi^{-}(t) = \mathscr{U}(t - t_0) \psi(t_0)$$
 with the finite beginning of time $t_0 \le t < +\infty$, (19)

where t_0 is an ensemble of finite times (generally different times $t_0^{(i)}$ on the clocks in the lab.). The solution of the dynamical equations under Hardy Space Boundary Condition leads to semigroup evolution of the dynamical equations of quantum physics.

4.3 New Hardy space boundary conditions

New boundary condition means that one chooses in place of the historical Hilbert space \mathscr{H} or in place of the Schwartz space Φ , a new space for state vectors $\{\phi^+\}$ representing the preparation apparatus (e.g., the accelerator of Fig. 3) and another new space for the observables $\{\psi^-\}$ representing the registration apparatus (e.g., the detector in Fig. 3).

These new spaces must NOT be given:

by the Hilbert space axiom:

$$\{\phi\} = \{\psi\} \doteq \mathscr{H} \text{ of von Neumann, } (L^2 \text{-integrable}).$$
 (20H)

And they must also not be given by the Schwartz space axiom:

 $\{\phi\} = \{\psi\} \doteq \Phi$ of the Dirac formulation (20 Φ)

which would lead to the Schwartz Rigged Hilbert Space:

$$\Phi \subset \mathscr{H} \subset \Phi^{\times}$$
 of Sec. 1.

Thus a new mathematical Axiom is needed for quantum physics; this new axiom will be based on a *pair* of mathematical spaces, one for the prepared states in Figs. 1 and 2 and the other for the detected observables in Figs. 3 and 3.

There is **no** reason that the set of accelerator prepared states $\{\phi^+\}$, as well as the set of detector registerd observables $\{\psi^-\}$, should both be represented by the **same** mathematical space (e.g., by the Schwartz space Φ , or by the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}). Thus, rather than using one and the same representation space, \mathcal{H} or Φ for the in-state vectors ϕ^+ , **as well as** for the out-observable vectors ψ^- , as done in (20H) and similar for the Dirac formulation in (20 Φ), it would be much more natural to represent the accelerator prepared **states** (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2) and the detected **observables** (Fig. 3 and Fig. 3) by two **different** mathematical representation spaces.

The new boundary conditions for the two differential equations (Schrödinger or Heisenberg) of quantum mechanics need to be given by two different spaces, one for the states ϕ^+ and the other for the observables ψ^- . For these two spaces one can choose the *Hardy space boundary conditions* as the new Axiom for the fundamental dynamical equations (1), (4), or (1), (2) of quantum mechanics.

There are two different Hardy spaces [9] that are conjugate to each other. This suggests the following new axiom which allows us to distinguish mathematically the prepared states from the observables, using the pair of Hardy spaces:

The space of state vectors $\{\phi^+\}$ representing the *accelerator-prepared states* of Fig. 1 and 2, is the Hardy space Φ_- of the lower complex energy plane (2nd sheet of the analytic *S*-matrix):

prepared in-states $\{\phi^+\} \doteq \Phi_-$ Hardy space solutions of the Schrödinger eq. (21.1-)

The space of observable vectors $\{\psi^-\}$ representing the *detector-registered observables* is the Hardy space Φ_+ of the upper complex energy plane (2nd sheet of the analytic *S*-matrix):

detected out-observables
$$\{\psi^-\} \doteq \Phi_+$$
 Hardy space solutions
of the Heisenberg eq. (21.1+)

The amusing miss-match in the notation for the physical vectors and their mathematical representation spaces:

$$\phi^+ \in \Phi_-$$
 (lower complex plane), (21.2-)

 $\Psi^- \in \Phi_+ \quad \text{(upper complex plane)},$ (21.2+)

has its origin in the two different conventions used for the Hardy spaces in mathematics, and for the state vectors in physics:

Mathematicians notation of Hardy spaces

Physicists notation for the vectors of the scattering theory

Hardy space $\Phi_- = \{\phi^+\}$ is realized by the smooth Hardy function $\phi^+(E) = \langle {}^+E | \phi^+ \rangle \in (\mathscr{H}_-^2 \cap S)_{\mathbb{R}_+}$ on \mathbb{C}_- , i.e., on the lower complex plane 2nd sheet of the *S*-matrix. $\{\phi^+\}$ represents the accelerator prepared states and thus the Lippmann-Schwinger kets $|E^+\rangle \in \Phi^{\times}_{-}$. (21.3-)

Hardy space $\Phi_+ = \{\psi^-\}$ is realized $\{\psi^-\}$ represents the detecby the smooth Hardy function $\psi^-(E) = \{\psi^-\} \in (\mathscr{H}^2_+ \cap S)_{\mathbb{R}^+}$ on \mathbb{C}_+^2 , i.e., $|\psi^-\rangle\langle\psi^-|$ and thus the (21.3+) on the upper complex plane 2nd sheet of the *S*-matrix. $|E^-\rangle \in \Phi^{\times}_+$, the dual space of Φ_+

Both, the state vectors ϕ^+ and the observable vectors ψ^- , represent two *entirely different* physical aspects of the experimental apparatus as displayed by the comparison of Figs. 1 and 2 with Figs. 3 and 3. Therefore we have *no* reason to suspect that the vectors $\{\phi^+\}$ representing states and the vectors $\{\psi^-\}$ representing observables, should be described by the *same* mathematical spaces, namely both by the Hilbert space or both by the Schwartz space, as is usually done.

² For the Hardy space we consider only the spaces, which can be realized by the "smooth Hardy functions" $\mathscr{H}_{\pm} \cap S$, i.e., Hardy class intersected with Schwartz function spaces.

The Lippmann-Schwinger kets had been postulated in analogy to the Dirac kets (5) as the in-plane wave "states" and the out-plane wave "states" $|E^+\rangle$ and $|E^-\rangle$, $H |E^{\pm}\rangle = E |E^{\pm}\rangle$, $K |E\rangle = E |E\rangle$ which fulfill the *Lippmann-Schwinger* equations [10]:

$$|E^{\pm}\rangle = |E\rangle + \frac{1}{E - K \pm i\varepsilon} V|E^{\pm}\rangle \qquad H = K + V.$$
 (22)

In analogy to the Dirac basis vector expansion (5) of Section 1 for the Schwartz space, the *nuclear spectral theorem* [4] of the topological vector space for in-state vectors ϕ^+ (*representing the preparation apparatus, e.g., an accelerator* in the scattering experiment of Fig. 3) would then be given by

$$\phi^{+} = \sum_{j,j_{3},\eta} \int_{0}^{\infty} dE |E, j, j_{3}, \eta^{+}\rangle \langle^{+}E, j, j_{3}, \eta | \phi^{+}\rangle$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} dE |E^{+}\rangle \langle^{+}E | \phi^{+}\rangle = \int dE |E^{+}\rangle \phi^{+}(E), \quad (23-)$$

 j, j_3 denote the angular momentum and η denotes some additional (species) quantum numbers.

The $|E^-\rangle = |E, j, j_3, \eta^-\rangle$ are taken as basis systems for out-vectors (*represent-ing the observables* $|\psi^-\rangle\langle\psi^-|$ registered by the *detector*); thus for the observables $|\psi^-\rangle\langle\psi^-|$ of Figs. 3 and 3 one would then have the basis vector expansion:

$$\begin{split} \Psi^{-} &= \sum_{j,j_{3},\eta} \int_{0}^{\infty} dE' |E',j,j_{3},\eta^{-}\rangle \langle^{-}E',j,j_{3},\eta|\Psi^{-}\rangle \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} dE' |E'^{-}\rangle \langle^{-}E'|\Psi^{-}\rangle = \int dE' |E'^{-}\rangle \Psi^{-}(E'). \quad (23+) \end{split}$$

This is done in perfect analogy to the Dirac basis vector expansion justified by the "nuclear spectral theorem" for Schwartz space: for every ϕ or $\psi \in \Phi$:

 $\phi = \int dE |E\rangle \langle E |\phi\rangle , \quad \text{The Dirac } |E\rangle \text{ are mathematically defined as continuous} \\ \psi = \int dE |E\rangle \langle E |\psi\rangle , \quad \text{antilinear functional of } \Phi : |E\rangle \in \Phi^{\times}.$

The shortcoming of the Schwartz space axiom is that the set of states $\{\phi\}$ of Figs. 1 and 2, and the set of observables $\{\psi\}$ of Figs. 3 and 3 cannot be mathematically distinguished from each other if one uses just the *one* Schwartz space (or one \mathcal{H}).

The new idea suggested by the Lippmann-Schwinger kets (20), which is also dictated by the Gamow vector, is to associate the *set of physical states* ϕ^+ (defined by the preparation apparatus, Figs. 1 and 2) *with the mathematical Hardy space*, which is called Φ_- . Thus the new physical axiom of scattering theory is

set of state vectors
$$\{\phi^+\} \doteq \Phi_- =$$
 Hardy on \mathbb{C}_- (2nd sheet of the S-matrix).
(24-)

And similarly for the set of observables ψ^- ,

set of
$$\{\psi^{-}\} \doteq \Phi_{+} =$$
 Hardy on \mathbb{C}_{+} (2nd sheet of the S-matrix). (24+)

This new Hardy space axiom $(24\pm)$ is an enormous step forward, because comparing this Hardy space axiom $(24\pm)$ with Figs. 1 and 2 for the states and with Figs. 3 and 3 for the observables, the Schwartz space axiom (6b) and the Hilbert space axiom (3) do not feel right, because one should also distinguish mathematically between the prepared states $\{\phi^+\}$ and registered observables $\{\psi^-\}$.

Since ψ^- is the observable (defined by the detector, Figs. 3 and 3), and ϕ^+ represents the state (defined by the accelerator, Figs. 1 and 2), the matrix element $(\psi^-|\phi^+)$ is *the probability amplitude* to detect the observable $|\psi^-\rangle\langle\psi^-|$ in the state $|\phi^+\rangle\langle\phi^+|$ and therfore,

 $|(\psi^{-}|\phi^{+})|^{2}$ is the probability to detect the observable $|\psi^{-}(t)\rangle\langle\psi^{-}(t)|$ in the state ϕ^{+} , which according to standard quantum theory (6), (14a), (14b) and (15) is:

$$|(\psi^{-}(t)|\phi^{+})|^{2} \sim \frac{N(t)}{N}$$
 (is measured by the detector counts) ≥ 0 for $t > t_{0}$ (25)

as stated in (6) or for the general case in (5).

References

- 1. W. Nagourney, J. Sandberg and H. Dehmelt, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 2797 (1986).
- A.R. Bohm, Mark Loewe and Bryan Van de Ven, Fortschr. Phys. 51, 551–568 (2003);
 A. Bohm, H. Kaldass and S. Wickramasekara, Fortschr. Phys. 51, 569–603 (2003); A. Bohm,
 H. Kaldass and S. Wickramasekara, Fortschr. Phys. 51, 604–634 (2003).
- 3. J. von Neumann, *Mathematical Foundations of Quantum Mechanics*, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1955.
- I.M. Gel'fand and N.Ya. Vilenkin, Generalized functions Vol 4, Academic Press, New York, 1964; K. Maurin, Generalized Eigenfunction Expansions and Unitary Representations of Topological Groups, Polish Scientific Publishers (PWN), Warszawa 1969; A. Bohm and M. Gadella, Dirac Kets, Gamow Vectors, and Gelfand Triplets, Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 348, Springer, Berlin, 1989.
- 5. K. Kraus, *States, Effects and Operations*, Springer, New York, 1983, Lecture Notes in Physics 190; G. Ludwig, *Foundations of Quantum Mechanics I*, Springer, New York, 1983, Chap. 1.
- K.L. Gibbons *et al.*, Phys. Rev. D 55 6625–6715 (1997); G.D. Barret *et al.*, Phys. Lett. B317 233–242 (1993).
- 7. M. H. Stone, Ann. Math. 33, 643-648 (1932).
- A. Bohm, I. Antoniou and P. Kielanowski, J. Math. Phys. 36, 2593–2604 (1995); A. Bohm, Phys. Rev. A 60, 861–876 (1999).
- P.L. Duren, *H^P Spaces*, Academic Press, New York, 1970. K. Hoffman, *Banach Spaces of Analytic Functions*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1962; Dover Publications, Mineola, NY, 1988; P. Koosis, Introduction to *H_p Spaces*, London Mathematical Society Lecture Notes Series Vol. **40** Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1980.

 B.A. Lippmann and J. Schwinger, Phys. Rev. **79**, 469–480 (1950); M. Gell-Mann and H. L. Goldberger, Phys. Rev. **91** 398–408 (1953); W. Brenig and R. Haag, Fortschr. Phys. **7**, 183–242 (1959).

Algebraic structures on the moduli spaces in gauge theories

Vasily Pestun

Abstract The partition function of a four-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theory on a four-sphere is factorizable in holomorphic and antiholomorphic blocks similar to the correlation functions of the two-dimensional conformal field theories. The holomorphic blocks are controlled by the geometry of the moduli spaces of vacua in 4d supersymmetric gauge theory, and this reveals a deep connection with algebraic structures of quantum integrable systems, two-dimensional conformal field theories and their *q*-deformations.

1 Introduction

Some of the pressing questions in the studies of quantum gauge theories are: what can we do beyond perturbation theory, are there hidden algebraic structures, what are the exactly computable quantities?

In the remarkable work of Belavin, Polyakov and Zamolochikov [1] the correlation functions of some operators \mathcal{O}_i in two-dimensional conformal field theories have been shown to have the factorizable form, schematically

$$\langle \prod_{i} \mathscr{O}_{i} \rangle = \int \mu(a) Z(a) \overline{Z(a)}$$
(1)

where the variable *a* labels the primary fields of the theory, the $\mu(a)$ is a certain integration measure determined by the physical content of the theory, whereas functions Z(a), called *conformal blocks* are determined by the Virasoro symmetry algebra of the 2d conformal field theory.

Vasily Pestun

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_6

Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques, 35, route de Chartres, 91440, Bures sur Yvette, France, e-mail: pestun@ihes.fr

Since then the algebraic approach to the two-dimensional conformal field theories and their relatives, such as massive deformations and 2d lattice integrable models, turned out to be very powerful with many mathematical and physical results that are not possible to survey in this lecture.

Some of the key mathematical structures that have been encountered on the way are:

- conserved quantities
- holomorphic factorization
- conformal block and operator product expansion
- affine Kac-Moody Lie algebras, *W*-algebras (generalization of Virasoro)
- quantum groups, R-matrix

Recently, many of these facets of solvable models have been detected in two current programs to access gauge theories beyond the perturbation theory;

- 1. large N (planar) limit of Yang-Mills gauge theory, specifically $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills,
- 2. vacuum or BPS sector of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric gauge theories.

The *large N approach* is based on the gauge-string duality [2] [3] [4] [5] under which computation in large N gauge theory is mapped to the computation in the two-dimensional sigma model on the world-sheet of confining string, and further the two-dimensional sigma-model is solved using the 2d integrability tools.

The vacuum or *BPS approach* [6] [7] [8] is based on the analysis of the supersymmetry implications on the geometry of the vacua in supersymmetric gauge theories.

The focus of this lecture is on the geometrical and algebraic structures arising from the *BPS approach* also known as *localization*.

2 The structures of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories

By now the following features of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories have been understood relatively well:

- vacua sector = complex algebraic integrable system
- holomorphic factorization
- emergence of quantum algebras:
 - 1. CFT type (Virasoro, *₩*-algebra, Kac-Moody)
 - 2. Lattice model type (R-matrix, spin-chains, quantum groups).

2.1 Vacua sector = complex algebraic integrable system

In [6] [9] [10] [11] it was shown that the Coulomb branch $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}3\times S1}$ of the moduli space of vacua of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory on $\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1$ is fibered over the Coulomb branch of vacua $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^4}$ of the same $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theory on \mathbb{R}^4 ,

$$\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1} \to \mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{R}^4}.$$
 (2)

Moreover, the space $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1}$ has dimension twice that of the base space $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^4}$. It is holomorphic symplectic and the fibers of the fibration (2) are holomorphic Lagrangian abelian varieties. The holomorphic symplectic structure on $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1}$ is determined from the hyperKähler structure at a certain point on the twistor sphere of complex structures usually called complex structure *I*.

2.2 Holomorphic factorization

In [12] using supersymmetric path integral version of the localization formula of Atiyah-Bott [13] and Berline-Vergne [14] it was shown that the partition function of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theory on four-sphere is computed by the finite-dimensional integral over the Cartan of the Lie algebra of the gauge group

$$Z_{S^4} = \int \mu(a) Z(a) \overline{Z(a)}$$
(3)

where $\mu(a)$ is a certain measure computed from the Atiyah-Singer index theorem for transversally elliptic operators [15]. This result established that the partition functions of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric gauge theories on a four-sphere have factorization property similar to the partition functions of the two-dimensional conformal field theories. The *holomorphic or chiral block* Z(a) was identified with Nekrasov's partition function of the equivariant topological Donaldson-Witten gauge theory, also called gauge theory in the Ω -background [8]. This function Z(a) can be found by the cohomological computation on the moduli space of the BPS configurations of the gauge theory called instantons [16], [17], [7], [8], [18] [19].

For the review of supersymmetric localization in gauge theories in different dimensions leading to the result similar in spirit to the factorization equation (3), see the review of collected papers [20]

The factorization (3) suggests that Z(a) is like a conformal block of some algebra of symmetries of the 2d conformal field theory. What is this algebra exactly and where does it come from?

3 Quantum algebras

3.1 Quantum algebras: CFT type

For certain $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theories, the answer to the last question of the previous paragraph has been discovered in a beautiful paper by Alday-Gaiotto-Tachikawa [21].

Namely, for the 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theories of the class named $S(C, \mathfrak{g})$, AGT identified the holomorphic block (Nekrasov's partition function) Z(a) in the four-sphere partition function (3) with the conformal block in the correlation function (1) for a certain operator in two-dimensional conformal field theory of Toda for Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} on the Riemann surface *C*. The 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric gauge theory $S(C, \mathfrak{g})$ is defined as a quantum field theory obtained by the compactification of the (0,2) supersymmetric self-dual 6d tensor theory of ADE type \mathfrak{g} on the Riemann surface *C*, possibly with punctures and certain data at the punctures [22].

The integrable system (2) which corresponds to the supersymmetric gauge theories of class $S(\mathfrak{g}, C)$ is Hitchin system [23] on *C* for the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . The phase space $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1}$ is identified with the moduli space $\mathscr{M}_{\text{Hit}}(C, \mathfrak{g})$ of *G*-Higgs bundles on *C*, and the base $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{R}^4}$ is the space of action variables, or in other words, it is the space where Hitchin Hamiltonians are taking values.

The function Z(a) is a conformal block of the algebra called $\mathscr{W}(\mathfrak{g})$ -algebra which is a generalization of the Virasoro symmetry algebra to higher rank, so that $\mathscr{W}(\mathfrak{sl}_2) = \mathbf{Vir}$.

Consequently, the relation between the gauge theory of class $S(C, \mathfrak{g})$, the integrable system and the conformal theory can be summarized by the diagram



The link between $\mathcal{M}_{\text{Hit}}(C, \mathfrak{g})$ and the $\mathcal{W}(\mathfrak{g})$ algebra is understood after Drinfeld-Sokolov [24], Feigin-Frenkel [25], Nekrasov-Witten [26], Teschner [27]. Namely, the \mathcal{W} -algebra that emerges is the quantized algebra on the space of *opers*. The space of opers is obtained by Poisson reduction from a hyperplane in a coadjoint Kac-Moody Lie algebra by the loop nilpotent algebra, while that hyperplane is identified with the space of $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ -flat connections $\partial_z + A$ on a punctured disc, see E. Frenkel 2002 lecture [28]. The space of $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ -flat connection as a complex variety is isomorphic to $\mathcal{M}_{\text{Hit}}(C, \mathfrak{g})$ for a different choice of the complex structure on the twistor sphere, usually called J in contrast to the complex structure I in which $\mathcal{M}_{\text{Hit}}(C, \mathfrak{g})$ has the geometry of the algebraic integrable system

What replaces the $\mathscr{W}(\mathfrak{g})$ -algebra for the moduli space of vacua $\mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1}$ for generic $\mathscr{N} = 2$ gauge theory, of not necessarily class *S*?

3.2 Quantum algebras: generic proposition

Proposition. To the generic hyperKähler moduli space of vacua $\mathcal{M} \equiv \mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times S_R^1}$ there is associated the two-parametric \mathcal{W} -algebra $\mathcal{W}_{\varepsilon_1,\varepsilon_2}(M)$ which is defined as the ε_1 -quantized algebra of holomorphic functions on space \mathcal{M} in the complex structure $\zeta = R\varepsilon_2$ where $\zeta \in \mathbb{CP}^1$ is the twistor parameter of the twistor sphere of complex structures on the hyperKähler manifold \mathcal{M} in the limit $R \to 0$.

Besides previously mentioned papers, this proposition links to the works of Kontsevich-Soibelman [29], Gukov-Witten [30], Kapustin-Witten [31], Gaiotto-Moore-Neitzke [32], Fock-Goncharov [33], Gaiotto [34], Cecotti-Neitzke-Vafa [35].

In particular, the point $\zeta = 0$ is the complex structure *I* in which \mathcal{M} is the complex phase space of an integrable system.

The global holomorphic sections of the quantized algebra of holomorphic functions \mathscr{M} are identified with the quantum commuting Hamiltonians of the quantum integrable system with quantum Planck constant $\hbar = \varepsilon_1$ [36]. The non-zero ε_2 -parameter deforms the commutative algebra of quantum Hamiltonians of an integrable system into an associative algebra of quantum integrals of motion of auxiliary low-dimensional quantum field theory: \mathscr{W} -algebra. For the 4d gauge theory of class $S(C, \mathfrak{g})$, this low-dimensional theory is two-dimensional quantum Toda field theory.

3.3 Quantum algebras: lattice model type

The generic proposition of Section 3.2 can be tested more precisely in the different class of theories rather than class $S(C, \mathfrak{g})$, namely in the class $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theories called *quiver gauge theories* [37].

The quiver gauge theory is defined by a graph Γ with some data assigned to the nodes and edges. To each node *i* we assign a positive integer n_i , which is a rank of the factor of the gauge group $U(n_i)$ associated to this node, and a complex number q_i with $|q_i| < 1$ which is the exponentiated coupling constant for the given gauge group factor $U(n_i)$. To each edge $e: i \rightarrow j$ we assign a complex number m_e which is a mass of the hypermultiplet in the bi-fundamental representation $(\bar{\mathbf{n}}_i, \mathbf{n}_j)$ between the nodes *i* and *j*.

Using arguments from string theory and brane dualities, the phase space of the integrable system underlying this class of theories was identified by Kapustin-Cherkis [38] as the moduli space of the G_{Γ} monopoles on $\mathbb{R}^2 \times S^1$. The derivation of this result from the BPS-style localization computations on the moduli space of quiver instantons was found in [19].

Here G_{Γ} is the Lie group with the simply-laced (ADE) Dynkin graph isomorphic to Γ .

For a Riemann surface *C*, the moduli space of monopoles on $C \times S^1$ can be thought of as a moduli space of group version of the moduli space of Higgs bundles on *C* [39].

Namely, one defines this space similar to Hitchin as the space of pairs (holomorphic *G*-bundle on *C*, Higgs field g(x)), except that now the Higgs field g(x) is taken to be a meromorphic *Lie group valued* field, a section of Ad*G*, rather than a *Lie algebra valued* field $\phi(x)$, a section of $\operatorname{ad} \mathfrak{g} \otimes K_C$ in the usual Hitchin case. (Here *x* denotes a complex coordinate on *C*.)

In the case of the usual Lie algebra valued Hitchin system, the ring of the commuting Hamiltonians is generated by the global sections of polynomial adjoint invariant functions on the Lie algebra g evaluated on the Lie algebra valued Higgs field $\phi(x)$. The ring of the adjoint invariant functions is generated by the fundamental invariants of degrees $m_i + 1$ where m_i are the Coxeter exponents of *G*.

In the case of the group valued Hitchin system the ring of the commuting Hamiltonians is generated by the global sections of polynomial adjoint invariant functions on the Lie group *G* evaluated on the group valued Higgs field g(x). The ring of adjoint invariant functions on the group is generated by the characters $\chi_i = \text{tr}_{R_i}$ of the fundamental representations R_i , that is highest weight irreducible representation with the highest weight given by a fundamental weight.

In the case of $C = \mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{R}^2$ with no punctures, the global holomorphic sections of $\operatorname{tr}_{R_i} g(x)$ are polynomials of degrees n_i defined by the ranks of the gauge group factors $U(n_i)$ of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ 4d gauge theory

$$\operatorname{tr}_{R_i} g(x) = x^{n_i} + u_{i,1} x^{n_i - 1} + \dots + u_{i,n_i}, \qquad i \in \text{nodes of } \Gamma.$$
(5)

The coefficients $(u_{i,1}, \ldots, u_{i,n_i})_i$ are the Poisson commuting Hamiltonian functions on the complex phase space of an integrable system: the moduli space of monopoles on $C \times S^1$.

Moreover, the phase space of monopole integrable system can be identified with a symplectic leaf in the Poisson-Lie loop group $\{g(x)\}$ [40]. The Poisson structure on this Poisson-Lie group is of quasi-triangular type defined either by a classical rational type *r*-matrix if $C \simeq \mathbb{C}$ is the complex affine line, or by a trigonometric *r*matrix if $C \simeq \mathbb{C}/\mathbb{Z}$ is a cylinder, or by an elliptic *r*-matrix if $C \simeq \mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z} + \tau\mathbb{Z})$ is an elliptic curve.

The quantization of such a Poisson-Lie group produces the famous quantum groups of Drinfeld [41] and Jimbo [42] which are the quasi-triangular Hopf algebras (with quantum R-matrix) underlying the solvability of the quantum spin chains of various types and the Bethe ansatz [43]. The commuting Hamiltonians, as operators of the quantum group in a representation on a physical Hilbert space W, can be constructed by taking the trace of *R*-matrix tr_V $R_{V,W}$ over an auxiliary space *V*. Their commutativity is implied by the Yang-Baxter equation which is satisfied by the *R*-matrix.

The explicit algebraic objects that replace the characters $\chi_i = \text{tr}_{R_i}$ after the quantization have been constructed by Frenkel-Reshetikhin [44] and were called *q*-characters for affine quantum algebra $U_q(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})$ associated to the Poisson-Lie group

of trigonometric type for $C = \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. Here the parameter $q = \exp(\varepsilon_1)$ is the exponentiated Planck constant. At the same time, the commutative algebra of the *q*-characters was identified by Frenkel-Reshetikhin with the *q*-deformation of the classical \mathcal{W} algebra [44]. The *polynomiality* conjecture of *q*-characters of [44] has been proven in [45].

On the other hand, the same algebraic objects, the *q*-characters, were obtained from the study of the equivariant cohomology of instanton moduli spaces in quiver gauge theories on \mathbb{C}_{q_1,q_2} in [46] in the limit $q_2 = 1$, which justifies the *q*-version of the triangle relation analogous to (4):

$$4d QFT: \mathscr{M}_{\mathbb{R}^{3} \times S^{1}} \text{ for } \\ \Gamma \text{-quiver gauge theory} \\ \mathscr{M}_{\text{Monopoles}}(C \times S^{1}, \mathfrak{g}_{\Gamma}) \xleftarrow{} \mathscr{W}_{q_{1},q_{2}}(\mathfrak{g}_{\Gamma}) \text{-algebra on } C$$

$$(6)$$

Furthermore, following the approach in [19, 46], the two-parametric q_1, q_2 deformation of the characters, called q_1, q_2 -characters were obtained from the geometry of the quiver instanton moduli spaces in [47], and in [48] it was shown that gauge-theory construction of q_1, q_2 -characters is isomorphic to the Frenkel-Reshetikhin definition [49] of q-deformed \mathcal{W} -algebras $\mathcal{W}_{q_1,q_2}(\mathfrak{g})$. This supports the two-parametric (q_1, q_2) relation (6).

While the geometric Langlands program can be embedded into the context of the diagram (4) [50], [31], [26] relating to the quantization of the Hitchin system, differential equations and conformal field theories, the quantum field theory context for the *q*-geometric Langlands program [49] relating to the quantization of the system of periodic monopoles, difference equations and lattice models is provided by the diagram (6).

The horizontal arrow in (6) denotes that $\mathscr{W}_{q_1,q_2}(\mathfrak{g}_{\Gamma})$ is obtained by a quantization of the Poisson algebra of functions on the space of *q*-opers [51, 52], and that the Poisson structure on the space of *q*-opers naturally arises from the Poisson structure on the moduli space of monopoles on the twisted product $C \times_q S^1$ for $C \simeq \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. In turn, the symplectic structure on the monopole moduli space on the twisted product $C \times_q S^1$ comes from the hyperKäler rotation on the P^1 -twistor sphere of complex structures on the monopole moduli space on the direct product space $C \times S^1$. This justifies the generic Proposition 3.2 in the context of quiver gauge theories and monopoles integrable systems on $C \times S^1$. Also, the construction of $\mathscr{W}_{q_1,q_2}(\mathfrak{g}_{\Gamma})$ algebras from quiver gauge theories on $\mathbb{C}^2_{q_1,q_2}$ gives a natural q_2 -deformation of the commutative *K*-theory ring of the representation theory of $U_{q_1}(L\mathfrak{g})$, obtained in a geometrical way by Nakajima from the quiver variety associated to the same quiver [53], into an associative non-commutative algebra. The representation theory meaning of this algebra remains to be clarified.

Acknowledgements The author thanks Taro Kimura, Nikita Nekrasov and Samson Shatashvili for their collaboration on the project, and organizers of the 31st International Colloquium on Group

Theoretical Methods in Physics (GROUP 31, June 19-25, 2016, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil) for their kind invitation and the opportunity to present the results at this conference.

The research of V.P. on this project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (QUASIFT grant agreement 677368).

References

- A. A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, and A. B. Zamolodchikov, "Infinite conformal symmetry in two-dimensional quantum field theory," *Nucl. Phys.* B241 (1984) 333–380.
- 2. G. 't Hooft, "A planar diagram theory for strong interactions," Nucl. Phys. B72 (1974) 461.
- 3. A. M. Polyakov, Gauge fields and strings. Harwood, Chur, Switzerland, 1987.
- 4. J. M. Maldacena, "The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity," *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* **2** (1998) 231–252.
- 5. J. A. Minahan and K. Zarembo, "The Bethe-ansatz for N =4 super Yang-Mills," *JHEP* 03 (2003) 013.
- N. Seiberg and E. Witten, "Electric magnetic duality, monopole condensation, and confinement in N=2 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory," *Nucl. Phys.* B426 (1994) 19–52.
- G. W. Moore, N. Nekrasov, and S. Shatashvili, "Integrating over Higgs branches," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 209 (2000) 97–121.
- N. A. Nekrasov, "Seiberg-Witten prepotential from instanton counting," *Adv. Theo. Math. Phys.* 7 (2004) 831–864.
- 9. A. Gorsky, I. Krichever, A. Marshakov, A. Mironov, and A. Morozov, "Integrability and Seiberg-Witten exact solution," *Phys. Lett.* **B355** (1995) 466–474.
- R. Donagi and E. Witten, "Supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory and integrable systems," *Nucl. Phys.* B460 (1996) 299–334.
- N. Seiberg and E. Witten, "Gauge dynamics and compactification to three-dimensions," Proceedings of the Conference on the Mathematical Beauty of Physics: C96-06-05.
- V. Pestun, "Localization of gauge theory on a four-sphere and supersymmetric Wilson loops," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 313 (2012) 71–129.
- 13. M. F. Atiyah and R. Bott, "The moment map and equivariant cohomology," *Topology* 23 (1984) no. 1, 1–28.
- N. Berline and M. Vergne, "The equivariant Chern character and index of G-invariant operators. Lectures at CIME, Venise 1992," in D-modules, representation theory, and quantum groups (Venice, 1992), vol. 1565 of Lecture Notes in Math., pp. 157–200. Springer, Berlin, 1993.
- 15. M. F. Atiyah, *Elliptic operators and compact groups*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1974. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 401.
- A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, A. Schwartz, and Y. Tyupkin, "Pseudoparticle Solutions of the Yang-Mills Equations," *Phys. Lett.* B59 (1975) 85–87.
- M. Atiyah, N. J. Hitchin, V. Drinfeld, and Y. Manin, "Construction of Instantons," *Phys. Lett.* A65 (1978) 185–187.
- N. Nekrasov and A. Okounkov, "Seiberg-Witten theory and random partitions," *Prog. Math.* 244 (2006) 525-596.
- 19. N. Nekrasov and V. Pestun, "Seiberg-Witten geometry of four dimensional N=2 quiver gauge theories," arXiv:1211.2240 [hep-th]. 197 pages, unpublished.
- V. Pestun and M. Zabzine, eds., *Localization techniques in quantum field theory*, Journal of Physics A, 2016..
- L. F. Alday, D. Gaiotto, and Y. Tachikawa, "Liouville Correlation Functions from Fourdimensional Gauge Theories," *Lett. Math. Phys.* 91 (2010) 167–197.
- 22. D. Gaiotto, "N=2 dualities," JHEP 1208 (2012) 034 .

- 23. N. Hitchin, "Stable bundles and integrable systems," Duke Math. J. 54 (1987) no. 1, 91-114.
- V. G. Drinfel'd and V. V. Sokolov, "Lie algebras and equations of Korteweg-de Vries type," Journal of Soviet mathematics 30 (1985) no. 2, 1975–2036.
- B. Feigin and E. Frenkel, "Integrals of motion and quantum groups," Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1620 (1996) pp 349-418.
- N. Nekrasov and E. Witten, "The Omega Deformation, Branes, Integrability, and Liouville Theory," *JHEP* 09 (2010) 092.
- 27. J. Teschner, "Quantization of the Hitchin moduli spaces, Liouville theory, and the geometric Langlands correspondence I," *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* **15** (2011) 471–564.
- E. Frenkel, "Affine Kac-Moody algebras, integrable systems and their deformations," in *Proceedings*, 24th International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics (GROUP 24): Paris, France, July 15-20, 2002. (2003).
- 29. M. Kontsevich and Y. Soibelman, "Stability structures, motivic Donaldson-Thomas invariants and cluster transformations," arXiv:0811.2435 [math.AG]. Unpublished.
- 30. S. Gukov and E. Witten, "Branes and Quantization," *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* **13** (2009) no. 5, 1445–1518.
- A. Kapustin and E. Witten, "Electric-Magnetic Duality And The Geometric Langlands Program," *Commun. Num. Theor. Phys.* 1 (2007) 1-236.
- 32. D. Gaiotto, G. W. Moore, and A. Neitzke, "Wall-crossing, Hitchin Systems, and the WKB Approximation," arXiv:0907.3987 [hep-th]. Unpublished.
- V. V. Fock and A. B. Goncharov, "Cluster ensembles, quantization and the dilogarithm," Ann. Sci. Ec. Norm. Supér. (4) 42 (2009), no. 6, 865-930.
- 34. D. Gaiotto, "Opers and TBA," arXiv: 1403.6137 [hep-th]. Unpublished.
- S. Cecotti, A. Neitzke, and C. Vafa, "Twistorial Topological Strings and a tt* Geometry for N=2 Theories in 4d," *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* 20 (2016) 193–312.
- N. A. Nekrasov and S. L. Shatashvili, "Quantization of Integrable Systems and Four Dimensional Gauge Theories," Published in 16th International Congress on Mathematical Physics, Prague, August 2009, pp. 265-289, World Scientific 2010.
- 37. M. R. Douglas and G. W. Moore, "D-branes, quivers, and ALE instantons," arXiv:hep-th/9603167 [hep-th]. Unpublished.
- S. A. Cherkis and A. Kapustin, "Periodic monopoles with singularities and N=2 super QCD," Commun. Math. Phys. 234 (2003) 1-35.
- B. Charbonneau and J. Hurtubise, "Singular Hermitian-Einstein monopoles on the product of a circle and a Riemann surface," arXiv:0812.0221 [math.DG]. Unpublished.
- J. C. Hurtubise and E. Markman, "Elliptic Sklyanin integrable systems for arbitrary reductive groups," *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* 6 (2002) no. 5, 873–978.
- V. G. Drinfeld, "Quantum groups," Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Berkeley, Calif., 1986) (1987) 798–820.
- 42. M. Jimbo, "A q-difference analogue of $U(\mathfrak{g})$ and the Yang-Baxter equation," *Lett. Math. Phys.* **10** (1985) no. 1, 63–69.
- 43. L. Faddeev, "How algebraic Bethe ansatz works for integrable model," th/9605187 [hep-th]. Unpublished.
- E. Frenkel and N. Reshetikhin, "The q-characters of representations of quantum affine algebras and deformations of *W*-algebras," *Recent developments in quantum affine algebras and related topics (Raleigh, NC, 1998)* 248 (1999) 163–205.
- E. Frenkel and D. Hernandez, "Baxters relations and spectra of quantum integrable models," *Duke Math. J.* 164 (2015) no. 12, 2407–2460.
- N. Nekrasov, V. Pestun, and S. Shatashvili, "Quantum geometry and quiver gauge theories," arXiv:1312.6689 [hep-th]. Submitted to Communications in Mathematical Physics
- 47. N. Nekrasov, "BPS/CFT correspondence: non-perturbative Dyson–Schwinger equations and *qq*-characters," *JHEP* **1603** (2016) 181.
- 48. T. Kimura and V. Pestun, "Quiver W-algebras," arXiv:1512.08533 [hep-th]. Submitted to LMP
- E. Frenkel and N. Reshetikhin, "Deformations of *W*-algebras associated to simple Lie algebras," *Comm. Math. Phys.* 197 (1998) no. 1, 1–32.

- A. Beilinson and V. Drinfeld, "Quantization of Hitchin's integrable system and Hecke eigensheaves,". www.math.uchicago.edu/~mitya/langlands/QuantizationHitchin. pdf. Unpublished.
- E. Frenkel, N. Reshetikhin, and M. A. Semenov-Tian-Shansky, "Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction for difference operators and deformations of W-algebras. I. The case of Virasoro algebra," *Comm. Math. Phys.* **192** (1998) no. 3, 605–629.
- M. A. Semenov-Tian-Shansky and A. V. Sevostyanov, "Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction for difference operators and deformations of W-algebras. II. The general semisimple case," *Comm. Math. Phys.* **192** (1998) no. 3, 631–647.
- H. Nakajima, "Quiver varieties and finite-dimensional representations of quantum affine algebras," J. Amer. Math. Soc. 14 (2001) no. 1, 145–238.

Statistical mechanics for complex systems: On the structure of *q*-triplets

Constantino Tsallis

Abstract A plethora of natural, artificial and social complex systems exists which violate the basic hypothesis (e.g., ergodicity) of Boltzmann-Gibbs (BG) statistical mechanics. Many of such cases can be satisfactorily handled by introducing nonadditive entropic functionals, such as $S_q \equiv k \frac{1-\sum_{i=1}^{W} p_i^q}{q-1} \quad (q \in \mathscr{R}; \sum_{i=1}^{W} p_i = 1)$, with $S_1 = S_{BG} \equiv -k \sum_{i=1}^{W} p_i \ln p_i$. Each class of such systems can be characterized by a set of values $\{q\}$, directly corresponding to its various physical/dynamical/geometrical properties. A most important subset is usually referred to as the q-triplet, namely $(q_{\text{sensitivity}}, q_{\text{relaxation}}, q_{\text{stationary state}})$, defined in the body of this paper. In the BG limit we have $q_{\text{sensitivity}} = q_{\text{relaxation}} = q_{\text{stationary state}} = 1$. For a given class of complex systems, the set $\{q\}$ contains only a few independent values of q, all the others being functions of those few. An illustration of this structure was given in 2005 [Tsallis, Gell-Mann and Sato, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sc. USA 102, 15377; TGS]. This illustration enabled a satisfactory analysis of the Voyager 1 data on the solar wind. But the general form of these structures still is an open question. This is so, for instance, for the challenging q-triplet associated with the edge of chaos of the logistic map. We introduce here a transformation which sensibly generalizes the TGS one, and which might constitute an important step towards the general solution.

1 Introduction

The pillars of contemporary theoretical physics may be considered to be Newtonian, quantum and relativistic mechanics, Maxwell electromagnetism, and Boltzmann-

Constantino Tsallis

Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Fisicas and National Institute of Science and Technology for Complex Systems, Rua Xavier Sigaud 150, 22290-180 Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Santa Fe Institute, 1399 Hyde Park Road, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501, USA e-mail: tsallis@cbpf.br

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_7

Gibbs (BG) statistical mechanics (microscopic theory consistent with thermodynamics). Statistical mechanics is in turn grounded in *electromechanics* (meaning by this the set of all mechanics and electromagnetism) and in the theory of probabilities. The BG theory can be formally constructed by adopting the BG entropic functional $S_{BG} = -k\sum_{i=1}^{W} p_i \ln p_i$, with $\sum_{i=1}^{W} p_i = 1$, *k* being a conventional positive constant (usually taken to be the Boltzmann constant k_B). This hypothesis is known to be fully satisfactory for dynamical systems satisfying simple properties such as ergodicity.

For more complex systems, the BG entropy can be inadequate, even plainly misleading. When this happens, must we abandon the statistical mechanical approach? It was advanced in 1988 [1] that this is not necessary. Indeed, it suffices to consider entropic functionals different from S_{BG} , and reconstruct statistical mechanics on more general grounds. The so-called *nonextensive statistical mechanics* follows along this path, based on the entropy $S_q = k \frac{1-\sum_{i=1}^{W} p_i^q}{q-1}$ ($q \in \mathscr{R}$; $S_1 = S_{BG}$). It can be easily verified that, if *A* and *B* are any two probabilistically independent systems (i.e., $p_{ij}^{A+B} = p_i^A p_j^B$), then $\frac{S_q(A+B)}{k} = \frac{S_q(A)}{k} + \frac{S_q(B)}{k} + (1-q) \frac{S_q(A)}{k} \frac{S_q(B)}{k}$. In other words, S_q is *nonadditive* for $q \neq 1$, in contrast with S_{BG} which is *additive*.

The optimization of S_q under appropriate constraints yields distributions such as the q-exponential one $p_q(x) \propto [1 - (1 - q)\beta x]^{1/(1-q)} \equiv e_q^{-\beta x}$ or the q-Gaussian one $p_q(x) \propto e_q^{-\beta x^2}$ (see [2] for an introductory text). This and similar generalizations of the BG statistical mechanics have been shown to provide uncountable predictions, verifications, and applications in natural, artificial and social complex systems. A regularly updated bibliography as well as selected theoretical, experimental, observational, and computational papers can be seen at http://tsallis.cat.cbpf.br/biblio.htm Among recent applications we mention the experimental validation [3] (accomplished in granular matter) of a 20-year-old prediction, the emergence of neat qstatistical behavior in high-energy collisions at LHC/CERN along 14 experimental decades (see [4] for instance), a notable numerical discovery in the celebrated standard map [5], and the connection with networks (see [6] for instance).

2 q-triplets

The solution of the differential equation

$$\frac{dy}{dx} = a_1 y \ (y(0) = 1)$$
 (1)

is given by $y = e^{a_1 x}$. The solution of the more general equation

$$\frac{dy}{dx} = a_q y^q \quad (y(0) = 1) \tag{2}$$

is given by $y = e_q^{a_q x}$. These facts in the realm of nonextensive statistical mechanics suggested a conjecture in 2004 [7], namely that there could exist in nature *q*-triplets as indicated in Table 1 and [8]. The first verification of the conjecture was done in 2005 by NASA researchers Burlaga and Vinas in the solar wind [9].

	x	а	y(x)
Stationary state distribution	Ei	$-oldsymbol{eta}$	$Z_{q_{ ext{stationary state}}} p(E_i) = e_{q_{ ext{stationary state}}}^{-eta_{q_{ ext{stationary state}}}} E_i$
Sensitivity to the initial conditions	t	$\lambda_{q_{ ext{sensitivity}}}$	$\xi(t) = e_{q_{\text{sensitivity}}}^{\lambda_{q_{\text{sensitivity}}}t}$
Typical relaxation of observable O	t	$-1/ au_{q_{ m relaxation}}$	$\begin{split} \Omega(t) &\equiv \frac{O(t) - O(\infty)}{O(0) - O(\infty)} \\ &= e_{q_{\text{relaxation}}}^{-t/\tau_{q_{\text{relaxation}}}} \end{split}$

Table 1: Three possible physical interpretations of Eq. (2) within nonextensive statistical mechanics. In the BG limit we have $q_{\text{sensitivity}} = q_{\text{relaxation}} = q_{\text{stationary state}} = 1$. For one dimensional dynamical systems it is $q_{\text{entropy production}} = q_{\text{sensitivity}}$, where $q_{\text{entropy production}}$ denotes the index q for which S_q increases linearly with time t. From [8].

Since then a plethora of q-triplets and directly related quantities have been found in solar plasma [10–13], the ozone layer [14], El Niño/Southern Oscillations [15], geological faults [16], finance [17, 18], DNA sequence [19], logistic map (see [20–31]), and elsewhere [32, 33].

3 Connections between *q*-indices

Some very basic points can be addressed at this stage: How many indices q can be systematically defined? How many of them are independent? Through what relations can all the others be calculated? To what specific physical/mathematical/probabilistic/dynamical property is each of them associated?

As we shall see, there are many more than three relevant q-indices. Nevertheless, the q-triplet plays a kind of guiding role in questions such as what is the correct entropy to be used, at what rhythm does it relax to a stationary state, and how can this stationary state be characterized. Consistently, in the BG limit all the indices q are expected to be equal among them and equal to unity.

Inspired by the specific values for the *q*-triplet observed by NASA [9], a path was developed in [34]. Two self-dual transformations admitting q = 1 as a fixed point were introduced, namely the *additive duality* $q \rightarrow 2-q$ and the *multiplicative duality* $q \rightarrow 1/q$. These simple transformations had already appeared in various contexts in nonextensive statistical mechanics (see [2] and references therein). The novelty in [34] is that they were used to systematically construct a mathematical structure, which we describe in what follows. We first define the transformations μ and ν :

$$\mu \to q_2(q) = 2 - q \to \frac{1}{1 - q_2(q)} = \frac{1}{q - 1},$$
 (3)

$$\nu \rightarrow q_0(q) = \frac{1}{q} \rightarrow \frac{1}{1 - q_0(q)} = \frac{1}{q - 1} + 1.$$
 (4)

The subindices 2 and 0 will become clear soon. We straightforwardly verify $\mu^2 = \nu^2 = 1$, $\nu\mu = (\mu\nu)^{-1}$. Also, we can analogously define $(\mu\nu)^m$ and $(\nu\mu)^n$ with integer numbers (m, n). This set of transformations enables (see [2,34]) the definition of a simple structure (hereafter referred to as the TGS structure). The NASA *q*-triplet for the solar wind found an elegant description within this structure, as shown later on in this paper. Not so the logistic-map edge-of-chaos *q*-triplet, and others. As a possible way out of this limitation, a generalization of the TGS structure was proposed in [8], which we review now.

Let us consider the following transformation:

$$q_a(q) = \frac{(a+2) - aq}{a - (a-2)q} \quad (a \in \mathscr{R}),$$
(5)

or, equivalently,

$$\frac{1}{1-q_a(q)} = \frac{1}{q-1} + 1 - \frac{a}{2},$$
(6)

or, even

$$\frac{2}{2-a}\frac{1}{1-q_a(q)} = \frac{2}{2-a}\frac{1}{q-1} + 1.$$
(7)

We straightforwardly verify that $q_2 = 2 - q$ (*additive duality*) and $q_0 = 1/q$ (*multiplicative duality*) [2, 34, 38, 39]. Also, we generically verify *selfduality*, i.e., $q_a(q_a(q)) = q, \forall (a,q)$, as well as the BG fixed point, i.e., $q_a(1) = 1, \forall a$: See the figure in [8]. The duality (5) is in fact a quite general ratio of linear functions of q which satisfies these two important properties (selfduality and BG fixed point). It transforms biunivocally the interval $[1, -\infty)$ into the interval $[1, \frac{a}{a-2}]$. Moreover, for a = 3 and a = 5 we recover respectively $q_3 = \frac{5-3q}{3-q}$ [35] and $q_5 = \frac{7-5q}{5-3q}$ [36].

Let us combine now two¹ transformations of the type (5) (or, equivalently, (6)):

$$\mu \to q_a(q) = \frac{(a+2) - aq}{a - (a-2)q} \to \frac{1}{1 - q_a(q)} = \frac{1}{q-1} + 1 - \frac{a}{2},$$
(8)

¹ Of course, it is also possible to combine, along similar lines, three or more such transformations.

Statistical mechanics for complex systems: On the structure of q-triplets

and

$$v \to q_b(q) = \frac{(b+2)-bq}{b-(b-2)q} \to \frac{1}{1-q_b(q)} = \frac{1}{q-1} + 1 - \frac{b}{2},$$
 (9)

with $b \neq a$. It follows that

$$\mu\nu \to q_a(q_b(q)) = \frac{(b-a) - (b-a-2)q}{(b-a+2) - (b-a)q} \to \frac{1}{1-q_a(q_b(q))} = \frac{1}{1-q} + \frac{b-a}{2},$$
(10)

and

$$\nu\mu \to q_b(q_a(q)) = \frac{(a-b) - (a-b-2)q}{(a-b+2) - (a-b)q} \to \frac{1}{1-q_b(q_a(q))} = \frac{1}{1-q} + \frac{a-b}{2},$$
(11)

with $\mu^2 = \nu^2 = 1$, $\nu \mu = (\mu \nu)^{-1}$, and $q_a(q_a(q)) = q$, $\forall (a,q)$. For integer values of *m* and *n*, we can straightforwardly establish

$$(\mu\nu)^m \to q_{a,b}^{(m)}(q) \equiv q_a(q_b(q_a(q_b(\dots)))) = \frac{m(b-a) - [m(b-a)-2]q}{[m(b-a)+2] - m(b-a)q}$$
(12)

$$\rightarrow \frac{1}{1 - q_{a,b}^{(m)}(q)} = \frac{1}{1 - q_a(q_b(q_a(q_b(\dots))))} = \frac{1}{1 - q} + m\frac{b - a}{2}, \quad (13)$$

and

$$(\boldsymbol{\nu}\mu)^n \to q_{b,a}^{(n)}(q) \equiv q_b(q_a(q_b(q_a(\dots)))) = \frac{n(a-b) - [n(a-b) - 2]q}{[n(a-b) + 2] - n(a-b)q}$$
(14)

$$\rightarrow \frac{1}{1 - q_{b,a}^{(n)}(q)} = \frac{1}{1 - q_b(q_a(q_b(q_a(\dots))))} = \frac{1}{1 - q} + n\frac{a - b}{2}.$$
 (15)

As we see, $q_{a,b}^{(1)} = q_a(q_b(q))$ and $q_{b,a}^{(1)} = q_b(q_a(q))$.

For $a \neq b$ and any integer values for (m, n), the above general relations can be conveniently rewritten as follows:

$$\frac{2}{b-a}\frac{1}{1-q_{a,b}^{(m)}(q)} = \frac{2}{b-a}\frac{1}{1-q} + m \quad (m=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,\ldots),$$
(16)

and

$$\frac{2}{a-b}\frac{1}{1-q_{b,a}^{(n)}(q)} = \frac{2}{a-b}\frac{1}{1-q} + n \quad (n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,\ldots).$$
(17)

For m = n = 1 and (a, b) = (2, 0) we recover the simple transformations $q_{2,0}^{(1)} = 2 - \frac{1}{q}$ (see Eq. (7) in [37], and footnote on page 15378 of [34]) and $q_{0,2}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2-q}$. We can also check that with $m = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ..., (\mu \nu)^m \mu$ and $\nu(\mu \nu)^m$ correspond

We can also check that with $m = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ..., (\mu \nu)^m \mu$ and $\nu (\mu \nu)^m$ correspondent respectively to
$$\frac{2}{b-a}\frac{1}{1-q_{a,b}^{(m,\mu)}(q)} - \frac{2-a}{2(b-a)} = -\left[\frac{2}{b-a}\frac{1}{1-q} - \frac{2-a}{2(b-a)}\right] - m, \quad (18)$$

and

$$\frac{2}{b-a}\frac{1}{1-q_{a,b}^{(v,m)}(q)} - \frac{2-b}{2(b-a)} = -\left[\frac{2}{b-a}\frac{1}{1-q} - \frac{2-b}{2(b-a)}\right] + m.$$
(19)

Analogously we can check that with $n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ..., (\nu \mu)^n \nu$ and $\mu(\nu \mu)^n$ correspond respectively to

$$\frac{2}{a-b}\frac{1}{1-q_{b,a}^{(n,v)}(q)} - \frac{2-b}{2(a-b)} = -\left[\frac{2}{a-b}\frac{1}{1-q} - \frac{2-b}{2(a-b)}\right] - n, \quad (20)$$

and

$$\frac{2}{a-b}\frac{1}{1-q_{b,a}^{(\mu,n)}(q)} - \frac{2-a}{2(a-b)} = -\left[\frac{2}{b-a}\frac{1}{1-q} - \frac{2-a}{2(a-b)}\right] + n.$$
(21)

As we see, the structures that are involved exhibit some degree of complexity. Let us therefore summarize the frame within which we are working. If we have an unique parameter (noted *a*) to play with, we can only transform *q* through Eq. (5). If we have two parameters (noted *a* and *b*) to play with, we can transform *q* in several ways, namely through Eqs. (13), (15), (18), (19), (20) and (21), with $m = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...$; the cases m = 0 and n = 0 recover respectively Eqs. (8) and (9). The particular choice (a,b) = (2,0) recovers the TGS structure introduced in [2, 34, 38, 39]. Also, the particular choice (a,b) = (-1,0) within the transformation (10) recovers the transformation $q \rightarrow \frac{1+q}{3-q}$, which plays a crucial role in the *q*-generalized Central Limit Theorem [40]; coincidentally (or not), the relation b - a = 1 recovers the $\gamma = 1/2$ case of Eq. (32) of [8] (see also [41–43]).

To make the approach introduced in [8] even more powerful, we may introduce now the most general self-dual ratio of linear functions of q, which has the q = 1fixed point. It is given by

$$q_{a_1,a_2}(q) = \frac{a_1 - a_2 q}{a_2 - (2a_2 - a_1)q} \ (a_1 \in \mathscr{R}; a_2 \in \mathscr{R}),$$
(22)

or, equivalently,

$$\frac{1}{1 - q_{a_1, a_2}(q)} = \frac{1}{q - 1} + 1 + \frac{a_2}{a_2 - a_1},$$
(23)

or, even,

$$\frac{a_2 - a_1}{2a_2 - a_1} \frac{1}{1 - q_{a_1, a_2}(q)} = \frac{a_2 - a_1}{2a_2 - a_1} \frac{1}{q - 1} + 1.$$
(24)

The particular case

$$(a_1, a_2) = (a+2, a) \tag{25}$$

56

recovers the transformation introduced in Eq. (5) [8]. All the steps from Eq. (8) to Eq. (21) can easily be generalized, involving now four parameters, (a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2) , instead of only two, (a, b). It becomes clear that the 4-parameter structure that can be constructed with the transformation (24) remains isomorphic to the set Z of integer numbers. Of course, to go from the 4-parameter structure to the 2-parameter structure we need to assume also, analogously to Eq. (25), that $(b_1, b_2) = (b+2, b)$.

4 Some final remarks

Essentially, we reproduce here the final remarks in [8]. The data observed in [9] for the solar wind are consistent with the q-triplet [34]:

 $(q_{\text{sensitivity}}, q_{\text{stationary state}}, q_{\text{relaxation}}) = (-0.5, 7/4, 4).$

If we identify, in Eq. (10), $(q, q_{a,b}^{(1)}) \equiv (q_{\text{sensitivity}}, q_{\text{relaxation}})$ we can verify that, for a - b = 2, the data are consistently recovered. Moreover, if we use once again Eq. (10) and a - b = 2, but identifying now $(q, q_{a,b}^{(1)}) \equiv (q_{\text{relaxation}}, q_{\text{stationary state}})$, once again the data are consistently recovered. The particular case (a, b) = (2, 0) was first proposed in [34]. In other words, it is possible to consider this q-triplet as having only one independent value, say $q_{\text{sensitivity}}$; from this value we can calculate $q_{\text{relaxation}}$ by using Eq. (10); and from $q_{\text{relaxation}}$ we can calculate $q_{\text{stationary state}}$ by using once again Eq. (10). This discussion can be summarized as follows:

$$\frac{1}{1-q_{\text{sensitivity}}} - \frac{1}{1-q_{\text{relaxation}}} = \frac{1}{1-q_{\text{relaxation}}} - \frac{1}{1-q_{\text{stationary state}}} = \frac{a-b}{2} = 1.$$
(26)

It is occasionally convenient to use the ε -triplet defined as ($\varepsilon_{\text{sensitivity}}$,

 $\varepsilon_{\text{stationary state}}, \varepsilon_{\text{relaxation}}) = (1 - q_{\text{sensitivity}}, 1 - q_{\text{stationary state}}, 1 - q_{\text{relaxation}})$. Let us mention that an amazing set of relations was found among these by [44], namely

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{\text{stationary state}} = \frac{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{\text{sensitivity}} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{\text{relaxation}}}{2} \,, \tag{27}$$

 $\varepsilon_{\text{sensitivity}} = \sqrt{\varepsilon_{\text{stationary state}} \varepsilon_{\text{relaxation}}}, \qquad (28)$

$$\varepsilon_{\text{relaxation}}^{-1} = \frac{\varepsilon_{\text{sensitivity}}^{-1} + \varepsilon_{\text{stationary state}}^{-1}}{2} \,. \tag{29}$$

The emergence of the three *Pythagorean means* in this specific *q*-triplet remains still today enigmatic. One could advance that these relations hide some unexpected symmetry, but its nature remains today completely unrevealed.

Let us now focus on a different system, namely the well-known logistic map at its edge of chaos (also referred to as the Feigenbaum point). The numerical data for this map yield the *q*-triplet ($q_{\text{sensitivity}}, q_{\text{stationary state}}, q_{\text{relaxation}}$) = (0.244487701..., 1.65 ± 0.05, 2.249784109...) [21, 28, 46–48].

An heuristic relation has been found [45] between these three values, namely (using $\varepsilon \equiv 1 - q$):

$$\varepsilon_{\text{sensitivity}} + \varepsilon_{\text{relaxation}} = \varepsilon_{\text{sensitivity}} \varepsilon_{\text{stationary state}}$$
 (30)

Indeed, this relation straightforwardly implies

$$q_{\text{stationary state}} = \frac{q_{\text{relaxation}} - 1}{1 - q_{\text{sensitivity}}} \,. \tag{31}$$

Through this relation we obtain $q_{\text{stationary state}} = 1.65424...$ which is perfectly compatible with 1.65 ± 0.05 . In the generalized structure that we have developed here above, we have five free parameters (q, a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2) (or only three free parameters (q, a, b) in the more restricted version presented in [8]) in addition to the integer numbers (m, n). It is therefore trivial to make analytical identifications with $(q_{\text{sensitivity}}, q_{\text{stationary state}}, q_{\text{relaxation}})$ such that Eq. (30) is satisfied.

The real challenge, however, is to find a general theoretical frame within which such identifications (and, through the freedom associated with (m,n), infinitely many more, related to physical quantities) become established on a clear basis, and not only through conjectural possibilities; as a simple illustration of such q indices being associated to specific properties, we may mention the relation $[49-51] q_{\text{stationary state}} = \frac{\tau+2}{\tau}$, hence $q_{\text{stationary state}} - 1 = 2(q_{avalanche size} - 1)$ with $\tau \equiv 1/(q_{avalanche size} - 1)$. Such a frame of systematic identifications remains up to now elusive and certainly constitutes a most interesting open question. Along this line, a connection that might reveal promising is that if we assume that q is a complex number (see, for instance, [52, 53]), then Eq. (5) corresponds to nonsingular [with $(a+2)(a-2) - a^2 = -4 \neq 0, \forall a$] Moebius transformations, which form the Moebius group, defining an automorphism of the Riemann sphere.

Acknowledgements I am deeply indebted to Piergiulio Tempesta. Indeed, during a long and fruitful conversation with him about the present context focusing on the structure and use of *q*-triplets based on transformation (5), he thought of generalizing it into transformation (22). Also, partial financial support by CNPq and Faperj (Brazilian agencies) and by the John Templeton Foundation (USA) is gratefully acknowledged.

References

- 1. C. Tsallis, J. Stat. Phys. 52, 479 (1988).
- 2. C. Tsallis, Introduction to Nonextensive Statistical Mechanics Approaching a Complex World (Springer, New York, 2009).
- 3. G. Combe, V. Richefeu, M. Stasiak and A.P.F. Atman, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 238301 (2015).
- 4. C.Y. Wong and G. Wilk, Phys. Rev. D 87, 114007 (2013).
- 5. U. Tirnakli and E.P. Borges, Scientific Reports 6, 23644 (2016).
- 6. S.G.A. Brito, L.R. da Silva and C. Tsallis, Scientific Reports 6, 27992 (2016).
- 7. C. Tsallis, Physica A 340, 1 (2004).
- 8. C. Tsallis, Eur. Phys. J. Special Topics (2016), in press.
- 9. L.F. Burlaga and A.F.-Vinas, Physica A 356, 375 (2005).
- 10. L.F. Burlaga and N.F. Ness, Astrophys. J., 765, 35 (2013).
- 11. G.P. Pavlos, L.P. Karakatsanis and M.N. Xenakis, Physica A 391, 6287-6319 (2012).
- 12. L.P. Karakatsanis, G.P. Pavlos and M.N. Xenakis, Physica A 392, 3920 (2013).

- G.P. Pavlos, A.C. Iliopoulos, G.N. Zastenker, L.M. Zelenyi, L.P. Karakatsanis, M. Riazantseva, M.N. Xenakis and E.G. Pavlos, Physica A 422, 113 (2015).
- 14. G.L. Ferri, M.F. Reynoso Savio and A. Plastino, Physica A 389, 1829 (2010).
- 15. G.L. Ferri, A. Figliola and O.A. Rosso, Physica A 391, 2154 (2012).
- 16. D.B. de Freitas, G.S. Franca, T.M. Scherrer, C.S. Vilar and R. Silva, EPL 102, 39001 (2013).
- G.P. Pavlos, L.P. Karakatsanis, M.N. Xenakis, E.G. Pavlos, A.C. Iliopoulos and D.V. Sarafopoulos, Physica A 395, 58 (2014).
- A.C. Iliopoulos, G.P. Pavlos, L. Magafas, L. Karakatsanis, M. Xenakis and E. Pavlos, J. Engineering Science Technology Review 8, 34 (2015).
- G.P. Pavlos, L.P. Karakatsanis, A.C. Iliopoulos, E.G. Pavlos, M.N. Xenakis, P. Clark, J. Duke and D.S. Monos, Physica A 438, 188 (2015).
- 20. C. Tsallis, A.R. Plastino and W.-M. Zheng, Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 8, 885 (1997).
- 21. M.L. Lyra and C. Tsallis, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 53 (1998).
- M.L. Lyra, Ann. Rev. Comp. Phys., ed. D. Stauffer (World Scientific, Singapore, 1998), page 31.
- 23. F. Baldovin and A. Robledo, Phys. Rev. E 66, R045104 (2002).
- 24. F. Baldovin and A. Robledo, Phys. Rev. E 69, 045202(R) (2004).
- 25. E. Mayoral and A. Robledo, Phys. Rev. E 72, 026209 (2005).
- 26. E. Mayoral and A. Robledo, Physica A 340, 219 (2004).
- 27. U. Tirnakli, C. Beck and C. Tsallis, Phys. Rev. E 75, 040106 (2007).
- 28. U. Tirnakli, C. Tsallis and C. Beck, Phys. Rev. E 79, 056209 (2009).
- 29. P. Grassberger, Phys. Rev. E 79, 057201 (2009).
- 30. G.F.J. Ananos, F. Baldovin and C. Tsallis, Eur. Phys. J. B 46, 409 (2005).
- 31. B. Luque, L. Lacasa and A. Robledo, Phys. Lett. A 376, 3625 (2012).
- 32. C. Tsallis, in *Complexity and Nonextensivity: New Trends in Statistical Mechanics*, eds. S. Abe, M. Sakagami and N. Suzuki, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. **162**, 1 (2006).
- 33. H. Suyari and T. Wada, Physica A 387, 71 (2007).
- 34. C. Tsallis, M. Gell-Mann and Y. Sato, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sc. USA 102, 15377 (2005).
- 35. K.P. Nelson and S. Umarov, Physica A 389, 2157 (2010).
- 36. R. Hanel, S. Thurner and C. Tsallis, Eur. Phys. J. B 72, 263 (2009).
- 37. L.G. Moyano, C. Tsallis and M. Gell-Mann, Europhys. Lett. 73, 813 (2006).
- 38. C. Tsallis, Braz. J. Phys. 39, 337 (2009).
- C. Tsallis, in Special Issue edited by G. Nicolis, M. Robnik, V. Rothos and H. Skokos, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 22 (9), 1230030 (2012).
- S. Umarov, C. Tsallis and S. Steinberg, Milan J. Math. 76, 307 (2008); for a simplified version, see S.M.D. Queiros and C. Tsallis, AIP Conference Proceedings 965, 21 (New York, 2007).
- 41. G. Ruiz and C. Tsallis, Phys. Lett. A 376, 2451 (2012).
- 42. H. Touchette, Phys. Lett. A 377 (5), 436 (2013).
- 43. G. Ruiz and C. Tsallis, Phys. Lett. A 377, 491 (2013).
- 44. N.O. Baella, private communication (2008); see also footnote of page 194 of [2].
- 45. N.O. Baella, private communication (2010).
- 46. F.A.B.F. de Moura, U. Tirnakli and M.L. Lyra, Phys. Rev. E 62, 6361 (2000)
- 47. P. Grassberger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 140601 (2005)
- 48. A. Robledo, Physica A 370, 449 (2006).
- 49. A. Celikoglu, U. Tirnakli and S.M.D. Queiros, Phys. Rev. E 82, 021124 (2010).
- 50. B. Bakar and U. Tirnakli, Physica A 389, 3382-3386 (2010).
- 51. A. Celikoglu and U. Tirnakli, Acta Geophysica 60, 535 (2012).
- 52. G. Wilk and Z. Wlodarczyk, Entropy 17, 384 (2015).
- 53. M.D. Azmi and J. Cleymans, Eur. Phys. J. C 75, 430 (2015).

Unconventional supersymmetry: Local SUSY without SUGRA

Jorge Zanelli

Eugene Wigner defined particle physics as a study of group representations. Assuming spacetime to be essentially flat and therefore invariant under global (rigid) Poincaré transformations, it was Wigner's genius to observe that elementary particle states must correspond to irreducible representations of the Poincaré group. Hence, the intrinsic particle properties mass and spin (M, J) should correspond to the eigenvalues of the Casimir operators that classify those representations.

In the Standard Model, fundamental interactions result from locally realized internal symmetries (gauge groups). It has been a long-sought idea that spacetime and internal symmetries could be combined in a natural way through a "super" symmetry. The simplest implementation of supersymmetry (SUSY) has two fundamental weaknesses:

- a) It predicts for each fermionic matter field a bosonic one in the same gauge representation and with the same mass, and vice-versa;
- b) In spite of decades of intensive search, no experimental evidence of SUSY has been found yet.

The fact that no trace of SUSY has been observed so far has been excused by saying that it is a broken symmetry at experimentally accessible energies, but it must be unbroken at sufficiently high energy. A statement of this sort can never be falsified because it can always be said that the energy range for SUSY restoration is such high energy that it remains unobserved, which puts SUSY on a doubtful scientific basis.

In this work, we consider a gauge theory based on a superalgebra that includes an internal gauge symmetry, the local Lorentz invariance and supersymmetry gen-

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Jorge Zanelli

Centro de Estudios Científicos, CECs-Valdivia, Arturo Prat 514, Valdivia, Chile, e-mail: z@cecs.cl

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_8

erators. The important distinctive features between this theory and standard supersymmetry are:

- The number of fermionic and bosonic states are not necessarily equal.
- There are no fermionic superpartners of gauge bosons (bosoninos), or bosonic partners of matter (s-leptons).
- Although this supersymmetry originates in a local gauge theory and gravity is included, there are no gravitini.
- Fermions acquire mass from the coupling to the background while bosons remain massless.

The existence of bosonic SUSY-invariant vacua depends on the existence of globally defined Killing spinors. Hence the fact that supersymmetry is not manifest in a given situation might be understood as a consequence of the absence of Killing spinors, a contingent phenomenon rather than a mysterious breaking of a local symmetry.

Acknowledgements This work has been partially funded through Fondecyt grant 1140155. The Centro de Estudios Científicos (CECs) is funded by the Chilean Government through the Centers of Excellence Base Financing Program of Conicyt.

Further reading and References

The discussion of the SUSY theories described here can be found in the following articles:

- 1. P. D. Alvarez, M. Valenzuela and J. Zanelli, *Supersymmetry of a different kind*, JHEP **1204**, 058 (2012). [arXiv:1109.3944 [hep-th]].
- P. D. Alvarez, P. Pais and J. Zanelli, Unconventional supersymmetry and its breaking, Phys. Lett. B 735, 314 (2014). [arXiv:1306.1247 [hep-th]].
- P. D. Alvarez, P. Pais, E. Rodríguez, P. Salgado-Rebolledo and J. Zanelli, *The* BTZ black hole as a Lorentz-flat geometry, Phys. Lett. B 738, 134 (2014). [arXiv:1405.6657 [gr-qc]].
- 4. J. Zanelli, 2+1 black hole with SU(2) hair (and the theory where it grows), J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 600, no. 1, 012005 (2015).
- P. D. Alvarez, P. Pais, E. Rodríguez, P. Salgado-Rebolledo and J. Zanelli, Supersymmetric 3D model for gravity with SU(2) gauge symmetry, mass generation and effective cosmological constant, Class. Quant. Grav. 32, no. 17, 175014 (2015). [arXiv:1505.03834 [hep-th]].
- A. Guevara, P. Pais and J. Zanelli, *Dynamical Contents of Unconventional Supersymmetry*, JHEP 1608, 085 (2016). [arXiv:1606.05239 [hep-th]].

Part III Articles

Analysis of the production of exotic bottomonium-like resonances via heavy-meson effective theory

L. M. Abreu

Abstract We analyze the production of exotic bottomonium-like resonances in the processes involving initial bottomed meson states $\bar{B}^{(*)}B^{(*)}$, by using effective Lagrangians taking as guiding principles heavy quark symmetries. In this scenario, we consider the $Z_b(10610)$ and $Z'_b(10650)$ as bound states of $(\bar{B}^0B^{*+} + B^+\bar{B}^{*0})$ and $(B^{*+}\bar{B}^{*0})$ channels, respectively, and obtain the amplitudes of relevant processes.

1 Introduction

About five years ago, Belle Collaboration discovered two charged exotic states $Z_b^{\pm}(10610)$ and $Z_b^{\prime\pm}(10650)$ (denoted henceforth as Z_b^{\pm} and $Z_b^{\prime\pm}$), in $\Upsilon(5S) \rightarrow \Upsilon(nS)\pi^+\pi^-$ (n = 1,2,3) and $\Upsilon(5S) \rightarrow h_b(mS)\pi^-\pi^-$ (m = 1,2) decays [1,2]. Their favored quantum numbers are $I^G(J^P) = 1^+(1^+)$. The masses averaged over the five channels are $m_{Z_b^{\pm}} = 10607.2 \pm 2.0$ MeV and $m_{Z_b^{\prime\pm}} = 10652.21.5$ MeV [6], being close to the $B\bar{B}^*$ and $B^*\bar{B}^*$ thresholds, respectively. Also, the charge neutral partner of $Z_b(10610)$ Belle Collaboration has found in Dalitz plot analysis of $\Upsilon(5S) \rightarrow \Upsilon(2S)\pi^0\pi^0$, with mass being $m_{Z_b^0} = 10609 \pm 6$ MeV, suggesting that the three sets of Z_b resonances might form isospin triplets and need at least four quarks as minimal constituents. Besides, Belle reported the observation of these two $Z_b^{(\prime)}$ in $\Upsilon(5S) \rightarrow (B\bar{B}^* + c.c.)\pi$ and $\Upsilon(5S) \rightarrow B^*\bar{B}^*\pi$ decays [4].

Many interesting theoretical discussions concerning the structure and properties of Z_b states have been made. In this sense, in the present work we are interested in analyzing the hadronic effects on the production of $Z_b^{(\prime)}$ resonances. The inspiration relies on previous works, in which it is discussed the interaction between the exotic X(3872) state and light hadrons, since it can be absorbed by the comoving

L. M. Abreu

Instituto de Física, Universidade Federal da Bahia, 40210-340, Salvador-BA, Brazil, e-mail: luciano.abreu@ufba.br

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_9

light mesons or produced from the interaction between heavy mesons [5–12]. Thus, here we investigate the processes $\bar{B}B \rightarrow \pi Z_b$, $\bar{B}^*B \rightarrow \pi Z_b^{(\prime)}$ and $\bar{B}^*B^* \rightarrow \pi Z_b^{(\prime)}$ within the framework of Heavy-Meson Effective Theory (HMET), i.e., with effective Lagrangians constructed, taking as guiding principles heavy quark symmetries. The leading-order amplitudes are determined and discussed.

2 Formalism

Here we introduce the effective theory known as Heavy-Meson Effective Theory (HMET). It is characterized by effective Lagrangians respecting chiral, heavy-quark spin, Lorentz, parity and charge conjugation symmetries, being given by

$$\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{L}_M + \mathscr{L}_{Z^{(l)}}.$$
 (1)

In Eq. (1), \mathscr{L}_M is the lowest-order effective Lagrangian carrying the kinetic terms and couplings between light- and heavy-meson fields [13–20],

$$\mathscr{L}_{M} = -i \operatorname{Tr} \left[\bar{H}^{(Q)b} v \cdot \mathscr{D}^{a}_{b} H^{(Q)}_{a} \right] - i \operatorname{Tr} \left[H^{(\bar{Q})b} v \cdot \mathscr{D}^{a}_{b} \bar{H}^{(\bar{Q})}_{a} \right] + ig \operatorname{Tr} \left[\bar{H}^{(Q)b} H^{(Q)}_{a} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^{5} \right] (\mathscr{A}_{\mu})^{a}_{b} + ig \operatorname{Tr} \left[H^{(\bar{Q})b} \bar{H}^{(\bar{Q})}_{a} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^{5} \right] (\mathscr{A}_{\mu})^{a}_{b}, \quad (2)$$

where we have introduced the superfields:

$$H_{a}^{(Q)} = \left(\frac{1+\nu_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu}}{2}\right) \left(P_{a\mu}^{*(Q)}\gamma^{\mu} - P_{a}^{(Q)}\gamma^{5}\right),$$

$$H^{(\bar{Q})a} = \left(P_{\mu}^{*(\bar{Q})a}\gamma^{\mu} - P^{(\bar{Q})a}\gamma^{5}\right) \left(\frac{1-\nu_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu}}{2}\right),$$

$$\bar{H}^{(Q)a} = \gamma^{0}H_{a}^{(Q)\dagger}\gamma^{0}, \quad \bar{H}_{a}^{(\bar{Q})} = \gamma^{0}H^{(\bar{Q})\dagger a}\gamma^{0},$$
(3)

with Q = c, b being the index with respect to the heavy-quark flavor group $SU(2)_{HF}$; *v* the velocity parameter; *a* the triplet index of the $SU(3)_V$ group; and $P_a^{(Q/\bar{Q})}$ and $P_{a\mu}^{*(Q/\bar{Q})}$ the pseudoscalar and vector heavy-meson fields forming a $\bar{\mathbf{2}}$ representation of isospin group, i.e.,

$$P_a^{(b)} = \left(B^-, \bar{B}^0\right), \quad P_a^{(\bar{b})} = \left(B^+, B^0\right), \tag{4}$$

for the bottomed pseudoscalar meson field, and analogously for the vector case. The heavy vector meson fields obey the transversality conditions: $v \cdot P_a^{*(Q/\bar{Q})} = 0$.

Also, in Eq. (1) we have defined

Analysis of production of exotic bottomonium-like resonances

$$(\mathscr{D}_{\mu})^{a}_{b} = \left[\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\xi^{\dagger} \partial_{\mu} \xi + \xi \partial_{\mu} \xi^{\dagger}\right)\right]^{a}_{b}, \quad (\mathscr{A}_{\mu})^{a}_{b} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\xi^{\dagger} \partial_{\mu} \xi - \xi \partial_{\mu} \xi^{\dagger}\right)^{a}_{b},$$

$$\xi = e^{\frac{i}{f}M}, \quad M = \left(\frac{\pi^{0}}{\sqrt{2}} \quad \pi^{+} \\ \pi^{-} - \frac{\pi^{0}}{\sqrt{2}}\right). \tag{5}$$

In Eq. (5), *M* represents the light meson fields, with the ξ -field transforming as $L\xi U^{\dagger} = U\xi R^{\dagger}$ under chiral transformations; *g* and *f* are coupling and pion decay constants, respectively.

The term \mathscr{L}_M in Eq. (1) is the lowest-order effective Lagrangian coupling the $Z^{(l)\mu}$ fields to $B^{(*)}$ -mesons:

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z^{(\prime)}} = -i\frac{z^{(\prime)}}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathscr{Z}_{b\mu}^{(\prime)a} \bar{H}_{a}^{(\bar{Q})} \gamma^{\mu} \bar{H}^{(\bar{Q})a}\right] + c.c., \tag{6}$$

where $z^{(l)}$ is the coupling constant; $\mathscr{Z}_{\mu}^{(l)}$ is the superfield representing Z_b and Z'_b states [18, 20, 21],

$$\mathscr{Z}_{\mu}^{(\prime)} = \left(\frac{1+\nu_{\rho}\gamma^{\rho}}{2}\right) Z_{\mu}^{(\prime)}\gamma^{5}\left(\frac{1-\nu_{\sigma}\gamma^{\sigma}}{2}\right),\tag{7}$$

with $Z^{(\prime)\mu}$ being a 2 × 2 matrix representing quantized fields associated to the $Z^{(\prime)\mu}$ state:

$$Z_{\mu}^{(\prime)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} Z_{\mu}^{(\prime)0} & Z_{\mu}^{(\prime)+} \\ Z_{\mu}^{(\prime)-} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} Z_{\mu}^{(\prime)0} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (8)

In Table 1 we outline transformation properties of the superfields under the relevant symmetries.

Now we can determine scattering amplitudes of the processes $\bar{B}^{(*)}B^{(*)} \to \pi Z_b^{(\prime)}$. Following Ref. [21], we assume that Z_b couples to the components $(\bar{B}^0 B^{*+} + B^+ \bar{B}^{*0})$, while Z'_b couples only to the channel $(B^{*+} \bar{B}^{*0})$. In this sense, there is no contribution to $\bar{B}B \to \pi Z'_b$, since we do not consider the $B\bar{B}^* Z'_b$ vertex.

Then, based on the effective Lagrangians introduced above, we determine the leading-order amplitudes, i.e., the amplitudes associated to processes represented by one-heavy meson exchange diagrams. We fix the velocity parameter to be $v^{\mu} = (1, \mathbf{0})$, which in the present formalism means the transition to a non-relativistic approach. Also, we approximate the sum over the polarizations to $\sum \varepsilon^{i} \varepsilon^{*j} \sim \delta^{ij}$. Therefore, with these assumptions, the squared transition amplitudes, averaged over the spins and isospins of the particles in the initial and final states, can be written as:

Table 1: Transformations of the superfields under chiral, heavy-quark spin, Lorentz, parity and charge conjugation symmetries. U is a matrix acting on unbroken $SU(2)_V$ group; $S^{(Q)}$ is a rotation matrix acting on heavy-quark spin (HQS); $S^{(\bar{Q})}$ is a rotation matrix acting on heavy-antiquark spin; $D = D(\Lambda)$ is the spinor representation of Lorentz transformation Λ ; $C = i\gamma^2\gamma^0$ is the charge conjugation matrix. The negative charge conjugation for the \mathscr{Z} field holds for neutral components.

Transformation / field	$H_a^{(Q)}$	$ar{H}^{(Q)a}$	$H^{(\bar{Q})a}$	$ar{H}^{(ar{Q})}_a$	$Z^{(\prime)}_{\muab}$
Chiral	$H_b^{(Q)} U_{ba}^\dagger$	$U^{ab}\bar{H}^{(Q)b}$	$U^{ab}H^{(\bar{Q})b}$	$\bar{H}^{(\bar{Q})}_{b}U^{\dagger}_{ba}$	$U_{ac}Z^{(\prime)}_{\mucd}U^{\dagger}_{db}$
HQS	$S^{(Q)}H^{(Q)}_a$	$\bar{H}^{(Q)a}S^{(Q)\dagger}$	$H^{(\bar{Q})a}S^{(\bar{Q})\dagger}$	$S^{(\bar{Q})}H^{(\bar{Q})a}$	$S^{(Q)}Z^{(\prime)}_{\muab}S^{(\bar{Q})\dagger}$
Lorentz	$DH_a^{(Q)}D^{-1}$	$D\bar{H}^{(Q)a}D^{-1}$	$DH^{(\bar{Q})a}D^{-1}$	$D\bar{H}_a^{(\bar{Q})}D^{-1}$	$\Lambda^{\nu}_{\mu}DZ^{(\prime)}_{\nuab}D^{-1}$
Parity	$-H_a^{(Q)}$	$-ar{H}^{(Q)a}$	$-H^{(\bar{Q})a}$	$-ar{H}_a^{(ar{Q})}$	$-Z_{ab}^{(\prime)\mu}$
Charge Conjugation	$CH^{(\bar{Q})aT}C$	$C\bar{H}_{a}^{(\bar{Q})T}C$	$CH_a^{(Q)T}C$	$C\bar{H}^{(Q)aT}C$	$-CZ_{ab}^{(\prime)\mu}C = -Z_{ab}^{(\prime)\mu}$

$$\frac{\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}_{1}^{(\bar{B}B\to\pi Z_{b})}}\right|^{2}}{\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}_{2}^{(\bar{B}^{*}B\to\pi Z_{b})}}\right|^{2}} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{g^{2} z^{2}}{f^{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{p}_{\pi}|^{2}}{(\tilde{E}_{B^{*}} - E_{\pi} - \Delta)^{2}}, \\
\frac{\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}_{2}^{(\bar{B}^{*}B\to\pi Z_{b})}}\right|^{2}}{\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}_{3}^{(\bar{B}^{*}B\to\pi Z_{b})}}\right|^{2}} = \frac{5}{72} \frac{g^{2} z^{2}}{f^{2}} |\mathbf{p}_{\pi}|^{2} \frac{|\mathbf{p}_{\pi}|^{2}}{(\tilde{E}_{B^{*}} - E_{\pi} + \Delta)^{2}}, \\
\frac{\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}_{4}^{(\bar{B}^{*}B\to\pi Z_{b}')}}\right|^{2}}{\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}_{4}^{(\bar{B}^{*}B\to\pi Z_{b}')}}\right|^{2}} = \frac{1}{16} \frac{g^{2} z'^{2}}{f^{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{p}_{\pi}|^{2}}{(\tilde{E}_{B} - E_{\pi} - \Delta)^{2}}, \\
\frac{\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}_{5}^{(\bar{B}^{*}B\to\pi Z_{b}')}}\right|^{2}}{\left|\overline{\mathcal{M}_{5}^{(\bar{B}^{*}B\to\pi Z_{b}')}}\right|^{2}} = \frac{7}{72} \frac{g^{2} z'^{2}}{f^{2}} |\mathbf{p}_{\pi}|^{2} \frac{|\mathbf{p}_{\pi}|^{2}}{(\tilde{E}_{B^{*}} - E_{\pi} - \Delta)^{2}}.$$
(9)

In Eq. (9), \mathbf{p}_{π} and $E_{\pi} = \sqrt{m_{\pi}^2 + |\mathbf{p}_{\pi}|^2}$ are the tri-momentum and energy of the pion, $\tilde{E}_{B^{(*)}} = p_{B^{(*)}}^2 / 2m_{B^{(*)}}$ is the kinetic energy of incoming particle 1 for every respective reaction and $\Delta = m_{B^*} - m_B$.

Taking the isospin-spin averaged squared transition amplitudes of the processes discussed above in CM frame, the four-vectors associated to the incoming bottomed mesons are $p_1 = (E_1, \mathbf{p})$, $p_2 = (E_2, -\mathbf{p})$; and to outgoing particles are $p_3 = (E_{\pi}, \mathbf{p}_{\pi})$ and $p_4 = (E_Z, -\mathbf{p}_{\pi})$. The total energy of incoming particles can be approximated to $E_1 + E_2 \approx m_1 + m_2 + E_{CM}$, where $E_{CM} = |\mathbf{p}|^2 / 2\mu_{12}$ is the collision energy, with μ_{12} being the reduced mass of incoming bottomed mesons [5]. Making use of conservation of energy, the pion momentum can be written as function of collision energy:

 $|\mathbf{p}_{\pi}| \approx \{[m_1 + m_2 - m_Z + E_{CM}]^2 - m_{\pi}^2\}^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Thus, using these definitions in CM frame, Eq. (9) can be given properly as function of E_{CM} .

3 Results

In order to analyze the $Z_b^{(\prime)}$ -production in Eq. (9) as function of collision energy E_{CM} , we use the following values for physical quantities and coupling constants [6,21,22]: $m_{\pi} = 137.3$ MeV; $m_B = 5279.45$ MeV; $m_{B^*} = 5324.83$ MeV; $m_Z = 10607.2$ MeV; $m_{Z'} = 10652.2$ MeV; g = 0.6; f = 92.2 MeV.

Focusing on z and z' coupling constants, the values considered here are those obtained in Ref. [21] for original coupling constants with dimensions of $E^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ within the HMET approach: 0.79 GeV^{$-\frac{1}{2}$} and 0.62 GeV^{$-\frac{1}{2}$}, respectively. Nonetheless, we notice that the squared amplitudes shown in Eq. (9) must be multiplied by the factor $\sqrt{8m_{B^{(*)}}m_{B^{(*)}}m_{Z^{(\prime)}}}$ to account for the non-relativistic normalization of the heavy-meson and \mathscr{Z} fields [17]. Then we incorporate this factor in the definition of the z and z' couplings, yielding values with dimensions of E^1 .

In addition, it is important to delimit the region of validity of the present approach. Since the relevant scales for HMET are the heavy scale M (M being the mass of the heavy meson) and the physical scale $\Lambda_{\chi} = 4\pi f_{\pi} \sim 1$ GeV, p_{π} is requested to be much less than Λ_{χ} , which safely occurs considering $p_{\pi} \leq 200$ MeV. Thus, taking the threshold and the upper bound of the pion momentum, we can estimate the allowed ranges of validity for the Z_b production processes: 185.6 MeV $\leq E_{CM}^{(1)} \leq 300$ MeV, 140.2 MeV $\leq E_{CM}^{(2)} \leq 250$ MeV and 94.8 MeV $\leq E_{CM}^{(3)} \leq 200$ MeV for each respective reaction; while for the Z'_b production processes we have: 185.2 MeV $\leq E_{CM}^{(4)} \leq 300$ MeV, 139.8 MeV $\leq E_{CM}^{(5)} \leq 250$ MeV.

The squared transition amplitudes in Eq. (9) are plotted in Fig. 1 as function of collision energy E_{CM} . In the case of Z_b -production, it can be noticed that all processes have magnitudes of the same order with respect to the allowed range of E_{CM} , but the $\bar{B}B \rightarrow \pi Z_b$ acquires the greatest magnitude in greater values of collision energy. Taking the upper limits of collision energy E_{CM} for each respective reaction (i.e., considering $|\mathbf{p}_{\pi}| \simeq 200$ MeV), the $\bar{B}B$ channel yields the biggest magnitude by a factor about 3 and 1.5 with respect to other reactions \bar{B}^*B and \bar{B}^*B^* , respectively.

In the case of Z'_b production (right panel in Fig. 1), the process \bar{B}^*B^* has the greatest magnitude in respective allowed range of E_{CM} when compared to \bar{B}^*B process (we remind that $\bar{B}B \rightarrow \pi Z'_b$ has a vanishing magnitude). Working with the upper limits of E_{CM} for each respective reaction (engendering $|\mathbf{p}_{\pi}| \simeq 200$ MeV), the \bar{B}^*B^* process yields the biggest values by a factor about 2 with respect to \bar{B}^*B channel.

Also, we see that the squared magnitudes associated to the Z_b production acquires larger values with respect to the allowed range of E_{CM} with respect to the Z'_b production. In particular, at $|\mathbf{p}_{\pi}| \simeq 200$ MeV (taking the upper limits of collision energy E_{CM} of each reaction), the ratio between the Z_b and Z'_b production squared



Fig. 1: Left panel: squared transition amplitudes $\overline{|\mathcal{M}_1|^2}$, $\overline{|\mathcal{M}_2|^2}$ and $\overline{|\mathcal{M}_3|^2}$ (solid, dashed and dotted lines, respectively), defined Eq. (9), as a function of collision energy. Right panel: squared transition amplitudes $\overline{|\mathcal{M}_4|^2}$ and $\overline{|\mathcal{M}_5|^2}$ (dashed and dotted lines, respectively), defined in Eq. (9), as a function of collision energy.

amplitudes is about 2, due to the different magnitudes of coupling constants and multiplicative factors in amplitudes given in Eq. (9).

Acknowledgements This work has been partially funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (Brazil), Grant No. 308890/2014-0.

References

- M. Bondar et al. (Belle Collaboration), Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 122001 (2012); P. Krokovny et al. (Belle Collaboration), Phys. Rev. D **88**, 052016 (2013).
- 2. A. Hosaka et al., PTEP 2016, 062C01 (2016).
- 3. K. A. Olive et al. (Particle Data Group), Chin. Phys. C 38, 090001 (2014).
- 4. I. Adachi et al., BELLE-CONF-1272 report, e-Print: arXiv:1209.6450 [hep-ex].
- 5. E. Braaten, H.-W. Hammer and T. Mehen, Phys. Rev. D 82, 034018 (2010).
- 6. P. Artoisenet and E. Braaten, Phys. Rev. D 83, 014019 (2011).
- 7. A. Esposito, F. Piccinini, A. Pilloni and A. D. Polosa, J. Mod. Phys. 4, 1569 (2013).
- 8. S. Cho and S. H. Lee, Phys. Rev. C 88, 054901 (2013) (arXiv:1302.6381 [hep-ph]).
- 9. A. L. Guerrieri, F. Piccinini, A. Pilloni and A. D. Polosa, Phys. Rev. D 90, 034003 (2014).
- A. Martinez Torres, K. P. Khemchandani, F. S. Navarra, M. Nielsen and L. M. Abreu, Phys. Rev. D 90, 114023 (2014) (arXiv:1405.7583 [hep-ph]).
- 11. A. Martinez Torres, K. P. Khemchandani, F. S. Navarra, M. Nielsen and L. M. Abreu, Acta Phys. Pol. B Proc. Supp. 8, 247 (2015).
- 12. L. M. Abreu, Prog. Theor. Exp. Phys. 2016, 103B01 (2016).
- 13. N. Isgur and M. B. Wise, Phys. Lett. B 232, 113 (1989); Phys. Lett. B 237, 527 (1990).
- 14. E. Eichten and B. Hill, Phys. Lett. B 234, 511 (1990).
- 15. H. Georgi, Phys. Lett. B 240, 447 (1990).
- 16. H. Grinstein, Nucl. Phys. B 339, 253 (1990).

- 17. A. V. Manohar and M. B. Wise, *Heavy quark physics*, Cambridge Monographs on Particle Physics, Nuclear Physics, and Cosmology (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2000).
- 18. R. Casalbuoni et al., Phys. Rept. 281, 145 (1997) (arXiv:hep-ph/9605342).
- 19. L. M. Abreu, Nucl. Phys. A 940, 1 (2015); J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 706, 042012 (2016).
- 20. A. Esposito et al., Phys. Lett. B 746, 194 (2015).
- 21. M. Cleven et al., Phys. Rev. D 87, 074006 (2013).
- 22. S. Ohkoda, S. Yasui, and A. Hosaka Phys. Rev. D 89, 074029 (2014).

An alternative construction for the Type-II defect matrix for the sshG

A.R. Aguirre, J.F. Gomes, A.L. Retore, N.I. Spano, and A.H. Zimerman

Abstract In this paper we construct a Type-II defect (super) matrix for the supersymmetric sinh-Gordon model as a product of two Type-I defect (super) matrices. We also show that the resulting defect matrix corresponds to a fused defect.

1 Introduction

Integrable classical field theories with defects and its connection with Type-I and Type-II Bäcklund transformations (BT) has been widely studied in recent years by using mainly the Lagrangian formalism and the defect matrix approach [1]– [7]. The classical integrability is ensured by the derivation of modified higher order conserved quantities, which requires explicit solutions for the corresponding defect matrices.

On the other hand, the supersymmetric extensions for Liouville and sinh-Gordon (sshG) models with Type-I and Type-II defects has been also discussed in [12]–[15], and their associated defect matrices constructed.

More recently, it has been proposed in [18] that Type-II defect matrices could be constructed as a product of two Type-I defect matrices. This proposal was checked for the bosonic case of the mKdV hierarchy.

The aim of this paper is to verify this proposal for the sshG model and show that the resulting defect matrix corresponds to a fused defect.

A.R. Aguirre

J.F. Gomes, A.L. Retore, N.I. Spano, and A.H. Zimerman

Instituto de Física e Química, Universidade Federal de Itajubá - IFQ/UNIFEI, Av. BPS 1303, 37500-903, Itajubá, MG, Brasil. e-mail: alexis.roaaguirre@unifei.edu.br

Instituto de Física Teórica - IFT/UNESP, Rua Dr. Bento Teobaldo Ferraz 271, Bloco II, 01140-070, São Paulo, Brasil. e-mail: jfg@ift.unesp.br,retore@ift.unesp.br,natyspano@unesp.br,zimerman@ift.unesp.br

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_10

2 Type-I and Type II defect formulation

The Lagrangian density describing the N = 1 sshG model with Type-I defects located at $x = x_1$ can be written as follows:

$$\mathscr{L} = \theta(x_1 - x)\mathscr{L}_1 + \delta(x - x_1)\mathscr{L}_{D_1} + \theta(x - x_1)\mathscr{L}_0,$$
(1)

with

$$\mathscr{L}_{p} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{x} \phi_{p})^{2} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{t} \phi_{p})^{2} + i \psi_{p} (\partial_{x} + \partial_{t}) \psi_{p} - i \bar{\psi}_{p} (\partial_{x} - \partial_{t}) \bar{\psi}_{p} + 4 [\cosh(2\phi_{p}) - 1] - 8 i \bar{\psi}_{p} \psi_{p} \cosh \phi_{p}, \qquad (2)$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{D_1} = \frac{1}{2} (\phi_0 \partial_t \phi_1 - \phi_1 \partial_t \phi_0) - i \psi_1 \psi_0 - i \bar{\psi}_1 \bar{\psi}_0 + 2ig_1 \partial_t g_1 + B_0^{(1)} + B_1^{(1)}, \quad (3)$$

where ϕ_p is a real scalar field, and ψ_p , $\overline{\psi}_p$ are the components of a Majorana spinor field in the regions $x > x_1$ (p = 0) and $x < x_1$ (p = 1) respectively, and g_1 an auxiliary fermionic field defined at the defect point. The defect potentials are given by,

$$B_0^{(1)} = 2\sigma_1 \cosh(\phi_0 + \phi_1) + \frac{2}{\sigma_1} \cosh(\phi_0 - \phi_1),$$
(4)
$$B_1^{(1)} = 2i\sqrt{2}g_1 \Big[\sqrt{\sigma_1} \cosh\Big(\frac{\phi_0 + \phi_1}{2}\Big) (\bar{\psi}_0 + \bar{\psi}_1) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sigma_1}} \cosh\Big(\frac{\phi_0 - \phi_1}{2}\Big) (\psi_0 - \psi_1) \Big].$$

where σ_1 represent the Bäcklund parameter. Besides the bulk field equations, we get the following defect equations at $x = x_1$:

$$\partial_t \phi_0 - \partial_x \phi_1 = 2\sigma_1 \sinh(\phi_0 + \phi_1) - \frac{2}{\sigma_1} \sinh(\phi_0 - \phi_1)$$
(5)

$$+\sqrt{2\sigma_1}ig_1\left[\sinh\left(\frac{\phi_0+\phi_1}{2}\right)(\bar{\psi}_0+\bar{\psi}_1)-\frac{1}{\sigma_1}\sinh\left(\frac{\phi_0-\phi_1}{2}\right)(\psi_0-\psi_1)\right],$$

$$\partial_x \phi_0 - \partial_t \phi_1 = 2\sigma_1 \sinh(\phi_0 + \phi_1) + \frac{2}{\sigma_1} \sinh(\phi_0 - \phi_1)$$
(6)

$$+\sqrt{2\sigma_{1}}ig_{1}\left[\sinh\left(\frac{\phi_{0}+\phi_{1}}{2}\right)(\bar{\psi}_{0}+\bar{\psi}_{1})+\frac{1}{\sigma_{1}}\sinh\left(\frac{\phi_{0}-\phi_{1}}{2}\right)(\psi_{0}-\psi_{1})\right],$$

$$\psi_0 + \psi_1 = 2\sqrt{\frac{2}{\sigma_1}} \cosh\left(\frac{\phi_0 - \phi_1}{2}\right) g_1,$$
(7)

$$\bar{\psi}_0 - \bar{\psi}_1 = -2\sqrt{2\sigma_1} \cosh\left(\frac{\phi_0 + \phi_1}{2}\right) g_1,$$
(8)

$$\partial_t g_1 = \sqrt{\frac{\sigma_1}{2}} \Big[\frac{1}{\sigma_1} \cosh\left(\frac{\phi_0 - \phi_1}{2}\right) (\psi_1 - \psi_0) - \cosh\left(\frac{\phi_0 + \phi_1}{2}\right) (\bar{\psi}_0 + \bar{\psi}_1) \Big].$$
(9)

These defect conditions preserve the integrability of the system after considering defect contributions to the conserved quantities [14]. The generating function for an infinite set of modified conserved quantities depends on the existence of the defect

matrix K_1 connecting two field configurations, namely $\Psi^{(0)} = K_1 \Psi^{(1)}$, satisfying the following equations:

$$\partial_{\pm}K_1 = K_1 A_{\pm}^{(1)} - A_{\pm}^{(0)} K_1, \qquad (10)$$

where $\partial_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x \pm \partial_t)$, *l* is a spectral parameter, and $\Psi^{(p)}$ are vector-valued fields satisfying the associated auxiliary linear problem, $\partial_{\pm}\Psi^{(p)} = -A_{\pm}^{(p)}\Psi^{(p)}$. The Lax pair $A_{\pm}^{(p)}$ are 3 × 3 graded matrices valued in the *sl*(2,1) Lie superalgebra, which can be written in the following form:

$$A_{+}^{(p)} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^{1/2} - \partial_{+}\phi_{p} & -1 & \sqrt{i}\bar{\phi}_{p} \\ -\lambda & \lambda^{1/2} + \partial_{+}\phi_{p} \left| l^{1/2}\sqrt{i}\bar{\phi}_{p} \\ \hline l^{1/2}\sqrt{i}\bar{\phi}_{p} & \sqrt{i}\bar{\phi}_{p} & 2\lambda^{1/2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(11)

$$A_{-}^{(p)} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^{-1/2} & -l^{-1}e^{2\phi_p} & l^{-1/2}\sqrt{i\psi_p}e^{\phi_p} \\ -e^{-2\phi_p} & l^{-1/2} & \sqrt{i\psi_p}e^{-\phi_p} \\ \hline -\sqrt{i\psi_p}e^{-\phi_p} & -\sqrt{i}l^{-1/2}\psi_pe^{\phi_p} & 2l^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (12)

Therefore, we find that a suitable solution for the type-I defect matrix K can be written in the following explicit form [14]:

$$K_{1} = c_{1}l^{1/2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{\sigma_{1}}{l}e^{\phi_{1}+\phi_{0}} & -\sqrt{\frac{2i\sigma_{1}}{l}}e^{\frac{\phi_{1}+\phi_{0}}{2}}g_{1} \\ \frac{\sigma_{1}e^{-(\phi_{1}+\phi_{0})}}{\sqrt{2i\sigma_{1}}e^{-\frac{(\phi_{1}+\phi_{0})}{2}}g_{1} & \sqrt{\frac{2i\sigma_{1}}{l}}e^{\frac{(\phi_{1}+\phi_{0})}{2}}g_{1} & 1-\frac{\sigma_{1}}{l^{1/2}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (13)$$

where c_1 is a free constant parameter.

Now, the Type-II defect for the N = 1 sshG model can be constructed by considering initially a two-defects system of Type-I at different points, and then fusing them to the same point by taking a limit in the Lagrangian density [15]–[17]. Let us consider one of the defects placed at $x = x_1$ and the other at $x = x_2$. The Lagrangian density for this system can be written as,

$$\mathscr{L} = \boldsymbol{\theta}(x_1 - x)\mathscr{L}_1 + \boldsymbol{\delta}(x - x_1)\mathscr{L}_{D_1} + \boldsymbol{\theta}(x - x_1)\boldsymbol{\theta}(x_2 - x)\mathscr{L}_0 + \boldsymbol{\delta}(x - x_2)\mathscr{L}_{D_2} + \boldsymbol{\theta}(x - x_2)\mathscr{L}_2,$$
(14)

where \mathcal{L}_p , with p = 0, 1, 2, is given by eq. (2), and the two type-I defect Lagrangian densities at $x = x_k$, k = 1, 2, are given by eq. (3). Now, we have two auxiliary fermionic fields g_k , and two free parameters σ_k , with k = 1, 2, defined at the defect positions, respectively. At the Lagrangian level, the fusing of defects can be performed by taking the limit $x_2 \rightarrow x_1$. After some manipulations, it was shown that the fused defect is equivalent to a type-II defect [15], and takes the following form:

$$\mathscr{L}_{D} = \phi_{-}\partial_{t}l_{0} - \frac{1}{2}\phi_{-}\partial_{t}\phi_{+} + \frac{i}{2}(\bar{\psi}_{+}\bar{\psi}_{-} - \psi_{+}\psi_{-}) + if_{1}\partial_{t}f_{1} + i\tilde{f}_{1}\partial_{t}\tilde{f}_{1} + B, \quad (15)$$

with $\phi_{\pm} = \phi_1 \pm \phi_2$, $\psi_{\pm} = \psi_1 \pm \psi_2$, and $B = B_0^{(+)} + B_0^{(-)} + B_1^{(+)} + B_1^{(-)}$ the defect potentials,

$$B_0^{(+)} = m\sigma \left[e^{(\phi_+ - l_0)} + e^{-(\phi_+ - l_0)} \left(\sinh^2 \left(\frac{\phi_-}{2} \right) + \cosh^2 \tau \right) \right], \tag{16}$$

$$B_0^{(-)} = \frac{m}{\sigma} \left[e^{-l_0} + e^{l_0} \left(\sinh^2 \left(\frac{\phi_-}{2} \right) + \cosh^2 \tau \right) \right],\tag{17}$$

$$B_{1}^{(+)} = -i\sqrt{m\sigma} \left[\left(e^{\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}} + e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}} \cosh\tau \right) \bar{\psi}_{+}f_{1} + e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}} \sinh\left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right) \bar{\psi}_{+}\tilde{f}_{1} \right] + im\sigma \left(1 + e^{-(\phi_{+}-l_{0})} \cosh\tau \right) \cosh\left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right) f_{+}\tilde{f}_{1}$$
(18)

$$+im\sigma\left(1+e^{-(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}\cosh\tau\right)\cosh\left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right)f_{1}\tilde{f}_{1},$$
(18)

$$B_{1}^{(-)} = -i\sqrt{\frac{m}{\sigma}} \left[\left(e^{-\frac{l_{0}}{2}} + e^{\frac{l_{0}}{2}} \cosh \tau \right) \psi_{+} \tilde{f}_{1} - e^{\frac{l_{0}}{2}} \sinh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right) \psi_{+} f_{1} \right] \\ + \frac{im}{\sigma} \left(1 + e^{l_{0}} \cosh \tau \right) \cosh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right) f_{1} \tilde{f}_{1},$$

$$(19)$$

where it has been used $\sigma_1 = \sigma e^{-\tau}, \sigma_2 = \sigma e^{\tau}$, and the reparametrizations

$$\phi_0 \to -l_0 + \frac{\phi_+}{2} - \ln\left[\cosh\left(\frac{\phi_-}{2} - \tau\right)\right] - \frac{i}{2}\operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{\phi_-}{2} - \tau\right)f_1\tilde{f}_1, \tag{20}$$

$$f_1 = \mu_+ g_2 + \mu_- g_1, \qquad \tilde{f}_1 = \mu_- g_2 - \mu_+ g_1, \qquad \mu_\pm = \left[\frac{1 + e^{\pm(\phi_- - 2\tau)}}{2}\right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (21)

From the above defect Lagrangian we can write the defect conditions at $x_1 = x_2$,

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_{x} - \partial_{t})\phi_{+} &= \partial_{t}l_{0} - m \left[\sigma e^{-(\phi_{+} - l_{0})} + \frac{1}{\sigma} e^{l_{0}} \right] \sinh \phi_{-} - im \left(\sigma + \frac{1}{\sigma} \right) \sinh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) f_{1} \tilde{f}_{1} \\ &+ i\sqrt{m\sigma} e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+} - l_{0})}{2}} \cosh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) \bar{\psi}_{+} \tilde{f}_{1} - i\sqrt{\frac{m}{\sigma}} e^{\frac{l_{0}}{2}} \cosh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) \psi_{+} f_{1} \\ &- im \left[\sigma e^{-(\phi_{+} - l_{0})} + \frac{1}{\sigma} e^{l_{0}} \right] \cosh \tau \sinh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) f_{1} \tilde{f}_{1}, \end{aligned}$$
(22)
$$(\partial_{x} + \partial_{t})\phi_{-} &= 2m\sigma \left[e^{-(\phi_{+} - l_{0})} \left(\sinh^{2} \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) + \cosh^{2} \tau \right) - e^{(\phi_{+} - l_{0})} \right] \\ &+ i\sqrt{m\sigma} \left(e^{\frac{(\phi_{+} - l_{0})}{2}} - e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+} - l_{0})}{2}} \cosh \tau \right) \bar{\psi}_{+} f_{1} \\ &- i\sqrt{m\sigma} e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+} - l_{0})}{2}} \sinh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) \bar{\psi}_{+} \tilde{f}_{1} \\ &+ 2im\sigma e^{-(\phi_{+} - l_{0})} \cosh \tau \cosh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) f_{1} \tilde{f}_{1}, \end{aligned}$$
(23)

An alternative construction for the Type-II defect matrix for the sshG

$$(\partial_{x} - \partial_{t})\phi_{-} = \frac{2m}{\sigma} \left[e^{-l_{0}} - e^{l_{0}} \left(\sinh^{2} \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) + \cosh^{2} \tau \right) \right]$$
$$-i\sqrt{\frac{m}{\sigma}} \left[\left(e^{-\frac{l_{0}}{2}} - e^{\frac{l_{0}}{2}} \cosh \tau \right) \psi_{+} \tilde{f}_{1} + e^{\frac{l_{0}}{2}} \sinh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) \psi_{+} f_{1} \right]$$
$$-\frac{2im}{\sigma} e^{l_{0}} \cosh \tau \cosh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2} \right) f_{1} \tilde{f}_{1}, \qquad (24)$$

$$\Psi_{-} = \sqrt{\frac{m}{\sigma}} \left[e^{\frac{l_0}{2}} \sinh\left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right) f_1 - \left(e^{-\frac{l_0}{2}} + e^{\frac{l_0}{2}} \cosh\tau\right) \tilde{f}_1 \right],$$
(25)

$$\bar{\psi}_{-} = \sqrt{m\sigma} \left[\left(e^{\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}} + e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}} \cosh \tau \right) f_{1} + e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}} \sinh \left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right) \tilde{f}_{1} \right],$$
(26)

$$\partial_{t}f_{1} = -\frac{\sqrt{m\sigma}}{2} \left(e^{\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}} + e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}} \cosh\tau \right) \bar{\psi}_{+} + \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{m}{\sigma}} e^{\frac{l_{0}}{2}} \sinh\left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right) \psi_{+} \\ -\frac{m}{2} \left[\left(\sigma + \frac{1}{\sigma}\right) + \left(\sigma e^{-(\phi_{+}-l_{0})} + \frac{1}{\sigma} e^{l_{0}}\right) \cosh\tau \right] \cosh\left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right) \tilde{f}_{1}, \quad (27)$$

$$\partial_{t}\tilde{f}_{1} = -\frac{\sqrt{m\sigma}}{2}e^{-\frac{(\phi_{+}-l_{0})}{2}}\sinh\left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right)\bar{\psi}_{+} - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{m}{\sigma}}\left(e^{-\frac{l_{0}}{2}} + e^{\frac{l_{0}}{2}}\cosh\tau\right)\psi_{+} \\ + \frac{m}{2}\left[\left(\sigma + \frac{1}{\sigma}\right) + \left(\sigma e^{-(\phi_{+}-l_{0})} + \frac{1}{\sigma}e^{l_{0}}\right)\cosh\tau\right]\cosh\left(\frac{\phi_{-}}{2}\right)f_{1}.$$
 (28)

In order to derive the associated Type-II defect super-matrix for the model, we propose [18] to construct it as a product of two Type-I defect matrices, such that

$$\Psi^{(2)} = K_1(\sigma_2)\Psi^{(0)} = K_1(\sigma_2)K_1(\sigma_1)\Psi^{(1)} = K_2(\sigma,\tau)\Psi^{(1)},$$
(29)

where $K_2(\sigma, \tau) = K_1(\sigma_2)K_1(\sigma_1)$. Therefore, by a direct computation we find that the components k_{ij} of the fused defect matrix K_2 are given by:

$$k_{11} = c \left(l + \sigma^2 e^{-\phi_-} + 2i\sigma e^{-\frac{\phi_-}{2}} (g_1 g_2) l^{1/2} \right), \tag{30}$$

$$k_{12} = c\sigma e^{\phi_0} \left(e^{(\phi_1 - \tau)} + e^{(\phi_2 + \tau)} + 2ie^{\frac{\phi_+}{2}} (g_1 g_2) \right), \tag{31}$$

$$k_{13} = -c\sigma\sqrt{2i\sigma} e^{\frac{\phi_0}{2}} \left(e^{\phi_2 - \frac{(\phi_1 - \tau)}{2}} g_1 - e^{\frac{(\phi_2 - \tau)}{2}} g_2 \right)$$
(32)

$$-c\sqrt{2i\sigma}l^{1/2}e^{\frac{\phi_0}{2}}\left(e^{\frac{(\phi_1-\tau)}{2}}g_1+e^{\frac{(\phi_2+\tau)}{2}}g_2\right)$$
(33)

$$k_{21} = c\sigma e^{-\phi_0} \left(e^{-(\phi_1 + \tau)} + e^{-(\phi_2 - \tau)} + 2ie^{-\frac{\phi_+}{2}}g_1g_2 \right),$$
(34)

$$k_{22} = c \left(l + \sigma^2 e^{\phi_-} + 2i\sigma e^{-\frac{\phi_-}{2}} g_1 g_2 \right),$$
(35)

$$k_{23} = -c\sqrt{2i\sigma} l e^{-\frac{\phi_0}{2}} \left(g_1 e^{-\frac{(\phi_1 + \tau)}{2}} + g_2 e^{-\frac{(\phi_2 - \tau)}{2}} \right) + c\sigma\sqrt{2i\sigma} l^{1/2} e^{-\frac{\phi_0}{2}} \left(g_2 e^{-\frac{(\phi_2 + \tau)}{2}} - g_1 e^{\frac{(\phi_1 + \tau)}{2} - \phi_2} \right),$$
(36)

$$k_{31} = c\sqrt{2i\sigma} l e^{-\frac{\phi_0}{2}} \left(g_1 e^{-\frac{(\phi_1+\tau)}{2}} + g_2 e^{-\frac{(\phi_2-\tau)}{2}} \right) + c\sigma\sqrt{2i\sigma} l^{1/2} e^{-\frac{\phi_0}{2}} \left(g_2 e^{\frac{(\phi_2-\tau)}{2} - \phi_1} - g_1 e^{\frac{(\phi_1+\tau)}{2}} \right),$$
(37)

$$k_{32} = c\sigma\sqrt{2i\sigma} e^{\frac{\phi_0}{2}} \left(g_2 e^{-\frac{(\phi_2+\tau)}{2} + \phi_1} - g_1 e^{\frac{(\phi_1+\tau)}{2}} \right) + c\sqrt{2i\sigma} l^{1/2} e^{\frac{\phi_0}{2}} \left(e^{\frac{(\phi_1-\tau)}{2}} g_1 + e^{\frac{(\phi_2+\tau)}{2}} g_2 \right),$$
(38)

$$k_{33} = c \left(l + \sigma^2 - 2\sigma l^{1/2} \left(\cosh(\tau) - 2ig_1g_2 \cosh\left(\frac{\phi_-}{2}\right) \right), \tag{39}$$

where $c = c_1c_2$. By straightforward comparison with eq. (A.80)–(A.89) in [15], it is not difficult to see that the fused defect matrix derived as product of two type-I defect matrices is equivalent (up to $l^{1/2}$) to the type-II defect matrix previously found in [15], after reparametrazing the auxiliary fields given as in eqs. (20) and (21).

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank the organizers of the colloquium ICGTMP -Group 31 for the opportunity to present our work. ALR would like to thank FAPESP for financial support under the process 2015/00025-9. JFG would like to thank FAPESP and CNPq for financial support. NIS and AHZ would like to thank CNPq for financial support.

References

- P. Bowcock, E. Corrigan and C. Zambon, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 19S2 (2004) 82; JHEP 01 (2004) 056; JHEP 08 (2005) 23.
- 2. V. Caudrelier, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 5 (2008) 1085.
- 3. I. Habibullin and A. Kundu, Nucl. Phys. B 795 (2008) 549.
- 4. J. Avan and A. Doikou, JHEP 01 (2012) 040.
- 5. J. Avan and A. Doikou, JHEP 11 (2012) 008.
- 6. V. Caudrelier and A. Kundu, JHEP 02 (2015) 088.
- 7. V. Caudrelier, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 195203.
- 8. E. Corrigan and C. Zambon, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 475203; J. Phys. A 43 (2010) 345201.
- 9. A.R. Aguirre, T.R. Araujo, J.F. Gomes, and A.H. Zimerman, JHEP 12 (2011) 056.
- 10. A.R. Aguirre, J. Phys. A 45 (2012) 205205.
- 11. J. F. Gomes, A. L. Retore and A. H. Zimerman, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 405203.
- 12. A.R. Aguirre, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 474 (2013) 012001.
- 13. J.F. Gomes, L.H. Ymai, and A.H. Zimerman, J. Phys. A 39 (2006) 7471.
- 14. A.R. Aguirre, J.F. Gomes, N.I. Spano, A.H. Zimerman, JHEP 02 (2015) 175.
- 15. A. R. Aguirre, J. F. Gomes, N. I. Spano and A. H. Zimerman, JHEP 06 (2015) 125.
- 16. E. Corrigan and C. Zambon, J. Phys. A 43 (2010) 345201.
- 17. C. Robertson, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 185201.
- 18. J.F.Gomes, A. L. Retore and A.H.Zimerman (submitted to publication).

Generalized supersymmetry and the Lévy-Leblond equation

N. Aizawa, Z. Kuznetsova, H. Tanaka and F. Toppan

Abstract Symmetries of the Lévy-Leblond equation are investigated beyond the standard Lie framework. It is shown that the equation has two remarkable symmetries. One is given by the super Schrödinger algebra and the other by a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra. The $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra is achieved by transforming bosonic into fermionic operators in the super Schrödinger algebra and introducing second order differential operators as generators of symmetry.

1 Introduction

The purpose of the present work is to show that a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra is a symmetry of a simple equation of physics, the Lévy-Leblond equation (LLE), which is a non-relativistic wave equation of a spin 1/2 particle [9]. In the process to prove the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ symmetry we also show that LLE has a supersymmetry given by the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ super Schrödinger algebra (see [3] and references therein).

 $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebras (introduced in [12, 13], see also [14]) are natural generalizations of Lie superalgebras. We present their definition: Let \mathfrak{g} be a vector space over \mathbb{C} or \mathbb{R} with a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ grading structure, namely \mathfrak{g} is the direct sum of four distinct subspaces labelled by an element of the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ group:

e-mail: aizawa@p.s.osakafu-u.ac.jp,s_h.tanaka@p.s.osakafu-u.ac.jp

Z. Kuznetsova

F. Toppan

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

N. Aizawa, H. Tanaka

Osaka Prefecture University, Sakai, Osaka 599-8531 Japan,

UFABC, Av. dos Estados 5001, Bangu, cep 09210-580, Santo André (SP), Brazil, e-mail: zhanna.kuznetsova@ufabc.edu.br

CBPF, Rua Dr. Xavier Sigaud 150, Urca, cep 22290-180, Rio de Janeiro (RJ), Brazil, e-mail: toppan@cbpf.br

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_11

$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_{(0,0)} + \mathfrak{g}_{(0,1)} + \mathfrak{g}_{(1,0)} + \mathfrak{g}_{(1,1)}.$$
(1)

For two elements $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, a_2), \mathbf{b} = (b_1, b_2) \in \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$, we define

$$\mathbf{a} + \mathbf{b} = (a_1 + b_1, a_2 + b_2) \pmod{(2,2)}, \quad \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{b} = a_1 b_1 + a_2 b_2$$
(2)

Definition 1. If \mathfrak{g} admits a bilinear form $\llbracket, \rrbracket : \mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ satisfying the following three relations, then \mathfrak{g} is called a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra:

1.
$$\llbracket g_{\mathbf{a}}, g_{\mathbf{b}} \rrbracket \subseteq g_{\mathbf{a}+\mathbf{b}},$$

2. $\llbracket X_{\mathbf{a}}, X_{\mathbf{b}} \rrbracket = -(-1)^{\mathbf{a}\cdot\mathbf{b}} \llbracket X_{\mathbf{b}}, X_{\mathbf{a}} \rrbracket,$
3. $\llbracket X_{\mathbf{a}}, \llbracket X_{\mathbf{b}}, X \rrbracket \rrbracket = \llbracket \llbracket X_{\mathbf{a}}, X_{\mathbf{b}}, \rrbracket, X \rrbracket + (-1)^{\mathbf{a}\cdot\mathbf{b}} \llbracket X_{\mathbf{b}}, \llbracket X_{\mathbf{a}}, X \rrbracket \rrbracket,$

where $X_{\mathbf{a}} \in \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbf{a}}$.

Two sub superalgebras exist (they are $\mathfrak{g}_{(0,0)} + \mathfrak{g}_{(0,1)}$ and $\mathfrak{g}_{(0,0)} + \mathfrak{g}_{(1,0)}$). This fact plays a crucial role when the symmetry of the LLE is identified with a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra.

In contrast to ordinary Lie algebras and superalgebras, the number of papers in the literature discussing physical applications of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebras is limited [8, 10, 15, 17, 18]. The equation discussed in this work is both simple and fundamental. Even so, we naturally encountered this unusual algebraic structure. This would suggest that $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebras are natural objects in the investigation of symmetries.

The plan of this paper is as follows. In the next section we introduce the LLE and present its symmetries. We show that the LLE has a super Schrödinger symmetry. In §3 the supersymmetry is enhanced to a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie symmetry.

2 LLE and its (super)symmetries

The LLE here considered is a non-relativistic wave equation for a spin 1/2 free particle in 3D space. The wavefunction is a four-component spinor,

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}) = {}^{T}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{2}(\boldsymbol{x})),$$

where φ_a is a SU(2) spinor and $x = (t, x_1, x_2, x_3)$. We use the following form of LLE [4]:

$$\Omega \psi(x) = 0, \quad \Omega = -2i\alpha \partial_t + i\gamma_i \partial_{x_i} + 2m\beta, \tag{3}$$

where the sum over the repeated index j = 1, 2, 3 is understood; $\gamma_{\mu}, \alpha, \beta$ are 4×4 Dirac γ -matrices defined by

$$\{\gamma_{\mu}, \gamma_{\nu}\} = 2g_{\mu\nu}, \quad (g_{\mu\nu}) = \text{diag}(+, -, -, -), \quad \mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$$
 (4)

and

Generalized supersymmetry and the Lévy-Leblond equation

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(\gamma_0 + \gamma_4), \quad \beta = \frac{1}{2}(\gamma_0 - \gamma_4), \quad \gamma_4 = \gamma_0 \gamma_1 \gamma_2 \gamma_3.$$
 (5)

One may take any four-dimensional representation of the γ -matrices. We do not distinguish upper and lower indices since we are working in a non-relativistic setting. LLE is the square root of the free Schrödinger equation, namely Ω^2 gives the free particle Schrödinger operator:

$$\Omega^2 = -4im\partial_t + \partial x_i^2. \tag{6}$$

We introduce now the symmetries of LLE. According to [4] we define them in terms of symmetry operators [4]:

Definition 2. Let \mathscr{A} be an operator acting on the solution space of LLE. Namely, \mathscr{A} maps a solution of LLE into another one:

$$\Omega \psi = 0 \implies \Omega(\mathscr{A} \psi) \Big|_{\Omega \psi = 0} = 0.$$
⁽⁷⁾

In this case \mathscr{A} is called a symmetry operator.

In this definition \mathscr{A} can be any kind of operator such as multiplication, differential, integral, etc. The traditional Lie point symmetry group of differential equations is generated by a subset of symmetry operators which is closed under commutations. Similarly, if a subset of symmetry operators forms a superalgebra or a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra, then the set generates a graded group of transformations in the solution space of LLE.

We restrict now \mathscr{A} to a differential operator of finite order. In this case a sufficient condition of symmetry is given as follows. If \mathscr{A} satisfies either the condition

$$[\Omega, \mathscr{A}] = \Lambda_{\mathscr{A}}(x)\Omega \tag{8}$$

or

$$\{\Omega,\mathscr{A}\} = \Gamma_{\mathscr{A}}(x)\Omega,\tag{9}$$

where $\Lambda_{\mathscr{A}}(x)$ or $\Gamma_{\mathscr{A}}(x)$ is a 4 × 4 matrix depending on the spacetime coordinates, then \mathscr{A} is a symmetry operator.

We are looking for symmetry operators given by a first order differential operator. The results are summarized in the following two propositions:

Proposition 1. *The operators below are LLE symmetry operators satisfying the condition* (8):

$$P_{j} = \partial_{x_{j}}, \qquad G_{j} = t \partial_{x_{j}} + 2imx_{j} + \alpha \gamma_{j}, \qquad M = 2im,$$

$$H = \partial_{t}, \qquad D = 2t \partial_{t} + x_{j} \partial_{x_{j}} + 2 - \frac{1}{2} \gamma_{0} \gamma_{4},$$

$$K = tD - t^{2} \partial_{t} + imx_{j} x_{j} + \alpha x_{j} \gamma_{j},$$

$$J_{jk} = x_{j} \partial_{x_{k}} - x_{k} \partial_{x_{j}} - \frac{1}{2} \gamma_{j} \gamma_{k},$$

$$\tilde{X}_{j} = -\varepsilon_{jkn} \Big([\alpha, \gamma_{k}] \partial_{x_{n}} + \frac{im}{2} [\gamma_{k}, \gamma_{n}] \Big). \qquad (10)$$

The only two non-vanishing $\Lambda_{\mathscr{A}}(x)$ matrices are $\Lambda_D = 1$, $\Lambda_K = t$. For convenience the 4 × 4 unit matrix $\mathbf{1}_4$ is not explicitly indicated (e.g., $P_i = \mathbf{1}_4 \partial_{x_i} \equiv \partial_{x_i}$).

Apart from the \tilde{X}_j 's, the remaining symmetry operators close a Lie algebra. $\mathfrak{h}(3) = \langle P_j, G_j, M \rangle$ is the three-dimensional Heisenberg Lie algebra with M as a central element. We have the non-relativistic conformal algebra $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}) = \langle H,D,K \rangle$ and the spatial rotation $\mathfrak{so}(3) = \langle J_{jk} \rangle$. Combining together these three Lie algebras we get the Schrödinger algebra, whose structure is given by

$$(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})\oplus\mathfrak{so}(3))\oplus\mathfrak{h}(3),$$

with \oplus a semidirect sum of Lie algebras. We thus see that the Schrödinger group is a symmetry of LLE. This fact is already known in the literature. In [4] the Schrödinger algebra is presented as the maximal Lie symmetry of LLE. If the symmetry operators \tilde{X}_j are included we are no longer able to close a Lie algebra. Their addition leads to a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra. Before addressing the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ structure we look at the LLE's supersymmetry.

Proposition 2. The operators below are LLE symmetry operators satisfying the condition (9):

$$Q = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-im}} \alpha \partial_t + \sqrt{-im} \beta,$$

$$S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-im}} \alpha \left(t \partial_t + x_j \partial_{x_j} + \frac{3}{2} \right) + \sqrt{-im} (t \beta + x_j \gamma_j),$$

$$X_j = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-im}} \alpha \partial_{x_j} + \sqrt{-im} \gamma_j,$$
(11)

with only one non-vanishing $\Gamma_{\mathscr{A}}(x)$ matrix given by $\Gamma_{S} = -\alpha/\sqrt{-im}$.

The physical meaning of these symmetry operators becomes clear when computing their anticommutators:

$$\{Q,Q\} = 2H, \qquad \{S,S\} = 2K, \qquad \{X_j,X_k\} = \delta_{jk}M, \{Q,S\} = D, \qquad \{Q,X_j\} = P_j, \qquad \{S,X_j\} = G_j.$$
(12)

It follows that Q,S are, respectively, a supercharge and a conformal supercharge, with X_i a fermionic counterpart of $\mathfrak{h}(3)$. Indeed, the Schrödinger algebra of Propo-

sition 1 and $\langle Q, S, X_j \rangle$ close the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ super Schrödinger algebra. This is verified by direct computation of the (anti)commutation relations. The operator Q is already found in [4] without recognizing it as a supercharge. One may also show (we omit the proof for space reasons), that there exists no other supercharge \overline{Q} satisfying

$$\{\overline{Q}, \overline{Q}\} = 2H, \qquad \{Q, \overline{Q}\} = 0, \qquad \{\overline{Q}, \Omega\} = \Gamma_{\overline{Q}}(x)\Omega, [D, \overline{Q}] = -\overline{Q}, \qquad [J_{jk}, \overline{Q}] = 0.$$
(13)

We thus have the theorem:

Theorem 1. The $\mathcal{N} = 1$ super Schrödinger algebra generates a symmetry supergroup of LLE and $\mathcal{N} = 1$ is the maximal supersymmetry.

The supersymmetry of LLE was conjectured many years ago in the study of the worldline supersymmetry of the spinning particle [5]. If the symmetry is defined according to Definition 2, then the conjecture is true. We mention here two other previous works on supersymmetry of LLE. In [6] it was shown that LLE coupled with an arbitrary static magnetic field has a super Schrödinger symmetry. In [7] the Dirac equation and the Deser-Jackiw-Templeton equation in a (2+1) dimensional spacetime are unified in a single multiplet of $\mathfrak{osp}(1|2)$. It is shown that the non-relativistic limit of this system carries an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Schrödinger symmetry.

3 The $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded symmetry of LLE

In this section we consider the symmetry of LLE with the \tilde{X}_j operators. There are two key observations: (i) the \tilde{X}_j 's are obtained from the commutators of the fermionic generators X_j , $\tilde{X}_j = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{jkn} [X_k, X_n]$; (ii) each pair $(Q, S), (P_j, G_j)$ is a $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ -doublet under the adjoint action. The observation (i) implies that we need to give up the super Schrödinger structure, while (ii) implies that we may regard (P_j, G_j) as fermionic since this treats all $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ doublets on equal footing [16]. Therefore we introduce, from the anticommutators, the new operators

$$\tilde{P}_{jk} = \{P_j, P_k\}, \quad \tilde{G}_{jk} = \{G_j, G_k\}, \quad W_{jk} = \{P_j, G_k\},
X_{jk}^P = \{P_j, X_k\}, \quad X_{jk}^G = \{G_j, X_k\}.$$
(14)

They are second order differential operators; it is easy to verify that they are symmetry operators of LLE. Surprisingly, these second-order operators, together with the first-order operators in the super Schrödinger algebra, close a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra $\mathscr{G}_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2}$. This means their (anti)commutators never produce higher order differential operators. The assignment of the grading is given by

$$\mathfrak{g}_{00} = \langle H, D, K, J_{jk}, X_j, W_{jk}, P_{jk}, G_{jk} \rangle, \\
\mathfrak{g}_{01} = \langle P_j, G_j \rangle, \\
\mathfrak{g}_{10} = \langle Q, S, X_{jk}^P, X_{jk}^G \rangle, \\
\mathfrak{g}_{11} = \langle X_j \rangle.$$
(15)

One may verify, by direct but cumbersome computation of the (anti)commutators, that the algebra (15) satisfies Definition 1. We remark that the multiplication operator M has dropped out from this $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra.

Theorem 2. The $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded Lie algebra defined by the operators in (15) generates a symmetry group of LLE.

We have shown, in summary, that LLE has a $\mathcal{N} = 1$ super Schrödinger symmetry and a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded symmetry given by (15). The super Schrödinger algebra is not a subalgebra of the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ graded algebra, although they share the same symmetry operators. As a continuation of the present work, one may investigate symmetries of LLE with a potential, since it is known that Schrödinger equation with linear or quadratic potential has the same symmetry as the free equation [2, 11]. It is also an interesting problem to study symmetries of a LLE for an arbitrary space dimension. This would be done systematically by making use of the representation theory of Clifford algebra. These works are in progress. Part of these results are reported in [1].

Acknowledgements N. A. is supported by the grants-in-aid from JSPS (Contract No. 26400209). F. T. received support from CNPq (PQ grant No. 306333/2013-9).

References

- N. Aizawa, Z. Kuznetsova, H. Tanaka, F. Toppan, Prog. Theor. Exp. Phys. 2016 (2016) 123A01, arXiv:1609.08224 [math-ph].
- 2. C. P. Boyer, Helv. Phys. Acta, 47 (1974) 589.
- 3. C. Duval and P. A. Horváthy, J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 2516.
- 4. W. Fushchych, R. Zhdanov, *Symmetries and Exact Solutions of Nonlinear Dirac Equations*, (Mathematical Ukraina Publisher, 1997).
- 5. J. P. Gauntlett, J. Gomis, P. K. Townsend, Phys. Lett. B248 (1990) 288.
- 6. P. A. Horváthy, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A3 (1993) 339-342, arXiv:0807.0513 [hep-th].
- 7. P. A. Horváthy, M. S. Plyushchay and M. Valenzuela, J. Math. Phys. 51 (2010) 092108.
- 8. P. D. Jarvis, M. Yang and B. G. Wybourne, J. Math. Phys. 28 (1987) 1192.
- 9. J.-M. Lévy-Leblond, Comm. Math. Phys. 6 (1967) 286.
- 10. J. Lukierski, V. Rittenberg, Phys. Rev. D18 (1978) 385.
- 11. U. Niederer, Helv. Phys. Acta, 47 (1974) 167.
- 12. V. Rittenberg, D. Wyler, Nucl. Phys. B139 (1978) 189.
- 13. V. Rittenberg, D. Wyler, J. Math. Phys. 19 (1978) 2193.
- 14. M. Scheunert, J. Math. Phys. 20 (1979) 712.
- 15. V. N. Tolstoy, Phys. Part. Nucl. Lett. 11 (2014) 933.
- 16. F. Toppan, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 597 (2015) 012071.
- 17. M. A. Vasiliev, Class. Quantum Grav. 2 (1985) 645.
- 18. A. A. Zheltukhin, Teor. Mat. Fiz. 71 (1987) 218.

Investigating the effect of cognitive stress on cardiorespiratory synchronization

Maia Angelova, Philip Holloway and Laurie Rauch

Abstract Synchrograms have been used to investigate the effects of cognitive stress, induced by the Stroop test, on the phase synchronization of the cardiac and respiratory systems. The cardiorespiratory interactions have been investigated during a rest and cognitive stressful task, namely the Stroop test, and found that cardiorespiratory synchronization decreased during cognitive stress. Synchrogram techniques and the Hilbert transform have been used to analyse phase syncronization. Our results support the hypothesis that respiration is key for improving the feedback between the cardiac and respiratory systems.

1 Introduction

The cardiac and respiratory systems are known to be coupled by several mechanisms [4]. The interaction between these two systems involves a large number of feedback and feedforward mechanisms. In healthy subjects, the heart rate increases during inspirations and decreases with expiration – a well known, and well studied phenomenon [1], known as respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA). Although this arrhythmia is termed respiratory it is important to note that the variations in heart rate are not directly caused by respiration itself. The modulation of the heart rate is thought to be a result of several influences, most notably the results of a reflection of the blood pressure waves via the baroreceptor feedback loop in the heart rate [7].

Maia Angelova

Philip Holloway

Laurie Rauch

School of Information Technology, Deakin University, Melbourne Burwood Campus, Australia, e-mail: maia.a@deakin.edu.au, previous address Northumbria University, Newcastle upon Tyne

Northumbria University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, e-mail: phil-holloway88@yahoo.com

Division of Exercise Science and Sports Medicine, Department of Human Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Cape Town, South Africa, e-mail: Laurie.Rauch@uct.ac.za

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_12

Along with RSA, another phenomena rapidly gaining interest is that of cardiorespiratory synchronizations. Earlier studies support its existence [2, 16, 21, 28]. As shown in [3] cardiorespiratory synchronization and RSA represent different aspects of the interaction between the cardiac and respiratory systems.

Cognitive stress is known to affect the physiological functioning of the cardiovascular system suppressing heart rate variability (HRV) [6, 9, 27]. In physiology, HRV is the variation in the time interval between heartbeats, measured by the variation in the beat-to-beat interval [10]. Raschke et al. suggested that synchronization between the cardiac and respiratory systems would be at its strongest during states of relaxation and stated that this coordination was easily disturbed under conditions of stress or disease [19]. However, there is little knowledge on the effect of cognitive stress on cardiorespiratory synchronizations. In this study, the participants were asked to complete a Stroop test in order to impose stress and draw attention away from consciously controlling one's breathing and instead focus on completing the task. The expectation is to see an increase in synchronizations during periods of control – whether it be forced deep breathing or during unconscious control. In both scenarios the cardiorespiratory systems are trying to maintain homeostasis.

The paper is organised as follows. Section 2 introduces the experimental data and data collection methods. Section 3 considers the analysis techniques applied, followed by the results in Section 4 and final conclusions in Section 5.

2 Data

The study was undertaken with 15 healthy participants, age 24 to 58. It investigated the effect of cognitive stress with measurements before and during the Stroop test. ECG and respiration signals were recorded from all participants during a period of normal breathing where no restrictions or conditions were enforced and the subject was instructed to breathe at a rate comfortable to them. After 5 minutes of resting, the subjects were asked to complete a Stroop test. The scores from these Stroop tests were recorded. ECG was measured via 3 electrodes – placed in Einthoven's triangle configuration – and was recorded at 1000Hz. The respiratory signal was recorded via a force transducer fixed to a belt around the chest. Subjects were asked to expel air from their lungs as the transducer was first fit, and then were instructed to breathe normally. ECG and respiratory signals were recorded simultaneously for ten minutes – five minutes prior to a Stroop test and five minutes during the test, using AcqKnowledge software (version 2). The resultant time series were noisy and strongly non-stationary.

The Stroop test [25] was used to investigate the participants psychological capacities. Essentially, participants are given the name of a colour, for example red, which may or may not be written in the same colour ink. They are then asked to state the colour of a word rather than read the word, for example, if the colour red is written in blue ink the subject would be required to answer blue.

3 Methods

Synchronization is a basic phenomenon in nature [13, 20]. Through the detection of synchronous states one may be able to achieve a better understanding of physiological functioning. There are different types of synchronizations such as amplitude synchronizations or frequency synchronizations. Pikovsky et al. suggested that the properties associated with phase synchronization in chaotic oscillators are very similar to noise in noisy oscillators [17], therefore analysis of phase synchronizations would allow studying both chaotic and noisy signals, such as respiration or ECG, under one common framework.

In the case of physiological signals, detecting phase-locking is not a simple task; moreover, recording such signals via non-invasive means can result in synchronicities being hidden by considerable background noise. Therefore, an adapted definition is used here to investigate phase-locking synchronizations:

$$\phi_{n,m} = |n\Phi_h - m\Phi_r| \cong \text{const},\tag{1}$$

where the heart beats *n* times in *m* respiratory cycles, and *h* and *r* denote heart and respiration phase respectively. In these cases, the *m* : *n* phase-locking manifests itself as a variation of $\phi_{n,m}$ around a horizontal plateau [26]. The phase $\phi(t)$ can be easily estimated from any mono-component time series, however, a problem arises if the signal contains multiple component or time-varying spectra, thus making phase estimation difficult.

To study the phase synchronization of the cardiorespiratory system, we use the Hilbert transform (HT). It is far superior than Fourier-based methods, which are the simplest and most popular methods of decomposing a signal into energy-frequency distributions. However, these methods lose track of time-localised events and are proven ineffective when analysing physiological systems with non-stationary processes. The HT, y_i , can be written for any function x_i as follows:

$$y_i(t) = \frac{1}{\pi} P \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_i(t')}{t - t'} dt',$$
(2)

where *P* indicates the Cauchy principal value. Gabor et al. determined that an analytical function can be formed with the HT pair [8],

$$z_i(t) = x_i(t) + iy_i(t) \equiv A_i(t)e^{i\phi_i(t)},$$
(3)

with amplitude $A_i(t)$ and instantaneous phase $\phi_i(t)$,

$$A_{i}(t) = \sqrt{x_{i}^{2}(t) + y_{i}^{2}(t)}, \quad \phi_{i}(t) = tan^{-1} \left(\frac{y_{i}(t)}{x_{i}(t)}\right).$$
(4)

The instantaneous frequency can be written as the time derivative of the phase [11],

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \frac{d\phi_i(t)}{dt}.$$
(5)

One of the main advantages of the HT is that it can find the phase of a single oscillation directly. In estimating the instantaneous phase, an assumption is made that the system studied can be modelled as weakly-coupled oscillators. This implies that the relative phase of the oscillators changes slowly with respect to their motion around the limit cycle, resulting in a slow convergence to a steady state phase-locking [18, 24]. We also assume that their interactions can be investigated by analysing such phases [14]. We should note that the HT is not the only method to estimate phase relationships; this can also be done by using wavelet transform or marked events methods [5, 15, 24].

In 1998, Schafer et al. developed the cardiorespiratory synchrogram in order to analyse n : m synchronizations in the cardiorespiratory systems, in which the heart beats n times in m respiratory cycles [22, 23]. The synchrogram analysis is very effective to study phase synchronization between a point process (heartbeat) and a continuous signal (respiration). The HT was used to calculate the instantaneous phase of the respiration signal Φ_{nr} from (4). We then regarded the respiratory phase at times t_k – the r-peak of the k^{th} heartbeat. The cardiorespiratory synchrogram can be constructed by observing the phase of the respiration at each t_k , and wrapping the phase into a $[0, 2\pi m]$ interval. In the simplest case of n : 1 synchronization, there are n heartbeats in each respiratory cycle. Plotting these relative phases $\Psi_{n,1}$ as a function of time against t_k , we observe n horizontal lines (representing the number of heartbeats) in one respiratory cycle. The relative phase is given by

$$\Psi_{n,m}(t_k) = \frac{1}{2\pi} [\Phi_{nr}(t_k) mod 2\pi m].$$
(6)

4 Results

ECG and respiratory signals were recorded simultaneously for ten minutes, five minutes prior to a Stroop test and five minutes during the test. Figure 1 illustrates the results gained from such recordings for one participant. Initially, (t < 60 sec), there is no synchronization as the participant is getting settled. From 60 sec to 300 sec pronounced regions of 6:1 synchronization can be seen with total length of 160 sec. During the Stroop test (t > 300 sec), virtually no areas of coordination are present, which may explain the high number of Stroop mistakes (40) for this individual. All participants (except one) displayed longer regions of synchronization during the rest stage (t < 300 sec) with some regions lasting over 3 minutes. For the majority of participants, most prominent synchronizations were 4:1 (average 95, stdev 48) and 5:1 (average 99, stdev 72). 3:1 locking (average 75; stdev 15) was observed for three individuals and 6:1 (average 100, stdev 60) for two. During the Stroop test (t > 300 sec) synchronizations between the cardiorespiratory systems declined. Seven participants displayed shorter areas of synchronization: 3:1 (average 68, stdev 40), 4:1 (average 54, stdev 30), two showed prolonged 5:1 locking (average 105, stdev 15). Synchronizations were not observed for six individuals. The length of the regions of synchronization in this stage was found to correlate with the subjects performance in the Stroop test, with stronger synchronizations seen in those who performed better (R-sq =76%, p-value=0.00).

5 Conclusion

In this work we investigated the effect of cognitive stress induced via the Stroop test on cardiorespiratory synchronization using synchrograms and HT. Our analysis showed that synchronizations exist during the resting stage to some extent for each individual. Some individuals displayed considerably more synchronization than others, possibly a result of a multitude of factors; from general health to better command of their respiration and deep breathing. On the whole, synchronization between the cardiorespiratory systems declined during the Stroop test. Therefore, we conclude that cognitive stress causes a decrease or in some cases a loss of synchronization of the cardiorespiratory systems. This, however, varied from individual to individual with some participants still displaying prolonged periods of synchronization during the Stroop test. The length of synchronization present was found to correlate with the subjects performance in the Stroop test with stronger synchronizations seen in those who made a small number of mistakes.



Fig. 1: Cardiorespiratory synchrogram illustrating results for one participant. In the rest stage pronounced regions of 6:1 locking can be seen for 60 < t < 300 sec, however in the latter half of the signal (the Stroop) all synchronizations have been lost.

The study confirmed that finding phase-locking regions with synchrograms and HT is an effective way to investigate cardiorespiratory dynamics. Respiration has been shown to be the driving force behind cardiorespiratory coupling [12]. Our results support the hypothesis that control over one's respiration is essential for improving the feedback between the cardiac and respiratory systems and possibly for improving physiological function.

Acknowledgements This work was partly supported by European FP7 project 247541 MAT-SIQEL, Marie Curie Actions-IRSES. MA also thanks the Academy of Medical Sciences for its partial support of this work via the Advanced Newton Fellowship.

References

- 1. Anrep, G. and Pascual, W. and Rossler, R. Proc. R. Soc. London Ser B 119 1936.
- 2. Bartsch, R. andKantelhardt, J.W. and Penzel, T. and Havlin, S. Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (5) (2007).
- Bartsch, R. and Schumann, A.Y. and Kantelhardt, J.W. and Penzel, T. and Ivanov, P.Ch. PNAS 109 (26) 10181 (2012).
- 4. Berne, R.M. and Levy, M.N. Physiology Mosby St. Louis, 1998.
- 5. Clemson, P.T. and Stefanovska, A. Phys. Reports 542 (4) 297 (2014).
- Cysarz, D., Bettermann, H., Lange, S., Geue, D. and van Leeuwen, P. Biomed. Eng. Online 3 (44) (2004).
- 7. Davies, C. and Neilson, J. J. Appl. Physiol. 22 (1967).
- 8. Gabor, D. Proc. IEEE Part III 93 (26) 429-457 (1946).
- 9. Hansen, A.L., Johnsen, B.H. and Thayer, J.F. Int. J. Psychophysiology 48 (3) 263-274 (2003).
- 10. Hon, E.H. and Lee, S.T. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 87 814-826 (1965).
- Huang, N. E., Shen, Z., Long, S. R., Wu, M. C., Shih, H. H., Zheng, Q., Yen, N.-C., Tung, C. C. and Liu, H. H. Proc. R. Soc. London. Ser. 454 903-995 (1998).
- Iatsenko, D., Bernjak, A., Stankovski, T., Shiogai, Y., Owen-Lynch, P.J., Clarkson, P.B.M., McClintock, P.V.E. and Stefanovska, A., Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A 371 (2013).
- Kotani, K. and Takamasu, K. and Ashkenazy, Y. and Stanley, H.E. and Yamamoto, Y. Phys. Rev. E 65 (5) (2002).
- 14. Kuramoto, Y. Chemical Oscillations, Waves, and Turbulence Springer-Verlag Berlin, Germany 1984.
- 15. Le Van Quyen, M. and Foucher, J. and Lachaux, J.P. and Rodriguez, E. and Lutz, A. and Martinerie, J. and Varela, F.J. J. Neurosci. Methods **111** 83-98 (2001).
- Pokrovskii, V.M. and Abushkevich, V.G. and Dashkovskii, A.I. and Shapiro, S.V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 283 (3) 738 (1985).
- Pikovsky, A. and Rosenblum, M. and Osipov, G.V. and Kurths, J. Physica D 104 (3-4) 219-238 (1997).
- Pikovsky, A. and Rosenblum, M. and Kurths, J. Synchronization: A Universal Concept in Nonlinear Sciences Cambridge University Press Cambridge 2001.
- Raschke, F. Temporal Disorder in Human Oscillatory Systems Springer Series in Synergetics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin 36 152-158 1987.
- 20. Rosenblum, M.G., Pikovsky, A.S. and Kurths, J. Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 (11) 1804-1807 (1996).
- 21. Rosenblum, M.G. and Pikovsky, A.S. and Kurths, J. Fluct. Noise Lett. 4 (1) L53-L62 (2004).
- 22. Schafer, C. and Rosenblum, M.G., and Kurths, J. and Abel, H.H. Nature **392** (6673) 239-240 (1998).
- 23. Schafer, C., Rosenblum, M.G., Abel, H-H and Kurths, J. Phys. Rev. E 60 857-870 (1999).
- 24. Stefanovska, A. and Bracic, M. Contemp. Phys. 40 31-55 (1999).
- 25. Stroop, J.R. J. Exp. Psychol. 18 (6) 643-662 (1935).

- 26. Tass, P., Rosenblum, M.G., Weule, J., Kurths, J., Pikovski, A., Volkmann, J., Schnitzler, A. and Freund, H.-J. Phys. Rev. Lett. **81** (15) 3291-3294 (1998).
- 27. Wood, R. and Maraj, B. and Lee, C.M. and Reyes, R. Age Ageing 31 (2) 131-135 (2002).
- 28. Wu, M.C. and Hu, C.K. Phys. Rev. bf E 73 051917 (2006).

Generalization of conserved charges for Toda models

Rita C. Anjos

Abstract The soliton solutions to Toda models receive a zero curvature representation of their equations of motion, i.e. there exist potentials, (A_{μ}) , that are functionals of the fields of the theory and which belong to a Kac-Moody algebra G such that the zero curvature condition is equivalent to the equations of motion. For the construction of the soliton solutions and conserved charges it is required an integer gradation of the Kac-Moody algebra and a "vacuum solution", such that the potentials evaluated on it belong to an Abelian subalgebra. The conserved charges are then constructed using the dressing method.

1 Introduction

Several methods have been used to calculate solutions of Toda models and hence obtain the conserved charges [1–3]. The soliton solutions to the affine Toda equation of motion using Hirota's method can be derived by an ansatz. A large number of authors have obtained soliton solutions using τ -functions [4,5].

The aim of this article is to give an explicit expression of conserved charges to the affine Toda model sl(3) and sl(N) following the construction given in [6,7]. We calculate the charges for Toda model sl(3) and generalized for Toda model sl(N) for N-soliton [7].

Rita C. Anjos

e-mail: ritacassia@ufpr.br

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb C}$ Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Departamento de Engenharias e Exatas, Universidade Federal do Paraná, Rua Pioneiro 2153, 85950-000, Palotina, Brazil,

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_13

2 Dressing method

Dressing transformations are zero curvature symmetries, symmetries of non-linear 1+1 dimension differential equations. The zero curvature condition or Lax-Zakahov-Shabat equation is given by

$$F_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\phi}A_{\mu} + [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}] = 0, \tag{1}$$

where A_{μ} is a Lie algebra valued vector field. This equation constitutes the conservation laws in 1 + 1 dimensions. Gradation of the algebra ensures that potentials can de decomposed:

$$\hat{\mathscr{G}} = \bigoplus_{n} \hat{\mathscr{G}}_{n} \qquad [\mathscr{G}_{n}, \mathscr{G}_{m}] \subset \mathscr{G}_{n+m}.$$
⁽²⁾

The equation (1) is invariant under gauge transformations generated by element of group g:

$$A^{h}_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} = g A_{\mu} g^{-1} - \partial_{\mu} g g^{-1},$$
 (3)

where g is an element of the Lie group associated with A_{μ} . The general idea of the method is to consider the problem as a factorization problem. From equation

$$A^{vac}_{\mu} = -\partial_{\mu}\psi_{vac}\psi^{-1}_{vac},\tag{4}$$

with

$$\Psi_{vac} = e^{x_+ E_1} e^{-x_- E_{-1}},\tag{5}$$

we consider a constant group element h, obtained by exponentiating the generators of the sl(3) Kac-Moody algebra [8], which admit the Gauss decomposition

$$\psi_{vac}h\psi_{vac}^{-1} = G_{-}^{-1}G_0G_+,\tag{6}$$

where G_- , G_0 and G_+ are group elements obtained by exponentiating the generators of the negative, zero and positive grades, respectively [6,7]. In addition, it introduces the variables:

$$\psi_h \equiv G_0 G_- \psi_{vac} h = G_+ \psi_{vac} \tag{7}$$

$$\bar{\psi}_h \equiv G_- \psi_{vac} h = G_0^{-1} G_+ \psi_{vac} \tag{8}$$

and the corresponding potentials

$$A^h_\mu = -\partial_\mu \psi_h \psi_h^{-1} \tag{9}$$

$$\bar{A^h_\mu} = -\partial_\mu \bar{\psi_h} \bar{\psi_h}^{-1}.$$
(10)

The potentials A^h_{μ} and A_{μ} are connected by two gauge transformations, which contain only elements with non-negative and non-positive grades that preserve the gradation structure.

2.1 Conserved charges for Toda model sl(3)

The affine Toda theories are integrable relativistic models in two dimensions. The models can be obtained by reduction from the Wess-Zumino-Novikov-Witten model [4]. The Conformal affine Toda model is constructed by adding the two extras fields in the Affine Toda models. The potentials for Toda model sl(3) are

$$A_{+} = -\frac{e^{\eta}}{3} [F_{1}^{1} (e^{2\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}} + \gamma^{2} e^{2\varphi_{2}-\varphi_{1}} + \gamma e^{-\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}}) + F_{1}^{2} (e^{2\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}} + \gamma e^{2\varphi_{2}-\varphi_{1}} + \gamma^{2} e^{-\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}}) + E_{1} (e^{2\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}} + e^{2\varphi_{2}-\varphi_{1}} + e^{-\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}})]$$

$$(11)$$

and

$$A_{-} = -\partial_{-} \left[\frac{1}{3}F_{0}^{1}(\varphi_{1} + \gamma^{2}\varphi_{2}) + \frac{1}{3}F_{0}^{2}(\varphi_{1} + \gamma\varphi_{2}) + \left(\frac{1}{3}\varphi_{1} + \frac{1}{3}\varphi_{2} + \nu + \beta\right)C + \eta Q\right] + E_{-1},$$
(12)

where F_0 , F_1 , E_1 and C are generators of the sl(3) Kac-Moody algebra [8]. When A_{\pm} are evaluated from vacuum solutions they become

$$A_+^{vac} = -E_1 \tag{13}$$

$$A_{-}^{vac} = E_1 - \partial_{-}\beta^{vac}C. \tag{14}$$

with $\beta^{vac} = -x_+x_-$. If the potentials are flat, we can write

$$A^{vac}_{\mu} = -\partial_{\mu} \psi_{vac} \psi^{-1}_{vac} \tag{15}$$

with

$$\psi_{vac} = e^{x_+ E_1} e^{-x_- E_{-1}}.$$
(16)

The dressing transformation is done when we consider a constant *h* of the group, written in terms of exponentiating the generators of the Kac-Moody algebra sl(3) and we write the Gauss decomposition (6). The potential A^h_{μ} defined in 9 becomes

$$A^{h}_{\mu} = G_{+}A^{vac}_{\mu}G^{-1}_{+} - \partial_{\mu}G_{+}G^{-1}_{+}$$
(17)

$$= G_0 (G_- A_\mu^{vac} G_-^{-1} - \partial_\mu G_- G_-^{-1}) G_0^{-1} - \partial_\mu G_0 G_0^{-1}.$$
(18)

When we compare the grade zero component $(A_{-}^{h} = -\partial_{-}G_{0}G_{0}^{-1} - \partial_{-}\beta C)$ with the potential (12) with $\eta = 0$, we find G_{0}

$$G_0 = e^{\frac{1}{3}(\varphi_1 + \gamma^2 \varphi_2)F_0^1 + \frac{1}{3}(\varphi_1 + \gamma \varphi_2)F_0^2 + (\frac{1}{3}\varphi_1 + \frac{1}{3}\varphi_2 + \nu)C}.$$
(19)

Using relations of the Kac-Moody algebra sl(3) and the highest weight states of representations of the Kac-Moody algebra sl(3) that are annihilated by positive and
negative grade generators operators, respectively $G_+|\lambda_i\rangle = |\lambda_i\rangle, \langle \lambda_i|G_- = \langle \lambda_i|, i = 0, 1, 2$, we find Hirota's tau functions:

$$\tau_0 \equiv \langle \lambda_0 | \psi_{vac} h \psi_{vac}^{-1} | \lambda_0 \rangle = \langle \lambda_0 | G_0^{-1} | \lambda_0 \rangle = e^{-\nu}$$
(20)

$$\tau_1 \equiv \langle \lambda_1 | \psi_{vac} h \psi_{vac}^{-1} | \lambda_1 \rangle = \langle \lambda_1 | G_0^{-1} | \lambda_1 \rangle = e^{-(\varphi_1 + \nu)}$$
(21)

$$\tau_2 \equiv <\lambda_2 |\psi_{vac} h \psi_{vac}^{-1} |\lambda_2> = <\lambda_2 |G_0^{-1}| \lambda_2> = e^{-(\varphi_2 + \nu)}$$
(22)

and expressions for the fields: $\varphi_1 = log \frac{\tau_0}{\tau_1}$, $\varphi_2 = log \frac{\tau_0}{\tau_2}$ and $v = \beta - log \tau_0$. The variables τ_0 , τ_1 and τ_2 are called Hirota's tau functions. Replacing the fields (φ_1 , φ_2 and v) into equations of motion of the Toda model sl(3), what we get are Hirota's tau functions

$$\tau_i \partial_+ \partial_- \tau_i - \partial_+ \tau_i \partial_- \tau_i = \tau_{i-1} \tau_{i+1} - \tau_i^2$$
(23)

with $i = 0, 1, 2, \tau_{-1} = \tau_2$ e $\tau_3 = \tau_0$. The group elements G_{\pm} are written as follows:

$$g_{\pm,E} = exp[\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\xi_{1,3n+1}^{(\pm)} E_{3n+1} + \xi_{2,3n+2}^{(\pm)} E_{3n+2})]$$
(24)

$$g_{\pm,F} = exp[\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\zeta^{(\pm,1)} F_{\pm n}^1 + \zeta^{(\pm,2)} F_{\pm n}^2)].$$
(25)

Rewriting the relations (17) as

$$g_{+,F}A^{h}_{\mu}g^{-1}_{+,F} - \partial_{\mu}g_{+,F}g^{-1}_{+,F} = g_{+,E}A^{vac}_{\mu}g^{-1}_{+,E} - \partial_{\mu}g_{+,E}g^{-1}_{+,E} \equiv a^{+}_{\mu}$$
(26)

$$g_{-,F}\bar{A}^{h}_{\mu}g_{-,F}^{-1} - \partial_{\mu}g_{-,F}g_{-,F}^{-1} = g_{-,E}A^{vac}_{\mu}g_{-,E}^{-1} - \partial_{\mu}g_{-,E}g_{-,E}^{-1} \equiv a^{-}_{\mu},$$
(27)

which are used as definitions of the potentials a^+_{μ} and a^-_{μ} . The potentials \bar{A}^h_{μ} are written as

$$\bar{A}^{h}_{\mu} \equiv G_{0}^{-1} A^{h}_{\mu} G_{0} - \partial_{\mu} G_{0}^{-1} G_{0}, \qquad (28)$$

where we used $G_{\pm} = g_{\pm,F}^{-1}g_{\pm,E}$ and the settings (24)-(25). Using the potentials obtained by gauge transformations (\bar{A}^h_{μ}) , vertex operators, and the discussion given in [7], the infinite number of conserved charges for the Toda model is derived. The conserved charges obtained for the 1-soliton are

$$\Omega_{(3n+1)}^{(\pm)} = \pm\sqrt{3} \left(\frac{1+v}{1-v}\right)^{\pm \left(\frac{3n+1}{2}\right)}$$
(29)

$$\Omega_{(3n+2)}^{(\pm)} = \pm\sqrt{3} \left(\frac{1+v}{1-v}\right)^{\pm \left(\frac{3n+2}{2}\right)}.$$
(30)

For 2-solitons the conserved charges have the form:

Generalization of conserved charges for Toda models

$$\Omega_{(3n+1)}^{(\pm)} = \pm\sqrt{3} \left[\left(\frac{1+v_1}{1-v_1} \right)^{\pm \left(\frac{3n+1}{2} \right)} + \left(\frac{1+v_2}{1-v_2} \right)^{\pm \left(\frac{3n+1}{2} \right)} \right]$$
(31)

$$\Omega_{(3n+2)}^{(\pm)} = \pm\sqrt{3} \left[\left(\frac{1+v_1}{1-v_1} \right)^{\pm \left(\frac{3n+2}{2}\right)} + \left(\frac{1+v_2}{1-v_2} \right)^{\pm \left(\frac{3n+2}{2}\right)} \right],$$
(32)

where n = 0, 1, 2.. and v is the velocity of the soliton.

2.2 Conserved charges for Toda model sl(N)

The potential for the Toda model sl(N) are

$$A_+ = -B\Lambda_+ B^{-1} \tag{33}$$

$$A_{-} = -\partial_{-}BB^{-1} + \Lambda_{-}, \qquad (34)$$

where *B* has the expression:

$$B = e^{\sum_{i=1}^{a} \varphi_a H_a + \nu C + \eta Q} \tag{35}$$

with $\Lambda_+ = \sum_{i=0}^r e_i$, $\Lambda_- = \sum_{i=0}^r v_i f_i$, where e_i and f_i are generators of the Lie algebra and v_i is a vector in the algebra and $v = -x_+x_-$. The field *B* has a vacuum solution given by $\varphi = 0$ and $\eta = 0$ as

$$B^{(vac)} = e^{-x_+ x_- C}.$$
 (36)

The vacuum potentials become

$$A_{+}^{(vac)} = -\Lambda_{+} \tag{37}$$

$$A_{-}^{(vac)} = -\partial_{-}(e^{-x_{+}x_{-}C})e^{x_{+}x_{-}C} + \Lambda_{-} = -x_{+}C + \Lambda_{-}.$$
 (38)

These potentials satisfy the condition of zero curvature and then we define the potential $A_{\mu}^{(vac)}$:

$$A_{\mu}^{(vac)} = -\partial_{\mu} w_0 w_0^{-1} \tag{39}$$

where $w_0 = e^{x_+ \Lambda_+} e^{-x_- \Lambda_-}$.

From the decomposition of Gauss we have

$$G = w_0 h w_0^{-1} = e^{x_+ \Lambda_+} e^{-x_- \Lambda_-} h e^{x_- \Lambda_-} e^{-x_+ \Lambda_+} = G_- G_0 G_+,$$
(40)

which can be rewritten as

$$G = w_0 h w_0^{-1} = G_- G_0 G_+ = G_- \varepsilon^{(1)} \varepsilon^{(2)} G_+$$
(41)

where we consider a decomposition of the generator of grade zero, $G_0 = \varepsilon_0^{(1)} \varepsilon_0^{(2)}$. In this case G_0 is the most general because it consists of a fragmentation between Θ_+ and Θ_- . The gauge potential transformed, $(A_{\mu}^h = \theta_{\pm} A_{\mu}^{vac} \theta_{\pm}^{-1} - \partial_{\mu} \theta_{\pm} \theta_{\pm}^{-1})$, with $\theta_+ = \varepsilon_0^{(1)} G_+$ and $\theta_- = \varepsilon_0^{(2)^{-1}} G_-^{-1}$ has the same structure as the original potential. With the states of highest weight representations of Kac-Moody algebra sl(N), vertex operators and the discussion given in [7], we obtain the expressions for the conserved charges. The general expression for charges of 1-soliton:

$$\Omega_{a,n}^{(\pm)} = \pm \kappa_N \left(\frac{1+\mathbf{v}}{1-\mathbf{v}}\right)^{\pm \left(\frac{n+u}{2}\right)} \tag{42}$$

where a = 1, ..., r and r is the rank of the algebra, v is the velocity of the soliton and κ_N is a constant.

3 Conclusion

We emphasize the elegance and extent of the method to obtain conserved charges of sl(3) and sl(N) Toda models evaluated on the solutions to the orbit of the vacuum. The method is based in the representation of the equations of motion of the model in terms of the zero curvature and properties of the dressing method. For all details of calculations, see [7].

Acknowledgements The author would like to express her sincere thanks to Luis Agostinho Ferreira and Carlos H. Coimbra-Araújo.

References

- 1. R. Hirota, J. Phys. Soc. Japan 33 (1972) 1459.
- L.D. Faddeev and L.A. Takhtajan, *Hamiltonian methods in the theory of solitons*, (Springer-Verlag, 1987).
- 3. H.C. Liao, D. Olive and N. Turok, Phys. Lett. 29 8B (1993) 95-102.
- 4. T.J. Holowood, Nucl. Phys. B384 (1992) 523-540.
- 5. D.I. Olive and N. Turok, Nuclear Physics B220 (1983) 491-507.
- 6. L. A. Ferreira and W. J. Zakrzewski, Journal of High Energy Physics, 9 15 2007.
- R. C. Anjos, Teorias de campos integráveis e sólitons [doi:10.11606/D.76.2009.tde-06082009-162020]. São Carlos : Instituto de Física de São Carlos, Universidade de São Paulo, 2009. Dissertação de Mestrado em Física Básica. [acesso 2016-12-12].
- 8. V. G. Kac, Infinite Dimensional Lie Algebras, (Camdridge U. Press, Cambridge), (1985).

On supersymmetric eigenvectors of the 5D discrete Fourier transform

M. K. Atakishiyeva and N. M. Atakishiyev

Abstract An explicit form of a discrete analogue of the quantum number operator, constructed in terms of the lowering and raising difference operators that govern eigenvectors of the 5D discrete (finite) Fourier transform $\Phi^{(5)}$ has been explored. This discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ has distinct eigenvalues which are employed to systematically classify eigenvectors of the $\Phi^{(5)}$, thus avoiding the ambiguity caused by the well-known degeneracy of the eigenvalues of the latter operator. In addition, we show that the hidden symmetry of the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ manifests itself in the form of the unitary Lie superalgebra psl(5|5).

We begin by recalling first a few well-known facts about the discrete Fourier transform (DFT). The discrete Fourier transform $\Phi^{(N)}$ is based on N points and represented by the $N \times N$ unitary symmetric matrix with elements

$$\Phi_{m,n}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i}{N} m n\right) \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} q^{mn}, \qquad (1)$$

where $q := e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N}}$ and $m, n \in \{0, 1, ..., N-1\}$. Given a vector **v** with components $\{v_k\}_{k=0}^{N-1}$, one can compute another vector **u** with components

$$u_m = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \Phi_{m,n}^{(N)} v_n,$$

M. K. Atakishiyeva

N. M. Atakishiyev

Centro de Investigación en Ciencias, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos 62250 Cuernavaca, Morelos, México e-mail: mesuma@uaem.mx

Instituto de Matemáticas, Unidad Cuernavaca, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México 62210 Cuernavaca, Morelos, México e-mail: natig@matcuer.unam.mx

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_14

referred to as *the discrete (finite) Fourier transform* of the vector **v**. Those vectors \mathbf{f}_k , which are solutions of the standard equations

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \Phi_{m,n}^{(N)} \left(\mathbf{f}_k \right)_n = \lambda_k \left(\mathbf{f}_k \right)_m, \qquad k \in \{0, 1, \dots, N-1\},$$
(2)

then represent eigenvectors of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(N)}$, associated with the eigenvalues λ_k . Since the fourth power of $\Phi^{(N)}$ is the unit matrix, the only four distinct eigenvalues among λ_k 's are the same as in the continuous case ± 1 and $\pm i$.

Although there exists a plethora of discussion in the literature on eigenvectors of the DFT (see, for example [1]- [9] and the relevant references quoted there), the problem of deriving eigenvectors of DFT analytically still remains to be solved. Recently, we proposed in [10] a strategy for resolving this problem by constructing a *self-adjoint difference operator* $\mathcal{N}^{(N)}$ (with distinct nonnegative eigenvalues) in terms of the lowering and raising difference operators \mathbf{b}_N and \mathbf{b}_N^T , which are defined by the intertwining relations

$$\mathbf{b}_N \,\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(N)} = \mathbf{i} \,\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(N)} \,\mathbf{b}_N, \qquad \mathbf{b}_N^T \,\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(N)} = -\mathbf{i} \,\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(N)} \,\mathbf{b}_N^T. \tag{3}$$

The ability to solve a difference equation for eigenvectors of this discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(N)}$, which commutes with the DFT operator $\Phi^{(N)}$, then enables one to define an analytical form of the desired set of eigenvectors for the latter operator.

This presentation contains a refined account of the particular dimension N = 5 for the general discrete Fourier transform $\Phi^{(N)}$ which includes new results not found in our earlier paper [11]. We hope that this study will deepen our understanding of the case with an arbitrary N-dimensional discrete Fourier transform and help us to provide some rigorous proofs, still needed for the generic dimensions N > 5.

The 5D lowering \mathbf{b}_5 and raising \mathbf{b}_5^T difference operators for eigenvectors of the DFT operator $\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{(5)}$ satisfy intertwining relations (2) with N = 5 and are explicitly given as

$$\mathbf{b}_{5} := c \left[\mathbf{S} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{T}^{(+)} - \mathbf{T}^{(-)} \right) \right], \qquad \mathbf{b}_{5}^{T} := c \left[\mathbf{S} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{T}^{(+)} - \mathbf{T}^{(-)} \right) \right], \qquad (4)$$

where $c = \sqrt{\frac{5}{4\pi}}$, the operator **S** represents the diagonal matrix with elements $S_{kl} := \sin(k\theta)\delta_{kl}$, $\theta := 2\pi/5$, $0 \le k, l \le 4$ and a pair of the shift operators $\mathbf{T}^{(\pm)}$ are defined as $T_{kl}^{(\pm)} := \delta_{k\pm 1,l}$ with $\delta_{-1,l} \equiv \delta_{4,l}$ and $\delta_{5,l} \equiv \delta_{0,l}$.

Let us draw attention here to the intertwining relations (2) with N = 5, which evidently imply that if a vector \mathbf{f}_k is the eigenvector of the DFT operator $\Phi^{(5)}$, associated with the eigenvalue i^k, $0 \le k \le 3$, then the vectors $\mathbf{b}_5^T \mathbf{f}_k$ and $\mathbf{b}_5 \mathbf{f}_k$ are also the eigenvectors of the same operator $\Phi^{(5)}$, associated with the eigenvalues i^{k+1} and i^{k-1}, respectively.

It proves convenient to parametrize the operators \mathbf{b}_5 and \mathbf{b}_5^T in terms of the golden ratio $\tau := (\sqrt{5}+1)/2 = -2\cos 2\theta$ and its conjugate $\tau^{-1} := (\sqrt{5}-1)/2 = 2\cos \theta =$

 $\tau - 1$:

$$\left(\mathbf{b}_{5}\right)_{m,m'} = \frac{c}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 & \kappa \tau^{1/2} & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & \kappa \tau^{-1/2} & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & -\kappa \tau^{-1/2} & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & -\kappa \tau^{1/2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5)
$$\left(\mathbf{b}_{5}^{T}\right)_{m,m'} = \frac{c}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & \kappa \tau^{1/2} & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \kappa \tau^{-1/2} & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -\kappa \tau^{-1/2} & -1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -\kappa \tau^{1/2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(6)

where $\kappa := (5)^{1/4}$. The 'cyclic' properties of the operators \mathbf{b}_5 and \mathbf{b}_5^T are revealed by the identities

$$\left(\mathbf{b}_{5}\right)^{5} + 5\left(\frac{c}{2}\right)^{4} \tau \,\mathbf{b}_{5} = 0, \qquad \left(\mathbf{b}_{5}^{T}\right)^{5} + 5\left(\frac{c}{2}\right)^{4} \tau \,\mathbf{b}_{5}^{T} = 0. \tag{7}$$

The matrix elements of the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)} := \mathbf{b}_5^T \mathbf{b}_5$ are defined as

$$\left(\mathscr{N}^{(5)}\right)_{m,m'} = \frac{c^2}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -\kappa\tau^{1/2} & -1 & -1 & -\kappa\tau^{1/2} \\ -\kappa\tau^{1/2} & 4+\tau & \kappa\tau^{-3/2} & -1 & -1 \\ -1 & \kappa\tau^{-3/2} & 5-\tau & 2\kappa\tau^{-1/2} & -1 \\ -1 & -1 & 2\kappa\tau^{-1/2} & 5-\tau & \kappa\tau^{-3/2} \\ -\kappa\tau^{1/2} & -1 & -1 & \kappa\tau^{-3/2} & 4+\tau \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (8)

As a product of a matrix and its transpose, the defining matrix in (4) is symmetric and all of its eigenvalues are nonnegative. Moreover, since the determinant of the matrix (4) is equal to zero, at least one of the eigenvalues should have zero value as well; but this lowest eigenvalue turns out to be unique and all eigenvalues of the matrix (4) are actually distinct. The explicit analytical form of the spectrum of the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ can be represented as

$$\lambda_k = c^2 \Big[5(1 - \delta_{k0}) + 4 \Big((\tau - 1) \sin k\theta + \cos k\theta \Big) \sin 2k\theta \Big], \quad 0 \le k \le 4.$$
(9)

Orthonormal eigenvectors \mathbf{f}_k of the number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$, associated with these eigenvalues λ_k , have the following components:

$$\begin{split} \left(\mathbf{f}_{0}\right)_{k=0}^{4} &= \frac{c^{2}}{4\sqrt{\lambda_{2}\lambda_{4}}} \left\{ 2\tau + \kappa\tau^{1/2}, 1 + \kappa\tau^{-1/2}, 1, 1, 1 + \kappa\tau^{-1/2} \right\}, \\ \left(\mathbf{f}_{1}\right)_{k=0}^{4} &= \frac{c}{4}\sqrt{\frac{\tau}{\lambda_{2}}} \left\{ 0, \kappa + \tau^{1/2}, \tau^{-1/2}, -\tau^{-1/2}, -\kappa - \tau^{1/2} \right\}, \\ \left(\mathbf{f}_{2}\right)_{k=0}^{4} &= \frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{2\kappa} \left\{ 2(1-\tau), 1, 1, 1, 1 \right\}, \end{split}$$

$$\left(\mathbf{f}_{3}\right)_{k=0}^{4} = \frac{c}{4}\sqrt{\frac{\tau}{\lambda_{3}}}\left\{0, \tau^{1/2} - \kappa, \tau^{-1/2}, -\tau^{-1/2}, \kappa - \tau^{1/2}\right\},\$$

$$\left(\mathbf{f}_{4}\right)_{k=0}^{4} = \frac{c^{2}}{8\sqrt{\lambda_{2}\lambda_{4}}}\left\{2, -\left(\tau + 2\kappa\tau^{1/2}\right), 2\kappa\tau^{1/2} + 3\tau - 2, III, II\right\},\qquad(10)$$

where *III* and *II* in the last line mean that the last two components of f_4 coincide with the third and second components, respectively.

Recall that the existence of an explicit solution of the spectrum problem for all known exactly solvable models in quantum mechanics always indicates that there is some type of underlying hidden symmetry of the Hamiltonian, associated with each particular case [12, 13]. Since the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ and its 5D eigenvectors \mathbf{f}_n can be considered as a discrete exactly solvable model version of the linear harmonic oscillator in quantum mechanics, some hidden symmetry of the $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ must exist in this case as well. It turns out that this hidden symmetry of the discrete number operator $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ manifests itself in the form of the unitary Lie superalgebra psl(5|5). This can be established in the following way.

The supersymmetric partner $\mathscr{N}_{S}^{(5)} = \mathbf{b} \mathbf{b}^{\dagger}$ of the 5D discrete number operator $\mathscr{N}^{(5)}$, obtained by reversing the order of **b** and \mathbf{b}^{\dagger} in the definition of $\mathscr{N}^{(5)}$, is represented by a matrix

$$\frac{c^2}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & \kappa \tau^{1/2} & -1 & -1 & \kappa \tau^{1/2} \\ \kappa \tau^{1/2} & 4 + \tau & -\kappa \tau^{-3/2} & -1 & -1 \\ -1 & -\kappa \tau^{-3/2} & 5 - \tau & -2\kappa \tau^{-1/2} & -1 \\ -1 & -1 & -2\kappa \tau^{-1/2} & 5 - \tau & -\kappa \tau^{-3/2} \\ \kappa \tau^{1/2} & -1 & -1 & -\kappa \tau^{-3/2} & 4 + \tau \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (11)

Let \mathbb{C}^5 denote a 5-dimensional complex vector space, spanned by the eigenvectors of the $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$. Then the 10D supersymmetric (SUSY) difference operator $\mathcal{N}^{(10)}$, which is built over two operators $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ and $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}_S$, and acts on 10-dimensional complex vector superspace $\mathbb{C}^5 \bigoplus \mathbb{C}^5$, can be written as a block matrix

$$\mathcal{N}^{(10)} := \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{N}^{(5)} & 0_5 \\ 0_5 & \mathcal{N}_S^{(5)} \end{pmatrix},$$
(12)

where 0_5 represents 5×5 zero matrix. The next natural step is to construct 10D discrete analogs of the SUSY generators (in supersymmetric theories they are called *SUSY charges*) of the form

$$\mathscr{D}_{1}^{(10)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\mathbf{b} \, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{-} + \mathbf{b}^{\dagger} \, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{+} \right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\begin{matrix} \mathbf{0}_{5} \, \mathbf{b}^{\dagger} \\ \mathbf{b} \, \mathbf{0}_{5} \end{matrix} \right),$$
$$\mathscr{D}_{2}^{(10)} = \frac{\mathbf{i}}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\mathbf{b} \, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{-} - \mathbf{b}^{\dagger} \, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{+} \right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\begin{matrix} \mathbf{0}_{5} \, -\mathbf{i} \, \mathbf{b}^{\dagger} \\ \mathbf{i} \, \mathbf{b} \, \mathbf{0}_{5} \end{matrix} \right),$$
(13)

where 10×10 matrices Σ_{\pm} are defined as $\Sigma_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} 0_5 & I_5 \\ 0_5 & 0_5 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\Sigma_{-} = \begin{pmatrix} 0_5 & 0_5 \\ I_5 & 0_5 \end{pmatrix}$, whereas I_5 represents a 5 × 5 identity matrix. Then it is not hard to check that both of the SUSY generators $\mathscr{Q}_1^{(10)}$ and $\mathscr{Q}_2^{(10)}$ do commute with the SUSY discrete number operator (7), and they anti-commute among themselves:

$$\left\{\mathscr{Q}_{1}^{(10)},\mathscr{Q}_{2}^{(10)}\right\} := \mathscr{Q}_{1}^{(10)}\,\mathscr{Q}_{2}^{(10)} + \mathscr{Q}_{2}^{(10)}\,\mathscr{Q}_{1}^{(10)} = 0.$$
(14)

Finally, it turns out that

$$\left(\mathscr{Q}_{1}^{(10)}\right)^{2} = \left(\mathscr{Q}_{2}^{(10)}\right)^{2} = \frac{1}{2}\mathscr{N}^{(10)}$$
 (15)

and, consequently,

$$\mathcal{N}^{(10)} = \left(\mathcal{Q}_1^{(10)}\right)^2 + \left(\mathcal{Q}_2^{(10)}\right)^2,\tag{16}$$

which parallels one of the central features of globally SUSY theories: *the hamiltonian is the sum of the squares of the supersymmetric charges*. Thus, the three SUSY operators $\mathcal{N}^{(10)}$, $\mathcal{Q}_1^{(10)}$ and $\mathcal{Q}_2^{(10)}$ form an algebra, which closes under a combination of commutation and anti-commutation relations.

Perhaps it is worthwhile to recall at this point a few well-known facts about matrix realizations of the classical Lie superalgebras [14]- [16]. The Lie superalgebra l(m,n) is spanned by matrices of the form

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}, \tag{17}$$

where A and D are gl(m) and gl(n) matrices, B and C are $m \times n$ and $n \times m$ rectangular matrices. The supertrace function, denoted by str, is defined on l(m,n) as

$$str(M) = tr(A) - tr(D).$$
(18)

The unitary superalgebra sl(m|n) is then defined as the superalgebra of matrices $M \in l(m,n)$ satisfying the supertrace condition str(M) = 0. In the case of m = n, sl(n|n) contains a one-dimensional ideal \mathscr{I} generated by the identity operator I_{2n} and one sets $sl(n|n)/\mathscr{I} = psl(n|n)$.

It remains only to add that our case corresponds to m = n = 5 in (17) and all three matrices $\mathcal{N}^{(10)}$, $\mathcal{Q}_1^{(10)}$ and $\mathcal{Q}_2^{(10)}$ do satisfy the supertrace condition $str(\mathcal{N}^{(10)}) = 0$ (notice in particular that from (4) and (11) it is evident that the operators $\mathcal{N}^{(5)}$ and $\mathcal{N}_S^{(5)}$ have identical traces). Therefore the three SUSY operators $\mathcal{N}^{(10)}$, $\mathcal{Q}_1^{(10)}$ and $\mathcal{Q}_2^{(10)}$ are embedded in a matrix realization of the *unitary Lie superalgebra (or* \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded Lie algebra) psl(5|5).

It may be emphasized that this method of deriving an explicit form of the underlying supersymmetry can be readily extended to the generic dimensions N > 5.

To summarize, we have discussed in detail an explicit form of a difference analogue of the quantum number operator in terms of the raising and lowering operators that govern eigenvectors of the 5D discrete (finite) Fourier transform. The main algebraic properties of this operator have been examined. In particular, we have shown that the hidden symmetry of the 5D discrete number operator manifests itself in the form of the unitary Lie superalgebra psl(5|5).

We are grateful to Naruhiko Aizawa, Vladimir Matveev and Joris Van der Jeugt for illuminating discussions and thank Fernando González for the computation of the eigenvalues (5) and eigenvectors (4) with the aid of *Mathematica*. The participation of MKA in this work has been partially supported by the SEP-CONACyT project 168104 "Operadores integrales y pseudodiferenciales en problemas de física matemática". NMA has been partially supported by the PAPIIT project IN-101115 "Óptica Matemática".

References

- 1. Auslander L and Tolimieri R, Is computing with the finite Fourier transform pure or applied mathematics? *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.*, Vol.1, (1979), 847–897.
- 2. Dickinson B W and Steiglitz K, Eigenvectors and functions of the discrete Fourier transform *IEEE Transactions on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing* **30**, (1982), 25–31.
- 3. Grünbaum F A, The eigenvectors of the discrete Fourier transform: a version of the Hermite functions *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* **88**, (1982), 355–363.
- 4. Mehta M L, Eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the finite Fourier transform *J. Math. Phys.* 28, (1987), 781–785.
- Mugler D H and Clary S, Discrete Hermite functions Proceedings of the International Conference on Scientific Computing and Mathematical Modeling, Milwaukee WI, (2000), 318–321.
- Mugler D H and Clary S, Discrete Hermite functions and the fractional Fourier transform *Proceedings of the International Conference on Sampling Theory and Applications*, Orlando FL, (2001), 303–308.
- Clary S and Mugler D H, Shifted Fourier matrices and their tridiagonal commutators SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl. 24, (2003), 809–821.
- 8. Matveev V B, Intertwining relations between the Fourier transform and discrete Fourier transform, the related functional identities and beyond *Inverse Problems* **17**, (2001), 633–657.
- 9. Atakishiyev N M, On *q*-extensions of Mehta's eigenvectors of the finite Fourier transform *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* **21**, (2006), 4993–5006.
- 10. Atakishiyeva M K and Atakishiyev N M, On the raising and lowering difference operators for eigenvectors of the finite Fourier transform *J. Phys.: Conference Series* **597**, (2015), 012012.
- 11. Atakishiyeva M K Atakishiyev N M and Méndez Franco J, On a discrete number operator associated with the 5D discrete Fourier transform "*Differential and Difference Equations with Applications*", Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics **164**, (2016), 273–292.
- Gendenshtein L E, Derivation of exact spectra of the Schrödinger equation by means of supersymmetry JETP Lett. 38, (1983), 356–359.
- 13. Cooper F Khare A and Sukhatme U, Supersymmetry and quantum mechanics *Physics Reports* **251**, (1995), 267–385.
- 14. Kac V G, Lie Superalgebras Advances in Mathematics 26 (1977), 8-96.
- 15. Scheunert M, The Theory of Lie Superalgebras, Springer-Verlag: Berlin Heidelberg (1979).
- 16. Frappat L Sciarrino A and Sorba P, *Dictionary on Lie algebras and superalgebras*, Academic Press, London (2000).

Remarks on Berezin quantization on the Siegel-Jacobi ball

Stefan Berceanu

Abstract Using recent results on Berezin quantization of homogeneous Kähler manifolds, we emphasize some geometric aspects of Berezin quantization of the Siegel-Jacobi ball.

1 Introduction

The Jacobi group is defined as $G_n^J = H_n \rtimes Sp(n, \mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{C}}$, where H_n denotes the (2n+1)-dimensional Heisenberg group [5, 6, 32]. The Jacobi group is an interesting object in mathematics [16, 22] and has many important applications in several branches of physics, see references in [8, 10].

The Siegel-Jacobi ball, denoted \mathscr{D}_n^J [5], is the homogeneous manifold associated with the Jacobi group G_n^J , whose points are in $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathscr{D}_n$, where \mathscr{D}_n denotes the Siegel ball Sp $(n, \mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{C}}/U(n)$. The homogenous metric on the partially bounded domain \mathscr{D}_n^J [3,5,6] was studied [8] as a balanced metric [1,21]. Recently there have been results obtained on Berezin quantization [13–15] on homogenous bounded domains [26] and homogeneous Kähler manifolds [27]. Using these results, we shall emphasize several geometric aspects of Berezin quantization on the Siegel-Jacobi ball. More details are given in [8,9].

The paper is organized as follows. Section 3 sumarizes the notion of balanced metric in the context of Berezin quantization via coherent states. Section 3 contains a description of the balanced metric on the Siegel-Jacobi ball. The new results of this paper are contained in Remark 2 and Proposition 1 of Section 4.

Stefan Berceanu

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_15

National Institute for Physics and Nuclear Engineering *Horia Hulubei*, Department of Theoretical Physics, P.O. Box MG-6, R7690 Bucharest-Magurele Romania, e-mail: berceanu@theory.nipne.ro

2 Coherent states, Berezin quantization, and balanced metric

Let ω_M be a *G*-invariant Kähler two-form

$$\omega_{M}(z) = i \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{n} h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}(z) dz_{\alpha} \wedge d\bar{z}_{\beta}, \ h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \bar{h}_{\beta\bar{\alpha}} = h_{\bar{\beta}\alpha}, \tag{1}$$

on the 2*n*-dimensional homogeneous manifold M = G/H, derived from the Kähler potential $f(z, \bar{z})$, i.e., $h_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial z_\alpha \partial \bar{z}_\beta}$.

The homogeneous hermitian metric on the Siegel-Jacobi ball determined in [4–7] is in fact a balanced metric, because it corresponds to the Kähler potential calculated as the scalar product of two coherent states (CS) vectors $e_{\bar{z}} \in \mathfrak{H}$, $z \in M$ in the Hillbert space \mathfrak{H} of the representation of *G* [30],

$$f(z,\overline{z}) = \ln K_M(z,\overline{z}), \quad K_M(z,\overline{z}) = (e_{\overline{z}}, e_{\overline{z}}). \tag{2}$$

We consider Berezin's approach to quantization on Kähler manifolds with the supercomplete set of vectors verifying the Parceval overcompletness identity [13–15]:

$$(\psi_1,\psi_2)_{\mathscr{F}_K} = \int_M (\psi_1,e_{\bar{z}})(e_{\bar{z}},\psi_2) \,\mathrm{d}\, v_M(z,\bar{z}), \quad \psi_1,\psi_2 \in \mathfrak{H},$$
(3)

$$d v_M(z,\bar{z}) = \frac{\Omega_M(z,\bar{z})}{(e_{\bar{z}}, e_{\bar{z}})}; \quad \Omega_M := \frac{1}{n!} \underbrace{\omega_M \wedge \ldots \wedge \omega_M}_{n \text{ times}}.$$
(4)

On the other side, it is introduced a weighted Hilbert space \mathfrak{H}_f of square integrable holomorphic functions on M, with weight e^{-f} [23]:

$$\mathfrak{H}_{f} = \left\{ \phi \in \operatorname{hol}(M) | \int_{M} \mathrm{e}^{-f} |\phi|^{2} \Omega_{M} < \infty \right\}.$$
(5)

In order to identify the Hilbert space \mathfrak{H}_f defined by (5) with the Hilbert space \mathscr{F}_K with the scalar product (3), it is considered the ε -function [17, 18, 31]:

$$\varepsilon(z) = e^{-f(z)} K_M(z,\bar{z}).$$
(6)

If the Kähler metric on the complex manifold *M* is obtained from the Kähler potential via (1) and (2) is such that $\varepsilon(z)$ is a positive constant, then the metric is called *balanced* [1,21,26].

Berezin's quantization via coherent states was globalized and extended to nonhomogeneous manifolds [31] in the context of geometric quantization [25]. To the Kähler manifold (M, ω_M) , it is also attached the triple $\sigma = (\mathcal{L}, h, \nabla)$, where \mathcal{L} is a holomorphic (pre-quantum) line bundle on M, h is the hermitian metric on \mathcal{L} and ∇ is a connection compatible with metric and the Kähler structure [12]. The manifold is called *quantizable* if the curvature of the connection [20] $F(X,Y) = \nabla_X \nabla_Y \nabla_Y \nabla_X - \nabla_{[X,Y]}$ has the property that $F = -i \omega_M$. Then ω_M is integral, i.e., $c_1[\mathcal{L}] =$ $[\omega_M]$. The reproducing (weighted Bergman) kernel admits the series expansion

$$K_M(z,\bar{w}) \equiv (e_{\bar{z}}, e_{\bar{w}}) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \varphi_i(z)\bar{\varphi}_i(w).$$
 (7)

 $\Phi = (\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \dots,)$ is an orthonormal base with respect to the scalar product (3).

We denote the normalized Bergman kernel of M (see also [2, 12]) by

$$\kappa_M(z,\overline{z}') := \frac{K_M(z,\overline{z}')}{\sqrt{K_M(z)K_M(z')}}.$$
(8)

The set $\Sigma_z := \{z' \in M | \kappa_M(z, \overline{z}') = 0\}$ was called *polar divisor* relative to $z \in M$ [2, 12], while a manifold for which $\Sigma_z = \emptyset, \forall z \in M$ was called in [7] a *Lu Qi-Keng manifold*, extending to manifolds a denomination introduced for bounded domains in \mathbb{C}^n [28]. Note that for a particular class of compact homogeneous manifolds that includes the hermitian symmetric spaces, Σ_z is equal to the *cut locus* relative to $z \in M$ (see the definition of the cut locus, e.g., at p. 100 in [24]), and Σ_z is a *divisor* in the sense of algebraic geometry [2, 12].

3 Balanced metric on the Siegel-Jacobi ball

The Jacobi algebra is the the semi-direct sum $\mathfrak{g}_n^J := \mathfrak{h}_n \rtimes \mathfrak{sp}(n, \mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{C}}$, where the Heisenberg algebra \mathfrak{h}_n is generated by the boson creation (respectively, annihilation) operators a_i^{\dagger} (a_i), i = 1, ..., n, and the generators of the $\mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{C}}$ -algebra are $K_{ij}^{\pm,0}$ [3,5,6]. Perelomov's CS vectors [30], associated to the group G_n^J with the Jacobi algebra \mathfrak{g}_n^J , and based on the complex Siegel-Jacobi ball \mathcal{D}_n^J , have been defined as [5,6],

$$e_{z,W} = \exp(X)e_0, \ X := \sqrt{\mu} \sum_{i=1}^n z_i a_i^{\dagger} + \sum_{i,j=1}^n w_{ij} K_{ij}^+, \ z \in \mathbb{C}^n; W \in \mathscr{D}_n.$$
(9)

The Siegel ball admits a matrix realization as a bounded homogeneous domain:

$$\mathscr{D}_n := \{ W \in M(n,\mathbb{C}) : W = W^t, N > 0, N := \mathscr{W}_n - W\bar{W} \}.$$

$$(10)$$

If $\mu \in \mathbb{R}_+$ indexes the Heisenberg group and k/4 is an eigenvalue of K_{ij}^0 , then the reproducing kernel $K(z, W) = (e_{z,W}, e_{z,W}), z \in \mathbb{C}^n, W \in \mathcal{D}_n$ is [5,6]:

$$K(z,W) = \det(M)^{\frac{k}{2}} \exp \mu F, \ M = (\mathbb{H}_n - W\bar{W})^{-1},$$
(11a)

$$2F = 2\bar{z}^t M z + z^t \bar{W} M z + \bar{z}^t M W \bar{z}, \qquad (11b)$$

$$2F = 2\bar{\eta}^t \eta - \eta^t \bar{W} \eta - \bar{\eta}^t W \bar{\eta}, \qquad (11c)$$

$$\eta = M(z + W\bar{z}); \ z = \eta - W\bar{\eta}. \tag{11d}$$

Stefan Berceanu

If $g \in \operatorname{Sp}(n, \mathbb{R})_{\mathbb{C}}$ has the form

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} p & q \\ \bar{q} & \bar{p} \end{pmatrix},\tag{12}$$

and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}^n$, then the action $(g, \alpha) \times (W, z) = (W_1, z_1)$ of the Jacobi group G_n^J on the Siegel-Jacobi ball \mathcal{D}_n^J is given by the formulae [5]:

$$W_1 = (pW + q)(\bar{q}W + \bar{p})^{-1} = (Wq^* + p^*)^{-1}(q^t + Wp^t),$$
(13a)

$$z_1 = (Wq^* + p^*)^{-1}(z + \alpha - W\bar{\alpha}).$$
(13b)

We use the following notation for the matrix of the hermitian metric on \mathscr{D}_n^J :

$$h = \begin{pmatrix} h_{i\bar{j}} & h_{i\bar{p}\bar{q}} \\ h_{pq\bar{i}} & h_{pq\bar{u}\bar{v}} \end{pmatrix} \in M(n(n+3)/2, \mathbb{C}), \ i, j = 1, \dots, n; \ 1 \le p \le q, u \le v \le n.$$
(14)

In [8] we have proved

Theorem 1. The Kähler two-form $\omega_{\mathcal{D}_n^J}$, associated with the balanced metric of the Siegel-Jacobi ball \mathcal{D}_n^J , G_n^J -invariant to the action (13), has the expression

$$-\mathrm{i}\,\omega_{\mathscr{D}_{n}^{f}}(z,W) = \frac{k}{2}\mathrm{Tr}(\mathscr{B}\wedge\bar{\mathscr{B}}) + \mu\mathrm{Tr}(\mathscr{A}^{t}\bar{M}\wedge\bar{\mathscr{A}}), \ \mathscr{A} = \mathrm{d}z + \mathrm{d}W\bar{\eta},$$

$$\mathscr{B} = M\,\mathrm{d}W, \ M = (\mathbb{K}_{n} - W\bar{W})^{-1}.$$
(15)

The matrix (14) of the hermitian metric on \mathscr{D}_n^J has the matrix elements (16):

$$h_{i\bar{j}} = \mu \bar{M}_{ij}, \tag{16a}$$

$$h_{i\bar{p}\bar{q}} = \mu(\eta_q \bar{M}_{ip} + \eta_p \bar{M}_{iq}) f_{pq}, \ f_{pq} := 1 - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{pq};$$
(16b)

$$h_{pq\bar{i}} = \mu(\bar{\eta}_q \bar{M}_{pi} + \bar{\eta}_p \bar{M}_{qi}) f_{pq}, \tag{16c}$$

$$h_{pq\bar{m}\bar{n}} = \frac{\kappa}{2} h^k_{pq\bar{m}\bar{n}} + \mu h^{\mu}_{pq\bar{m}\bar{n}}, \tag{16d}$$

$$h_{pq\bar{m}\bar{n}}^{k} = 2M_{mp}M_{nq}d_{pq} + 2M_{mq}M_{np}d_{mn} + M_{mp}^{2}\delta_{pq}\delta_{mn}, \ d_{pq} := 1 - \delta_{pq};$$
(16e)

$$h_{pq\bar{m}\bar{n}}^{\mu} = [\bar{\eta}_{p}(\eta_{n}M_{qm} + \eta_{m}M_{qn}) + \bar{\eta}_{q}(\eta_{n}M_{pm} + \eta_{m}M_{pn})]f_{pq}f_{mn}.$$
 (16f)

The determinant of the metric matrix h is

$$\mathscr{G}_{\mathscr{D}_{n}^{J}}(z,W) := \det h_{\mathscr{D}_{n}^{J}}(z,W) = (\frac{k}{2})^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}} \mu^{n} \det(\mathscr{W}_{n} - W\bar{W})^{-(n+2)}.$$
(17)

Remark 1. If $\varepsilon(z)$ is constant on *M*, then the balanced Hermitian metric on *M* is the pullback

$$ds_M^2(z) = \iota_M^* ds_{FS}^2(z) = ds_{FS}^2(\iota_M(z))$$
(18)

of the Fubini-Study metric via the embedding

$$\iota_M : M \hookrightarrow \mathbb{CP}^{\infty}, \ \iota_M(z) = [\varphi_0(z) : \varphi_1(z) : \dots].$$
 (19)

4 Quantization of the Siegel-Jacobi ball

Recently, some remarkable results [26, 27] about Berezin quantization, reproduced below, have been proved. We shall use these results in order to characterize Berezin quantization on the Siegel-Jacobi ball.

Theorem 2. Let (M, ω) be a simply-connected homogeneous Kähler manifold such that the associated Kähler form ω is integral. Then there exists a constant $\mu_0 > 0$ such that M equipped with $\mu_0 \omega$ is projectively induced.

Theorem 3. Let (M, ω) be a homogeneous Kähler manifold. Then the following are equivalent:

a) M is contractible.

b) (M, ω) admits a global Kähler potential.

c) (M, ω) admits a global diastasis $D_M : M \times M \to \mathbb{R}$.

d) (M, ω) admits a Berezin quantization.

As a consequence of Theorem 2, the following can be proven.

Remark 2. Let M = G/H be a simply-connected homogeneous Kähler manifold. Then the following assertions are equivalent:

A) *M* is a quantizable Kähler manifold.

B) *M* admits a balanced metric.

C) *M* is a CS-type manifold and *G* is a CS-type group.

D) M is projectively induced and we have (18), (19).

The notion of diastasis was introduced in [19]. The notion of CS-group is explained in [29].

Putting together Theorems 1, 2, 3, Remark 2, and Proposition 4 in [8], it follows in the particular case of the Jacobi group:

Proposition 1. *i*) The Jacobi group G_n^J is an unimodular, non-reductive, algebraic group of Harish-Chandra type.

ii) The Siegel-Jacobi domain \mathcal{D}_n^J is a homogeneous reductive, non-symmetric manifold associated to the Jacobi group G_n^J by the generalized Harish-Chandra embedding.

iii) The homogeneous Kähler manifold \mathscr{D}_n^J is contractible.

iv) The Kähler potential of the Siegel-Jacobi ball is global. \mathscr{D}_n^J is a Lu Qi-Keng manifold, with nowhere vanishing diastasis.

v) The manifold \mathscr{D}_n^J is a quantizable Kähler manifold.

vi) The manifold $\hat{\mathcal{D}}_n^J$ is projectively induced, and the Jacobi group G_n^J is a CS-type group.

vii) The Siegel-Jacobi ball \mathscr{D}_n^J is not an Einstein manifold with respect to the balanced metric attached to the Kähler two-form (15), but it is one with respect to the Bergman metric corresponding to the Bergman Kähler two-form $i \partial \overline{\partial} \ln \mathscr{G}_{\mathscr{D}_n^J}$. ix) The scalar curvature is constant and negative.

The Harish-Chandra embedding of the Siegel-Jacobi ball is explained in [11].

Acknowledgements This research was conducted in the framework of the ANCS project program PN 16 42 01 01/2016 and UEFISCDI-Romania program PN-II-PCE-55/05.10.2011. I am indebted to the Organizing Committee of the 31st International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, Rio de Janeiro, Brazilia, 19-25 June, 2016 for the opportunity to report results at the meeting. My participation at the Colloquium in Rio was supported by the UEFISCDI-Romania program PN-II-PCE-55/05.10.2011.

References

- 1. C. Arezzo, A. Loi, Commun. Math. Phys. 246 (2004), 543-549.
- 2. S. Berceanu, J. Geom. Phys. 21 (1997), 149–168.
- 3. S. Berceanu, J. Geom. Symmetry Phys. 5 (2006), 5-13.
- 4. S. Berceanu, Rev. Math. Phys. 18 (2006) 163-199; Errata, Rev. Math. Phys. 24 (2012), 1292001.
- 5. S. Berceanu, in *Perspectives in Operator Algebra and Mathematical Physics*, (The Theta Foundation, Bucharest, 2008), pp. 1–25.
- 6. S. Berceanu, Rev. Math. Phys. 24 (2012), 1250024, 38 pages.
- 7. S. Berceanu, Romanian J. Phys. 60 (2015), 867-89.
- 8. S. Berceanu, SIGMA 12, (2016), 064, 28 pages.
- 9. S. Berceanu, Geodesics associated to the balanced metric on the Siegel-Jacobi ball, arXiv: 1605.02962v1 [math.DG] 2016, 22 pp. Unpublished.
- 10. S. Berceanu, A. Gheorghe, Romanian J. Phys. 53 (2008), 1013-1021.
- 11. S. Berceanu, A. Gheorghe, Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 8 (2011), 1783–1798.
- 12. S. Berceanu, M. Schlichenmaier, J. Geom. Phys. 34 (2000), 336-358.
- 13. F. A. Berezin, Dokladi Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Mat. 211 (1973), 1263–126.
- 14. F. A. Berezin, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 38 (1974), 1116–1175.
- 15. F. A. Berezin, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 39 (1975), 363-402.
- 16. R. Berndt, R. Schmidt, *Elements of the representation theory of the Jacobi group*, Progress in Mathematics **163**, (Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, (1998).
- 17. M. Cahen, S. Gutt, J. Rawnsley, J. Geom. Phys. 7 (1990), 45-62.
- 18. M. Cahen, S. Gutt, J. Rawnsley, Trans. Math. Soc. 337 (1993), 73-98.
- 19. E. Calabi, Ann. Math. 58 (1953), 1–23.
- 20. S. S. Chern, Complex manifolds without potential theory, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (1979).
- 21. S. Donaldson, J. Diff. Geom. 59 (2001), 479-522.
- 22. M. Eichler, D. Zagier, *The theory of Jacobi forms*, Progress in Mathematics **55**, Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, (1985).
- 23. M. Engliš, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 348 (1996), 411-479.
- 24. S. Kobayashi, K. Nomizu, *Foundations of differential geometry*, Vol II, Interscience publishers, New York, (1969).
- B. Kostant, in Lecture Notes in Mathematics 170, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (1970), pp. 87– 208.
- 26. A. Loi, R. Mossa, Geom. Dedicata 161 (2012), 119-128.
- 27. A. Loi, R. Mossa, Geom. Dedicata 179 (2015), 377-383.
- 28. Q.-K. Lu, Acta. Math. Sin. 66 (1966), 269–281.
- K.-H. Neeb, *Holomorphy and Convexity in Lie Theory*, de Gruyter Expositions in Mathematics 28, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, New York, (2000).
- 30. A. M. Perelomov, *Generalized Coherent States and their Applications*, Springer, Berlin, (1986).
- 31. J. H. Rawnsley, Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. 28 (1977), 403-415.
- 32. J.-H. Yang, Kyungpook Math. J. 42 (2002), 199-272.

The good, the bad and the ugly coherent states through polynomial Heisenberg algebras

Miguel Castillo-Celeita and David J. Fernández C.

Abstract Second degree polynomial Heisenberg algebras are realized through the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian, together with two deformed ladder operators chosen as the third powers of the standard annihilation and creation operators. The corresponding solutions to the Painlevé IV equation are easily found. Moreover, three different sets of eigenstates of the deformed annihilation operator are constructed, called the good, the bad and the ugly coherent states. Some physical properties of such states will be studied as well.

1 Introduction

Polynomial Heisenberg algebras (PHA) of second degree are interesting deformations of the Heisenberg-Weyl algebra. In a differential representation they can be realized by one-dimensional Schrödinger Hamiltonians, together with a pair of third order ladder operators. In fact, when looking for the most general Hamiltonian ruled by such an algebraic structure, it turns out that the potential depends on solutions to a non-linear second-order ordinary differential equation called Painlevé IV (PIV). Reciprocally, if one has Hamiltonians with third-order differential ladder operators, then it is possible to design a simple algorithm for generating solutions to such an equation, by identifying just the associated extremal states [1,2].

On the other hand, it is important to look for the simplest systems ruled by second degree PHA, such that the corresponding extremal states satisfy the boundary conditions for being eigenfunctions of the Hamiltonian [3, 4]. This is the main subject

David J. Fernández C.

Miguel Castillo-Celeita

Departamento de Física, Cinvestav, A.P. 14-740, 07000 Ciudad de México, México e-mail: mfcastillo@fis.cinvestav.mx

Departamento de Física, Cinvestav, A.P. 14-740, 07000 Ciudad de México, México e-mail: david@fis.cinvestav.mx

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_16

to be addressed in this work. Indeed, it will be shown that the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian, together with deformed ladder operators which are the third powers of the standard annihilation and creation operators, will define a second degree PHA with such properties (Section 3). The three solutions of the PIV equation associated to this deformed algebra will be derived in the same section. The corresponding coherent states (CS) as well as their properties, will be studied in Section 3, while Section 4 will contain our conclusions.

2 Second degree PHA for the harmonic oscillator

There are several ways to realize the second degree PHA through the harmonic oscillator. Here, we look for realizations such that the three extremal states are eigenfunctions of H and, thus, we can generate from them three infinite ladders of eigenfunctions and eigenvalues [3]. Let us consider then the deformed ladder operators,

$$a_g = a^3, \qquad a_g^+ = (a^+)^3.$$
 (1)

The operator set $\{H, a_g, a_g^+\}$ gives place to a second degree PHA, since

$$[H, a_g] = -3a_g, \qquad [H, a_g^+] = 3a_g^+, \qquad [a_g, a_g^+] = N(H+3) - N(H), \quad (2)$$

where the analogue of the number operator reads:

$$N(H) = a_g^+ a_g = \left(H - \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(H - \frac{3}{2}\right) \left(H - \frac{5}{2}\right).$$
(3)

Three extremal state energies are identified, $\mathscr{E}_j = E_{j-1} = j - \frac{1}{2}$, j = 1, 2, 3, with eigenvectors given by

$$|\psi_{\mathscr{E}_j}\rangle \equiv |\psi_0^j\rangle = |j-1\rangle, \quad j = 1, 2, 3, \tag{4}$$

where $|j-1\rangle$, j = 1, 2, 3 are the first three energy eigenstates of the harmonic oscillator in Fock notation. Departing from them, by acting a_g^+ iteratively, we can construct three independent ladders of energy eigenstates. The eigenvalues associated to the *j*-th ladder are $\mathscr{E}_n^j = \mathscr{E}_j + 3n$, $n = 0, 1, \ldots, j = 1, 2, 3$, and the corresponding eigenstates become

$$|\psi_n^j\rangle = |3n+j-1\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{(j-1)!}{(3n+j-1)!}} (a_g^+)^n |j-1\rangle, \quad j=1,2,3.$$
 (5)

The spectrum of *H* thus takes the form

$$\mathbf{Sp}(H) = \{\mathscr{E}_0^1, \mathscr{E}_1^1, \dots\} \cup \{\mathscr{E}_0^2, \mathscr{E}_1^2, \dots\} \cup \{\mathscr{E}_0^3, \mathscr{E}_1^3, \dots\},$$
(6)

which is the harmonic oscillator spectrum seen from a new viewpoint: the Hilbert space is the direct sum of three orthogonal supplementary subspaces,

 $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}_0 \oplus \mathscr{H}_1 \oplus \mathscr{H}_2$, each of them containing one ladder, which is represented in Figure 1.



Fig. 1 The three independent ladders (with spacing $\Delta E = 3$) for the second degree PHA of Eq. (2). They produce globally the harmonic oscillator spectrum with the standard spacing $\Delta E = 1$.

Since $\{H, a_g, a_g^+\}$ generate a second degree PHA, there is a link with the PIV equation [1,2]:

$$\frac{d^2g}{dy^2} = \frac{1}{2g} \left(\frac{dg}{dy}\right)^2 + \frac{3}{2}g^3 + 4yg^2 + 2(y^2 - a)g + \frac{b}{g},\tag{7}$$

which allows us to find some of its solutions. We just need to supply the three extremal states and their associated energies, in our case $\psi_{\mathcal{E}_j}(x) = \langle x | j - 1 \rangle$, $\mathcal{E}_j = j - 1/2$, j = 1, 2, 3. The PIV solution and its parameters turn out to be given by

$$g(y) = -y - \frac{d}{dy} \left[\ln \phi_1(y) \right], \quad a = \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_2 + \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_3 + 2\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_1 - 1, \quad b = -2 \left(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_2 - \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_3 \right)^2, \quad (8)$$

where $\phi_1(y)$ is the first extremal state for the previous ordering (the ground state), and $y = \sqrt{3}x$, $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_j = \mathcal{E}_j/3$, j = 1, 2, 3 are the changes required to fit the spacing of levels of our system ($\Delta E = 3$) with the standard spacing ($\Delta E = 1$) used in [1, 2]. Since the first label can be asigned to any extremal state, we can find indeed three PIV solutions, whose explicit expressions and corresponding parameters become

$$g(y) = -2y/3, \qquad a = 0, \qquad b = -2/9,$$
 (9)

$$g(y) = -2y/3 - 1/y, \qquad a = -1, \qquad b = -8/9,$$
 (10)

$$g(y) = -2y/3 - 4y/(2y^2 - 3), \qquad a = -2, \qquad b = -2/9.$$
 (11)

3 Coherent states

Let us consider now the CS as eigenstates of the deformed annihilation operator:

$$a_g |\alpha\rangle_j = \alpha |\alpha\rangle_j, \quad j = 0, 1, 2,$$
 (12)

with $|\alpha\rangle_j = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n |3n+j\rangle$. Following a standard procedure, we arrive at

$$|\alpha\rangle_{j} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sum\limits_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2n}}{(3n+j)!}}} \sum\limits_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^{n}}{\sqrt{(3n+j)!}} |3n+j\rangle.$$
(13)

Several important quantities for the CS $|\alpha\rangle_i$ can be obtained straightforwardly:

$$\langle x \rangle_j = \langle p \rangle_j = 0, \quad \langle x^2 \rangle_j = \langle p^2 \rangle_j = (\Delta x)_j (\Delta p)_j = \langle H \rangle_j = |a|\alpha\rangle_j|^2 + \frac{1}{2}, \quad (14)$$

where

$$|a|\alpha\rangle_{j}|^{2} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sum\limits_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2r}}{(3r)!}} \sum\limits_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2n+2}}{(3n+2)!} & for j=0, \\ \frac{1}{\sum\limits_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2r}}{(3r+1)!}} \sum\limits_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2n}}{(3n)!} & for j=1, \\ \frac{1}{\sum\limits_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2r}}{(3r+2)!}} \sum\limits_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2n}}{(3n+1)!} & for j=2. \end{cases}$$
(15)

Plots of the uncertainty products $(\Delta x)_j (\Delta p)_j$ for j = 0, 1, 2 are shown in Figure 2.



Fig. 2: Uncertainty products $(\Delta x)_j (\Delta p)_j$; the minima are $\frac{1}{2}$, $\frac{3}{2}$ and $\frac{5}{2}$ for j = 0, 1, 2, respectively.

It is important to explore the completeness relation in each subspace \mathcal{H}_i :

$$\int |\alpha\rangle_{jj} \langle \alpha | d\mu_j(\alpha) = I_j, \quad j = 0, 1, 2,$$
(16)

where I_j is the identity operator on \mathcal{H}_j and

$$d\mu_j(\alpha) = \frac{1}{\pi |\alpha|} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2r}}{(3r+j)!} \right) f_j(|\alpha|^2) d|\alpha| d\varphi.$$
(17)

If $f_j(x)$ satisfies $\int_0^\infty x^{n-1} f_j(x) dx = \Gamma(3n+j+1)$, thus any state vector can be decomposed in terms of our CS.

Finally, the time evolution of a coherent state is quite simple, $U(t)|\alpha\rangle_j = e^{-i(j+\frac{1}{2})t}|\alpha(t)\rangle_j$, $\alpha(t) = \alpha e^{-3it}$.



Fig. 3 Probability densities (*in position and time axis*) for the good, the bad and the ugly CS (left, right, down respectively).



Let us consider next the non-normalized coherent states:

$$|z\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{\sqrt{n!}} |n\rangle, \quad |z\rangle_j = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{3n+j}}{\sqrt{(3n+j)!}} |3n+j\rangle, \quad \alpha = z^3.$$
(18)

The first state in Eq. (18) is a standard CS while the second one stands for the good, the bad and the ugly CS, also named three-photon CS [5]. Equation (16) ensures that $|ze^{i2\pi j/3}\rangle$ can be written in terms of $|z\rangle_j$, j = 0, 1, 2 [3]. Reciprocally, we can express $|z\rangle_j$ in terms of $|ze^{i2\pi j/3}\rangle$, j = 0, 1, 2:

$$|z\rangle_0 = N_0 \left(|z\rangle + |e^{i2\pi/3}z\rangle + |e^{i4\pi/3}z\rangle \right), \tag{19}$$

$$|z\rangle_{1} = N_{1}\left(|z\rangle - e^{i\pi/3}|e^{i2\pi/3}z\rangle + e^{i2\pi/3}|e^{i4\pi/3}z\rangle\right),$$
(20)

$$|z\rangle_{2} = N_{2} \left(|z\rangle + e^{i2\pi/3} |e^{i2\pi/3} z\rangle + e^{i4\pi/3} |e^{i4\pi/3} z\rangle \right),$$
(21)

i.e., the good, the bad and the ugly CS are superpositions of standard CS with complex labels $ze^{i2\pi j/3}$ defining an equilateral triangle on the complex plane. Expressions (19-21) are used to build the wave packets associated to $|z(t)\rangle_j$, j = 0, 1, 2, whose probability densities as functions of x and t are shown in Figure 3 [3].

As we can see, the probability densities are periodic in time, with a period $(2\pi/3)$ equal to one third of the period for a classical motion for the oscillator. This implies that the good, the bad and the ugly CS cannot describe semi-classical situations, i.e., they are intrinsically quantum states. It is worth noticing the existence of some other states which are strongly quantum, e.g., the even and odd CS [4–7].

4 Conclusions

We have explored a realization of the second degree PHA in which the generators are the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian and the ladder operators $a_g = a^3$, $a_g^+ = (a^+)^3$. The three associated extremal states become physical eigenstates of H, and the ladders generated from them are of infinite length. In addition, these extremal states supply some solutions to the PIV equation. The search of the eigenstates of a_g leads to three different sets, which here have been called the good, the bad and the ugly CS. Their period turns out to be a fraction (1/3) of the original period (2π) for the oscillator, indicating the strong quantum nature of such states. They could be important to describe the kind of interaction matter-radiation appearing in the so-called multiphoton quantum optics [8].

References

- 1. J.M. Carballo, D.J. Fernández, J. Negro, L.M. Nieto, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 37 (2004), 10349.
- 2. D. Bermudez, D.J. Fernández, AIP Conf. Proc. 1575 (2014), 50.

The good, the bad and the ugly coherent states

- 3. M. Castillo-Celeita, *Polynomial Heisenberg algebras and coherent states associated to simple systems*, MSc Thesis (Cinvestav, México, 2015), in Spanish. Unpublished.
- 4. M. Castillo-Celeita, D.J. Fernández, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 698 (2016), 012007.
- 5. V.V. Dodonov, J. Opt. B: Quantum Semiclass. Opt. 4 (2002), R1.
- 6. B. Roy, P. Roy, J. Opt. B: Quantum Semiclass. Opt. 2 (2000), 65.
- 7. O. Castaños, J.A. López-Saldívar, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 380 (2012), 012017.
- 8. F. Dell'Anno, S. De Siena, F. Illuminati, Phys. Rep. 428 (2006), 53.

Generation and dynamics of crystallised-type states of light within the Tavis-Cummings model

O. Castaños, S. Cordero, E. Nahmad-Achar, and R. López-Peña

Abstract A generation of superpositions of photon number operator states within the generalized Tavis-Cummings model (GTC) is proposed, which is independent of the dipolar strengths and of the considered number of atoms. These are obtained by considering a linear combination of states, with total number of excitations M_1 and M_2 , whose corresponding Husimi function for the electromagnetic field exhibits a cyclic point group symmetry C_n , with $n = |M_2 - M_1|$, that is, describes a crystallised-type state. Finally we establish that these superpositions under evolution with respect to the GTC Hamiltonian yields a Husimi function that preserves the cyclic point group symmetry.

1 Introduction

We know that spontaneous emission must occur if matter and radiation are to achieve thermal equilibrium. However, if the atoms are placed between mirrors in a cavity, the spontaneous emission can be controlled and manipulated. QED in cavities explores the measurement and control of atoms interacting with quantised radiation. The Dicke model studies a system of N_a non-interacting two-level atoms or molecules confined in a small container compared with the radiation wavelength. A dipolar interaction between the electromagnetic field and two-level atoms is considered in this model [1]. The $N_a = 1$ case, called the Jaynes-Cummings model (JCM) is exactly soluble with and without the rotating wave approximation (RWA) [2, 3]. The case of N_a two-level atoms or molecules in the RWA, the Tavis-Cummings model (TCM), has been also solved analytically under resonant conditions [4].

Schrödinger cat states [5, 6], even and odd coherent states [7], and squeezed states [8–11] describe non-classical states of light because they have different sta-

O. Castaños et al.

Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Apartado Postal 70-543, 04510 Mexico City, Mexico, e-mail: ocasta@nucleares.unam.mx

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_17

tistical properties than the coherent states, which are usually called classical states of light [12–14]. More recently, the statistical properties of macroscopic superpositions of coherent states that carry irreducible representations of a finite group have been studied, together with their dynamic behaviour under evolution with respect to quadratic Hamiltonians in the quadratures of the electromagnetic field; these are called crystallised Schrödinger cats [15, 16]. The proposals to generate this type of states can be grouped as follows: (i) non-linear processes [6, 17], (ii) non-demolition measurements [18, 19], and (iii) field-atom interactions [20–22].

In this contribution we propose generating superpositions of photon-numberoperator states within the GTC model for any number of particles and values of the matter-field coupling constants. Section 2 the GTC model is introduced together with the discussion of the one particle case, which can be solved analytically. In Section 3 we study the evolution of initial states with a definite value of the total number of excitations M and that of a superposition of states with M_1 and M_2 values. We determine the matter-field entanglement properties, and show that the Husimi function for the electromagnetic field exhibits a cyclic point group symmetry C_n , with $n = |M_2 - M_1|$. The conclusions of this work are presented in Section 4.

2 The generalized Tavis-Cummings model

The TCM model describes many two-level atoms or molecules interacting dipolarly with a one-mode electromagnetic field in the RWA which can be solved exactly under resonant conditions [4]. In this work, models describing many-level atoms or molecules interacting with a one-mode radiation field are called generalised Tavis-Cummings models (GTC) [23]. The Hamiltonian for the 3-level case takes the form [23, 24]

$$\boldsymbol{H}_{GTC} = \hbar \,\Omega \,\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{a} + \hbar \sum_{j=1}^{3} \omega_{j} \,\boldsymbol{A}_{jj} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{N_{a}}} \sum_{i < j=2}^{3} \mu_{ij} (\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \,\boldsymbol{A}_{ij} + \boldsymbol{a} \boldsymbol{A}_{ji}), \qquad (1)$$

with the convention $\omega_1 \leq \omega_2 \leq \omega_3$. A_{jj} denotes the number operator of particles in level *j*, and Ω the frequency of the creation and annihilation photon operators (a^{\dagger}, a) . The raising and lowering operators of the unitary algebra in 3 dimensions can be realised in terms of bosonic operators $A_{jk} = b_j^{\dagger} b_k$ and μ_{jk} is the matter-field coupling parameter between levels ω_j and ω_k . It is straightforward to check that the operator of the total number of excitations

$$M_X = \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \, \boldsymbol{a} + \lambda_2 \, \boldsymbol{A}_{22} + \lambda_3 \, \boldsymbol{A}_{33} \tag{2}$$

is a constant of motion. The parameter X indicates the atomic configuration: Ξ , V, and Λ , each with $(\lambda_2, \lambda_3) = \{(1,2), (1,1), (0,1)\}$, respectively.

Basis states are constructed in terms of the tensorial product of a Fock state $|v\rangle$, associated to the number of photons, and the totally symmetric Gelfand-Tsetlin state

Generation and dynamics of crystallised-type states of light

of N_a particles $|N_a q r\rangle$, i.e.,

$$|\mathbf{v};N_{a}qr\rangle = |\mathbf{v}\rangle \otimes \frac{1}{\sqrt{(N_{a}-q)!(q-r)!r!}} \mathbf{A}_{31}^{N_{a}-q} \mathbf{A}_{21}^{q-r} |N_{a},N_{a}\rangle, \qquad (3)$$

where the state with all the atoms in their lowest energy level is determined by the expression $A_{jk}|N_a, N_a, N_a\rangle = 0$, for all k > 1. Here, r denotes the eigenvalue of A_{11} , i.e., the population of the lowest level ω_1 , and q denotes the sum of populations of the two lowest levels. In this basis state, one constructs the Hamiltonian matrix whose dimension d depends only on the number of particles $d = (N_a + 1)(N_a + 2)/2$, when $M \ge \lambda_3 N_a$ [25].

One particle case. For $N_a = 1$ one has a 3×3 Hamiltonian matrix for each value of the total number of excitations. The energy spectrum is then an infinite ladder of 3-level steps, each step determined by $E_{\pm} = M_X + \Delta_X/2 \pm \mathscr{E}_X$ and $E_0 = M_X$, with $\mathscr{E}_X = \sqrt{(\Delta_X/2)^2 + \Omega_X^2}$. Here Δ_X denotes a detuning value Δ_{ij} , depending on the configuration and levels in question:

$$\Xi: \omega_{21} = \Omega + \Delta_{12}, \qquad V: \omega_{21} = \Omega + \Delta_{12}, \qquad \Lambda: \omega_{31} = \Omega + \Delta_{13}.$$

The resonant case is obtained by considering the detuning parameters Δ_{ij} equal to zero. The frequencies Ω_X are given by

$$\Omega_{\Xi} = \sqrt{M_{\Xi} \,\mu_{12}^2 + (M_{\Xi} - 1) \,\mu_{23}^2}, \quad \Omega_V = \sqrt{M_V \left(\mu_{12}^2 + \mu_{13}^2\right)}, \quad \Omega_{\Lambda} = \sqrt{M_\Lambda \left(\mu_{13}^2 + \mu_{23}^2\right)}.$$

The dressed states can be determined in analytic form as they involve the diagonalisation of a 3×3 matrix for any number of total excitations. Thus they are combinations of the basis states introduced before. For the Ξ configuration these are given by

$$\begin{split} |\psi_{0}\rangle_{\Xi} &= -\frac{\sqrt{M_{\Xi}}\,\mu_{12}}{\Omega_{\Xi}} |M_{\Xi} - 2,100\rangle + \frac{\sqrt{M_{\Xi} - 1}\,\mu_{23}}{\Omega_{\Xi}} |M_{\Xi},111\rangle, \\ |\psi_{\pm}\rangle_{\Xi} &= \frac{1}{\mathscr{E}_{\Xi} \left(2 \pm \frac{\Delta_{12}}{\mathscr{E}_{\Xi}}\right)^{1/2}} \left\{ \sqrt{M_{\Xi} - 1}\,\mu_{23} |M_{\Xi} - 2,100\rangle + \sqrt{M_{\Xi}}\,\mu_{12} |M_{\Xi},111\rangle \right. \\ &\left. - \left(\Delta_{12}/2 \pm \mathscr{E}_{\Xi}\right) |M_{\Xi} - 1,110\rangle \right\}. \end{split}$$
(4)

Similar expressions can be obtained for the V- and Λ -configurations.

3 Husimi function for the electromagnetic field

We first consider one atom in its ground state inside a cavity prepared in a Fock state with *M* photons, and study the evolution of an initial state $|M; 111\rangle$. The state at an

arbitrary time τ , in units of the frequency of the electromagnetic field, is given by

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi(\tau)\rangle_{M} &= U_{M}(\tau)_{13} |M - \lambda_{3}; 100\rangle + U_{M}(\tau)_{23} |M - \lambda_{2}; 110\rangle \\ &+ U_{M}(\tau)_{33} |M; 111\rangle, \end{aligned}$$
(5)

where $U_M(\tau)_{ij}$ are given in the appendix for different atomic configurations.

This state yields the reduced density matrix for the radiation field

$$\rho_F^{(M)}(\tau) = P_{M-\lambda_3}(\tau) |M - \lambda_3\rangle \langle M - \lambda_3 | + P_{M-\lambda_2}(\tau) |M - \lambda_2\rangle \langle M - \lambda_2 | + P_M(\tau) |M\rangle \langle M |, \qquad (6)$$

where the time-dependent probabilities of finding $M - \lambda_3$, $M - \lambda_2$, and M photons, respectively, are

$$P_{M-\lambda_3}(\tau) = |U_M(t)_{13}|^2, \quad P_{M-\lambda_2}(\tau) = |U_M(\tau)_{23}|^2, \quad P_M(\tau) = |U_M(\tau)_{33}|^2.$$
(7)

These probabilities depend on the considered atomic configuration through the expression for the evolution matrix $U_M(t)$, which is given in the appendix. The Husimi function depends only on the magnitude of the parameter $\alpha = \rho e^{i\phi}$ of the coherent state $|\alpha\rangle$,

$$Q_{H}^{(M)}(\rho,\tau) = \frac{e^{-\rho^{2}}\rho^{2M-2\lambda_{3}}}{2\pi M!} \left(\frac{M!P_{M-\lambda_{3}}(\tau)}{(M-\lambda_{3})!} + \frac{M!P_{M-\lambda_{2}}(\tau)}{(M-\lambda_{2})!}\rho^{2(\lambda_{3}-\lambda_{2})} + P_{M}(\tau)\rho^{2\lambda_{3}} \right)$$

The Q_H^M has a volcano shape as a function of (ρ, ϕ) , whose radius at the top of the crater oscillates between $\sqrt{2(M - \lambda_3 N_a)}$ and $\sqrt{2M}$, with $N_a = 1$. This behaviour is also valid for any number of particles, and can be proved analytically and corroborated numerically.

To generate the initial state one can use the experimental result that Fock states can be prepared in a cavity. This has emerged from the interest in applications of quantum information theory, as for example secure quantum communication and quantum cryptography [26]. If instead of having the atom in the cavity, we send it through the cavity, we will have a similar behaviour for the electromagnetic sector as indicated in the Husimi function. Then we can properly select the traveling time of the atom through the cavity in order for it to leave the latter in a linear combination of two Fock states.

Without loss of generality, then one can consider a resonant cavity in a superposition of two Fock states. We then consider the evolution of a linear combination of eigenstates of two values of the total number excitations

$$|\Phi(0)\rangle = (\cos\theta|M_1\rangle + \sin\theta|M_2\rangle) \times |111\rangle.$$
(8)

It is straightforward to determine the reduced density matrix of the field and its expectation value with respect to the coherent states of light leads to

Generation and dynamics of crystallised-type states of light

$$Q_H(\rho,\phi,\xi) = \frac{e^{-\rho^2}}{2\pi} \left(\cos^2 \theta \, \frac{\rho^{2M_1}}{M_1!} + \sin^2 \theta \, \frac{\rho^{2M_2}}{M_2!} + \rho^{M_1+M_2} \, \frac{\sin 2\theta}{\sqrt{M_1!M_2!}} \cos\left[(M_1 - M_2)\phi \right] \right).$$

This Husimi function is an invariant under the transformation $\phi \rightarrow \phi + \frac{2\pi}{M_1 - M_2}$, displaying a cyclic point symmetry $C_{|M_1 - M_2|}$. This is shown in Fig. 3 for the Ξ atomic configuration with $M_1 = 5$ and $M_2 = 2$. The form of the function is qualitatively similar for different strengths of the matter-field coupling parameters.

By a similar procedure than in the previous case, its dynamics is obtained through the evolution operator; then the reduced density matrix of the field and its expectation value with respect to the coherent state are calculated as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{H}(\theta,\rho,\phi,t) &= \cos^{2}\theta \ Q_{H}^{M1}(\rho,t) + \sin^{2}\theta \ Q_{H}^{M_{2}}(\rho,t) + \sin^{2}\theta \ \frac{e^{-\rho^{2}}\rho^{M_{1}+M_{2}-2\lambda_{3}}}{2\pi\sqrt{M_{1}!M_{2}!}} \\ &\times \cos\left\{(M_{1}-M_{2})(t+\phi)\right\} \left(\sqrt{\frac{M_{1}!M_{2}!}{(M_{1}-\lambda_{3})!(M_{2}-\lambda_{3})!}}P_{M_{1}-\lambda_{3}}(t)P_{M_{2}-\lambda_{3}}(t)\right) \\ &+ \rho^{\lambda_{3}-\lambda_{2}}\sqrt{\frac{M_{1}!M_{2}!}{(M_{1}-\lambda_{2})!(M_{2}-\lambda_{2})!}}P_{M_{1}-\lambda_{2}}(t)P_{M_{2}-\lambda_{2}}(t)} + \rho^{2\lambda_{3}}\sqrt{P_{M_{1}}(t)P_{M_{2}}(t)}\right). \end{aligned}$$

The Q_H is invariant under the transformation $\phi \rightarrow \phi + \frac{2\pi}{M_1 - M_2}$, proving analytically its symmetry under transformations of the cyclic group $C_{|M_1 - M_2|}$, again the result is independent of the number of particles.



Fig. 1: Husimi function of the crystallized-type cat state with point symmetry C_3 . A contour plot (left) and the corresponding 3-dimensional plot (right) are shown. We have taken $M_1 = 5$, $M_2 = 2$, $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$, $\mu_{12} = 1$, $\mu_{23} = \sqrt{2}$, and $q = \sqrt{2}\rho \cos\phi$ and $p = \sqrt{2}\rho \sin\phi$.

4 Conclusions

We have obtained analytic expressions for the one-particle case of the GTC model. The energy spectrum is an infinite ladder of three-level steps, each of them with a definite value for the total number of excitations M, together with the corresponding dressed states. A construction of crystallised-type Schrödinger states were exhibited for arbitrary dipolar strengths and whether or not the system is under resonant conditions with the field. The cyclic point symmetry group associated to the Husimi function of the electromagnetic field depends only on $|M_1 - M_2|$. It is important to mention that the results presented here can be extended to any number of particles, and to situations out of resonance. These extensions have been proved numerically by considering the evolution of a linear combination of states with M_1 and M_2 total number of excitations and by constructing the corresponding Husimi function [27]. Additionally, we conjecture that it can be generalised to *n*-level atoms.

Acknowledgements This work was partially supported by CONACyT-México (under Project No. 238494), and DGAPA-UNAM (under Projects No. IN101614 and No. IN110114).

Appendix

The evolution operator associated to the Hamiltonian (1) can be obtained in analytic form for the different atomic configurations. It has the form $U(t) = e^{-iMt} U_I(t)$ with the last factor denoting the evolution operator in the interaction picture. The matrix elements needed in Eq. (7) are given by

$$\begin{split} &U_{M_{\Xi}}(t)_{13} = -\sqrt{M_{\Xi}(M_{\Xi}-1)}\,\mu_{12}\,\mu_{23}\,\frac{1-\cos\Omega_{\Xi}t}{\Omega_{\Xi}^{2}}\,,\\ &U_{M_{\Xi}}(t)_{23} = -i\,\sqrt{M_{\Xi}}\,\mu_{12}\,\frac{\sin\Omega_{\Xi}t}{\Omega_{\Xi}}\,,\quad U_{M_{\Xi}}(t)_{33} = \frac{(M_{\Xi}-1)\,\mu_{23}^{2}+M_{\Xi}\,\mu_{12}^{2}\cos\Omega_{\Xi}t}{\Omega_{\Xi}^{2}}\,,\\ &U_{M_{V}}(t)_{13} = \frac{-i\,\mu_{13}\,\sin\Omega_{V}t}{\sqrt{\mu_{12}^{2}+\mu_{13}^{2}}}\,,\quad U_{M_{V}}(t)_{23} = \frac{-i\,\mu_{12}\,\sin\Omega_{V}t}{\sqrt{\mu_{12}^{2}+\mu_{13}^{2}}}\,,\quad U_{M_{V}}(t)_{33} = \cos\Omega_{V}t\,,\\ &U_{M_{A}}(t)_{13} = \frac{i\,\mu_{13}\,\sin\Omega_{A}t}{\sqrt{\mu_{13}^{2}+\mu_{23}^{2}}}\,,\quad U_{M_{A}}(t)_{23} = \frac{-\mu_{13}\,\mu_{23}\,(1-\cos\Omega_{A}t)}{\mu_{13}^{2}+\mu_{23}^{2}}\,,\\ &U_{M_{A}}(t)_{33} = \frac{\mu_{23}^{2}+\mu_{13}^{2}\cos\Omega_{A}t}{\mu_{13}^{2}+\mu_{23}^{2}}\,. \end{split}$$

Note that for the V- and Λ -configurations the dependence in the total number of excitations appears only in the argument of the trigonometric functions.

References

- 1. R. H. Dicke, Phys. Rev. 93 (1954) 99.
- O. Castaños, Supersymmetry in the Jaynes-Cummings Model, AIP Conference Proceedings, Vol. 1540, 2012.
- 3. Y. Zhang, et al, Phys. Rev A 83 (2011), 065802.
- 4. M. Tavis and F. W. Cummings, Phys. Rev. 170 (1968), 379.
- 5. E. Schrödinger, Naturwissenschaften, 23 (1935), 844.
- 6. B. Yurke and D. Stoler, Phys. Rev. Lett., 57 (1986), 13.
- 7. V. V. Dodonov, I. A. Malkin, and V. I. Man'ko, Physica, 72 (1974), 597.
- 8. D. F. Walls, Nature, 306 (1983), 141.
- 9. J. N. Hollenhorst, Phys. Rev. D, 19 (1979), 1669.
- 10. H. P. Yuen, Phys. Rev. A, 13 (1976), 2226.
- 11. M. M. Nieto and D. R. Truax, Phys. Rev. Lett., 71 (1993), 2843.
- 12. R. J. Glauber, Phys. Rev., 130 (1963), 2529.
- 13. E. C. G. Sudarshan, Phys. Rev. Lett., 10 (1963), 227.
- 14. J. R. Klauder, J. Math. Phys., 4 (1963), 1055.
- 15. O. Castaños, R. López-Peña, V. I. Manôko, J. Russ. Laser Research 16 (1995), 477-525.
- 16. O Castaños and J A López-Saldívar, J. of Phys.: Conf. Ser. 380 (2012), 012017.
- 17. B. M Garraway and P. L. Knight, Phys. Rev. A 49 (1994), 1266.
- 18. S. Song, C. M. Caves, and B. Yurke, Phys. Rev. A 41 (1990), 1942.
- 19. B. Yurke, W. Schleich, and D. Walls, Phys. Rev. A 42 (1990), 1703.
- 20. J. Gea Banacloche, Phys. Rev. Lett. 65 (1990), 3385.
- M. Brune, S. Haroche, J. M. Raymond, L. Davidovich, and N. Zagury, Phys. Rev. A 45 (1992), 5193.
- 22. V. Buzek, H. Moya-Cessa, P. L. Knight, and J. D. Phoenix, Phys. Rev. A 45 (1992), 8190.
- 23. S. Cordero, O. Castaños, R. López-Peña and E. Nahmad-Achar, J. Phys. A 46 (2013), 505302.
- 24. H.I.Yoo and J.H.Eberly, Phys.Rep. 118 (1985), 239.
- 25. O. Castaños, S. Cordero, R. López-Peña and E. Nahmad-Achar, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. **512** (2014), 012006.
- 26. H. Walther, B. H. T. Varcoe, B.-G. Englert, and T. Becker, Rep. Prog. Phys. **69** (2006), 1325 (and references therein).
- 27. E. Nahmad-Achar, S. Cordero, O. Castaños and R. López-Peña (in preparation).

Immanants of unitary matrices and their submatrices

Dylan Spivak and Hubert de Guise

Abstract Motivated by recent experiments, we discuss the connection between immanants of an arbitrary $m \times m$ unitary matrix U and group functions D of U. This connection also applies to submatrices of U and can be expanded with modifications to cases where U carries a representation of SU(m) that is not the defining representation. Early results on the connections to twisted immanants are also included.

1 Introduction and motivation

In this paper we discuss the connection between immanants of matrices and submatrices and group functions *D* that occur in the representation theory of the unitary groups. Our work is motivated by recent experiments where controllable distinguishability of pulses was shown to be related to permutation properties of these pulses, and through Schur-Weyl duality to immanants of submatrices of the scattering matrix describing the interferometer in which the pulses propagate. We extend previously published work [1] to observations where multiple pulses can enter input channels of the interferometer and show that immanants of some specific nonunitary matrices are nevertheless connected with unitary group functions. Finally, we include a short discussion of twisted immanants and their connections to unitary group functions.

Littlewood [2] has defined the immanant using characters of an irreducible representation (irrep) $\{\lambda\}$ of the permutation group. For a 3×3 matrix, the relevant permutation group is S_3 and an immanant is given by

Dylan Spivak

Hubert de Guise

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Department of Physics, Lakehead University, Thunder Bay ON P7B5E1 Canada, e-mail: djspivak@lakeheadu.ca

Department of Physics, Lakehead University, Thunder Bay ON P7B5E1 Canada, e-mail: hubert.deguise@lakeheadu.ca

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_18

Imm<sup>{
$$\lambda$$</sup>}(U) = $\sum_{\sigma} \chi_{\sigma}^{\{\lambda\}} U_{1\sigma(1)} U_{2\sigma(2)} U_{3\sigma(3)} = \sum_{\sigma} \chi_{\sigma}^{\{\lambda\}} P(\sigma) [U_{11} U_{22} U_{33}].$ (1)

conjugacy class	$\{1, 1, 1\}$	$\{2, 1\}$	{3}
	1	1	1
	2	0	-1
	1	-1	1

Table 1: The character table of S_3 .

From the character table above and Eq.(1) one rapidly finds that in addition to the fully antisymmetric determinant $\text{Det}(U) := \text{Imm}^{\square}(U)$, we also have a *permanent* $\text{Per}(U) = \text{Imm}^{\square\square}(U)$ given by $\sum_{\sigma \in S_3} U_{1\sigma(1)} U_{2\sigma(2)} U_{3\sigma(3)}$ and a generic immanant $\text{Imm}^{\square}(U) = 2U_{11}U_{22}U_{33} - U_{12}U_{23}U_{31} - U_{13}U_{21}U_{32}$. Unlike the permanent or the determinant, which are associated with 1-dimensional irreps of the permutation group, $\text{Imm}^{\square}(U)$ does not transform into a multiple of itself under permutations of row or columns.

If the matrix U is the fundamental representation of a group, say the irrep (1,0) of SU(3) with Young diagram \Box for example, U_{ij} is the group function

$$U_{ij} = \langle i|U|j\rangle := D_{ij}^{(1,0)}(U) = D_{ij}^{\Box}(U)$$
(2)

where $\{|j\rangle, j = 1, 2, 3\}$ is a basis for this irrep. It is appropriate at this point to introduce basis states for a general SU(3) irrep labelled by the non-negative integers $(p,q): |(p,q)v_1v_2v_3; I_{23}\rangle$. These states can be conveniently realized as harmonic oscillator states [3]. The weight of the state $|(p,q)v_1v_2v_3; I_{23}\rangle$ is $[v_1 - v_2, v_2 - v_3]$ and I_{23} labels states with the same weight but transforming differently under the $SU(2) \subset SU(3)$ subgroup which mixes v_2 and v_3 .

In this notation an immanant is then a sum of products of $D^{(1,0)}$ functions:

$$\operatorname{Imm}^{\amalg}(U) = 2D_{11}^{\Box}(U)D_{22}^{\Box}(U)D_{33}^{\Box}(U) -D_{12}^{\Box}(U)D_{23}^{\Box}(U)D_{31}^{\Box}(U) - D_{13}^{\Box}(U)D_{21}^{\Box}(U)D_{32}^{\Box}(U),$$
(3)

which can be rewritten in a D-function-like notation

$$\operatorname{Imm}^{\{\lambda\}}(U) = {}_{1}\langle (1,0)100 | \otimes {}_{2}\langle (1,0)100 | \otimes {}_{3}\langle (1,0)100 | U \\ \times \left[\sum_{\sigma} \chi_{\sigma}^{\{\lambda\}} P_{\sigma} \right] |(1,0)100\rangle_{1} \otimes |(1,0)010\rangle_{2} \otimes |(1,0)001\rangle_{3}$$
(4)

provided we supply a recipe for the action of the permutation group. Indeed there are two such actions: a right action

$$P_{123}|1\rangle_1|2\rangle_2|3\rangle_3 = |2\rangle_1|3\rangle_2|(1\rangle_3,$$
(5)

and a left action (by the inverse element) $\bar{P}_{132}|1\rangle_1|2\rangle_2|3\rangle_3 = |1\rangle_3|2\rangle_1|3\rangle_2$.

Products like $D_{11}^{\Box}(U)D_{22}^{\Box}(U)D_{33}^{\Box}(U)$ can be expanded in a sum of group functions in the decompositon $(1,0) \otimes (1,0) \otimes (1,0) = (3,0) \oplus 2(1,1) \oplus (0,0)$, but the operator $\hat{\Pi}^{\{\lambda\}} := \sum_{\sigma} \chi_{\sigma}^{\{\lambda\}} P_{\sigma}$ is nothing but a projection on the irrep $\{\lambda\} = \{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3\}$ of S_3 corresponding to irrep $(\lambda) := (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2, \lambda_2 - \lambda_3)$. In view of this one can write for instance the general expression

$$\operatorname{Imm}^{\bigoplus}(U) = \alpha_{11} D_{(111)1;(111)1}^{\bigoplus}(U) + \alpha_{10} D_{(111)1;(111)0}^{\bigoplus}(U) + \alpha_{01} D_{(111)0;(111)1}^{\bigoplus}(U) + \alpha_{00} D_{(111)0;(111)0}^{\bigoplus}(U),$$
(6)
$$D_{(111)I_{23};(111)I'_{23}}^{\bigoplus}(U) := D_{(111)I_{23};(111)I'_{23}}^{(1,1)}(U) = \langle (1,1)111; I_{23}|U|(1,1)111; I'_{23} \rangle.$$

The general form of Eq.(6) is correct. Indeed, from a corollary of a theorem due to Kostant [4], we find: $\alpha_{11} = \alpha_{00} = 1$ and $\alpha_{10} = \alpha_{01} = 0$. We can extend this result to states with non-zero weights by looking at a 3 × 3 submatrix

$$\bar{U} = \begin{pmatrix} \cdot & \cdot & \cdot & \cdot \\ \cdot & U_{22} & U_{23} & U_{24} \\ \cdot & U_{32} & U_{33} & U_{34} \\ \cdot & U_{42} & U_{43} & U_{44} \end{pmatrix},$$
(7)

obtained from \overline{U} by removing the first line and first row, to find a form very similar to the same result for the 3 × 3 matrix [5]:

$$\operatorname{Imm}^{\textcircled{}}(\bar{U}) = D^{\textcircled{}}_{(0111)1;(0111)1}(\bar{U}) + D^{\textcircled{}}_{(0111)0;(0111)0}(\bar{U}).$$
(8)

Symmetry restricts the terms in Eq.(6) as $\text{Imm}^{\{\lambda\}}$ is invariant under conjugation by permutations: $\text{Imm}^{\{\lambda\}} = P_{\tau}^{-1}\text{Imm}^{\{\lambda\}}P_{\tau}$. We note that states $|(\lambda)v;I=0\rangle$ are I=0 singlets so antisymmetric w/r to P_{23} , while the states $|(\lambda)v;I=1\rangle$ are in I=1triplets so symmetric w/r to P_{23} . Thus for instance $\langle (\lambda)v';1|P_{23}^{-1}UP_{23}|(\lambda)v;0\rangle = -D_{(v')1;(v)0}^{\{\lambda\}}(U)$, from which $\alpha_{01} = \alpha_{10} = 0$ follows.

When the submatrix is not principal diagonal, the proof of [5] or the previous line of argument does not apply but we nevertheless find a similar result:

$$\operatorname{Imm}^{\bigoplus}(U_{234;134}) = D_{(0111)1;(1011)1/2}^{\bigoplus}(U) + D_{(0111)0;(1011)1/2}^{\bigoplus}(U),$$

= Imm^{\bigoplus}(U_{234;P_{12}(234)}). (9)

It is conjectured in [5] that the result on submatrices holds for generic submatrices with suitable minor changes.

Finally, suppose the matrix U is *not* the fundamental representation. For instance, consider the 4×4 irrep of SU(2) (J = 3/2). The irrep $\{2,2\}$ of S_4 has dim=2 and can be expanded in terms of SU(2) Wigner $D_{mm'}^J$ functions. One can verify that,

Imm^{$$\boxplus$$} $(U) = \frac{26}{35} D_{00}^4(U) + \frac{6}{7} D_{00}^2(U) + \frac{2}{5} D_{00}^0(U).$ (10)

The values J = 4, 2, 0 are those that occur in the (outer) plethysm $(3/2) \otimes_{\emptyset} \{2, 2\}$. The sum $\frac{26}{35} + \frac{6}{7} + \frac{2}{5} = 2 = \dim(\boxplus)$. More complicated cases, i.e., immanants of the 6-dimensional irrep (2, 0) of SU(3) also have similar expressions [5]. We have no good way of analytically obtaining the coefficients in the expansion of the *D*'s.

2 Application to interferometry

Imagine a scenario in which a 2-channel linear interferometer is injected with simultaneous three photon pulses in one port and a pair of simultaneous pulses in the other port. The relative delay between the pulses entering different input ports can be adjusted by an experimentalist. What is the rate $P(\tau)$ as a function of the relative delay τ at which triples of photon pulses come out at one of the two output ports and pairs of pulses at the other?

The rate $P(\tau)$ can be expressed [1] in a scalar product-like form $P(\tau) = \mathbf{v}^{\dagger} \cdot R(\tau) \cdot \mathbf{v}$. The vector **v** is a polynomial in the entries U_{ij} , i, j = 1, 2 of the 2 × 2 unitary matrix describing the scattering of individual pulses.

We approach this problem by first considering the action of S_5 on the permutations of (1,1,1,2,2). There are 10 possible permutations (or words), one such word is (1,2,1,1,2). If the final word is (a,b,c,d,e), we identify with it the polynomial $U_{1a}U_{1b}U_{1c}U_{2d}U_{2e}$ as one entry in the vector **v**. As there are 10 distinct words to be constructed from (1,1,1,2,2), we obtain a 10×10 rate matrix $R(\tau)$ which is reducible under S_5 as the partitions of 5 with at most 2 parts: $\Box \Box \Box \oplus \Box \oplus \Box \oplus \Box \oplus \Box$. One can obtain the rates and the rate matrix starting from the the 10×10 matrix \overline{U} constructed by repeating the 2×2 scattering matrix U:

$$\bar{U} = \begin{pmatrix} U \ U \ U \ U \ U \ U \\ \vdots \ \vdots \ \vdots \ \vdots \\ U \ U \ U \ U \ U \end{pmatrix}.$$
(11)

The matrix \bar{U} is neither unitary nor invertible; nevertheless $Per(\bar{U}) = Imm^{(1)}(\bar{U}) = 14400D_{00}^5(U)$ is related to an SU(2) *D*-function for J = 5; the coincidence rate P(0) when all bosons are indistinguishable is proportional to the modulus square of this permanent.

3 Fermionic version

Suppose now we consider the interference of fermions in the simple case where three fermions enter an interferometer by different channels and output also by different channels. In the matrix $R(\tau)$ we insert a – sign in row $U_{1\sigma(1)}U_{2\sigma(2)}U_{3\sigma(3)}$ and column $U_{1\sigma'(1)}U_{2\sigma'(2)}U_{3\sigma'(3)}$ if $\sigma \cdot \sigma'$ is a product of an odd number of transpositions. The final rate is an expression of the form

Immanants of unitary matrices and their submatrices

$$R(\tau) = \mathbb{1}_{6\times 6} - \rho_{12} e^{-(\tau_1 - \tau_2)^2} - \rho_{13} e^{-(\tau_1 - \tau_3)^2} - \rho_{23} e^{-(\tau_2 - \tau_3)^2} + (\rho_{123} + \rho_{132}) e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\tau_1 - \tau_2)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\tau_1 - \tau_3)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\tau_2 - \tau_3)^2},$$
(12)

where ρ_{ij} and ρ_{ijk} are 6×6 matrices that carry the regular representation of S_3 . For bosons, $\rho_{12} = \rho_{13} = \rho_{23} = +1$ but the anticommutative nature of fermion leads to a sign that is the character of σ in alternating representation Γ^{\ddagger} .

The regular representation of S_3 decomposes into $\Gamma^{\text{reg.}} = \Gamma^{\Box\Box\Box} \oplus 2\Gamma^{\Box\Box} \oplus \Gamma^{\Box}$. The effect of anticommutativity, encoded in Γ^{\Box} , is to transform every irrep into its conjugate since $\Box\Box \otimes \Box = \Box$, $\Box \otimes \Box = \Box$, $\Box \otimes \Box = \Box$. As a result, what corresponds to a permanent for bosons now corresponds to a determinant for fermions etc., and some features of the landscapes are reversed, as illustrated in Fig.(1):



Fig. 1: Comparing a bosonic coincidence landscape (left) with a fermionic coincidence landscape (right) for the same 3×3 scattering matrix. The two axes of the landscape correspond to variable relative delays (τ_1, τ_3) between the first and second, and second and third pulses respectively.

Itoh [6] introduced the concept of *twisted immanant* for self-conjugate irreps. For instance, we have for \square :

Imm^{*}
$$\square(U) = i\sqrt{3}U_{12}U_{23}U_{31} - i\sqrt{3}U_{13}U_{21}U_{32},$$

= $i\sqrt{3}$ ([even 3-cycle] - [odd 3-cycle]). (13)

(Here, even and odd refer to the inversion number of the cycle.)

The self-conjugate irreps of S_n split in two irreps under the alternating subgroup $A_n \subset S_n$. More generally $\text{Imm}^{\star\{\lambda\}}(U)$ picks up a sign under conjugation by odd elements:

$$P_{\sigma^{-1}}\operatorname{Imm}^{*\{\lambda\}}(U)P_{\sigma} = \begin{cases} +\operatorname{Imm}^{*\{\lambda\}}(U) & \text{if } \sigma \in A_n, \\ -\operatorname{Imm}^{*\{\lambda\}}(U) & \text{if } \sigma \notin A_n. \end{cases}$$
(14)

One can express twisted immanants in terms of SU(3) *D*-functions:

Imm^{*}
$$\square(U) = -i \left(D_{(111)0;(111)1}^{\square}(U) - D_{(111)1;(111)0}^{\square}(U) \right).$$
 (15)

A similar expression holds in SU(4): Imm^{*⊞} $(U) \propto D_{(1111)1;(1111)0}^{\boxplus} - D_{(1111)0;(1111)1}^{\boxplus}$. The antisymmetry of Eq.(14) implies that the twisted immanants will have a *D*-

The antisymmetry of Eq.(14) implies that the twisted immanants will have a *D*-function expansion where the input and output states are conjugate. We can visualize this by constructing states that are labelled by S_k states, and by duality, associate them with SU(k) states. For the SU(5) states in the self-conjugate irrep \square , we have

$$\mathbb{P} = \begin{cases} \downarrow \mathbb{P} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \downarrow \mathbb{P} & \downarrow \mathbb{P} \\ \downarrow \mathbb$$

The requirements of antisymmetry under transposition now dictate that we consider

$$\operatorname{Imm}^{\star \text{FP}} = \alpha_{16}D_{1;6}^{\text{FP}} + \alpha_{61}D_{6;1}^{\text{FP}} + \alpha_{25}D_{2;5}^{\text{FP}} + \alpha_{52}D_{5;2}^{\text{FP}} + \alpha_{34}D_{3;4}^{\text{FP}} + \alpha_{43}D_{4;3}^{\text{FP}}.$$
 (16)

Indeed we find $\alpha_{16} = \alpha_{61} = \alpha_{25} = \alpha_{52} = \alpha_{34} = \alpha_{43} = 1$.

What of rates in fermion interferometry? The boson rates are proportional to modulus squared of *linear combinations* of immanants. The fermion rates are proportional to modulus squared of *linear combinations* of twisted immanants when self-conjugate irreps occur. The linear combos of twisted immanants are also linear combos of regular immanants. As a result, there seems to be nothing fundamentally new in the fermionic rates, unless we find a scheme where only one immanant (or twisted immanant) occurs in the expression of the rates.

4 Conclusion

We note the deep connection between group functions, immanants, twisted immanants and multiphoton interferometry. This appears to be a subset of relations within the Schur-Weyl duality for irreps of U(m) and the permutation group S_n . This work was supported by NSERC of Canada, and by Lakehead University.

References

- de Guise H, et al., Phys Rev A 89 (2014), 063819; Tillmann M, et al., Phys Rev X 5 (2015), 041015; Tan S-H, et al., Phys Rev Let. 110 (2013), 113603.
- 2. Littlewood D E, *The theory of group characters and matrix representations of groups* Vol. 357. American Mathematical Soc., 1950.
- 3. Rowe D J, Sanders B C, and de Guise H, J Math Phys 40 (1999), 3604-3615.
- 4. Kostant B, Immanant inequalities and 0-weight spaces, J Am Math Soc 8 (1995), 181-186.
- 5. de Guise H, et al., J Phys A: Math Theo 49 (2016), 09LT01.
- 6. Itoh M, Linear and Multilinear Algebra 64 (2016), 1637–1653.

Group theoretical aspects of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$, $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and associated Laguerre polynomials

Enrico Celeghini and Mariano A. del Olmo

Abstract A ladder algebraic structure for $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$ which closes the Lie algebra $h(1) \oplus h(1)$, where h(1) is the Heisenberg-Weyl algebra, is presented in terms of a basis of associated Laguerre polynomials. Using the Schwinger method, the quadratic generators that span the alternative Lie algebras so(3), so(2,1) and so(3,2) are also constructed. These families of (pseudo) orthogonal algebras also allow us to obtain unitary irreducible representations in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ similar to those in spherical harmonics.

1 Introduction

The associated Laguerre polynomials (ALP) [1], $L_n^{(\alpha)}(x)$ ($x \in [0,\infty)$, n = 0, 1, 2, ... and α real fixed parameter, continuous and > -1), are defined by the 2nd order differential equation (DE)

$$\left[x\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + (1+\alpha - x)\frac{d}{dx} + n\right]L_n^{(\alpha)}(x) = 0.$$
 (1)

The ALPs reduce to the Laguerre polynomials for $\alpha = 0$. From the many recurrence relations that they verify [1, 1, 2], we start from the following:

$$\left[-\frac{d}{dx}+1\right]L_{n}^{(\alpha)}(x) = L_{n}^{(\alpha+1)}(x), \quad \left[x\frac{d}{dx}+\alpha\right]L_{n}^{(\alpha)}(x) = (n+\alpha)L_{n}^{(\alpha-1)}(x).$$
(2)

E. Celeghini

Dipartimento di Fisica, Università di Firenze and INFN–Sezione di Firenze, Firenze, Italy, Departamento de Física Teórica, Universidad de Valladolid, E-47005, Valladolid, Spain e-mail: celeghini@fi.infn.it

M.A. del Olmo

Dpto de Física Teórica and IMUVA, Universidad de Valladolid, E-47005, Valladolid, Spain e-mail: olmo@fta.uva.es

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_19
For $\alpha > -1$ and fixed, the ALP $L_n^{(\alpha)}(r)$ are orthogonal in the label *n* with respect to the weight measure $d\mu(x) = x^{\alpha} e^{-x} dx$

$$\int_0^\infty dx \, x^\alpha \, e^{-x} L_n^{(\alpha)}(x) \, L_{n'}^{(\alpha)}(x) \, = \, \frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}{n!} \, \delta_{nn'}.$$

For an integer α such that $0 \le \alpha \le n$, we have the generalization [1] $L_n^{(-\alpha)}(x) := \frac{\Gamma(n-\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(n+1)} (-x)^{\alpha} L_{n-\alpha}^{(\alpha)}(x)$. Hereafter we assume here $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$, $n - \alpha \in \mathbb{N}$, and we consider α as a label, like *n*, and not a parameter fixed at the beginning.

Following the approach of previous works [4–7], we introduce now a set of alternative functions including also the weight measure in such a way as to obtain the orthonormal bases we are used to in quantum mechanics:

$$M_n^{(\alpha)}(x) := \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(n+1)}{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}} x^{\alpha/2} e^{-x/2} L_n^{(\alpha)}(x)$$

For each fixed value of $\alpha \ge -n$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the set of $M_n^{(\alpha)}(x)$, is a basis of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$

$$\int_0^\infty M_n^{(\alpha)}(x) \ M_m^{(\alpha)}(x) \ dx = \delta_{nm}, \qquad \sum_{n=0}^\infty M_n^{(\alpha)}(x) \ M_n^{(\alpha)}(x') = \delta(x-x').$$

2 The symmetry algebra $h(1)_n \oplus h(1)_p$

The eqs. (2) rewritten in terms of $M_n^{(\alpha)}$ take the form

$$\begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{x}\frac{d}{dx} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{x}}(\alpha + x) \end{bmatrix} M_n^{(\alpha)}(x) = \sqrt{n + \alpha + 1} M_n^{(\alpha + 1)}(x),$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{x}\frac{d}{dx} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{x}}(\alpha + x) \end{bmatrix} M_n^{(\alpha)}(x) = \sqrt{n + \alpha} M_n^{(\alpha - 1)}(x),$$
(3)

where $p := n + \alpha$ plays, for *n* fixed, the role of eigenvalue of the number operator in a Heisenberg-Weyl algebra, h(1), realized on the space of functions $M_n^{\alpha}(x)$. It is indeed a positive integer like *n*, so that we can define the new functions $\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x) := M_n^{(p-n)}(x)$, which by inspection are symmetric in the interchange $n \Leftrightarrow p$, i.e., $\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x) = (-1)^{p-n} \mathcal{M}_{p,n}(x)$. The previous recurrence relations (3) can thus be rewritten as

$$\begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{x}\frac{d}{dx} + \frac{\sqrt{x}}{2} + \frac{p-n}{2\sqrt{x}} \end{bmatrix} \mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = \sqrt{p+1} \mathscr{M}_{n,p+1}(x),$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{x}\frac{d}{dx} + \frac{\sqrt{x}}{2} + \frac{p-n}{2\sqrt{x}} \end{bmatrix} \mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = \sqrt{p} \mathscr{M}_{n,p-1}(x).$$
(4)

Group theoretical aspects of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$, $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and associated Laguerre polynomials

To construct the operatorial structure corresponding to the recurrence relations we define now four operators X, D_x , N and P:

$$X \mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x) = x \mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x), \qquad D_x \mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x) = \frac{d\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)}{dx},$$
$$N \mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x) = n \mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x), \qquad P \mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x) = p \mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)$$

Then, the second order DE(1) becomes

$$\mathbb{E}\,\mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = 0\,,\tag{5}$$

.

where

$$\mathbb{E} := XD_x^2 + D_x + \frac{N+P+1}{2} - \frac{1}{4X}(P-N)^2 - \frac{X}{4}.$$

Moreover from (4) we get the differential operators (DOs),

$$\mathbf{b}^{\pm} := \mp \sqrt{X} D_x + \frac{\sqrt{X}}{2} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{X}} (P - N), \qquad (6)$$

that act on the functions $\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)$ in such a way that $\Delta n = 0$ and $\Delta p = \pm 1$. Since $[\mathbf{b}^-, \mathbf{b}^+] = \mathbb{I}$, they close an h(1) algebra, $(h(1)_p)$ with quadratic Casimir $\mathscr{C}_p = \{\mathbf{b}^-, \mathbf{b}^+\} - 2(P+1/2)$ verifying $\mathscr{C}_p \mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x) = -2\mathbb{E}\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x) = 0$.

Now taking into account the symmetry under the interchange $n \Leftrightarrow p$ of $\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)$, we can define the operators $\mathbf{a}^{\pm}(N,P) := -\mathbf{b}^{\pm}(P,N)$ that change the labels of $\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)$ as $\Delta p = 0$ and $\Delta n = \pm 1$. Their explicit action on $\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)$ is indeed

$$\mathbf{a}^+ \, \mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = \sqrt{n+1} \, \mathscr{M}_{n+1,p}(x) \,, \qquad \mathbf{a}^- \, \mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = \sqrt{n} \, \mathscr{M}_{n-1,p}(x) \,.$$

The two operators \mathbf{a}^{\pm} determine thus another HW algebra, $h(1)_n$. Since these bosonic operators \mathbf{a}^{\pm} and \mathbf{b}^{\pm} commute we have obtained in this way the global algebra $h(1)_n \oplus h(1)_p$.

Moreover inside the Universal Enveloping Algebra $UEA[h(1)_n \oplus h(1)_p]$ other algebras preserving the parity of n + p can be found by the Schwinger procedure [8] as we will do in the next section.

3 so(3), so(2,1) and so(3,2) symmetries

so(3) symmetry

We start from $J_{\pm} := \mathbf{a}_{\pm} \mathbf{b}_{\mp}$, obtaining second order DOs which, taking into account eq. (5), can be rewritten in the space $\{\mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x)\}$ as first order DOs:

$$J_{\pm} = \mp D_x \left(N - P \pm 1 \right) + \frac{1}{2X} \left(N - P \pm 1 \right) \left(N - P \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(N + P + 1 \right).$$
(7)

Defining $J_3 := (\mathbf{a}_- \mathbf{a}_+ - \mathbf{b}_- \mathbf{b}_+)/2 \equiv (N - P)/2$ we see that $\{J_{\pm}, J_3\}$ closes a su(2) algebra in the space $\{\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)\}$ since $[J_+, J_-] = 2J_3 - \frac{8}{\chi}J_3\mathbb{E}$. The action of J_{\pm} is

$$J_{+} \mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = \sqrt{(n+1) p} \mathscr{M}_{n+1,p-1}(x), \quad J_{-} \mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = \sqrt{n(p+1)} \mathscr{M}_{n-1,p+1}(x).$$

Also the Casimir of su(2), $\mathcal{C}_{su(2)} = J_3^2 + \frac{1}{2}\{J_+, J_-\}$ is closely related to eq. (5) as $\mathcal{C}_{su(2)} = J(J+1) + \frac{1}{X}(4J_3^2+1)\mathbb{E}$, where J is the diagonal operator J := (N+P)/2.

so(2,1) symmetry

In a similar way we can define the operators $K_{\pm} := \mathbf{a}_{\pm} \mathbf{b}_{\pm}$, such as in the case of the operators J_{\pm} , we find in the space $\{\mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x)\}$

$$K_{+} = X D_{x} + \frac{1}{2} (N + P + 2 - X), \qquad K_{-} = -X D_{x} + \frac{1}{2} (N + P - X).$$
(8)

Both operators together with $K_3 := (\mathbf{a}_- \mathbf{a}_+ + \mathbf{b}_+ \mathbf{b}_-)/2 \equiv (N + P + 1)/2$ determine a *su*(1,1) algebra

$$[K_3, K_{\pm}] = \pm K_{\pm}, \qquad [K_+, K_-] = -2K_3,$$

since the action on the functions $\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)$ is

$$K_{+} \mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = \sqrt{(n+1)(p+1)} \mathscr{M}_{n+1,p+1}(x), \quad K_{-} \mathscr{M}_{n,p}(x) = \sqrt{np} \mathscr{M}_{n-1,p-1}(x).$$

The Casimir of su(1,1), $\mathcal{C}_{su(1,1)} = K_3^2 - \frac{1}{2}\{K_+, K_-\}$, is also connected with eq. (5) as $\mathcal{C}_{su(1,1)} = (M^2 - \frac{1}{4}) + X \mathbb{E}$, where $M = J_3 := (N - P)/2$.

More so(2,1) symmetries

The commutators of J_{\pm} and K_{\pm} give the new operators

$$R_{\pm} := \pm [J_{\pm}, K_{\pm}], \qquad S_{\pm} := \pm [J_{\mp}, K_{\pm}].$$

Provided that we define $R_3 := J + M + 1/2$ and $S_3 := J - M + 1/2$, they close two so(2, 1) algebras with commutators

$$[R_+, R_-] = -4R_3, \qquad [R_3, R_\pm] = \pm 2R_\pm,$$

and Casimir $\mathscr{C}_R = R_3^2 - \frac{1}{2} \{R_+, R_-\} = -\frac{3}{4} + \frac{1}{X} (1 + (X + 2M)^2) \mathbb{E}$, similarly for $\{S_{\pm}, S_3\}$. Note that under the interchange $m \leftrightarrow -m$ we have $\{R_{\pm}, R_3\} \leftrightarrow \{S_{\pm}, S_3\}$.

so(3,2) symmetry

All the operators $\{K_{\pm}, L_{\pm}, R_{\pm}, S_{\pm}, J, M\}$ can be written on the space $\{\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)\}$ as first order DOs. All together they determine on $\{\mathcal{M}_{n,p}(x)\}$ the representation of the Lie algebra so(3,2) with $C_2^{so(3,2)} = -5/4$.

4 Representations of so(3), so(2,1) and so(3,2) on the plane

We introduce now the operators directly related to so(3), J := (N+P)/2 and $J_3 \equiv M := (N-P)/2$, and we define

$$\mathscr{L}_{j}^{m}(x) := \mathscr{M}_{j+m,j-m}(x) = \sqrt{\frac{(j+m)!}{(j-m)!}} x^{-m} e^{-x/2} L_{j+m}^{(-2m)}(x)$$

The operators J_3 and J_{\pm} (7), rewritten in terms of J and M, act on $\{\mathscr{L}_i^m(x)\}$ as

$$J_3 \mathscr{L}_j^m(x) = m \mathscr{L}_j^m(x), \quad J_{\pm} \mathscr{L}_j^m(x) = \sqrt{(j \pm m)(j \pm m + 1)} \mathscr{L}_j^{m \pm 1}(x).$$

So, $\{\mathscr{L}_i^m(x)\}$ with $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $|m| \leq j$ supports the representation \mathscr{D}_j of so(3).

Similar results can be obtained for the other algebras so(2,1) and so(3,2). For instance, for the so(2,1) spanned by $\{K_{\pm}, K_3\}$, $\{\mathscr{L}_j^m(x)\}$ supports the irreducible representation of the discrete series with Casimir $\mathscr{C}_{su(1,1)} := m^2 - \frac{1}{4}$ with *m* fixed and $j \ge |m|$.

On the other hand, in general these representations are not faithful because $\mathscr{L}_{j}^{m}(x) = \mathscr{L}_{j}^{-m}(x)$. The same difficulty is also present in the spherical harmonic where the associated Legendre polynomial P_{l}^{m} is related to P_{l}^{-m} . There the degeneration was removed by introducing an angle variable. Here we follow the same procedure by considering the new functions,

$$\mathscr{Z}_j^m(r,\phi) := e^{im\phi}\, \mathscr{L}_j^m(r^2)\,, \qquad \phi \in \mathbb{R}\,, -\pi \leq \phi < \pi\,.$$

Under the change of variable $x \rightarrow r^2$ the DE (5) becomes

$$\left[\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{d}{dr} - \frac{4m^2}{r^2} - r^2 + 4(j + \frac{1}{2})\right] \mathscr{Z}_j^m(r, \phi) = 0.$$

Normalization and orthogonality of the $\mathscr{Z}_i^m(r,\phi)$ are similar to those of $Y_i^m(\theta,\phi)$

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\phi \int_{0}^{\infty} 2r \, dr \, \mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m}(r,\phi)^{*} \, \mathscr{Z}_{j'}^{m'}(r,\phi) = \delta_{j,j'} \, \delta_{m,m'} ,$$

$$\sum_{j,m} \, \mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m}(r,\phi)^{*} \, \mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m}(r',\phi') = \frac{\pi}{r} \, \delta(r-r') \, \delta(\phi-\phi') .$$

This means that the set $\{\mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m}(r, \phi)\}$ is a basis in the space of square integrable functions defined on the plane $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})$, as $\{Y_{i}^{m}(\Omega)\}$ is a basis of $L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2})$.

Moreover, with a convenient introduction of phases we can define the operators $\mathbb{J}_{\pm} := e^{\pm i\phi} J_{\pm}$ and $\mathbb{J}_3 := J_3$, in the finite dimensional space $\{\mathscr{Z}_j^m(r,\phi)\}$ wih fixed j

$$\mathbb{J}_{\pm} \ \mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m}(r,\phi) = \sqrt{(j \pm m)(j \pm m + 1)} \ \mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m \pm 1}(r,\phi) \,, \quad \mathbb{J}_{3} \ \mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m}(r,\phi) = m \ \mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m}(r,\phi) \,,$$

and analogously for the remaining operators. So $\{\mathscr{Z}_{j}^{m}(r,\phi)\}\$ support irreducible representations of so(3), so(2,1) and so(3,2) on the plane as $\{Y_{j}^{m}(\theta,\phi)\}\$ are on the sphere. For more details see [7,9,10].

From the physical point of view, in spite of the analogy with the angular momentum, \mathbb{J}_{\pm} and \mathbb{J}_3 can be related to a one-dimensional Morse system, where *m* and *j* are connected with the potential [9].

Conclusions

A relationship between Lie algebras and square integrable functions has been found. Indeed we need to restrict ourselves to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$ and $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$, where \mathbb{E} is identically zero, to obtain differential representations of the Lie algebras in the spaces of functions defined in \mathbb{R}^+ and \mathbb{R}^2 .

Acknowledgements This work was partially supported by the Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad of Spain (Project MTM2014-57129-C2-1-P with EU-FEDER support).

References

- 1. G. Szegö, Orthogonal Polynomials, (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 2003), pp. 100-105.
- F.W.J. Olver, D.W. Lozier, R.F. Boisvert, C.W. Clark, NIST Handbook of Mathematical Functions, (Cambridge Univ. Press, New York, 2010).
- 3. M. Abramowitz, I.A. Stegun, *Handbook of Mathematical Functions*, (Dover, New York, 1972).
- 4. E. Celeghini, M.A. del Olmo, Ann. Phys. 335 (2013) 78-85.
- 5. E. Celeghini, M.A. del Olmo, Ann. Phys. 333 (2013) 90-103.
- 6. E. Celeghini, M.A. del Olmo, M.A. Velasco, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 597 (2015) 012023.
- 7. E. Celeghini, M.A. del Olmo, *Representations of SU*(2) *in the plane* arXiv: 1504.01572 [math-ph], Unpublished.
- J. Schwinger, in *Quantum Theory of Angular Momentum* (L. Biedenharn, E. van Dam, Eds.), (Academic Press, New York, 1965), pp. 229-279.
- 9. Y. Alhassid, F. Gürsey, F. Iachello, Ann. Phys. 148 (1983) 346-380.
- 10. J. Guerrero, V. Aldaya, J. Phys. A 39 (2006) L267-L276.

Galilean complex Sine-Gordon equation: symmetries, soliton solutions and gauge coupling

Genilson de Melo, Marc de Montigny, James Pinfold, Jack Tuszynski

Abstract We use the Galilean covariance formalism to obtain the Galilean complex Sine-Gordon equation in 1 + 1 dimensions, $\Psi_{xx} (1 - \Psi^* \Psi) + 2im\Psi_t + \Psi^* \Psi_x^2 - \Psi (1 - \Psi^* \Psi)^2 = 0$. We determine its Lie point symmetries, discuss some group-invariant solutions, and examine some soliton solutions. We also discuss the coupling of this field with Galilean electromagnetism. This work is motivated in part by recent applications of the relativistic complex Sine-Gordon equation to the dynamics of Q-balls.

1 Galilean covariance

The objectives of the presentation given at the Group-31 conference were to summarize our recent paper [5], in which a Galilean complex Sine-Gordon (GCSG) equation [7, 10] was formulated with Galilean covariance [12, 13], and to extend it by adding couplings of the GCSG field to the Galilean electromagnetic field investigated in Ref. [6, 8].

The Galilean covariant approach is based on Galilean 5-vectors, such as [12, 13]

James Pinfold

Jack Tuszynski3,4

Genilson de Melo^{1,2}

^{1.} Universidade Federal do Recôncavo da Bahia, Campus Universitário de Cruz das Almas, 44380-000, Cruz das Almas, Bahia, Brazil, e-mail: gmelo@ufrb.edu.br

Marc de Montigny

^{2.} Faculté St Jean, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, T6C 4G9, Canada, e-mail: mdemonti@ualberta.ca

^{3.} Physics Department, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, T6G 0V1, Canada, e-mail: jpinfold@ualberta.ca

^{4.} Department of Oncology, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, T6G 1Z2, Canada, e-mail: jackt@ualberta.ca

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_20

$$x^{\mu} = (x^1, x^2, x^3, x^4, x^5) = (\mathbf{r}, t, s)$$

which transforms under a Galilean boost as

$$\mathbf{r}' = \mathbf{r} - \mathbf{v}t,$$

$$t' = t,$$

$$s' = s - \mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{v} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{v}^2 t.$$

This transformation leaves invariant $(\mathbf{r}, t, s) \cdot (\mathbf{r}', t', s') \equiv \mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{r}' - ts' - t's$, which suggests the introduction of a 'Galilean metric':

$$g^{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ -1 \\ 0 \ 0 \ -1 \ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

If, for instance, we consider a wave-function such that $\Psi(x) = e^{-ims} \psi(\mathbf{x}, t)$ so that $\partial_s \Psi = -im\Psi$, then the Klein-Gordon equation in 5D, $\partial_\mu \partial^\mu \Psi(x) = 0$ implies that $\nabla^2 \Psi - 2\partial_t \partial_s \Psi = e^{-ims} (\nabla^2 \Psi + 2mi \partial_t \Psi) = 0$ is reduced to the free Schrödinger equation in 4D: $i \partial_t \Psi = -\frac{1}{2m} \nabla^2 \Psi$. Ref. [6] shows that this 5-dimensional approach allows one to obtain the Lévy-Leblond equation [9] which is a Galilean version of the Dirac equation that was discussed at Group-31 [2], as well as the equations of Galilean electromagnetism [8], to which we shall return in the last section.

2 Q-balls and the complex Sine-Gordon equation

The MoEDAL experiment will investigate highly-ionizing electrically charges particles, such as the multiparticle excitations called 'Q-balls' [1]. A Q-ball refers to a type of non-topological soliton, thus a stable localized field configuration that carries a conserved Noether charge [4]. Bowcock et al performed an analytical study of the dynamics and interactions of relativistic Q-balls in 1 + 1 dimensions [3]. They described the interactions and perturbations of Q-balls in non-integrable theories by using an integrable model: the (relativistic) complex Sine-Gordon equation [7, 10]: $\mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{1-|\Psi|^2} \partial_{\mu} \Psi^* \partial^{\mu} \Psi - U(|\Psi|)$. Hereafter we consider

$$\mathscr{L} = rac{\partial_\mu \Psi^* \partial^\mu \Psi}{1 - |\Psi|^2} + |\Psi|^2,$$

which leads to the equation of motion

$$\left(1-\Psi^{*}\Psi\right)\partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\Psi+\Psi^{*}\partial_{\mu}\Psi\partial^{\mu}\Psi-\Psi\left(1-\Psi^{*}\Psi\right)^{2}=0.$$

With the Galilean covariance prescription, an equation in 1 + 1 dimensions is obtained from a model formulated with the Galilean 2 + 1 metric,

$$g^{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -1\\ 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

which is then projected onto 1 + 1 dimensions with the restriction:

$$\Psi(x) = e^{-\mathrm{i}ms} \Psi(\mathbf{x},t) \rightarrow \partial_s \Psi = -\mathrm{i}m\Psi$$

The equation of motion becomes

$$\left(\Psi_{xx}-2\Psi_{st}\right)\left(1-\Psi^{*}\Psi\right)+\Psi^{*}\left(\Psi_{x}^{2}-2\Psi_{s}\Psi_{t}\right)-\Psi\left(1-\Psi^{*}\Psi\right)^{2}=0,$$

which reduces to the central equation of this paper, the GCSG equation:

$$\psi_{xx} (1 - \psi^* \psi) + 2im\psi_t + \psi^* \psi_x^2 - \psi (1 - \psi^* \psi)^2 = 0.$$
 (1)

Hereafter, we will find the Lie point symmetries and determine one-soliton solutions of this equation.

If we express the function $\psi(x,t)$ as

$$\Psi(x,t) = \rho(x,t) \exp(\mathrm{i}\phi(x,t)),$$

then the CGSG equation (1) leads to

$$\rho_{xx} \left(1 - \rho^2 \right) - \rho \phi_x^2 + \rho \rho_x^2 - 2m\rho \phi_t - \rho \left(1 - \rho^2 \right)^2 = 0$$
⁽²⁾

and

$$2\rho_x\phi_x + \rho\left(1 - \rho^2\right)\phi_{xx} + 2m\rho_t = 0 \tag{3}$$

We find that the Lie-point symmetries (see Ref. [11] for an introduction) generated by four vector fields: space-translations $\mathbf{v}_1 = \partial_x$, time-translation $\mathbf{v}_2 = \partial_t$, field-shift $\mathbf{v}_3 = \partial_{\phi}$ and a Galilean-like boost $\mathbf{v}_4 = mx\partial_{\phi} + t\partial_x$.

Let us consider the group-invariant solutions for the subgroup generated by $\partial_t + c\partial_x$, which admits the invariant w = x - ct. Then the equations (2) and (3) respectively become

$$\rho_{ww} (1 - \rho^2) - \rho \phi_w^2 + \rho \rho_w^2 + 2mc\rho \phi_w - \rho (1 - \rho^2)^2 = 0$$

and

$$2\rho_{w}\phi_{w}+\rho\left(1-\rho^{2}\right)\phi_{ww}-2mc\rho_{w}=0.$$

We impose an ansatz suggested by the two terms dependent of ϕ in the first equation:

$$-\phi_w^2 + 2mc\phi_w = \text{constant}, \qquad \phi_w = mc.$$

By substitution, multiplying by $\frac{\rho_w}{1-\rho^2}$ and integrating, we find that

$$\rho_w^2 = -\rho^4 + \rho^2 (1-k) + k - m^2 c^2.$$
(4)

The discriminant of the quartic polynomial in this equation is

$$(k+1)^2 - (2mc)^2 = (k+1+2mc)(k+1-2mc)$$

We find localized solutions by setting the discriminant of this equation equal to zero, so that $k = \pm 2mc - 1$. If we keep the + sign, we find that

$$\rho_w^2 = -\rho^4 + 2\rho^2 (1 - mc) + 2mc - 1 - m^2 c^2 = -\left[\rho^2 + (mc - 1)^2\right]^2$$

which leads to $\frac{d\rho}{dw} = \pm i \left(\rho^2 + \lambda^2\right)$ with $\lambda^2 = mc - 1$. If we restrict ourselves again to the + sign, we find that $\rho(w) = i\sqrt{mc - 1} \tanh\left[\sqrt{mc - 1}(w - w_0)\right]$, so that the probability density is

$$|\Psi(x,t)|^2 = (mc-1) \tanh^2 \left[\sqrt{mc-1}(x-ct-w_0)\right]$$

This shows that one must have mc > 1, otherwise the density function contains infinite singularities; i.e. the speed of propagation admits a minimal value $c > \frac{1}{m}$.

Eq. (4) also leads to a soliton solution if we choose $k = m^2 c^2$. Then Eq. (4) reduces to $\rho_w^2 = \rho^2 \left(1 - \rho^2 - m^2 c^2\right)$ with roots $\rho = 0$ and $\rho^2 = 1 - m^2 c^2$, which leads to $w - w_0 = \int \frac{d\rho}{\rho \sqrt{1 - \rho^2 - m^2 c^2}}$. If we define $\rho = a \cos \theta$, where $a^2 = 1 - m^2 c^2$, then this integral becomes $\int \frac{d\theta}{\cos \theta} = 2 \tanh^{-1} \left(\tan \frac{\theta}{2}\right)$. From the trig identity $\tan \frac{\theta}{2} = \frac{1 - \cos \theta}{\sin \theta} = \sqrt{\frac{a - \rho}{a + \rho}}$, we find that $\tanh^2 \left[\frac{a}{2} \left(w_0 - w\right)\right] = \frac{a - \rho}{a + \rho}$. If we solve for ρ , we obtain

$$\rho(x,t) = \sqrt{1 - m^2 c^2} \frac{1 - \tanh^2 \left[\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1 - m^2 c^2} \left(w_0 - x + ct\right)\right]}{1 + \tanh^2 \left[\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1 - m^2 c^2} \left(w_0 - x + ct\right)\right]},$$

which can be simplified as

$$\rho(x,t) = \sqrt{1 - m^2 c^2} \operatorname{sech}(\sqrt{1 - m^2 c^2} (x - ct)).$$

Then the complete solution is of soliton-type,

$$\Psi(x,t) = \sqrt{1 - m^2 c^2} \operatorname{sech}(\sqrt{1 - m^2 c^2} (x - ct)) e^{imc(x - ct)},$$

and the density of probability is given by

$$|\Psi(x,t)|^2 = (1 - m^2 c^2) \operatorname{sech}^2(\sqrt{1 - m^2 c^2} (x - ct)),$$
(5)

which is shown in Fig. 2 for $0 \le t \le 10$, with parameters m = 1 and c = 0.5.

3 Coupling with the Galilean electromagnetic field

The content of this section was not in Ref. [5]. We couple the field ψ to a Galilean electromagnetic field via the covariant derivative $\partial_{\mu} \rightarrow \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\mu} + iqA_{\mu}$. As discussed in Ref. [6], we must consider two Galilean limits, called the 'electric limit' and the 'magnetic limit'. The Lagrangian becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L} &= \frac{\mathscr{D}_{\mu}\Psi^*\mathscr{D}^{\mu}\Psi}{1-\Psi^*\Psi} + \Psi^*\Psi + \frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} \\ &= \frac{1}{1-\Psi^*\Psi} \left(\partial_{\mu}\Psi^* - \mathrm{i}qA_{\mu}\Psi^*\right) \left(\partial^{\mu}\Psi + \mathrm{i}qA^{\mu}\Psi\right) + \Psi^*\Psi + \frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}. \end{aligned}$$

The Euler-Lagrange equation with respect to Ψ^* leads to

$$\begin{array}{l} (1-\Psi^*\Psi)\,\partial^\mu\partial_\mu\Psi+\Psi^*\partial_\mu\Psi\partial^\mu\Psi-\Psi\,(1-\Psi^*\Psi)^2+2\mathrm{i}qA^\mu\partial_\mu\Psi\\ -q^2A_\mu A^\mu\Psi+\mathrm{i}q\left(\partial_\mu A^\mu\right)\Psi-\mathrm{i}q\left(\partial_\mu A^\mu\right)\Psi^2\Psi^*=0, \end{array}$$

and with respect to A_{μ} , we obtain

$$\partial_{\nu}\partial^{\nu}A_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}A^{\nu} - iq\left(\Psi^{*}\partial_{\mu}\Psi - \Psi\partial_{\mu}\Psi^{*}\right) + 2q^{2}A_{\mu}\Psi^{*}\Psi = 0.$$

The two Galilean limits are found by setting $A_t = -\phi_m$ and $A_s = -\phi_e$ alternately equal to zero [6]. As for the Sine-Gordon field, we use $\partial_s \Psi = -im\Psi$, as before.

Magnetic limit: We obtain this limit by setting $\phi_e = 0$ so that ϕ_m is the scalar potential. Then the equation for ψ reads

$$(1 - \psi^* \psi) (\nabla^2 \psi + 2mi\partial_t \psi) + \psi^* (\nabla \psi \cdot \nabla \psi + 2mi\psi\partial_t \psi) - \psi (1 - \psi^* \psi)^2 + 2iq\mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \psi + 2mq\phi_m \psi - q^2 \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{A} \psi + iq\psi (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} + \partial_s \phi_m) (1 - \psi^* \psi) = 0.$$



Fig. 1 Graph of $|\Psi(x,t)|^2$ in Eq. (5) with m = 1 and c = 0.5, for $0 \le t \le 10$.

The equations of motion for the gauge field read

$$\nabla^{2}\mathbf{A} - 2\partial_{s}\partial_{t}\mathbf{A} - \nabla(\nabla\cdot\mathbf{A} + \partial_{s}\phi_{m}) + iq(\psi^{*}\nabla\psi - \psi\nabla\psi^{*}) - 2q^{2}\mathbf{A}\psi^{*}\psi = 0,$$

$$2\partial_{s}\partial_{t}\phi_{m} - \nabla^{2}\phi_{m} - \partial_{t}(\nabla\cdot\mathbf{A} + \partial_{s}\phi_{m}) + iq(\psi^{*}\partial_{t}\psi - \psi\partial_{t}\psi^{*}) + 2q^{2}\phi_{m}\psi^{*}\psi = 0,$$

$$\partial_{s}\nabla\cdot\mathbf{A} + \partial_{ss}\phi_{m} - 2mq\psi^{*}\psi = 0.$$

Electric limit This limit corresponds to $\phi_m = 0$ and ϕ_e becomes the scalar potential. The equation for ψ reads

$$(1 - \psi^* \psi) \left(\nabla^2 \psi + 2m i \partial_t \psi \right) + \psi^* \left(\nabla \psi \cdot \nabla \psi + 2m i \psi \partial_t \psi \right) \psi \left(1 - \psi^* \psi \right)^2 + 2iq \mathbf{A} \cdot \nabla \psi + 2iq \phi_e \partial_t \psi - q^2 \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{A} \psi + iq \psi \left(\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} + \partial_t \phi_e \right) \left(1 - \psi^* \psi \right) = 0.$$

The equations for the gauge field are

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla^2 \mathbf{A} &- 2\partial_s \partial_t \mathbf{A} - \nabla \left(\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} + \partial_t \phi_e \right) + \mathrm{i}q \left(\psi^* \nabla \psi - \psi \nabla \psi^* \right) - 2q^2 \mathbf{A} \psi^* \psi = 0, \\ &- \partial_t \left(\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} + \partial_t \phi_e \right) + \mathrm{i}q \left(\psi^* \partial_t \psi - (\partial_t \psi^*) \psi \right) = 0, \\ &2 \partial_s \partial_t \phi_e - \nabla^2 \phi_e - \partial_s \left(\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} + \partial_t \phi_e \right) + 2mq \psi^* \psi + 2q^2 \phi_e \psi^* \psi = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Acknowledgements This paper was presented by MdM at the 31st International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, June 19–25, 2016. He is grateful to the organizers of Group-31 for the stimulating and diverse conference. GdM acknowledges partial support from the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) of Brazil (Grant CAPES - BEX 1623/14-1). We thank the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) of Canada for financial support.

References

- 1. B. Acharya et al, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 29 (2014), 1430050 (91pp).
- N. Aizawa, Generalized supersymmetry and Lévy-Leblond equation, contribution to these Proceedings, (2017), 81–86.
- 3. P. Bowcock, D. Foster, P. Sutcliffe, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42 (2009), 085403 (22pp).
- 4. S. Coleman, Nucl. Phys. B 262 (1985), 263-283; [erratum: 269 (1986), 744].
- 5. G.R. de Melo, M de Montigny, J. Pinfold, J. Tuszynski, Phys. Lett. A 380 (2016), 1223-1230.
- 6. M. de Montigny, F.C. Khanna, A.E. Santana, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 42 (2003), 649-671.
- B.S. Getmanov, JETP 25 (1977) 119-122 [originally in *Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.* 25 (1977), 132]. B.S. Getmanov, Theor. Math. Phys. 38 (1979) 124-130 [originally in *Teor. Mat. Fiz.* 38 (1979), 186].
- 8. M. Le Bellac, J.M. Lévy-Leblond, Nuov. Cim. 14B (1973), 217-234.
- 9. J.M. Lévy-Leblond, Comm. Math. Phys. 6 (1967), 286-311.
- 10. F. Lund, T. Regge, Phys. Rev. D 14 (1976), 1524–1535.
- 11. P.J. Olver, *Applications of Lie groups to Differential Equations*, 2nd edn., Springer, New York, (1993).
- 12. M. Omote, S. Kamefuchi, Y. Takahashi, Y. Ohnuki, Fortschr. Phys. 37 (1989), 933-950.
- 13. Y. Takahashi, Fortschr. Phys. 36 (1988), 63-81. Y. Takahashi, Fortschr. Phys. 36 (1988) 83-96

On completeness of coherent states in noncommutative spaces with the generalised uncertainty principle

Sanjib Dey

Abstract Coherent states are required to form a complete set of vectors in the Hilbert space by providing the resolution of identity. We study the completeness of coherent states for two different models in a noncommutative space associated with the generalised uncertainty relation by finding the resolution of unity with a positive definite weight function. The weight function, which is sometimes known as the Borel measure, is obtained through explicit analytic solutions of the Stieltjes and Hausdorff moment problem with the help of the standard techniques of the inverse Mellin transform.

1 Introduction

It is well known that the coherent states are useful in different areas of modern science including quantum optics, atomic and molecular physics, mathematical physics, quantum gravity, quantum cosmology, etc, for further informations; see, for instance [1, 2]. Various generalisations of the Glauber coherent states have also become very popular in recent days giving rise to the possibility of constructing many new coherent states arising from various sophisticated mathematical backgrounds [3–7]. One of such prominent examples is the noncommutative space-time structure in the framework of generalised uncertainty principle, from which the existence of minimal length appears naturally [8–11]. There have been plenty of investigations behind the applications and usefulness of coherent states emerging out of the models on the noncommutative space [12–14]. Furthermore, based on these coherent states, various nonclassical states have been constructed; such as, squeezed states [15], Schrödinger cat states [16, 17], photon added coherent states [18] and their squeezing and entanglement properties have been studied. However, the math-

Sanjib Dey

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_21

Centre de Recherches Mathématiques, Université de Montréal, Montréal H3C 3J7, Québec, Canada, e-mail: dey@crm.umontreal.ca

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

ematical completeness of such coherent states have not been studied before, which is important particularly to understand whether the coherent states are mathematically well-defined and can be utilized for describing concrete physical systems.

The purpose of this article is to fill in this gap by finding the exact analytical expression for the positive definite Borel measure, such that the coherent states satisfy the required condition of resolution of identity. For this purpose, we mainly follow [19–21] to associate our problem with the existing techniques of Stieltjes and Hausdorff moment problem, and compute the inverse Mellin transforms corresponding to our systems, which yield the precise expressions of the Borel measure. The article is organised as follows: In Sect. 3, we introduce basic notions of the generalised and nonlinear coherent states, as well as the moment problem associated with them to identify the resolution of identity. In Sect. 3, we implement the existing framework as described in Sect. 3 to study the completeness relation for coherent states in the noncommutative space for two different models, namely, the harmonic oscillator and the Pöschl-Teller. Our conclusions are stated in Sect. 4.

2 Nonlinear coherent states and resolution of identity

We commence by revisiting the basic notions of nonlinear coherent states for the purpose of referencing. Nonlinear coherent states for Hamiltonians *H* with discrete bounded below and nondegenerate eigenvalues, $E_n = \hbar \omega e_n = \hbar \omega n f^2(\hat{n})$, are defined as follows [5, 6, 22]:

$$|\alpha, f\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathcal{N}(\alpha, f)}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^n}{\sqrt{\rho_n}} |n\rangle, \quad \rho_n = \prod_{k=1}^n e_k = n! f^2(\hat{n})!, \quad \rho_0 = 1, \quad (1)$$

where $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ and the normalisation constant can be computed from the requirement $\langle \alpha, f | \alpha, f \rangle = 1$ as given by

$$\mathcal{N}(\alpha, f) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{|\alpha|^{2n}}{\rho_n}.$$
(2)

The terminology *nonlinear* is not associated with the mathematical nonlinearity anyway, but it follows from the convention introduced in the articles [5,6,22]. More precisely, such coherent states (1) are one of the generalised versions of the Glauber coherent states [23] for models corresponding to the generic function of the number operator $f(\hat{n})$. In [24], the authors have introduced an interesting alternative to the so-called *nonlinear* generalisation by considering the coherent states to be eigenfunctions of a generalised exponential function. Nevertheless, the vectors $|\alpha, f\rangle$ in (1) are mathematically well defined in the domain \mathscr{D} of allowed $|\alpha|^2$ for which the series (2) converges. The range of $|\alpha|^2$, $0 \le |\alpha|^2 < R$, is determined by the radius of convergence $R = \lim_{n\to\infty} \sqrt{\rho_n}$, which may be finite or infinite depending on the behaviour of ρ_n for large *n*. Therefore, a family of such coherent states (1) is an *over*- *complete* set of vectors in a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} , labelled by a continuous parameter α which belongs to a complex domain \mathscr{D} (some domain in \mathbb{C} . For $R = \infty$, $\mathscr{D} = \mathbb{C}$). To be more precise, since $|n\rangle$ forms an orthonormal basis in the Hilbert space \mathscr{H} and, letting e_n be an infinite sequence of positive numbers, with $e_0 = 0$, then the vectors $|\alpha, f\rangle$ must satisfy the resolution of identity (completeness relation) with a weight function Ω

$$\int \int_{\mathscr{D}} \frac{\mathscr{N}(\alpha, f)}{\pi} |\alpha, f\rangle \langle \alpha, f| \ \Omega(|\alpha|^2) \ d^2\alpha = \mathbb{I}_{\mathscr{H}}.$$
(3)

By considering $\alpha = re^{i\theta}$, the left-hand side of (3) turns out to be

$$\sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\rho_m\rho_n}} \int_0^R r^{m+n} \Omega(r^2) d(r^2) \int_0^{2\pi} e^{i\theta(m-n)} d\theta \ |m\rangle\langle n|$$
(4)

$$=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{1}{\rho_n}\int_0^R t^n \Omega(t)dt \ |n\rangle\langle n|,\tag{5}$$

such that one ends up with an infinite set of constraints

$$\int_0^R t^n \Omega(t) dt = \rho_n, \qquad 0 < R \le \infty, \tag{6}$$

for which the completeness relation (3) holds. Therefore, one can construct the coherent states (1) for any models corresponding to a known f(n), provided that there exists a measure $\Omega(t)$ which satisfies (6). The explicit expression of the measure can be found first by associating (6) with the classical moment problem, where $\rho(n) > 0$ are the power moments of the unknown function $\Omega(t) > 0$ and, subsequently, by carrying out the integration using the standard techniques of the Mellin transforms [25]. For more details in this context, we refer the readers to [19,21,26–28]. For Glauber coherent states, i.e., for f(n) = 1, $\rho_n = n!$, the moment problem (6) becomes

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{n} \Omega(t) dt = n!, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$
(7)

so that one can easily identify the measure, $\Omega(t) = e^{-t}$. For SU(1,1) discrete series coherent states [3], $\rho(n) = n!\Gamma(2j)/\Gamma(2j+n)$ and, the corresponding measure is given by

$$\Omega(t) = (2j-1)(1-t)^{2j-2},$$
(8)

where $\Omega(t)$ is supported in the range (0,1), with j = 1, 1/2, 2, 3/2, 3... In the case of the Barut Girardello coherent states [29], $\rho(n) = n!\Gamma(2j+n)/\Gamma(2j)$ and, the associated measure is given by the modified Bessel function of the second kind as follows

$$\Omega(t) = \frac{2}{\Gamma(2j)} t^{\frac{2j-1}{2}} K_{2j-1}(2\sqrt{t}),$$
(9)

where $\Omega(t)$ is supported in the interval $(0, \infty)$. For more examples of different types of coherent states, see, [19, 30].

3 Resolution of unity for coherent states in noncommutative space

In this section, we will construct the coherent states arising from the noncommutative space [9, 10], in which the standard set of commutation relations for the canonical coordinates are replaced by noncommutative versions, such as

$$[X,P] = i\hbar(1 + \check{\tau}P^2), \quad X = (1 + \check{\tau}p^2)x, \quad P = p,$$
(10)

where the noncommutative observables X, P are represented in terms of the standard canonical variables x, p satisfying $[x, p] = i\hbar$. Here, $\check{\tau} = \tau/(m\omega\hbar)$ has the dimension of inverse squared momentum and τ is dimensionless. Since here we study a onedimensional problem, it may not be so obvious to the readers how commutation relation (10) becomes a part of noncommutative systems. Actually, it is a reduced version of a three-dimensional noncommutative space originating from a *q*-deformed oscillator algebra, which was studied in [10] by the author and his collaborators. The given framework (10) is fascinating by itself, because it leads to the generalised version of Heisenberg's uncertainty relation [8] followed by the existence of minimal lengths [9, 10], which are one of the major findings of string theory. Let us now discuss some concrete models in the given structure.

3.1 Noncommutative harmonic oscillator

We consider a one-dimensional harmonic oscillator

$$H = \frac{P^2}{2m} + \frac{m\omega^2}{2}X^2 - \hbar\omega\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau}{4}\right),\tag{11}$$

defined on the noncommutative space satisfying (10). Here, ground state energy is conventionally shifted to allow for a factorisation of the energy. Obviously, the Hamiltonian *H* is non-Hermitian with respect to the standard inner product. However, we consider the Hamiltonian *H* to be pseudo-Hermitian and, thus by following the standard results in the literature [31, 32] we transform the non-Hermitian Hamiltonian *H* to a Hermitian Hamiltonian *h* by taking a similarity transformation $h = \eta H \eta^{-1}$ with respect to a positive definite metric η . Consequently, the energy eigenvalues of *H* and *h* turn out to be real, as computed in [8, 10] by following the standard techniques of Rayleigh-Schrödinger perturbation theory to the lowest order as follows: Completeness of coherent states in noncommutative spaces

$$E_n = \hbar \omega n f^2(n) = \hbar \omega n \left[1 + \frac{\tau}{2} (1+n) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\tau^2).$$
(12)

Correspondingly, by following (1) the nonlinear coherent states are computed as

$$|\alpha, f\rangle_{\rm ncho} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathscr{N}(\alpha, f)}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^n}{\sqrt{\rho_n}} |n\rangle, \quad \rho_n = n! f^2(n)! = \left(\frac{\tau}{2}\right)^n \frac{n! (n + \frac{2}{\tau} + 1)!}{(1 + \frac{2}{\tau})!}.$$
(13)

In order to verify that the states (13) are mathematically complete and well defined in the Hilbert space, one needs to find out the existence of the positive definite Borel measure $\Omega(t)$ satisfying constraint (6) as follows:

$$\int_0^\infty t^n \Omega(t) dt = \rho_n = \left(\frac{\tau}{2}\right)^n \frac{\Gamma(n+\mu+1)\Gamma(n+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(1+\beta)} = \frac{A(n)B(n)}{\Gamma(1+\beta)}, \quad (14)$$

with $A(n) = (\tau/2)^n$, $B(n) = \Gamma(n + \mu + 1)\Gamma(n + \beta + 1)$ and $\mu = 0$, $\beta = 1 + 2/\tau$. For the purpose of computing $\Omega(t)$ from (14) let us now briefly discuss some technicalities. First, we find the inverse Mellin transforms of the two functions A(n) and B(n) separately, i.e.,

$$A(n) = \left(\frac{\tau}{2}\right)^n = \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{t}{2}\right)^n \delta(t-\tau) dt = \int_0^\infty x^n C(x) dx,$$
(15)

$$B(n) = \Gamma(n+\mu+1)\Gamma(n+\beta+1) = \int_0^\infty x^n D(x) dx,$$
(16)

with

$$C(x) = 2\delta(2x - \tau), \qquad D(x) = 2x^{\frac{\mu+\beta}{2}}K_{\mu-\beta}(2\sqrt{x}),$$
 (17)

where $K_{\mu}(x)$ denotes the modified Bessel function of the second kind. Then, we utilize the composition formula [20] to find the inverse Mellin transform for the composite system as given by

$$A(n)B(n) = \int_0^\infty x^n \lambda(x) dx, \quad \lambda(x) = \int_0^\infty C(u) D\left(\frac{x}{u}\right) \frac{du}{u},$$
 (18)

which when replaced in (14), we obtain the accurate expression of the Borel measure $\Omega(t)$ as follows:

$$\Omega(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\beta)} \int_0^\infty C(t) D\left(\frac{t}{u}\right) \frac{du}{u}$$
(19)

$$=\frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\beta)}\int_0^\infty \frac{4}{u}\left(\frac{t}{u}\right)^{\frac{\mu+\beta}{2}} K_{\mu-\beta}(2\sqrt{\frac{t}{u}})\delta(2u-\tau)du$$
(20)

$$=\frac{2^{\frac{1}{2}(4+\mu+\beta)}}{\tau\Gamma(1+\beta)}\left(\frac{t}{\tau}\right)^{\frac{\mu+\beta}{2}}K_{\mu-\beta}(2\sqrt{\frac{2t}{\tau}}).$$
(21)

3.2 A Pöschl-Teller model in noncommutative space

Let us now consider another interesting Hamiltonian based on the noncommutative space satisfying (10):

$$H_{\rm PT} = \frac{\varepsilon}{2m}P^2 + \frac{\hbar\omega\gamma}{2\check{\tau}}P^{-2} + \frac{m\omega^2}{2}X^2 + \frac{\hbar\omega\gamma}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2m\check{\tau}}, \qquad \gamma, \varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(22)

Although the model (22) does not belong to a familiar class of models, however, it is very interesting as it leads to the well-known Pöschl-Teller potential when the noncommutative observables are represented in terms of the standard canonical variables by using (10). Therefore, one can describe the model as a noncommutative version of the Pöschl-Teller model, although the Hamiltonian (22) cannot be viewed as a deformation of a model on standard commutative space in the sense that it does not reduce to the usual Pöschl-Teller model in the commutative limit $\tau \rightarrow 0$. For further details on the model, see [11], where the eigenvalues of the corresponding Hamiltonian were computed in an exact manner as given below:

$$E_n = \frac{\hbar\omega\tau}{2}(1+2n+a+b)^2, \quad a = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1+\frac{4\gamma}{\tau}}, \ b = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1+\frac{4\varepsilon}{\tau}}.$$
 (23)

The corresponding nonlinear coherent states can be computed by following (1) with

$$\rho_n = 2^n \tau^n \frac{\Gamma(n+\nu)^2}{\Gamma(\nu)^2}, \qquad \nu = \frac{3+a+b}{2}.$$
(24)

Note that the form of ρ_n in (24) is very similar to the case of the harmonic oscillator as in (13) and, thus we follow the similar procedure as discussed in the previous section to calculate the explicit expression of the measure

$$\Omega(t) = \frac{\tau^{-\nu}}{\Gamma(\nu)^2} \left(\frac{t}{2}\right)^{\nu-1} K_0(\sqrt{\frac{2t}{\tau}}) .$$
(25)

Numerically, we check that the measures (19) and (25) are positive definite for $\tau \in \mathbb{R}^+$. However, the exact analytical treatment of this problem may be more involved. The interesting aspect of the moment problem in our case is that the moments (14) and (24) satisfy the Carleman condition

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\rho_n^{1/2n}} = +\infty,$$
(26)

which implies that the obtained measures in both of the cases are unique.

4 Conclusions

Coherent states in noncommutative spaces related to the generalised uncertainty relation have been found to be interesting and useful for many different purposes [12–18]. However, it was necessary to find out their resolution of identity by computing the weight functions associated with them to show the mathematical completeness of the corresponding models. In this article we study the missing link by finding the completeness relations of coherent states for the harmonic oscillator and the Pöschl-Teller model based on the noncommutative structure. We compute exact analytical expressions for the weight functions through good solutions of Stieltjes and Hausdorff moment problem for the two cases and show that the coherent states in noncommutative space are indeed mathematically well defined and form a complete set of vectors in the Hilbert space.

Evidently, there are many interesting open challenges left which will directly follow our results. By utilizing the Hankel determinant method, or any other existing mechanism in the literature [27, 30, 33, 34], one may study the orthogonal polynomials, that are associated with our coherent states. The investigation may end up with some known orthogonal polynomials, or some fascinating *q*-orthogonal polynomials. However, because of our sophisticated structure, the outcome may bring more exciting possibilities for constructing some new orthogonal polynomials out of our systems.

Acknowledgements The work is dedicated to the memory of Prof. S. Twareque Ali. The author is supported by the Postdoctoral Fellowship of the Laboratory of Mathematical Physics of the Centre de Recherches Mathématiques.

References

- 1. S. T. Ali, J. P. Antoine and J. P. Gazeau, *Coherent states, wavelets and their generalizations*, 2nd edn., Springer: New York (2014).
- 2. J. P. Gazeau, Coherent states in quantum physics, Wiley: Weinheim (2009).
- 3. A. M. Perelomov, Comm. Math. Phys. 26, 222-236 (1972).
- 4. M. M. Nieto and L. M. Simmons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 41, 207 (1978).
- 5. R. L. M. Filho and W. Vogel, Phys. Rev. A 54, 4560 (1996).
- 6. V. I. Man'ko, G. Marmo, E. C. G. Sudarshan and F. Zaccaria, Phys. Scr. 55, 528 (1997).
- 7. J. P. Gazeau and J. R. Klauder, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 32, 123 (1999).
- 8. A. Kempf, G. Mangano and R. B. Mann, Phys. Rev. D 52, 1108 (1995).
- 9. B. Bagchi and A. Fring, Phys. Lett. A 373, 4307-4310 (2009).
- 10. S. Dey, A. Fring and L. Gouba, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 45, 385302 (2012).
- 11. S. Dey, A. Fring and B. Khantoul, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 46, 335304 (2013).
- 12. S. Dey and A. Fring, Phys. Rev. D 86, 064038 (2012).
- 13. S. Dey, A. Fring, L. Gouba and P. G. Castro, Phys. Rev. D 87, 084033 (2013).
- 14. S. Ghosh and P. Roy, Phys. Lett. B 711, 423-427 (2012).
- 15. S. Dey and V. Hussin, Phys. Rev. D 91, 124017 (2015).
- 16. S. Dey, Phys. Rev. D 91, 044024 (2015).
- 17. S. Dey, A. Fring and V. Hussin, Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 30, 1650248 (2016).

- 18. S. Dey and V. Hussin, Phys. Rev. A 93, 053824 (2016).
- 19. J. R. Klauder, K. A. Penson and J.-M. Sixdeniers, Phys. Rev. A 64, 013817 (2001).
- 20. H. Bergeron and J. P. Gazeau, Ann. Phys. 344, 43-68 (2014).
- J. P. Antoine, J. P. Gazeau, P. Monceau, J. R. Klauder and K. A. Penson, J. Math. Phys. 42, 2349–2387 (2001).
- 22. S. Sivakumar, J. Opt. B 2, R61 (2000).
- 23. R. J. Glauber, Phys. Rev. 131, 2766 (1963).
- 24. K. A. Penson and A. I. Solomon, J. Math. Phys. 40, 2354-2363 (1999).
- 25. F. Oberhettinger, Tables of Mellin transforms, Springer: Berlin (1974).
- 26. C. Quesne, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 35, 9213 (2002).
- 27. M. E. H. Ismail, *Classical and Quantum Orthogonal Polynomials in one Variable*, Camb. Univ. Press: Cambridge, United Kingdom (2009).
- 28. K. A. Penson, P. Blasiak, G. H. E. Duchamp, A. Horzela and A. I. Solomon, Discr. Math. Theor. Comp. Sci. 12, 295 (2010).
- 29. A. O. Barut and L. Girardello, Commun. Math. Phys. 21, 41-55 (1971).
- 30. S. T. Ali and M. E. H. Ismail, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 45, 125203 (2012).
- 31. C. M. Bender and S. Boettcher, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 5243 (1998).
- 32. A. Mostafazadeh, J. Math. Phys. 43, 205 (2002).
- 33. M. Engliš and S. T. Ali, J. Math. Phys. 56, 072109 (2015).
- 34. D. Dai, W. Hu and X. H. Wang, SIGMA 11, 070 (2015).

Majorana neutrinos in an effective field theory approach

Lucía Duarte and Oscar A. Sampayo

Abstract The discovery of neutrino oscillations and non-vanishing neutrino masses is one of the key recent advances made in particle physics. Tiny neutrino masses are very difficult to generate in a natural way in the Standard Model, based in the $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ gauge group. Standard Yukawa interactions cannot explain the huge mass difference between the neutrinos and other fermions, and a very attractive scheme is the seesaw mechanism, incorporating right-handed Majorana neutrino species that allow for the lepton number violation. However, in typical seesaw scenarios, the couplings between the Majorana neutrinos and the light neutrinos must be vanishingly small in order to obtain tiny observed masses, leading to the decoupling of the former, and thus their detection (e.g., via lepton number violating processes) would be a signal of physics beyond the minimal seesaw framework. Here we consider a model independent scenario with one Majorana neutrino N with negligible mixing with the standard v_{L} , introducing its interactions via an effective Lagrangian involving N and the standard fields and preserving SM symmetry. This leads to a very rich N phenomenology, and we have studied its decay, production, and detection mechanisms in present and future collider experiments.

1 Introduction

As is well known, in the Standard Model, the charged leptons acquire their masses after the electroweak symmetry breaking (EWSB) by the vacuum expectation value

Lucía Duarte

Oscar A. Sampayo

Instituto de Física, Facultad de Ingeniería, Universidad de la República, Julio Herrera y Reissig 565,(11300) Montevideo, Uruguay, e-mail: lduarte@fing.edu.uy

Instituto de Investigaciones Físicas de Mar del Plata (IFIMAR), CONICET, Departamento de Física, Universidad Nacional de Mar del Plata, Funes 3350, (7600) Mar del Plata, Argentina, e-mail: sampayo@mdp.edu.ar

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_22

of the Higgs field $\langle \Phi^T \rangle = (0, v/\sqrt{2})^T$ leading to the Yukawa lagrangian term, where the left-handed $SU(2)_L$ doublet of flavor $i L^{iT} = (v^i, \ell^i)_L^T$ combines with the righthanded singlet $\ell_R^j: \mathscr{L}_{Yukawa} \supset Y_\ell^{ij}\overline{L^i}\Phi\ell_R^j \rightarrow Y_\ell^{ij}v/\sqrt{2}\ell_L^i\ell_R^j$. A right-handed neutrino component could be added 'by hand' to have a Yukawa term generating a Dirac mass for the neutrinos. However, to get sub-eV left-handed neutrino masses (as known from current neutrino data [16]) one would need extremely tiny Yukawa couplings of order $\lesssim 10^{-12}$. As there is no theoretical justification for such small neutrino Yukawa couplings, a new viewpoint is taken considering other new physics to be responsible for the observed smallness of neutrino masses.

It seems natural to invoke some new physics beyond the *SM* at a higher scale Λ to explain the neutrino masses: this is done by means of the dimension 5 Weinberg operator [18]: $\mathscr{L}_{VSM} \supset -\frac{\lambda_{ij}}{2\Lambda}L^iL^j\Phi\Phi$, leading to neutrino masses after the EWSB $\mathscr{L}_{VSM} \supset -\frac{m_{ij}}{2}v_iv_j$ with $m_{ij}/2 = \lambda_{ij}\frac{v^2}{\Lambda}$. If $\Lambda \gg v$, then neutrino masses can be made much smaller than those of the charged leptons. This operator has only 3 renormalizable tree-level realizations: the most popular is the Type-I seesaw mechanism, where Φ and L^i combine into an $SU(2)_L$ scalar. This needs the addition of new 'sterile' $SU(2)_L$ singlet neutrinos N_R as intermediate particles, identified as right-handed Majorana neutrinos. The origin of the bare Majorana mass terms responsible for the explicit violation of the B - L (Baryon-Lepton numbers) symmetry can be understood from natural implementations of the seesaw mechanism in specific ultra-violet complete theories. In the conventional seesaw scenarios, the light neutrino masses are inversely proportional to a large lepton-number breaking scale (and hence the name seesaw) [13].

In this context the 'vanilla' seesaw is implemented adding 3 SM singlets N_R , and writing the most general renormalizable lagrangian:

$$\mathscr{L}_{v} = \mathscr{L}_{SM} - Y_{\alpha i} \overline{L^{\alpha}} \tilde{\Phi} N_{Ri} - \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \frac{M_{N_{ij}}}{2} \overline{N_{iL}^{c}} N_{jR} + h.c.,$$

with Dirac and Majorana mass terms for the neutrinos. In the flavor basis these terms give the following mass matrix, diagonalized by a unitary matrix U:

$$\frac{1}{2} (\overline{v_L} \, \overline{N_L^c}) \begin{pmatrix} O & m_D \\ m_D^T & M_N \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v_R^c \\ N_R \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{U}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{pmatrix} O & m_D \\ m_D^T & M_N \end{pmatrix} \mathbf{U} \simeq \begin{pmatrix} -m_D M_N^{-1} m_D^T & 0 \\ 0 & M_N \end{pmatrix}$$

with entries U $\simeq \begin{pmatrix} 1 & A \\ -A^{\dagger} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, and $A^{\dagger} = M_N^{-1} m_D^T$.

In this way, left-handed neutrinos of flavor $\ell v_{\ell L}$ can be written in terms of mass states as $v_{\ell L} = U_{\ell m} v_m + U_{\ell N} N$: the $v_L - N$ mixings $U_{\ell N}$ take values $U_{\ell N} \simeq \frac{m_D}{M_N} = \sqrt{\frac{m_V}{M_N}}$, and the $v_L - v_m$ mixing describes the oscillation phenomena. This gives light neutrinos v with masses $m_V = m_D M_N^{-1} m_D^T$. As the Dirac mass m_D comes from the Yukawa term $Y_{\alpha i} \overline{L^{\alpha}} \tilde{\Phi} N_{Ri}$ and takes values $m_D = Y \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}}$, in order to accommodate neutrino masses $m_V \simeq 0.001 eV \simeq Y^2 \frac{v^2}{2M_N}$ the Yukawa couplings need to be $Y \simeq 10^{-7}$ for $M_N \simeq 100 GeV$. Then the $v_L - N$ mixing would be $U_{\ell N} \simeq \frac{m_D}{M_N} \lesssim 10^{-6} \sqrt{\frac{100 GeV}{M_N}}$. As this mixing weighs the coupling between Majorana neutrinos and the standard bosons in the lagrangian terms:

$$\mathscr{L} \supset -\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} U_{\ell N} \overline{N}^c \gamma^{\mu} P_L l W^+_{\mu} - \frac{g}{2c \theta_W} \overline{v_\ell} \gamma^{\mu} U_{\ell N} P_L N Z_{\mu} + h.c.,$$

the experimental observation of the lepton number violation in this scenario depends only on the tiny $v_L - N$ mixing, making it very difficult to find in current collider searches.

2 Effective field theory with Majorana neutrinos

While most of the recent work has been focused on the study of heavy Majorana neutrinos that mix with *SM* light neutrinos in the framework of Type-I seesaw scenarios [3,4], the aim of our approach is to investigate the possible contribution of a heavy Majorana neutrino with negligible mixing to the *SM* v_L [6].

Thus we consider an effective lagrangian in which we include a relatively light right-handed Majorana neutrino N as one of the observable degrees of freedom. The effects of the new physics involving one heavy sterile neutrino and the *SM* fields are parameterized by a set of effective operators \mathcal{O}_J constructed with the standard model and the Majorana neutrino fields and satisfying $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ gauge symmetry.

The effect of these operators is suppressed by inverse powers of the new physics scale Λ , for which we take the value $\Lambda = 1 \text{ TeV}$. The total lagrangian is organized as follows:

$$\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{L}_{SM} + \sum_{n=6}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\Lambda^{n-4}} \sum_{J} \alpha_J \mathscr{O}_J^{(n)}, \tag{1}$$

where *n* is the mass dimension of $\mathcal{O}_{I}^{(n)}$.

The dominating effects come from dimension 6 operators that can be generated at tree level in the unknown underlying renormalizable theory. Following [6], we start with a rather general effective lagrangian density for the interaction of right-handed Majorana neutrinos N with leptons and quarks, including dimension 6 operators. The first subset includes operators with scalar and vector bosons (SVB),

$$\mathscr{O}_{LN\phi} = (\phi^{\dagger}\phi)(\bar{L}_{i}N\tilde{\phi}), \mathscr{O}_{NN\phi} = i(\phi^{\dagger}D_{\mu}\phi)(\bar{N}\gamma^{\mu}N), \mathscr{O}_{Ne\phi} = i(\phi^{T}\varepsilon D_{\mu}\phi)(\bar{N}\gamma^{\mu}e_{i}), \quad (2)$$

and a second subset includes the baryon-number conserving four fermion contact terms:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{O}_{duNe} &= (\bar{d}\gamma^{\mu}u)(\bar{N}\gamma_{\mu}l), \ \mathscr{O}_{fNN} &= (\bar{f}\gamma^{\mu}f)(\bar{N}\gamma_{\mu}N), \ \mathscr{O}_{LNLe} &= (\bar{L}N)\varepsilon(\bar{L}l), \\ \mathscr{O}_{LNQd} &= (\bar{L}N)\varepsilon(\bar{Q}d), \ \mathscr{O}_{QuNL} &= (\bar{Q}u)(\bar{N}L), \ \mathscr{O}_{QNLd} &= (\bar{Q}N)\varepsilon(\bar{L}d), \\ \mathscr{O}_{LN} &= |\bar{N}L|^2 \quad \text{and} \quad \mathscr{O}_{QN} &= |\bar{Q}N|^2, \end{aligned}$$
(3)

where e_i , u_i , d_i and L_i , Q_i denote, for the family labeled *i*, the right-handed SU(2) singlet and the left-handed SU(2) doublets, respectively.

One can also consider operators generated at one-loop level in the underlying full theory, whose coefficients are naturally suppressed by a factor of $1/16\pi^2$:

$$\mathcal{O}_{NNB}^{(5)} = \bar{N} \sigma^{\mu\nu} N^c B_{\mu\nu},$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{NB} = (\bar{L} \sigma^{\mu\nu} N) \tilde{\phi} B_{\mu\nu}, \quad \mathcal{O}_{NW} = (\bar{L} \sigma^{\mu\nu} \tau^I N) \tilde{\phi} W_{\mu\nu}^I,$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{DN} = (\bar{L} D_{\mu} N) D^{\mu} \tilde{\phi}, \quad \mathcal{O}_{\bar{D}N} = (D_{\mu} \bar{L} N) D^{\mu} \tilde{\phi} .$$
(4)

The effective couplings α_I in (1) can be bounded exploiting the existing constraints on the different processes mediated by their associated operators. In general phenomenological approaches, recent reviews [7,8] summarize the existing experimental bounds considering low scale minimal seesaw models parameterized by a single heavy neutrino mass scale M_N and a light-heavy mixing U_{lN} . In previous works [10, 11], we have presented in detail the way in which we take into account existing constraints on processes like neutrinoless double beta decay $(0\nu\beta\beta)$, electroweak precision data (EWPD), LNV rare meson decays, as well as direct collider searches, including Z decays. We consider the existing experimental constraints on sterile-active neutrino mixings, relating the U_{lN} mixings in Type-I seesaw models [3,4] with our effective couplings by the relation $U_{lN}^2 \simeq \left(\frac{\alpha v^2}{2\Lambda^2}\right)^2$. For the couplings involving the first fermion family, the most stringent are the $0\nu\beta\beta$ -decay bounds obtained by the KamLAND-Zen collaboration [12]. Following the treatment made in [7, 15], they give us an upper limit $\alpha_{0\nu\beta\beta}^{bound} \leq 3.2 \times 10^{-2} \left(\frac{m_N}{100 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{1/2}$. Concerning the second fermion family, for sterile neutrino masses 2 $GeV \lesssim m_N \lesssim 10 \ GeV$ the upper limits come from the DELPHI collaboration [2]. Considering $\Omega_{ll'} = U_{lN}U_{l'N}$ as in [4], we obtain the bound $\alpha_{DELPHI}^{bound} \lesssim 2.3$. The Belle [14] and LHCb [1] collaborations also find competitive upper limits in the 2 $GeV \leq m_N \leq 5 GeV$ region. The bound from Belle is still the most stringent, giving a value $\alpha_{Belle}^{bound} \leq 0.3$. For higher masses, in the range $m_W \leq m_N$, the upper limits come from EWPD as the radiative lepton flavor violating (LFV) decays as $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$ [5, 17] giving a bound $\alpha_{EWPD}^{bound} \leq 0.32.$

In order to simplify the discussion, for numerical calculations we only consider the most stringent bounds, taking the couplings associated to the operators that contribute to the $0\nu\beta\beta$ -decay for the first family as restricted by the $\alpha_{0\nu\beta\beta}^{bound}$, and the other couplings to the value $\alpha^{bound} \leq 0.3$.



Fig. 1: Decay width [11] and branching ratios [10] for the Majorana neutrino N.

3 Majorana neutrino phenomenology

We have studied the Majorana neutrino phenomenology, searching for its production in *ep* colliders [9] and calculated its decay channels for low $m_N < m_W$ [10] and high masses $m_N < 1TeV$ [11].

For the low m_N region, the neutrino plus photon decay channel is found to be dominant respective to the pure-leptonic or the $N \rightarrow l\bar{u}d$ modes. This decay mode is driven by the tensorial one-loop generated operators \mathcal{O}_{NB} and \mathcal{O}_{NW} in (4), and leads to an interesting phenomenology regarding different neutrino anomalies, as discussed in [10]. In Figure 3 we show the total decay width and the branching ratios for the *N*.

In our work [9] we studied the N production in the $ep \rightarrow l^+N \rightarrow l^+ + 3jets$ channel, which is a clear signature of the Majorana character of the intermediate N due to the lepton number violation. We found the future Large Hadron electron Collider (LHeC) could be able to discover Majorana neutrinos with $m_N < 700$ and $m_N < 1300 \text{ GeV}$ for electron beams settings of $E_e = 50$ and $E_e = 150 \text{ GeV}$ respectively, as shown in Figure 2.

We are currently investigating the *N* production and decay in the LHC, exploiting the fact that for low $m_N \simeq$ a few *GeV* the Majorana neutrinos behave as long-lived neutral particles that can be searched using displaced vertices techniques.

Acknowledgements We thank CONICET (Argentina) and Universidad Nacional de Mar del Plata (Argentina); PEDECIBA, ANII, and CSIC-UdelaR (Uruguay); and the ICTP and the Group31 organizing committee for their financial supports.



Fig. 2: Total cross section and discovery regions for the Majorana neutrino production in the LHeC [9].

References

- 1. R. Aaij et al. [LHCb Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **112** (2014) no.13, 131802 doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.112.131802 [arXiv:1401.5361 [hep-ex]].
- P. Abreu et al. [DELPHI Collaboration], Z. Phys. C 74 (1997) 57 Erratum: [Z. Phys. C 75 (1997) 580]. doi:10.1007/s002880050370.
- A. Atre, T. Han, S. Pascoli and B. Zhang, JHEP 0905 (2009) 030 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2009/05/030 [arXiv:0901.3589 [hep-ph]].
- F. del Aguila, J. A. Aguilar-Saavedra and R. Pittau, JHEP 0710 (2007) 047 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2007/10/047 [hep-ph/0703261].
- F. del Aguila, J. de Blas and M. Perez-Victoria, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 013010 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.78.013010 [arXiv:0803.4008 [hep-ph]].
- F. del Aguila, S. Bar-Shalom, A. Soni and J. Wudka, Phys. Lett. B 670 (2009) 399 doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2008.11.031 [arXiv:0806.0876 [hep-ph]].
- A. de Gouvła and A. Kobach, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) no.3, 033005 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.93.033005 [arXiv:1511.00683 [hep-ph]].
- F. F. Deppisch, P. S. Bhupal Dev and A. Pilaftsis, New J. Phys. 17 (2015) no.7, 075019 doi:10.1088/1367-2630/17/7/075019 [arXiv:1502.06541 [hep-ph]].
- L. Duarte, G. A. Gonzlez-Sprinberg and O. A. Sampayo, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) no.5, 053007 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.91.053007 [arXiv:1412.1433 [hep-ph]].
- L. Duarte, J. Peressutti and O. A. Sampayo, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) no.9, 093002 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.093002 [arXiv:1508.01588 [hep-ph]].
- L. Duarte, I. Romero, J. Peressutti and O. A. Sampayo, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) no.8, 453 doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-4301-8 [arXiv:1603.08052 [hep-ph]].
- A. Gando et al. [KamLAND-Zen Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) no.8, 082503 Addendum: [Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) no.10, 109903].
- 13. B. Kayser, F. Gibrat-Debu and F. Perrier, World Sci. Lect. Notes Phys. 25 (1989) 1.
- D. Liventsev et al. [Belle Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) no.7, 071102 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.87.071102 [arXiv:1301.1105 [hep-ex]].
- 15. R. N. Mohapatra, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 77 (1999) 376.
- 16. K. A. Olive, Chin. Phys. C 40 (2016) no.10, 100001. doi:10.1088/1674-1137/40/10/100001.
- D. Tommasini, G. Barenboim, J. Bernabeu and C. Jarlskog, Nucl. Phys. B 444 (1995) 451 doi:10.1016/0550-3213(95)00201-3 [hep-ph/9503228].
- 18. S. Weinberg, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 1566. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.43.1566.

Feynman-Dyson propagators for neutral particles (local or non-local?)

Valeriy V. Dvoeglazov

Abstract An analog of the S = 1/2 Feynman-Dyson propagator is presented in the framework of S = 1 Weinberg's theory. The basis for this construction is the concept of the Weinberg field as a system of four field functions differing by parity and dual transformations. Next, we analyze the controversy in the definitions of the Feynman-Dyson propagator for the field operator containing the S = 1/2 self/antiself charge conjugate states in the papers by D. Ahluwalia et al. and by W. Rodrigues Jr. et al. The solution of this mathematical controversy is obvious. It is related to the necessary doubling of the Fock Space (as in the Barut and Ziino works), thus extending the corresponding Clifford algebra. However, the logical interrelations of different mathematical foundations with the physical interpretations are not so obvious (Physics should choose only one correct formalism: it is not clear, why two correct mathematical formalisms , which are based on the same postulates, lead to different physical results.)

1 Weinberg propagators

According to the Feynman-Dyson-Stueckelberg ideas, a causal propagator has to be constructed using the formula in Ref. [1, p.91]. In the S = 1/2 Dirac theory it results in

$$S_F(x) = \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} e^{-ikx} \frac{\hat{k} + m}{k^2 - m^2 + i\varepsilon},$$
(1)

provided that $\hat{k} = k_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu}$, the constant *a* and *b* are determined by imposing $(i\hat{\partial}_2 - m)S_F(x_2, x_1) = \delta^{(4)}(x_2 - x_1)$ in [1, p.91], $\hat{\partial}_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2^{\mu}} \gamma^{\mu}$, namely, a = -b = 1/i.

Valeriy V. Dvoeglazov

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_23

UAF, Universidad Autónoma de Zacatecas, Apartado Postal 636, Zacatecas 98061 Zac., México, e-mail: valeri@fisica.uaz.edu.mx

However, attempts to construct the covariant propagator in this way have failed in the framework of Weinberg's theory, Ref. [2]. It is a generalization of the Dirac ideas to higher spins. For instance, on page B1324 of Ref. [2] Weinberg writes:

"Unfortunately, the propagator arising from Wick's theorem is NOT equal to the covariant propagator except for S = 0 and S = 1/2. The trouble is that the derivatives act on the $\varepsilon(x) = \theta(x) - \theta(-x)$ in $\Delta^{C}(x)$ as well as on the functions¹ Δ and Δ_{1} . This gives rise to extra terms proportional to equal-time δ functions and their derivatives... The cure is well known: ... compute the vertex factors using only the original covariant part of the Hamiltonian \mathscr{H} ; do not use the Wick propagator for internal lines; instead use the covariant propagator." The propagator proposed in Ref. [3] is the causal propagator. However, the old problem persists: the Feynman-Dyson propagator is not the Green function of the Weinberg equation. As mentioned, the covariant propagator proposed by Weinberg propagates kinematically spurious solutions [3].

The aim of my paper is to consider the problem of constructing the propagator in the framework of the model given in [4]. The concept of the Weinberg field 'doubles' has been proposed there. It is based on the equivalence between the Weinberg field and the antisymmetric tensor field, which can be described by both $F_{\mu\nu}$ and its dual $\tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}$. These field operators may be used to form a parity doublet. An essential ingredient of my consideration is the idea of combining the Lorentz and the dual transformation. The set of four equations has been proposed in Ref. [4].

The simple calculations give

$$u_1^{(1)}\overline{u}_1^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} m^2 & S_p \otimes S_p \\ \overline{S}_p \otimes \overline{S}_p & m^2 \end{pmatrix}, u_2^{(1)}\overline{u}_2^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -m^2 & S_p \otimes S_p \\ \overline{S}_p \otimes \overline{S}_p & -m^2 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2)

$$u_1^{(2)}\overline{u}_1^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -m^2 \ \overline{S}_p \otimes \overline{S}_p \\ S_p \otimes S_p \ -m^2 \end{pmatrix}, u_2^{(2)}\overline{u}_2^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} m^2 \ \overline{S}_p \otimes \overline{S}_p \\ S_p \otimes S_p \ m^2 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3)

where

$$S_p = m + (\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{p}) + \frac{(\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{p})^2}{E + m}, \quad \overline{S}_p = m - (\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{p}) + \frac{(\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{p})^2}{E + m}, \tag{4}$$

and u- are 6-component objects for spin 1, which are solutions of the Weinberg "double" equations in the momentum space. One can conclude: the generalization of the notion of causal propagators is admitted using 'Wick's formula' for the time-ordered particle operators provided that $a = b = 1/4im^2$. It is necessary to consider all four equations. Obviously, this is related to the 12-component formalism, which I presented in [4].

The S = 1 analogues of the formula (1) for the Weinberg propagators follow immediately. In the Euclidean metrics they are

¹ In the cited paper $\Delta_1(x) \equiv i [\Delta_+(x) + \Delta_+(-x)]$ and $\Delta(x) \equiv \Delta_+(x) - \Delta_+(-x)$ have been used. $i\Delta_+(x) \equiv \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int \frac{d^3p}{2E_p} \exp(ipx)$ is the particle Green function.

Feynman-Dyson propagators for neutral particles (local or non-local?)

$$S_F^{(1)}(p) \sim -\frac{1}{i(2\pi)^4(p^2 + m^2 - i\varepsilon)} \left[\gamma_{\mu\nu} p_{\mu} p_{\nu} - m^2\right],$$
(5)

$$S_F^{(2)}(p) \sim -\frac{1}{i(2\pi)^4(p^2 + m^2 - i\varepsilon)} \left[\gamma_{\mu\nu}p_{\mu}p_{\nu} + m^2\right], \tag{6}$$

$$S_F^{(3)}(p) \sim -\frac{1}{i(2\pi)^4(p^2 + m^2 - i\varepsilon)} \left[\tilde{\gamma}_{\mu\nu} p_{\mu} p_{\nu} + m^2 \right], \tag{7}$$

$$S_F^{(4)}(p) \sim -\frac{1}{i(2\pi)^4(p^2 + m^2 - i\varepsilon)} \left[\tilde{\gamma}_{\mu\nu} p_{\mu} p_{\nu} - m^2 \right].$$
(8)

 $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ are the covariantly defined 6×6 matrices of the $(1,0) \oplus (0,1)$ representation, $\tilde{\gamma}_{\mu\nu} = \gamma_{44} \gamma_{\mu\nu} \gamma_{44}$.

We should use the obtained set of Weinberg propagators (5,6,7,8) in the perturbation calculus of scattering amplitudes. In Ref. [6] the amplitude for the interaction of two 2(2S + 1) bosons has been obtained on the basis of the use of one field only and it is obviously incomplete, see also Ref. [5]. But, it is interesting that the spin structure was proved there to be the same, regardless of whether we consider the two-Dirac-fermion interaction or the two-Weinberg(S = 1)-boson interaction. However, the denominator slightly differs in the cited papers [6] from fermion-fermion case. More accurate considerations of the fermion-boson and boson-boson interactions in the framework of the Weinberg theory has been reported elsewhere [7].

2 The self/anti-self charge conjugate construct in the $(1/2,0)\oplus(0,1/2)$ representation

The first formulations with doubling solutions of the Dirac equations have been presented in Refs. [11], and [12]. The group-theoretical basis for such doubling has been given in the papers by Gelfand, Tsetlin and Sokolik [13], who first presented the theory in the 2-dimensional representation of the inversion group in 1956 (later called 'the Bargmann-Wightman-Wigner-type quantum field theory' in 1993). M. Markov wrote long ago *two* Dirac equations with the opposite signs at the mass term [11]:

$$\left[i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}-m\right]\Psi_{1}(x)=0, \qquad (9)$$

$$\left|i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}+m\right|\Psi_{2}(x)=0.$$
(10)

In fact, he studied all properties of this relativistic quantum model (while he did not yet know the quantum field theory in 1937). Next, he added and subtracted these equations. What did he obtain?

$$i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\varphi(x) - m\chi(x) = 0, \quad i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\chi(x) - m\varphi(x) = 0.$$
⁽¹¹⁾

161

Thus, φ and χ solutions can be presented as some superpositions of the Dirac 4-spinors u- and v-. These equations, of course, can be identified with equations for the Majorana-like λ - and ρ - spinors, which we presented in Ref. [8,9]. The equations can be written in the 8-component form as follows:

$$\left[i\Gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}-m\right]\Psi_{(+)}(x)=0\,,\quad \left[i\Gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}+m\right]\Psi_{(-)}(x)=0\,. \tag{12}$$

The signs at the mass terms depend on how do we choose the "positive"- and "negative"- energy solutions. For instance,

$$\Psi_{(+)}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \rho^{A}(x)\\\lambda^{S}(x) \end{pmatrix}, \Psi_{(-)}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \rho^{S}(x)\\\lambda^{A}(x) \end{pmatrix}, \Gamma^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \gamma^{\mu}\\\gamma^{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (13)

It is easy to find the corresponding projection operators, and the Feynman-Dyson-Stueckelberg propagator.

You may say that all of this is just related to the spin-parity basis rotation (unitary transformations). However, in previous papers I explained: the connection with the Dirac spinors has been found [9, 13], provided that the 4-spinors have the same physical dimension. Thus, we can see that the two 4-spinor systems are connected by the unitary transformations, and this represents itself the rotation of the spin-parity basis. However, it is usually assumed that the λ - and ρ - spinors describe the neutral particles, and meanwhile u- and v- spinors describe the charged particles. Kirchbach [13] found the amplitudes for neutrinoless double beta decay ($00v\beta$) in this scheme. It is obvious from that connections that there are some additional terms comparing with the standard formulation.

Barut and Ziino [12] proposed yet another model. They considered γ^5 operator as the operator of the charge conjugation. The concept of the doubling of the Fock space has been developed in the Ziino works (cf. [4, 13]) in the framework of quantum field theory. In their case the self/anti-self charge conjugate states are simultaneously the eigenstates of the chirality. Next, our formulation with the λ - and ρ - spinors naturally lead to the Ziino-Barut scheme of massive chiral fields.

3 The controversy

I cite Ahluwalia et al., Ref. [14]: "To study the locality structure of the fields $\Lambda(x)$ and $\lambda(x)$, we observe that field momenta are

$$\Pi(x) = \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}^{\Lambda}}{\partial \dot{\Lambda}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \vec{\Lambda} (x), \qquad (14)$$

and similarly $\pi(x) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \lambda(x)$. The calculational details for the two fields now differ significantly. We begin with the evaluation of the equal time anticommutator for $\Lambda(x)$ and its conjugate momentum

$$\{\Lambda(\mathbf{x},t), \Pi(\mathbf{x}',t)\} = i \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{2m} e^{i\mathbf{p}\cdot(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}')} \times \underbrace{\sum_{\alpha} \left[\xi_{\alpha}(\mathbf{p}) \ \vec{\xi}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{p}) - \zeta_{\alpha}(-\mathbf{p}) \ \vec{\zeta}_{\alpha}(-\mathbf{p}) \right]}_{=2m[I+\mathscr{G}(\mathbf{p})]}.$$

The term containing $\mathscr{G}(\mathbf{p})$ vanishes only when $\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'$ lies along the z_e axis (see Eq. (24) [therein], and discussion of this integral in Ref. [15])

$$\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}' \text{ along } z_e: \quad \{\Lambda(\mathbf{x}, t), \, \Pi(\mathbf{x}', t)\} = i\delta^3(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')I \tag{15}$$

The anticommutators for the particle/antiparticle annihilation and creation operators suffice to yield the remaining locality conditions,

$$\{\Lambda(\mathbf{x},t),\Lambda(\mathbf{x}',t)\}=O,\quad\{\Pi(\mathbf{x},t),\Pi(\mathbf{x}',t)\}=O.$$
(16)

The set of anticommutators contained in Eqs. (15) and (16) establish that $\Lambda(x)$ becomes local along the z_e axis. For this reason we call z_e as the dark axis of locality."

Next, I cite Rodrigues et al., Ref. [16]: "We have shown through explicitly and detailed calculation that the integral of $\mathscr{G}(\mathbf{p})$ appearing in Eq.(42) of [14] is null for $\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'$ lying in three orthonormal spatial directions in the rest frame of an arbitrary inertial frame $\mathbf{e}_0 = \partial/\partial t$.

This shows that the existence of elko spinor fields does not imply any breakdown of locality concerning the anticommutator of $\{\Lambda(\mathbf{x},t), \Pi(\mathbf{x}',t)\}$ and moreover does not imply any preferred spacelike direction field in Minkowski spacetime."

Who is right? In 2013 W. Rodrigues [17] changed a bit his opinion. He wrote: "When $\Delta_z \neq 0$, $\hat{\mathscr{G}}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')$ is null the anticommutator is local and thus there exists in the elko theory as constructed in [14] an infinity number of 'locality directions'. On the other hand $\hat{\mathscr{G}}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')$ is a distribution with support in $\Delta_z = 0$. So, the directions $\Delta = (\Delta_x, \Delta_y, 0)$ are nonlocal in each arbitrary inertial reference frame \mathbf{e}_0 chosen to evaluate $\hat{\mathscr{G}}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')$ ", thus accepting the Ahluwalia et al. viewpoint. See the cited papers for the notation.

Meanwhile, I suggest using the 8-component formalism (see Section 2) in the similarity with the 12-component formalism of Section 1. If we calculate

$$S_F^{(+,-)}(x_2,x_1) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{m}{E_k} \sum_{\sigma} \left[\theta(t_2 - t_1) a \, \Psi_+^{\sigma}(k) \otimes \overline{\Psi}_+^{\sigma}(k) e^{-ikx} + \\ + \theta(t_1 - t_2) b \, \Psi_-^{\sigma}(k) \otimes \overline{\Psi}_-^{\sigma}(k) e^{ikx} \right] = \\ = \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} e^{-ikx} \frac{(\hat{k} \pm m) \otimes I_2}{k^2 - m^2 + i\varepsilon}, \tag{17}$$

we easily come to the result that the corresponding Feynman-Dyson propagators are local in the sense: $[i\Gamma_{\mu}\partial_{2}^{\mu} \mp m]S_{F}^{(+,-)}(x_{2}-x_{1}) = \delta^{(4)}(x_{2}-x_{1})$. The constants *a* and *b* are defined as in Ref. [1]. However, again: Physics should choose only one

correct formalism. It is not clear, why two correct mathematical formalisms lead to different physical results?

Acknowledgements I acknowledge discussions with Prof. W. Rodrigues, Jr. and Prof. Z. Oziewicz.

References

- 1. C. Itzykson and J.-B. Zuber, *Quantum Field Theory*. (McGraw-Hill Book Co. New York, 1980).
- 2. S. Weinberg, Phys. Rev. B133 (1964) 1318.
- 3. D. V. Ahluwalia and D. J. Ernst, Phys. Rev. C45 (1992) 3010.
- 4. V. V. Dvoeglazov, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 37 (1998) 1915.
- 5. R. H. Tucker and C. L. Hammer, Phys. Rev. D3 (1971) 2448.
- 6. V. V. Dvoeglazov, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 35 (1996) 115.
- 7. V. V. Dvoeglazov, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 128 (2008) 012002.
- 8. D. V. Ahluwalia, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A11 (1996) 1855.
- V. V. Dvoeglazov, Int J. Theor. Phys. 34 (1995) 2467; Nuovo Cim. B111 (1996) 483; ibid. A108 (1995) 1467; Mod. Phys. Lett. A12 (1997) 2741.
- 10. M. Markov, ZhETF 7 (1937) 579; ibid. 603; Nucl. Phys. 55 (1964) 130.
- A. Barut and G. Ziino, Mod. Phys. Lett. A8 (1993) 1011; G. Ziino, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A11 (1996) 2081.
- 12. I. M. Gelfand and M. L. Tsetlin, *ZhETF* **31** (1956) 1107; G. A. Sokolik, *ZhETF* **33** (1957) 1515.
- 13. M. Kirchbach, C. Compean and L. Noriega, Eur. Phys. J. A22 (2004) 149.
- 14. D. V. Ahluwalia et al., Phys. Lett. B687 (2010) 248; idem. Phys. Rev. D83 (2011) 065017.
- D. V. Ahluwalia-Khalilova, D. Grumiller, Phys. Rev. D72 (2005) 067701; JCAP 0507 (2005) 012.
- W. Rodrigues, Jr. et al., *Phys. Rev.* D86 (2012) 128501; Erratum: ibid. D88 (2013) 129901; ArXiV: 1210.7207v4.
- 17. W. Rodrigues, Jr. et al., Int. J. Theor. Phys. 53 (2014) 4381, see Appendix B therein.

Generalized equations and their solutions in the $(S,0)\oplus(0,S)$ representations of the Lorentz group

Valeriy V. Dvoeglazov

Abstract In this paper I present three explicit examples of generalizations in relativistic quantum mechanics. First of all, I discuss the generalized spin-1/2 equations for neutrinos. They have been obtained by means of the Gersten-Sakurai method for derivations of arbitrary-spin relativistic equations. Possible physical consequences are discussed. Next, it is easy to check that both Dirac algebraic equation $Det(\hat{p} - m) = 0$ and $Det(\hat{p} + m) = 0$ for u- and v- 4-spinors have solutions with $p_0 = \pm E_p = \pm \sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + m^2}$. The same is true for higher-spin equations. Meanwhile, every book considers the equality $p_0 = E_p$ for both u- and v- spinors of the $(1/2, 0) \oplus (0, 1/2)$) representation only, thus applying the Dirac-Feynman-Stueckelberg procedure for eliminating negative-energy solutions. The recent Ziino works (and, independently, the articles of several others) show that the Fock space can be doubled. We re-consider this possibility on the quantum field level for both S = 1/2 and higher spin particles. The third example is: we postulate the noncommutativity of 4-momenta, and we derive the mass splitting in the Dirac equation. The applications are discussed.

1 Generalized neutrino equations

A. Gersten [1] proposed a method for derivations of massless equations of arbitraryspin particles. In fact, his method is related to the van der Waerden-Sakurai [2] procedure for the derivation of the massive Dirac equation. I commented on the derivation of the Maxwell equations in [3]. Then, I showed that the method is rather ambigious because instead of free-space Maxwell equations, one can obtain *generalized* S = 1 equations, which connect the antisymmetric tensor field with additional scalar

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Valeriy V. Dvoeglazov

UAF, Universidad Autónoma de Zacatecas, Apartado Postal 636, Zacatecas 98061 Zac., México, e-mail: valeri@fisica.uaz.edu.mx

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_24

fields. The problem of physical significance of additional scalar chi-fields should be solved of course by experiment.

In the present paper I apply the van der Waerden-Sakurai-Gersten procedure to spin-1/2 fields. As a result one obtains equations which *generalize* the well-known Weyl equations. However, these equations are known for a long time [4]. Raspini [5, 6] analyzed them again in detail. I add some comments on physical contents of the generalized spin-1/2 equations. The generalized equation can be written in the covariant form.

$$\left[i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - \frac{m_2^2 c}{m_1 \hbar} \frac{(1-\gamma^5)}{2} - \frac{m_1 c}{\hbar} \frac{(1+\gamma^5)}{2}\right]\Psi = 0.$$
 (1)

The standard representation of γ^{μ} matrices has been used here. If $m_1 = m_2$ we can recover the standard Dirac equation. As noted in [4b] this procedure can be viewed as the simple change of the representation of γ^{μ} matrices. However, this is valid unless $m_2 \neq 0$. Otherwise, entries in the transformation matrix become singular. Furthermore, one can either repeat a similar procedure (the modified Sakurai procedure) starting from the *massless* equation (4) of [1a] or put $m_2 = 0$ in eq. (1). The *massless equation* is

$$\left[i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - \frac{m_{1}c}{\hbar}\frac{(1+\gamma^{5})}{2}\right]\Psi = 0.$$
 (2)

It is necessary to stress that the term 'massless' is used in the sense that $p_{\mu}p^{\mu} = 0$. Then we may have different physical consequences following from (2) comparing with those which follow from the Weyl equation. The mathematical reason of such a possibility of different massless limits is that the corresponding change of representation of γ^{μ} matrices involves mass parameters m_1 and m_2 themselves. It is interesting to note that we can also repeat this procedure for other definitions, which gives us yet another equation in the massless limit ($m_4 \rightarrow 0$):

$$\left[i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - \frac{m_{3}c}{\hbar}\frac{(1-\gamma^{5})}{2}\right]\tilde{\Psi} = 0, \qquad (3)$$

differing in the sign at the γ_5 term.

The above procedure can be generalized to *any* Lorentz group representations, i.e., to any spins. Is the physical content of the generalized S = 1/2 massless equations the same as that of the Weyl equation? Our answer is 'no'. The excellent discussion can be found in [4a,b]. First of all, the theory does *not* have chiral invariance. Those authors call the additional parameters as measures of the degree of chirality. Apart from this, Tokuoka introduced the concept of gauge transformations (not to be confuses with phase transformations) for the 4-spinor fields. He also found some strange properties of the anti-commutation relations (see Sec. 3 in [4a] and cf. [8]). And finally, the equation (2) describes *four* states, two of which answer for the positive energy $E = |\mathbf{p}|$, and two others answer for the negative energy $E = -|\mathbf{p}|$.

I just want to add the following to the discussion. The operator of the *chiral-helicity* $\hat{\eta} = (\alpha \cdot \hat{\mathbf{p}})$ (in the spinorial representation) used in [4b] does *not* commute, e.g., with the Hamiltonian of the equation (2). Do not confuse with the Dirac Hamiltonian!

$$[\mathscr{H}, \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{p}}]_{-} = 2 \frac{m_1 c}{\hbar} \frac{1 - \gamma^5}{2} (\boldsymbol{\gamma} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{p}}).$$
(4)

For eigenstates of the *chiral-helicity* the system of corresponding equations can be read $(\eta = \uparrow, \downarrow)$

$$i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\Psi_{\eta} - \frac{m_{1}c}{\hbar}\frac{1+\gamma^{5}}{2}\Psi_{-\eta} = 0.$$
⁽⁵⁾

The conjugated eigenstates of the Hamiltonian $|\Psi_{\uparrow} + \Psi_{\downarrow} >$ and $|\Psi_{\uparrow} - \Psi_{\downarrow} >$ are connected, in fact, by γ^5 transformation $\Psi \rightarrow \gamma^5 \Psi \sim (\alpha \cdot \hat{\mathbf{p}}) \Psi$ (or $m_1 \rightarrow -m_1$). However, the γ^5 transformation is related to the *PT* ($t \rightarrow -t$ only) transformation [4b], which, in its turn, can be interpreted as $E \rightarrow -E$, if one accepts the Stueckelberg idea about antiparticles. We associate $|\Psi_{\uparrow} + \Psi_{\downarrow} >$ with the positive-energy eigenvalue of the Hamiltonian $E = |\mathbf{p}|$ and $|\Psi_{\uparrow} - \Psi_{\downarrow} >$, with the negative-energy eigenvalue of the Hamiltonian ($E = -|\mathbf{p}|$). Thus, the free chiral-helicity massless eigenstates may oscillate to one another with the frequency $\omega = E/\hbar$ (as the massive chiral-helicity eigenstates, see [7a] for details). Moreover, a special kind of interaction which is not symmetric with respect to the chiral-helicity states (for instance, if the left chiral-helicity eigenstates interact with the matter only) may induce changes in the oscillation frequency, like in the Wolfenstein (MSW) formalism.

2 Negative energies in the Dirac equation

The general scheme for constructing the field operator has been presented in [9]. During the calculations above we had to represent $1 = \theta(p_0) + \theta(-p_0)$ in order to get positive- and negative-frequency parts. Moreover, during these calculations we did not yet assume which equation this field operator (namely, the *u*- spinor) does satisfy, with negative- or positive- mass? In general we should transform $u_h(-p)$ to the v(p). The procedure is the following; see [10]. In the Dirac case we should assume the following relation in the field operator:

$$\sum_{h} v_{h}(p) b_{h}^{\dagger}(p) = \sum_{h} u_{h}(-p) a_{h}(-p) \,.$$
(6)

By direct calculations, we find that

$$-mb^{\dagger}_{(\mu)}(p) = \sum_{\lambda} \Lambda_{(\mu)(\lambda)}(p)a_{(\lambda)}(-p).$$
⁽⁷⁾

Hence, $\Lambda_{(\mu)(\lambda)} = -im(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{n})_{(\mu)(\lambda)}, \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{p}/|\mathbf{p}|$, and

Valeriy V. Dvoeglazov

$$b^{\dagger}_{(\mu)}(p) = i \sum_{\lambda} (\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{n})_{(\mu)(\lambda)} a_{(\lambda)}(-p) \,. \tag{8}$$

However, other ways of thinking are possible. Unless the unitary transformations do not change the physical content, we have that the negative-energy spinors $\gamma^5 \gamma^0 u^-$ satisfy the accustomed "positive-energy" Dirac equation. We should then expect the same physical content. Their explicite forms $\gamma^5 \gamma^0 u^-$ are different from the textbook "positive-energy" Dirac spinors. They are the following

$$\tilde{u}(p) = \frac{N}{\sqrt{2m(-E_p+m)}} \begin{pmatrix} -p^+ + m \\ -p_r \\ p^- - m \\ -p_r \end{pmatrix},$$
(9)

$$\tilde{\tilde{u}}(p) = \frac{N}{\sqrt{2m(-E_p+m)}} \begin{pmatrix} -p_l \\ -p^- + m \\ -p_l \\ p^+ - m \end{pmatrix}.$$
(10)

 $E_p = \sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + m^2} > 0$, $p_0 = \pm E_p$, $p^{\pm} = E \pm p_z$, $p_{r,l} = p_x \pm ip_y$. Their normalization is to $(-2N^2)$. Similar formulations have been presented in Refs. [11], and [12]. The group-theoretical basis for such doubling has been given in the papers of Gelfand, Tsetlin and Sokolik [13], who first presented the theory in the 2-dimensional representation of the inversion group in 1956 (later called as "the Bargmann-Wightman-Wigner-type quantum field theory" in 1993). The Markov equations, of course, can be identified with equations for the Majorana-like λ – and ρ –, which we presented in Ref. [7]. Neither of them can be regarded as the Dirac equation. However, they can be written in the 8-component form as follows:

$$\left[i\Gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}-m\right]\Psi_{(+)}(x)=0, \qquad (11)$$

$$\left[i\Gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}+m\right]\Psi_{(-)}(x)=0.$$
⁽¹²⁾

One can also re-write the above equations into two-component forms. Thus, one obtains the Feynman-Gell-Mann [14] equations. As Markov wrote himself, he was expecting "new physics" from these equations. Barut and Ziino [12] proposed yet another model. They considered γ^5 operator as the operator of the charge conjugation. Thus, the charge-conjugated Dirac equation has a different sign in comparison with the ordinary formulation, and the so-defined charge conjugation applies to the whole system, fermion + electromagnetic field, $e \rightarrow -e$ in the covariant derivative. Superpositions of the Ψ_{BZ} and Ψ_{BZ}^c also give us the "doubled Dirac equation", as the equations for λ – and ρ – spinors. The concept of the doubling of the Fock space has been developed in the Ziino works (cf. [13, 15]) in the framework of quantum field theory. In their case the self/anti-self charge conjugate states are simultaneously the eigenstates of the chirality. Finally, I would like to mention that in general, in the Weyl basis, the γ - matrices are *not* Hermitian, $\gamma^{\mu \dagger} = \gamma^0 \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^0$. So, $\gamma^{\dagger} = -\gamma^i$, i = 1, 2, 3, the pseudo-Hermitian matrix. The energy-momentum operator $i\partial_{\mu}$ is ob-

viously Hermitian. So, the question is whether the eigenvalues of the Dirac operator $i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}$ (the mass, in fact) would be always real? The question of the complete system of the eigenvectors of the *non*-Hermitian operator deserve careful consideration [16]. Bogoliubov and Shirkov [9, p.55-56] used the scheme to construct a complete set of solutions of the relativistic equations, fixing the sign of $p_0 = +E_p$.

The main points of this section are: there are "negative-energy solutions" in that is previously considered as "positive-energy solutions" of relativistic wave equations, and vice versa. Their explicit forms have been presented in the case of spin-1/2. Next, relations to previous works have been found. For instance, the doubling of the Fock space and the corresponding solutions of the Dirac equation obtained additional mathematical bases. Similar conclusion can be deduced for higher-spin equations.

3 Non-commutativity in the Dirac equation

The non-commutativity [17, 18] exibits interesting peculiarities in the Dirac case. We analyzed Sakurai-van der Waerden method of derivations of the Dirac (and higher-spins too) equation [19]. We can start from

$$(EI^{(4)} + \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{p} + m\boldsymbol{\beta})(EI^{(4)} - \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{p} - m\boldsymbol{\beta})\Psi_{(4)} = 0.$$
(13)

Obviously, the inverse operators of the Dirac operators of the positive- and negativemasses exist in the non-commutative case. We postulate the non-commutativity relations for the components of 4-momenta: $[E, \mathbf{p}^i]_- = \Theta^{0i} = \theta^i$ as usual. Thus, we come to

$$\left\{E^{2} - \mathbf{p}^{2} - m^{2} - (\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta})\right\} \Psi_{(4)} = 0.$$
(14)

However, let us apply the unitary transformation. It is known [7, 20] that one can

$$U_1(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{a})U_1^{-1} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_3|\mathbf{a}|.$$
(15)

The explicit form of the U_1 matrix can be found in [19, 20].

Let us apply the second unitary transformation:

$$\mathscr{U}_{2}\alpha_{3}\mathscr{U}_{2}^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \alpha_{3} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (16)

The final equation is

$$[E^{2} - \mathbf{p}^{2} - m^{2} - \gamma_{chiral}^{5} |\boldsymbol{\theta}|] \Psi_{(4)}^{\prime} = 0.$$
(17)
In the physical sense this implies the mass splitting for a Dirac particle over the non-commutative space $m_{1,2} = \pm \sqrt{m^2 \pm \theta}$. This procedure may be attractive for explaining the mass creation and mass splitting for fermions.

Acknowledgements I greatly appreciate old discussions with Prof. A. Raspini and useful information from Prof. A. F. Pashkov. I appreciate the discussions with participants of several recent conferences. This work has been partly supported by the ESDEPED, México.

References

- 1. A. Gersten, Found. Phys. Lett. 12, 291 (1999); ibid. 13, 185 (2000).
- 2. J. J. Sakurai, Advanced Quantum Mechanics (Addison-Wesley, 1967), Sec. 3.2.
- 3. V. V. Dvoeglazov, J. Phys A: Math. Gen. 33, 5011 (2000).
- Z. Tokuoka, Prog. Theor. Phys. 37, 603 (1967); N. D. S. Gupta, Nucl. Phys. B4, 147 (1967); T. S. Santhanam and P. S. Chandrasekaran, Prog. Theor. Phys. 41, 264 (1969); V. I. Fushchich, Nucl. Phys. B21, 321 (1970); Lett. Nuovo Cim. 4, 344 (1972); V. I. Fushchich and A. Grischenko, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 4, 927 (1970); M. T. Simon, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 2, 616 (1971); T. S. Santhanam and A. R. Tekumalla, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 3, 190 (1972).
- A. Raspini, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 33, 1503 (1994); Fizika B 5, 159 (1996); ibid. 6, 123 (1997); ibid. 7, 83 (1998).
- A. Raspini, A Review of Some Alternative Descriptions of Neutrino. In *Photon and Poincaré* Group. Ed. V. V. Dvoeglazov. Series *Contemporary Fundamental Physics* (Commack, NY: Nova Science, 1999), pp. 181-188.
- V. V. Dvoeglazov, Int J. Theor. Phys. 34, 2467 (1995); ibid 37, 1909 (1998); Nuovo Cim. B111, 483 (1996); ibid. A108, 1467 (1995); Hadronic J. 20, 435 (1997); Fizika B6, 111 (1997); Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebras 7(C), 303 (1997); ibid. 9, 231 (1999); Acta Physica Polon. B29, 619 (1998); Found. Phys. Lett. 13, 387 (2000).
- 8. D. V. Ahluwalia, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A11, 1855 (1996); Mod. Phys. Lett. A13, 3123 (1998).
- 9. N. N. Bogoliubov and D. V. Shirkov, *Introduction to the Theory of Quantized Fields*. 2nd Edition. (Nauka, Moscow, 1973).
- V. V. Dvoeglazov, *Hadronic J. Suppl.* 18, 239 (2003), physics/0402094; *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* B20, 1317 (2006).
- 11. M. Markov, ZhETF 7, 579 (1937); ibid. 603; Nucl. Phys. 55, 130 (1964).
- A. Barut and G. Ziino, Mod. Phys. Lett. A8, 1099 (1993); G. Ziino, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 11, 2081 (1996).
- 13. I. M. Gelfand and M. L. Tsetlin, *ZhETF* **31**, 1107 (1956); G. A. Sokolik, *ZhETF* **33**, 1515 (1957).
- 14. R. P. Feynman and M. Gell.Mann, Phys. Rev. 109, 193 (1958).
- 15. V. V. Dvoeglazov, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 37, 1915 (1998).
- V. A. Ilyin, Spektralnaya Teoriya Differencialnyh Operatorov. (Nauka, Moscow, 1991);
 V. D. Budaev, Osnovy Teorii Nesamosopryazhennyh Differencialnyh Operatorov. (SGMA, Smolensk, 1997).
- 17. H. Snyder, Phys. Rev. 71, 38 (1947); ibid. 72, 68 (1947).
- A. Kempf, G. Mangano and R. B. Mann, Phys. Rev. D52, 1108 (1995); G. Amelino-Camelia, Nature 408, 661 (2000); Int. J. Mod. Phys. D11 35-60 (2002); Phys. Lett. B510 255-263 (2001); AIP Conf. Proc. 589: 137-150, (2001); J. Kowalski-Glikman, Phys. Lett. A286 391-394 (2001); G. Amelino-Camelia and M. Arzano, Phys. Rev. D 65 084044 (2002); N. R. Bruno, G. Amelino-Camelia and J. Kowalski-Glikman, Phys. Lett. B 522 133-138 (2001).
- V. V. Dvoeglazov, Rev. Mex. Fis. Supl. 49, 99 (2003) (Proceedings of the DGFM-SMF School, Huatulco, 2000).
- 20. R. A. Berg, Nuovo Cimento 42A, 148 (1966).

Quantum cosmology with *k*-Essence theory

C.R. Almeida, J.C. Fabris, F. Sbisá, Y. Tavakoli

Abstract A class of *k*-Essence cosmological models, with a power law kinetic term, is quantised in the mini-superspace. It is shown that for a specific configuration, corresponding to a pressureless fluid, a Schrödinger-type equation is obtained with the scalar field playing the role of time. The resulting quantum scenario reveals a bounce, the classical behaviour being recovered asymptotically.

1 Introduction

One of the main problems in the canonical quantisation of the Einstein-Hilbert Lagrangian [1-4] is the absence of a clear time coordinate [5, 6]. There are many approaches to deal with this problem. One of them is to identify an internal parameter that can play the role of time, a procedure called *deparametrisation* [7]. Another one, is to introduce matter fields such that they can be identified with the time coordinate. One example of the last procedure is to introduce a fluid with internal degrees of freedom using, e.g., Schutz's variables [8, 9]. In this case, the

C.R. Almeida

Departamento de Física, UFES, Avenida Fernando Ferrari, 514, CEP 29075-910, Vitória, ES, Brazil, e-mail: carlagbjj@hotmail.com

J.C. Fabris

Departamento de Física, UFES, Avenida Fernando Ferrari, 514, CEP 29075-910, Vitória, ES, Brazil and National Research Nuclear University "MEPhI", Kashirskoe sh. 31, Moscow 115409, Russia, e-mail: frabris@pq.cnpq.br

F. Sbisá

Departamento de Física, UFES, Avenida Fernando Ferrari, 514, CEP 29075-910, Vitória, ES, Brazil,e-mail: fulviosbisa@gmail.com

Y. Tavakoli

Departamento de Física, UFES, Avenida Fernando Ferrari, 514, CEP 29075-910, Vitória, ES, Brazil.e-mail: tavakoli@cosmo-ufes.org

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_25

quantisation of the Einstein-Hilbert action coupled to a fluid in the mini-superspace leads to a Schrödinger-like equation, where the time coordinate is related to the conjugated momentum of the fluid variables, which appears linearly in the Hamiltonian [10–13]. The connection of the fluid variables with a time coordinate through Schutz's variable has been studied extensively in the literature. One interesting result is that the initial cosmological singularity is replaced by a bounce, and classical solutions are recovered asymptotically [12, 13]. This scenario is consistent with the general belief that quantum effects must be important in the primordial universe, while our present universe is essentially classical.

Among the different proposals found in the literature to describe an accelerated phase of expansion of the universe, the *k*-Essence theories [14–16] have a very particular position. Conceived initially to describe the inflationary universe, the *k*-Essence theories have been used also to describe the present phase of accelerated expansion. This class of theories considers a non-canonical kinetic term instead of a self-interacting scalar field. In some cases, the *k*-essence behaviour can be recovered from an effective string action, as it happens with the DBI action [17]. In a cosmological context, one of the characteristics of these theories is that, under some hypothesis, they can reproduce a fluid dynamics at the background and perturbative levels [18,19]. This is particularly true for the a kinetic power law expression, which can reproduce a linear relation between pressure and density $p = \omega \rho$, and the speed of sound for the adiabatic perturbations of the fluid.

In this paper we will investigate the possibility of obtaining a time variable, in a way similar to the employment of Schutz's variables, using a power law noncanonical kinetic term. We will show that this is possible in a very special circumstance, which corresponds to a pressureless fluid. We will obtain a Schrödinger type equation, which will allow us to compute the expectation value for the scale factor, which reveals a bouncing universe in the same way as it occurs using the Schutz variables.

2 A k-Essence quantum model

The general k-Essence action can be written as¹

$$\mathscr{S} = \int dx^4 \sqrt{-g} \Big\{ R - f(X) + V(\phi) \Big\},\tag{1}$$

where $g = \det g_{\mu\nu}$, and f(X) is an arbitrary function of the kinetic term $X = \phi_{;\rho} \phi^{;\rho}$ and $V(\phi)$ is a potential term. If f(X) = X, the usual minimally coupled system gravity-self interacting scalar field is recovered.

In what follows we will concentrate on the power law *k*-Essence model, for which $f(X) = \varepsilon X^n$, where *n* is a real number, and $\varepsilon = \pm 1$. With the introduction of ε the

¹ We use the signature (+--) and the following convention for the Ricci tensor: $R_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\rho}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\rho} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\sigma\rho} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\sigma}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\nu\rho}$.

possibility of a phantom configuration is taken into account. The usual gravity-scalar field system corresponds to n = 1, $\varepsilon = 1$. Moreover, we will consider $V(\phi) = 0$. In this case, a cosmological fluid scenario with $p = \omega \rho$ and $\omega =$ constant is reproduced by the *k*-Essence model provided that

$$\omega = \frac{1}{2n-1}.$$
 (2)

This particular *k*-Essence class of theories has been recently investigated in the context of static spherically symmetric configurations, revealing some very peculiar new structures [20].

Let us consider the flat, homogenous and isotropic Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) metric defined by

$$ds^{2} = N(t)^{2} dt^{2} - a(t)^{2} [dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2}],$$
(3)

where N(t) is the lapse function. With this metric, the action (1), after integrating by parts and discarding total derivatives, reduces to

$$\mathscr{S} = \int dt \left\{ \frac{6}{N} \dot{a}^2 a - \varepsilon a^3 N^{1-2n} \dot{\phi}^{2n} \right\}.$$
⁽⁴⁾

In order to have analyticity, we will consider ϕ positive, but it is possible to extend the results for the whole real line. The corresponding conjugate momenta for the scale factor *a* and the field ϕ are

$$\pi_a = \frac{12}{N} a \dot{a} \quad , \quad \pi_\phi = -2n\varepsilon a^3 N^{1-2n} \dot{\phi}^{2n-1}.$$
 (5)

In expressing $\dot{\phi}$ in terms of π_{ϕ} we must invert the relation above. For n = 2k, k is a natural number such that $k \neq 0$, the radicand must be positive ($\varepsilon = -1$); for n = 2k + 1, the radicand does not need to be positive, but analyticity is lost at the origin $\pi_{\phi} = 0$. In spite of this, we will proceed in a general way since the configurations that interest us imply different conditions on *n*. The Hamiltonian reads $H = N\mathcal{H}$, where

$$\mathscr{H} = \frac{1}{24} \frac{\pi^2}{a} + (2n-1) \left(-\varepsilon a^3\right)^{-\frac{1}{2n-1}} \left(\frac{\pi_{\phi}}{2n}\right)^{\frac{2n}{2n-1}}.$$
 (6)

If $n \to \infty$, the conjugated momentum associated to ϕ appears linearly in the Hamiltonian, so that ϕ can play the role of time.

3 The case $n \to \infty$

In the limit $n \rightarrow \infty$, the Hamiltonian takes the form

$$\mathscr{H} = \frac{1}{24} \frac{\pi_a^2}{a} + \pi_\phi. \tag{7}$$

A very important remark is that even if the Hamiltonian is well defined in the limit $n \to \infty$, the Lagrangian is not well defined. After the redefinition $\frac{\phi}{24} \to \phi$, the corresponding Schrödinger equation, with $\hbar = 1$, reads

$$-\partial_a^2 \Psi - \frac{q}{a} \partial_a \Psi = a i \partial_\phi \Psi, \tag{8}$$

where we have introduced a factor ordering q. This is essentially the same equation found in reference [13] with the Schutz formalism. In what follows we will consider q = 1. In this case, it is possible to show that the effective Hamiltonian is self-adjoint [21]. Other choices for q could be used without changing in an essential way the final results.

The effective Hamiltonian represented by the terms on the left-hand side of (8) is symmetric (or, hermitian) if a non-trivial measure is introduced in computing the scalar product:

$$(\phi, \psi) = \int_0^\infty \phi^* \psi a^2 da.$$
(9)

Let us consider a stationary state, such that $\Psi(a, \phi) = \Phi(a) e^{-iE\phi}$. Then, the Schrödinger equation (8) takes the form

$$\partial_a^2 \Phi + \frac{1}{a} \partial_a \Phi + aE\Phi = 0. \tag{10}$$

It is not difficult to show, using a non-trivial measure of the scalar product, that the energy is positive, E > 0, which is important for the stability of the system. Changing to the variable $x = a^{\frac{3}{2}}$ and identifying $\frac{4}{9}E \rightarrow E$, we end up with Bessel's equation, with the solution

$$\Psi(a,\phi) = A(E)J_0(Ea^{\frac{3}{2}})e^{-iE\phi}, \qquad (11)$$

where A(E) is a weight factor, and we have discarded the second solution of the Bessel equation, corresponding to the Neumann function, since it is divergent at the origin.

The solution (11) may lead to a non-singular cosmological scenario as in reference [13]. In fact, let us consider the wavepacket constructed with the following superposition [22]:

$$\Psi_{\phi}(a) = \int_{0}^{\infty} y e^{-\alpha y^{2}} J_{0}(y a^{\frac{3}{2}}) dy = \frac{1}{2(\gamma + i\phi)} e^{-\frac{a^{3}}{4(\gamma + i\phi)}},$$
(12)

where $y = \sqrt{E}$ and $\alpha = \gamma + i\phi$, with $\gamma > 0$. Now, we can calculate the expectation value for the scale factor, considering ϕ as the corresponding time variable. The expectation value is

Quantum cosmology with k-Essence theory

$$\langle a \rangle_{\phi} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \Psi^{*} a \Psi a^{2} da = C(\gamma^{2} + \phi^{2})^{\frac{1}{3}},$$
 (13)

where C > 0 is a constant. This implies a bouncing universe, with no singularity, since $\langle a \rangle_{\phi} \geq C \gamma^{2/3}$. Furthermore, asymptotically (that is when $\phi \to \infty$) we have $\langle a \rangle_{\phi} \propto \phi^{\frac{2}{3}}$.

We can easily verify that the corresponding classical cosmological scenario is recovered asymptotically. Using the FLRW, we find the differential equations (by fixing the cosmic time, such that N = 1):

$$\left(\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\right)^2 = \frac{(2n-1)}{6}\varepsilon\phi^{2n} \quad , \quad \dot{\phi}^{2n-1} = Ka^{-3}, \tag{14}$$

where *K* is an integration constant. Hence, we have the following equation for the scale factor:

$$3\left(\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\right)^2 = \bar{K}a^{-\frac{6n}{2n-1}} =: \rho_{\phi}, \qquad (15)$$

where \bar{K} is a combination of the previous constants. A general solution can be easily obtained:

$$a \propto t^{\frac{2n-1}{3n}}$$
, $\phi \propto t^{\frac{n-1}{n}}$. (16)

In the limit $n \rightarrow \infty$, the solutions read

$$a \propto t^{\frac{2}{3}}$$
 , $\phi \propto t$. (17)

The last relation confirms the previous statement that ϕ plays essentially the role of time in the limit $n \to \infty$. Moreover, in this limit, the scale factor behaves as in a dust dominated universe. We have classically the relation $a \propto \phi^{\frac{2}{3}}$, which agrees with the relation found asymptotically in the quantum model.

4 Conclusions

In this paper we have studied a quantum model in the mini-superspace from a class of *k*-Essence cosmology based on a power law kinetic term X^n , where X is the usual expression for the kinetic term of a scalar field. We found that the momentum for the scalar field appears linearly in the Hamiltonian in the limit $n \to \infty$. In this case, the scalar field may play the role of a time variable. The corresponding quantum scenario has been worked out, leading to a bounce universe, which recovers classical behaviour asymptotically. The case $n \to \infty$ leads, at the classical level, to a cosmological model equivalent to that obtained by a pressureless fluid matter component, with $a \propto t^{\frac{2}{3}}$. A clear identification of the scalar field as the time component

is possible only in this special case. The canonical transformation allowing the identification of scalar field as a time component seems only well defined for that limit, otherwise we must face problems with fractional derivatives which may imply loosing the notion of locality. The fact that only the case corresponding to a pressureless fluid leads to a possible identification of the scalar field with a time variable evokes previous proposals that a pressureless fluid may allow recovery of the notion of a time variable in cosmology [23, 24].

It must be remarked, however, that strictly speaking, a pressureless fluid is an idealisation, since no real fluid has zero pressure exactly. In some sense, maybe such an aspect of the problem is related to the curious properties of the original *k*-Essence model developed here in the limit $n \rightarrow \infty$, with a well-defined Hamiltonian, but with no Lagrangian. The possible deep meaning of such a limit process remains an open problem.

Acknowledgements We thank CNPq (Brazil) and FAPES (Brazil) for partial financial support. CRA and YT acknowledge support also from CAPES (Brazil). YT acknowledges partial financial support from INEF (Iran).

References

- 1. B. S. DeWitt, Phys. Rev. 160, 1113 (1967).
- 2. C. W. Misner, Phys. Rev. 186, 1319 (1969).
- 3. C. W. Misner, Phys. Rev. 186, 1328 (1969).
- 4. N. Pinto-Neto, *Quantum cosmology, in Cosmology and Gravitation*, edited by M. Novello, Éditions Frontières, Gif-sur-Yvette (1996).
- 5. K. Kuchař, *Time and interpretation of quantum gravity*, in Proc. of the 4th Canadian Conf. on General Relativity and Relativistic Astrophyscis, World Scientific, Singapore, (1992).
- C. J. Isham, Canonical Quantum Gravity and the Problem of Time, in "Integrable systems, quantum groups and quantum field theories", eds. LA Ibort and MA Rodriguez, Salamanca (Kluwer, London, 1993), arXiv:gr-qc/9210011.
- 7. P. Malkiewicz, Class. Quant. Grav. 29, 075008 (2012).
- 8. B. F. Schutz, Phys. Rev. D 2, 2762 (1970).
- 9. B. F. Schutz, Phys. Rev. D 4, 3559 (1971).
- 10. V. G. Lapchinskii and V. A. Rubakov, Theor. Math. Phys. 33, 1076 (1977).
- 11. M. J. Gotay and J. Demaret, Phys. Rev. D 28, 2402 (1983).
- 12. F. G. Alvarenga and N. A. Lemos, Gen. Rel. Grav. 30, 681 (1998).
- 13. F. G. Alvarenga, J. C. Fabris, N. A. Lemos and G. A. Monerat, Gen. Rel. Grav. 34, 651 (2002).
- 14. C. Armendariz-Picon, V. Mukhanov and P. J. Steinhardt, Phys. Rev. D 63, 103510 (2001).
- 15. C. Armendariz-Picon, T. Damour and V. Mukhanov, Phys. Lett. B 458, 209 (1999).
- 16. C. Armendariz-Picon, V. Mukhanov, and P. J. Steinhardt, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 4438 (2000).
- 17. R. Leigh, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4, 2767 (1989).
- 18. R. J. Scherrer, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, 011301 (2004).
- 19. J. C. Fabris, T. C. C. Guio, M. H. Daouda and O. F. Piattella, Grav. & Cosm. 17, 259 (2011).
- 20. K. A. Bronnikov, J. C. Fabris and D. C. Rodrigues, Grav. & Cosm. 22, 26 (2016).
- 21. C. R. Almeida, A.B. Batista, J.C. Fabris and P. R. L. V. Moniz, Grav & Cosm. 21, 191(2015).
- 22. I. S. Gradshteyn and I. M. Ryzhik, *Table of Integrals, Series and Products*, Academic Press, San Diego (2007).
- 23. J. D. Brown and K. V. Kuchař, Phys. Rev. D51, 5600 (1995).
- 24. V. Hussain and T. Pawlowski, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 141301(2012).

Troubles with the radiation reaction in electrodynamics

Sofiane Faci, José A. Helayel-Neto and V. H. Satheeshkumar

Abstract The dynamics of a radiating charge is one of the oldest unsettled problems in classical physics. The standard Lorentz-Abraham-Dirac (LAD) equation of motion is known to suffer from several pathologies and ambiguities. This paper briefly reviews these issues, and reports on a new model that fixes these difficulties in a natural way. This model is based on a hypothesis that there is an infinitesimal time delay between action and reaction. This can be related to Feynman's regularization scheme, leading to a quasi-local QED with a natural UV cutoff, hence without the need for renormalization as the divergences are absent. Besides leading to a pathology-free equation of motion, the new model predicts a modification of the Larmor formula that is testable with current and near future ultra-intense lasers.

1 Introduction

The problem of electromagnetic radiation reaction goes back to the end of the nineteenth century [1]. This history is long, rich and also particularly surprising given the simplicity of the problem at first sight. The standard Lorentz-invariant equation of motion of a radiating charged particle is given by the LAD equation. It is well-known that this equation is plagued by several pathologies and ambiguities. Although these have cast doubt on the foundations of classical electrodynamics, they were long considered harmless for all practical purposes. However, the recent

Sofiane Faci

CBPF, Rio de Janeiro, RJ 22290-180, Brazil. e-mail: sofiane@cbpf.br

José A. Helayel-Neto CBPF, Rio de Janeiro, RJ 22290-180, Brazil. e-mail: helayel@cbpf.br

V. H. Satheeshkumar

Departamento de Física Teórica, Instituto de Física, UERJ, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; Observatório Nacional, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. e-mail: vhsatheeshkumar@gmail.com

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_26

advances in ultra-intense laser technology [2–4] and related sophisticated numerical simulations [5, 6] have renewed interest in this problem.

The LAD equation reads

$$m\ddot{z}^{\mu} = F^{\mu}_{ext} + F^{\mu}_{rad},\tag{1}$$

where F_{ext}^{μ} is the exterior Lorentz force, and F_{rad}^{μ} is the radiation damping force given by

$$F^{\mu}_{rad} = m\varepsilon(\ddot{z}^{\,\mu} + \ddot{z}^2 \, \dot{z}^{\,\mu}), \qquad (2)$$

with $\varepsilon = \frac{2e^2}{3m}$ and $\ddot{z}^{\mu} = \frac{d^2}{d\tau^2} z^{\mu}$ being the acceleration; $z^{\mu} = z^{\mu}(\tau)$ are the coordinates of the charge given as functions of the proper time τ . We use units $c = k = \hbar = 1$ (*k* is Coulomb's constant) and the spacetime is flat with signature (+, --). The first term on the r.h.s. of the Eq. (2) is the so-called Schott term, and the second is the Larmor term. This is because Larmor's formula for the radiated four-momentum is given by

$$\delta P^{\mu}_{Larmor} = -m\varepsilon \, \ddot{z}^2 \, \dot{z}^{\mu}. \tag{3}$$

Up to the current experimental precision, this formula correctly describes the observed radiated energy not only in everyday devices like cellphones and WiFi spots, but also in sophisticated cyclotrons and synchrotrons.

2 LAD equation: pathologies and ambiguities

In this section, we give a brief review of the two pathologies and three ambiguities of the LAD equation.

Self-acceleration or *runaway*. This pathology can be inferred from the nonrelativistic limit of the LAD equation, $m\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{f} + m\varepsilon \mathbf{a}$. For simplicity let us consider $\mathbf{f} = 0$; the solution reads $\mathbf{a}(t) = \mathbf{a}_o \exp(\varepsilon t)$, which is divergent for non-vanishing initial acceleration. There have been several attempts to fix this pathology, among which the most notable is certainly the Landau-Lifshitz equation [7]. This involves rewriting LAD equation (1) in a perturbative way and linking explicitly the radiation force (2) to the external forces; this is known as order reduction. Its non-relativistic limit reads $m\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{f}_{ext} + \varepsilon \mathbf{f}_{ext} + higher orders$. This equation is obviously free of runaway solutions but suffers from the remaining problems of the LAD equation. Moreover, since the perturbation parameter is given by f/f, the Landau-Lifshitz model is limited to slowly varying external forces. One can also mention the similar and familiar equation of Ford and O'Connell where no divergencies appear [8]. Another attempt came from Rohrlich whose solution has the peculiarity of worsening the pre-acceleration behaviour since the charge needs to know the whole future history of the external force to adapt its acceleration [9].

Pre-acceleration. The charge's acceleration always precedes the external force, $m\mathbf{a}(t-\varepsilon) \approx \mathbf{f}(t)$, leading to causality violation. There have been not many attempts at fixing this pathology. Since it is characterised by the infinitesimal time

 $\varepsilon \approx 10^{-23} s$, it is believed that there could be no classical resolution. Quantum mechanics is required to go further even though it is not well suited to describe motion¹. The first to implement this program were Moniz and Sharp who used the Heisenberg picture and standard perturbative theory [11]. The pre-acceleration pathology is avoided by introducing a cutoff that corresponds to the Compton scale, $\lambda = 137\varepsilon$ (recall that c = 1). This comes as no surprise since the cutoff is much bigger than the pathology typical scale. More recent developments include the work of Higuchi and Martin who take into consideration the full relativistic QED [12]. Unfortunately they recover the LAD equation and its associated pathologies in the classical limit.

Time-reversible or not. One might argue that the time-irreversible character of the LAD equation is obvious due to the presence of the Schott term, $\propto \ddot{z}^{\mu}$, indeed, every odd-order time-derivative of the position being irreversible. However, some authors believe that classical electrodynamics should be time reversible and sometimes prefer to rewrite the radiation force (2) in an integro-differential form to *hide* the Schott term [13]. Rohrlich has argued that the LAD equation is reversible provided that the retarded fields are replaced with advanced ones [14], but the radiation process, as a whole, is irreversible for nature preferring retarded instead of advanced fields [15]. Rovelli refuted the argument stating that time reversal should also interchange cause and effect [16].

Uniform acceleration. The problems with the LAD equation become evident when considering uniform acceleration. Instead of leading to trivial results, as one would expect, it raises more questions. Indeed it is not clear why there is no radiation damping and the very origin of the radiated energy is mysterious in this case [17]. In addition, this might give rise to a conflict with the Equivalence Principle which locally equates acceleration and gravitational field. A free (unbound) charge on earth would emit energy forever, which does not seem to happen. This is so troublesome that Feynman claimed there could be no radiation in this case and commented that the dependence of Larmor's formula on the acceleration (instead of its variation) *has led us astray* [18]. Since then an intense work has been devoted to this problem, see [19] and references therein. The accepted resolution, due to Boulware [20], asserts that a uniformly accelerated charge does radiate, but such a radiation cannot be detected by a comoving observer because it falls outside of his (or her) future cone.

Energy balance paradox. There is a systematic energy balance discrepancy in the LAD equation. Indeed, it is not possible to relate the work done against the radiation reaction force and the radiated energy-momentum. In other words, the Larmor formula cannot be recovered from the LAD equation. This is evident for uniform acceleration, as discussed in the previous paragraph, but is not limited to this particular case. This energy balance paradox was recently revealed in [21] where it was also shown that the widely accepted treatment based on the bound field technique cannot fix this discrepancy. The underlying reason is that the momentum defined by Schott and later by Teitelboim is not a legitimate four-momentum for being indefinite and non-conserved.

¹ It is possible to infer the equation of motion from non-relativistic QM as a limit for averaged operators using the Ehrenfest theorem but we do not know exactly how to describe the motion of radiating charges in this framework [10].

3 Time-delayed electrodynamics

In this section, we discuss a recently proposed model for the motion of a classical charge which appears to fix the above difficulties [25]. This model is based on the hypothesis of an infinitesimal time-delay between the action of an external electromagnetic field and the inertial reaction of elementary charges. The time-delay is given by $\varepsilon = 2e^2/(3m)$ which is of order $10^{-23}s$ for an electron². This corresponds to 2/3 the time that it takes light to cross the classical radius of the electron. The infinitesimal delay parameter ε should be seen as a scalar with dimension of time (or distance if multiplied by *c*). Hence ε is Lorentz-invariant and is thus observer-independent. Note that no particular assumptions are required with respect to the structure, shape or size of the electron. In particular the problems related to the rigid spherical electron do not apply to this model. The new equation of motion reads

$$f_{\mu}(\tau) - m\ddot{z}_{\mu}(\tau) = m \left| \delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)_{\mu}^{\perp} \right| = m \left| \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon^{n}}{n!} z_{\mu}^{(n+2)\perp}(\tau) \right|,$$
(4)

where $\delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon) = \ddot{z}(\tau+\varepsilon) - \ddot{z}(\tau)$, $|\delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)_{\mu}^{\perp}| = s \,\delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)_{\mu}^{\perp}$, with $s = sign(\delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)_{o}^{\perp})$. This guarantees that energy flux goes from the external force f to the kinetic sector \ddot{z} when the acceleration is positive and the opposite for negative acceleration. The projector on the hyperplane $\Sigma(\tau)$ orthogonal to the charge worldline (i.e., to \dot{z}^{μ}) at instant τ is denoted $\perp_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} - \|_{\mu\nu}$ with $\|_{\mu\nu} = \dot{z}_{\mu} \dot{z}_{\nu}$ being the parallel projector on the worldline. This is needed for consistency since $f_{\mu}(\tau) \in \Sigma(\tau)$ while $\ddot{z}_{\mu}(\tau+\varepsilon) \in \Sigma(\tau+\varepsilon)$, the two hyperplanes being not parallel, except for inertial motion. It is important to remark that $\delta \ddot{z}(\tau,\varepsilon)$ can be equivalently replaced by $\delta f(\tau,\varepsilon) = f(\tau) - f(\tau-\varepsilon)$ in this equation (and throughout the text) provided the external field is far below the Schwinger critical limit, $E_c = \frac{m^2}{e}$ (linear electrodynamics) and the frequency under the limit ε^{-1} (electron-positron pair creation). Both limits are far above current experimental capabilities [24]. Within these limits, and up to the first-order expansion in terms of ε , equation (4) reduces to

$$m\ddot{z}_{\mu}(\tau) = f_{\mu}(\tau) - sm\varepsilon \ \ddot{z}_{\mu}^{\perp} + o(\varepsilon^2), \tag{5}$$

with now $s = sign(\ddot{z}_{o}^{\perp})$. This is the LAD equation (1) when $\ddot{z}_{o}^{\perp} < 0$, implying s = -1, which corresponds for example to circular motion (cyclotron and synchrotron). For $\ddot{z}_{o}^{\perp} > 0$ the radiation force has an opposite sign in comparison with the LAD equation and this, in principle, is experimentally testable. That is, the pre-acceleration behaviour appears only when $\ddot{z}_{o}^{\perp} < 0$, and one has a post-acceleration

² This is comparable to the observed time delay in the photoelectric effect by atoms and molecules. Indeed, the recent advances in the so-called attosecond chronoscopy have raised fundamental questions and generated an intense theoretical and experimental activity. This was predicted by Wigner [23] and confirmed by direct observations. Time scales vary around $10^{-18}s$ for small atoms and molecules. A recent proposal has demonstrated the technical possibility of reaching precision of $10^{-21}s$ by using high harmonic x-ray pulses generated with midinfrared lasers [22]. Hence the time shift attributed to the electron will be soon within the range of experimental capabilities.

for $\ddot{z}_o^{\perp} > 0$. Hence pre-acceleration is not systematic and consequently not problematic. Note also that the time-irreversal character of equation (4) is evident since even and odd high-order terms in the expansion series do not transform equally under time reversal. As for the radiated energy-momentum, it is given by the parallel projection

$$\delta P_{rad}^{\mu} = m \, \delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)^{\parallel} = m \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon^n}{n!} z_{\mu}^{(n+2)\parallel}(\tau). \tag{6}$$

Like the equation of motion (1), this formula is clearly time-irreversible. The first term of the expansion corresponds to Larmor formula (3). The higher-order terms are new and might drastically change the behaviour of radiating charges in the case of rapidly changing external forces, as in high-frequency lasers experiments. The acceleration vector being spacelike, the Larmor term is evidently positive. The odd higher-order terms are shown to be positive in [25]. The even derivative terms have an indefinite sign and are time-reversible. However, within the validity limit of the model, the dominant term is the Larmor term and so the radiated momentum is always positive and forward oriented. In addition, performing a motion back and forth results in a null momentum coming from even terms. Furthermore, using the identity $\delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)^2 = (\delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)^{\perp})^2 + (\delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)^{\parallel})^2$, together with equations (4) and (6), defining the total momentum flux (between the instants τ and $\tau + \varepsilon$) as $\delta P_{tot}^{\mu}(\tau) = m \delta \ddot{z}(\tau, \varepsilon)$ and the internal momentum flux as $\delta P_{int}^{\mu}(\tau) = f^{\mu}(\tau) - m \ddot{z}^{\mu}(\tau)$, one obtains

$$\delta P_{tot}^2 = \delta P_{int}^2 + \delta P_{rad}^2. \tag{7}$$

This formula stands for energy-momentum conservation. It says that the total momentum, δP_{tot} is split into an internal flux δP_{int} , which flows between the kinetic and potential sectors, and an external flux δP_{rad} , which is dissipated. Moreover since it involves scalar quantities, the relation (7) is frame-independent.

Let us now apply the above formula to a simple and testable example related to the ultra-high intense laser experiments. In particular, we consider a nonrelativistic electron interacting with a monochromatic plane wave laser of frequency ω and intensity $I = \frac{1}{4\pi}E_o^2$, where E_o stands for the mean value of the electric field. The equation of motion is given by (5) with s = -1 (this is a cyclic motion) while the radiated power (6) yields

$$\delta P_{rad} = \delta P_{Larmor} [1 + \frac{1}{6} (\varepsilon \omega)^2 + o(\varepsilon \omega)^4], \tag{8}$$

where $\delta P_{Larmor} = m\epsilon a^2 = \frac{4\pi e^2}{m}I\epsilon$ comes out of Larmor's formula (3). Hence the new formula predicts a higher amount of radiated energy. The excess radiated power depends linearly on the intensity of the laser *I*, and non-linearly on its frequency, ω . Consequently one can remain well below the Schwinger and ϵ^{-1} limits (which limit the validity of the present model) while the experimental conditions for testing the predicted deviation from Larmor's formula are guaranteed, which is more easily attained by increasing the laser frequency.

4 Summary

In this paper, we have attempted to fix many pathologies of the LAD equation describing the motion of a radiating charge. Our model is based on a hypothesis of an infinitesimal time delay between action and reaction. Accordingly, the force and acceleration vectors do not live on the same hyperplane orthogonal to the worldline. The orthogonal projection of the delayed force leads to the equation of motion, a discrete delay differential equation [26] whose expansion reduces to the LAD equation at the first-order and for cyclic motion. The radiated four-momentum is extracted from the parallel projection on the worldline of the charge, which exactly reduces to Larmor formula at the first-order. The higher-order terms are new and experimentally testable, thanks to recent advances in laser technology. One practical example we have outlined has precise and explicit predictions. Finally, we would like to mention that the time-delay ε yields a quasi-local QED exhibiting a natural UV cutoff. This might be related to Feynman's regularization scheme [27] but with no need for renormalization since no divergencies need to be cured.

Acknowledgements We thank CNPq for financial support. VHS also acknowledges financial support from FAPERJ, and is grateful to Jailson Alcaniz for the hospitality at ON.

References

- 1. R. Hammond, Electron. J. Theor. Phys., 7, 221 (2010).
- 2. A. Di Piazza, et al. Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 1177 (2012).
- 3. D. G. Green and C. N. Harvey, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 164801 (2014).
- 4. D. A. Burton and A. Noble, Contemp. Phys. 55 110 (2014).
- 5. L. L. Ji, et. al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 145003 (2014).
- 6. V. Dinu, et al. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 044801 (2016).
- 7. L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, *The Classical Theory of Fields*, (Butterworth-Heinemann, 1980).
- 8. G. W. Ford and R. F. O'Connell, Phys. Lett. A174, 182 (1993).
- 9. F. Rohrlich, Ann. Phys., 13, 93 (1961).
- 10. P. Moylan, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 32, 2031 (1993).
- 11. E. J. Moniz and D. H. Sharp, Phys. Rev. D 15 2850 (1977).
- 12. A. Higuchi and G. D. R. Martin, Phys. Rev. D 70 081701 (2004).
- 13. J. D. Jackson, Classical Electrodynamics (Wiley, Third Edition, 1999).
- 14. F. Rohrlich, Found. Phys., 28, 1045 (1998).
- 15. F. Rohrlich, Stud. Hist. Phil. Mod. Phys., 31, 1 (2000).
- 16. C. Rovelli, Stud. Hist. Phil. Sci., 35, 397 (2004).
- 17. A. Harpaz and N. Soker, Gen. Rel. Grav. 30 1217 (1998).
- 18. R. P. Feynman, Lectures on Gravitation (Reading, USA, 1995).
- 19. A. Higuchi, G. E. A. Matsas and D. Sudarsky, Phys. Rev. D 56 6071 (1997).
- 20. D. G. Boulware, Ann. Phys. 124 169 (1980).
- 21. S. Faci and J. A. Helayël-Neto, arXiv:1608.07177 (2016). Submitted to EPL.
- 22. C. Hernández-García et. al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 033002 (2013).
- 23. E. P. Wigner, Phys. Rev. 98 145 (1955).
- 24. S. S. Bulanov, et. al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 220407 (2010).
- 25. S. Faci and M. Novello, arXiv:1611.07611. To be submitted to EPL.
- 26. M. Atiyah and G. Moore, Surveys in Differential Geometry XV, arXiv:1009.3176 (2010).
- 27. R. P. Feynman, Phys. Rev. 74 1430 (1948).

Gravitational "seesaw" and light bending in higher-derivative gravity

Antonio Accioly, Breno L. Giacchini and Ilya L. Shapiro

Abstract Local gravitational theories with more than four derivatives have remarkable quantum properties, e.g., they are super-renormalizable and may be unitary in the Lee-Wick sense. Therefore, it is important to explore also the IR limit of these theories and identify observable signatures of the higher derivatives. In the present work we study the scattering of a photon by a classical external gravitational field in the sixth-derivative model whose propagator contains only real, simple poles. Also, we discuss the possibility of a gravitational seesaw-like mechanism, which could allow the makeup of a relatively small physical mass from the huge massive parameters of the action. If possible, this mechanism would be a way out of the Planck suppression, affecting the gravitational deflection of low energy photons. It turns out that the mechanism which actually occurs works only to shift heavier masses to the further UV region. This fact may be favourable for protecting the theory from instabilities, but makes experimental detection of higher derivatives more difficult.

1 Introduction

The idea of including higher-derivative terms in the Einstein-Hilbert action was proposed still in the early years of general relativity, and was considered more seriously during the 1960's and 1970's driven by quantum theoretical considerations. Indeed, the renormalization of quantum fields on curved space-time requires the introduction of curvature-squared terms [12]; also, it was shown that the fourth-derivative

Antonio Accioly, Breno L. Giacchini

Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas, Rua Dr. Xavier Sigaud 150, Urca, 22290-180, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil, e-mail: accioly@cbpf.br,breno@cbpf.br

Ilya L. Shapiro

Departamento de Física, ICE, Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora, Campus Universitário - Juiz de Fora, 36036-330, MG, Brazil; Tomsk State Pedagogical University and Tomsk State University, Tomsk, Russia, e-mail: shapiro@fisica.ufjf.br

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_27

gravity is renormalizable, in opposition to the Einsteinian theory [11]. As it is widely known, this type of theory usually suffers from Ostrogradsky instabilities at the classical level and have negative-norm states when quantized; notwithstanding, in absence of a straight road to quantum gravity, the role played by higher-derivative terms should be investigated. In this spirit, it was recently shown that gravity theories with more than four derivatives are super-renormalizable [4], and may yield a unitary S-matrix in the Lee-Wick sense if all the massive poles in the propagator are complex [9]. Some other recent studies on general super-renormalizable theories can be found in Refs. [1,2,5,8].

In the present work we study the bending of light in the most simple superrenormalizable gravity theory, i.e., the sixth-derivative model described by the action

$$S = S_{\rm grav} + \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \,\mathscr{L}_{\rm m}\,,\tag{1}$$

$$S_{\rm grav} = \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} \left\{ \frac{2}{\kappa^2} R + \frac{\alpha}{2} R^2 + \frac{\beta}{2} R_{\mu\nu}^2 + \frac{A}{2} R \Box R + \frac{B}{2} R_{\mu\nu} \Box R^{\mu\nu} \right\}, \quad (2)$$

where an additional matter action was introduced. Here α , β , A and B are free parameters; the first two are dimensionless while A and B carry dimension of $(\text{mass})^{-2}$. The notation $\kappa^2/2 = 16\pi G = M_P^{-2}$ is conventional in the quantum gravity literature; here M_P is the Planck mass.

In Section 2 we discuss the deflection of light caused by a static massive body within the semi-classical framework, while in Section 3 we analyse the possibility of avoiding Planck suppression effects to this phenomenon due to a specific seesaw-like mechanism. Our conclusions are summarized in Section 4. We note that further consideration of the issues presented in this work can be found in [1, 2].

Our sign convention follows from the definitions $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(1, -1, -1, -1)$, $R^{\rho}_{\lambda\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\lambda\nu} + \cdots$ and $R_{\mu\nu} = R^{\rho}_{\mu\nu\rho}$. Also, we set $\hbar = c = 1$.

2 Light bending in the sixth-order gravity

In the weak field regime we consider the metric to be a fluctuation around the flatspace, $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \kappa h_{\mu\nu}$, with $|\kappa h_{\mu\nu}| \ll 1$. Then, it is possible to show that the field generated by a static point-like mass, has non-zero components given by [2]:

$$h_{00} = \frac{M\kappa}{16\pi} \left(-\frac{1}{r} + \frac{4}{3}F_2 - \frac{1}{3}F_0 \right),$$

$$h_{11} = h_{22} = h_{33} = \frac{M\kappa}{16\pi} \left(-\frac{1}{r} + \frac{2}{3}F_2 + \frac{1}{3}F_0 \right),$$
(3)

where

$$F_k = \frac{m_{k+}^2}{m_{k+}^2 - m_{k-}^2} \frac{e^{-m_{k-}r}}{r} + \frac{m_{k-}^2}{m_{k-}^2 - m_{k+}^2} \frac{e^{-m_{k+}r}}{r}.$$

Here k = 0, 2 labels the spin of the particles, whose masses are defined by the positions of the poles of the propagator,

$$m_{2\pm}^2 = \frac{\beta \pm \sqrt{\beta^2 + \frac{16}{\kappa^2}B}}{2B}, \quad m_{0\pm}^2 = \frac{\sigma_1 \pm \sqrt{\sigma_1^2 - \frac{8\sigma_2}{\kappa^2}}}{2\sigma_2}, \quad \sigma_1 = 3\alpha + \beta, \ \sigma_2 = 3A + B.$$
(4)

As mentioned above, in this work we assume that the parameters α , β , A and B are such that $m_{k\pm} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $m_{k+} \neq m_{k-}$ (for the most general scenario see [2]). In particular, it must hold that β , B < 0. It is possible to show that m_{2+} and m_{0+} are ghost modes, while the others are healthy excitations [8].

The deflection of light due to a weak gravitational field can be evaluated within the semi-classical approach by considering the photon to be a quantum particle which interacts with the classical external field (3). At tree-level the only diagram contributing to the scattering is the one depicted in Fig. 1, which produces the vertex function

$$V_{\mu\nu}(p,p') = \frac{\kappa}{2} h_{\text{ext}}^{\lambda\rho}(\mathbf{k}) \Big[-\eta_{\mu\nu} \eta_{\lambda\rho} p \cdot p' + \eta_{\lambda\rho} p'_{\mu} p_{\nu} + 2 \Big(\eta_{\mu\nu} p_{\lambda} p'_{\rho} - \eta_{\nu\rho} p_{\lambda} p'_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\lambda} p_{\nu} p'_{\rho} + \eta_{\mu\lambda} \eta_{\nu\rho} p \cdot p' \Big) \Big].$$
(5)

Neglecting energy exchange between the photon and gravitational field and assuming that the bending angle is small, it is possible to show that the unpolarized cross section for this process reads [1]:

$$\frac{d\sigma}{d\Omega} = 16G^2 M^2 \left[\frac{1}{\theta^2} + \frac{E^2}{m_{2-}^2 - m_{2+}^2} \left(\frac{m_{2+}^2}{E^2 \theta^2 + m_{2-}^2} - \frac{m_{2-}^2}{E^2 \theta^2 + m_{2+}^2} \right) \right]^2, \quad (6)$$

where E = E' is the energy of the photon and θ is the deflection angle, i.e., the angle encompassed by **p** and **p**'.

From the previous expression it is possible to conclude that

i. light deflection does not depend on $m_{0\pm}$, and thus on the sectors R^2 and $R \Box R$. This happens because these sectors can be regarded as conformal transformations on the metric [2].



Fig. 1 Photon scattering by an external gravitational field. Here $|\mathbf{p}| \approx |\mathbf{p}'|$. ii. Light deflects less than in general relativity. In fact, the ghost m_{2+} gives oppositesign effect compared to the healthy massive mode m_{2-} and the graviton, and

$$m_{2-} > m_{2+} \implies \frac{m_{2-}^2 E^2}{E^2 \theta^2 + m_{2+}^2} > \frac{m_{2+}^2 E^2}{E^2 \theta^2 + m_{2-}^2} \implies \left(\frac{d\sigma}{d\Omega}\right)_E > \frac{d\sigma}{d\Omega} > 0,$$
(7)

where $(d\sigma/d\Omega)_E = (4GM/\theta^2)^2$ is the cross-section for general relativity.

iii. The scattering is dispersive – more energetic photons undergo less deflection. In fact, the second relation in (7) shows that among the dispersive interactions, the repulsive one is stronger. Therefore, since all the photons are equally attracted by the *R*-sector, the more energetic ones are more repelled and thus less scattered.

In order to evaluate the deflection undergone by a photon with energy *E* and impact parameter *b*, we can compare the previous expression to the classical cross-section formula $d\sigma/d\Omega = -b\theta^{-1}db/d\theta$, which yields

$$\frac{1}{\theta_{E}^{2}} = \frac{1}{\theta^{2}} + \frac{E^{2}}{(m_{2-}^{2} - m_{2+}^{2})^{2}} \left(\frac{m_{2-}^{4}}{E^{2}\theta^{2} + m_{2+}^{2}} + \frac{m_{2+}^{4}}{E^{2}\theta^{2} + m_{2-}^{2}} \right)
+ \frac{2E^{2}}{m_{2-}^{2} - m_{2+}^{2}} \left[\frac{m_{2-}^{2}}{m_{2+}^{2}} \ln \left(\frac{E^{2}\theta^{2}}{E^{2}\theta^{2} + m_{2+}^{2}} \right) - \frac{m_{2-}^{2}}{m_{2-}^{2}} \ln \left(\frac{E^{2}\theta^{2}}{E^{2}\theta^{2} + m_{2-}^{2}} \right)
- \frac{m_{2-}^{2}m_{2+}^{2}}{(m_{2-}^{2} - m_{2+}^{2})^{2}} \ln \left(\frac{E^{2}\theta^{2} + m_{2-}^{2}}{E^{2}\theta^{2} + m_{2+}^{2}} \right) \right],$$
(8)

where $\theta_E = 4GM/b$ is the scattering angle in Einstein's gravity.

The effect of both massive modes is related to the ratio $E/m_{2\pm}$, in such a manner that photons with transplanckian energies would not be deflected at all,¹ while sufficiently low-energetic photons are scattered just like as in general relativity. Only at an intermediate scale of energy is there a non-trivial scattering.

In particular, it is possible to conceive a scenario in which the hierarchy between the masses is so strong, i.e., $m_{2-} \sim M_P \gg m_{2+}$, that the effect of higher derivatives could be perceived even for the energy scale currently measured, emitted by astrophysical sources. (At the same time, the influence of the healthy massive mode is negligible.) Due to the analogy with the seesaw mechanism of neutrino physics – in which large-mass parameters combine to yield physical masses with strong hierarchy, we shall call this possibility the gravitational seesaw. Under these circumstances, the equation for the deflection angle (8) reduces to

$$\frac{1}{\theta_E^2} = \frac{1}{\theta^2} + \frac{E^2}{E^2\theta^2 + m_{2+}^2} + \frac{2E^2}{m_{2+}^2} \ln \frac{E^2\theta^2}{E^2\theta^2 + m_{2+}^2},\tag{9}$$

which is the same expression that occurs in the fourth-derivative gravity [3].

¹ This conclusion follows, for example, from the cross-section formula (6), which tends to zero as $E/m_{2\pm} \longrightarrow \infty$.

3 On the gravitational seesaw

From Eq. (4) it is straightforward to derive the seesaw condition for the masses $m_{2\pm}$:

$$16|B| \ll \kappa^2 \beta^2. \tag{10}$$

If this condition is satisfied, the masses $m_{2\pm}$ can be approximated by

$$m_{2+}^2 \approx \frac{4}{\kappa^2 |\beta|} \ll m_{2-}^2 \approx \frac{\beta}{B}.$$
(11)

As in the original neutrino seesaw mechanism one of the masses depends, roughly, on only one parameter, while the other depends on both. There is, however, a remarkable difference with respect to the neutrino case: while there it works to make the lightest mass even lighter, in gravity the effect is to shift the largest mass further to the UV region, according to Eq. (4). In fact, if the lighter mass is reduced, then the larger mass is augmented. This happens because of the parameter *B* which occurs in the denominator of Eq. (4); indeed, it easy to verify that m_{2+} is a decreasing function on *B*. Thus, the only form of reducing the lightest mass by changing the sixth-derivative parameter is to make it tend to zero (remember that B < 0); this procedure makes the ghost mode to approach the mass of the fourth-derivative gravity tensor excitation [11] as shown in Eq. (4). As a consequence, in order to have $m_{2+} \ll m_{2-} \sim M_P$ one must have $\beta \gg 1$.

In this spirit, now focusing our attention on the healthy mode, there are two possible ways of having m_{2-} of the order of the Planck mass: to have a small |B| or a large $|\beta|$. The former is the standard choice, since it prescribes that $\beta \sim 1$ and $B \sim M_P^{-2}$ so as to have all the masses of the order of M_P . The latter relies on the seesaw mechanism, allowing one to have $|B| \gg M_P^{-2}$ and still have $m_{2-} \sim M_P$. Of course, having a large |B| which yields a large mass can only be achieved through the ghost mass reduction with a parameter $\beta \gg 1$.

Therefore, the much lighter mass of the first ghost depends only on the secondand fourth-derivative terms; and the higher-order ones cannot produce an efficient seesaw mechanism working as in the case of the neutrino mass. Only a "weak seesaw" is possible, i.e., the reduction of the lightest mass by having a huge dimensionless parameter β . (See [2] for a discussion of this result in the complex poles case; and [1] for the generalization to the case of arbitrary-order local models.)

Let us now return to the deflection angle equation (9) in the presence of the "weak seesaw". We notice that the energy of the photon and the quantity m_{2+} always appear through the ratio m_{2+}/E . Thus, one can fix the scattering angle at a slightly different figure from that of general relativity – this could be, e.g., the experimental accuracy of a set of detectors, say $\theta = \theta_E - \Delta \theta$ – and solve the equation for the aforementioned ratio. For example, if we set $\theta = 1.65$ " = $\theta_E - 0.10$ " for a photon just grazing the sun, then Eq. (9) yields

$$\frac{m_{2+}^2}{E^2} = 4.30 \times 10^{-9},\tag{12}$$

which relates the energy of the photon and the mass of the particle necessary to cause a shift of 0.1" from general relativity's prediction. Considering, e.g., that this is the accuracy of the measurements done in the visible spectrum during solar eclipses [7, 10], it follows the bound $m_{2+} \gtrsim 10^{-13}$ GeV. (See [6] for the comparison to other experimental bounds.) This limit is still very far from the Planck scale, and only with much higher frequencies is it expected that the massive modes could be detected.

4 Conclusions

We have described the bending of light in the sixth-derivative super-renormalizable gravity theory, in the particular case that the propagator has only real, simple poles. Among the main conclusions of this semi-classical analysis we mention the fact that light is less scattered than in general relativity, and that more energetic photons undergo less deflection. A seesaw-like mechanism which could, in principle, avoid the Planck suppression to one of the masses was also proposed. We showed, however, that differently from the neutrino, the gravitational seesaw can only work to make the largest mass even larger, on account of the reduction of the smallest one. Therefore, the only possibility of having a small physical mass (while the other is of the order of M_P) is to have a huge β . The impossibility of an efficient seesaw mechanism makes the experimental detection of higher-derivatives more difficult, but is favourable for protecting the theory from instabilities related to a much lighter ghost.

Acknowledgements A.A. acknowledges CNPq and FAPERJ for support. B.L.G. is thankful to CNPq for supporting his Ph.D. project. I.Sh. is grateful to CNPq, FAPEMIG and ICTP for partial support of his work.

References

- 1. A. Accioly, B.L. Giacchini, I.L. Shapiro, *On the gravitational seesaw and light bending*, arXiv:1604.07348. Unpublished.
- 2. A. Accioly, B.L. Giacchini, I.L. Shapiro, *Low-energy effects in a higher-derivative gravity model with real and complex massive poles*, arXiv:1610.05260. Unpublished.
- 3. A. Accioly, J. Helayël-Neto, B. Giacchini, W. Herdy, Phys. Rev. D 91, 125009 (2015).
- 4. M. Asorey, J.L. López, I.L. Shapiro, Int. Journ. Mod. Phys. A 12, 5711 (1997).
- 5. B.L. Giacchini, Phys. Lett. B 766, 306 (2017).
- B.L. Giacchini, *Experimental limits on the free parameters of higher-derivative gravity*, in: M. Bianchi, R.T. Jantzen, R. Ruffini (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fourteenth Marcel Grossman Meeting on General Relativity, World Scientific, Singapore, 2017, in press, arXiv:1612.01823.
 D.E. Leven, Astron. J. 21, 455 (1020).
- 7. B. F. Jones, Astron. J. **81**, 455 (1976).
- 8. L. Modesto, T. de Paula Netto, I.L. Shapiro, JHEP 1504, 098 (2015).
- 9. L. Modesto, I.L. Shapiro, Phys. Lett. B 755, 279 (2016).
- 10. F. Schmeidler, Astron. Nachr. 306, 77 (1985).
- 11. K. Stelle, Phys. Rev. D 16, 953 (1977).
- 12. R. Utiyama, B.S. DeWitt, J. Math. Phys. 3, 608 (1962).

History of particles in the early universe from contracting the Standard Model

N. A. Gromov

Abstract The high-temperature limit of the Standard Model generated by the contractions of gauge groups is discussed. Contraction parameters of gauge groups SU(2) of the Electroweak Model and SU(3) of Quantum Chromodynamics are taken to be identical and tending to zero when temperature increase. Properties of the elementary particles change drastically at the infinite temperature limit: all particles lose masses, all quarks are monochromatic. Electroweak interactions become long-range and are mediated by the neutral currents. Particles of different kind do not interact. It looks like some stratification with only one type of particle in each stratum. The Standard Model passes in this limit through several stages, which are distinguished by the powers of contraction parameters. The developed approach describes the evolution of the Standard Model in the early universe from the Big Bang up to the end of several nanoseconds.

1 Introduction

Modern knowledge of the particle world is concentrated in the Standard Model (SM). This theory consist of the Electroweak Model (EWM), which unified electromagnetic and weak interactions, as well as Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD), describing their strong interactions. The Standard Model is a gauge theory with $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ gauge group, which is the direct product of a simple groups. The operation of group contraction [4] transforms a simple group to a non-semisimple one. For a symmetric physical system the contraction of its symmetry group means a transition to some limit state. In the case of a complicated physical system the investigation of its limit states under the limit values of some of its parameters enables to better understand the system behavior.

N. A. Gromov

Komi Science Center UrD RAS, Kommunisticheskaya st. 24, Syktyvkar, 167982, Russia, e-mail: gromov@dm.komisc.ru

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_28

In this paper we investigate the high-temperature limit of the Standard Model generated by contraction of the gauge groups SU(2) and SU(3). Similar very high temperatures can exist in the early universe after inflation and reheating during the first stages of the Hot Big Bang [2]. At these times the elementary particles demonstrate rather unusual properties. As far as the temperature in the hot universe is connected with its age, then moving forward in time, i.e., back to high-temperature contraction, we conclude that after the universe creation elementary particles and their interactions pass a number of stages in their evolution from the Planck temperature state up to the SM state.

2 EWM at high temperature

The Electroweak Model is gauge theory with the gauge group $SU(2) \times U(1)$ acting in boson, lepton and quark sectors [5, 6]. Its Lagrangian *L* is taken to be invariant with respect to the action of the gauge group in the space of the fundamental representation C₂. Leptons and quarks are described by SU(2)-doublets (or vectors), whereas gauge bosons are SU(2)-singlets (or scalars).

We consider a model where the contracted gauge group $SU(2; j) \times U(1)$. The contracted group SU(2; j) is obtained [3] by **the consistent rescaling** of the fundamental representation of SU(2) and the space C_2 :

$$z'(\varepsilon) = \begin{pmatrix} z'_1 \\ \varepsilon z'_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \varepsilon \beta \\ -\varepsilon \bar{\beta} & \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z_1 \\ \varepsilon z_2 \end{pmatrix} = u(\varepsilon)z(\varepsilon),$$
$$\det u(\varepsilon) = |\alpha|^2 + \varepsilon^2 |\beta|^2 = 1, \quad u(\varepsilon)u^{\dagger}(\varepsilon) = 1, \tag{1}$$

when the real contraction parameter tends to zero $\varepsilon \to 0$. In the contraction scheme (1) the standard boson fields and left lepton and quark fields are transformed as follows:

$$W_{\mu}^{\pm} \to \varepsilon W_{\mu}^{\pm}, \ Z_{\mu} \to Z_{\mu}, \ A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu}.$$

$$e_{l} \to \varepsilon e_{l}, \quad d_{l} \to \varepsilon d_{l}, \quad v_{l} \to v_{l}, \quad u_{l} \to u_{l}.$$
 (2)

The next reason for inequality of the first and second doublet components is the special mechanism of spontaneous symmetry breaking, which is used to generate mass of vector bosons and other elementary particles of the model. In this mechanism one of Lagrangian ground states $\phi^{vac} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ v \end{pmatrix}$ is taken as the vacuum of the model and then small field excitations $v + \chi(x)$ with respect to this vacuum are regarded. So the Higgs boson field χ and constant v are multiplied by ε . As far as the masses of all particles being proportionate to v, we obtain the following transformation rule:

$$\chi \to \varepsilon \chi, \quad v \to \varepsilon v, \quad m_p \to \varepsilon m_p, \quad p = \chi, W, Z, e, u, d.$$
 (3)

After transformations (5),(3) the complete Lagrangian of the modified model can be written in the form

$$L(\varepsilon) = L_{\infty} + \varepsilon L_1 + \varepsilon^2 L_2 + \varepsilon^3 L_3 + \varepsilon^4 L_4 \tag{4}$$

with the exact expressions for each L_k . The contraction parameter is the monotonous function $\varepsilon(T)$ of the temperature with the property $\varepsilon(T) \rightarrow 0$ for $T \rightarrow \infty$. Similarly, very high temperatures can have existed in the very early universe.

In the infinite temperature limit ($\varepsilon = 0$) Lagrangian (4) is equal to

$$L_{\infty} = -\frac{1}{4} \mathscr{Z}_{\mu\nu}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \mathscr{F}_{\mu\nu}^{2} + v_{l}^{\dagger} i \tilde{\tau}_{\mu} \partial_{\mu} v_{l} + u_{l}^{\dagger} i \tilde{\tau}_{\mu} \partial_{\mu} u_{l} + e_{r}^{\dagger} i \tau_{\mu} \partial_{\mu} e_{r} + d_{r}^{\dagger} i \tau_{\mu} \partial_{\mu} d_{r} + u_{r}^{\dagger} i \tau_{\mu} \partial_{\mu} u_{r} + L_{\infty}^{int} (A_{\mu}, Z_{\mu}),$$
(5)

where

$$L_{\infty}^{int}(A_{\mu}, Z_{\mu}) = \frac{g}{2\cos\theta_{w}} v_{l}^{\dagger} \tilde{\tau}_{\mu} Z_{\mu} v_{l} + \frac{2e}{3} u_{l}^{\dagger} \tilde{\tau}_{\mu} A_{\mu} u_{l} +$$

$$+g' \sin\theta_{w} e_{r}^{\dagger} \tau_{\mu} Z_{\mu} e_{r} + \frac{g}{\cos\theta_{w}} \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{2}{3}\sin^{2}\theta_{w}\right) u_{l}^{\dagger} \tilde{\tau}_{\mu} Z_{\mu} u_{l} - g' \cos\theta_{w} e_{r}^{\dagger} \tau_{\mu} A_{\mu} e_{r} -$$

$$-\frac{1}{3}g' \cos\theta_{w} d_{r}^{\dagger} \tau_{\mu} A_{\mu} d_{r} + \frac{1}{3}g' \sin\theta_{w} d_{r}^{\dagger} \tau_{\mu} Z_{\mu} d_{r} +$$

$$+\frac{2}{3}g' \cos\theta_{w} u_{r}^{\dagger} \tau_{\mu} A_{\mu} u_{r} - \frac{2}{3}g' \sin\theta_{w} u_{r}^{\dagger} \tau_{\mu} Z_{\mu} u_{r}. \tag{6}$$

We can conclude that the limit model includes only *massless particles*: photons A_{μ} and neutral bosons Z_{μ} , left quarks u_l and neutrinos v_l , right electrons e_r and quarks u_r, d_r . This phenomenon has a simple physical explanation: the temperature is so high that the particle mass becomes a negligible quantity as compared to its kinetic energy. The electroweak interactions become long-range because they are mediated by the massless neutral *Z*-bosons and photons. Let us note that W^{\pm}_{μ} -boson fields are absent in the limit Lagrangian L_{∞} (5).

From the explicit form of the interaction part $L_{\infty}^{int}(A_{\mu}, Z_{\mu})$ it follows that there are no interactions between particles of different kinds; for example neutrinos interact with each other by neutral currents. All other particles are charged and do only interact with particles of the same kind by massless Z_{μ} -bosons and photons. Particles of different kinds do not interact. It looks like some stratification of the Electroweak Model with only one kind of particles in each stratum.

3 QCD with contracted gauge group

Strong interactions of quarks are described by QCD. Like the Electroweak Model, QCD is a gauge theory based on the local color degrees of freedom [1]. The QCD gauge group is SU(3), acting in three-dimensional complex space C₃ of color quark

states. The SU(3) gauge bosons are called gluons. There are eight gluons in total, which are the force carrier of the theory between quarks. The QCD Lagrangian is taken in the form

$$\mathscr{L} = \sum_{q} \bar{q}^{i} (i \gamma^{\mu}) (D_{\mu})_{ij} q^{j} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{8} F^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu\alpha}, \tag{7}$$

where $D_{\mu}q$ are covariant derivatives of the quark fields q = u, d, s, c, b, t,

$$D_{\mu}q = \left(\partial_{\mu} - ig_{s}\left(\frac{\lambda^{\alpha}}{2}\right)A_{\mu}^{\alpha}\right)q, \quad q = \begin{pmatrix}q_{1}\\q_{2}\\q_{3}\end{pmatrix} \equiv \begin{pmatrix}q_{R}\\q_{G}\\q_{B}\end{pmatrix} \in \mathbf{C}_{3}, \tag{8}$$

 g_S is the strong coupling constant, $t^a = \lambda^a/2$ are generators of SU(3), λ^a are Gell-Mann's matrices and $F^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A^{\alpha}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^{\alpha}_{\mu} + g_s f^{\alpha\beta\gamma}A^{\beta}_{\mu}A^{\gamma}_{\nu}$ is the gluon stress tensor. The contracted special unitary group $SU(3;\varepsilon)$ is defined by the action

$$q'(\varepsilon) = \begin{pmatrix} q_1' \\ \varepsilon q_2' \\ \varepsilon^2 q_3' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{11} & \varepsilon u_{12} & \varepsilon^2 u_{13} \\ \varepsilon u_{21} & u_{22} & \varepsilon u_{23} \\ \varepsilon^2 u_{31} & \varepsilon u_{32} & u_{33} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} q_1 \\ \varepsilon q_2 \\ \varepsilon^2 q_3 \end{pmatrix} = U(\varepsilon)q(\varepsilon), \quad \det U(\varepsilon) = 1, \quad U(\varepsilon)U^{\dagger}(\varepsilon) = 1$$
(9)

on the complex space $C_3(\varepsilon)$ when the contraction parameter tends to zero: $\varepsilon \to 0$. Transition from the classical group SU(3) and space C_3 to the group $SU(3;\varepsilon)$ and space $C_3(\varepsilon)$ is given by the substitution

$$q_1 \to q_1, \quad q_2 \to \varepsilon q_2, \quad q_3 \to \varepsilon^2 q_3,$$
$$A^{GR}_{\mu} \to \varepsilon A^{GR}_{\mu}, \quad A^{BG}_{\mu} \to \varepsilon A^{BG}_{\mu}, \quad A^{BR}_{\mu} \to \varepsilon^2 A^{BR}_{\mu}, \tag{10}$$

the diagonal gauge fields $A_{\mu}^{RR}, A_{\mu}^{GG}, A_{\mu}^{BB}$ remain unchanged. Substituting (10) in Lagrangian (7), we obtain the quark part $\mathscr{L}_q(\varepsilon)$ and gluon part $\mathscr{L}_{gl}(\varepsilon)$ in the form

$$\mathscr{L}_{q}(\varepsilon) = L_{q}^{\infty} + \varepsilon^{2} L_{q}^{(2)} + \varepsilon^{4} L_{q}^{(4)},$$
$$\mathscr{L}_{gl}(\varepsilon) = L_{gl}^{\infty} + \varepsilon^{2} L_{gl}^{(2)} + \varepsilon^{4} L_{gl}^{(4)} + \varepsilon^{6} L_{gl}^{(6)} + \varepsilon^{8} L_{gl}^{(8)}.$$
(11)

In the infinite temperature limit $\varepsilon \to 0$, we can write out the QCD Lagrangian explicitly

$$\mathscr{L}_{\infty} = L_{q}^{\infty} + L_{gl}^{\infty} = \sum_{q} \left\{ i \bar{q}_{R} \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} q_{R} + \frac{g_{s}}{2} |q_{R}|^{2} \gamma^{\mu} A_{\mu}^{RR} \right\} - \frac{1}{4} \left(F_{\mu\nu}^{RR} \right)^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \left(F_{\mu\nu}^{GG} \right)^{2} - \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu}^{RR} F_{\mu\nu}^{GG}.$$
(12)

From \mathscr{L}_{∞} we conclude that only the dynamic terms for the first color component of massless quarks survive under infinite temperature, which means that the quarks are monochromatic, and the terms also survive, which describe the interactions of these components with *R*-gluons.

4 Estimation of boundary temperatures

The contraction of the QCD gauge group gives us an opportunity to order in time different stages of its development, but does not make it possible to bear their absolute date. Let us try to estimate this date with the help of additional assumptions. The equality of the contraction parameters for QCD and the EWM is one of these assumptions.

Then we use the fact that the electroweak epoch starts at the temperature $T_4 = 100 \, GeV$ $(1 \, GeV = 10^{13} K)$ and the QCD epoch begins at $T_8 = 0, 2 \, GeV$. Let us denote by Δ the cutoff level for ε^k , k = 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, i.e., for $\varepsilon^k < \Delta$ all the terms proportionate to ε^k are negligible quantities in the Lagrangian. At last we suppose that the contraction parameter depends inversely on the temperature

$$\varepsilon(T) = \frac{A}{T},\tag{13}$$

where A is constant.

As far as the minimal terms in the QCD Lagrangian are proportional to ε^8 and QCD is completely reconstructed at $T_8 = 0, 2 \, GeV$, we have the equation $\varepsilon^8(T_8) = A^8 T_8^{-8} = \Delta$ and obtain $A = T_8 \Delta^{1/8} = 0, 2\Delta^{1/8} \, GeV$. The minimal terms in the EWM Lagrangian are proportional to ε^4 and it is reconstructed at $T_4 = 100 \, GeV$, so we have $\varepsilon^4(T_4) = A^4 T_4^{-4} = \Delta$, i.e., $T_4 = A\Delta^{-1/4} = T_8\Delta^{1/8}\Delta^{-1/4} = T_8\Delta^{-1/8}$ and we obtain the cutoff level $\Delta = (T_8 T_4^{-1})^8 = (0, 2 \cdot 10^{-2})^8 \approx 10^{-22}$, which is consistent with the typical energies of the Standard Model. From the equation $\varepsilon^k(T_k) = A^k T_k^{-k} = \Delta$ we obtain

$$T_k = \frac{A}{\Delta^{1/k}} = \frac{T_8 \Delta^{1/8}}{\Delta^{1/k}} = T_8 \Delta^{\frac{k-8}{8k}} \approx 10^{\frac{88-15k}{4k}} \, GeV. \tag{14}$$

Simple calculations give the following estimations for the boundary values of the temperature in the early universe (*GeV*): $T_1 = 10^{18}$, $T_2 = 10^7$, $T_3 = 10^3$, $T_4 = 10^2$, $T_6 = 1$, $T_8 = 2 \cdot 10^{-1}$. The resulting estimation for the temperature at "infinity" $T_1 \approx 10^{18} \text{ GeV}$ is comparable with the Planck energy $\approx 10^{19} \text{ GeV}$, at which scale the gravitation effects are important. So the developed evolution of the elementary particles does not exceed the range of the problems described by electroweak and strong interactions.

5 Conclusion

We have investigated the high-temperature limit of the SM which was obtained from the first principles of the gauge theory as contraction of its gauge group. The SM passes in this limit through several stages, which are distinguished by the powers of the contraction parameters, which gives us the opportunity to classify them in time from earlier to later. To determine the absolute date of these stages, additional assumptions were used, namely, the inverse dependence of ε on the temperature and the cutoff level Δ on ε^k . Unknown parameters are determined with the help of the QCD and EWM typical energies.

At the infinite temperature limit $(T > 10^{18} GeV)$ all particles including vector bosons lose their masses and electroweak interactions become long-range.

From exact expressions for the respective Lagrangians at any stage in the SM evolution [3] it is possible already at the level of classical gauge fields to give some conclusions on the appearance of elementary particle masses at different stages of evolution of the universe. In particular we can conclude that half of the quarks ($\approx \varepsilon$, $10^{18} GeV > T > 10^7 GeV$) restore their masses first. Then the Z-bosons, electrons and other quarks become massive ($\approx \varepsilon^2$, $10^7 GeV > T > 10^3 GeV$). Finally the Higgs boson χ and the charged W^{\pm} -bosons are the last to restore their masses because these are multiplied by ε^4 ($T < 10^2 GeV$). In a similar way it is possible to describe the evolution of particle interactions.

The evolution of elementary particles and their interactions in the early universe obtained with the help of contractions of gauge groups of the SM does not contradict the canonical one [2], according to which the QCD phase transitions take place later than the electroweak phase transitions. The developed evolution of the SM present the basis for a more detailed analysis of different phases in the formation of leptons and quark-gluon plasma.

Acknowledgements The author is thankful to V. V. Kuratov and V. I. Kostyakov for helpful discussions. The study is supported by Program of UrD RAS project N 15-16-1-3.

References

- 1. V. M. Emel'yanov, *Standard Model and Its Expansion*, (Fizmatlit: Moscow, 1990) [in Russian].
- 2. D.S. Gorbunov and V.A. Rubakov, *Introduction to the theory of the early universe: hot Big Bang theory*. Singapure: World Scientific, 2011. 488 p.
- 3. N. A. Gromov, JCAP 03 2016, doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2016/03/053.
- 4. E. Inönü and E.P. Wigner, On the contraction of groups and their representations, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA **39** (1953) 510.
- M. E. Peskin, D. V. Schroeder, An Introduction to Quantum Field Theory, (Addison-Wesley, 1995).
- 6. V. A. Rubakov, Theory of Gauge Fields, (University Press: Princeton, USA, 2002).

Ternary Z₆-graded algebras

Richard Kerner

Abstract We investigate the possibility of combining the usual Grassmann algebras with their ternary Z_3 -graded counterpart, thus creating a more general algebra with coexisting quadratic and cubic constitutive relations. We study a particular case of algebras generated by two types of variables, ξ^a and θ^A , satisfying quadratic and cubic relations respectively, $\xi^a \xi^b = -\xi^b \xi^a$ and $\theta^A \theta^B \theta^C = j \theta^B \theta^C \theta^A$ and $\bar{\theta}^A \bar{\theta}^B \bar{\theta}^C = j^2 \bar{\theta}^B \bar{\theta}^C \bar{\theta}^A$, with $j = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$. We show how one can combine the Z_2 and the Z_3 gradings of those *binary* and *ternary* algebras and merge them into a common Z_6 -graded algebra.

1 Generalized $Z_2 \times Z_3$ -graded ternary algebra

Ternary analogs of the Grassman algebras, satisfying cubic constitutive relations, were first proposed in ([1], [2]) and in ([3]), and developed later generalizing the supersymmetric spaces and algebras in ([4]), [5]). These papers explored the consequences of replacing the usual Z_2 grading by the Z_3 grading, more suited to be applied in the case of ternary algebras with cubic constitutive relations.

Here we consider agebras on which both gradings can operate at the same time, and how these gradings can be merged into one common Z_6 grading.

Let us suppose that we have binary and ternary skew-symmetric products defined by corresponding structure constants:

$$\xi^{\alpha}\xi^{\beta} = -\xi^{\beta}\xi^{\alpha} \tag{1}$$

$$\theta^{A}\theta^{B}\theta^{C} = j \ \theta^{B}\theta^{C}\theta^{A} \text{ and } \bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}} = j^{2} \ \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}}, \ \theta^{A}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}} = -j \ \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\theta^{A}.$$
(2)

Richard Kerner

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0 29

LPTMC, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Boite Courrier 121, 4 Place Jussieu, 75005 Paris, France e-mail: richard.kerner@upmc.fr

The unifying ternary relation should take into account the full S_3 permutation group:

$$X^{i}X^{m}X^{k} + X^{m}X^{k}X^{i} + X^{k}X^{i}X^{m} + X^{k}X^{m}X^{i} + X^{m}X^{i}X^{k} + X^{i}X^{k}X^{m} = 0.$$
 (3)

It is obviously satisfied by both types of variables; the θ^A 's and $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}$'s by definition of the product, for which at this stage the associativity property can be yet undecided; on the contrary, the product of grassmannian ξ^{α} variables (1) should be associative in order to make the formula (3) applicable.

It can be added that the cubic constitutive relation (2) satisfies a simpler condition with cyclic permutations only,

$$\theta^A \theta^B \theta^C + \theta^B \theta^C \theta^A + \theta^C \theta^A \theta^B = 0,$$

but the cubic products of grassmannian variables are invariant under even (cyclic) permutations, so that only the combination of all six permutations of $\xi^{\alpha}\xi^{\beta}\xi^{\gamma}$, as in (3) does vanish.

Now, if we want to merge the two algebras into a common one, we must impose a general condition (3) on the mixed cubic products. These are of two types: $\theta^A \xi^\alpha \theta^B$ and $\xi^\alpha \theta^B \xi^\beta$, with two θ 's and one ξ , or with two ξ 's and one θ . These identities, all like (3) should follow from *binary* constitutive relations imposed on the *associative* products between one θ and one ξ variable. Let us suppose that one has

$$\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{\beta} = \omega \ \theta^{\beta}\xi^{\alpha}$$
 and consequently $\theta^{A}\xi^{\beta} = \omega^{-1} \ \xi^{\beta}\theta^{A}$. (4)

A simple exercise leads to the conclusion that in order to satisfy the general condition (3), the unknown factor ω must verify the equation $\omega + \omega^{-1} + 1 = 0$, or equivalently, $\omega + \omega^2 + \omega^3 = 0$. Indeed, we have, assuming the associativity,

$$\theta^{A}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B} = \omega^{-1}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{A}\theta^{B} = \omega\theta^{A}\theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha},$$
$$\theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{A} = \omega^{-1}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\theta^{A} = \omega\theta^{B}\theta^{A}\xi^{\alpha}.$$

From this, by transforming all the six products so that ξ^{α} should appear always in front of the monomials, we get:

$$\begin{split} \theta^{A}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B} &= \omega^{-1}\,\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{A}\theta^{B}, \ \theta^{A}\theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha} &= \omega^{-2}\,\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{A}\theta^{B}, \\ \theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{A} &= \omega^{-1}\,\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\theta^{A}, \ \theta^{B}\theta^{A}\xi^{\alpha} &= \omega^{-2}\,\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\theta^{A}. \end{split}$$

Adding up all permutations, even (cyclic) and odd alike, we get the following result:

$$\theta^{A}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B} + \xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\theta^{A} + \theta^{B}\theta^{A}\xi^{\alpha} + \theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{A} + \xi^{\alpha}\theta^{A}\theta^{B} + \theta^{A}\theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha}$$
$$= (1 + \omega + \omega^{-1})\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{A}\theta^{B} + (1 + \omega + \omega^{-1})\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\theta^{A}.$$
(5)

The expression in (5) will identically vanish if $\omega = j = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$ (or j^2 , which satisfies the same relation $j + j^2 + 1 = 0$.

The second type of cubic monomials $\xi^{\alpha} \theta^{B} \xi^{\beta}$ satisfies the identity

$$\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\xi^{\delta} + \theta^{B}\xi^{\delta}\xi^{\alpha} + \xi^{\delta}\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B} + \xi^{\delta}\theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha} + \theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha}\xi^{\delta} + \xi^{\alpha}\xi^{\delta}\theta^{B} = 0$$
(6)

no matter what the value of ω is chosen in the constitutive relation (4), the antisymmetry of the product of two ξ 's suffices. Assuming $\xi^{\alpha}\xi^{\delta} = -\xi^{\delta}\xi^{\alpha}$ in the formula (6), the second term cancels the fifth term, and the third term is cancelled by the sixth one. What remains is the sum of the first and fourth terms:

$$\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\xi^{\delta}+\xi^{\delta}\theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha}$$

Now we can transform both terms so as to put the factor θ in front; this will give

$$\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\xi^{\delta} + \xi^{\delta}\theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha} = \omega\theta^{B}\xi^{\alpha}\xi^{\delta} + \omega\theta^{B}\xi^{\delta}\xi^{\alpha} = 0$$
⁽⁷⁾

because of the anti-symmetry of the product between the two ξ 's. This completes the construction of the $Z_3 \times Z_2$ -graded extension of the Grassman algebra.

The existence of *two* cubic roots of unity j and j^2 suggests that one can extend the above algebraic construction by introducing a set of *conjugate* generators, denoted for convenience with a bar and with dotted indices, satisfying conjugate ternary constitutive relations. The unifying condition, that is the vanishing of the sum of all permutations will be automatically satisfied.

But now we have to extend this condition to the triple products of the type $\theta^A \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}} \theta^C$ and $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}} \theta^B \bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}}$. This will be achieved if we impose the obvious condition, similar to the one proposed already for binary combinations $\xi \theta$:

$$\theta^{A}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}} = j\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\theta^{A}, \quad \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\theta^{A} = j^{2} \ \theta^{A}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}.$$
(8)

The proof of the validity of the condition (3) for the above combinations is exactly the same as for the triple products $\xi^{\alpha}\theta^{B}\xi^{\gamma}$ and $\theta^{A}\xi^{\delta}\theta^{B}$.

We have also to impose commutation relations on the mixed products of the type (see [8]):

$$\xi^{\alpha}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\xi^{\beta}$$
 and $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\xi^{\beta}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}}$

It is easy to see that as in the former case, it is enough to impose the commutation rule similar to the former one with θ 's, namely,

$$\xi^{\alpha}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}} = j^2 \;\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\xi^{\alpha}.\tag{9}$$

Although we could stop at this point the extension of our algebra, for the sake of symmetry it seems useful to introduce a new set of conjugate variables $\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ of the Z_2 -graded type. We shall suppose that they anti-commute, like the ξ^{β} 's, and not only between themselves, but also with their conjugates, which means that we assume

$$\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}} = -\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad \xi^{\alpha}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}} = -\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}}\xi^{\alpha}. \tag{10}$$

This ensures that condition (3) will be satisfied by any ternary combination of the Z_2 -graded generators, including the mixed ones like

$$\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}\xi^{\beta}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\delta}}$$
 or $\xi^{\beta}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}\xi^{\gamma}$.

The dimensions of classical Grassmann algebras with *n* generators are well known: they are equal to 2^n , with subspaces spanned by the products of *k* generators having the dimension $C_k^n = n!/(n-k)!k!$. With 2n anticommuting generators ξ^{α} and $\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}}$, we shall have the dimension of the corresponding Grassmann algebra equal to 2^{2n} .

It is also quite easy to determine the dimension of the Z₃-graded generalizations of Grassmann algebras constructed above (see, e.g., in [2], [4], [5]). The Z₃graded algebra with N generators θ^A has the total dimension $N + N^2 + (N^3 - N)/3 =$ $(N^3 + N^2 + 2N)/3$. The conjugate algebra, with the same number of generators, has the identical dimension. However, the dimension of the extended algebra unifying both these algebras is not equal to the square of the dimension of one of them because of the extra conditions on the mixed products between the generators and their conjugates, $\theta^A \bar{\theta}^B = \bar{\theta}^B \theta^A$.

2 Two distinct gradings: $Z_3 \times Z_2$ versus Z_6

In the case of ternary algebras presented above, the grade 1 is attributed to the generators θ^A and the grade 2 to the conjugate generators $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}$. Consequently, their products acquire the grade which is the sum of grades of the factors modulo 3. When we consider an algebra including a ternary Z_3 -graded subalgebra and a binary Z_2 graded one, we can introduce a combination of the two gradings considered as a pair of two numbers, say (a, λ) , with a = 0, 1, 2 representing the Z_3 -grade, and $\lambda = 0, 1$ representing the Z_2 grade, $\lambda = 0, 1$. The first grades add up modulo 3, the second grades add up modulo 2. The six possible combined grades are then

$$(0,0), (1,0), (2,0), (0,1), (1,1) \text{ and } (2,1).$$
 (11)

To add up two of the combined grades amounts to adding up their first entries modulo 3, and their second entries modulo 2. Thus, we have

$$(2,1) + (1,1) = (3,2) \simeq (0,0)$$
, or $((2,1) + (1,0) = (3,1) \simeq (0,1)$, and so forth.

It is well known that the cartesian product of two cyclic groups $Z_N \times Z_n$, N and n being two prime numbers is the cyclic group Z_{Nn} corresponding to the product of those prime numbers. This means that there is an isomorphism between the cyclic group Z_6 , generated by the *sixth* primitive root of unity $q^6 = 1$, satisfying

$$q + q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5 + q^6 = 0.$$

The elements of the group Z_6 represented by complex numbers multiply modulo 6, e. g. $q^4 \cdot q^5 = q^9 \simeq q^3$, etc. The six elements of Z_6 can be put in one-to-one correspondence with the pairs defining six elements of $Z_3 \times Z_2$ according to the following scheme:

Ternary Z₆-graded algebras

$$(0,0) \simeq q^0 = 1, \ (2,1) \simeq q, \ (1,0) \simeq q^2, \ (0,1) \simeq q^3, \ (2,0) \simeq q^4, \ (1,1) \simeq q^5.$$
 (12)

The same result can be obtained directly using the representations of Z_3 and Z_2 in the complex plane. Taken separately, each of these cyclic groups is generated by one non-trivial element, the third root of unity $j = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$ for Z_3 and $-1 = e^{\pi i}$ for Z_2 . It is enough to multiply these complex numbers and take their different powers in order to get all the six elements of the cyclic group Z_6 . One then easily identifies

$$-j^2 = q$$
, $j = q^2$, $-1 = q^3$, $j^2 = q^4$, $-j = q^5$, $1 = q^6$.

This group can be represented on the complex plane, with $q = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{6}}$, as shown on the diagram below:



Fig. 1: Representation of the cyclic group Z_6 in the complex plane with three colors and three "anti-colors" attributed to even and odd powers of q, accordingly with colors attributed in Quantum Chromodynamics to quarks and anti-quarks.

The colors attributed to the powers of the complex generator q can be used to model the exclusion principle used in Quantum Chromodynamics, where exclusively "white" combinations of three quarks and three anti-quarks, as well as "white" quark-anti-quark pairs are declared observable. Replacing the word "white" by 0, we see that there are *two* vanishing linear combinations of *three* powers of q, and *three* pairs of powers of q that are also equal to zero. Indeed, we have

$$q^{2} + q^{4} + q^{6} = j + j^{2} + 1 = 0$$
, and $q + q^{3} + q^{5} = -j^{2} - 1 - j = 0$, (13)

as well as
$$q + q^4 = 0$$
, $q^2 + q^5 = 0$, $q^3 + q^6 = 0$. (14)

The Z_6 -grading should unite both Z_2 and Z_3 gradings, reproducing their essential properties. Obviously, the Z_3 subgroup is formed by the elements 1, q^2 and q^4 , while the Z_2 subgroup is formed by the elements 1 and $q^3 = -1$. In what follows, we shall see that the associativity imposes many restrictions which can be postponed in the case of non-associative ternary structures ([9]).

For the Z₃-graded algebra with cubic relations we attribute grade 1 to the generators θ^A , and grade 2 to their conjugates $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}$. All other expressions formed by

products and powers of those got the well-defined grade, the sum of the grades of factors modulo 3. In a simple Cartesian product of two algebras, a Z_3 -graded with a Z_2 -graded one, the generators of the latter will be given grade 1, and their products will get automatically the grade which is the sum of the grades of factors modulo 2, which means that all products and powers of generators ξ^{α} will acquire grade 1 or 0 according to the number and character of factors involved. The mixed products of the type $\theta^A \xi^{\beta}$, $\xi^{\beta} \theta^B \theta^C$, etc. can be given the double $Z_3 \times Z_2$ grade according to (11). According to the isomorphism defined by (12), this is equivalent to a Z_6 -grading of the product algebra.

As long as the algebra is supposed to be *homogeneous* in the sense that all the constitutive relations contain exclusively terms of *one and the same type*, as in the extension of the Grassmann algebra discussed above, the supposed associativity does not impose any particular restrictions. However, this is not the case if we consider the possibility of *non-homogeneous* constitutive equations, including terms of a different nature, but with the same Z_6 -grade. The grading defined by (12) suggests the possibility of extending the constitutive relations by comparing terms of the type $\theta^A \theta^B \theta^C$, whose Z_6 -grade is 3, to the generators ξ^{α} having the same Z_6 -grade. This will lead to the following constitutive relations:

$$\theta^{A}\theta^{B}\theta^{C} = \rho^{ABC}_{\ \alpha} \xi^{\alpha} \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}} = \bar{\rho}^{\dot{A}\dot{B}\dot{C}}_{\ \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} \tag{15}$$

with the coefficients (structure constants) $\rho^{ABC}{}_{\alpha}$ and $\bar{\rho}^{\dot{A}\dot{B}\dot{C}}{}_{\alpha}$ displaying obvious symmetry properties mimicking the properties of ternary products of θ -generators with respect to cyclic permutations:

$$\rho^{ABC}_{\ \alpha} = j \,\rho^{BCA}_{\ \alpha} = j^2 \,\rho^{CAB}_{\ \alpha} \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{\rho}^{\dot{A}\dot{B}\dot{C}}_{\ \dot{\alpha}} = j^2 \,\bar{\rho}^{\dot{B}\dot{C}\dot{A}}_{\ \dot{\alpha}} = j \,\bar{\rho}^{\dot{C}\dot{A}\dot{B}}_{\ \dot{\alpha}}. \tag{16}$$

If all products are supposed to be associative, then we see immediately that the products between θ and ξ generators, as well as those between $\bar{\theta}$ and $\bar{\xi}$ generators must vanish identically, because of the vanishing of quartic products $\theta\theta\theta\theta = 0$ and $\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta} = 0$. This means that we must set

$$\theta^A \xi^\beta = 0, \quad \xi^\beta \theta^A = 0, \quad \text{as well as} \quad \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}} \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} = 0, \quad \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}} = 0.$$
 (17)

But now we want to unite the two gradings into a unique common one. Let us start by defining a ternary product of generators, not necessarily derived from an ordinary associative algebra. We shall just suppose the existence of a ternary product of generators, displaying the *j*-skew symmetry property:

$$\{\boldsymbol{\theta}^{A}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{B}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{C}\} = j\{\boldsymbol{\theta}^{B}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{C}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{A}\} = j^{2}\{\boldsymbol{\theta}^{C}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{A}, \boldsymbol{\theta}^{B}\}.$$
(18)

and similarly, for the conjugate generators,

$$\{\bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}}, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}}\} = j^2 \{\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}}, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}}\} = j \{\bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}}, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}}, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}\}.$$
(19)

Let us attribute the Z_6 -grade 1 to the generators θ^A . Then it is logical to attribute the Z_6 grade 5 to the conjugate generators $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}$, so that mixed products $\theta^A \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}$ would be of Z_6 grade 0. Ternary products (18) are of grade 3, and ternary products of conjugate generators (19) are also of grade 3, because 5+5+5=15, and $15 \mod 6=3$. But we have also $q^3 = -1$, which is the generator of the Z_2 -subalgebra of Z_6 . Therefore we should attribute the Z_6 -grade 3 to both types of anti-commuting variables, ξ^{α} and $\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}}$, because we can write their constitutive relations using the root q as follows:

$$\xi^{\alpha}\xi^{\beta} = -\xi^{\beta}\xi^{\alpha} = q^{3}\xi^{\beta}\xi^{\alpha}, \quad \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}} = -\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad \xi^{\alpha}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}} = -\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\beta}}\xi^{\alpha}. \tag{20}$$

On the other hand, the expressions containing products of θ with $\bar{\xi}$ and $\bar{\theta}$ with ξ are

$$\theta^A \bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}$$
 and $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}} \xi^{\beta}$

The first expression has the Z_6 -grade 1 + 3 = 4, and the second product has the Z_6 -grade $5 + 3 = 8 \mod 6 = 2$. Other products endowed with the same grade in our associative Z_6 -graded algebra are $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{B}}$ This suggests that the following non-homogeneous constitutive relations can be proposed:

$$\theta^{A}\bar{\xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} = f^{A\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{C}\dot{D}} \ \bar{\theta}^{\dot{C}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{D}}, \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{\theta}^{\dot{A}}\xi^{\alpha} = \bar{f}^{\dot{A}\alpha}_{\ CD} \ \theta^{C}\theta^{D}, \tag{21}$$

where the coefficients should display the symmetry properties contravariant to those of the generators themselves, which means that we should have

$$f^{A\alpha}_{\ \dot{C}\dot{D}} = j^2 f^{\alpha A}_{\ \dot{C}\dot{D}} \text{ and } \bar{f}^{\dot{A}\alpha}_{\ CD} = j \bar{f}^{\alpha \dot{A}}_{\ CD}.$$
(22)

More details can be found in ([6], [7]).

References

- 1. R. Kerner, Comptes Rendus de l'Acad. Sci. Paris, tome 10, (1991), pp. 1237-1241.
- 2. R. Kerner, J. Math. Phys., (1992) 33 (1) pp. 403-411.
- 3. L. Vainerman, R. Kerner, (1996) J. Math. Phys., 37 (5) pp. 2553-2665.
- 4. V. Abramov, R. Kerner R, B. Le Roy, (1997) J. Math. Phys., 38 (3) pp. 1650-1669.
- 5. R. Kerner, (1997) Class. Quant. Grav. 14 (1A) pp. A203-A225.
- R. Kerner, (2014) Springer Proceedings in Mathematics and Statistics 85, Ed. A. Makhlouf, E. Paal, pp. 531-550 (2014).
- R. Kerner, O. Suzuki, (2014) Proceedings of the RIMS conference on Mathematical Physics, Kyoto 2013 pp.54-72, http://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/110009863886.
- V. Abramov, R. Kerner, O. Liivaapuu, Algebras with ternary law of composition combining Z₂ and Z₃ gradings, arXiv:1512.02106. Unpublished.
- 9. V. Abramov, R. Kerner, O. Liivaapuu, *Ternary algebras with Z*₆ grading, (2016, in preparation).

The zeta function approach applied to Casimir effects in a stack of conductive planes

Nail Khusnutdinov, Rashid Kashapov and Lilia M. Woods

Abstract We consider the zeta-regularization approach for vacuum energy and calculate Casimir and Casimir-Polder effects in systems with stacked equally spaced conductive planes. In the framework of the zeta approach, we obtained explicit forms of the Casimir energy of the stack and the Van der Waals/Casimir-Polder energy of a microparticle interacting with this stack at zero as well as non-zero temperatures.

1 Zeta-regularization approach

The zeta function of an operator is a vast subject in mathematical physics (see, for example books [1–4] and review [5]). It closely connects with the electromagnetic eigenvalue problem with appropriate boundary conditions. The inverse problem, identified by M. Kac [6] as "Can one hear the shape of a drum?", tries to find the shape of the boundary, taking into account the spectrum of an operator. The powerful application of the zeta function is related to the Atiyah-Patodi-Singer index theorem [7], which establishes a relation between the index of an operator and some local variables (such as heat kernel coefficients). The index of an operator gives us local expressions for the topological invariants of manifolds. Topological insulators have

Rashid Kashapov

Lilia M. Woods Department of Physics, University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida 33620, USA e-mail: <u>lmwoods@usf.edu</u>

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Nail Khusnutdinov

Centro de Matemática, Computação e Cognição, Universidade Federal do ABC, 09210-170 Santo André, SP, Brazil and Institute of Physics, Kazan Federal University, Kremlevskaya 18, Kazan, 420008, Russia, e-mail: nail.khusnutdinov@ufabc.edu.br

Institute of Physics, Kazan Federal University, Kremlevskaya 18, Kazan, 420008, Russia e-mail: kashapov.rashid@gmail.com

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_30

a very close relation with the index theorem and different topological invariants of the manifold, and they have become a popular and interesting field of research [8].

The zeta-regularization approach in quantum field theory was first suggested by Dowker and Critchley [9] and independently by Hawking [10]. In the framework of this approach, the energy is represented as an analytical function which is renormalized using three (in D = 3 + 1) first heat kernel coefficients of the corresponding operator. This approach was applied in calculating the Casimir effect by Blau, Visser, and Wipf in Ref. [11], who have shown that the main problem is obtaining the spectrum of the underlying operator for appropriate boundary conditions in closed form. Useful modifications of the zeta-regularization approach were suggested in Ref. [12] and the subsequent developments of this approach are collected in books as well [4, 13]. In this approach the regularized energy per unit are of a system with planar symmetry reads as

$$\mathscr{E}(s) = -\hbar c \mu^{2s} \frac{\cos \pi s}{2\pi} \int \frac{d^2 k_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^2} \int_0^\infty d\lambda \lambda^{1-2s} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \ln \Psi(i\lambda c), \tag{1}$$

where the relation $\Psi(\omega) = 0$ defines the spectrum of the energy.

The zeta-regularization method has broadened its applications in light of the importance of Casimir phenomena and Van der Waals/Casimir-Polder attraction (adhesion) effects at the nanoscale (see, for example, book [13] and the recent review [14]). Such fluctuation induced phenomena are also important in chemistry and biology [15], with the Gecko effect being one of the most striking examples. Graphene related systems also have unusual Casimir/Van der Waals effects which need to be considered for possible applications (see, for example, [16]). The graphene property of relevance here is the existence of a universal conductivity for a relatively large domain of frequencies. Furthermore, Van der Waals/Casimir interactions in multilayer structures are also of great interest [15]. Recent progress in this field was made by Sernelius in Ref. [17], who obtained recurrent relations for these systems. An outstanding problem for Casimir interactions in multilayered systems is an effective way to treat the number of layers explicitly. Here we demonstrate a solution to this problem using the zeta function formalism for Casimir and Casimir-Polder energies at zero and non-zero temperatures.

2 Layered system at zero temperature

Let us consider a layered system consisting of a stack of \mathcal{N} conductive equally spaced parallel and infinitely thin planes with surface conductivity $\sigma(\omega)$. The \mathcal{N} parallel planes are located at points $z = a, a + d, a + 2d, a + 3d, \dots, a + (\mathcal{N} - 1)d$. The half-space $z \leq 0$ is filled by dielectric media with permeability $\varepsilon(\omega)$. To calculate the Casimir energy, we set $\varepsilon = 1$. To calculate the Casimir-Polder interaction, we take advantage of the idea developed by Lifshitz [18] relying on media rarefication. Specifically, we take the half space at z < 0 to be described as $\varepsilon(\omega) = 1 + 4\pi N\alpha(\omega)$, where *N* is the amount of atoms per unit volume and α is the polarizability of single atom in this material. In the limit of $N \to 0$, we obtain the energy $E^{(\mathcal{N})}$ per atom at a distance *a*:

$$E^{(\mathcal{N})}(s) = -\lim_{N \to 0} \frac{1}{N} \frac{\partial \mathscr{E}^{(\mathcal{N})}(s)}{\partial a},$$
(2)

where $\mathscr{E}^{(\mathscr{N})}(s)$ is the zeta-regularized energy for configuring \mathscr{N} planes and the dielectric medium.

The electromagnetic field excitations supported by a system with planar symmetry can be separated into two modes: transverse magnetic (TM) and transvesre electric (TE) modes. The respective boundary conditions are

TM:
$$[e'_{z}]_{z=a+jd} = 0$$
, $[e_{z}]_{z=a+jd} = -\frac{4\pi i\sigma}{\omega}e'_{z}$, $[e'_{z}]_{z=0} = 0$, $[\varepsilon e_{z}]_{z=0} = 0$,
TE: $[h_{z}]_{z=a+jd} = 0$, $[h'_{z}]_{z=a+jd} = 4\pi i\sigma\omega h_{z}$, $[h'_{z}]_{z=0} = 0$, $[\mu h_{z}]_{z=0} = 0$,

. .

where $[f]_z = f(z-0) - f(z+0)$ and $j = \overline{0, \mathcal{N} - 1}$.

Thus, there are $2\mathcal{N} + 2$ coupled equations, whose main determinant can be written on the imaginary axis $\omega = i\lambda$ in the following form:

$$\Delta_{\mathsf{TM}} = \begin{vmatrix} Z_1 & B_0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & A_0 & B_1 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & A_1 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & A_{\mathcal{N}-2} & B_{\mathcal{N}-1} \\ Z_2 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & A_{\mathcal{N}-1} \end{vmatrix}.$$

This $(\mathcal{N}+1) \times (\mathcal{N}+1)$ determinant is in a block-diagonal form with elements

$$B_{l} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{(l-1)p} & -e^{-(l-1)p} \\ e^{(l-1)p} & e^{-(l-1)p} \end{pmatrix}, B_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-\overline{a}p} & -e^{\overline{a}p} \\ e^{-\overline{a}p} & e^{\overline{a}p} \end{pmatrix}, Z_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\kappa_{\varepsilon}}{\kappa} & 0 \\ -\varepsilon & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$A_{j} = \begin{pmatrix} -e^{jp} & e^{-jp} \\ (-\frac{2\pi\sigma}{c} - 1)e^{jp} & (\frac{2\pi\sigma}{c} - 1)e^{-jp} \end{pmatrix}, Z_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -e^{-(\mathcal{N}-1)p} \\ 0 & e^{-(\mathcal{N}-1)p} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$e \ l = \overline{1, \mathcal{N} - 1}, \ p = d\kappa, \ \overline{a} = \frac{a}{2}, \ \kappa_{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{k_{z}^{2} + \varepsilon \mu \lambda^{2}}, \text{ and } \kappa = \sqrt{k_{z}^{2} + \lambda^{2}}.$$

where $l = \overline{1, N-1}$, $p = d\kappa$, $\overline{a} = \frac{a}{d}$, $\kappa_{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{k_{\perp}^2 + \varepsilon \mu \lambda^2}$, and $\kappa = \sqrt{k_{\perp}^2 + \lambda^2}$.

The Casimir-Polder energy

Taking into account Eqs. (1) and (2), we obtain the following expressions for the Casimir-Polder energy (see details in Ref. [19])

$$\begin{split} E_{\mathsf{TM}}^{(\mathscr{N})} &= \int_0^\infty dy \int_0^1 dx \alpha(\frac{xy}{d}) \Gamma_{\mathscr{N}}\left(\frac{1}{x}\eta(\frac{xy}{d})\right) (2-x^2), \\ E_{\mathsf{TE}}^{(\mathscr{N})} &= \int_0^\infty dy \int_0^1 dx \alpha(\frac{xy}{d}) \Gamma_{\mathscr{N}}\left(x\eta(\frac{xy}{d})\right) x^2. \end{split}$$

The two contributions have a common function

$$\Gamma_{\mathcal{N}}(t) = -\frac{\hbar c}{2\pi d^4} \frac{y^3 t e^{-\frac{2d}{d}y}}{1+t-e^{-y}\Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1}},$$
$$f = q + \sqrt{q^2 - 1}, \ q = \cosh y + t \sinh y,$$

where function $\eta = 2\pi\sigma/c$ is the dimensionless conductivity and the arguments of α and η are xy/d. Here

$$\Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1} = f \frac{1 - f^{2(\mathcal{N}-1)}}{1 - f^{2\mathcal{N}}} = \frac{\sinh((\mathcal{N}-1)u)}{\sinh(\mathcal{N}u)},\tag{3}$$

where $u = \operatorname{arccosh}(q)$. The function $\Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1}$ is the ratio $\frac{P_{\mathcal{N}-2}(q)}{Q_{\mathcal{N}-1}(q)}$ of two polynomials of order $\mathcal{N} - 2$ and $\mathcal{N} - 1$ and for an infinite number of planes it becomes irrational. Particular cases of function (3) are given in Eq. (4).

$$\Pi_1^0 = 0, \ \Pi_1^2 = \frac{1}{2q}, \ \Pi_2^3 = \frac{2q}{4q^2 - 1}, \ \Pi_3^4 = \frac{4q^2 - 1}{4q(2q^2 - 1)}, \ \Pi_\infty = \frac{1}{\sqrt{q^2 - 1} + q}.$$
 (4)

The Casimir energy

In the same way (see details in Refs. [20, 21]), the Casimir energy $\mathscr{E}^{(N)}$ per unit area stored in the stack can be represented as

$$\mathscr{E}_{\mathsf{TM}}^{(N)} = \int_0^\infty y^2 dy \int_0^1 dx \ln \Phi_{\mathscr{N}}\left(\frac{1}{x}\eta\right), \ \mathscr{E}_{\mathsf{TE}}^{(N)} = \int_0^\infty y^2 dy \int_0^1 dx \ln \Phi_{\mathscr{N}}\left(x\eta\right),$$

where the integrand function reads as

$$\Phi_{\mathcal{N}}(t) = \frac{\hbar c}{2\pi^2 d^3} \frac{e^{-y(\mathcal{N}-1)} \Pi_1^{\mathcal{N}}}{(1+t)^{\mathcal{N}}} \left(1+t-e^{-y} \Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1}\right).$$

In the framework of this approach we obtain the force, $\mathscr{A}^{(m,\mathscr{N})}$, acting on the plane *m* in the stack of \mathscr{N} planes:

$$\mathscr{A}_{\mathsf{TM}}^{(m,\mathscr{N})} = \int_0^\infty y^2 dy \int_0^1 dx \Theta_{m,\mathscr{N}}\left(\frac{1}{x}\eta\right), \ \mathscr{A}_{\mathsf{TE}}^{(m,\mathscr{N})} = \int_0^\infty y^2 dy \int_0^1 dx \Theta_{m,\mathscr{N}}\left(x\eta\right),$$

where

$$\Theta_{m,\mathcal{N}}(t) = \frac{\hbar c}{\pi^2 d^4} \frac{e^{-y} y t^2 \Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-2m-1}}{1+t-e^{-y} \Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1}}.$$

3 Layered system at non-zero temperature

In the case of non-zero temperature, the following replacement is made
The zeta function approach for Casimir effect

$$\int_0^\infty g(\lambda) d\lambda \Rightarrow \xi_1 \sum_{n=0}^\infty g(\xi_n), \ \xi_n = \frac{2\pi n k_B T}{\hbar c} = n \xi_1,$$

where the prime means that a factor $\frac{1}{2}$ multiplies the zero term (n = 0) and ξ_n are the Matsubara wavelengths.

The Casimir-Polder free energy

Taking into account Eq. (2), we obtain the following expressions for the Casimir-Polder free energy:

$$F_{\mathsf{TM}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} ' \alpha(\xi_n) \int_1^{\infty} \Psi_{n,\mathscr{N}} \left(x \eta(\xi_n) \right) \left(2x^2 - 1 \right) dx,$$

$$F_{\mathsf{TE}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} ' \alpha(\xi_n) \int_1^{\infty} \Psi_{n,\mathscr{N}} \left(\frac{1}{x} \eta(\xi_n) \right) dx,$$

where

$$\Psi_{n,\mathcal{N}}(t) = -\frac{k_B T \chi^3}{a^3} \frac{n^3 t e^{-2n\chi x}}{1 + t - e^{-n\tau x} \Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1}},$$

and $\tau = \xi_1 d, \chi = \xi_1 a$, and $\Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1} = \Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1}(t, n\tau x).$

The Casimir free energy

The temperature dependent Casimir free energy can also be obtained via the following expressions:

$$\mathscr{F}_{\mathsf{TM}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} \Sigma_{n,\mathscr{N}} \left(x \eta(\xi_n) \right) dx,$$
$$\mathscr{F}_{\mathsf{TE}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} \Sigma_{n,\mathscr{N}} \left(\frac{1}{x} \eta(\xi_n) \right) dx.$$

where

$$\Sigma_{n,\mathcal{N}}(t) = \frac{k_B T \chi^2}{2\pi a^2} \frac{n^2 e^{-2n\chi x} \Pi_1^{\mathcal{N}-1}}{(1+t)^{\mathcal{N}}} \left(1+t-e^{-n\tau x} \Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1}\right),$$

and $\tau = \xi_1 d, \chi = \xi_1 a$, and $\Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1} = \Pi_{\mathcal{N}}^{\mathcal{N}-1}(t, n\tau x)$.

4 Conclusion

In the paper we considered the Casimir and Casimir-Polder energies for a layered system in the framework of the zeta function approach. The temperature effects are also taken into account via the Matsubara wavelengths. The expressions obtained can be applied to arbitrary models of the layers conductivity and arbitrary microparticles.

Acknowledgements N.K. and R.K. were supported in part by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research Grant No. 16-02-00415-a. L.M.W. acknowledges financial support from the US Department of Energy under Grant No. DE-FG02-06ER46297.

References

- 1. E. Elizalde, S.D. Odintsov, A. Romeo, A.A. Bytsenko, S. Zerbini, Zeta-regularization techniques with applications (World Scientific Publishing Co., 1994).
- 2. E. Elizalde, *Ten physicsl applications of spectral zeta functions* (Springer Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 1995).
- 3. D. Fursaev, D. Vassilevich, *Operators, Geometry and Quanta: Methods of Spectral Geometry in Quantum Field Theory.* Theoretical and Mathematical Physics (Springer Netherlands, 2011).
- 4. K. Kirsten, *Spectral functions in mathematics and physics*, 1st edn. (Chapman & Hall/CRC, 2002).
- 5. D.V. Vassilevich, Phys. Rep. 388, 279 (2003). DOI 10.1016/j.physrep.2003.09.002.
- 6. M. Kac, Am. Math. Mon. 73(4), 1 (1966). DOI 10.2307/2313748.
- M.F. Atiyah, V.K. Patodi, I.M. Singer, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 79(1), 71 (1976). DOI 10.1017/S0305004100052105.
- 8. M.Z. Hasan, C.L. Kane, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82(4), 3045 (2010).
- 9. J. Dowker, R. Critchley, Phys. Rev. D 13, 3224 (1976).
- 10. S. Hawking, Commun. Math. Phys. 55, 133 (1977). DOI 10.1007/BF01626516.
- 11. S.K. Blau, M. Visser, A. Wipf, Nucl. Phys. B 310(1), 163 (1988).
- M. Bordag, E. Elizalde, K. Kirsten, S. Leseduarte, Phys. Rev. D 56, 4896 (1997). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.56.4896.
- 13. M. Bordag, G. Klimchitskaya, U. Mohideen, V. Mostepanenko, *Advances in the Casimir Effect* (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2009).
- L. Woods, D. Dalvit, A. Tkatchenko, P. Rodriguez-Lopez, A. Rodriguez, R. Podgornik, Rev. Mod. Phys. 88(4), "045003" (2016).
- 15. A.V. Parsegian, Van der Waals Forces. A Handbook for Biologists, Chemists, Engineers, and *Physicists* (Cambridge University Press, 2006).
- 16. J.H. Warner, F. Schäffel, M.H. Rümmeli, A. Bachmatiuk (eds.), *Graphene. Fundamentals and emergent applications* (Elsevier, 2013).
- 17. B.E. Sernelius, Phys. Rev. B 90(15), 155457 (2014).
- 18. E.M. Lifshitz, Sov. Phys. JETP 2, 73 (1956).
- 19. N. Khusnutdinov, R. Kashapov, L.M. Woods, Phys. Rev. A 94, 012513 (2016).
- 20. N. Khusnutdinov, R. Kashapov, L.M. Woods, Phys. Rev. D 92, 045002 (2015).
- 21. N. Khusnutdinov, R. Kashapov, Theor. Math. Phys. 183(1), 491 (2015).

Rephasing invariant monomials of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix

Piotr Kielanowski and S. Rebeca Juárez W.

Abstract We consider monomials, built from elements of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix, that are invariant upon phase transformation of the quark fields. We obtain a general form of such monomials and demonstrate that they can be expressed as a product of a small number of *fundamental rephasing invariant monomials*. The results of this paper can lead to a simplification of the renormalization group equations and be helpful in calculations of cross sections and Feynman diagrams in the Standard Model.

1 Introduction

The Standard Model (SM) [2] of Elementary Particles, based on gauge invariant field theory with the gauge group $U(1) \times SU(2)_L \times SU(3)$, has had an impressive phenomenological success [6], leading to the discovery of all the particles that were predicted by the model. Despite this success SM has some drawbacks, like, e.g., the massive neutrino problem or relatively large number of free parameters. For these reasons the SM and its extensions are extensively studied in order to remove inconsistencies and to eliminate deficiencies in its description of elementary particles.

The generation of masses in the fermion sector of SM (quarks and leptons) arises through the Yukawa interactions with the Higgs doublet using the mechanism of spontaneous symmetry breaking. The description of Yukawa interactions requires

Piotr Kielanowski

S. Rebeca Juárez W.

Departamento de Física, Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados del IPN, Mexico, e-mail: kiel@fis.cinvestav.mx

Supported in part by the research project: Proyecto SIP: 20161034, Beca EDI y COFAA del IPN. Departamento de Física, Escuela Superior de Física y Matemáticas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, U.P. "Adolfo López Mateos", Mexico,

e-mail: rebeca@esfm.ipn.mx

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_31

13 parameters out of a total 18 parameters of the SM. A good understanding of this sector is crucial for progress in the theory of elementary particles.

Yukawa interactions are described by three complex 3×3 matrices for the up and down quarks and charged leptons. The charged lepton matrix is diagonal with matrix elements proportional to the lepton masses. The matrices of the quark Yukawa couplings are not diagonal and 18 complex matrix elements are described by only 10 phenomenological parameters: 6 quark masses and 4 parameters of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix [4]. One of the reasons for such a reduction in the number of parameters is the freedom of choice of the phases of the quark fields (rephasing freedom); therefore all the observables related to the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix must be rephasing invariant. In this paper we discuss and obtain general monomials constructed from the matrix elements of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix.

2 Yukawa couplings and rephasing invariants

The SM is defined by its Lagrangian. The part of the Lagrangian that corresponds to the quark Yukawa interactions has the following form:

$$y_u \overline{u}_R(\phi^+ u_L) + y_d d_R(\phi d_L) + \text{h.c.}$$
(1)

Here y_u and y_d are the Yukawa couplings for up and down quarks, ϕ is the Higgs field, and $u_{L,R}$, $d_{L,R}$ are the quark fields. The y_u and y_d are 3×3 complex matrices and they are not observables in SM. The y_u and y_d can be diagonalized by biunitary transformations ($Y_i^{u,d}$ being their eigenvalues),

$$\operatorname{diag}(Y_1^u, Y_2^u, Y_3^u) = U_R^u y_u U_L^{u\dagger}, \quad \operatorname{diag}(Y_1^d, Y_2^d, Y_3^d) = U_R^d y_d U_L^{d\dagger}$$
(2)

and the quark fields are transformed by the unitary transformations $U_{L,R}^{u,d}$. Upon this transformation and after spontaneous symmetry breaking, the terms of the Yukawa Lagrangian (1) are transformed into the quark mass terms with the quark masses equal to $m_i^{u,d} = Y_i^{u,d} v / \sqrt{2}^{1}$ and the charged current ceases to be diagonal; instead it is described by the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa (CKM) V,

$$V = U_L^u U_L^{d^{\dagger}}.$$
(3)

The matrices $U_{L,R}^{u,d}$ in Eq. (2) are different for the up and down quarks and, because of that, there is a rephasing freedom for the CKM matrix [1, 5]. The quark masses (or $Y_i^{u,d}$) and the elements of the CKM matrix are measured observables in the SM.

In calculating cross sections in the SM, the typical terms related to the Yukawa couplings have the following form:

 $^{^{1}}$ v is the Higgs field vacuum expectation value.

Rephasing invariant monomials of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix

$$\operatorname{Tr}((y_{u}^{\dagger}y_{u})^{l_{1}}(y_{d}^{\dagger}y_{d})^{l_{2}}(y_{u}^{\dagger}y_{u})^{l_{3}}\cdots(y_{d}^{\dagger}y_{d})^{l_{4}})$$
(4)

and consequently they are expressed by the observables built from the CKM matrix and the eigenvalues $Y_i^{u,d}$. For example, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(y_{u}^{\dagger}y_{u}) = \sum_{i=1}^{3} (Y_{i}^{u})^{2}, \quad \operatorname{Tr}(y_{u}^{\dagger}y_{u}y_{d}^{\dagger}y_{d}) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} (Y_{i}^{u}Y_{j}^{d})^{2}|V_{ij}|^{2},$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}((y_{u}^{\dagger}y_{u})^{2}(y_{d}^{\dagger}y_{d})^{2}y_{u}^{\dagger}y_{u}y_{d}^{\dagger}y_{d}) = \sum_{i,j,k,l=1}^{3} ((Y_{i}^{u})^{2}(Y_{j}^{d})^{2}Y_{k}^{u}Y_{l}^{d})^{2}V_{ik}V_{jl}V_{il}V_{jk}.$$
(5)

All the terms on the right-hand side of Eqs. (5) are rephasing invariant. The eigenvalues $Y_i^{u,d}$ are clearly rephasing invariant, but more interesting are the terms built from the CKM matrix elements V_{ij} . We will discuss the general form of the rephasing invariant monomials that are built from the elements of the CKM matrix V_{ij} .

3 Rephasing invariant monomials

Let us consider the most general monomial built from the matrix elements of the CKM matrix V_{ij} and its conjugates V_{kl}^* ,

$$P(m,n) = \prod_{i,j} (V_{ij})^{m_{ij}} \prod_{k,l} (V_{kl}^*)^{n_{kl}}.$$
(6)

Here *m* and *n* are 3×3 matrices². It is easy to show the following:

Theorem 1. *The monomial in Eq.* (6) *is rephasing invariant if the matrices m and n fulfill the following conditions:*

$$\sum_{j=1}^{3} m_{ij} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} n_{ij}, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{3} m_{ij} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} n_{ij}, \ i, j = 1, 2, 3.$$
(7)

We thus see that the general rephasing invariant monomials are parameterised by two 3×3 matrices. For example, the matrices *m* and *n* for monomial $V_{11}^2 V_{22} V_{11}^* V_{12}^* V_{21}^*$ are equal:

$$m = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad n = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (8)

 $^{^{2}}$ We will assume the matrix elements of *m* and *n* are positive integers, but this is not necessary for the rephasing invariance.

The monomial in Eq. (8) is equal to

$$V_{11}^2 V_{22} V_{11}^* V_{12}^* V_{21}^* = |V_{11}|^2 V_{11} V_{22} V_{12}^* V_{21}^*, (9)$$

and we see that it factorizes into $|V_{11}|^2$ and the remaining part. The term $|V_{11}|^2$ does not carry any information about the phases of the CKM matrix elements and is clearly rephasing invariant; for this reason we consider rephasing invariants monomials that do not contain terms of type $|V_{ij}|^2$ and introduce the notion of the *pure rephasing invariant monomials*.

Definition 1. The rephasing invariant monomial of the CKM matrix which cannot be factored out into the product of the absolute values of the elements of the CKM matrix and other invariant is called the *Pure Rephasing Invariant Monomial* (PRIM).

General rephasing invariant monomials in Eq. (1) were parameterised by two matrices *m* and *n* and PRIMs can also be parameterised by two matrices, but there exists parameterisation by one 3×3 matrix *p* with elements which are positive and negative and the sum of the elements of each row and column is equal to zero:

$$p \to \Pi_{p_{ij}>0}(V_{ij})^{p_{ij}} \cdot \Pi_{p_{kl}<0}(V_{kl}^*)^{-p_{kl}}.$$
(10)

One can show that the monomial defined in Eq. (10) is indeed a pure rephasing invariant monomial.

Following the definition of PRIMs it is easy to see that there is an infinite number of such monomials. However, it can be demonstrated that any PRIM can be expressed by a finite number of *Fundamental Rephasing Invariant Monomials*, which are defined as follows.

Definition 2. The *Fundamental Rephasing Invariant Monomial* (FRIM) is such a pure rephasing invariant monomial that is the product of 4 or 6 CKM matrix elements and its complex conjugates.

There are 18 FRIMs of 4-th order,

Rephasing invariant monomials of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa matrix

$$J_{1} = V_{11}V_{22}V_{12}^{*}V_{21}^{*}, \quad J_{5} = V_{11}V_{33}V_{13}^{*}V_{31}^{*}, J_{2} = V_{11}V_{23}V_{13}^{*}V_{21}^{*}, \quad J_{6} = V_{12}V_{33}V_{13}^{*}V_{32}^{*}, J_{3} = V_{12}V_{23}V_{13}^{*}V_{22}^{*}, \quad J_{7} = V_{21}V_{32}V_{22}^{*}V_{31}^{*}, J_{4} = V_{11}V_{32}V_{12}^{*}V_{31}^{*}, \quad J_{8} = V_{21}V_{33}V_{23}^{*}V_{31}^{*}, J_{9} = V_{22}V_{33}V_{23}^{*}V_{32}^{*} J_{9+i} = (J_{i})^{*}, \quad i = 1, \dots, 9.$$
(11)

and 12 FRIMs of 6-th order,

$$I_{1} = V_{11}V_{22}V_{33}V_{13}^{*}V_{21}^{*}V_{32}^{*}, \quad I_{4} = V_{11}V_{23}V_{32}V_{13}^{*}V_{22}^{*}V_{31}^{*},$$

$$I_{2} = V_{11}V_{22}V_{33}V_{12}^{*}V_{23}^{*}V_{31}^{*}, \quad I_{5} = V_{12}V_{23}V_{31}V_{13}^{*}V_{21}^{*}V_{32}^{*},$$

$$I_{3} = V_{11}V_{23}V_{32}V_{12}^{*}V_{21}^{*}V_{33}^{*}, \quad I_{6} = V_{12}V_{21}V_{33}V_{13}^{*}V_{22}^{*}V_{31}^{*},$$

$$I_{6+i} = (I_{i})^{*}, \quad i = 1, \dots, 6.$$
(12)

4 General form of the rephasing invariant monomials

The notions introduced of PRIMs and FRIMs allow us to demonstrate the following two theorems:

Theorem 2. Any pure rephasing invariant monomial for 3 generations can be expressed in a unique way as the product of positive powers of at most 4 fundamental rephasing invariants monomials. Not more than one of these invariants can be from the set (11) and the remaining are from the set (10).

Theorem 3 (Main Theorem for the Rephasing Invariants). Any rephasing invariant monomial of the CKM matrix for 3 generations can be expressed in a unique way as the product of no more than 5 factors: 4 fundamental rephasing invariants taken to positive powers and the product of the squares of the absolute values of the CKM matrix elements also taken to positive powers. Not more than one fundamental invariant can be from the set (11).

The proof of these theorems is algebraic [7]. One first demonstrates Theorem 2, using the parameterisation given in Eq. (10) and show that only 7 types of matrix p are possible. Next, for each type one shows that Theorem 2 is fulfilled. Theorem 3 follows from Theorem 2, because a general rephasing invariant monomial is equal to a pure rephasing invariant monomial multiplied by the product of the squares of the absolute values of elements of the CKM matrix.

Until now we were assuming only rephasing invariance, but the CKM matrix is unitary, and this fact has important consequences for properties of the fundamental rephasing invariant monomials. For the FRIMs of the 4-th order given in Eq. (10), one can show that the imaginary part of all J_i 's are related to Jarlskog invariant [3]:

$$|\operatorname{Im}(V_{ik}V_{il}V_{il}^{*}V_{ik}^{*})| = J.$$
(13)

One can also show that the 6-th order FRIMs can be expressed by the 4-th order FRIMs multiplied by the squares of the absolute vales of the CKM matrix elements, e.g.,

$$V_{11}V_{22}V_{33}V_{13}^*V_{21}^*V_{32}^* = -|V_{22}|^2V_{12}V_{33}V_{13}^*V_{32}^* - |V_{13}|^2V_{22}V_{33}V_{23}^*V_{32}^*.$$
 (14)

From Eqs. (12) and (13) it follows that the imaginary part of any rephasing invariant monomial is proportional to the Jarlskog invariant J (12) or is equal to 0.

5 Conclusions

We have analyzed and classified the rephasing invariant monomials. The most important results are given in Theorems 2 and 3. This result is mathematically interesting, and physically it can simplify calculations of the cross sections and Feynman diagrams containing loops in the Standard Model by expressing the final result in terms of a relatively small number of rephasing invariant monomials. The results of this paper may also lead to significant simplifications of the renormalization group equations in the Standard Model.

References

- 1. James D. Bjorken and Isard Dunietz, Phys. Rev. D 36, 2109, (1987).
- S. L. Glashow, Nucl. Phys. 22, 579 (1961); S. Weinberg, Phys. Rev. Lett. 19, 1264 (1967);
 A. Salam, p. 367 of *Elementary Particle Theory*, ed. N. Svartholm (Almquist and Wiksells, Stockholm, 1969); S.L. Glashow, J. Iliopoulos, and L. Maiani, Phys. Rev. D 2, 1285 (1970).
- 3. C. Jarlskog, Phys. Rev. Lett 55 1039–1043, (1985).
- 4. M. Kobayashi and T. Maskawa, Progr. Theor. Phys. 49 652-657, (1973).
- 5. Makoto Kobayashi, Progress of Theoretical Physics 92 289–292, (1994).
- 6. C. Patrignani et al. (Particle Data Group), Chin. Phys. C 40 100001 (2016).
- 7. H. Pérez R., P. Kielanowski, and S. R. Juárez W., J. Math. Phys. 57 032302 (2016).

The Schrödinger equation in rotating frames by using the stochastic variational method

Tomoi Koide, Kazuo Tsushima and Takeshi Kodama

Abstract We give a pedagogical introduction of the stochastic variational method by considering the quantization of a non-inertial particle system. We show that the effects of fictitious forces are represented in the forms of vector fields which behave analogously to gauge fields in the electromagnetic interaction. We further discuss that the operator expressions for observables can be defined by applying the stochastic Noether theorem.

1 Introduction

The variational approach conceptually plays a fundamental role in elucidating the structure of classical mechanics, clarifying the origin of dynamics and the relation between symmetries and conservation laws. On the other hand, its operations in classical and quantum systems lack coherence. In fact, in classical mechanics the Lagrangian is usually given by T - V, where T and V are kinetic and potential terms, respectively, but in quantum mechanics the Lagrangian which is needed to derive Schrödinger's equation does not have such structure. That is, any clear and direct correspondence between classical and quantum mechanics does not seem to exist in the variational point of view.

However, if we extend the idea of the variational principle to the stochastic variable, it can describe classical and quantum behaviors in a unified way. This

Kazuo Tsushima

Takeshi Kodama

Tomoi Koide

IF, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, C.P. 68528, 21941-972, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, e-mail: tomoikoide@gmail.com

LFTC Universidade Cruzeiro do Sul, Rua Galvao Bueno, 868, Liberdade, 01506-000, São Paulo, Brazil, e-mail: kazuo.tsushima@gmail.com

IF, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, C.P. 68528, 21941-972, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, e-mail: kodama.takeshi@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_32

method is called the stochastic variational method (SVM), and was first proposed by Yasue [1–5] in order to reformulate Nelson's stochastic quantization [6]. This framework is, however, based on special techniques attributed to stochastic calculus, which is not familiar to physicists.

In this paper, we introduce this method by applying it to the quantization of a non-inertial particle system, which is still controversial. The appearance of the nontrivial interference effect of wave functions on a rotating non-inertial frame was experimentally observed in 1979 [7]. Later Sakurai pointed out that such an effect can be understood in thinking of the similarity between the Coriolis force and the Lorentz force [8]. So far, there are various approaches to derive the Schrödinger equation in a non-inertial frame [9–13].

2 Classical equations in non-inertial frames

Let us introduce a non-inertial frame in which the position is denoted by \mathbf{q} . Expressing the position in an inertial frame by \mathbf{r} . The transformation of these vectors is defined by

$$\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{R}(t)\,\mathbf{r} + \mathbf{c}(t),\tag{1}$$

where $\mathbf{c}(t)$ is a time-dependent translation, and $\mathbf{R}(t)$ is a general 3 × 3 rotation matrix satisfying $\mathbf{R}^{T}(t)\mathbf{R}(t) = 1$. Both of **r** and **q** are given by the Cartesian coordinate.

We usually consider a one particle system in the inertial frame. Applying the coordinate transformation (1), the same system observed in the non-inertial frame is characterized by the following Lagrangian:

$$L = \frac{M}{2} (\dot{\mathbf{q}} + \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{q}, t) + \mathbf{B}(t))^2 - V(\mathbf{q}), \qquad (2)$$

where V is the potential and

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{q},t) = \mathbf{R} \, \dot{\mathbf{R}}^T (\mathbf{q} - \mathbf{c}), \quad \mathbf{B}(t) = -\dot{\mathbf{c}}$$
(3)

are vector fields we have introduced. The equations of motion obtained from this Lagrangian are given by

$$\mathbf{p} = M(\dot{\mathbf{q}} + \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{q}, t) + \mathbf{B}(t)), \qquad (4)$$

$$\partial_t \mathbf{p}^i = (\mathbf{R}\dot{\mathbf{R}}^T)^{j_i} \mathbf{p}^j - \partial_i V(\mathbf{q}).$$
(5)

3 The stochastic variational method

The discussion in this section follows the pedagogical introduction of SVM given by Ref. [14]. For a review on SVM with an alternative quantization scheme, see Ref. [15]. In the variational principle for stochastic variables, a particle trajectory is no longer smooth and is seen as given by a zig-zag path in general. Consequently, the evolution of a particle trajectory is defined by the following forward stochastic differential equation (SDE),

$$d\mathbf{q}(t) = \left(\frac{\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{q}(t),t)}{M} - \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{q},t) - \mathbf{B}(t)\right) dt + \sqrt{2\nu} d\mathbf{W}_t \quad (dt > 0).$$
(6)

Here $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{x},t)$ is an unknown field determined by the stochastic variation. Note that in what follows \mathbf{x} is used to denote the spatial position in a non-inertial frame. The last term in Eq. (6) is the origin of the zig-zag motion and is called the noise term. The parameter v characterizes the strength of this noise term. The property of \mathbf{W}_t is given by the standard Wiener process, which is characterized by the following correlation properties:

$$E[d\mathbf{W}_t] = 0, \quad E[(dW_t^i)(dW_t^j)] = |dt|\delta^{ij}, \quad (i, j = x, y, z),$$
(7)

$$E[W_t^i dW_{t'}^J] = 0 \text{ for } (t \le t'), \tag{8}$$

where E[] indicates the average of stochastic events.

The probabilistic nature of the particle distribution described by Eq. (6) is easily characterized by introducing the probability distribution defined by $\rho(\mathbf{q},t) = \int d^3 \mathbf{q}_i \, \rho_I(\mathbf{q}_i) E[\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{q} - \mathbf{q}(t))]$, where $\mathbf{q}(t)$ (more exactly $\mathbf{q}(t;\mathbf{q}_i)$) is the solution of Eq. (6) and $\rho_I(\mathbf{q}_i)$ is the initial particle distribution at an initial time t_i . As is well-known, the evolution equation of $\rho(\mathbf{q},t)$ is derived from the SDE (6) and is called the Fokker-Planck equation,

$$\partial_t \rho(\mathbf{x},t) = \nabla \cdot \left\{ -\left(\frac{\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{x},t)}{M} - \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{x},t) - \mathbf{B}(t)\right) + \nu \nabla \right\} \rho(\mathbf{x},t).$$
(9)

If the probability distribution evolves from $\rho_I(\mathbf{q})$ to $\rho_F(\mathbf{q}) \equiv \rho(\mathbf{q}(t_f), t_f)$ at a final time t_f following Eq. (9), the corresponding time-reversed process should describe the evolution from ρ_F to ρ_I . Suppose that this process is described by the backward SDE,

$$d\mathbf{q}(t) = \left(\frac{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{q}(t), t)}{M} - \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{q}, t) - \mathbf{B}(t)\right) dt + \sqrt{2\nu} d\mathbf{W}_t, \quad (dt < 0).$$
(10)

To reproduce Eq. (9) from the backward SDE, we find that the following consistency condition should be satisfied, $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{x},t) = \tilde{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{x},t) + 2v\nabla \ln \rho(\mathbf{x},t)$.

We should stress that the usual definition of the particle velocity is not applicable, because $d\hat{\mathbf{r}}/dt$ is not well defined in the vanishing limit of dt due to the singular behavior of \mathbf{W}_t . The possible time differential in such a case was studied by Nelson [6] and it is known that there are two possibilities: One is the mean forward derivative

$$D\mathbf{q}(t) = \lim_{dt \to 0+} E\left[\frac{\mathbf{q}(t+dt) - \mathbf{q}(t)}{dt}\Big|\mathscr{P}_t\right],\tag{11}$$

and the other is the mean backward derivative,

$$\tilde{D}\mathbf{q}(t) = \lim_{dt \to 0-} E\left[\frac{\mathbf{q}(t+dt) - \mathbf{q}(t)}{dt} \middle| \mathscr{F}_t\right].$$
(12)

These expectations are conditional averages, where \mathscr{P}_t (resp. \mathscr{F}_t) indicates fixing the values of $\mathbf{r}(t')$ for $t' \leq t$ (*resp.* $t' \geq t$). For the σ -algebra of all measurable events of $\mathbf{r}(t)$, $\{\mathscr{P}_t\}$ and $\{\mathscr{F}_t\}$ represent, respectively, increasing and decreasing families of sub- σ -algebras. Using these derivatives in Eqs. (6) and (10), we obtain, respectively,

$$D\mathbf{q}(t) = \frac{\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{q},t)}{M} - \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{q},t) - \mathbf{B}(t), \quad \tilde{D}\mathbf{q}(t) = \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{q},t)}{M} - \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{q},t) - \mathbf{B}(t).$$
(13)

4 Quantization in non-inertial frames

Let us apply the stochastic variation to the system given by the Lagrangian (2). Then the particle trajectory in Eq. (2) should be replaced by the stochastic one, as was discussed in the previous section. Due to the existence of two different timederivatives D and \tilde{D} , there is an ambiguity when replacing the kinetic term. In this work, we adopt the following replacement,

$$L(\mathbf{q}, D\mathbf{q}, \tilde{D}\mathbf{q}) = \frac{m}{2} \left[\frac{(D\mathbf{q}(t) + \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B})^2 + (\tilde{D}\mathbf{q}(t) + \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B})^2}{2} \right] - V(\mathbf{q}(t)).$$
(14)

See Ref. [16] for a more precise discussion of this replacement.

The stochastic variation of the particle Lagrangian leads to the stochastic Euler-Lagrange equation

$$\tilde{D}\frac{\partial L}{\partial (D\mathbf{q}(t))} + D\frac{\partial L}{\partial (\tilde{D}\mathbf{q}(t))} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathbf{q}(t)}\bigg|_{\mathbf{q}(t)=\mathbf{x}} = 0.$$
(15)

Here $\mathbf{q}(t)$ is replaced by the position parameter \mathbf{x} at the last step of the calculation. Substituting Eq. (14), we obtain

$$\left(\partial_t + \left(\frac{\mathbf{p}_m}{M} - \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{B}\right) \cdot \nabla\right) \mathbf{p}_m - 2M v^2 \nabla \rho^{-1/2} \Delta \sqrt{\rho} = \mathbf{p}_m \cdot \nabla_i \mathbf{A} - \nabla_i V, \quad (16)$$

where $\mathbf{p}_m = (\mathbf{p} + \tilde{\mathbf{p}})/2$.

The result of this variation can be re-expressed in the form of the Schrödinger equation by introducing the wave function defined by $\Psi(\mathbf{x},t) = \sqrt{\rho(\mathbf{x},t)}e^{i\theta(\mathbf{x},t)}$. Here $\rho(\mathbf{x},t)$ is the probability distribution introduced above Eq. (9), and the phase $\theta(\mathbf{x},t)$ is defined by $\mathbf{p}_m = 2M\nu\nabla\theta(\mathbf{x},t)$. Then we find that the evolution equation of the wave function is given by the following Schrödinger equation The Schrödinger equation in rotating frames by using the stochastic variational method

$$i\hbar\partial_t \Psi(\mathbf{x},t) = \left[\frac{1}{2M} \left(-i\hbar\nabla - M\left(\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{x},t) + \mathbf{B}(t)\right)\right)^2 - \frac{M}{2} \left(\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{x},t) + \mathbf{B}(t)\right)^2 + V(\mathbf{x})\right] \Psi(\mathbf{x},t).$$
(17)

Here we choose $v = \hbar/(2M)$. One can see that the effect of the non-inertial forces appears in the vector fields $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{x},t)$ and $\mathbf{B}(t)$ which behave like the gauge field in the electromagnetic interaction.

5 Observables

The dynamics described by the above Schrödinger equation satisfies Eherenfest's theorem. In fact, the time evolution of the expectation value of the operator $-\hbar\nabla$ is given by

$$\partial_t \langle -i\hbar\partial_i \rangle = \langle (\mathbf{R}\dot{\mathbf{R}}^T)^{ji}(-i\hbar\partial_j) \rangle - \langle \partial_i V \rangle.$$
(18)

One can see that if we can interpret $\hat{p} = -i\hbar\nabla$, the above equation corresponds to Eq. (5).

However, to be precise, it is non-trivial as to whether we can interpret $-\hbar\nabla$ as the momentum operator even in the non-inertial frame. In SVM, the operator representations of observables are defined through the conservation laws obtained from the stochastic Lagrangian (14).

For the sake of simplicity, let us consider the rotation around the z-axis, where

$$\mathbf{R}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\phi(t) & \sin\phi(t) & 0\\ -\sin\phi(t) & \cos\phi(t) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{c}(t) = 0.$$
(19)

This non-inertial system still holds the invariance for the rotation if $V(\mathbf{x}) = V(|\mathbf{x}|)$. Then from the invariance of the stochastic action, we can obtain the angular momentum conservation of the present non-inertial system. For the infinitesimal rotation, $\mathbf{q}(t)$ is transformed as $\mathbf{q}(t) \longrightarrow \mathbf{q}(t) + \mathbf{A}(\phi(t))$, where $\mathbf{A}(\phi(t)) = \delta \dot{\phi}(-y, x, 0)$.

On the other hand, if the action is invariant for the above rotation, we can show that the following quantity is conserved by applying the stochastic Noether theorem [17, 18],

$$Q = E\left[\mathbf{q}(t) \times \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial (D\mathbf{q}(t))} + \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\tilde{D}\mathbf{q}(t))}\right)\right].$$
(20)

Here \times denotes the vector product. Substituting the result of the stochastic variation, the above equation is now expressed as

$$Q = \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \ \Psi(\mathbf{x}, t) L_z \Psi(\mathbf{x}, t), \qquad (21)$$

where the angular momentum operator is introduced, $L_z = -i\hbar(x\partial_y - y\partial_x)$. This result means that $-i\hbar\nabla$ can be interpreted as the momentum operator even in the non-inertial system.

6 Concluding remarks

We gave a brief summary of the stochastic variational method and showed that this is applicable to the quantization of the non-inertial particle system. Then we found that the Eherenfest's theorem is still satisfied even for the Schrödinger equation in the non-inertial frame, and thus the result is consistent with those in Refs. [9–11], but different from Refs. [12, 13].

The advantage of the present approach compared to Refs. [9-11] is that the operator representations for observables are systematically obtained by applying the stochastic Noether theorem.

Although the framework of SVM was originally proposed to reformulate Nelson's stochastic quantization, its applicability is not restricted to quantization. The derivation of the classical dissipative dynamics can be cast into the form of SVM: the Navier-Stokes-Fourier equation is obtained by employing the stochastic variation to the classical action of the Euler (ideal fluid) equation. See Refs. [18, 19] for details.

Acknowledgements This work is financially supported by CNPq.

References

- 1. K. Yasue, J. Funct. Anal. 41, 327 (1981).
- 2. F. Guerra and L. M. Morato, Phys. Rev. D27, 1774 (1983).
- 3. M. Pavon, J. Math. Phys. 36, 6774 (1995).
- 4. M. Nagasawa, Stochastic Process in Quantum Physics (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2000).
- 5. J. Cresson and S. Darses, J. Math. Phys. 48, 072703 (2007).
- 6. E. Nelson, Phys. Rev. 150, 1079 (1966).
- 7. S. A. Werner, J.-L. Staudenmann and R. Colella, Phys. Rev. Lett. 42, 1103 (1979).
- 8. J. J. Sakurai, Phys. Rev. D21, 2993 (1980).
- 9. B. Mashhoon, Phys. Rev. Lett. 61, 2639 (1988); 68, 3812 (1992).
- J, Anandan and J. Suzuki, in *Relativity in Rotating Frames: Relativistic Physics in Rotating Reference Frames*, ed. by G. Rizzi and M.L. Ruggiero. Fundamental Theories of Physics, vol 135 (Kluwer, Dordewcht, 2004) P361, arXiv:quant-ph/0305081v2.
- 11. S. Takagi. Prog. Theor. Phys. 85, 463 (1991).
- 12. W. H. Klink and S. Wickramasekara, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 160404 (2013).
- 13. S. Kamebuchi and M. Omote, Special Lecture on Quantum Mechanics, (Asakura, Tokyo, 2003) in Japanese.
- 14. T. Koide, T. Kodama and K. Tsishima, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 626 012055 (2015).
- 15. J. C. Zambrini, Int. J. Theor. Phys.24 277 (1985).
- 16. T. Koide, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 410 012025 (2013).
- 17. T. Misawa, J. Math. Phys. 29 2178 (1988).
- 18. T. Koide and T. Kodama, Prog. Theor. Exp. Phys. 093A03 (2015).
- 19. T. Koide and T. Kodama, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 45, 255204 (2012).
- 20. T. Koide, Phys. Lett. A379, 2007 (2015).

Perturbation of the Malliavin Calculus of Bismut type for a large order on a Lie group

Rémi Léandre

Abstract Roughly speaking, in the qualitative theory of an elliptic operator, only the main term (which is given by its principal symbol) plays a role. We show that this statement is true for the Malliavin Calculus of Bismut type for a large order on a Lie group.

1 Introduction

Let us consider an elliptic operator of order r on a compact manifold M. If we perturb it by a strictly lower order operator L_p , by the theory of a pseudo-differential operator (which is given by the role of the principal symbol of an elliptic operator) the result is that the qualitative behaviour (hypoellipticity) is the same as that of $L+L_p$. See [3-6] for various textbooks in analysis about this problem.

Recently, we introduced an elliptic operator of order $4 L_0 = \sum e_i^4$, where e_i is an orthonormal basis of the Lie algebra of a compact Lie group *G* of dimension *m* with generic element *g*. We have established the Malliavin Calculus [11] of Bismut type for *L* [1]. For a semigroup P_t on a manifold *M*, a natural question is to know if the semigroup has a heat kernel $P_t f(x) = \int_M f(y) p_t(x, y) dy$ for any test function *f*. There are 3 approaches for this:

- Harmonic analysis which uses functional inequalities,
- Micro-local analysis which uses Fourier transform as a tool,
- The Malliavin Calculus, which is valid only for Markov semigroups represented by stochastic processes.

Bismut's approach to the Malliavin Calculus allows for an integration by parts using a cascade system of stochastic differential equations, it is therefore a system

Rémi Léandre

Laboratoire de Mathématiques, Université de Franche-Comté, Route de Gray, 25030, Besançon, France e-mail: remi.leandre@univ-fcomte.fr

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_33

of Markovian semigroup in cascade. For non-Markovian semigroups (i.e., with no associated stochastic process), it is possible to adapt this system of stochastic differential equations in cascade in order to get the integration by parts of Malliavin type for a system of enlarged (non-Markovian) semigroups, in which the Malliavin matrix plays a key role. We begin by a simple case.

The goal of this paper is to define an abstract version of the Malliavin Calculus that would be valid for a large class of elliptic operators, where a system of enlarged (non-Markovian) semigroups would play a big role. If we consider an elliptic operator and if we perturb it by a lower order operator, the behaviour of the two semigroups are more or less the same. We would like to extend this strategy for the Malliavin Calculus.

We consider a polynomial Q of degree strictly smaller than 4 in the vector fields e_i with constant components. For the perturbed semigroup and the non-perturbed semigroup, abstract formulas are the same and the formulas for the enlarged semigroups are the same. We consider the total operator

$$L = L_0 + Q. \tag{1}$$

We also aim to prove the following theorem, using a small interpretation of $[9]^1$.

Theorem 1. The semigroup generated by L has a heat kernel.

Remark It should be possible to establish the same theorem using Malliavin Calculus techniques for the operator

$$L = \sum e_i^{2k} + Q, \tag{2}$$

where Q is a polynomial with constant components in the e_i of degree strictly smaller than the integer 2k.

Remark It should be possible in this situation to adapt the result of [10] getting rough logarithmic estimates of the density of the generator where we consider a small parameter in its definition. Let us stress that we have examined the stochastic analysis for a non-Markovian generator in [8].

2 The theorem of Malliavin for a perturbated operator of order four

We consider the elliptic operator on $G \times R$

$$Q + \sum_{i}^{m} e_{i}^{4} + \sum h_{i,t} e_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{\partial^{4}}{\partial u^{4}} = \tilde{L}_{t}^{h}.$$
(3)

¹ Note that we have translated the Malliavin Calculus for diffusions into the language of semigroup theory, [7].

It generates by the elliptic theory a semigroup \tilde{P}_t^h on $C_b(G \times R)$, the space of a bounded continuous function on $G \times R$ endowed with the uniform norm.

Theorem 2. (Elementary integration by parts formula). We have if f is smooth with compact support

$$\int_{0}^{t} P_{t-s} \sum h_{s,i} e_{i} P_{s}[f] ds = \tilde{P}_{t}^{h}[uf](.,0).$$
(4)

Proof. It is the same proof as that of Theorem 3 of [9]

Remark It is the same abstract integration by parts formula as in the above formula if we remove Q in (3) and it is the same enlargement mechanism.

Let $V = G \times M_m$. M_m is the space of symmetric matrices on $Lie G ((x, v) \in V)$, the Lie algebra of *G*. Here the Lie algebra of *G* is considered as the tangent space of *G* at the identity, unlike the definition of *L* where the elements of the Lie algebra of *G* are considered as vector fields. *v* is called the Malliavin matrix. We consider

$$\hat{X}_0 = (0, \sum \langle g^{-1} e_i, . \rangle^2).$$
(5)

We consider the Malliavin generator

$$\hat{L} = \sum e_i^4 - \hat{X}_0 + Q.$$
(6)

Theorem 3. \hat{L} spans a semigroup \hat{P}_t called the Malliavin semigroup on $C_b(V)$.

Proof. It is the same proof of Theorem 4 of [9] since Q is a polynomial with constant components in the e_i and L generates a $C_b(G)$ semigroup.

Remark The formula for the Malliavin matrix is the same as for L_0 and depends only on the main part of L. Formulas in the proof, where we use Volterra expansion, are abstractly the same as for L_0 . Estimates in the Volterra expansion are the same, because the global behaviour for the semigroup P_t for bounded time is the same as the non-perturbed semigroup generated by L_0 .

We consider the generator

$$L_{\lambda} = \sum e_i^4 - \lambda \sum \langle \phi(g), h_t \rangle^i e_i + Q.$$
⁽⁷⁾

It generates by the elliptic theory a semigroup on $C_b(G)$ which depends smoothly on λ . We denote it by P_t^{λ} . We suppose that $g \to \langle \phi(g), h_t \rangle$ is a smooth function in $g \in G$ with values in \mathbb{R}^m which depends continuously on λ .

We consider

$$\tilde{X}_0 = (0, \sum g^{-1} e_i < \phi(g), h_t >^i).$$
(8)

We consider the operator on $G \times T_e G$

$$\tilde{L} = L - \tilde{X}_0. \tag{9}$$

As the Malliavin operator, it is not the perturbation of an elliptic operator on $G \times T_e G$. But we can redefine it as we did for the Malliavin semigroup \hat{P}_t , redefining it by its associated semigroup \tilde{P}_t .

This allows to show

Proposition 1. We have if f is smooth with compact support

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda}P_t^0[f](g_0) = \tilde{P}_t[\langle Df, gu \rangle](g_0, 0).$$
(10)

Proof. It is the same proof as for the Proposition 5 of [9]. The only problem is that u is not bounded. We perform the Davies gauge transform [2] associated with $h(u) = |u^2| + 1$. We get

$$\tilde{L}_d = h^{-1}\tilde{L}(h.) = \tilde{L} + h^{-1} < \tilde{X}_0, h > = \tilde{L} + V.$$
(11)

But the potential V is bounded. By Volterra expansion, \tilde{L}_d generates a semigroup on $C_b(G \times T_e G)$ wich is equal to $h^{-1}\tilde{P}_t[h]$. The results arise because \tilde{L} generates a continuous semigroup on $C_b(G \times T_e G)$.

We have the main theorem of this paper:

Theorem 4. (Malliavin) If the Malliavin condition holds, then

$$|\hat{P}_t][v^{-p}](g,0) < \infty \tag{12}$$

for all positive integers p, P_t has a heat kernel.

Proof. It is the same proof as in the beginning of the proof of Theorem 6 of [9]. Under the Malliavin assumption, we can optimize the elementary integration by part of Theorem 2, in order to get, according the framework of the Malliavin Calculus, the inequality for any smooth function f on G:

$$|P_t[< df, e_i >]| \le C ||f||_{\infty}.$$
(13)

By this inequality, we deduce according to the framework of the Malliavin Calculus that

$$P_t[f](g) = \int_G f(g') p_t(g,g') dg'$$
(14)

for a non strictly positive heat kernel p_t (dg' denotes the normalized Haar mesure on G).

3 Inversion of the Malliavin matrix

Theorem 5. Under the previous elliptic assumptions,

$$\hat{P}_t[[|v^{-p}|]](g_0, 0) < \infty \quad \text{if} \quad t > 0.$$
(15)

Proof. It is the same proof as the proof of Theorem 8 of [6].

Remark For diffusion, this means for operators governed by the second order operator $\sum_{i=1}^{m} X_i^2 + X_0$ and if we are in the elliptic case (the vector fields X_i , i > 0 span the whole space), the strategy to invert the Malliavin matrix is the same whether the drift appears or not. It is the same in this case.

Proof of theorem 1 This comes from Theorem 4 and Theorem 5.

References

- 1. J.M. Bismut, Z. Wahr. Verw. Gebiete, 63, (1981), 147-235.
- 2. E. Davies, Bull. London Math. Soc., 29 (5), (1997), 513-546.
- 3. J. Chazarain, A. Piriou, Introduction à la théorie des équations aux dérivées partielles linéaires. (Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1981).
- 4. J. Dieudonné, Eléments d'analyse VII. (Gauthiers-Villars, Paris, 1977).
- 5. L. Hoermander, The analysis of linear partial operators III. (Springer, Paris, 1984).
- 6. L. Hoermander, The analysis of linear partial operators IV. (Springer, Paris, 1984).
- R. Léandre, in *Festchrift in honour of K. Sinha*, edited by V.S. Sunder Proc. Indian. Aca. Sci. Math.Sci., 116.
- 8. R. Léandre, Russian Journal of Mathematical Physics, 22 (2015), 39-53.
- 9. R. Léandre, J. Pseudo-Differ. Oper. Appl. (2017). doi:10.1007/s11868-017-0190-3
- R. Léandre, in *Control, decision and information technologies (2016)* (C.D. I.E.E.E, Los Alamitos) edited by E Viedma *et al.*. To appear in IEEE-Xplore.
- 11. P. Malliavin, in *Proc. Inter. Symp. Stoc. Diff. Equations. Kyoto*, edited by K. Itô (Kinokuyina, Tokyo, 1976), p. 195-263.

Shift operators and recurrence relations for individual Lamé polynomials

Eugenio Ley-Koo and Ricardo Méndez Fragoso

Abstract Our contribution to Gr31 "Review of the development and application of spheroconal theory of angular momentum" included a mention of our current work on individual Lamé polynomials. This written version reports original results on shift operators and recurrence relations connecting a Lamé polynomial with angular momentum ℓ , species [A] and excitation *n*, with neighbouring polynomials with $\ell' = \ell \pm 1$, species [A'] where the prime indicates a derivative, and excitations *n'* in their different possibilities, for the derivative operator. Other operators involve multiplication by another Lamé polynomial, starting with the singularity removing factors $A_i = 1$, sn, cn, dn, sn cn, sn dn, cn dn, sn cn dn as monomials. The successive and complementary use of these operators for Lamé polynomials in their two respective degrees of freedom connects with the ladder and shift operator actions of cartesian components of the angular momentum and linear momentum on the product of those polynomials as rotational eigenstates. The identification of the operators for individual Lamé polynomials fills a gap in the study of their properties and connections.

1 Introduction

This section contains a written enumeration of specific results in our contributions to the development of the spheroconal theory of angular momentum, complementary to those presented orally and visually at Gr31. Reference [9] includes orig-

Eugenio Ley-Koo

Instituto de Fsica, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. Apartado postal 20-364, 01000, México, D.F. México e-mail: eleykoo@fisica.unam.mx

Ricardo Méndez-Fragoso

Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. Av. Universidad 3000, Circuito Exterior S/N Delegación Coyoacán, C.P. 04510 Ciudad Universitaria, D.F. Mexico, e-mail: rich@ciencias.unam.mx

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_34

inal works on which we comment next. In [2], matrix evaluation of the spheroconal harmonics in the basis of spherical harmonics provides the transformation coefficients between both sets for any asymmetry of the molecules. Both sets share the same generating function, the inverse of the distance between two points, and its expansion in the spheroconal basis was obtained. The analysis and evaluations in [3] were implemented using only spheroconal coordinates in their Jacobi elliptic integral representations, motivating us to develop the alternate theory of angular momentum. The plane wave as a generating function of spherical waves, via its Rayleigh expansion, also has its alternate expansion in spheroconal waves. The superintegrability of the hydrogen atom allowed us to identify and construct a generating function for its eigenfunctions in spherical, parabolic, prolate spheroidal, and spheroconal coordinates, and its respective expansions [1]. Three sets of ladder operators connecting spheroconal harmonics were also identified [8]: the cartesian components of the linear momentum connect states of neighbouring angular momentum $\ell' = \ell \pm 1$, different parities and different species; the cartesian components of the angular momentum connects states of the same angular momentum and parity, and different species; the rotational eigenstates as products of Lamé polynomials in the respective degrees of freedom for a given angular momentum and species [AB] are matched by their complementary increasing and decreasing excitations and eigenvalues: $n_1 + n_2 = \ell - n^{AB}$ and $h_{n_1} + h_{n_2} = \ell(\ell + 1)$, where n^{AB} counts the number of cartesian plane nodes and n_1 and n_2 the respective number of elliptical cone nodes. Spheroconal harmonics are alternatives to the spherical harmonics: for the Schrödinger equation with isotropic potentials, as applied to the free particle confined in a sphere and the isotropic harmonic oscillator [6], and for the equations of magnetostatics [4]. The rotations of the hydrogen atom [5] and asymmetric molecules [6,7] confined in elliptical cones have also been investigated.

The main body of this contribution contains in Section 2, the ordinary Lamé differential equation and its eigenfunctions, in terms of Jacobi elliptic functions; in Section 3 the identification of new shift operators in the form of derivatives and multiplications of such functions, leading to linear superposition of other eigenfunctions with other values of angular momentum, different species and different excitations; and in Section 4, a discussion of these results and their applications.

2 Lamé Ordinary Differential Equation and its Eigenfunctions

The Appendix in [9] contains details about the spheroconal coordinates, $x = r dn(\chi_1|k_1^2)sn(\chi_2|k_2^2)$, $y = rcn(\chi_1|k_1^2)cn(\chi_2|k_2^2)$, $z = rsn(\chi_1|k_1^2)dn(\chi_2|k_2^2)$, and the simultaneous solution of eigenvalue problems for the square of the angular momentum and asymmetry-distribution Hamiltonians, leading to Lamé ordinary differential equation [10], in the respective variables and parameters, for i = 1, 2:

$$\left(\frac{d^2}{d\chi_i^2} - \ell(\ell+1)k_i^2 \operatorname{sn}^2(\chi_i|k_i^2) + h_i\right) \Lambda(\chi_i) = 0.$$
⁽¹⁾

Here we recall linear relationships among the squares of the Jacobi elliptic functions:

$$cn^{2}(\boldsymbol{\chi}_{i}|k_{i}^{2}) = 1 - sn^{2}(\boldsymbol{\chi}_{i}|k_{i}^{2}) \quad , \quad dn^{2}(\boldsymbol{\chi}_{i}|k_{i}^{2}) = 1 - k_{i}^{2}sn^{2}(\boldsymbol{\chi}_{i}|k_{i}^{2})$$
(2)

as well as their derivatives:

$$\frac{d}{d\chi_i}\operatorname{sn}(\chi_i|k_i^2) = \operatorname{cn}(\chi_i|k_i^2)\operatorname{dn}(\chi_i|k_i^2), \quad \frac{d}{d\chi_i}\operatorname{cn}(\chi_i|k_i^2) = -\operatorname{sn}(\chi_i|k_i^2)\operatorname{dn}(\chi_i|k_i^2)$$
(3)

$$\frac{d}{d\chi_i} \mathrm{dn}(\chi_i | k_i^2) = -k_i^2 \mathrm{sn}(\chi_i | k_i^2) \mathrm{cn}(\chi_i | k_i^2) \,. \tag{4}$$

The latter allows for identifying the singularity removing factors in the solutions of Eq. (1), $A(\chi_i) = [1, s, c, d, cd, sd, cs, scd]$.

Also notice the invariance of the differential equation under $\chi \to -\chi$ which implies eigenfunctions of a definite parity, determined by the respective factors $A(\chi_i)$. Correspondingly, the other factor can be written as a series in the squares of $\operatorname{sn}^2(\chi_i|k_i^2)$, so that the solution of Eq. (1) takes the form

$$\Lambda_{n_i}^{\ell[A]}(\boldsymbol{\chi}_i) = A(\boldsymbol{\chi}_i) \sum_{t=0}^{N_{max}} a_t \operatorname{sn}^{2t}(\boldsymbol{\chi}_i | k_i^2) .$$
(5)

The series become polynomials of degrees $\ell - n^A$, where $n^A = 0, 1, 2, 3$ according to the number of Jacobi elliptic factors in the respective singularity removing factors. Going back to the cartesian coordinates, products of the matching removing factor for each degree of freedom $[A(\chi_1)][B(\chi_2)] = [1, x, y, z, xy, xz, yz, xyz]$ allows for the identification and classification of the complete spheroconal harmonics according to their parities and number of nodal planes. The index n_i in Eq. (5) counts the number of nodal elliptical cones, coming in pairs. For the matching Lamé polynomials in the respective variables to be multiplied to form the spheroconal harmonics, their respective number of nodes and eigenvalues are restricted by $n_1 + n_2 + n^{AB} = \ell$ and $h^{\ell[A]_{n_1}} + h^{\ell[B]_{n_2}} = \ell(\ell + 1)$, counting the common total number of nodes, and also the common square of the angular momentum, respectively. Notice that all the polynomials in Eq. (5) are of degree $\ell - n^A$, and $n_i = 0, 2, ..., \ell - n^A$.

3 Shift operators and recurrence relations for individual Lamé polynomials

In this section, the shifting action of the derivative of a Lamé polynomial connecting it with its neighbors with angular momentum differing by one, of different parity species and excitations, is illustrated and proven by mathematical induction. We do likewise for the product of two Lamé polynomials. The connection between mono-

Eugenio Ley-Koo and Ricardo Méndez Fragoso

mials is direct from $\ell = 1$ to $\ell = 2$:

$$\frac{d}{d\chi} \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_0^{1[s]} \\ \Lambda_0^{1[c]} \\ \Lambda_0^{1[d]} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} cd \\ -sd \\ -k^2sc \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_0^{2[cd]} \\ -\Lambda_0^{2[sd]} \\ -k^2\Lambda_0^{2[sc]} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6)

The connection between the binomials 2[1] and the monomial 3[scd] is also direct.

$$\frac{d}{d\chi} \begin{pmatrix} A_n^{2[1]} \\ A_0^{2[cd]} \\ A_0^{2[sd]} \\ A_0^{2[sc]} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2a_1^n scd \\ -s(d^2 + k^2 c^2) \\ c(d^2 - k^2 s^2) \\ d(c^2 - s^2) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2a_1^n A_0^{3[scd]} \\ R_0^s A_0^{3[s]} + R_2^s A_2^{3[s]} \\ R_0^c A_0^{3[c]} + R_2^c A_2^{3[c]} \\ R_0^d A_0^{3[d]} + R_2^d A_2^{3[d]} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7)

However, the connections between the monomials $2[e_je_k]$ and the binomials $3[e_i]$ require the identification of the raising coefficients $R_n^{e_i}$ for n = 0, 2 by comparing the respective coefficients of s^{2t} in the last equalities. There are also superpositions of the lowering and raising combinations:

$$L_0^{e_i} \Lambda_0^{1[e_i]} + R_n^{e_i} \Lambda_2^{3[e_i]} \text{ for } n = 0, 2.$$
(8)

The generalization and proof by mathematical induction of the shifting action of the derivative operator on the Lamé polynomials from $\ell = 2N$ to $\ell = 2N + 1$ and from $\ell = 2N + 1$ to $\ell = 2N + 2$ is sketched as follows:

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{d\chi} \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_n^{2N[1]} \\ \Lambda_n^{2N[cd]} \\ \Lambda_n^{2N[sd]} \\ \Lambda_n^{2N[sd]} \\ \Lambda_n^{2N[cs]} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} scd\sum 2ta_ts^{2(t-1)} \\ sc^2d^2\sum 2ta_ts^{2(t-1)} - s(d^2 + k^2c^2)\sum a_ts^{2t} \\ s^2cd\sum 2ta_ts^{2(t-1)} + c(d^2 - k^2s^2)\sum a_ts^{2t} \\ s^2c^2d\sum 2ta_ts^{2(t-1)} + d(c^2 - s^2)\sum a_ts^{2t} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{n'} R_{n'}\Lambda_{n'}^{2N+1[s]} \\ \sum_{n'} R_{n'}\Lambda_{n'}^{2N+1[c]} \\ \sum_{n'} R_{n'}\Lambda_{n'}^{2N+1[d]} \end{pmatrix} \\ \frac{d}{d\chi} \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_n^{2N+1[scd]} \\ \Lambda_n^{2N+1[c]} \\ \Lambda_n^{2N+1[c]} \\ \Lambda_n^{2N+1[d]} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (c^2d^2 - s^2d^2 - k^2s^2c^2)\sum a_ts^{2(t-1)} \\ s^2cd\sum 2ta_ts^{2(t-1)} + cd\sum a_ts^{2t} \\ sc^2d\sum 2ta_ts^{2(t-1)} - sd\sum a_ts^{2t} \\ scd^2\sum 2ta_ts^{2(t-1)} - k^2sc\sum a_ts^{2t} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{n'} R_{n'}\Lambda_{n'}^{2N+2[1]} \\ \sum_{n'} R_{n'}\Lambda_{n'}^{2N+2[cd]} \\ \sum_{n'} R_{n'}\Lambda_{n'}^{2N+2[cd]} \\ \sum_{n'} R_{n'}\Lambda_{n'}^{2N+2[sd]} \\ \sum_{n'} R_{n'}\Lambda_{n'}^{2N+2[sd]} \end{pmatrix} .$$

In the first case, the polynomial of species [1] is of degree $\frac{\ell}{2} = N$ in sn², while its companions $[e_i e_j]$ have polynomials of degree $\frac{\ell}{2} - 1$. Their respective derivatives of species [scd] and $[e_k]$ have polynomials of degrees $\frac{\ell}{2} - 1 = \frac{(2N+1)-3}{2}$ and $\frac{\ell}{2} = \frac{(2N+1)-1}{2}$, allowing for identifying the superposition of the corresponding Lamé polynomials with the value $\ell = 2N + 1$. In the second case, the polynomials of species [scd] are of degree $\frac{(2N+1)-3}{2}$, and their companions of species $[e_i]$ have polynomials of degree $\frac{(2N+1)-1}{2}$. Their respective derivatives of species [1] and $[e_ie_j]$ have polynomials of degree $\frac{(2N+1)-3}{2} + 2 = \frac{2N+2}{2}$ and $\frac{2N}{2} = \frac{(2N+2)-2}{2}$, allowing for identifying the superposition of Lamé polynomials with the common value $\ell = 2N + 2$ for all species.

As for multiplying two Lamé polynomials, we start with those of lower degrees:

$$\Lambda_0^{1[e_i]} \Lambda_0^{1[e_j]} = \Lambda_0^{2[e_i e_j]}, \tag{9}$$

$$\Lambda_0^{1[e_i]} \Lambda_0^{1[e_i]} = e_i^2 = R_0^{e_i} \Lambda_0^{2[1]} + R_2^{e_i} \Lambda_2^{2[1]} = L_0^{e_i} \Lambda_0^{0[1]} + R_n^{e_i} \Lambda_n^{2[1]},$$
(10)

$$\Lambda_0^{2[e_i e_j]} \Lambda_0^{2[e_i e_j]} = e_i^2 e_j^2 = \sum_{n'=0,2,4} R_{n'} \Lambda_{n'}^{4[1]},$$
(11)

$$\Lambda_0^{1[e_i]} \Lambda_0^{3[e_i e_j e_k]} = e_i^2 e_j e_k = \sum_{n'=0,2} R_{n'} \Lambda_{n'}^{4[e_j e_k]},$$
(12)

$$\Lambda_0^{2[e_i e_j]} \Lambda_0^{3[e_i e_j e_k]} = e_i^2 e_j^2 e_k = \sum_{n'} R_{n'} \Lambda_{n'}^{5[e_k]},$$
(13)

$$\Lambda_0^{1[e_i]} \Lambda_n^{4[1]} = \sum_{n'=0,2,4} R_{n'} \Lambda_{n'}^{5[e_i]}, \tag{14}$$

$$\Lambda_0^{3[scd]} \Lambda_0^{3[scd]} = s^2 c^2 d^2 = \sum_{n'=0,2,4,6} R_{n'} \Lambda_{n'}^{6[1]}.$$
(15)

The last example is interpreted in terms of a superposition of Lamé polynomials of angular momentum $\ell = 6$, species [1], and the excitations n = 0, 2, 4, 6. However, just as we did in going from Eqs. (7) to (8), we recognize other alternatives involving superpositions of one or more of the above examples with other states of the same species and lower values of $\ell = 0, 2, 4$. By using the ket notation, the orthogonality and completeness of the individual Lamé polynomials, we write the product of any two of them as a superposition of the connected states allowed by the addition of their angular momenta:

$$|\ell_1[A_1]n_1\rangle |\ell_2[A_2]n_2\rangle = \sum_{\ell_3, [A_3], n_3} |\ell_3[A_3]n_3\rangle \langle \ell_3[A_3]n_3 | \ell_1[A_1]n_1\ell_2[A_2]n_2\rangle , \quad (16)$$

where the overlap integrals are the coefficients of the superposition, directly identifiable by comparing their singularity removing factors and coefficients of equal powers of sn^2 .

The same idea is applicable for the derivative operation involving the addition $\vec{\ell}_i + \vec{1} = \vec{\ell}_f$.

4 Discussion and conclusions

In the previous sections we provided a succinct review of our recent contributions to the development and application of the spheroconal theory of angular momentum; a description of the Lamé ordinary differential equation with the classification and characterization of its solutions and eigenvalues on the basis of their parities and species; and the identification of the derivative and multiplication of Lamé polynomials as operations changing their angular momentum, species and excitations. Now, we proceed to make some concluding remarks about the latter in (i) the domain of the individual Lamépolynomials, and (ii) the domain of the rotational eigenstates of asymmetric molecules, constructed as the product of individual Lamé polynomials in the two different and complementary degrees of freedom.

An immediate application of the general result expressed in Eq. (16) is the evaluation of the integrals of the product of three Lamé polynomials, including the selection rules that limit the third factor on the left-hand side to those in the superposition on the right-hand side. This is the counterpart of the familiar result for Legendre polynomials.

The cartesian components of the linear and angular momentum operators involve derivatives with respect to the spheroconal coordinates χ_1 and χ_2 , multiplied by the components of their unit vectors along the respective cartesian axes, as described in the appendix in [9]. We have started to reexamine their actions on the rotational states, as the products of complementary Lamépolynomials in the respective spheroconal coordinates, in light of the results of the derivative and multiplication operations on the individual polynomials. Equation (16) also suggests that we are ready to tackle the problem of the addition of angular momenta for the complete spheroconal eigenstates.

In conclusion, the availability of these operators and their related recurrence relations place the Lamé polynomials more on a par with their spherical counterparts.

Acknowledgements The authors acknowledge the support from the grant PAPIIT IA-105516.

References

- 1. E. Ley-Koo, A. Góngora. Int. J. Quantum Chem, doi: 10.1002/qua.21851.
- 2. E. Ley-Koo, R. Méndez-Fragoso, Rev. Mex. Fís. 2008, 54 (1), 69.
- 3. E. Ley-Koo, R. Méndez-Fragoso, R. Rev. Mex. Fís. 2008, 54 (2), 162.
- 4. L. Medina, E. Ley-Koo. Rev. Mex. Fís 62 (2016) 362.
- 5. R. Méndez-Fragoso, E. Ley-Koo, Int J. Quantum Chem, doi: 10.1002/qua.22569.
- 6. R. Méndez-Fragoso, E. Ley-Koo, Int J. Quantum Chem, doi: 10.1002/qua.22806.
- R. Méndez-Fragoso, E. Ley-Koo, Adv. Quantum Chem, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-386477-2.00004-8.
- 8. R. Méndez-Fragoso, E. Ley-Koo, SIGMA, doi: 10.3842/SIGMA.2012.074.
- 9. R. Méndez-Fragoso, E. Ley-Koo, Adv. Quantum Chem, doi: 10.1016/bs.aiq.2015.02.003.
- H. Volkmer, in *Lamé functions*, ed. by F. W. J. Olver, D. W. Lozier, R. F. Biosvert, C. W. Clark. NIST Handbook of Mathematical Functions, (Cambridge University Press, 2010).

Shift operators and recurrence relations for Legendre polynomials with noninteger associativity and definite parity

Eugenio Ley-Koo and Salvador A. Cruz

Abstract This is the written version of new results reported at Gr31 in our contribution "O(2) Symmetry Breaking in Dihedrally Confined Atoms and Consequent Modifications of the Periodic Table". It is focused on identifying new shift operators and recurrence relations for Legendre polynomials with noninteger asociativities and definite parities, due to the dihedral confinement and its O(2) symmetry breaking. Recurrence relations play a key role in evaluating the two-electron matrix elements of their Coulomb repulsion multipole components in the Hartree-Fock calculations for the confined atoms.

1 Introduction

Our previous work on the hydrogen atom confined by dihedral angles [3] led us to recognize its O(2) symmetry breaking as manifested by the noninteger values, $\mu = n_{\phi} \pi / \phi_0$, of the eigenvalues of the component of the orbital angular momentum along the edge of the dihedral angle, of magnitude ϕ_0 , for $n_{\phi} = 1, 2, 3, ...$ Figure 1.1 in that reference illustrates the atomic orbitals $\sin \mu \phi$ for the ground state as polar graphs vanishing at the planes defining the dihedral angle, to be compared with circles for the free atom. Some of the consequences of the symmetry breaking consists of the atom: (1) acquiring an electric dipole moment (Sect. 1.3.2), because the center of charge does not coincide with the position of the nucleus; (2) the Fermi contact interaction in the hyperfine structure vanishes because the probability of finding the electron at the position of the nucleus also vanishes (Sect. 1.3.4); (3)

Eugenio Ley-Koo

Salvador A. Cruz Departamento de Física, Universidad Autnoma Metropolitana-Iztapalapa, e-mail: cruz@xanum.uam.mx

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Instituto de Física, Universidad Nacional Autnoma de México, México, e-mail: eleykoo@fisica.unam.mx

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_35

the Zeeman effect is suppressed in first order perturbation theory because matrix elements of the z-component of angular momentum $\langle n'_{\phi} | \hat{l}_z | n_{\phi} \rangle$ vanish for $n'_{\phi} \pm n_{\phi}$ even, and are nonvanishing for $n'_{\phi} \pm n_{\phi}$ odd. On the other hand, (4) Table 1.1 illustrates the order of the energy levels $E_{n_r n_{\theta} n_{\phi}}(\phi_0)$ and their degeneracies *D* for different openings of the confining angle. They are definitely different from those of the free atom. Additionally, (5) in Section 1.4.2 the filling of shells in multielectron atoms in the same situation of confinement based on those degeneracies suggest substantial changes in the periodicities of the elements in the periodic table.

The quantitative answer to point (5) requires Hartree-Fock calculations for atoms with nuclear charge Z, and Z and (Z - 1) electrons. The key ingredient for such calculations is the matrix elements of the electron-electron Coulomb repulsion multipole components in the basis of two-electron hydrogen-like confined orbitals, to be explained in Section 2. This led us to identifying new shift operators and recurrence relations for the Legendre polynomials with non-integer associativities and definite parities, to be presented in Section 3; the recursive use of these relations is also needed for evaluating the polar angle matrix elements. Section 4 summarizes the new results and their application to implement the Hartree-Fock calculations.

2 Evaluation of matrix elements

The dihedrally confined hydrogen orbitals are the novelty elements in the matrix elements to be evaluated.

The azimuthal eigenfunctions of the square of the z-component of the angular momentum vanishing at the angles $\phi = \mp \phi_0/2$ and noninteger values of μ :

$$|\mu\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\phi_0}} \begin{cases} \sin \mu\phi & (\mu = 2n_\phi \pi/\phi_0; n_\phi = 1, 2, 3, \dots) \\ \cos \mu\phi & (\mu = (2n_\phi + 1)\pi/\phi_0; n_\phi = 0, 1, 2, \dots). \end{cases}$$
(1)

The polar angle eigenfunctions in the variable $\eta = \cos \theta$ with noninteger associativity and definite parity are

$$|n_{\theta},\mu\rangle = N_{n_{\theta},\mu} (1-\eta^2)^{\mu/2} F^{\pm}_{n_{\theta},\mu}(\eta)$$
 (2)

where

$$F_{n_{\theta},\mu}^{\pm}(\eta) = \frac{1}{2} \left[{}_{2}F_{1}\left(-n_{\theta}, n_{\theta} + 2\mu + 1; \mu + 1; \frac{1-\eta}{2}\right) + \left(-1\right)^{n_{\theta}} {}_{2}F_{1}\left(-n_{\theta}, n_{\theta} + 2\mu + 1; \mu + 1; \frac{1+\eta}{2}\right) \right].$$
(3)

Notice the difference from the familiar Legendre polynomials $P_{n_{\theta}+m}^{m}(\eta)$ which in their usual hypergeometric representations have a definite parity only for integer values of *m*. The O(2) symmetry breaking for non integer values μ is manifested by $P_{n_{\theta}+\mu}^{\mu}(\eta)$ containing even and odd powers of η . The combination in $F_{n_{\theta},\mu}^{\pm}(\eta)$ restores the parity as originally discussed in [4] and [3].

The electron-electron Coulomb repulsion in its multipole expansion is written in a form appropriate to connect the confined orbitals with definite parities:

$$\frac{1}{r_{12}} = 4\pi \sum_{\ell,m} \frac{N_{lm}^2}{2l+1} \frac{r_{<}^{\ell}}{r_{>}^{\ell+1}} P_l^m(\eta_1) P_l^m(\eta_2) (2-\delta_{m,0}) \cos m(\phi_2 - \phi_1).$$
(4)

The general form of its matrix elements is

$$\langle c \, n'_{1\theta} \, \mu'_{1} | \langle d \, n'_{2\theta} \, \mu'_{2} | \frac{1}{r_{12}} | a \, n_{1\theta} \, \mu_{1} \rangle | b \, n_{2\theta} \, \mu_{2} \rangle$$

$$= 4\pi \sum_{\ell,m} \frac{N_{\ell m}^{2}(2 - \delta_{m,0})}{2\ell + 1} I_{12}^{\ell}(c \, d; a \, b) \, I_{1\theta}^{\ell m}(n'_{1\theta}, \mu'_{1}; n_{1\theta}, \mu_{1}) \times$$

$$\times I_{2\theta}^{\ell m}(n'_{2\theta}, \mu'_{2}; n_{2\theta}, \mu_{2}) I_{1\phi}^{m}(\mu'_{1}, \mu_{1}) \cdot I_{2\phi}^{m}(\mu'_{2}, \mu_{2})$$

$$(5)$$

The factorizability of the orbitals and the Coulomb repulsion components into their radial, polar angle and azimuthal parts for each electron lead to integrals of the same type for each degree of freedom, differing in their respective quantum labels. Accordingly, the radial, azimuthal and polar matrix elements are defined by

$$I_{12}^{\ell} = \int \int R_c(r_1) R_d(r_2) \frac{r_{<}^{\ell}}{r_{>}^{\ell+1}} R_a(r_1) R_b(r_2) r_1^2 dr_1 r_2^2 dr_2$$
(6)

$$I_{j\phi}^{m} = \left\{ I_{j\phi}^{m_{+}} = \left\langle \mu'_{j} \middle| \cos m\phi_{j} \left| \mu_{j} \right\rangle, I_{j\phi}^{m_{-}} = \left\langle \mu'_{j} \middle| \sin m\phi_{j} \left| \mu_{j} \right\rangle \right\}$$
(7)

$$I_{j\theta}^{\ell m} = \left\langle n'_{j\theta} \mu'_{j} \middle| P_{l}^{m}(\eta_{j}) \middle| n_{j\theta} \mu_{j} \right\rangle$$
(8)

where j = 1, 2 in the last two expressions denote electron 1 and 2, respectively.

While for the free atoms, the evaluation of the ϕ dependent integrals is reduced to the selection rules $\delta_{m_2,m+m_1}$, in the present case only the integrals with an even number of sine functions survive:

$$\left\langle \cos \mu' \phi_j \right| \cos m \phi_j \left| \cos \mu \phi_j \right\rangle = A^+_{\mu+\mu'} + A^-_{\mu+\mu'} + A^+_{\mu'-\mu} + A^-_{\mu'-\mu} , \qquad (9)$$

$$\left\langle \sin \mu' \phi_j \right| \sin m \phi_j \left| \cos \mu \phi_j \right\rangle = A^-_{\mu+\mu'} - A^+_{\mu+\mu'} + A^-_{\mu'-\mu} - A^+_{\mu'-\mu} , \qquad (10)$$

$$\left\langle \cos \mu' \phi_j \right| \sin m \phi_j \left| \sin \mu \phi_j \right\rangle = A^-_{\mu+\mu'} - A^+_{\mu+\mu'} - A^-_{\mu'-\mu} + A^+_{\mu'-\mu} , \qquad (11)$$

$$\left\langle \sin \mu' \phi_j \right| \cos m \phi_j \left| \sin \mu \phi_j \right\rangle = A^+_{\mu'-\mu} + A^-_{\mu'-\mu} - A^+_{\mu+\mu'} - A^-_{\mu+\mu'} , \qquad (12)$$

where the following definition holds :

$$A_{\gamma}^{\pm} = \frac{\sin[(\gamma \pm m)\phi_0/2]}{2(\gamma \pm m)} .$$
 (13)

The polar angle integrals can be written using the explicit polynomial form of the associated Legendre polynomials,

$$I_{j\theta}^{\ell m} = \left\langle n'_{j\theta} \mu'_{j} \middle| P_{\ell}^{m}(\eta) \middle| n_{j\theta} \mu_{j} \right\rangle = \sum_{s=0(1)}^{\ell-m} a_{s} \left\langle n'_{j\theta} \mu'_{j} \middle| (1-\eta^{2})^{m/2} \eta^{s} \middle| n_{j\theta} \mu_{j} \right\rangle,$$
(14)

recognizing that we need to evaluate the matrix elements of the product of powers of the removing singularity factor and of the η -variable: $(1 - \eta^2)^{m/2} \eta^s$. Section 3 addresses this evaluation.

The radial integrals I_{12}^{ℓ} , involving variational radial functions $R_a(r_j)$, are of the same type as those for free atoms.

3 Shift operators and recurrence relations for Legendre polynomials with noninteger associativity and definite parity

Our work in Ref. [4] identified the recurrence relations of Eqs. (20-30) using multiplications by η , η^2 and derivative operators to connect neighbouring Legendre polynomials of the same associativity and opposite parities as the counterparts of Eqs. (8.5.2) and (8.5.4) of the Legendre functions in [1]. The reader should note the differences in the coefficients of the respective relations, especially those in Eqs. (31-32) of [4]. The identification was made by mathematical induction using the polynomials in Table 4 of [4]. Eliminating the derivative terms in Eqs. (29-30) lead to the simple relationship between polynomials of the same associativity:

$$\frac{\eta |n_{\theta} \mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta},\mu}} = \frac{n_{\theta}}{2n_{\theta} + 2\mu + 1} \frac{|n_{\theta} - 1\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta} - 1,\mu}} + \frac{n_{\theta} + 2\mu + 1}{2n_{\theta} + 2\mu + 1} \frac{|n_{\theta} + 1\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta} + 1,\mu}}$$
(15)

involving the factor only. This recurrence relation and its recursive use proved useful for us in our investigation of the hydrogen molecular ion confined in a dihedral angle [2].

Evaluating the polar angle integrals $I_{j\theta}^{\ell m}$ for $m \neq 0$ requires constructing shift operators and recurrence relations connecting polynomials with different associativities $\mu' \neq \mu$. Taking the same structure of Eqs. (8.5.1) and (8.5.5) of [1] and using mathematical induction, we have identified the following relationships:

$$(1-\eta^2)^{1/2} \frac{|n_{\theta}-1\mu+1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-1,\mu+1}} = \frac{2(\mu+1)}{2\mu+n_{\theta}+1} \left[\frac{|n_{\theta}-1\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-1,\mu}} - \eta \frac{|n_{\theta}\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta},\mu}} \right]$$
(16)

$$(1-\eta^{2})^{1/2}\frac{|n_{\theta}+1\mu-1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}+1,\mu-1}} = \frac{(2\mu+n_{\theta}+1)(2\mu+n_{\theta})}{2\mu(2\mu+2n_{\theta}+1)}\frac{|n_{\theta}+1\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}+1,\mu}} - \frac{n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}+1)}{2\mu(2\mu+2n_{\theta}+1)}\frac{|n_{\theta}-1\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-1,\mu}}.$$
 (17)

We also include their initial recursions.

$$\eta^{2} \frac{|n_{\theta} \mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta},\mu}} = \frac{n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}-1)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu-1)} \frac{|n_{\theta}-2\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-2,\mu}} + \left[\frac{n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}+2\mu)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu-1)} + \frac{(n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(n_{\theta}+1)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)}\right] \frac{|n_{\theta} \mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta},\mu}} + \frac{(n_{\theta}+2\mu+2)(n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+3)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)} \frac{|n_{\theta}+2\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}+2,\mu}}$$
(18)

$$\eta^{3} \frac{|n_{\theta} \mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta},\mu}} = \frac{n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}-1)(n_{\theta}-2)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu-1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu-3)} \frac{|n_{\theta}-3\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-3,\mu}} + \\ + \left[\frac{(n_{\theta}+2\mu-1)n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}-1)}{2n_{\theta}+2\mu-3)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu-1)} + \frac{n_{\theta}^{2}(n_{\theta}+2\mu)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu-1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)^{2}} + \\ + \frac{(n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}+1)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)^{2}(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+3)} \right] \frac{|n_{\theta}-1\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-1,\mu}} + \\ + \left[\frac{n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}+2\mu)(n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu-1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)^{2}} + \frac{(n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)^{2}(n_{\theta}+1)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+3)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)^{2}} + \\ + \frac{(n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(n_{\theta}+2\mu+2)(n_{\theta}+2\mu+3)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+3)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+5)} \right] \frac{|n_{\theta}+1\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}+1,\mu}} + \\ + \frac{(n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(n_{\theta}+2\mu+2)(n_{\theta}+2\mu+3)}{(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+1)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+3)(2n_{\theta}+2\mu+5)} \frac{|n_{\theta}+3\mu\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}+3,\mu}}$$

$$(19)$$

$$(1-\eta^{2})\frac{|n_{\theta}-1\mu+1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-1,\mu+1}} = \frac{2\mu(2\mu+1)}{2\mu+n_{\theta}+1} \left[\frac{1}{2\mu+n_{\theta}-1} \frac{|n_{\theta}-1\mu-1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-1,\mu-1}} - \eta \left(\frac{1}{2\mu+n_{\theta}-1} + \frac{1}{2\mu+n_{\theta}} \right) \frac{|n_{\theta}\mu-1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta},\mu-1}} + \eta^{2} \frac{1}{2\mu+n_{\theta}} \frac{|n_{\theta}+1\mu-1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}+1,\mu-1}} \right]$$
(20)

$$(1 - \eta^{2}) \frac{|n_{\theta}+1\mu-1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}+1,\mu-1}} = \\ \frac{(2\mu + n_{\theta}+3)(2\mu + n_{\theta}+2)(2\mu + n_{\theta}+1)(2\mu + n_{\theta})}{2(\mu+1)(2\mu)(2\mu + 2n_{\theta}+3)(2\mu + 2n_{\theta}+1)} \frac{|n_{\theta}+1\mu+1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}+1,\mu+1}} - \\ - \frac{(2\mu + n_{\theta}+1)(2\mu + n_{\theta})n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}+1)}{2(\mu+1)(2\mu)(2\mu + 2n_{\theta}+1)} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu + 2n_{\theta}+3} + \frac{1}{2\mu + 2n_{\theta}-1}\right) \frac{|n_{\theta}-1\mu+1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}-1,\mu+1}} + \\ + \frac{(n_{\theta}+1)n_{\theta}(n_{\theta}-1)(n_{\theta}-2)}{2(\mu+1)(2\mu)(2\mu + 2n_{\theta}+1)(2\mu + 2n_{\theta}-1)} \frac{|n_{\theta}-3\mu+1\rangle}{N_{n_{\theta}}-3,\mu+1}.$$

4 Discussion

Some comparative remarks on Eqs. (15-17) are appropriate. In (15), the operation of multiplying the ket on the lhs by η leads to the superposition of the kets on the rhs, with the same associativity, and polar excitations one unit below and above, respectively. In the other two cases, multiplication by $(1-\eta)^{1/2}$ leads in (16) to the superposition of kets with associativities one unit below the original one, and the polar excitation is the same for the first term, and one unit above for the second one which is additionally multiplied by η ; and in (17) the associativities are one unit above the original one, and their polar excitations are the same and two units below, respectively.

The initial recursive forms of Eqs. (19–21) illustrate the effects of multiplying twice by the respective factors, obtaining the superpositions of three sets of kets

with increased differences in their associativities and polar excitations; notice the two terms for the intermediate ket. The addition of another factor leads to the superposition of four kets with one, three, three and one term coefficients. The multiplication by N factors leads to the superposition of N + 1 kets with coefficients involving numbers of terms counted by the binomial coefficients, associated with the number of paths connecting the initial ket with the ones in the superposition.

The recursive relations (15-17) may also be used recursively in different combinations, leading to other linear of superpositions of other kets. For those using (15) and/or (16) some of the kets are also multiplied by successive powers of η .

In short, these extended recurrence relations allow for the evaluation of the polar matrix elements described in Section 2 for any associativity *m* and power *s* in the Coulomb electron repulsion multipole components, via the multiplication with the bra $\langle n'_{\theta} \mu' |$, projecting the states in the linear superpositions, compatible with the conservation of angular momentum and parity, taking into account O(2) symmetry breaking.

The coefficients in the recurrence relations and their combinations in their recursive combinations lend themselves to computational programming. This is an important tool for the Hartree-Fock calculations of dihedrally confined atoms.

References

- M. Abramowitz, I. A. Stegun, Handbook of Mathematical Functions, Dover: New York, 1965. Chap. 8.
- 2. S. A. Cruz, E. Ley-Koo, Advances in Quantum Chemistry 71, (2015), 70-113.
- E. Ley-Koo, G.H.Sun, Electronic Structure of Quantum Confined Atoms and Molecules, K. D. Sen (ed.), (Springer, Switzerland, 2014), Chap. 1.
- 4. E. Ley-Koo, G.H.Sun, SIGMA 8, (2012), 060.

On completeness of Bethe Ansatz solutions for sl(2) Richardson–Gaudin systems

Jon Links

Abstract The Bethe Ansatz solution for the class of rational, sl(2) Richardson–Gaudin systems is presented. Completeness of this solution is discussed for the case where all operators are realised in terms of the spin-1/2 representation. This discussion is based on a set of operator identities. Next, a generalised system with broken u(1)-symmetry is introduced, which admits an analogous set of operator identities. Analysis of this generalised system shows that the Bethe Ansatz solution for it is also complete. The prospects for extending this approach to higher spin systems are mentioned.

1 Introduction

The names of Richardson and Gaudin have become associated with a class of integrable quantum systems affording applications to a wide range of physical problems. See e.g., [1–4]. These systems possess an exact solution in the sense of the Bethe Ansatz method. As with other Bethe Ansatz solved models, it is natural to ask whether the exact solution of a given model is complete [5–8]. Recently, this problem was investigated for the case of the spin-1/2, rational, Richardson–Gaudin system [9]. The method adopted there relied on the existence of a set of operator identities. This example will be summarised below. Then an extended analysis will be presented for a generalised system with broken u(1)-symmetry. This system also admits a set of operator identities. Following the approach of [9], it will be shown that the Bethe Ansatz solution for the generalised system is complete. The route forward for extensions to higher spin systems will be discussed in the concluding remarks.

Jon Links

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

School of Mathematics and Physics, The University of Queensland, 4072, Australia e-mail: jrl@maths.uq.edu.au

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_36

2 The rational, sl(2) Richardson-Gaudin system

This integrable system is described in terms of a collection of sl(2) spins, labelled by j = 1, ..., L, satisfying the canonical commutation relations

$$[S_j^z, S_k^{\pm}] = \pm \delta_{jk} S_j^{\pm}, \qquad [S_j^+, S_k^-] = 2\delta_{jk} S_j^z.$$

Each spin is assigned a representation with highest weight s_j . Let α be a real parameter, and let $(\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2, ..., \varepsilon_L)$ denote an *L*-tuple of pairwise-distinct real parameters. The operators

$$T_j = 2\alpha S_j^z + \sum_{k \neq j}^L \frac{\theta_{jk} - 2s_j s_k I}{\varepsilon_j - \varepsilon_k},\tag{1}$$

where *I* denotes the identity operator and $\theta_{jk} = S_j^+ S_k^- + S_j^- S_k^+ + 2S_j^z S_k^z$, are mutually commuting, i.e.,

$$[T_j, T_k] = 0, \qquad \forall j, k = 1, \dots, L$$

The spectrum of these operators is given by way of a Bethe Ansatz solution. The eigenvalues are expressed as

$$\mu_j = \left(2\alpha - \sum_{m=1}^M \frac{2}{\varepsilon_j - w_m}\right) s_j, \qquad j = 1, \dots, L$$
(2)

where

$$2\alpha + \sum_{j=1}^{L} \frac{2s_j}{w_m - \varepsilon_j} = \sum_{n \neq m}^{M} \frac{2}{w_m - w_n}, \qquad m = 1, ..., M.$$
(3)

The eigenstate associated with each such solution is one with a *z*-component of spin s^z given by

$$s^z = \sum_{j=1}^L s_j - M$$

which is the eigenvalue of

$$S^{z} = \sum_{j=1}^{L} S_{j}^{z} = \frac{1}{2\alpha} \sum_{j=1}^{L} T_{j}.$$

As a result, the system is seen to have u(1)-symmetry with invariant sectors determine by s^{z} . Defining the polynomials

$$P(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{L} (u - \varepsilon_j)^{2s_j},$$
$$Q(u) = \prod_{m=1}^{M} (u - w_m),$$

the previous relations (2,3) may be equivalently expressed as

$$\mu_j = 2\left(\alpha - \frac{Q'(\varepsilon_j)}{Q(\varepsilon_j)}\right)s_j,\tag{4}$$

$$Q''(w_m)P(w_m) = 2\alpha Q'(w_m)P(w_m) + Q'(w_m)P'(w_m).$$
(5)

To show that the solution is complete, it is necessary to show that it is possible to parametrise the μ_j as (1) subject to (2). In the case where all representations are spin-1/2, it was shown in [9] that the conserved operators satisfy the quadratic identities

$$T_j^2 = \alpha^2 I - \sum_{k \neq j}^L \frac{T_j - T_k}{\varepsilon_j - \varepsilon_k}, \qquad j = 1, ..., L.$$
(6)

It follows that the eigenvalues observe analogous relations

$$\mu_j^2 = \alpha^2 - \sum_{k \neq j}^L \frac{\mu_j - \mu_k}{\varepsilon_j - \varepsilon_k}, \qquad j = 1, \dots, L$$
(7)

and that these are necessarily complete. The relations (7) first appeared in the studies of Babelon and Talalaev [10]. In that work it was shown that (7) follows from (2). The objective of [9] was to construct the inverse mapping. This led to the conclusion that the Bethe Ansatz equations could be considered to be complete, except the method did not include instances where root multiplicities occur in the Bethe Ansatz equations. Below, an extension of this approach will be described for a generalised system in a manner which accommodates root multiplicities.

3 A generalised system with broken u(1)-symmetry

Maintaining the assignment $s_j = 1/2$, $\forall j = 1, ..., L$, the generalised operators depend on an additional parameter γ which leads to the breaking of u(1)-symmetry. In terms of a real variable α and an *L*-tuple of pairwise-distinct, non-zero, real parameters $(z_1, z_2, ..., z_L)$, the conserved operators read [11]:

$$\mathscr{T}_{j} = 2\alpha S_{j}^{z} + 2\gamma z_{j} S_{j}^{x} + \sum_{k \neq j}^{L} \left(\frac{z_{j}^{2}}{z_{j}^{2} - z_{k}^{2}} (4S_{j}^{z}S_{k}^{z} - I) + \frac{2z_{j}z_{k}}{z_{j}^{2} - z_{k}^{2}} (S_{j}^{+}S_{k}^{-} + S_{j}^{-}S_{k}^{+}) \right)$$
(8)

which are again mutually commuting. However, the operators (8) do not commute with S^z . The quadratic identities

$$\mathscr{T}_j^2 = \alpha^2 I + \gamma^2 z_j^2 I - 2z_j^2 \sum_{k \neq j}^L \frac{1}{z_j^2 - z_k^2} (\mathscr{T}_j - \mathscr{T}_k), \tag{9}$$

satisfied by the generalised set of operators were given in [12].

To show the connection to the operators (1), introduce a real parameter η and make the following replacements in (8):

$$\alpha \mapsto \alpha/\eta,$$

 $\gamma \mapsto 0,$
 $z_j \mapsto \exp(\eta \varepsilon_j).$

Then

$$T_j = \lim_{\eta \to 0} \eta \, \mathscr{T}_j$$

Letting λ_i denote the eigenvalues of \mathcal{T}_i , it follows from (9) that

$$\lambda_{j}^{2} = \alpha^{2} + \gamma^{2} z_{j}^{2} - 2 z_{j}^{2} \sum_{k \neq j}^{L} \frac{\lambda_{j} - \lambda_{k}}{z_{j}^{2} - z_{k}^{2}}$$
(10)

which are necessarily complete. For each λ_j define Q(u) to be a polynomial of order not greater than *L*, satisfying

$$2z_j^2 Q'(z_j^2) + (\lambda_j - \alpha)Q(z_j^2) = 0, \qquad j = 1, ..., L.$$
(11)

This linear system admits a non-trivial solution. Set

$$Q(u) = \prod_{k=1}^{M} (u - v_k)^{m_k}$$

with m_k denoting the multiplicity of the root v_k , such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{M} m_k \le L$$

Then for k = 1, ..., M, the following generalisation of (2) holds [11]

$$(v_k Q''(v_k) + (1 - \alpha)Q'(v_k))P(v_k) - v_k Q'(v_k)P'(v_k) = -\frac{\gamma^2}{4} \left[P(v_k)\right]^2, \quad (12)$$

where now

$$P(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{L} (u - z_j^2).$$

That is, associated to every eigenstate of the system, there exists a solution of the system of equations (12). A derivation of (12) will be outlined below, following the techniques described in [13].

Note that if $Q(z_j^2) = 0$, it follows from (11) that $Q'(z_j^2) = 0$. In such a case, (12) holds for $v_k = z_j^2$. Now, provided $Q(z_j^2) \neq 0$ for all j = 1, ..., L, then from (10)

On completeness of Bethe Ansatz solutions for sl(2) Richardson–Gaudin systems

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{j}^{2} &= \alpha^{2} + \gamma^{2} z_{j}^{2} - 2 z_{j}^{2} \sum_{k \neq j}^{L} \frac{\lambda_{j} - \lambda_{k}}{z_{j}^{2} - z_{k}^{2}} \\ &= \alpha^{2} + \gamma^{2} z_{j}^{2} + 4 z_{j}^{2} \sum_{l=1}^{M} \sum_{k \neq j}^{L} \frac{m_{l} v_{l}}{(z_{k}^{2} - v_{l})(v_{l} - z_{j}^{2})} \\ &= \alpha^{2} + \gamma^{2} z_{j}^{2} + 4 z_{j}^{2} \sum_{l=1}^{M} \frac{m_{l} v_{l}}{z_{j}^{2} - v_{l}} \frac{P'(v_{l})}{P(v_{l})} + 4 z_{j}^{2} \sum_{l=1}^{M} \frac{m_{l} z_{j}^{2}}{(v_{l} - z_{j}^{2})^{2}} + 4 z_{j}^{2} \sum_{l=1}^{M} \frac{m_{l}}{v_{l} - z_{j}^{2}} \\ &= \alpha^{2} + \gamma^{2} z_{j}^{2} + 4 z_{j}^{2} \sum_{l=1}^{M} \frac{m_{l} v_{l}}{z_{j}^{2} - v_{l}} \frac{P'(v_{l})}{P(v_{l})} + 4 z_{j}^{4} \sum_{l=1}^{M} \frac{m_{l}}{(v_{l} - z_{j}^{2})^{2}} - 4 z_{j}^{2} \frac{Q'(z_{j}^{2})}{Q(z_{j}^{2})}. \end{split}$$
(13)

On the other hand,

$$\lambda_{j}^{2} = \alpha^{2} - 4\alpha z_{j}^{2} \frac{Q'(z_{j}^{2})}{Q(z_{j}^{2})} + 4z_{j}^{4} \left(\frac{Q'(z_{j}^{2})}{Q(z_{j}^{2})}\right)^{2}$$

= $\alpha^{2} - 4\alpha z_{j}^{2} \frac{Q'(z_{j}^{2})}{Q(z_{j}^{2})} + 4z_{j}^{4} \sum_{k=1}^{M} \frac{m_{k}}{(z_{j}^{2} - v_{k})^{2}} + 4z_{j}^{4} \frac{Q''(z_{j}^{2})}{Q(z_{j}^{2})}.$ (14)

For equality of expressions (13) and (14) it is required that

$$\frac{\gamma^2}{4} + \sum_{l=1}^{L} \frac{m_l v_l}{z_j^2 - v_l} \frac{P'(v_l)}{P(v_l)} = (1 - \alpha) \frac{Q'(z_j^2)}{Q(z_j^2)} + z_j^2 \frac{Q''(z_j^2)}{Q(z_j^2)}.$$
(15)

Set

$$S(u) = uQ''(u) + (1 - \alpha)Q'(u) - \left(\frac{\gamma^2}{4} + \sum_{j=1}^{L} \frac{m_j v_j}{u - v_j} \frac{P'(v_j)}{P(v_j)}\right)Q(u)$$
(16)

which is a polynomial of order M. It follows from (15) that

$$S(z_j^2) = 0, \qquad j = 1, ..., L$$

which, along with the consideration of the asymptotic behaviour of (16) as $u \to \infty$, establishes that

$$S(u) = -\frac{\gamma^2}{4}P(u) \tag{17}$$

and M = L for $\gamma \neq 0$. Evaluating $S(v_k)$ through (16) and (17) and equating these expressions then yields the Bethe Ansatz equations (12). Note that if $m_k \ge 1$, then $Q'(v_k) = 0$. In this case the associated Bethe Ansatz equation from (16) and (17) becomes

$$v_k Q''(v_k) = -\frac{\gamma^2}{4} P(v_k),$$

which is consistent with (12). When $\gamma = 0$ the above equation admits $v_k = 0$ as a solution. This is a known example for which multiplicities do occur [14].
4 Conclusion

This work examined some properties of the Bethe Ansatz solution for a generalisation of the rational Richardson-Gaudin system in the spin-1/2 case. Based on a set of quadratic operator identities reported in [12], a set of Bethe Ansatz equations were derived. The same equations were previously obtained in [11, 12] using different methods. It was argued that the Bethe Ansatz solution is complete, supported by calculations accommodating instances where root multiplicities occur.

Extending these results to higher-spin models requires the identification of higher-order polynomial operator identities generalising (6) and (9). In the spin-1 case, the required identities are cubic. The identities are obtained through a tensor product procedure following [13]. These results will be reported at a later date [15].

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the Australian Research Council through Discovery Project DP150101294.

References

- 1. J. Dukelsky, S. Pittel, G. Sierra, *Exactly solvable Richardson–Gaudin models for many-body quantum systems*, Rev. Mod. Phys. **76**, (2004) 643-662.
- P. Kulish, A. Stolin, L.H. Johannesson, *Deformed Richardson–Gaudin model*, J. Phys: Conf. Ser. 532, (2014) article no. 012012.
- P.W. Claeys, S. De Baerdemacker, M. Van Raemdonck, D. Van Neck, An eigenvalue-based method and determinant representations for general integrable XXZ Richardson–Gaudin models Phys. Rev. B 91, (2015) article no. 155102.
- M. Combescot, M. Crouzeix, From granules to bulk superconductors using Richardson– Gaudin equations, Eur. Phys. J. B 89, (2016) article no. 164.
- 5. A.N. Kirillov, *Completeness of states of the generalized Heisenberg magnet*, J. Sov. Math. **36**, (1987) 115128.
- 6. A. Foerster, M. Karowski, Algebraic properties of the Bethe ansatz for an spl(2,1)-supersymmetric t J model, Nucl. Phys. B **396**, (1993) 611-638.
- 7. K. Schoutens, *Complete solution of a supersymmetric extended Hubbard model*, Nucl. Phys. B **413**, (1994) 675-688.
- 8. R. Baxter, *Completeness of the Bethe ansatz for the six and eight-vertex models*, J. Stat. Phys. **108**, (2002) 1-48.
- J. Links, Completeness of the Bethe Ansatz solution for the rational, spin-1/2 Richardson– Gaudin system, arXiv:1603.03542v2.
- 10. O. Babelon, D. Talalaev, On the Bethe Ansatz for the Jaynes-Cummings-Gaudin model, J. Stat. Mech., (2007) article no. P06013.
- 11. I. Lukyanenko, P.S. Isaac, J. Links, *An integrable case of the p + ip pairing Hamiltonian interacting with its environment*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **49**, (2016) article no. 084001.
- 12. P.W. Claeys, S. De Baerdemacker, D. Van Neck, *Read-Green resonances in a topological superconductor coupled to a bath*, Phys. Rev. B **93**, (2016) article no. 220503(R).
- J. Links, Solution of the classical Yang–Baxter equation with an exotic symmetry, and integrability of a multi-species boson tunneling model. arXiv:1607.05796v2.
- 14. J. Links, I. Marquette, A. Moghaddam, *Exact solution of the* p + ip model revisited: duality relations in the hole-pair picture, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **48**, (2015) article no. 374001.
- 15. J. Links, in preparation.

Nonadiabatic bounce in quantum cosmology

Przemysław Małkiewicz

Abstract We quantize and analyze the dynamics of the closed homogeneous and anisotropic universe, the so-called Bianchi type IX model. The isotropic part of the geometry is encoded in the phase space which is the half-plane, and its underlying symmetry is the affine group rather than the Weyl-Heisenberg group. We make use of affine coherent states first to quantize the half-plane and next to give a semiclassical portrait to the respective quantum dynamics. The anisotropic part of the geometry is encoded in the usual \mathbb{R}^2 -phase space and is quantized canonically. In order to solve the quantum dynamics we employ both adiabatic and nonadiabatic methods known from molecular physics. We find that the big bang singularity of the classical dynamics is replaced by a smooth bounce at the quantum level. Moreover, in the adiabatic regime, the oscillations of the anisotropic geometry are suppressed and the universe contracts smoothly. In the nonadiabatic regime, the bounce breaks the adiabatic evolution and triggers an extended post-bounce inflationary phase accompanied by production of quanta of the anisotropic geometry.

1 Introduction

General relativity notoriously suffers from singularities. The most relevant ones are the spacelike (or, cosmological) singularities which reside inside black holes or in the beginning of the universe. The understanding of a generic dynamics of the gravitational field approaching the singularity is due to Belinskii, Khalatnikov and Lifshitz. They discovered that asymptotically the dynamics becomes ultralocal and that at each spatial point, it converges to the dynamics of a spatially homogenous configuration of the field. Among the homogenous configurations, the so-called Bianchi

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Przemysław Małkiewicz

National Centre for Nuclear Research, Hoża 69, 00-681 Warszawa, Poland e-mail: Przemyslaw.Malkiewicz@ncbj.gov.pl

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_37

type IX model is the most generic one and it is believed to play a pivotal role in generic spacelike singularities.

The Bianchi type IX model with regular matter describes a spherical universe which contracts to the singular state of vanishing volume and blowing-up contraction rate. On the way to the singularity it undergoes an infinite number of oscillations of aspherical deformations. The oscillatory part of its geometry can be viewed as two modes of a non-linear gravitational wave whose energy grows rapidly as the universe contracts and it eventually dominates all regular forms of matter fueling a strong singularity.

The most commonly studied closed Friedmann-Robertson-Walker (FRW) universe is obtained in the limit of vanishing of the gravitational wave, in which the evolution becomes purely isotropic and terminates in a significantly weaker singularity. Thus, extending the configuration space of the gravitational field by the anisotropic degrees of freedom brings a substantial change in the asymptotic dynamics at the classical level and, as we will shortly see, at the quantum level as well.

2 Classical model

The line element of the diagonal Bianchi type IX universe reads:

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -N^2(t)\mathrm{d}t^2 + \sum_i q_i(t)\omega^i \otimes \omega^i,$$

where $d\omega^i = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ijk} \omega^j \wedge \omega^k$ are SO(3)-invariant basis dual vectors, N is the lapse function. We assume that the evolving metric remains diagonal with respect to the one-forms ω^i . We follow closely the Arnowitt-Deser-Misner formulation of the Hamiltonian formalism in which the dynamics of the gravitational field resembles the dynamics of a particle on a certain spacetime and in a potential. The potential is due to the non-vanishing intrinsic curvature. In our case, the dynamical variables can be divided into isotropic and anisotropic ones. The isotropic variables describe the evolution of the volume of the universe and they form the half-plane, $(q, p) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}$. The anisotropic variables describe aspherical, volume-preserving deformations of the universe and they form two planes, $(\beta_{\pm}, p_{\pm}) \in \mathbb{R}^2$. The dynamics is governed by the following Hamiltonian constraint [3]:

$$H = p^2 + Lq^{2/3} - H_q^{ani}$$

where p^2 is the kinetic energy of the isotropic motion, the potential $Lq^{2/3}$ (L is a constant) comes from the isotropic part of the intrinsic curvature and H_q^{ani} is the anisotropic Hamiltonian:

$$H_q^{ani} := rac{p_+^2 + p_-^2}{q^2} + q^{2/3} V(eta_{\pm})$$

in which $q^{-2}p_{+}^{2}$ describes the kinetic energy of the anisotropic motion and the potential $V(\beta_+)$ represent the anisotropic part of the intrinsic curvature. It is confining and leads to the oscillatory behaviour of the anisotropic deformations (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 The anisotropy potential $V(\beta_{\pm})$ of the Bianchi IX model. Around its visible minimum the harmonic approximation can be assumed. Away from the minimum the potential is usually approximated by an infinite triangular wall [3].

3 Quantization

We first introduce the affine coherent states. The term *coherent states* was originally assigned to the eigenvectors of the annihilation operator whose spectrum is the complex plane: $\hat{a}|z\rangle = z|z\rangle$. They can be constructed with the Weyl-Heisenberg representation as $|z\rangle = D(z)|0\rangle$, where D(z) is the displacement operator and $|0\rangle$ is the ground state of the harmonic oscillator. This construction can be generalised by (i) replacing the Weyl-Heisenberg representation by any unitary irreducible and integrable representation of a phase space symmetry and (ii) replacing the ground state $|0\rangle$ by an (almost) arbitrary normalized vector in a given Hilbert space. We note that the isotropic sector of the phase space is the half-plane which is symmetric with respect to the action of the affine group defined as $(q', p') \cdot (q, p) = (q'q, q'^{-1}p + p')$. This group has a unique (up to irrelevant sign) integrable UIR, which we denote as U(q, p) in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^*_+, dx)$. Then the affine coherent states are defined as [5,6]:

$$|q,p\rangle = U(q,p)|\psi_0\rangle,$$

where $|\psi_0\rangle$ is the so-called fiducial vector that satisfies $\int_{\mathbb{R}_+} |\psi_0(x)|^2 x^{-1} dx < \infty$.

We quantize the classical theory by combining canonical quantization of anisotropic variables (β_{\pm}, p_{\pm}) and the so-called coherent state (CS) quantization (a generalisation of the Berezin-Klauder-Toeplitz quantization) of the isotropic pair (q, p). The latter is defined as follows:

$$f(q,p) \mapsto A_f := \int \frac{\mathrm{d}q\mathrm{d}p}{2\pi c} f(q,p) |q,p\rangle \langle q,p|,$$

where c is a normalization constant. We find [3,4]:

$$\hat{H} = \hat{p}^2 + \frac{\hbar^2 \mathfrak{K}_1}{\hat{q}^2} + L \mathfrak{K}_3 \hat{q}^{2/3} - \hat{H}_{\hat{q}}^{(\mathrm{ani})} , \quad \hat{H}_{\hat{q}}^{(\mathrm{ani})} = \mathfrak{K}_2 \frac{\hat{p}_+^2 + \hat{p}_-^2}{\hat{q}^2} + \mathfrak{K}_3 \hat{q}^{2/3} V(\hat{\beta}_{\pm})$$

where the values of the constants \hat{x}_i depend on the particular choice of the fiducial vector. We note the isotropic repulsive potential, $\frac{\hbar^2 \hat{x}_1}{\hat{q}^2}$, which is issued from the CS quantization and which *regularizes* the singularity q = 0.

For the sake of simplicity we make the harmonic approximation to $V(\beta_{\pm}) \simeq const \cdot (\beta_{\pm}^2 + \beta_{-}^2) + o(\beta_{\pm}^2)$. We note that the anisotropic Hamiltonian describes now a \hat{q} -dependent harmonic oscillator and can be analytically decomposed with respect to its \hat{q} -dependent eigenvectors, i.e., $\hat{H}_{\hat{q}}^{(ani)} = \sum_n E_n(\hat{q}) |e_n(\hat{q})\rangle \langle e_n(\hat{q})|$. The quantum evolution of the isotropic geometry will be approximated by means of semiclassical trajectories in the phase space that capture the most essential quantum corrections to the classical motion. The trajectories in (q, p) are generated by the semiclassical Hamiltonian, \check{H} :

$$\check{H} = \langle q, p | \hat{H} | q, p \rangle$$

which is still a linear operator acting in the Hilbert space of the anisotropic geometry and depends on classical variables (q, p).

4 Adiabatic approximation

The Born-Oppenheimer (BO) approximation applies to the case when the isotropic evolution is very slow relative to the anisotropic oscillations. It assumes that the wave remains in a fixed eigenstate and the isotropic motion couples only to the energy of the wave. The wavefunction is approximated by $|\Psi\rangle \approx |q, p\rangle \otimes |e_n(q)\rangle$ for a fixed *n*. The Hamiltonian which now reads [3]:

$$\hat{H} = \hat{p}^2 + rac{\hbar^2 \hat{\kappa}_1}{\hat{q}^2} + L \hat{\kappa}_3 \hat{q}^{2/3} - E_n(\hat{q}) \; ,$$

after contracting with the affine coherent states becomes completely semiclassical:

$$\check{H}_n(q,p) = p^2 + \frac{K\hbar^2}{q^2} + Lq^{\frac{2}{3}} - E_n(q),$$

where *K* is a constant (see Fig. 2 for the respective dynamics).

The Born-Huang approximation additionally assumes that the isotropic evolution can be affected by the *motion* of the anisotropic geometry apart from its energy. The gravitational wave remains in a fixed eigenstate. It is convenient to work in a unitarily transformed Hamiltonian in which an extra correction to the BO scheme becomes apparent:

$$U(\hat{q})^{\dagger}\hat{H}U(\hat{q}) = (\hat{p} - \hat{A}(\hat{q}))^2 + \frac{\hbar^2 \Re_1}{\hat{q}^2} + L \Re_3 \hat{q}^{2/3} - E_n(\hat{q}),$$

where $U(\hat{q}) := |e_n(\hat{q})\rangle \langle e_n|$ is a unitary operator which relates the \hat{q} -dependent anisotropy eigenstates with \hat{q} -independent elements of any fixed orthonormal basis in \mathscr{H} , and $\hat{A}(\hat{q}) = i\hbar \frac{dU}{d\hat{q}}U^{\dagger}$ is the corrective term coupling the isotropic and anisotropic motions. In this scheme, the total wavefunction of the transformed Hamiltonian is $|\Psi\rangle \approx |q,p\rangle \otimes |e_n\rangle$.



Fig. 2 Semiclassical portrait of the quantum *adiabatic* evolution of the Bianchi IX universe corresponds to the closed Friedmann universe with an extra source term due to the non-vanishing vacuum energy of the gravitational wave and with a repulsive potential that removes the singularity [4].

5 Nonadiabatic approximation

In the regime where the adiabatic approximation breaks down, one has at his disposal a powerful method called the vibronic approach. The basic feature of the vibronic approach is that it allows for transitions between the anisotropy eigenstates and therefore, the anisotropy is assumed in a general state denoted by $|\phi^{(ani)}\rangle$. The isotropic evolution is described with semiclassical variables and thus, the total wavefunction (of the transformed Hamiltonian) is assumed $|\Psi\rangle \approx |q, p\rangle \otimes |\phi^{(ani)}\rangle$. Let us

introduce $H^{sem}(q,p) := \langle q, p | U(q)^{\dagger} \hat{H} U(q) | q, p \rangle$, which is a (q, p)-dependent operator acting in the anisotropic sector of \mathscr{H} . Based on it, we derive the following set of coupled equations for the semiclassical motion of the isotropic geometry, the quantum motion of the anisotropic geometry and the semiclassical constraint equation [2]:

$$\begin{split} \dot{q} &= N \langle \phi^{(\text{ani})} | \,\partial_p \, H^{sem} \, | \phi^{(\text{ani})} \rangle, \quad \dot{p} = -N \langle \phi^{(\text{ani})} | \,\partial_q \, H^{sem} \, | \phi^{(\text{ani})} \rangle \\ &- i\hbar \,\partial_t \, | \phi^{(\text{ani})} \rangle = N H^{sem} \, | \phi^{(\text{ani})} \rangle, \quad \langle \phi^{(\text{ani})} | \, H^{sem} \, | \phi^{(\text{ani})} \rangle = 0. \end{split}$$

The above set of equations is self-consistent and time-reparametrization invariant. It leads to, at least in all the numerically studied examples, a nonsingular dynamics with a bounce. If the initial state $|\phi_0^{(ani)}\rangle$ is a fixed anisotropy eigenstate, then the universe follows the adiabatic trajectory at least till the bounce. At the bounce, in general the adiabatic condition breaks down and the initial eigenstate gets excited, and the produced anisotropic energy in turn *backreacts* on the isotropic post-bounce expansion by accelerating it (see Fig. 3). A rough estimate suggests that in a realistic cosmological scenario, one should expect a huge production of the anisotropic energy and a lasting extended phase of accelerated expansion should follow the bounce [1].

6 Conclusions

We have studied the Bianchi type IX dynamics. A crucial role in the quantization and the subsequent analysis was played by the affine coherent states. We obtained significant insights into the quantum dynamics thanks to molecular physics approximations. Specifically, we have found that the quantum model contains both FRWlike and less symmetric solutions. The former and the latter are associated with respectively the adiabatic and nonadiabatic dynamical regimes. The possibility of the breakdown of FRW-like dynamics due to a nonadiabatic bounce is contrary to the classical dynamics in which the symmetries once imposed hold forever. The nonadiabatic bounce induces a subsequent extended inflationary phase. Our next steps include removing the harmonic approximation, exploring the dynamics for states of large anisotropy and incorporating linear perturbations to homogeneity.

Acknowledgements The author was supported by the MNiSW fellowship Mobilność Plus.



Fig. 3: Slightly *nonadiabatic* evolution of coupled isotropic and anisotropic variables in conformal time starting from $|\phi_0^{(\text{ani})}\rangle = |e_2\rangle$ away from the bounce. The top panel shows the increase of the initial population, n = 2, to the final one, $n \approx 5$. The bottom panel shows the backreaction of the excited anisotropy state on the isotropic geometry which results in a slightly non-symmetric bounce [2].

References

- 1. H Bergeron, E Czuchry, J-P Gazeau, P Małkiewicz, *Nonadiabatic bounce and an inflationary phase in the quantum mixmaster universe*, Phys. Rev. D 93, 124053 (2016).
- H Bergeron, E Czuchry, J-P Gazeau, P Małkiewicz, Vibronic framework for quantum mixmaster universe, Phys. Rev. D 93, 064080 (2016).
- 3. H Bergeron, E Czuchry, J-P Gazeau, P Małkiewicz, W Piechocki, *Singularity avoidance in a quantum model of the Mixmaster universe*, Phys. Rev. D 92, 124018 (2015).
- H Bergeron, E Czuchry, J-P Gazeau, P Małkiewicz, W Piechocki, Smooth Quantum Dynamics of Mixmaster Universe, Phys. Rev. D 92, 061302(R) (2015).
- H Bergeron, A Dapor, J-P Gazeau, P Małkiewicz, Smooth Bounce in Affine Quantization of a Bianchi I model, Phys. Rev. D 91, 124002 (2015).

6. H Bergeron, A Dapor, J-P Gazeau and P Małkiewicz, *Smooth Big Bounce from Affine Quantization*, Phys. Rev. D 89, 083522 (2014).

Two-dimensional massless light-front fields and conformal field theory

Ľubomír Martinovič

Abstract A consistent quantization of two-dimensional (2D) massless light-front fields (scalar and fermion) is formulated. Their two-point functions exactly reproduce the massless limit of the two-point functions of the corresponding massive fields. The novel formalism incorporates bosonization in a natural way and also provides us with elements needed for an independent light-front (LF) study of the exactly solvable models (the Thirring or Thirring-Wess model, e.g.). Moreover, it displays closeness of the 2D massless LF quantum fields to conformal field theory (CFT). We calculate a few correlators including those between the components of the LF energy-momentum tensor and derive the Virasoro algebra in the LF operator form. Going over to the euclidean time, we can direcly transform all calculated quantities to the (anti)holomorphic form, in agreement with those from CFT.

1 Introduction

The light front (LF) form of quantum field theory (QFT) has been praised for its potential for decades. Its features that are superior to the conventional ("space-like" - SL) form of QFT, include the minimal number (3) of dynamical Poincaré generators [1], the status of the vacuum state, and a reduced number of independent field components. The most fundamental aspect is the equality of the physical vacuum state (= the lowest energy eigenstate of the full generic Hamiltonian) to the Fock vacuum (= state without field quanta). This property follows from the positivity and conservation of the LF momentum p^+ . Only the field zero modes, carrying $p^+ = 0$, and a narrow set of (symmetry) operators [2, 3], depending on the details of the specific dynamics, can transform the LF Fock vacuum into a more complex object. The

Ľubomír Martinovič

BLTP JINR Dubna and Institute of Physics, Slovak Academy of Sciences Dúbravská cesta 9, 845 11 Bratislava, Slovakia, e-mail: fyziluma@savba.sk

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_38

latter will however be much simpler than its SL counterpart, which in principle has to be obtained by (unrealistically complicated) dynamical calculations.

Availability of the consistent Fock expansion based on the LF vacuum, with the amplitudes having direct probabilistic interpretaion makes the LF approach attractive from the point of view of phenomenological applications. On the other hand, proliferation of the non-dynamical field variables complicates the theory by the need to invert operator constraint equations. There still exist some concerns pertaining to the validity of the LF theory. The typical question is how the LF scheme can cope with the isue of vacuum condensates and the symmetry breaking with underlying vacuum degeneracies, given its greatly simplified, structureless, ground state.

What is then the relation between the SL and LF theory? Could it be that the LF version conceptually as well as technically simplifies the structure of QFT while still maintaining potential for reliable predictions? The area of 2D solvable relativistic models represents a very suitable environment to study these questions [4].

Surprisingly however, the 2D massless LF fields, being the essential elements for exact operator solutions of the models, have not been understood and correctly quantized until nowadays. Not even the simplest (and prototypic) gauge theory, the massless Schwinger model, has been solved in the LF version of the theory [5].

Recently, a simple and natural way of quantizing the two-dimensional massless LF fields has been suggested [6]. In our contribution, we shall first give a brief exposition of this quantization scheme. Its validity will be demonstrated by by the LF bosonization of the massless fermion field. In the second part, the closeness of the massless LF quantum fields to conformal field theory (CFT) will be demonstrated by calculating several correlation functions of elementary and composite operators. Going over to the euclidean time, one immediately reproduces the CFT results. Virasoro algebra is also obtained directly in the LF operator formalism.

Throughout this paper, we will use the following LF notation: $x^{\mu} = (x^+, x^-) = (x^0 + x^1, x^0 - x^1)$. The momentum is designed as k^{μ} (or p^{μ}), $k^{\mu} = (k^+, k^-)$,

$$\partial_{\pm} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\pm}}, \ \hat{k} \cdot x = \frac{1}{2}k^{+}x^{-} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{k}^{-}x^{+}, \ k^{2} = \mu^{2} \Rightarrow \hat{k}^{-} = \frac{\mu^{2}}{k^{+}}.$$
 (1)

 \hat{k}^- is the on-shell LF energy. in the LF form. Both k^+, k^- can be taken positive.

2 Quantization of free massless light-front fields in 2D

Our quantization of the massless **LF scalar field** starts from the massive field. Its Lagrangian and the field equation takes in terms of the LF variables the form

$$\mathscr{L} = 2\partial_+\phi\partial_-\phi - \frac{1}{2}\mu^2\phi^2, \quad (4\partial_+\partial_- + \mu^2)\phi(x) = 0. \tag{2}$$

The solution of the field equation (2) is expressed in terms of Fock operators as

Massless light-front fields

$$\phi(x) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{dk^{+}}{\sqrt{4\pi k^{+}}} \left[a(k^{+})e^{-\frac{i}{2}k^{+}x^{-} - \frac{i}{2}\frac{\mu^{2}}{k^{+}}x^{+}} + a^{\dagger}(k^{+})e^{\frac{i}{2}k^{+}x^{-} + \frac{i}{2}\frac{\mu^{2}}{k^{+}}x^{+}} \right], \quad (3)$$

 $[a(k^+), a^{\dagger}(l^+)] = \delta(k^+ - l^+), a(k^+)|0\rangle = 0$. The LF Hamiltonian and momentum operator is given in terms of densities $T^{++} = 4 : \partial_-\phi \partial_-\phi :, T^{+-} = \mu^2 : \phi^2 :$

$$P^{\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dx^{-} T^{+\nu}(x) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} dk^{+} \hat{k}^{\nu} a^{\dagger}(k^{+}) a(k^{+}), \quad \hat{k}^{\nu} = (\frac{\mu^{2}}{k^{+}}, k^{+}).$$
(4)

From (3) we calculate the conjugate momentum $\pi(x) = 2\partial_-\phi(x)$ and the time derivative $\theta(x) = 2\partial_+\phi(x)$. In the following, we shall need the correlation functions

$$D_{0}^{(+)}(z) = \langle 0|\phi(x)\phi(y)|0\rangle, \ D_{1}^{(+)}(z) = \langle 0|\phi(x)\pi(y)|0\rangle, \ D_{2}^{(+)}(z) = \langle 0|\phi(x)\theta(y)|0\rangle,$$
(5)

$$D_i^{(+)}(z) = i \int_0^\infty \frac{dk^+}{4\pi} f_i(k^+) e^{-\frac{i}{2}k^+(z^- - i\varepsilon^-) - \frac{i}{2}\frac{\mu^2}{k^+}(z^+ - i\varepsilon^+)}, \quad z = x - y.$$
(6)

Here $f_0(k^+) = -\frac{i}{k^+}$, $f_1(k^+) = 1$, $f_2(k^+) = \frac{\mu^2}{k^{+2}}$. The small imaginary parts in the exponents are necessary for the existence of the integrals, which are evaluated in terms of the (modified) Bessel functions $J_V(z)$, $N_V(z)$, $K_V(z)$, v = 0, 1:

$$D_{1}^{(+)}(z) = -\theta(z^{2})\frac{\mu}{4}\sqrt{\frac{z^{+}}{z^{-}}}i\Big[J_{1}(\mu\sqrt{z^{2}}) - i\operatorname{sgn}(z^{+})N_{1}(\mu\sqrt{z^{2}})\Big] + (7)$$

$$-\theta(-z^{2})\operatorname{sgn}(z^{+})\frac{\mu}{4\pi}\sqrt{-\frac{z^{+}}{z^{-}}}K_{1}(\mu\sqrt{-z^{2}}), \ D_{2}^{(+)} = D_{1}^{(+)}(x^{+}\leftrightarrow x^{-}).$$

Now, one observes that both $D_1^{(+)}$ and $D_2^{(+)}$ have a non-vanishing massless limit,

$$D_1^{(+)}(z;\mu^2=0) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(z^- - i\varepsilon^-)}, \ D_2^{(+)}(z;\mu^2=0) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(z^+ - i\varepsilon^+)}.$$
 (8)

Technically, this is due to the behaviour of the Bessel function $K_1(z) \sim \frac{1}{z}$ for the small value of *z*. These results suggest that there must exist massless analogs of the fields $\phi(x), \pi(x), \theta(x)$ reproducing (8). Indeed, from the LF massless Klein-Gordon equation $\partial_+ \partial_- \tilde{\phi}(x) = 0$, one expects a general solution of the form

$$\tilde{\phi}(x) = \tilde{\phi}(x^+) + \tilde{\phi}(x^-).$$
(9)

Since the integration measure of the LF field is mass-independent [7], the massless limit ($\mu = 0$ in the plane-wave factors) of the massive solution (3) gives just $\tilde{\phi}(x^-)$. The piece $\tilde{\phi}(x^+)$ can be recovered from (3) by the change of variables (done more correctly at the classical level) $k^+ = \frac{\mu^2}{k^-}$. x^+ and x^- interchange their places in (3),

and the Fock operators in terms of the new variable should satisfy [6]

$$\left[\frac{\mu}{k^{-}}a(\frac{\mu^{2}}{k^{-}}),\frac{\mu}{l^{-}}a^{\dagger}(\frac{\mu^{2}}{l^{-}})\right] = \frac{\mu^{2}}{k^{-}l^{-}}\delta(\frac{\mu^{2}}{k^{-}}-\frac{\mu^{2}}{l^{-}}) = \delta(k^{-}-l^{-}).$$
(10)

The rhs of (10) survives the massless limit, hence $\lim_{\mu\to 0} \frac{\mu}{k^-} a(\frac{\mu^2}{k^-}) \equiv \tilde{a}(k^-) \neq 0$, with the commutators $[\tilde{a}(k^-), \tilde{a}^{\dagger}(l^-)] = \delta(k^- - l^-), [\tilde{a}(k^+), \tilde{a}^{\dagger}(l^-)] = 0$. After the change of variables, the massless limit in (3) yields

$$\tilde{\phi}(x^{+}) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{dk^{-}}{\sqrt{4\pi k^{-}}} \left[\tilde{a}(k^{-})e^{-\frac{i}{2}k^{-}x^{+}} + \tilde{a}^{\dagger}(k^{-})e^{\frac{i}{2}k^{-}x^{+}} \right], \tag{11}$$

and similarly for $\theta(x^+)$ and $\pi(x^-)$. The basic field commutators are consequently

$$\left[\tilde{\phi}(x^{-}), \tilde{\phi}(y^{-})\right] = -\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon(x^{-}-y^{-}), \quad \left[\tilde{\phi}(x^{+}), \tilde{\phi}(y^{+})\right] = -\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon(x^{+}-y^{+}).$$
(12)

The variables k^+ and k^- actually coincide, in complete analogy with the SL case $k^0 = |k^1|$. Also, one verifies that the two-point functions calculated from the massless fields coincide with the massless limits (8) of the massive functions. Using similar reasoning and the above Fock commutators, the operators

$$P^{+} = \int_{0}^{+\infty} dk^{+} k^{+} a^{\dagger}(k^{+}) a(k^{+}), \quad P^{-} = \int_{0}^{+\infty} dk^{+} k^{-} a^{\dagger}(k^{-}) a(k^{-})$$
(13)

are shown to generate the correct Heisenberg equations $2i\partial_{\pm}\phi(x^{\pm}) = -[P^{\mp},\phi(x^{\pm})]$.

The same procedure can be applied to the **light front fermion field**. The massive (two-dimensional Dirac) field equation $i \gg^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi(x) = m \psi(x)$ decomposes as

$$2i\partial_+\psi_2(x) = m\psi_1(x), \ 2i\partial_-\psi_1(x) = m\psi_2(x) \tag{14}$$

$$\Rightarrow \psi_2(x) = \tilde{\psi}_2(x^-), \ \psi_1(x) = \tilde{\psi}_1(x^+), \ \text{if } m = 0.$$
(15)

For the correct quantization, we again start from the two components of the massive field in the momentum representation that solve the field equations (14):

$$\Psi_{2}(x) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{dp^{+}}{4\pi} \left[b(p^{+})e^{-\frac{i}{2}p^{+}x^{-} - \frac{i}{2}\frac{m^{2}}{p^{+}}x^{+}} + d^{\dagger}(p^{+})e^{\frac{i}{2}p^{+}x^{-} + \frac{i}{2}\frac{m^{2}}{p^{+}}x^{+}} \right], \tag{16}$$

$$\Psi_{1}(x) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{dp^{+}}{4\pi} \frac{m}{p^{+}} \Big[b(p^{+}) e^{-\frac{i}{2}p^{+}x^{-} - \frac{i}{2}\frac{m^{2}}{p^{+}}x^{+}} - d^{\dagger}(p^{+}) e^{\frac{i}{2}p^{+}x^{-} + \frac{i}{2}\frac{m^{2}}{p^{+}}x^{+}} \Big], \quad (17)$$

where $\{b(p^+), b^{\dagger}(q^+)\} = \{d(p^+), d^{\dagger}(q^+)\} = \delta(p^+ - q^+)$, and study their massless limit. For ψ_2 , this again is straightforward. The limits of the fermion two-point func-

tions $S_{11}(z)$, $S_{22}(z)$ coincide up to the factor (-i) with that of $D_1^{(+)}$ and $D_2^{(+)}$. Hence we change the variables for $\psi_1(x)$ and repeat all the steps from the scalar-field case. This results in the massless field expansions and their Fock algebra:

$$\tilde{\psi}_{2}(x^{-}) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{dp^{+}}{\sqrt{4\pi}} [\tilde{b}(p^{+})e^{-\frac{i}{2}p^{+}x^{-}} + \tilde{d}^{\dagger}(p^{+})e^{\frac{i}{2}p^{+}x^{-}}],$$

$$\tilde{\psi}_{1}(x^{+}) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{dp^{-}}{\sqrt{4\pi}} [\tilde{b}(p^{-})e^{-\frac{i}{2}p^{-}x^{+}} - \tilde{d}^{\dagger}(p^{-})e^{\frac{i}{2}p^{-}x^{+}}],$$
(18)

$$\{\tilde{b}(p^+), \tilde{d}^{\dagger}(q^+)\} = \delta(p^+ - q^+), \ \{\tilde{b}(p^-), \tilde{b}^{\dagger}(q^-)\} = \delta(p^- - q^-).$$
(19)

The \tilde{d} -operators satisfy the same anticommutation relations. As a consequence,

$$\left\{\tilde{\psi}_{1}(x^{+}),\tilde{\psi}_{1}^{\dagger}(y^{+})\right\} = \delta(x^{+} - y^{+}), \quad \left\{\tilde{\psi}_{2}(x^{-}),\tilde{\psi}_{2}^{\dagger}(y^{-})\right\} = \delta(x^{-} - y^{-}). \tag{20}$$

The two kinds of modes decouple: $\{\tilde{b}(p^-), \tilde{b}^{\dagger}(q^+)\} = \{\tilde{b} \to \tilde{d}\} = 0$. The two-point function of the massless $\tilde{\psi}_1(x^+)$ coincides with the massless limit of the massive 2-point function. From the expansions (18), one constructs the bilinear operators (the current $j^{\mu} = (: \tilde{\psi}_1^{\dagger} \tilde{\psi}_1 : :: \tilde{\psi}_2^{\dagger} \tilde{\psi}_2 :)$ and the scalar densities $\tilde{\psi}_2^{\dagger} \tilde{\psi}_1 \pm \tilde{\psi}_1^{\dagger} \tilde{\psi}_2)$.

Thus, the quantum theory of the massless LF fermion field has been established. The necessary information is contained in the original massive solutions. Since solvable models are based on free Heisenberg fields, the above derivation opens the road to the genuine LF solution of the class of models with massless fermions [8].

Consistency of the scheme is further confirmed by **LF bosonization**. Bosonization is a remarkable property of the 2D field theory: fermion fields can be represented in terms of boson variables [9, 10]. Our derivation of its LF version is based on the natural decomposition of the massless $\phi(x)$ and $\psi(x)$ fields (9),(15).

Consider first $\tilde{\psi}_2(x^-)$. Assume that it can be represented as

$$\varphi_2(x^-) = C : e^{i\alpha\phi(x^-)} := C e^{i\alpha\phi^{(-)}(x^-)} e^{i\alpha\phi^{(+)}(x^-)}.$$
(21)

The constants *C* and α can be adjusted in such a way that two φ_2 with different arguments anticommute and $\varphi_2(x^-)$, $\varphi_2^{\dagger}(y^-)$ satisfy the anticommutation relation (20). The first condition fixes α to the value $\hat{\alpha} = 2\sqrt{\pi}$. The second determines the constant *C* as $\hat{C} = \left(\frac{\lambda e^{\gg} E}{4\pi}\right)^{1/2}$ (λ is the infrared cutoff associated with the massless $D_0^{(+)}$ function [6] and \gg_E is the Euler's constant). It follows that the operators $\hat{\varphi}(x^-)$ and the analogously obtained $\hat{\varphi}(x^+)$ represent the bosonized form of the fields $\tilde{\psi}_2(x^-)$ and $\tilde{\psi}_1(x^+)$. Forming their appropriate point-split products, the bosonized vector current is found to be $\hat{j}^+(x^-) = 2\pi^{-1/2}\partial_-\phi(x^-)$, $\hat{j}^-(x^+) = 2\pi^{-1/2}\partial_+\phi(x^+)$. It correctly reproduces the Schwinger term in the current-current commutators, $\left[\hat{j}^{\mp}(x^{\pm}), \hat{j}^{\mp}(y^{\pm})\right] = i\pi^{-1}\partial_x\delta(x^{\pm} - y^{\pm})$. Similarly, for the scalar densities, one gets

$$\overline{\psi}(x)\psi(x) = \frac{\lambda e^{\gg_E}}{4\pi} \cos\left(2\sqrt{\pi}\phi(x)\right), \ \overline{\psi}(x) \gg^5 \psi(x) = i\frac{\lambda e^{\gg_E}}{4\pi} \sin\left(2\sqrt{\pi}\phi(x)\right). (22)$$

(28)

Thus the LF version of bosonization yields the results known from the SL theory.

3 Conformal properties of the 2D massless LF fields

The massless 2D fields exhibit conformal symmetry, whose (anti)holomorphic formulation was developed in [11]. Here we shall show that after switching to the euclidean time, our formalism generates results in agreement with CFT.

The Hamiltonian density $T^{+-}(x)$ of the free massless scalar field vanishes, as required by conformal symmetry (the massless limit (13) of the massive $P^- \neq 0$, however). The other components of the energy-momentum tensor are nonvanishing:

$$T^{++}(x^{-}) =: \pi(x^{-})\pi(x^{-}):, \ T^{--}(x^{+}) =: \theta(x^{+})\theta(x^{+}):.$$
(23)

Note that the LF Hamiltonian (13) can also be obtained as the x^+ -integral of the density $T^{--}(x^+)$, analogously to P^+ which is the x^- -integral of $T^{++}(x^-)$.

We compute a few additional correlation functions $(z^{\pm} = x^{\pm} - y^{\pm})$,

$$\langle 0|\theta(x^{+})\theta(y^{+})|0\rangle = \frac{\pi^{-1}}{(z^{+}-i\delta^{+})^{2}}, \\ \langle 0|\pi(x^{-})\pi(y^{-})|0\rangle = \frac{\pi^{-1}}{(z^{-}-i\delta^{-})^{2}},$$
(24)

as well as those between components of the energy-momentum tensor,

$$\langle 0|T^{\pm\pm}(x^{\mp})T^{\pm\pm}(y^{\mp})|0\rangle = \frac{2}{\pi^2} \frac{1}{(x^{\mp} - y^{\mp} - i\delta^{\mp})^4}.$$
 (25)

In the holomorphic form of 2D CFT [11, 12], the Laurent expansion in the variables

$$z = e^{\frac{2\pi}{L}\zeta}, \ \bar{z} = e^{\frac{2\pi}{L}\bar{\zeta}}, \ \text{where} \ \zeta = \tau - ix, \ \bar{\zeta} = \tau + ix,$$
(26)

is commonly used. It is based on radial quantization with the euclidean time τ , $t \rightarrow -i\tau$. We need to reformulate our results for $\phi(x)$ in the form of infinite series to conform with the discrete picture of [11]. Thus, we consider the massive field in a finite box of length 2*L* in x^- or 2*T* in x^+ with periodic boundary conditions $\phi(x^+, x^- = -L) = \phi(x^+, x^- = L), \ \phi(x^+ = -T, x^-) = \phi(x^+ = T, x^-)$. Performing the change of variables and the massless limit as before, we arrive at

$$\phi(x^{-}) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2Lk_{n}^{+}}} \left[a_{n}e^{-\frac{i}{2}k_{n}^{+}x^{-}} + H.c. \right] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \sum_{n=\pm 1,\dots} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|n|}} a_{n}e^{-i\frac{\pi}{L}nx^{-}}, \quad (27)$$

$$\phi(x^{+}) = \phi_{0} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2Lk_{n}^{-}}} \left[\bar{a}_{n}e^{-\frac{i}{2}k_{n}^{-}x^{+}} + H.c. \right] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \sum_{n=\pm 1,\dots} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|n|}} \bar{a}_{n}e^{-i\frac{\pi}{L}nx^{+}}$$

with $[a_m, a_n^{\dagger}] = [\bar{a}_m, \bar{a}_n^{\dagger}] = \delta_{m,n}, \ [\bar{a}_m, a_n^{\dagger}] = 0 \text{ and } a_{-n} \equiv a_n^{\dagger}, \ \bar{a}_{-n} \equiv \bar{a}_n^{\dagger}.$

Massless light-front fields

Since $\mu = 0$, ϕ_0 can be non-zero. It is however just a constant whose conjugate momentums vanishes. The 2-point functions $D_0^{(+)}$ are evaluated for L >> 1 as

$$D_0^{(+)}(z^{\pm}) = \langle 0|\phi(x^{\pm})\phi(y^{\pm})|0\rangle = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} e^{-i\frac{\pi}{L}n(z^- - i\varepsilon)} \approx \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln\left[\frac{i\pi}{L}(z^- - i\varepsilon)\right].$$
(29)

L plays the role of the infared regularization parameter. It also introduces the necessary dimension to (29). L drops out of all the other correlation functions (due to the derivatives present). The results match the continuum results (24–25).

The components of the energy-momentum tensor in the discrete form read

$$T^{++}(x^{-}) = K \sum_{m,n} \varepsilon(m) \varepsilon(n) \sqrt{|m||n|} : a_m a_n : e^{-i\frac{\pi}{L}(n+m)x^{-}},$$
(30)
$$T^{--}(x^{+}) = K \sum_{m,n} \varepsilon(m) \varepsilon(n) \sqrt{|m||n|} : \bar{a}_m \bar{a}_n : e^{-i\frac{\pi}{L}(n+m)x^{+}}, \ K = -\frac{\pi}{L^2}.$$

They can be transformed to a "Virasoro form" by simply taking a Fourier transform. Indeed, assume that $T^{++}(x^{-})$ can be represented as

$$T^{++}(x^{-}) = \frac{1}{4L^2} \sum_{l=0,\pm1,\dots} L_l e^{-i\frac{\pi}{L}lx^{-}}, L_l = 2L \int_{-L}^{+L} dx^{-} e^{i\frac{\pi}{L}lx^{-}} T^{++}(x^{-}).$$
(31)

Inserting $T^{++}(x^{-})$ in the Fock form (30) into (31) gives ($L_0 = 4LP^+$),

$$L_n = -4\pi \sum_{k=\pm 1,\dots} \varepsilon(k) \varepsilon(n-k) \sqrt{|k||n-k|} a_k a_{n-k}.$$
(32)

A calculation based on the commutators below Eq.(28) yields the LF version of the Virasoro algebra, including the c-number term, not present at the classical level:

$$[L_n, L_m] = (n-m)L_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}n(n^2 - 1)\delta_{n+m,0}, \ c = 1,$$
(33)

where *c* is the "central charge". Taking $T^{--}(x^+)$ in (31) instead of T^{++} generates the algebra (33) with $L_n \to \overline{L}_n$. It follows from $[a_n, \overline{a}_m] = 0$ that $[L_n, \overline{L}_m] = 0$.

To give a few details of these calculations, we switch back to the " a, a^{\dagger} " picture:

$$L_n = -\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \sqrt{k(n-k)} a_k a_{n-k} + 2\sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \sqrt{k(k-n)} a_{k-n}^{\dagger} a_k, \ L_n^{\dagger} = L_{-|n|}.$$
 (34)

The "anomaly" comes from the commutator between the first terms:

Ľubomír Martinovič

$$\begin{bmatrix}\sum_{l=1}^{m-1}\sqrt{l(m-l)}a_{l}a_{m-l}, \sum_{k=1}^{n-1}\sqrt{k(n-k)}a_{k}^{\dagger}a_{n-k}^{\dagger}\end{bmatrix} = \sum_{l=1}^{m-1}\sqrt{l(m-l)}\sum_{k=1}^{n-1}\sqrt{k(n-k)} \times \left\{\delta_{m-l,k}\delta_{l,n-k} + \delta_{l,k}\delta_{m-l,n-k}\right\} = 2\delta_{m,n}\sum_{l=1}^{m-1}l(m-l) = \frac{1}{3}m(m^{2}-1)\delta_{m,n}.$$
 (35)

This agrees with the CFT result after taking into account the different normalization.

All the LF results can be easily transformed into the conformal ((anti)holomorphic) form by switching to the euclidean time and defining the variables ζ and $\overline{\zeta}$ (26).

With the conventional CFT normalization (factor 2π in the definition of the energy-momentum tensor instead of 4 in the LF case), we get (cf. Eq.(24)):

$$\langle 0|\pi(\zeta)\pi(\zeta')|0\rangle = -\frac{1}{(\zeta-\zeta')^2}, \ \langle 0|T(\zeta)T(\zeta')|0\rangle = \frac{c}{2}\frac{1}{(\zeta-\zeta')^4}, \ c = 1.$$
(36)

Our field expansions (28,27) read $(\phi(\bar{\zeta}) = \phi(\zeta) \text{ with } (\zeta, z, a_n) \to (\bar{\zeta}, \bar{z}, \bar{a}_n))$

$$\phi(\zeta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \sum_{n=\pm 1,\pm 2,\dots} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|n|}} a_n z^n, \ [a_m, a_n] = \delta_{m+n,0}.$$
 (37)

It is analogous to the transition [12] to the conformal field in the conventional treatment. A completely parallel LF analysis can be given for the fermion field.

4 Conclusions

We have formulated the quantum theory of two-dimensional massless light-front fields as a unique limit of the corresponding massive fields. Its consistency is proved by the equality of the two-point functions calculated from the massless fields to the massless limit of the massive two-point functions. Our quantization scheme leads to the LF form of bosonization and to the genuine LF operator solutions of a few exactly solvable models (like the Thirring and Thirring-Wess models). The developed LF operator formalism also reproduces known results of conformal field theory.

Acknowledgements This work was in part done in collaboration with P. Grangé. The author thanks the slovak grant VEGA2/0072/2013 for support.

References

- 1. P. A. M. Dirac, Rev. Mod. Phys. 21 (1949), p.392.
- 2. L. Martinovic, Phys. Lett. B509 (2001), p.355.
- 3. L. Martinovic, J. P. Vary, Phys. Rev. D64 (2001), p. 105016.
- 4. L. Martinovic, P. Grangé, Phys. Lett. B724 (2013) p.310.
- 5. G. McCartor, Z. Phys. C64 (1994) p.349.

- 6. L. Martinovic, P. Grangé, Few Body Syst. 56 (2015) p.607, it ibid. 57 (2016) p.565.
- 7. H. Leutwyler, J. R. Klauder, L. Streit, Nuovo Cim. A66 (1970) p.536.
- 8. for the review, see for example E. Abdalla,C. Abdalla and K. D. Rothe, 2 *Dimensional Quantum Field Theory* (World Scientific, Singapore, 1991).
- 9. S. Coleman, Phys. Rev. D11 (1975) p.2088.
- 10. S. Mandelstam, Phys. Rev. D11 (1975) p.3026.
- 11. A. A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, A. B. Zamolodchikov, Nucl. Phys. B241 (1984) p.333.
- 12. P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu, D. Senechal, Conformal Field Theory (Springer, NY, 1997).

Pattern recognition of amino acids via a Poisson statistical approach

R.P. Mondaini and S.C. de Albuquerque Neto

Abstract A Poisson statistical approach is derived from a master equation in order to introduce a pattern recognition of amino acids in protein families. Probability distribution functions of two variables are then obtained and their level curves are associated to the occurrences of each amino acid.

1 Introduction

The statistical modelling of formation and evolution of proteins is supposed to be very useful for understanding the protein folding dynamics. The information contained fin the intermediary stagesf, which are supposed to guarantee the folding process [1]f, would be unveiled by studying the fcollection of proteins into families. We assume that nature is playing a game of allocating in families of proteins, the amino acids built at the Ribosome [2, 3]. We then start by introducing the sample space of this statistical approach with the selection of amino acid blocks of *m* rows (domains) and *n* columns (amino acids).

2 The statistical sample space

The $m \times n$ blocks are organized by specifying a number of *n* columns on a protein domain which is obtained from *m* proteins. Each domain has n_r amino acids, r =

R.P. Mondaini

S.C. de Albuquerque Neto

Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Centre of Technology - COPPE, Rio de Janeiro - RJ, Brazil, 21.941-972 - P.O. Box 68.511, e-mail: Rubem.Mondaini@ufrj.br

Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Centre of Technology - COPPE, Rio de Janeiro - RJ, Brazil, 21941-972, e-mail: albuquerquensc@cos.ufrj.br

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_39

1,2,...,*m*. We then discard all domains such that $n_r < n$, and we also discard the last $(n_r - n)$ amino acids in the remaining domains. The protein families should contain at least one of these blocks. In Fig.1, an example of a $m \times n$ block from the Pfam database [4,5] is given according to these requirements.

VLLHGPPGCGKTVLANAIANKAQVPFMSISAPSVVSGMSGESEKKIREIFEEARAIAPCLPDAIDPALRRAG	RFDEEIAMAV
ILMICPTCVCKTEISRRLAKLAGAPFIKIEATKFTEVCYVCRDVESIIRDLVEIGIGLVR	
VLLVGPPGTGKTLLARAVAGEAGVPFFSISGSDFVEMFVGVGASRVRDLFENAKKNAPCIDVLDPALLRPGR	FDRQIMVDR
PVLIGEPGVGKSACVEGLAQAIVRGDVPETLRDKKIYSLDLGSMVAGSRYRGDFEERMKKLDEYRKYIEKDA	ALERRFQPIQV
LLLSGPPGAGKTTLAHVAAKHCGYETIEINASDDRSASTLKLKLADALQTRSAFEKQKPKPLRDVAKIIRMK	τ
PVLICEPCVCKTAIAECLAQRIIARDVPESLRD	
VLLYGPPGTGKTLLAKAVATECSLNFLSVKGPELINMYIGESEKNVRDIFQKARSARPCVDLIDPALLRPGR	FDKLLYVGV
LCFVGPPGVGKTSLASSIAKALNRKFIRISLGGVKDEADIRGHRRTYIGSMPGRLIDGLKKVVFVATANRMC	PIPPALLDRMEVIELPG
FVFSGPPGTGKTSVARTLATIFHSFGLLPTARVVEASRADLVGEYLGATAIKTNELVDRAMDRFLASNPGLA	SRFATRISFPS
$eq:lyisgapgtgktaclncvlqeqkallkgiqtvvincmnlrsshaifpllgeqlevpkgns\ldots naldltdrilpresserved and the served serv$	ALQAKPHC
ILLFGPPGTGKTLLAKAVATECSMTFLSVKGPELINMYVGQSEENIREVFSRARLAAPCILLDQSLLRPGRI	DKLVFVGL
$\tt MYVSGVPGTGKTATVHEVMRCLQQAADVDQIPSFSFVEINGMKMTDPHQAYVQILQELTG\ldots RHARLVVLTIANDAVVQILQELTG\ldots RHARLVVLTIANDAVVQILQUAVVQILQUAVVQILQUAVVQILQUAVVQILQUAVVQILQUAVVQILQUAVVQVQVQVQVQVQVQVQVQVQVQVVQVQVQVVQVQV$	TMDLPERVMINRVASRLGLTR
$eq:lingpkgngqqyvgaailnyleefnvqnldlaslvsessrtieaavvqsfmeakkrqps\dotslsdfafdknifingpkgngqqyvgaailnyleefnvqnldlaslvsessrtieaavvqsfmeakkrqps\dotslsdfafdknifingpkgngqqyvgaailnyleefnvqnldlaslvsessrtieaavvqsfmeakkrqps\dotslsdfafdknifingpkgngqqyvgaailnyleefnvqnldlaslvsessrtieaavvqsfmeakkrqps\dotslsdfafdknifingpkgngqqyvgaailnyleefnvqnldlaslvsessrtieaavvqsfmeakkrqpsmeakkrqqpsmeakkrqpsmeakkrqpsmeakkrqpsmeakkrqpsmeakkrqpsmeakkrqpsme$	
PVLIGEAGVGKTAVVEGLANKIVNAEVPEKLMDKEVIRLDVASLVSGTGIRGQFEERMQQTLSEYRKIEKDP	ALERRLOPVKVN
IIFYGPAGTGKTMSALAMAKSMKKTVLSFDCSKILSKWVGESEQNVRKIFDTYKNIVQTCLESLDSAFSRRF	DYKIEFKK
${\tt ILMYGPPGTGKTVMARAVANETGAFFFLINGPEIMSKMAGESESNLRKAFEEAEKNAPSI\ldots DPALRRFGRFDREFEAEKNAPSIMERAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKNAPSIMERAFEEAEKNAPSIMERAFEEAEKNAPSIMERAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKNAPSIMERAFEEAEKNAPSIMERAFEEAEKNAPSIMERAFEEAEKNAPSIMERAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAFEEAEKAKAKAFEEAEKAKAKAKA$	EVDIGV
PVLIGEAGVGKTAIVEGLAQAIVRGDVPDNLRNKRLITLDLALMIAGTKYRGQFEERIKAIDEYRKHIEKDA	ALERRFQKVMVAPA

Fig. 1: A block of $m = 100 \times n = 200$ amino acids from the Pfam database.

The Pfam database version 27.0 [4, 5] has 4563 protein families classified into 515 Clans. 1441 of these families can be represented by $(m = 100 \times n = 200)$ blocks. We work with blocks of this size in the present work.

In order to describe the probabilistic space, we introduce the probability of occurrence vectors

$$\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{j}} = \left(p_j(a_1), p_j(a_2), \dots, p_j(a_{20}) \right)^{\mathrm{T}}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(1)

where $a = a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{20}$ stand for the twenty amino acids written in one letter code, a = A, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, K, L, M, N, P, Q, R, S, T, V, W, Y.

The components of the vectors (7) are given by

$$p_j(a) = \frac{n_j(a)}{m} \tag{2}$$

where $n_j(a)$ is the number of occurrences of the *a*-amino acid in the *j*-th column of the $(m \times n)$ block.

We have

$$\sum_{a} n_j(a) = m \Rightarrow \sum_{a} p_j(a) = 1 \quad \forall j.$$
(3)

3 The master equation approach for probability evolution and Poisson distribution

A very convenient scheme for modelling the *temporal* evolution of random variables is provided by the master equation approach. We should use it here [6] for a fixed number of amino acids m on each row of the $(m \times n)$ block.

Let $p(n_j(t(a)))$ be the probability of occurrence of the generic *a*-amino acid in the *j*-th column of the block. If $\sigma(t(a))$ is the transition probability by unit time between the (j-1)-th and *j*-th column, the probability of occurrence of the *a*-amino acid at a time $t(a) + \Delta t$ will be given by

$$p\left(n_{j}(t(a)+\Delta t)\right) = \sigma(t(a))\Delta t \, p\left(n_{j-1}(t(a))\right) + \left(1-\sigma(t(a))\right)\Delta t \, p\left(n_{j}(t(a))\right).$$
(4)

We now consider that at an extra column j = 0, there is a "universal amino acid factory", the Ribosome, where all amino acids are already present at time $t_0(a)$, or,

$$p\left(n_0(t_0(a))\right) = 1, \quad \forall a.$$
⁽⁵⁾

This also means that there are no amino acids in columns $j \neq 0$, or

$$p\left(n_j(t_0(a))\right) = 0, \quad j \neq 0, \quad \forall a.$$
(6)

At the limit $\Delta t \rightarrow 0$, we get from eq. (4),

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial t(a)}\left(n_j(t(a))\right) = \sigma(t(a))\left(p\left(n_{j-1}(t(a))\right) - p\left(n_j(t(a))\right)\right), \quad j \neq 0 \quad (7)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial t(a)} \left(n_0(t(a)) \right) = -\sigma(t(a)) p\left(n_0(t(a)) \right).$$
(8)

From eqs. (5)-(8), we can write

$$p\left(n_0(t(a))\right) = e^{-\nu\left(t(a)\right)},\tag{9}$$

$$p\left(n_1(t(a))\right) = e^{-\nu\left(t(a)\right)}\nu(t(a)),\tag{10}$$

$$p(n_2(t(a))) = e^{-v(t(a))} \frac{v^2(t(a))}{2},$$
(11)

where

$$\mathbf{v}(t(a)) = \int_{t_0(a)}^{t(a)} \sigma(t'(a)) dt'(a).$$
(12)

The Poisson distribution will follow by finite induction as

$$p\left(n_j(t(a))\right) = e^{-\nu\left(t(a)\right)} \frac{\nu^j(t(a))}{j!}, \quad \forall j, a.$$
(13)

4 Two examples of statistical distributions for describing amino acid occurrences

We associate the marginal probability distribution associated to eq. (13), in order to derive distributions which are adequate to describe the occurrences of amino acids in the columns of the $(m \times n)$ blocks. We have

$$p_j(t(a)) = \int_{t_0(a)}^{t(a)} p\left(n_j(t'(a))\right) dt'(a)$$
(14)

From eq. (13), we can write

$$p_j(t(a)) = \frac{(-1)^j}{j!} \lim_{\alpha \to 1} \frac{\partial^j}{\partial \alpha^j} \int_{t_0(a)}^{t(a)} e^{-\alpha v \left(t'(a)\right)} \mathrm{d}t'(a).$$
(15)

Two cases should be emphasized:

1. A linear approximation [7] for v(t(a)), $\sigma(t(a)) = \sigma(a)$:

$$\mathbf{v}(t(a)) = \mathbf{\sigma}(a)(t(a) - t_0(a)). \tag{16}$$

From eq. (15), we have

$$p_j(t(a)) = \frac{(-1)^{j+1}}{j!\,\sigma(a)} \lim_{\alpha \to 1} \frac{\partial^j}{\partial \alpha^j} \left(\frac{e^{-\alpha\,\sigma(a)(t(a)-t_0(a))}-1}{\alpha} \right). \tag{17}$$

fWe now write

$$t_j(a) \equiv t_0(a) + j\Delta(a), \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
 (18)

where $t_j(a)$ is the time in which the *a*-amino acid is seen to occur at the *j*-th column of the $(m \times n)$ block and $\Delta(a)$ is the time interval for the transition of the *a*-amino acid between consecutive columns:

$$\Delta(a) = t_j(a) - t_{j-1}(a), \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(19)

where $\sigma(a), \Delta(a)$ is a couple of variables of the statistical distribution for this case.

We can then write

$$p_j(\sigma(a), \Delta(a)) = \frac{1}{\sigma(a)} \left(1 - e^{-j\sigma(a)\Delta(a)} \sum_{m=0}^j \frac{\left(j\sigma(a)\Delta(a)\right)^m}{m!} \right).$$
(20)

2. A saddle-point approximation [8,9]:

The integral of eq. (15) for $\alpha > 0$ is determined by values of v(t(a)) on the neighbourhood of the minimum $t_m(a)$, $v'(t_m(a)) = 0$,

Pattern recognition of amino acids via a Poisson statistical approach

$$v(t(a)) \approx v(t_m(a)) + \frac{v''(t_m(a))}{2} (t(a) - t_m(a))^2.$$
 (21)

We then have from eq. (15),

$$p_j(t(a)) \approx \frac{(-1)^j}{j!} \left(\frac{2\pi}{\mathbf{v}''(t_m(a))}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \lim_{\alpha \to 1} \frac{\partial^j}{\partial \alpha^j} \left(\alpha^{-1/2} e^{-\alpha \mathbf{v}(t_m(a))}\right), \quad (22)$$

and the statistical distribution for this second case will be written as

$$p_j(x(a), y(a)) \approx \frac{1}{j!} \left(\frac{2\pi}{y(a)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-x(a)} \left(x^j(a) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{m=0}^{j-1} {j \choose m+1} (2m+1)!! \frac{x^{j-m-1}(a)}{2^m}\right)$$
(23)

where

$$x(a) \equiv v(t_m(a)), \quad y(a) \equiv v''(t_m(a))$$

and

 $(2m+1)!! = 1 \cdot 3 \cdot 5 \cdot \ldots \cdot (2m-1) \cdot (2m+1)$

stands for the double factorial.

5 Histograms and level curves

In this section we intend to show the advantage of the information obtained from the analysis of level curves of the surfaces $p_j(\sigma(a), \Delta(a))$ and $p_j(x(a), y(a))$ as compared to fthose of the corresponding histograms. First of all, we present in the 1st column of Table 1 the probabilities of occurrence for the a = A amino acid of the PF03399 family obtained from a ($m = 100 \times n = 200$) block. These probability values correspond to *j*-value partitions of the set of *j*-values, j = 1, 2, ..., 200 and they will define the level curves, according to

$$p_{j\in J_s} = M_{j\in J_s} = \frac{n_{j\in J_s}(A)}{100}$$
 (24)

The histogram of the data of Table 1 is represented in

The corresponding level curves of the two surfaces, eqs. (20,23), are presented in Fig. 3. The 2-dimensional domains of the variables $\sigma(a)$, $\Delta(a)$ and x(a), y(a) are obtained from an exhaustive numerical analysis of maxima and minima of the level curves [7, 10].

267

Table 1: The $j \in J_s$ values of the subset J_s for defining level curves of the surface $p_{j \in J_s}$. Data obtained from a (100 × 200) block as a representative of the PF03399 protein family a = A amino acid.

$M_{j\in J_s}$	J_s
0	7,8,9,14,15,18,20,21,82,96,150
1/100	10, 24, 25, 38, 48, 53, 55, 102, 106, 107
2/100	11, 23, 28, 44, 47, 51, 54, 90, 98, 100, 101, 115
3/100	4,35,39,40,42,49,50,65,71,75,79,91,93,105,108,117,158,172,182
4/100	6,29,31,43,69,86,87,103,110,113,123,125,133,134,147,149,154,156,174,
	175, 176, 177, 194, 197
5/100	5, 19, 22, 36, 80, 83, 92, 95, 97, 99, 104, 118, 129, 140, 141, 146, 165, 180
6/100	32, 52, 57, 73, 78, 81, 89, 126, 136, 142, 143, 153, 164, 166, 170, 171, 199
7/100	3, 27, 30, 41, 61, 84, 85, 94, 109, 119, 122, 127, 131, 132, 139
8/100	16, 26, 33, 37, 46, 56, 68, 70, 74, 88, 111, 112, 124, 145, 151, 159, 173, 188, 195, 200
9/100	1, 17, 58, 60, 62, 114, 116, 137, 138, 169, 187, 190, 191, 193
10/100	34, 45, 59, 77, 161, 185, 189
11/100	66, 72, 121, 128, 152, 155, 168, 178, 179, 198
12/100	13, 148, 162, 183, 196
13/100	120, 167
14/100	12,67,76,130,135,163
15/100	2,64,181,186
16/100	63, 160, 184, 192
17/100	144
18/100	157



Fig. 2 The histogram corresponding to Table 1. a = A amino acid, Protein family PF03399.

6 Concluding remarks

In the present work, we introduced statistical modelling of the evolution of protein families and two proposals fregarding probability distributions fthat are derived from a master equation approach. An exhaustive application of these methods to protein families of the Pfam database is now in progress. An essential step of this application is the comparison of the level curves of the surfaces $p(\sigma(a), \Delta(a)), p(x(a), y(a))$ with the corresponding histograms. A careful choice



Fig. 3: a = A amino acid from Protein family PF03399. The level curves of the surface $p_j(\sigma(a), \Delta(a))$ - linear approximation (left). The level curves of the surface $p_j(x(a), y(a))$ - saddle-point approximation (right).

of the 2-dimensional domains of variables is also essential for the success of the pattern recognition process [7,10]. It seems that a conformal transformation of variables could provide a better layout of level curves for the saddle-point approximation case. However, a new method of representation in terms of the loci of Steiner points as arcs of circles whose centers and diameters are given by the domains of the variables will lead to a more efficient representation [11]. The fundamental part of these developments is now concluded and will be published elsewhere.

References

- 1. C. Levinthal, "Are there pathways for protein folding?", Journal de Chimie Physique et de Physico-Chimie Biologique 65 (1968) 44-45.
- B. Alberts, A. Johnson, J. Lewis, D. Morgan, M. Raff, K. Roberts, P. Walter, *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 6th edn. (Garland Science, New York, 2014).
- 3. K. Sneppen, G. Zocchi, Physics in Molecular Biology, (Cambridge Univ. Press, 2005).
- 4. R. D. Finn et al., *The Pfam Protein Families database*, Nucleic Acids Research 42 (2014) D222-D230.
- 5. R. D. Finn et al., *The Pfam Protein Families database*, Nucleic Acids Research 44 (2016) D279-D285.
- 6. W. Bialek, Biophysics Searching for Principles, (Princeton Univ. Press, 2012).
- R. P. Mondaini, S. C. de Albuquerque Neto, *The Pattern Recognition of Probability Distribu*tions of Amino Acids in protein families, arXiv: 1693147 [q-bio]. Unpublished.
- 8. P. D. Miller, *Applied Asymptotic Analysis*, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 75, American Mathematical Society, (Providence, Rhode Island, USA, 2006).
- 9. R. P. Mondaini, S. C. de Albuquerque Neto, *The Pattern Recognition of Probability Distributions of Amino Acids in Protein Families. The Saddle Point approximation*, 2016, in preparation.

- R. P. Mondaini, S. C. de Albuquerque Neto, Entropy Measures and the Statistical Analysis of Protein Family Classification, BIOMAT 2015 (2016) 193-210.
- 11. R. P. Mondaini, S. C. de Albuquerque Neto, *The Steiner Point Loci for Pattern Recognition of amino acid distributions in Protein Families*, 2016, in preparation.

Real pseudo-orthogonal groups and the canonical commutation relations

Patrick Moylan

Abstract Let $\mathbf{W}_n(\mathbb{R})$ be the Weyl algebra of index *n* over \mathbb{R} and let $\widehat{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{so}(2,1))$ be a certain extension of the skew field of fractions of $\mathfrak{U}(\mathfrak{so}(2,1))$, the universal enveloping algebra of $\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$. In a previous work we have established a skew field isomorphism between $\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{so}(2,1))$ and $\mathfrak{D}_{(1,1)}(\mathbb{R})$ where $\mathfrak{D}_{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$ is the fraction field of $\mathbf{W}_{1,1}(\mathbb{R}) \simeq \mathbf{W}_1(\mathbb{R}) \otimes \mathbb{R}(y)$ with $\mathbb{R}(y)$ being the ring of polynomials over \mathbb{R} in the indeterminate *y*. Using this isomorphism, we were able to construct, out of unitary and irreducible representations of the universal covering group of $SO_0(2,1)$, representations of $\mathbf{W}_1(\mathbb{R})$ with all of the desired properties required by physics, including hermicity of the momentum and position operators. Thus, we have obtained the canonical commutation relations and acceptable representations of the above results to higher dimensions. In particular, we describe generalizations with $\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{so}(2,1))$ replaced by $\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))$ and $\mathfrak{D}_{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$ replaced by $\mathfrak{D}_{p+q-2,1}(\mathbb{R})$. As in the $\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ case, we make use of our results to obtain applications to representations.

1 Introduction

Noncommutative localization is used in both mathematics and physics to relate different, i.e., non-isomorphic, algebraic structures by embedding them into larger structures which may be related to one another by isomorphism. One of the most famous examples in mathematics, and which is very much related to what we do in this paper, is the Gelfand-Kirillov conjecture [3].

A brief description of this famous conjecture is the following. Let \mathbb{K} be an algebraically closed field. Given a Lie algebra *L* over \mathbb{K} , we denote by $\mathfrak{U}(L)$ the universal

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_40

Patrick Moylan

Department of Physics, The Pennsylvania State University, Abington College, Abington, PA 19001 USA, e-mail: pjm11@psu.edu

enveloping algebra of *L*. Since $\mathfrak{U}(L)$ is a Noetherian domain, it admits a field of fractions which we shall denote by $\mathfrak{D}(L)$. Let $\mathbf{W}_n(\mathbb{K})$ denote the Weyl algebra of index *n* over the field \mathbb{K} . It is generated over \mathbb{K} by 2n generators $p_1, \ldots, p_n, q_1, \ldots, q_n$ subject to the relations $[p_i, p_j] = [q_i, q_j] = 0$ and $[p_i, q_j] = \delta_{ij}$ for all $i, j \leq n$. Given a collection of free variables y_1, \ldots, y_s , we define

$$\mathbf{W}_{n,s}(\mathbb{K}) := \mathbf{W}_n(\mathbb{K}) \otimes \mathbb{K}[y_1, \dots, y_s].$$

Being a Noetherian domain, the algebra $\mathbf{W}_{n,s}(\mathbb{K})$ also admits a field of fractions denoted by $\mathfrak{D}_{n,s}(\mathbb{K})$. In [3] Gelfand and Kirillov put forth the following conjecture:

Gelfand–Kirillov conjecture. *If* char(\mathbb{K}) = 0 and *L* is the Lie algebra of an algebraic \mathbb{K} -group, then $\mathfrak{D}(L) \cong \mathfrak{D}_{n,s}(\mathbb{K})$ for some *n*, *s* depending on *L*.

A major breathrough for the case in which *L* is simple occurred in 2010 when Alexander Premet proved that the conjecture fails for simple Lie algebras of type B_n $(n \ge 3)$, D_n $(n \ge 4)$, E_6 , E_7 , E_8 or F_4 leaving the conjecture unsettled only for the remaining case of C_n [12]. The conjecture also makes sense over fields that are not algebraically closed. Clearly, if $\mathfrak{D}(L) \cong \mathfrak{D}_{n,s}(\mathbb{F})$ over a field \mathbb{F} (where $\mathfrak{D}(L)$ now means the Lie field of the Lie algebra *L* over the field \mathbb{F}), then $\mathfrak{D}(L \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} \mathbb{K}) \cong$ $\mathfrak{D}_{n,s}(\mathbb{K})$ where $L \otimes_{\mathbb{F}} \mathbb{K}$ is a Lie algebra over a field extension \mathbb{K} of \mathbb{F} . Thus, at least for certain cases, we can reduce the case of a non-algebraically closed field \mathbb{F} to its respective algebraic closure. In particular, this implies that the Gelfand-Kirillov conjecture itself fails for any real form of a complex Lie algebra of type B_n $(n \ge 3)$, D_n $(n \ge 4)$, E_6 , E_7 , E_8 or F_4 . It is interesting that the physically important cases of $SO_0(2,3)$ and $SO_0(1,4)$ are still unsettled. This is so because Premet's results for B_n hold only for $n \ge 3$ and, since $B_2 \simeq C_2$, the validity of the conjecture for B_2 and its real forms is still unknown. For the status of the conjecture in the general case (i.e., for *L* not simple) we refer to [1].

One of the reasons why localization is important to physics is for understanding the structure of the observables and invariants of a quantum physical system associated with a given Lie algebra and their relationship to observables associated with the Weyl algebras, such as position and momentum. Surely such physical considerations must have played an important role in motivating Gelfand and Kirillov to formulate their conjecture. The Gelfand-Kirillov conjecture demonstrates that for Lie algebras L for which it is true, the Lie field of L is no more complicated than that of the Lie field associated with the corresponding extension of the Weyl algebra, and, in this sense, the Heisenberg canonical commutation relations follow from and exist as relations in the Lie field $\mathfrak{D}(L)$ when the two algebras have isomorphic Lie fields.

2 Line bundles over *M*

Let n = p + q (q > 1) and consider $M^{(p,q)} = \mathbb{R}^n$ with the quadratic form

$$Q(x) = x_0^2 + x_1^2 + \ldots + x_{p-1}^2 - x_p^2 - \ldots - x_{p+q-1}^2 (x = (x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_{p+q-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^n).$$
(1)

Let \mathbb{K}^* be the cone $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^m | Q(x) = 0, x \neq 0\}$, and let M bet the quotient of \mathbb{K}^* with respect to the equivalence relation $x \sim \lambda x$. M is naturally diffeomorphic to $(S^{p-1} \times S^{q-1})/\mathbb{Z}_2$ where the \mathbb{Z}_2 action is the product of antipodal maps on S^{p-1} and S^{q-1} . We denote $S^{p-1} \times S^{q-1}$ by \overline{M} .

Define the line bundle $L^{\sigma}(M)$ over M associated with the character $\lambda \to |\lambda|^{-\sigma}$ of \mathbb{R}^* as the bundle whose fibre over $[x] \in M$ is the set of all pairs $(\lambda x, |\lambda|^{\sigma}) \in \mathbb{K} \times \mathbb{C}$, $(\sigma \in \mathbb{C})$. Denote by $\Gamma^{\sigma}(M)$ the space of smooth sections of $L^{\sigma}(M)$. There is a unique isomorphism between $\Gamma^{\sigma}(M)$ and the space of smooth functions $f : \mathbb{K}^* \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ that satisfy the homogeneity condition [5], [6]

$$f(\lambda x) = |\lambda|^{-\sigma} f(x) .$$
⁽²⁾

 $\Gamma^{\sigma}(M)$ is an $SO_0(p,q)$ -module with respect to the representation $\pi^{\sigma}(G)$ ($G = SO_0(p,q)$), defined by $(\pi^{\sigma}(g) f)(x) = f(g^{-1}x)$, where $f \in \Gamma^{\sigma}(M)$, $g \in SO_0(p,q)$, $x \in \mathbb{K}^*$, and $g^{-1} x$ denotes the action of g^{-1} on $x \in \mathbb{K}^*$. We denote the associated representation of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{so}(p,q)$ by $d\pi^{\sigma}(\mathfrak{g})$. Since any function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{K}^*)$ satisfying Eq. (2) is completely determined by its values on M and lifts to an even function on $\overline{M} = S^{p-1} \times S^{q-1}$, we can use the homogeneity condition, Eq. (2), to obtain the following parallelized form of the representation:

$$\pi^{\sigma}(g)\phi(\xi) = |(g^{-1}\xi)|^{\sigma}\phi(\bar{g}^{-1}\xi)$$
(3)

where $\phi \in C^{\infty}(S^{p-1} \times S^{q-1})$, $\phi(-\xi) = \phi(\xi)$, $\xi \in S^{p-1} \times S^{q-1}$ and

$$|x| = \sqrt{x_0^2 + x_1^2 + \ldots + x_{p-1}^2} = \sqrt{x_p^2 + x_{p+1}^2 + \ldots + x_{p+q-1}^2}$$
(4)

for $x = (x_0, x_1, \ldots + x_{p-1}, x_p, \ldots + x_{p+q-1}) \in \mathbb{K}^*$ and $\overline{g}^{-1}\xi \in S^{p-1} \times S^{q-1}$ is the image of ξ under the action for $g^{-1} \in G$ on $S^{p-1} \times S^{q-1}$. We call this parallelized form of the representation $\pi^{\sigma}(G)$ the "curved parallelization".

Now consider the subset of \mathbb{K}^* defined by $V = \{x \in \mathbb{K}^* | x_0 + x_{p+q-1} = 1\}$. Let $S = \{x \in \mathbb{K}^* | x_0 + x_{p+q-1} = 0\}$ and let p be the map $p : \overline{M} \setminus \{S\} \to V \simeq \mathbb{R}^{p+q-2}$ with $p(\xi_0, \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_p, \ldots, \xi_{p+q-1}) = \left(\frac{\xi_0}{\xi_0 + \xi_{p+q-1}}, \frac{\xi_1}{\xi_0 + \xi_{p+q-1}}, \ldots, \frac{\xi_p}{\xi_0 + \xi_{p+q-1}}, \ldots, \frac{\xi_{p+q-1}}{\xi_0 + \xi_{p+q-1}}\right)$. Let $x_i = \frac{2\xi_i}{\xi_0 + \xi_{p+q-1}}$ $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, p+q-2)$. The inverse map $p^{-1} : V \to \overline{M} \setminus \{S\}$ is $\xi_0 = \frac{F}{(F^2 + x_1^2 + \ldots + x_{p-1}^2)^{1/2}}$, $\xi_{p+q-1} = \frac{D}{(F^2 + x_1^2 + \ldots + x_{p-1}^2)^{1/2}}$ with $F = 1 - \frac{x^2}{4}$, $D = 1 + \frac{x^2}{4}$ and $x^2 = x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \ldots + x_{p-1}^2 - x_p^2 - \ldots + x_{p+q-2}^2$. We now introduce the "flat parallelization" for the representation π^{σ} . It is specified by the equation

$$C^{\infty}(\bar{M}) \ni \phi(\xi) \to \tilde{\phi}(\xi(x_i)) = |(F^2 + x_1^2 + \ldots + x_{p-1}^2)|^{\sigma/2} \phi(\xi) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{p+q-2}).$$
(5)

Using this equation we determine the parallelized actions of the infinitesimal generators of $G = SO_0(p,q)$ in the representation $\pi^{\sigma}(G)$. Our results are compiled in Table I. (Compare the $\mathfrak{su}(2,2) \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ case treated in [11] which is somewhat prototypical of the general case considered here. Definitions and notation for our infinitesmal generators are straightforward generalizations to $SO_0(p,q)$ of those given in [11] which were taken from [13].)

Table 1: Actions of infinitesimal generators of $SO_0(p,q)$ for the representation $\pi^{\sigma}(SO_0(p,q))$ in the flat parallization^{*a*}.

infinitesmal generator	action on $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{p+q-2})$
$L_{0,q+p-1}$	$S + \sigma$
$\mathbf{L}_{i,q+p-1} \ (1 \le i \le p-1)$	$-D\partial_i + \frac{1}{2}x_i(S+\sigma)$
$\mathbf{L}_{j+p-1,q+p-1} \ (1 \le j \le q-1)$	$-D\partial_{j+p-1}-\frac{1}{2}x_{j+p-1}(S+\sigma)$
$\mathbf{L}_{0,i} \ (1 \le i \le p-1)$	$-F\partial_i - \frac{1}{2}x_i(S+\sigma)$
$\mathbf{L}_{0,j+p-1} \ (1 \le j \le q-1)$	$-F\partial_{j+p-1}+\frac{1}{2}x_{j+p-1}(S+\sigma)$
$\mathbf{L}_{i,j+p-1} \ (1 \le i \le p-1, 1 \le j \le q-1)$	$-(x_i\partial_{j+p-1}+x_{j+p-1}\partial_i)$
$\mathbf{L}_{i,k} \ (1 \le i, k \le p-1)$	$-(x_i\partial_k-x_k\partial_i)$
$\mathbf{L}_{j+p-1,\ell+p-1} \ (1 \le j, \ell \le q-1)$	$x_{j+p-1}\partial_{\ell+p-1} - x_{\ell+p-1}\partial_{j+p-1}$

^{*a*} $S = x_1\partial_1 + x_2\partial_2 + \ldots + x_{p-1}\partial_{p-1} + x_p\partial_p + \ldots + x_{p+q-2}\partial_{p+q-2}$ and $\partial_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}$. (For p = 1 the 2nd, 4th, 6th and 7th rows of the Table are vacuous.)

3 The isomorphism $d(\mathfrak{so}(p,q)) \simeq \mathfrak{D}_{p+q-2,1}(\mathbb{R})$

We use the table to construct an isomorphism between $d_{p+q-2,1}(\mathbb{R})$ and an algebraic extension $\widetilde{d(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))}$ of the Lie field $d(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))$ of $\mathfrak{so}(p,q)$, the Lie algebra of $SO_0(p,q)$. We start with $\mathbf{W}_{p+q-2,1}(\mathbb{R}) \simeq \mathbf{W}_{p+q-2} \otimes \mathbb{R}[Y]$ and let $d_{p+q-2,1}(\mathbb{R})$ be its quotient field. Based on the results of the table, we define p+q-2 translation generators and p+q-2 position operators as follows:

$$\mathbf{P}_{i} := -\frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{L}_{0,i} + \mathbf{L}_{i,q+p-1}), \tag{6}$$

$$\mathbf{Q}_i := \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{p+q-2} \mathbf{L}_{i,k} \mathbf{P}^k + (\mathbf{L}_{0,q+p-1} - Y) \mathbf{P}_i \right\} \Box^{-1},$$
(7)

where *i* takes values from 1 to p + q - 2, *Y* commutes with the L_{ij} and

$$\Box = \mathbf{P}_{1}^{2} + \mathbf{P}_{2}^{2} + \ldots + \mathbf{P}_{p-1}^{2} - \mathbf{P}_{p}^{2} - \mathbf{P}_{p+1}^{2} - \ldots - \mathbf{P}_{p+q-2}^{2}.$$
 (8)

The quadratic Casimir operator of $SO_0(p,q)$ is $\mathbf{C}_2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=0}^{p+q-1} \mathbf{L}_{ij} \mathbf{L}^{ji}$. The real Lie algebra $\mathfrak{so}(p,q)$ has a natural involutive automorphism given by $\mathbf{L}_{ij}^{\dagger} = -\mathbf{L}_{ij}$ which extends to an involution on the whole Lie field $d(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))$.

Theorem 1. Let Y be such that $C_2 = \{Y(Y - (p+q-2))\} \cdot I$. Then the P_i and Q_j satisfy

$$[\mathbf{P}_i, \mathbf{Q}_j] = \delta_{ij}, \ [\mathbf{P}_i, \mathbf{P}_j] = 0, \ [\mathbf{Q}_i, \mathbf{Q}_j] = 0.$$
(9)

Define τ such that $\tau(p_i) = \mathbf{P}_i$, $\tau(q_i) = \mathbf{Q}_i$ and $\tau(Y) = Y$. τ can be extended by linearity to all of $\mathfrak{D}_{p+q+2,1}(\mathbb{R})$ to give an isomorphism of Lie fields $\mathfrak{D}_{p+q+2,1}(\mathbb{R}) \simeq \widetilde{\mathfrak{d}}(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))$ where $\widetilde{\mathfrak{d}}(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))$ is $\mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))[Y]/R[Y]$ with R[Y] being the maximal ideal in $\mathfrak{D}(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))[Y]$ generated by the relation $\mathbb{C}_2 - \{Y(Y - (p+q-2))\} \cdot I$. Further let Y satisfy

$$Y + Y^{\dagger} = (p + q - 2) \cdot I; \qquad (10)$$

then the \mathbf{P}_i and \mathbf{Q}_j are skew-symmetric translation generators and symmetric position operators, respectively.

The most difficult part of the proof is in establishing the commutativity of the \mathbf{Q}_i defined by Eq. (7). It involves lengthy computations for which we do not have sufficient space here, and the proof of the theorem will be published elsewhere. Note that the part of the proof establishing that τ is an isomorphism follows easily from the fact that $\mathbf{W}_{p+q-2}(\mathbb{R})$ is simple.

4 Applications

Let $\tau|_{\mathbf{W}_{p+q-2}(\mathbb{R})}$ denote the mapping τ restricted to $\mathbf{W}_{p+q-2}(\mathbb{R})$. Then $\tau|_{\mathbf{W}_{p+q-2}(\mathbb{R})}$ gives an isomorphism from $\mathbf{W}_{p+q-2}(\mathbb{R})$ onto its image in $d(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))$ such that $\tau(p_i) = \mathbf{P}_i$ and $\tau(q_j) = \mathbf{Q}_j$. In order to construct representations of $\mathbf{W}_{p+q-2}(\mathbb{R})$ out of representations of $\mathfrak{U}(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))$ by using τ , we need the following lemma [2]:

Lemma 1. Suppose $f : R \longrightarrow R_1$ is a ring homomorphism and Q is a left (resp. right) quotient ring of R with respect to S. If f(s) is a unit in R_1 for every $s \in S$, then there exists a (unique) ring homomorphism $g : Q \longrightarrow R_1$ which extends f.

(f(s)) is a unit in R_1 means that f(s) is both left and right invertible i.e., $\exists c \in R_1(\text{resp. } b \in R_1)$ such that $cf(s) = I_{R_1}(\text{resp.} f(s)b = I_{R_1})$.)) For us this means that for a given representation $d\pi$ of $\mathfrak{U}(\mathfrak{so}(p,q))$, zero should lie in the resolvent set of $d\pi(\Box)$. Since $-\Box = -\sum_{i=1}^{p+q-2} \mathbf{P}_i \mathbf{P}^i$ is the square of the mass operator, this implies that the spectrum of the mass operator in the representation should be one-sided and bounded from above or below by zero. Likely candidates for such representations of $\mathfrak{so}(p,q)$ are thus positive energy ones. Since positive energy representations of a Lie algebra are associated with invariant cones of positivity in the Lie algebra, we should consider $\mathfrak{so}(p,q)$'s which contain non-trivial invariant cones. A corollary of a well-known theorem of Kostant is the following: *there exists a non-trivial invariant causal cone in a simple Lie algebra* g *if* g *is an hermitian symmetric Lie algebra* [10]. A list of simple hermitian symmetric Lie algebras is given in Helgason [4]. They include: $\mathfrak{so}(2,n)(n > 3)$, $\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{R})$ and $\mathfrak{su}(p,q)$ ($p \ge q \ge 1$). Since $\mathfrak{so}(2,1) \simeq \mathfrak{sp}(1,\mathbb{R})$ and $\mathfrak{so}(2,3) \simeq \mathfrak{sp}(2,\mathbb{R})$, $\mathfrak{so}(p,q)$'s which are simple and hermitian symmetric are $\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(2,q)$ with $q \ge 3$.

The $\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ case is treated in detail in [9]. There we show that it is necessary to go to the four-fold covering group of $SO_0(2,1)$ in order to find representations which satisfy all of the conditions of Theorem 1 and also of Lemma 1, so that on those representation spaces we obtain representations of $\mathbf{W}_1(\mathbb{R})$ with the desired symmetricity properties for the position and momentum operators.

We now describe some analogous results for $\mathfrak{so}(2,q)$ $(q \ge 3)$ involving the representations $d\pi^{\sigma}$. Let V^{σ} denote the representation space of the representation $d\pi^{\sigma}(\mathfrak{so}(2,q))$ introduced in Section 2. A study of the action of SO(2,q) on the $K = SO(2) \times SO(q)$ -types shows that V^{σ} is irreducible, except when p + q even, q > p = 2 and $\sigma = (p+q-2)/2 = q/2$ [7], [14]. If V^{σ} is irreducible, then zero cannot be in the resolvent set of $d\pi^{\sigma}(\Box)$, so we consider only V^{σ} for which q > p = 2, p + q even and $\sigma = (p+q-2)/2 = q/2$. For such σ , we have that V^{σ} decomposes into the direct sum of three irreducible $SO_0(2,q)$ invariant subspaces [7]:

$$V^{\sigma} = V^+ \oplus V^0 \oplus V^-.$$

 V^+ and V^- are positive and negative energy subspaces of V^{σ} and V^0 is the tachyonic subpace (i.e., on V^0 the spectrum of the square of the mass operator is negative). We claim that on V^+ and V^- all of the conditions of Theorem 1 and Lemma 1 are satisfied, so that as in the $\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ case, we have on V^+ and V^- representations of $\mathbf{W}_q(\mathbb{R})$ with skew-symmetric translation generators and symmetric position operators. To see this, we first verify the condition $d\pi^{\sigma}(Y + Y^{\dagger}) = d\pi^{\sigma}(Y) + d\pi^{\sigma}(Y)^{\dagger} = (p+q-2) \cdot I. (d\pi^{\sigma}(Y)^{\dagger}$ is the adjoint of the operator $d\pi^{\sigma}(Y)$.) Now Y is defined by $\mathbf{C}_2 = -\{Y(Y - (p+q-2)\} \cdot I \text{ and for the representation } d\pi^{\sigma}(\mathfrak{so}(2,q))$ with $\sigma = q/2$, we have $d\pi^{\sigma}(\mathbf{C}_2) = q^2/4$ [14]. From this we obtain the equation $d\pi^{\sigma}(Y^2 - qY + \frac{q^2}{4}) = 0$ with solutions $d\pi^{\sigma}(Y) = \pm \frac{q}{2} \cdot I$. So, in order to satisfy the above condition on Y, we take $d\pi^{\sigma}(Y) = +\frac{q}{2} \cdot I = d\pi^{\sigma}(Y)^{\dagger}$.

Finally we must show that on V^+ and \tilde{V}^- the spectrum for the mass operator in $d\pi^{\frac{q}{2}}(\mathfrak{so}(2,q))$ does not include zero and is bounded from above and below by zero, respectively. For simplicity, we consider the case of q = 4 which is completely representative of the general case. For q = 4, we have $K = SO(2) \times SO(4)$ and the decomposition of $V^{\sigma=2}$ into K irreducibles is as follows. Working in the curved parallelization, we introduce a basis of C^{∞} functions on \overline{M} , called the K-finite basis. Denote elements of this basis by $|k\ell mn >$ with k, ℓ, m and n all integers such that $k, \ell \ge 0$ and $-\ell \le m \le \ell$. Let $\mathscr{H}_{n,p} =$ linear span all of $|k\ell mn >$ with $k + \ell = p$ and where $n = p \mod 2$ must be satisfied [11]. Then $V^{\sigma=2} = V^+ \oplus V^0 \oplus V^-$ with [11]

$$V^+ = \sum_{n>p} \mathscr{H}_{n,p}, \quad V^0 = \sum_{|n| \le p} \mathscr{H}_{n,p}, \quad V^- = \sum_{n<-p} \mathscr{H}_{n,p}.$$

Since the spectrum of $i\partial_{\tau}$, where ∂_{τ} is the SO(2) generator, is *n*, we see that the spectrum of $i\partial_{\tau}$ is strictly greater than one for V^+ and strictly less than minus one for V^- . The desired conclusion follows from this along with fact that $(\psi, d\pi^{\sigma}(\mathbf{P}_0)\psi) \ge (\psi, d\pi^{\sigma}(i\partial_{\tau}), \psi)$ on V^+ and $(\psi, d\pi^{\sigma}(\mathbf{P}_0)\psi) \le (\psi, d\pi^{\sigma}(i\partial_{\tau})\psi)$ on V^- [8] where (\cdot, \cdot) is the inner product in the Hilbert space completion of $C^{\infty}(\bar{M})$.

References

- 1. J. Alev, A. Ooms and M. Van den Bergh, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 348 1996, pp. 1709-1716.
- 2. Jacques Dixmier, Enveloping Algebras (North-Holland Publishing, Amsterdam, 1977).
- 3. I. M. Gelfand, A. A. Kirillov, I.H.É.S. Publications mathématiques 31 (1966), pp. 5-19.
- 4. Sigurdur Helgason, *Differential Geometry, Lie Groups and Symmetric Spaces* (Acadamic Press, New York, 1978).
- 5. B. Kostant, in *Differential Geometric Methods in Physics*, ed. K. Bleuler, M. Werner, Series C: Math. and Phys. Sci. **250**, (1988), pp. 65-109.
- 6. B. Kostant, in Progr. Math. 92 (Boston, Birkhäuser, 1990) pp. 85-124.
- 7. V. F. Molchanov, Math. USSR Sbornik, 10, 3, (1970), pp. 333-347.
- 8. P. Moylan, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 462 (2013) 012037 (Available via I.O.P.),
- 9. P. Moylan, in *Lie Theory and Its Applications in Physics*, ed. V.K. Dobrev, Springer Proc. in Math. and Stat. **191** (Springer, Japan, 2016).
- 10. S. M. Paneitz, J. Funct. Anal. 43 (1981), pp. 313-359.
- 11. S. M. Paneitz, I. E. Segal, J. Funct. Anal. 47 (1982), pp. 78-142.
- 12. A. Premet, Inventiones Mathematicae 181 (2) (2010), pp. 395-420.
- I. E. Segal, H. P. Jakobsen, B. Ørsted, S. M. Paneitz, and B. Speh, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sc. USA 78 (1981), pp. 5261-5265.
- 14. R. S. Strichartz, J. Funct. Anal., 12, (1973), pp.341-382.

Quantum isometry groups and Born reciprocity in 3d gravity

Prince K. Osei

Abstract Born reciprocity (or semidualisation) is an algebraic operation defined using quantum group (Lie bialgebra) methods. It is shown that this map provides a way of relating quantum groups that emerge in the application of the combinatorial quantisation programme to the Chern-Simons formulation of 3d gravity. It leads to the interpretation of the semiduality relation bewtween pairs of quantum groups arising from the same classical action as a physical equivalence of associated quantum theories after a suitable exchange of position and momentum degrees of freedom.

1 Introduction

Gravity in three dimensions [8] has become a large research subject area as it provides a fertile testing ground for ideas about quantum gravity in the more physical four dimensions. In particular, it provides a perfect setting for exploring the proposed connection between quantum gravity and noncommutative geometry [10]. Noncommutative spacetime in 3d quantum gravity has been studied in different approaches, see for example [4, 12, 14, 16, 19, 31] and [30] for a recent account. Any deformation of either the geometry into a noncommutative version or of the isometry group into a Hopf algebra are equivalent. Our focus here is to explore the role of Hopf algebras as tools that one can easily use in this framework.

The first aim of this talk is to give an account of the various physical and mathematical interpretations of Born reciprocity applied to Hopf algebras (Lie bialgebras) in the context of 3d gravity [17, 25, 26]. It turns out that it provides an equivalence relation between quantum groups that arise in the combinatorial quantisation of the Chern-Simons formulation of 3d gravity.

Prince K. Osei

Perimeter Institute, Waterloo, Canada. e-mail: posei@perimeterintitute.ca

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_41

2 Classical 3d gravity and geometric structures

The solutions to Einstein equations in 3d are locally isometric to certain model spacetimes which are completely determined by the signature of spacetime and the sign (or vanishing) of the cosmological constant Λ . The isometry groups of these model spacetimes are local isometries of 3d gravity. The structures of the corresponding isometry groups G_{λ} for the various values of Λ are summarised in Table 1. The family of Lie algebras that arise as isometry Lie algebras in 3d gravity is

Λ	Euclidean ($c^2 < 0$)	Lorentzian ($c^2 > 0$)
$\Lambda = 0$ $\Lambda > 0$ $\Lambda < 0$	$ISO(3) = SU(2) \bowtie \mathbb{R}^{3}$ $SO(4) \cong \frac{(SU(2) \rtimes SU(2))}{\mathbb{Z}_{2}}$ $SO(3,1) \cong \frac{SL(2,\mathbb{C})}{\mathbb{Z}_{2}}$	$ISO(2,1) = SU(1,1) \bowtie \mathbb{R}^3$ $SO(3,1) \cong SL(2,\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{Z}_2$ $SO(2,2) \cong \frac{(SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \times SL(2,\mathbb{R}))}{\mathbb{Z}_2}$

Table 1: Local isometry groups in 3d gravity.

denoted by \mathfrak{g}_{λ} . The Lie bracket of \mathfrak{g}_{λ} is

$$[J_a, J_b] = \varepsilon_{abc} J^c, \quad [J_a, P_b] = \varepsilon_{abc} P^c, \quad [P_a, P_b] = \lambda \varepsilon_{abc} J^c, \tag{1}$$

where J_a , a = 0, 1, 2 are the generators of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of so(3) or so(2, 1) and the metric $\eta_{ab} = \eta^{ab}$, is the Euclidean metric diag(1, 1, 1) or the Lorentzian metric diag(1, -1, -1) with $\varepsilon_{012} = \varepsilon^{012} = 1$. The Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_{λ} admits a two-parameter family of symmetric Ad-invariant bilinear non-degenerate forms [22, 23, 32]. The most general such inner product is given by the linear combination

$$(\cdot, \cdot)_{\tau} = \alpha(\cdot, \cdot)_s + \beta(\cdot, \cdot)_t,$$
 (2)

in terms of two real parameters α, β . The form (2) is non-degenerate provided $\tau \overline{\tau} = \alpha^2 - \lambda \beta^2 \neq 0$, where $\tau = \alpha + \theta \beta \in R_\lambda$, $\theta^2 = \lambda$ and R_λ is a commutative ring obtained from \mathbb{R}^2 with the usual addition and λ -dependent multiplication law [23].

3 Chern-Simons formulation of **3d** gravity and combinatorial quantisation

Our interest here is the Chern-Simons action with the most general inner product (2) [5, 23, 24]. Consider a three 3d manifold M^3 of the product topology $\mathbb{R} \times \Sigma$, where Σ is an oriented two dimensional manifold, possibly with handles and punctures (Physically, Σ represents 'space' and the puncture particles). The gauge field of Chern-Simons theory is locally a one-form A on the spacetime with values in the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_{λ} . In terms of the generators J_a and P_a , it is given by $A = \omega_a J^a + e_a P^a$,

where $\omega = \omega^a J_a$ is the spin connection on the frame bundle and the one-form e_a as a dreibein. The curvature of this connection combines the Riemann curvature *R*, the torsion *T* and a cosmological term, see [23] for details.

The Chern-Simons action for the gauge field A is

$$I_{\tau}(A) = \int_{M} (A \wedge dA)_{\tau} + \frac{1}{3} (A \wedge [A, A])_{\tau}.$$
 (3)

The equations of motion which follow from the general action is the flatness condition for the Cartan connection,

$$F = dA + A \wedge A = 0. \tag{4}$$

Integrating by parts and ignoring boundary terms, we identify the term proportional to α as the usual Einstein-Hilbert action for 3d gravity with a cosmological constant and the β term as a non-gravitational term dual to the gravitational one. One can make contact with the physical constants of 3d gravity via the identification $\alpha = \frac{1}{16\pi G}$, $\lambda = -c^2 \Lambda$, where G is Newton's constant in 2+1 dimensions, c is the speed of light and taken to be imaginary in the case of Euclidean signature.

The flatness condition (4) implies that the phase space of 3d gravity on M^3 in the Chern-Simons framework can be characterised by the space of flat G_{λ} -connections on M^3 , modulo gauge transformations. Indeed, the phase space is the moduli space of flat G_{λ} -connections on Σ equipped with the so called Atiyah-Bott symplectic structure defined in terms of (2) [32]. The application of the combinatorial quantisation programme to the Chern-Simons formulation of 3d gravity [1-3, 7, 20, 21, 28]has provided a systematic way of studying the role of quantum groups and noncommutative geometry in 3d quantum gravity. The starting and most crucial point of this construction is a description of the Poisson structure on an extended classical phase space in terms of a classical r-matrix (a solution of the classical Yang-Baxter equation(CYBE)) [9,15]. This description, originally formulated by Fock and Rosly [11], requires that the *r*-matrix contain the information of the inner product used in defining the Chern-Simons action in a compatible way. More precisely, an r-matrix is compatible with a Chern-Simons action if it satisfies the CYBE and if its symmetric part is equal to the Casimir associated to the Ad-invariant, non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form (2) used in defining the Chern-Simons action. These r-matrices are also known to be the classical limit of universal quantum R-matrices associated to certain quantum groups [29]. These quantum groups are deformations of the classical isometry groups and thus natural candidates for the quantum isometry groups of 3d quantum gravity. Classical *r*-matrices therefore provide a bridge between Chern-Simons theory and Hopf algebras allowing the Hopf algebras to emerge in a natural way.

The resulting quantum picture is a deformation of the model spacetimes into non-commutative spaces, a replacement of the local isometry groups with quantum isometry groups (QIGs). Table 2 gives the list of relevant QIGs. Again, we refer to the review [29] for a detailed discussion and further references on the precise
Λ	Euclidean ($c^2 < 0$)	Lorentzian $(c^2 > 0)$
$ \begin{aligned} \Lambda &= 0 \\ \Lambda &> 0 \\ \Lambda &< 0 \end{aligned} $	$\begin{array}{l} D(U(\mathfrak{su}(2)))\\ D(U_q(\mathfrak{su}(2))), q \text{ root of unity}\\ D(U_q(\mathfrak{su}(2))), q \in \mathbb{R} \end{array}$	$egin{aligned} & D\left(U(\mathfrak{su}(1,1)) ight)\ & D\left(U_q(\mathfrak{su}(1,1)) ight) q\in\mathbb{R}\ & D\left(U_q(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})) ight), q\in U(1) \end{aligned}$

Table 2: Quantum isometry groups in 3d gravity.

description of the classical phase space, the construction of the physical Hilbert space and the role of the QIGs.

The compatibility requirement of Fock and Rosly's described above does not uniquely specify the classical *r*-matrices. Other solutions are possible and known. If one takes the relevant Casimir operator for the 'gravitational' bilinear form $\alpha(\cdot, \cdot)_s$ $K_t = \alpha^{-1}(J_a \otimes P^a + P_a \otimes J^a)$, it is known that [22, 28], the class of compatible *r*matrices whose associated quantum groups are displayed in Table 2 (except for the case $\Lambda > 0$) is given by

$$r_D = 2\alpha^{-1} (P_a \otimes J^a + \varepsilon_{abc} n^a J_b \otimes J^c), \quad n_a n^a = -\lambda.$$
(5)

This equips the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_{λ} with the structure of the classical double or double cross sum. However, in the Lorentzian case with vanishing cosmological constant for example, besides the double *r*-matrix which comes from the family (5), there is also the *r*-matrix [22, 23],

$$r_{B_0} = 2\alpha^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{2} (P_a \otimes J^a + J_a \otimes P^a) + \varepsilon_{abc} m^a (P^b \otimes J^c + J^b \otimes P^c) \right), \quad \mathbf{m}^2 = -1.$$
⁽⁶⁾

This endows the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} with a bicross sum structure. The associated quantum group for the double *r*-matrix in this case is the quantum double $D(U(\mathfrak{su}(1,1)))$ while that of (6) is the bicrossproduct or κ -Poincaré quantum group

$$\mathbb{C}[AN(2)] \triangleright \triangleleft_{s} U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})).$$

Consequently for each classical *r*-matrix which satisfies Fock-Rosly compatibility requirement, the associated quantum group is an equally valid candidate and, therefore, the associated quantum groups are equally valid contenders for the role of quantum isometry groups. For a detailed and general construction of the most general *r*-matrix compatible with the generalised Casimir K_{τ} associated to the inner product (2), we refer the reader to a forthcoming paper [27].

The big picture here is to understand the set of all possible QIGs which arise in in 3d gravity via the combinatorial quantisation procedure and how they are mathematically and physically related. A key observation made in [25] is that the class of compatible *r*-matrices are related by twisting. The combinatorial quantisation procedure can therefore be viewed as defining an equivalence class of QIGs, with equivalence essentially given by twisting.

4 Born reciprocity in 3d gravity

A profound feature of the quantum groups in the family of quantum doubles and bicrossproduct quantum groups associated with 3d quantum gravity turns out to be related by a map called semidualisation or Born reciprocity. In physical terms, this map can be interpreted as the exchange of position and momentum degrees of freedom. This was discovered in [17] in the Euclidean setting and elaborated and extended to the Lorentzian setting in [25]. It was also studied at the infinitesimal Lie bialgebra level in [26]. A mathematically precise version of these ideas is contained in the book [15]. Majid's approach is in turn stimulated by Born's proposal of a reciprocity between momenta and positions [6].

Consider a Hopf algebra H which factorizes into two sub-Hopf algebras built on $H_1 \otimes H_2$ as a vector space and viewed as a double crossproduct Hopf algebra $H_1 \bowtie H_2$. This induced the actions $\triangleright : H_2 \otimes H_1 \rightarrow H_1$ and $\triangleleft : H_2 \otimes H_1 \rightarrow H_2$ of each Hopf algebra on the vector space of the other. We say that one has a matched pair of interacting Hopf algebras. On the other hand, given such a matched pair (H_1, H_2) , one can reconstruct the associated double crossproduct $H_1 \bowtie H_2$ from these actions. There is a canonical covariant left action of $H_1 \bowtie H_2$ on H_2^* (the dual of H_2) as an algebra. The Drinfeld quantum double $D(H) = H \bowtie H^{*op}$ can be seen as an example of a double crossproduct. The semidual of the associated matched pair data is obtained by dualising the data containing H_2 to give the bicrossproduct Hopf algebra $H_2^* \blacktriangleright dH_1$ which covariantly acts on H_2 from the right as an algebra. Again, we refer to the book [15] for a comprehensive treatment. Observe that both the quantum double and the bicrossproduct quantum group can be obtained by semidualising two different sets of matched pair data resulting from factors of the same Hopf algebra.

Physically, for a quantum group built from factors (in our context momentum and rotations) acting on some space (position space), the semidual of the data can then thought of as a map which exchanges the position and momentum degrees of freedom. For example, in the semidual of the universal enveloping algebra of the Euclidean Lie algebra $U(\mathfrak{su}(2)) \bowtie \mathbb{R}^3$, one keeps the angular momentum generators and replaces momenta (which generate translations in space) by position coordinates (which generate translations in momentum space) to obtain the bicrossproduct Hopf algebra $(\mathbb{R}^*)^3 \bowtie U(\mathfrak{su}(2))$. Another interpretation of semiduality at the Hopf algebra level is to interpret both the original and the semidual generators in the same way, but to think of semiduality as a map between different regimes.

Consider now Table 3 which provides a list of the local isometry groups arising in 3d gravity with some corresponding matched pairs of right crossproducts or double crossproducts. In Table 4 we list the corresponding semiduals of the universal enveloping algebras of the Lie algebras for the groups and factorisation given in Table 3. For example, in the Lorentzian case and with $\lambda > 0$, semidualisation of $U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})) \rtimes U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))$ gives the quantum double $D(U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))) = \mathbb{C}(SL(2,\mathbb{R})) \gg U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))$. The notation \blacktriangleright_d_s , \blacktriangleright_d_l and \blacktriangleright_d_l for the left-right bicrossproducts with spacelike, lightlike and timelike deformations respectively. We refer to [25] for further details.

	Euclidean ($c^2 < 0$)	Lorentzian ($c^2 > 0$)
$\lambda = 0$ $\lambda > 0$	$\widetilde{E}_3 = SU(2) \bowtie \mathbb{R}^3$ $\widetilde{SO}(4) = SU(2) \bowtie SU(2)$	$\widetilde{P}_{3} = \begin{cases} SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \bowtie \mathbb{R}^{3} \\ SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \bowtie AN(2) \\ \widetilde{SO}(2,2) = \begin{cases} SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \bowtie SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \\ SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \bowtie SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \end{cases}$
$\lambda < 0$	$SL(2,\mathbb{C}) = SU(2) \bowtie AN(2)$	$SL(2,\mathbb{C}) = SL(2,\mathbb{R}) \bowtie_t AN(2)$

Table 3: Local isometry groups in 3d gravity and their factorisations.

Table 4: Semiduals of local isometry groups in 3d gravity.

	Euclidean ($c^2 < 0$)	Lorentzian ($c^2 > 0$)
$\lambda = 0$	$(\mathbb{R}^*)^3 > U(\mathfrak{su}(2))$	$(\mathbb{R}^*)^3 ightarrow U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))$
1	$D(H(-\langle 2 \rangle))$	$\mathbb{C}(AN(2)) \blacktriangleright_l U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))$
$\lambda > 0$	$D(U(\mathfrak{su}(2)))$	$D(U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})))$ $\mathbb{C}(AN(2)) \searrow U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))$
$\lambda < 0$	$\mathbb{C}(AN(2)) \blacktriangleright U(\mathfrak{su}(2))$	$\mathbb{C}(AN(2)) \bowtie_{s} \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))$ $\mathbb{C}(AN(2)) \bowtie_{t} \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))$

Semidualisation is defined for Lie bialgebras which are double cross sums $\mathfrak{g} \bowtie \mathfrak{m}$, where $\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{g}$ are Lie bialgebras with \mathfrak{m} being a left \mathfrak{g} -module Lie algebra and \mathfrak{g} a right \mathfrak{m} -module Lie coalgebra obeying certain compatibility conditions. In the semidual Lie bialgebra, the Lie bialgebra \mathfrak{m} is replaced by its \mathfrak{m}^* and leads to the bicross sum $\mathfrak{m}^* \triangleright \triangleleft \mathfrak{g}$. At this infinitesimal Lie bialgebra level, the interpretation of semidualisation is essentially the exchange of degrees of freedom discussed above. The bicross sum $\mathfrak{m}^* \triangleright \triangleleft \mathfrak{g}$ is coboundary and its classical *r*-matrix can easily be obtained. We refer to [15] for details.

The application to double cross sum decompositions of the local isometry Lie algebras arising in 3d gravity, semidualisation yields the main class of non-trivial *r*-matrices for the Euclidean and Poincaré group in three dimensions. In addition, the construction links the *r*-matrices with the Bianchi classification of three dimensional real Lie algebras [26].

5 Conclusion and prospects

It remains a substantial and significant challenge to flush out the detailed picture sketched here and to clarify the quantisation ambiguities in the application of the combinatorial quantisation procedure. A starting point would be to understand the structure of all possible QIGs that can arise in this construction and how they are related. To the best of our knowledge, the quantum groups that emerge are either quantum doubles or bicrossproducts and these semiduals of one another. Thus precise relation between any pair of quantum groups associated to the same action (and

thus to the same set of physical parameters) is provided by Born reciprocity. One could therefore give the interpretation that semiduality relations between different quantum groups can generally be interpreted as a physical equivalence of associated quantum theories after a suitable exchange of position and momentum degrees of freedom. It turns out that in the context of 3d gravity, the bicrossproduct quantum group and the quantum double are indeed mathematically related by a Drinfel'd twist [18]. Thus, the combinatorial quantisation procedure does not define the QIGs uniquely but rather, it defines an equivalence class of quantum groups, with equivalence essentially given by Drinfel'd and module algebra twist. We refer to a forth coming paper [18] for further details.

Note also that in the application of semiduality to the local isometry groups, we start off with match pairs whose factorisation depends on the cosmological constant. However, after semidualisation the cosmological constant becomes a deformation parameter which is related to Planck mass. This leads to the interpretation of semiduality as the exchange of the cosmological length scale and the Planck mass in the context of 3d quantum gravity. In order to see the cosmological constant in the semidual regime, one has to q-deform the universal enveloping algebras of the isometry Lie algebras before applying the Born reciprocity map. We refer to [17,25] for details. At the infinithesimal Lie bialgebra level, it is conceivable that the semiduality could be used to classify of 6-dimensional Lie algebras.

Acknowledgements I thank the Perimeter Institute and the Fields Institute for funding this research. I am also grateful to the University of Ghana for their support.

References

- 1. A. Y. Alekseev, H. Grosse and V. Schomerus, Combinatorial quantization of the Hamiltonian Chern-Simons Theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 172 (1995) 317–358.
- A. Yu. Alekseev, H. Grosse and V. Schomerus, Combinatorial quantization of the Hamiltonian Chern-Simons Theory II, Commun. Math. Phys. 174 (1995) 561–604.
- A. Yu. Alekseev and V. Schomerus, Representation theory of Chern-Simons observables, Duke Math. Journal 85 (1996) 447–510.
- 4. E. Batista and S. Majid, Noncommutative geometry of angular momentum space $U(su_2)$, J. Math. Phys. 44 (2003) 107–137.
- 5. V. Bonzom and E. R. Livine, A Immirzi-like parameter for 3d quantum gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 25 (2008) 195024, arXiv:0801.4241 [gr-qc].
- M. Born, A suggestion for unifying quantum theory and relativity, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 165 (1938) 291.
- 7. E. Buffenoir, K. Noui and P. Roche, Hamiltonian Quantization of Chern-Simons theory with $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ Group, Class. Quant. Grav. 19 (2002) 4953.
- S. Carlip, Quantum gravity in 2+1 dimensions, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- 9. V. Chari and A. Pressley, A guide to quantum groups, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.
- S. Doplicher, K. Fredenhagen, J. E. Roberts, The Quantum structure of space-time at the Planck scale and quantum fields, Commun. Math. Phys. 172 (1995) 187–220.;

- 11. V. V. Fock and A. A. Rosly, Poisson structures on moduli of flat connections on Riemann surfaces and *r*-matrices, Am. Math. Soc. Transl. 191 (1999) 67–86; math.QA/9802054.
- 12. L. Freidel and E. R. Livine, Effective 3d quantum gravity and non-commutative quantum field theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 221301; arXiv:hep-th/0512113.
- 13. L. Freidel, K. Noui and P. Roche, 6J symbols duality relations., J. Math. Phys. 48 (2007) 113512, arXiv: hep-th/0604181.
- E. Joung, J. Mourad, and K. Noui, Three dimensional quantum geometry and deformed symmetry J. Math. Phys. 50 (2009) 052503.
- 15. S. Majid, Foundations of quantum group theory, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000.
- 16. S. Majid and H. Ruegg, Bicrossproduct structure of the κ -Poincaré group and noncommutative geometry, Phys. Lett. B334 (1994) 348–354.
- S. Majid and B. J. Schroers, q-deformation and semi-dualisation in 3d quantum gravity, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 425402.
- 18. S. Majid and P. K. Osei, Quaistriangular structure and twisting of the 2+1 bicrossproduct model, in preparation.
- H. J. Matschull, On the relation between (2+1) Einstein gravity and Chern-Simons Theory, Class. Quant. Grav. 16 (1999) 2599–2609.
- 20. C. Meusburger and B. J. Schroers, Poisson structure and symmetry in the Chern-Simons formulation of (2+1)-dimensional gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003) 2193–2233.
- 21. C. Meusburger and B. J. Schroers, The quantisation of Poisson structures arising in Chern-Simons theory with gauge group $G \ltimes \mathfrak{g}^*$, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2004) 1003–1043.
- 22. C. Meusburger and B. J. Schroers, Quaternionic and Poisson-Lie structures in 3d gravity: the cosmological constant as deformation parameter, J. Math. Phys. 49 (2008) 083510.
- C. Meusburger and B. J. Schroers, Generalised Chern-Simons actions for 3d gravity and κ-Poincaré symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 806 (2009) 462–488.
- E. W. Mielke and P. Baekler, Topological Gauge Model Of Gravity With Torsion, Phys. Lett. A 156 (1991), 399.
- P. K. Osei and B. J. Schroers, On Semiduals of local isometry groups in 3d gravity, J. Math. Phys. 53, (2012) 073510, arxiv: 1109.4086v3 [gr-qc].
- P. K. Osei and B. J. Schroers, Classical r-matrices via semidualisation, J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013) 101702.
- 27. P. K. Osei and B. J. Schroers, Classical r-matrices for 3d gravity, in preparation.
- B. J. Schroers, Combinatorial quantisation of Euclidean gravity in three dimensions, in: N. P. Landsman, M. Pflaum, M. Schlichenmaier (Eds.), *Quantization of singular symplectic quotients*, Progress in Mathematics, Vol. 198, 307–328, Birkhäuser 2001; math.qa/0006228.
- B. J. Schroers, Lessons from (2+1)-dimensional quantum gravity, Proceedings PoS (QG-Ph) 035 for workshop *From Quantum to Emergent Gravity: Theory and Phenomenology*, Trieste, 2007; see also arXiv:0710.5844 [gr-qc].
- B. J. Schroers, Quantum gravity and non-commutative spacetimes in three dimensions: a unified approach, talk given at 'Geometry and Physics in Cracow', Cracow 2010, Acta Phys. Pol. B Proceedings Supplement vol. 4 (2011) 379–402.
- G. 't Hooft, Quantisation of point particles in 2+1 dimensional gravity and space-time discreteness, Class. Quant. Grav. 13 (1996) 1023–1039.
- E. Witten, 2+1 dimensional gravity as an exactly soluble system, Nucl. Phys. B 311 (1988) 46–78.

A new procedure for constructing basis vectors of irreducible representations of SU(3) under the $SU(3) \supset SO(3)$ basis

Feng Pan, K. D. Launey, and J. P. Draayer

Abstract An effective algebraic angular momentum projection procedure for constructing basis vectors of an irreducible representation of the Lie group SU(3) under the non-canonical SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2) basis from those of the canonical U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1) basis is outlined. The expansion coefficients are components of the nullspace vectors of a projection matrix with, in general, four nonzero elements in each row, where the projection matrix is derived from known matrix elements of the U(3) generators in the canonical basis. The advantage of the new procedure lies in the fact that the Hill-Wheeler integral involved in Elliott's projection operator method used previously is avoided, thereby achieving faster numerical calculations with improved accuracy. However, the Gram-Schmidt orthonormalization is still needed in order to provide orthonormalized basis vectors.

1 Introduction

The non-canonical group chain $SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2)$ has been useful in nuclear shell-model calculations since the pioneering work of Elliott [1, 2]. In Elliott's model, the essential rotational features of the Bohr-Mottelson collective model can be well reproduced in a shell-model framework by introducing the quadrupole-quadrupole interaction within a three-dimensional harmonic oscillator mean-field [1, 2], where the quadrupole operators are generators of SU(3), while the angular momentum operators are generators of its subgroup SO(3). The SU(3) \supset SO(3) basis has been adopted in many studies due to its importance [4–6].

F. Pan

K. D. Launey and J. P. Draayer

Department of Physics, Liaoning Normal University, Dalian 116029, China, e-mail: daipan@dlut.edu.cn

Department of Physics and Astronomy, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA 70803-4001, USA, e-mail: kristina@phys.lsu.edu, draayer@sura.org

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_42

SU(3) and other unitary groups are also useful in quantum interferometry [3]. In both nuclear shell-model calculations and quantum interferometry, the dimension of an irreducible representation (irrep) of SU(3) can be huge and may approach the classical asymptotic limits. In [1,2], the basis vectors of $SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2)$ are projected from a specific (extremal) $SU(3) \supset SU(2) \otimes U(1)$ state by using the angular momentum projection, which are often called the Elliott states [7]. Based on these studies, the practical algorithm for calculating various coupling coefficients of SU(3), including those of SU(3) \supset SO(3), has been formulated [8]. An optimized code for generating Clebsch-Gordan (CG) coefficients of SU(3)⊃SO(3) based on vector coherent state theory [9] has also been developed [10]. In the above mentioned codes, the original Elliott-Harvey angular momentum projection is adopted. The main complexities in practical calculations are two-fold. One of them lies in the fact that these calculations use a projection operator constructed by integration of the product of the rotational group element and its matrix element (Wigner's Dfunction) of a given angular momentum over the Euler angles. While the projection formalism can be straightforwardly implemented in computer codes, it needs to address challenges related to the accuracy and computing time for evaluating coupling coefficients of $SU(3) \supset SO(3)$, because of the use of the Hill-Wheeler integral [11]. The other difficulty is related to the fact that the Elliott states are non-orthogonal, and to calculate overlaps of the Elliott states needed in many cases is also time consuming.

Very recently, we proposed a simple and effective angular momentum projection procedure [12] to construct the non-canonical $O(5) \supset O(3)$ basis vectors of an irrep from the basis vectors of $O(5) \supset O_1(3) \otimes U(1)$. We observe that the canonical $U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1)$ basis plays a similar role of $U(5) \supset U(3) \otimes U(2)$ used to construct the basis vectors of an irrep of $O(5) \supset O(3)$. Thus, it should also be possible to construct $SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2)$ basis vectors of an irrep directly from those of the irrep under the $U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1)$ basis with a similar simpler algebraic formalism.

2 Canonical and non-canonical bases of SU(3)

The generators of U(N) can be denoted by $\{E_{ij}\}$ $(1 \le i, j \le N)$ satisfying the following commutation and Hermitian conjugation relations:

$$[E_{ij}, E_{lk}] = \delta_{jl} E_{ik} - \delta_{ik} E_{lj}, \quad (E_{ij})^{\dagger} = E_{ji}.$$

$$\tag{1}$$

There is an obvious subgroup U(N-1) of U(N) generated by $\{E_{ij}\}$ $(1 \le i, j \le N-1)$. Thus, one gets the canonical chain of U(N) with U(N) \supset U(N-1) $\supset \cdots \supset$ U(2) \supset U(1), for which basis vectors of an irrep were constructed first by Gel' fand and Zetlin [13], and then discussed by many others in various ways [14]. The reduction U(N) \downarrow U(N-1) for any N \ge 2 is multiplicity-free. By removing the first order algebraic invariant (Casimir operator), $C_1(U(N)) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{ii}$, which is obviously commutative with all generators $\{E_{ij}\}$ $(1 \le i, j \le N)$ of U(N), the remaining $N^2 - 1$ generators generate SU(N). Let $[v_1, v_2, ..., v_N]$, where $v_1, v_2, ..., v_N$ are positive integers obeying $v_1 \ge v_2 \ge ... \ge v_N$, be an irrep of U(N). It is well known that an irrep $[v_1 + m, v_2 + m, ..., v_N + m]$, where $m \ge -v_N$ is an integer, and $[v_1, v_2, ..., v_N]$ have the same dimension and the representation matrices of any element of U(N) for these two irreps differ only by an overall phase factor. Therefore, for the SU(3) case, an irrep can be denoted by $[n'_{13}, n'_{23}, n'_{33}] \equiv [n_{13} = n'_{13} - n'_{33}, n_{23} = n'_{23} - n'_{33}, 0]$, where $[n'_{13}, n'_{23}, n'_{33}]$ is used to label the corresponding irrep of U(3), where n_{i3} are zero or integers obeying the betweenness condition $n_{13} \ge n_{23} \ge 0$. Incidentally, for the (λ, μ) labels of an SU(3) irrep used in the Elliott model, the relation is $(\lambda, \mu) = (n_{13} - n_{23}, n_{23}) = (n'_{13} - n'_{23}, n'_{23} - n'_{33})$. Therefore, the irrep denoted as $[n_{13}, n_{23}]$ of SU(3) is also the irrep $[n_{13}, n_{23}, 0]$ of U(3). The general (canonical) basis vectors of the irrep $[n_{13}, n_{23}, n_{33}]$ of U(3) under the basis U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1) may be denoted by [13],

$$\begin{array}{c} [n_{13}, n_{23}, n_{33}] \\ [n_{12}, n_{22}] \\ n_{11} \end{array} \right\rangle, \tag{2}$$

with the betweenness conditions: $n_{13} \ge n_{12} \ge n_{23} \ge n_{22} \ge n_{33}$, $n_{12} \ge n_{11} \ge n_{22}$.

The matrix representations of U(N) in the canonical basis are well-known [13]. It can be observed that the matrix elements of the generators $\{E_{ij}\}$ $(1 \le i, j \le 3)$ are all given in functions of two-number differences among the six quantum numbers n_{ij} $(1 \le i \le j \le 3)$ satisfying the betweenness conditions of (2). One can check that there is an exact correspondence between the basis vectors of U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1):

$$\begin{vmatrix} [n_{13}, n_{23}, n_{33}] \\ [n_{12}, n_{22}] \\ n_{11} \end{vmatrix} \rangle = \begin{vmatrix} [n_{13} - n_{33}, n_{23} - n_{33}, 0] \\ [n_{12} - n_{33}, n_{22} - n_{33}] \\ n_{11} - n_{33} \end{vmatrix} \rangle,$$
(3)

under which the matrix representations of U(3) are the same.

After a linear transformation, the generators of SU(3) can also be expressed in its non-canonical basis, i.e., in the SU(3) \supset SO(3) basis, with generators given by

$$L_{0} = E_{11} - E_{22}, \ L_{+} = \sqrt{2}(E_{13} + E_{32}), \ L_{-} = (L_{+})^{\dagger} = \sqrt{2}(E_{31} + E_{23}),$$

$$Q_{2} = E_{12}, \ Q_{1} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}(E_{32} - E_{13}), \ Q_{0} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{6}}(E_{11} + E_{22} - 2E_{33}),$$

$$Q_{-1} = -(Q_{1})^{\dagger} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}(E_{31} - E_{23}), \ Q_{-2} = (Q_{2})^{\dagger} = E_{21},$$
(4)

where $\{L_+, L_-, L_0\}$ are generators of the subgroup SO(3), which may be identified as the angular momentum operators satisfying the usual commutation relations:

$$[L_0, L_{\pm}] = \pm L_{\pm}, \ [L_+, L_-] = 2L_0, \tag{5}$$

and Q_u (u = 2, 1, ..., -2) are quadrupole (moment) operators realized in the Elliott model for nuclei.

3 Basis vectors of an irrep of SU(3) under the SU(3) SO(3) basis

The basis vector (2) is also an eigenstate of L_0 with eigenvalue $M = 2n_{11} - n_{12} - n_{22}$. For a given irrep $[n_{13}, n_{23}, 0]$ of U(3) [or SU(3)], all possible basis vectors of it under the U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1) basis shown in (2) restricted by the betweenness conditions form a complete set. Therefore, the SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2) basis vectors can be expanded in terms of the basis vectors of U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1) with the restriction on the SO(2) quantum number $M = 2n_{11} - n_{12} - n_{22}$. In order to find all basis vectors of U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1) of the irrep $[n_{13}, n_{23}]$ of SU(3) with fixed M, it suffices to consider all possible irreps $[n_{12}, n_{22}]$ of U(2) embedded in the canonical chain satisfying the betweenness conditions of (2) for this case. Practically, we only need to construct the highest weight state of SO(3) with M = L.

According to the restriction $M = 2n_{11} - n_{12} - n_{22}$ and the betweenness conditions of (2), we find that all possible basis vectors within the U(3) irrep $[n_{13}, n_{23}, 0]$ and with $M = k \ge 0$ are given as follows:

$$\begin{vmatrix} [n_{13}, n_{23}, 0] \\ [k+2q-t, t] \\ k+q \end{vmatrix} \rangle,$$
(6)

where

$$0 \le k \le n_{13}, \ 0 \le t \le n_{23}, \operatorname{Max}\left[t, \operatorname{IntM}\left[\frac{1}{2}(t-k+n_{23})\right]\right] \le q \le \operatorname{Int}\left[\frac{1}{2}(n_{13}-k+t)\right],$$
(7)

in which Int[x] is the integer part of *x*, and IntM[x] is the largest integer closest to *x* defined by

$$IntM[x] = \begin{cases} Int[x] + 1 & \text{if } x - Int[x] > 0, \\ Int[x] & \text{if } x - Int[x] = 0. \end{cases}$$
(8)

The basis vector of $SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2)$ for the SO(3) highest-weight state may be expanded in terms of (6) as

$$\left| \begin{array}{c} [n_{13}, n_{23}] \\ \zeta \ L = M = k \end{array} \right\rangle = \sum_{t=0}^{n_{23}} \sum_{q=\text{Max}[t, \text{IntM}[\frac{1}{2}(t-k+n_{23})]]}^{\text{Int}[\frac{1}{2}(n_{13}-k+t)]} c_{qt}^{(\zeta)}([n_{13}, n_{23}, 0], L) \left| \begin{array}{c} [n_{13}, n_{23}, 0] \\ [k+2q-t, t] \\ k+q \end{array} \right\rangle, \tag{9}$$

where *L* is the angular momentum quantum number, ζ is the multiplicity label needed in the reduction $[n_{13}, n_{23}] \downarrow L$, and $\{c_{qt}^{(\zeta)} \equiv c_{qt}^{(\zeta)}([n_{13}, n_{23}, 0], L)\}$ are the expansion coefficients, which must satisfy

$$\sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}L_{+} \left| \begin{array}{c} [n_{13}, n_{23}] \\ \zeta \ L = M = k \end{array} \right\rangle = (E_{13} + E_{32}) \left| \begin{array}{c} [n_{13}, n_{23}] \\ \zeta \ L = M = k \end{array} \right\rangle = 0.$$
(10)

By using the explicit matrix elements shown in [13], Eq. (10) can be written as

$$\sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}L_+ \left| \begin{array}{c} [n_{13}, n_{23}] \\ \zeta \ L = M = k \end{array} \right\rangle =$$

A new procedure for constructing basis vectors under the SU(3) \supset SO(3) basis

$$\begin{split} &= \sum_{t,q} \left\{ c_{q,t}^{(\zeta)} \left[\frac{(k+q-t+1)(n_{13}-k-2q+t)(k+2q-t-n_{23}+1)(k+2q-t+2)}{(k+2q-2t+1)(k+2q-2t+2)} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} + \\ &+ c_{q+1,t}^{(\zeta)} \left[\frac{(q-t+1)(n_{13}-k-2q+t-1)(k+2q-t-n_{23}+2)(k+2q-t+3)}{(k+2q-2t+2)(k+2q-2t+3)} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} + \\ &+ c_{q+1,t+1}^{(\zeta)} \left[\frac{(k+q-t+1)(n_{13}-t+1)(n_{23}-t)(t+1)}{(k+2q-2t+1)(k+2q-2t+2)} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} - \\ &- c_{q,t-1}^{(\zeta)} \left[\frac{(q-t+1)(n_{13}-t+2)(n_{23}-t+1)t}{(k+2q-2t+2)(k+2q-2t+3)} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\} \left| \begin{bmatrix} n_{13}, n_{23}, 0 \\ k+q+1 \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle = 0, \end{split}$$

which, thus, leads to the following four-term relation to determine the expansion coefficients $\{c_{a,t}^{(\zeta)}\}$:

$$0 = c_{q,t}^{(\zeta)} \left[\frac{(k+q-t+1)(n_{13}-k-2q+t)(k+2q-t-n_{23}+1)(k+2q-t+2)}{k+2q-2t+1} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} + c_{q+1,t}^{(\zeta)} \left[\frac{(q-t+1)(n_{13}-k-2q+t-1)(k+2q-t-n_{23}+2)(k+2q-t+3)}{k+2q-2t+3} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} + (12) + c_{q+1,t+1}^{(\zeta)} \left[\frac{(k+q-t+1)(n_{13}-t+1)(n_{23}-t)(t+1)}{k+2q-2t+1} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} - c_{q,t-1}^{(\zeta)} \left[\frac{(q-t+1)(n_{13}-t+2)(n_{23}-t+1)t}{k+2q-2t+3} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

One can thus construct a matrix equation of (12) with

$$\mathbf{P}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k) \mathbf{c}^{(\zeta)} = \Lambda \mathbf{c}^{(\zeta)}, \tag{13}$$

where $\mathbf{c}^{(\zeta)} \equiv \mathbf{c}^{(\zeta)}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$. Entries of the matrix $\mathbf{P}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$ can easily be read from Eq. (12), which will be called the projection matrix. The components of the eigenvector $\mathbf{c}^{(\zeta)}$ corresponding to $\Lambda = 0$ provide the expansion coefficients ${c_{q,t}^{(\zeta)}}$ of (9). Once the matrix $\mathbf{P}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$ is constructed, it can be verified that the number of $\Lambda = 0$ solutions of Eq. (13) for sufficiently large n_{13} equals exactly to the number of rows of $\mathbf{P}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$ with all entries zero. However, some entries of $\mathbf{P}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$ will be zero or become complex for some specific values of n_{13} and n_{23} . In such cases, a nonzero solution of $\{c_{q,t}^{(\zeta)}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)\}$ does not exist. Actually, the eigenvectors $\mathbf{c}^{(\zeta)}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$ belong to the null space of $\mathbf{P}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$. Namely, components of the ζ -th vector in the null space of $\mathbf{P}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$ determined by (13) are the corresponding expansion coefficients $\mathbf{c}^{(\zeta)}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$ of the basis vector of SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2) with L = k in terms of the basis vectors of the canonical chain of U(3) needed in (9). Since there are many ways currently available to find null-space vectors of a matrix, to find solutions of Eq. (13) with $\Lambda = 0$ becomes practically easy. Furthermore, the SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2) basis vectors (9) constructed from the expansion coefficients obtained according to (12) are also non-orthogonal with respect to the multiplicity label ζ . The Gram-Schmidt process may be adopted in order to construct orthonormalized basis vectors of $SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2)$. Thus, the multiplicity of L = k for the given irrep $[n_{13}, n_{23}]$ is given by the number of linearly independent null space vectors of $\mathbf{P}([n_{13}, n_{23}], k)$.

4 Summary

In this paper, an effective angular momentum projection to construct basis vectors of an irrep of SU(3) under the SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2) basis from those of the canonical U(3) \supset U(2) \supset U(1) basis is outlined. We show that the expansion coefficients can be obtained as components of the null-space vectors of a projection matrix, for which, in general, there are only four nonzero elements in each row. There are currently available well-optimized algorithms for computing the null-space vectors of a matrix. Hence, to evaluate the expansion coefficients for the $SU(3) \supset SO(3) \supset SO(2)$ basis in terms of the basis of the canonical chain becomes more practical than Elliott's projection operator method. Since the expansion coefficients are components of null-space vectors of the projection matrix, there is always arbitrariness in choosing these vectors [12]. Therefore, the null-space vectors are not orthogonal in general. The Gram-Schmidt orthonormalization is still needed in order to obtain orthonormalized basis vectors. It will be our next work to compile a code for calculating SO(3)-reduced matrix elements of the SU(3) generators and coupling coefficients of $SU(3) \supset SO(3)$ according to the new projection method proposed in this paper. We can then check the runtime and compare it with other existing codes using Elliott's projection operator method, from which the efficiency of the new method can then be actually revealed.

Acknowledgements Support from the U.S. National Science Foundation (OCI-0904874, ACI-1516338), U.S. Department of Energy (DE-SC0005248), the Southeastern Universities Research Association, the China-U.S. Theory Institute for Physics with Exotic Nuclei (CUSTIPEN) (DE-SC0009971), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (11375080), and the LSU–LNNU joint research program (9961) is acknowledged.

References

- 1. J. P. Elliott, Proc. R. Soc. London A 245, 562 (1958); 272, 557 (1963).
- 2. J. P. Elliott and M. Harvey, Proc. R. Soc. London A 272, 557 (1963).
- 3. M. Reck, A. Zeilinger, H. J. Bernstein, P. Bertani, Phys. Rev. Lett. 73, 58 (1994).
- 4. M. Moshinsky, J. Patera, R. T. Sharp, P. Winternitz, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 95, 139 (1975).
- 5. T. Dytrych, K. D. Sviratcheva, C. Bahri, J. P. Draayer, and J. P. Vary, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 162503 (2007).
- 6. T. Dytrych, K. D. Launey, J. P. Draayer, P. Maris, J. P. Vary, E. Saule, U. Çatalyürek, M. Sosonkina, D. Langr, and M. A. Caprio, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111**, 252501 (2013).
- 7. J. P. Draayer, D. L. Pursey, and S. A. Williams, Nucl. Phys. A 119 (1968) 577.
- 8. Y. Akiyama and J. P. Draayer, Compt. Phys. Commun. 5, 405 (1973).
- 9. D. J. Rowe, C. Bahri, J. Math. Phys. 41, 6544 (2000).
- 10. C. Bahri, D. J. Rowe, and J. P. Draayer, Compt. Phys. Commun. 159, 121 (2004).
- 11. D. L. Hill and J. A. Wheeler, Phys. Rev. 89, 1102 (1953).
- 12. F. Pan, L. Bao, Y.-Z. Zhang, and J. P. Draayer, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 129, 169 (2014).
- 13. L. M. Gel'fand and M. L. Zeitlin, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. 71, 825; 1017 (1950).
- 14. J. D. Louck, J. Math. Phys. 6, 1786 (1965).

Massive Dirac field in 3D and induced equations for higher spin fields

L. Bonora, M. Cvitan, P. Dominis Prester, S. Giaccari, B. Lima de Souza and T. Štemberga

Abstract On the example of the free massive Dirac in flat three-dimensional spacetime, we show how the linearised equations of motion for higher spin fields can be obtained from the induced action by coupling higher spin fields to conserved currents. The result is important because a classical analysis leads to many different formulations of free higher spin equations, and not all of them are expected to be a good starting point for introduction of interactions. Our result breaks the degeneracy. We express the results by using a metric-like description for higher spin fields, in which the equations of motion can be elegantly written in generic form that is valid for all spins.

L. Bonora

International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA), Via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy, e-mail: bonora@sissa.it

M. Cvitan

Theoretical Physics Division of Particles and Fields, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb, Bijenička 32, HR-10000 Zagreb, Croatia e-mail: mcvitan@phy.hr

P. Dominis Prester

Department of Physics, University of Rijeka, Radmile Matejčić 2, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia, e-mail: pprester@phy.uniri.hr

S. Giaccari

Theoretical Physics Division of Particles and Fields, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb, Bijenička 32, HR-10000 Zagreb, Croatia e-mail: sgiaccari@phy.hr

B. Lima de Souza

International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA), Via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy, e-mail: blima@sissa.it

T. Štemberga

Theoretical Physics Division of Particles and Fields, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb, Bijenička 32, HR-10000 Zagreb, Croatia e-mail: tstember@phy.hr

 $[\]ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_43

1 Introduction

Constructing interacting QFT's with fundamental massless higher spin (HS) fields (with spin s > 2) in $D \ge 4$ spacetime dimensions presents an interesting challenge. On the one hand, we know how to construct free QFT's with such fields, and we know that free QFT's of lower-spin fields contain conserved HS currents which simply beg to be coupled with corresponding HS fields. On the other hand, there are obstacles and stringent constraints, some of them in the form of no-go theorems, which, however, can be by-passed, e.g., by going to (A)dS spacetime or using higher-derivative couplings. Knowing that lower integer spin cases describe the known fundamental forces (s = 1 electroweak and strong, and s = 2 gravitation) the challenge could be of utmost importance.

The uncertainty about how to couple the HS field φ to matter fields ψ (fields with s < 2) already starts from the choice of the equation of motion (EOM) for *free* HS fields. The standard approach, which is a straightforward generalisation of the lower spin cases, is Fronsdal's formulation [1] in which free spin-*s* higher spin field $\varphi_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s}(x)$ is the symmetric rank-*s* tensor satisfying the Fronsdal equation¹

$$\mathscr{F} \equiv \Box \varphi - \partial \partial \cdot \varphi + \partial^2 \varphi' = 0 \tag{1}$$

where prime on the HS field denotes a single trace (contraction of one pair of spacetime indices). The Fronsdal equation is invariant under the gauge transformations

$$\delta \varphi_{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_s} = s \,\partial_{(\mu_1} \Lambda_{\mu_2 \cdots \mu_s)} \tag{2}$$

if Λ is traceless. In Fronsdal's formulation the field φ propagates only free massless spin-*s* excitations.

Let us also mention the Maxwell-like formulation in which the EOM is

$$\mathscr{M} \equiv \Box \varphi - \partial \partial \cdot \varphi = 0 \tag{3}$$

where gauge symmetry is constrained by the condition $\partial \cdot \Lambda = 0$. In the Maxwelllike formulation, the field φ propagates excitations of spins s, s - 2, s - 4, ...

Before starting to construct interacting theories with HS fields, one should take the following observations, related to the linearised theory, into account. (i) We have seen that in both formulations mentioned above, the gauge group is restricted, in the sense that the gauge parameter field is constrained in some way. This happens in all formulations of free HS fields with equations which are 2nd order in derivatives. As restricting the gauge group is not something we like to do, because it usually leads to problems after quantisation, it is more promising to formulate the free theory such that it obeys the unconstrained gauge symmetry (2). In fact, one can achieve this by introducing compensator fields in the equations of motion, but with the consequence of making the equations either higher-order in derivatives, or nonlocal [2]. Eqs. (1) and (3) can be recovered by gauge fixing. (ii) The spin 1 and 2 cases strongly suggest

¹ We shall focus here on higher spin fields with integer spin.

that the expressions may be complicated and in the form of infinite series, without using a covariant formulation (which in the spin-2 case is the Riemann geometry). We do not know the full covariant formulation, which reflects the fact that we do not have a satisfactory understanding of the HS gauge structure. However, there is a promising linearised covariant, metric-like, description developed in [3–5], which is a rather straightforward generalisation of the spin 1 and 2 cases. Using the metric-like description, the EOMs in Fronsdal's and Maxwell-like formulations, with a special choice for compensator fields α and D, can be written as [6]:

$$R'_{\mu_{s-2}\nu_s} = 0 \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \mathscr{F} = \partial^3 \alpha \tag{4}$$

$$\partial \cdot R_{\mu_{s-1}\nu_s} = 0 \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \mathscr{M} = 2 \,\partial^2 D,$$
(5)

where *R* is the rank-2*s* tensor field, of *s*-th order in derivatives, known as a linearised spin-s Riemann tensor. By taking the trace and gradient of the equations above, one arrives at alternative formulations of free HS theories, adding to degeneracy [6]. (iii) As we already noted, there are many different formulations of the free higher spin field EOM, presumably not all giving a good starting point for introducing interactions. For example, in the spin-2 case, Fronsdal equation (1) is the linearisation of the equation $R_{\mu\nu} = 0$, so it is a better starting point than (3). We need a method, or at least a hint, which we can use to make a correct choice. (iv) For spin $s \ge 2$, one can anticipate, based on the s = 2 example, that the full (nonlinear) gauge structure is non-abelian. However, in the lowest order we expect that the coupling to matter is accomplished by linearly coupling to the current in a way that does not introduce spurious excitations, which typically means that the current should be conserved, $\partial \cdot J = 0$. This forces a condition on the linearised HS field EOM, which is not satisfied by the metric-like EOM's (4) and (5).² In the spin-2 case, we know the way out: instead of using $R_{\mu\nu} = 0$ as a free EOM, one should use $G_{\mu\nu} = 0$, where $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the linearised Einstein tensor, which is divergence-free at the linearised level. The idea is to generalise this to HS fields.

In the rest of the paper we show how induced action may resolve these issues.

2 Induced action

The method we use is to couple HS fields, as background fields, to conserved HS currents in free QFT with "normal" matter (spin 0 and 1), and calculate the quantum effective action (i.e., the induced action) in the IR region. We assume that as is the case for spins 1 and 2, all relevant structures of the HS theories, should appear in the induced action. We performed calculations in d = 3 spacetime dimensions, but we believe that the result can be straightforwardly generalised to $d \ge 4$.

² Candidates of HS EOM which allow linearised coupling to the matter were constructed in [7]. However, the construction is rather involved and leaves a lot of degeneracy.

We shall demonstrate our method by using as a matter field two-component massive Dirac field $\psi(x)$ in the flat three dimensional spacetime, which we assume to be quantised. The free field Lagrangian is³

$$\mathscr{S}_0 = \int d^3x \,\bar{\psi}(x) (i\gamma^\mu \partial_\mu - m) \psi(x). \tag{6}$$

This theory possess conserved currents of any spin. They are given by (integer spins)

$$J_{\mu_{1}\cdots\mu_{s}}^{(0)} = i^{s-1}\bar{\psi}\gamma_{\mu}\sum_{j=0}^{\left[\frac{s-1}{2}\right]} \frac{(u_{\mu}-v_{\mu})^{s-2j-1}\left(2w\,\eta_{\mu\mu}-4u_{\mu}v_{\mu}\right)^{j}}{(2j+1)!\left(s-2j-1\right)!}\,\psi\tag{7}$$

where

$$u_{\mu} \equiv \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} \qquad , \qquad v_{\mu} \equiv \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\mu} \qquad , \qquad w \equiv u^{\mu}v_{\mu} - m^2.$$
 (8)

For spin-1, one gets U(1) current, and for spin-2, the energy-momentum tensor.

The existence of the conserved currents suggests the possibility of coupling the Dirac field to the background HS field. Our goal is to calculate a corresponding effective (or induced) action and EOM for HS field. Now, we do not know the exact way how to consistently construct such a coupling, but if we are interested only in the linearised induced EOM (LIEOM), then it is given by⁴

$$\langle\langle J_{\mu_{1}\cdots\mu_{s}}^{(s)}(x)\rangle\rangle_{\rm lin} = i \int d^{d}y \,\langle 0|\, T\left\{J_{\mu_{1}\cdots\mu_{s}}^{(s)}(x)J_{\nu_{1}\cdots\nu_{s}}^{(s)}(y)\right\}|0\rangle_{\rm d.f.}\,\varphi_{\nu_{1}\cdots\nu_{s}}(y),\tag{9}$$

where "d.f" denotes divergence-free part of the 2-point correlator. We have calculated this 2-point correlator, using dimensional regularisation, up to s = 10, and the detailed results will be presented in [10].

3 Spin-3 case

The spin-3 current 2-point correlator was calculated in [8]. By using this result in (9), one obtains in the IR region

$$\langle \langle J_{\mu\mu\mu}(x) \rangle \rangle_{\text{lin}} = |m| \left[\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} a_r \left(\frac{\Box}{m^2} \right)^r \right] \partial^{\alpha} F_{\alpha\mu\mu\mu} + \frac{1}{|m|} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} c_r \left(\frac{\Box}{m^2} \right)^r \right] (\eta_{\mu\mu} \Box - \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\mu}) \partial^{\alpha} F_{\alpha\mu}$$
(10)
$$+ m|m| \left[\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} b_r \left(\frac{\Box}{m^2} \right)^r \right] G_{\mu\mu\mu} + \frac{m}{|m|} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} d_r \left(\frac{\Box}{m^2} \right)^r \right] C_{\mu\mu\mu},$$

³ This theory is not parity invariant, as parity changes the sign of the mass term.

⁴ For even spins there are also "cosmological constant" contributions, which we ignore here.

where a_r , b_r , c_r , d_r are some numerical coefficients (which are all nonvanishing for r = 0) and the symmetrisation in μ indices is understood. The tensor $F_{\alpha\mu\nu\rho}$ is obtained from the spin-3 Ricci tensors (tracings of spin-3 Riemann tensor)

$$F_{\alpha\mu\nu\rho} \equiv R'_{\alpha(\mu\nu\rho)} - \frac{1}{2}R''_{\alpha(\mu}\eta_{\nu\rho)} = \partial_{[\alpha}\Big(\mathscr{F}_{(\mu]\nu\rho)} - \frac{1}{2}\mathscr{F}_{(\mu]}\eta_{\nu\rho)}\Big), \qquad (11)$$

and has the following properties:

$$\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\alpha}F_{\alpha\mu\nu\rho} = 0 \qquad , \qquad F^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha\nu\rho} = 0, \tag{12}$$

which is prompting us to call it the spin-3 field strength tensor. The tensor $G_{\mu\nu\rho}$ is the "dual" of the Riemann tensor, while $C_{\mu\nu\rho}$ is the generalised Cotton tensor. Both tensors are symmetric and divergence-free, and the Cotton tensor is also traceless.

The parity-even sector of (10), which consists of the first two terms, is 4th-order and higher in derivatives, while the parity-odd sector, is 3rd-order and higher. Note that the parity-odd sector now also contains two tensorially independent terms.

In the IR limit (lowest-derivative order) one gets

$$\langle \langle J_{\mu\nu\rho}(x) \rangle \rangle_{\text{linIR}} = a_0 |m| \partial^{\alpha} F_{\alpha\mu\nu\rho} + b_0 m |m| G_{\mu\nu\rho}$$
(13)

The form is similar to the spin-1 case, however, there are important differences some of which we have already noted above. The parity even part has the structure of the traced covariantised Maxwell-like formulation (5) (where replacing the Ricci tensor $R'_{\alpha\mu\nu\rho}$ by $F_{\alpha\mu\nu\rho}$ guarantees conservation). In the parity-odd sector, the leading term is not the Cotton tensor, which in the spin 1 and 2 cases follows from a Chern-Simons Lagrangian term, but the $G_{\mu\nu\rho}$ tensor which is *not conformal*. In the spin 1 and 3 cases, there is only one tensorially independent parity-odd term, which then trivially must be the Cotton tensor.

4 General spin

We have calculated the HS current 2-point correlators up to s = 10, and full results will be presented in [10]. There are [s/2] + 1 independent tensorial structures in the parity-even sector, and [(s+1)/2] in the parity-odd sector. The IR limit, in symbolic notation, is given by

$$\begin{split} \hat{J}^{(\mathrm{IR})}_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{s}\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{s}}(k) &= ia_{s} \left| m \right|^{2\left\lfloor \frac{s}{2} \right\rfloor - 1} k^{2\left\lceil \frac{s}{2} \right\rceil} (\pi_{\mu\nu}^{2} - \pi_{\mu\mu}\pi_{\nu\nu})^{\left\lfloor \frac{s}{2} \right\rfloor} \pi_{\mu\nu}^{s \bmod 2} \\ &+ b_{s} m \left| m \right|^{2\left\lceil \frac{s}{2} \right\rceil - 3} k^{2\left\lceil \frac{s-1}{2} \right\rceil} (\pi_{\mu\nu}^{2} - \pi_{\mu\mu}\pi_{\nu\nu})^{\left\lfloor \frac{s-1}{2} \right\rfloor} \pi_{\mu\nu}^{(s-1) \bmod 2} (k \cdot \varepsilon)_{\mu\nu} \end{split}$$

where a_s and b_s are some numerical coefficients. The first term is parity-even and the second is parity-odd. We used the standard projector $\pi_{\mu\nu}(k) \equiv \eta_{\mu\nu} - k_{\mu}k_{\nu}/k^2$.

Plugging this into (9), and expressing the result in the metric-like formulation, one gets for the IR limit of LIEOM

$$\langle\langle J_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s}\rangle\rangle_{\text{linIR}} = a_s |m|^{s-2} \partial^{\nu} \varepsilon_{\nu\rho(\mu_1} G^{\rho}{}_{\mu_2\cdots\mu_s)} + b_s m |m|^{s-2} G_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s} \quad (s \text{ odd}) \quad (14)$$

$$\langle\langle J_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s}\rangle\rangle_{\text{linIR}} = a_s |m|^{s-1} G_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s} + b_s m |m|^{s-3} \partial^{\nu} \varepsilon_{\nu\rho(\mu_1} G^{\rho}{}_{\mu_2\cdots\mu_s)} \quad (s \text{ even}) \quad (15)$$

where $G_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s}$ is the symmetric divergence-free "dual" of the Riemann tensor

$$G_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s} \equiv \varepsilon_{\mu_1\nu_1\rho_1}\cdots\varepsilon_{\mu_s\nu_s\rho_s} R^{\nu_1\rho_1\cdots\nu_s\rho_s} \qquad , \qquad \partial^{\mu_1}G_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_s} = 0. \tag{16}$$

We see that LIEOM, in the metric-like formulation, has the same form for all spins, but that parity-odd and even sectors get interchanged when passing from odd to even spins. The parity-even part for odd spins is similar to the (multiply traced) Maxwell-like formulation (5), while for even spins, it is similar to the (multiply traced) Ricci-like formulation (4). The conserved tensor *G* for even spins plays the role of the Einstein tensor, while for odd spins it contributes to the parity-odd sector.

5 Conclusion and outlook

The idea we put forward is that induced action can be a useful tool for constructing higher-spin actions. We have shown that by assuming a standard minimal linear coupling of the background higher-spin field to the conserved current in a free QFT, the induced action gives us the form of the linearised equations of motion for higher spin fields, and thus resolves the degeneracy found in the literature. This suggests that by going to higher order (i.e., higher-point correlators), one may gain an important understanding about the nonlinear higher-spin structure, or find anomalies forbidding such couplings.

Acknowledgements The research has been supported by the Croatian Science Foundation under project No. 8946 and by the University of Rijeka under the research support No. 13.12.1.4.05.

References

- 1. C. Fronsdal, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 3624.
- D. Francia and A. Sagnotti, Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003) S473 [Comment. Phys. Math. Soc. Sci. Fenn. 166 (2004) 165] [PoS JHW 2003 (2003) 005] [hep-th/0212185].
- 3. B. de Wit and D. Z. Freedman, Phys. Rev. D 21 (1980) 358.
- 4. T. Damour and S. Deser, Annales Poincaré Phys. Theor. 47 (1987) 277.
- 5. M. Henneaux, S. Hörtner and A. Leonard, JHEP (2016) 2016: 73. hep-th:1511.07389.
- 6. D. Francia, Class.Quant.Grav. 29 (2012) 245003, arXiv:1209.4885 [hep-th].
- 7. D. Francia, J. Mourad and A. Sagnotti, Nucl. Phys. B 773 (2007) 203 [hep-th/0701163].
- L. Bonora, M. Cvitan, P. Dominis Prester, B. Lima de Souza and I. Smolić, JHEP (2016) 2016: 72 doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2016)072 [arXiv:1602.07178 [hep-th]].
- L. Bonora, M. Cvitan, P. Dominis Prester, S. Giaccari, B. Lima de Souza and T. Štemberga, JHEP (2016) 2016: 84. doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2016)084 arXiv:1609.02088 [hep-th].
- L. Bonora, M. Cvitan, P. Dominis Prester, S. Giaccari, B. Lima de Souza and T. Štemberga, in preparation.

Current algebra for a generalized two-sites Bose-Hubbard model

Gilberto N. Santos Filho

Abstract I present a current algebra for a generalized two-sites Bose-Hubbard model and use it to get the quantum dynamics of the currents. Different choices of the Hamiltonian parameters yield different dynamics. The current algebra is isomorphic to the SO(3)-algebra of the angular momentum. Using the wave functions I discuss the symmetries of the system. The Hamiltonian has one conserved quantity, the total number of atoms N, that is related to its global U(1) gauge symmetry. The \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is associated with the parity of the wave function and is related to the parity of N. I generalize the Heisenberg equation of motion to write the second time derivative of any operator.

1 Introduction

Since the first experimental verification of the Bose-Einstein condensation (BEC) [1–3] occurred more than seven decades after its theoretical prediction [4, 5], a great deal of progress has been made in the theoretical and experimental study of this many-body physical phenomenon [6, 7]. Looking in this direction, a laser was used in an experiment to divide a BEC into two parts to study the interference phenomenon between two BECs [8,9]. These two BECs can be coupled by Josephson's tunnelling [10, 11] with atoms transiting between the condensates in the same way Cooper's pairs go through a Josephson junction in a superconductor. This system is equivalent to a two-wells system with the particles tunnelling across a barrier between the wells. To study this system a model, known as the *canonical Josephson Hamiltonian*, was proposed by Leggett [7]. Since then many models have been used to study the BECs such as the quantum dynamics of the tunnelling of atoms between the two condensates, the entanglement, the quantum phase transitions and

Gilberto N. Santos Filho

Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas - CBPF

Rua Dr. Xavier Sigaud, 150, Urca, Rio de Janeiro - RJ - Brazil. e-mail: gfilho@cbpf.br

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_44

the quantum metrology [12–16]. The algebraic Bethe ansatz method has been used to solve and study some of these models [17–22]. I will consider here a generalized issue of the models [7, 20] by introducing on-well energies and leaving free choice for the interaction parameters that also permits the study of the tunnelling between two condensates with atoms of different species (different chemical elements) or atoms in different states in each condensate. The on-well energies are determined as the internal states of atoms in the condensates, by the kinetic energies and interaction of the atoms and/or the external potentials. I will study in this work the current algebra and the quantum dynamics of the currents for this model using a generalization of the Heisenberg equation of motion that makes it possible to write the second time derivative of the current operators. The generalized model is described by the Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} K_{ij} \hat{N}_{i} \hat{N}_{j} - \sum_{i=1}^{2} (U_{i} - \mu_{i}) \hat{N}_{i} - \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{2} \Omega_{ij} \hat{a}_{i}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{j},$$
(1)

where $\hat{a}_i^{\dagger}(\hat{a}_i)$ denote the single-particle creation (annihilation) operators and $\hat{N}_i = \hat{a}_i^{\dagger}\hat{a}_i$ are the corresponding boson number operators in each condensate. The boson operator total number of particles, $\hat{N} = \hat{N}_1 + \hat{N}_2$, is a conserved quantity, $[\hat{H}, \hat{N}] = 0$. The couplings K_{ij} , with $K_{ij} = K_{ji}$ ($i \neq j$), provides the interaction strength between the bosons and they are proportional to the *s*-wave scattering length, Ω_{ij} are the amplitude of tunnelling, μ_i are the external potentials and $U_i = K_{ii} - \kappa_i$ are the on-well energies per particle, with κ_i the kinetic energies in each condensate.

2 Symmetries

The Hamiltonian (1) is invariant under the \mathbb{Z}_2 mirror transformation $\hat{a}_j \rightarrow -\hat{a}_j, \hat{a}_j^{\dagger} \rightarrow -\hat{a}_j^{\dagger}$, and under the global U(1) gauge transformation $\hat{a}_j \rightarrow e^{i\alpha}\hat{a}_j$, where α is an arbitrary *c*-number and $\hat{a}_j^{\dagger} \rightarrow e^{-i\alpha}\hat{a}_j^{\dagger}$, j = 1, 2. For $\alpha = \pi$, we get again the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. The global U(1) gauge invariance is associated with the conservation of the total number of atoms $\hat{N} = \hat{N}_1 + \hat{N}_2$ and the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is associated with the parity of the wave function by the relation $\hat{P} |\Psi\rangle = (-1)^N |\Psi\rangle$, where \hat{P} is the parity operator, $[\hat{H}, \hat{P}] = 0$, and

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{N} C_{n,N-n} \frac{(\hat{a}_{1}^{\dagger})^{n}}{\sqrt{n!}} \frac{(\hat{a}_{2}^{\dagger})^{N-n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}} |0,0\rangle.$$
(2)

There is also the permutation symmetry of the atoms of the two wells if we have $U_1 - \mu_1 = U_2 - \mu_2$ and $\Omega_{12} = \Omega_{21}$. When we have $U_1 - \mu_1 \neq U_2 - \mu_2$ or $\Omega_{12} \neq \Omega_{21}$ we break the symmetry. The wave function (2) is symmetric under this permutation

Current algebra for a generalized two-sites Bose-Hubbard model

$$\hat{\mathscr{P}} |\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{N} C_{N-n,n} \frac{(\hat{a}_{1}^{\dagger})^{N-n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}} \frac{(\hat{a}_{2}^{\dagger})^{n}}{\sqrt{n!}} |0,0\rangle = |\Psi\rangle,$$
(3)

where $\hat{\mathscr{P}}$ is the permutation operator and $[\hat{H}, \hat{\mathscr{P}}] = 0$ if $\Delta U = \Delta \mu$ and $\Omega_{12} = \Omega_{21}$.

3 Current algebra

The quantum dynamics of any operator \hat{O} in the Heisenberg picture is determined by the Heisenberg equation of motion

$$\frac{d\hat{O}}{dt} = \frac{i}{\hbar} [\hat{H}, \hat{O}]. \tag{4}$$

The boson operator total number of particles, $\hat{N} = \hat{N}_1 + \hat{N}_2$, is a conserved quantity, $[\hat{H}, \hat{N}] = 0$, and it is commutable compatible operator (CCO) with the number operators of bosons in each well, $[\hat{N}, \hat{N}_1] = [\hat{N}, \hat{N}_2] = [\hat{N}_1, \hat{N}_2] = 0$. These, in addition, do not commute with the Hamiltonian and their time evolution is determined by the Josephson tunnelling current operator,

$$\hat{\mathscr{J}} = \frac{1}{2i} (\hat{a}_1^{\dagger} \hat{a}_2 - \hat{a}_2^{\dagger} \hat{a}_1), \tag{5}$$

in coherent opposite phases because of the conservancy of \hat{N} , with

$$[\hat{H}, \hat{N}_1] = +2i\Omega \hat{\mathscr{J}}, \quad [\hat{H}, \hat{N}_2] = -2i\Omega \hat{\mathscr{J}}, \tag{6}$$

and

$$\hat{N}_{1}(t) = \hat{N}_{1}(t_{0}) - 2\frac{\Omega}{\hbar} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \hat{\mathscr{J}}(\tau) d\tau, \quad \hat{N}_{2}(t) = \hat{N}_{2}(t_{0}) + 2\frac{\Omega}{\hbar} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \hat{\mathscr{J}}(\tau) d\tau.$$
(7)

Hereafter and in the Eqs. (6) and (7) above, we will consider $\Omega_{12} = \Omega_{21} = \Omega$.

The tunnelling current \hat{j} together with the imbalance current operator

$$\hat{\mathscr{I}} = \frac{1}{2}(\hat{N}_1 - \hat{N}_2), \tag{8}$$

and the coherent correlation tunnelling current operator

$$\hat{\mathscr{T}} = \frac{1}{2} (\hat{a}_1^{\dagger} \hat{a}_2 + \hat{a}_2^{\dagger} \hat{a}_1), \tag{9}$$

generate the current algebra

$$\left[\hat{\mathscr{T}},\hat{\mathscr{J}}\right] = +i\hat{\mathscr{I}}, \quad \left[\hat{\mathscr{T}},\hat{\mathscr{I}}\right] = -i\hat{\mathscr{J}}, \quad \left[\hat{\mathscr{J}},\hat{\mathscr{I}}\right] = +i\hat{\mathscr{T}}.$$
 (10)

With the identification $\hat{L}_x \equiv \hbar \hat{\mathscr{T}}$, $\hat{L}_y \equiv \hbar \hat{\mathscr{J}}$ and $\hat{L}_z \equiv \hbar \hat{\mathscr{I}}$ we can write it in the standard compact way of the angular momentum

$$[\hat{L}_k, \hat{L}_l] = i\hbar \varepsilon_{klm} \hat{L}_m, \tag{11}$$

where ε_{klm} is the antisymmetric Levi-Civita tensor with k, l, m = x, y, z and $\varepsilon_{xyz} = +1$.

We have two Casimir operators for this current algebra. One of them is the total number of particles, $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_1 = \hat{N}$, related to the U(1) symmetry and the other is related to the angular momentum algebra and the O(3) symmetry, $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_2 = \hat{\mathcal{T}}^2 + \hat{\mathcal{J}}^2 + \hat{\mathcal{J}}^2$.

We can show that $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_2$ is just a function of $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_1$,

$$\hat{\mathscr{C}}_2 = \frac{\hat{\mathscr{C}}_1}{2} \left(\frac{\hat{\mathscr{C}}_1}{2} + 1 \right).$$
 (12)

The Casimir operators $\hat{\mathscr{C}}_1$ and $\hat{\mathscr{C}}_2$, the boson number of particles in each well \hat{N}_1 , \hat{N}_2 , and the imbalance current operator, $\hat{\mathscr{I}}$, are CCO and so they have the same set of eigenfunctions and can simultaneously have well defined values

$$\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{2}|n_{1},n_{2}\rangle = \frac{N}{2} \left(\frac{N}{2} + 1\right) |n_{1},n_{2}\rangle \text{ and } \hat{\mathscr{I}}|n_{1},n_{2}\rangle = \frac{1}{2} (n_{1} - n_{2}) |n_{1},n_{2}\rangle.$$
(13)

We also can use the realization of the SU(2) algebra

$$\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{\pm} = \frac{1}{\hbar} (\hat{L}_x \pm i \hat{L}_y), \quad \hat{\mathscr{L}}_z = \frac{1}{\hbar} \hat{L}_z, \tag{14}$$

with the commutation relations

$$[\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{z}, \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{\pm}] = \pm \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{\pm}, \quad [\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{+}, \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{-}] = 2\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{z}, \tag{15}$$

that we can write as

$$[\hat{\mathscr{L}}_k, \hat{\mathscr{L}}_l] = \varepsilon_{kl-}\hat{\mathscr{L}}_+ + \varepsilon_{kl+}\hat{\mathscr{L}}_- + 2\varepsilon_{zkl}\hat{\mathscr{L}}_z, \tag{16}$$

with k, l = z, +, - and $\varepsilon_{z+-} = +1$.

The SU(2) algebra has three Casimr operators, $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_1$, $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_3$ and $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_4$, with

$$\hat{\mathscr{C}}_3 = \hat{\mathscr{L}}_+ \hat{\mathscr{L}}_- + \hat{\mathscr{L}}_z^2 - \hat{\mathscr{L}}_z$$
 and $\hat{\mathscr{C}}_4 = \hat{\mathscr{L}}_- \hat{\mathscr{L}}_+ + \hat{\mathscr{L}}_z^2 + \hat{\mathscr{L}}_z$. (17)

We can show that these Casimir operators are equal to \hat{C}_2 . In the deformed SU(2) and O(3) algebras they are different [23].

Using the commutation relations of the currents (10), it is easy to calculate the anticommutators

$$[\hat{\mathcal{T}}, \hat{\mathscr{I}}]_{+} = 2\hat{\mathscr{I}}\hat{\mathcal{T}} - i\hat{\mathscr{J}}, \ [\hat{\mathcal{T}}, \hat{\mathscr{J}}]_{+} = 2\hat{\mathscr{J}}\hat{\mathscr{T}} + i\hat{\mathscr{I}}, \ [\hat{\mathscr{J}}, \hat{\mathscr{I}}]_{+} = 2\hat{\mathscr{I}}\hat{\mathscr{J}} + i\hat{\mathscr{T}}.$$
(18)

We will use these anticommutators together with the commutators (10) in calculating quantum dynamics of the currents.

4 Quantum dynamics of currents

We can rewrite the Hamiltonian (1) using those currents operators

$$\hat{H} = \alpha \hat{\mathscr{I}}^2 + \beta \hat{\mathscr{C}}_1 \hat{\mathscr{I}} - 2\Omega \hat{\mathscr{I}} + \frac{\hat{\mathscr{C}}_1}{2} \left(\frac{\hat{\mathscr{C}}_1}{2} \rho + \xi \right), \tag{19}$$

where

$$\alpha = K_{11} - 2K_{12} + K_{22}, \qquad \beta = K_{11} - K_{22},$$

$$\rho = K_{11} + 2K_{12} + K_{22}, \qquad \xi = 2(\mu_1 - U_1).$$

The quantum dynamics of the currents (5), (8) and (9) is determined by the current algebra, their commutation relations with the Hamiltonian and the parameters. We can use the Heisenberg equation of motion (4) to write the second time derivative of any operator \hat{O} in the Heisenberg picture as

$$\frac{d^2\hat{O}}{dt^2} = \left(\frac{i}{\hbar}\right)^2 [\hat{H}, [\hat{H}, \hat{O}]] \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{d^2\hat{O}}{dt^2} = \frac{i}{\hbar} [\hat{H}, \frac{d\hat{O}}{dt}]. \tag{20}$$

Using any of the Eqs. (20), we found the following equations for the quantum dynamics of the currents

$$\frac{d^2\hat{\mathscr{I}}}{dt^2} + 4\frac{\Omega^2}{\hbar^2}\hat{\mathscr{I}} = -4\frac{\Omega\alpha}{\hbar^2}\hat{\mathscr{I}}\hat{\mathscr{T}} + 2i\frac{\Omega\alpha}{\hbar^2}\hat{\mathscr{I}} - 2\frac{\Omega\beta}{\hbar^2}\hat{\mathscr{C}}_1\hat{\mathscr{T}}, \qquad (21)$$

$$\frac{d^{2}\hat{\mathscr{J}}}{dt^{2}} + \frac{1}{\hbar^{2}} \left[\alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} \hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1}^{2} + 4\Omega^{2} \right] \hat{\mathscr{J}} = -4 \frac{\alpha^{2}}{\hbar^{2}} \hat{\mathscr{I}}^{2} \hat{\mathscr{J}} - 2i \frac{\alpha^{2}}{\hbar^{2}} \hat{\mathscr{I}} \hat{\mathscr{I}} - 2\frac{\alpha\beta}{\hbar^{2}} \hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1} \hat{\mathscr{I}} \hat{\mathscr{J}} - 4 \frac{\alpha\Omega}{\hbar^{2}} \hat{\mathscr{I}} \hat{\mathscr{I}} - 2i \frac{\alpha\beta}{\hbar^{2}} \hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1} \hat{\mathscr{I}} - 2i \frac{\alpha\Omega}{\hbar^{2}} \hat{\mathscr{I}}, \quad (22)$$

$$\frac{d^{2}\hat{\mathscr{T}}}{dt^{2}} + \frac{1}{\hbar^{2}} \left(\alpha^{2} + \beta^{2}\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1}^{2}\right)\hat{\mathscr{T}} = -4\frac{\alpha^{2}}{\hbar^{2}}\hat{\mathscr{I}}\hat{\mathscr{T}} + 4i\frac{\alpha^{2}}{\hbar^{2}}\hat{\mathscr{I}}\hat{\mathscr{I}} - 4\frac{\alpha\beta}{\hbar^{2}}\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1}\hat{\mathscr{I}} - 4\frac{\alpha\beta}{\hbar^{2}}\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1}\hat{\mathscr{I}} - 4\frac{\alpha\beta}{\hbar^{2}}\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1}\hat{\mathscr{I}} - 4\frac{\alpha\beta}{\hbar^{2}}\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1}\hat{\mathscr{I}} - 4\frac{\alpha\beta}{\hbar^{2}}\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1}\hat{\mathscr{I}} - 4\frac{\alpha\beta}{\hbar^{2}}\hat{\mathscr{C}}_{1}\hat{\mathscr{I}}.$$
(23)

5 Summary

I showed that a current algebra appears when we calculate the quantum dynamics of the tunnelling of the atoms between two condensates. I generalized the Heisenberg equation of motion to write the second time derivative of any operator. Then I calculated the quantum dynamics of these currents and showed that different dynamics appear when we consider different choices of the parameters of the Hamiltonian.

Acknowledgments

The author acknowledge Capes/FAPERJ (Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior/Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro) for their financial support.

References

- 1. J. R. Anglin and W. Ketterle, Nature 416 (2002) 211.
- M. H. Anderson, J. R. Ensher, M. R. Mathews, C. E. Wieman and E. A. Cornell, Science 269 (1995) 198.
- 3. J. Williams, R. Walser, J. Cooper, E. A. Cornell and M. Holland, Phys Rev A 61 (2000) 033612.
- 4. S. N. Bose, Z. Phys. 26 (1924) 178.
- 5. A. Einstein, Phys Math K1 22 (1924) 261.
- 6. F. Dalfovo, S. Giorgini, L. P. Pitaevskii and S. Stringari, Rev Mod Phys 71 (1999) 463.
- 7. A. J. Leggett, Rev Mod Phys 73 (2001) 307.
- M. R. Andrews, C. G. Townsend, H.-J. Miesner, D. S. Durfee, D. M. Kurn and W. Ketterle, Science 275 (1997) 637.
- Y. Shin, M. Saba, T. A. Pasquini, W. Ketterle, D. E. Pritchard and A. E. Leanhardt, Phys Rev Lett 92 (2004) 050405.
- 10. M. Albiez, et al, Phys Rev Lett 95 (2005) 010402.
- 11. B. D. Josephson, Phys Lett 1 (1962) 251.
- 12. A. P. Hines, R. H. McKenzie and G. J. Milburn, Phys Rev A 67 (2003) 013609.
- 13. G. Santos, A. Tonel, A. Foerster and J. Links, Phys Rev A 73 (2006) 023609.
- A. P. Tonel, C. C. N. Kuhn, G. Santos, A. Foerster, I. Roditi and Z. V. T. Santos, Phys Rev A 79 (2009) 013624.
- 15. G. Santos, A. Foerster, J. Links, E. Mattei and S. R. Dahmen, Phys Rev A 81 (2010) 063621.
- 16. C. Gross, J Phys B: At Mol Opt Phys 45 (2012) 103001 (20pp).
- G. Santos, A. Foerster, I. Roditi, Z. V. T. Santos and A. P. Tonel, J Phys A: Math Theor 41 (2008) 295003 (9pp).
- 18. G. Santos, J Phys A: Math Theor 44 (2011) 345003.
- 19. G. Santos, A. Foerster and I. Roditi, J Phys A: Math Theor 46 (2013) 265206 (12pp).
- 20. J. Links, H.-Q. Zhou, R. H. McKenzie and M. D. Gould, J Phys A: Math Gen 36 (2003) R63.
- 21. J. Links, A. Foerster, A. P. Tonel and G. Santos, Ann Henri Poincaré 7 (2006) 1591.
- 22. G. Santos, C. Ahn, A. Foerster and I. Roditi, Phys Lett B 746 (2015) 186.
- 23. E.-M. Graefe, M. Graney and A. Rush, Phys Rev A 92 (2015) 012121.

The role of "escort fields" in the relation between massless and massive vector (tensor) mesons

Bert Schroer

Abstract The relation between massive and massless vector potentials is reviewed in light of recent progress concerning positivity-preserving renormalizable interactions and the ensuing weakening of localization. One obtains new insights beyond those which were extracted from the standard gauge theoretic setting.

1 Positivity preserving relation between massive potentials and their massless counterpart

Since a systematic presentation of an ongoing new development in QFT within a conference talk is hardly possible, the chosen alternative will be to present some of the relevant new ideas by starting from a simple concrete observation and leaving details to published papers [1] [9].

A massless point-local (pl) positivity-obeying vector potential does not exist¹ but one may encode the unitary (m = 0, h = 1) Wigner representation into a unique string-local (sl) covariant field which transforms under the Lorentz group as a (1/2, 1/2) vector potential. It acts in the same Wigner-Fock space

Bert Schroer

¹ A fact which probably was already known to Wigner since there exists no (1/2, 1/2) spinorial representation which corresponds to the unique (m = 0, h = 1) Wigner unitary representation [2].

CBPF, Dr. Xavier Sigaud 150, 22290-180 Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Permanent address: Institut für Theoretische Physik FU-Berlin, Arnimallee 14, 14195 Berlin, Germany.

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_45

Bert Schroer

$$A_{\mu}(x,e) = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\lambda F_{\mu\nu}(x+\lambda e)e^{\nu}, \ F_{\mu\nu} := \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu}^{P} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}^{P}$$
(1)

$$\langle A_{\mu}(x,e)A_{\nu}(x',e')\rangle = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}}\int e^{-ip(x-x')}M_{\mu\nu}(p;e,e')\frac{d^3p}{2p_0}$$
 (2)

$$M_{\mu\nu}(p;e,e') = -g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{p_{\mu}p_{\nu}}{p \cdot e_{i\varepsilon}p \cdot e'_{-i\varepsilon}} + \frac{p_{\mu}e_{\nu}}{p \cdot e_{i\varepsilon}} + \frac{p_{\nu}e'_{\mu}}{p \cdot e'_{-i\varepsilon}}$$

where the denominators $p \cdot e_{\pm i\epsilon} = \lim_{\epsilon \to \pm 0} p \cdot e + i\epsilon$ indicate that the Fourier transform is the distribution valued boundary limit of the Heavyside function. Hence the field fluctuates in the spacelike string direction e, $e^2 = -1$ as it does in x, and as a consequence coalescent string directions require using Wick-ordering just as coinciding x's.

This line integral leads to a well-defined operator-valued distribution in the massive as well as in the massless case. Although the associated Wigner representations are inequivalent, the massive correlation functions pass smoothly to their massless counterparts.

In fact in the *massive* case, one may start from a Proca potential and use the resulting field strength for the construction of associated covariant sl potentials which acts in the same Hilbert space and are relatively Einstein-causal, i.e., both potentials are members of the same sl local equivalence ("Borchers") class [4]. This construction suggests that there may be an interesting role to play for another this time scalar sl field ϕ in this equivalence class,

$$\phi(x,e) = \int_0^\infty d\lambda A_v^P(x+\lambda e)e^v \tag{3}$$

$$A_{\mu}(x,e) = A^{P}_{\mu}(x) + \partial_{\mu}\phi(x,e).$$
(4)

Such massive covariant scalar sl fields appeared first as "theoretical toys" in [6]; later it became clear that they play an important role in a linear relation between pl and sl potentials (4). Both vector potentials are one-forms which the Poincaré Lemma associates to the $F_{\mu\nu}$ two-form.

The proof uses the representation of free Proca potential in terms of an *u* intertwiner functions [2]

$$A^{P}_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int e^{ipx} \sum_{s_{3}} u_{\mu,s_{3}}(p) a^{*}(p,s_{3}) + h.c.$$

The ϕ and A_{μ} are linear combinations of the same s = 1 creation/annihilation operators and their intertwiners $u_{s_3}(p,e) u_{\mu,s_3}(p,e)$ can be read off from the definition of the two fields (3, 4). The last step is to verify that the intertwiner of A_{μ} agrees with that obtained from (1). For reasons which will become clear later, the scalar sl field ϕ will be referred to as an *escort* field.

There is a similar formula in gauge theory [8] in which ϕ is the scalar negative metric pl Stueckelberg field whose two-point function differs from that of a scalar pl free field by a minus sign. Instead of maintaining the degrees of freedom of the

s = 1 Wigner representation, it increases them by adding unphysical s = 0 degrees of freedom². In the presence of interactions (e.g., "massive QED") the BRST gauge formalism requires a further increase in terms of ghost degrees of freedom.

It will be shown that the use of sl potentials permits staying with only physical degrees of freedom; or to use a metaphor, the string-local quantum field theory (SLFT) is the result of applying Ockham's razor to gauge theory. Considering the historical origin of the standard pl formulation from Lagrangian quantization, we are accustomed to consider sl fields as somewhat artificial objects which one may introduce after the renormalized perturbation calculations of interacting pl fields have been done, but which are not to be directly used in renormalized perturbation theory. But this viewpoint ignores the conceptual autonomy of QFT; there is nothing natural about that parallelism to classical field theory in the form of Lagrangian quantization and the sl fields are certainly not "Euler-Lagrange".

All massive *free* fields exist as pl fields and are uniquely fixed in terms of their physical spin and their covariance³, but there are no positivity-obeying renormalized *interacting* pl fields in case the interaction involves $s \ge 1$ fields; such pl interactions are only renormalizable in an indefinite metric setting. The use of positivity-preserving sl fields as well as that of pl gauge fields leads to a lowering of short distance dimensions but there is a huge physical difference. The sl fields achieve this by relieving the $d_{sd} = s + 1$ pl fluctuations in *x* and allowing part of them to convert into directional fluctuations (whereas in gauge theory this results from brute force compensation of part of pl physical with unphysical degrees of freedom).

By repeated integrations along *e*, one can lower the d_{sd} to zero [9], but we will see that what one needs for renormalizable sl perturbation theory is $d_{sd} = 1$. Gauge theory achieves this by brute force compensation between part of the positive with negative metric degrees of freedom at the price of losing the physical causal localization (apart from local observables)

To obtain a wider conceptual orientation which does not refer to quantization, it is helpful to take notice of a powerful theorem of algebraic QFT (AQFT) [11]. Reconverting its physical content into the setting of covariant fields instead of Haag's LQP nets of operator algebras, it says that in a theory with local observables and a mass gap, the superselected charge-carrying fields can always be assumed sl⁴. These physical sl fields are the mediators ("interpolating fields") between the abstract causality principles of QFT and the observed world of particles.

The B-F theorem secures their existence in any theory with a mass gap. The Hilbert space of such a theory has the form of a Wigner-Fock particle space (the problem of asymptotic completeness does not exist in perturbation theory). As expected the theorem shows that all on-shell objects as particles and the S-matrix are e-independent; the main purpose of lessening the tightness of point-like localization

 $^{^2}$ This gauge theoretic version of (4) facilitates the understanding as to why in the passing to the unitary gauge [9] one encounters polynomially unbounded pl matter fields.

³ Positivity obeying *massless* pl vector potentials and their tensorial counterparts do not exist.

⁴ The semi-infinite spacelike strings are the cores of causally closed spacelike cones as points of pl fields are the cores of arbitrarily small causally closed double cones.

is better control of the vacuum polarization clouds which are responsible for the unbounded momentum space increase of pl $s \ge 1$ nonrenormalizable models.

The theorem does not reveal for which (positivity-maintaining) interactions one is forced to use sl fields. Here renormalized perturbation theory leads to a clear answer; pl fields *must* be used for interactions between s < 1 fields, whereas interactions involving $s \ge 1$ fields require using sl fields. Before commenting on interactions, it is helpful to present properties that are rather direct consequences of the above relations.

From the definition of the sl vector potential (1, 2), it follows that they have a massless limit whereas A_{μ}^{P} and ϕ (3, 4) have mass divergencies which mutually compensate on the right-hand side of (4). The sl two-point function (2) contains in addition to the Gupta-Bleuler (Feynman gauge) $-g_{\mu\nu}$ contribution rational in *p* terms whose presence is the price for maintaining positivity while improving the short distance behavior from $d_{sd}^{P} = 2$ to 1. The massless sl potential is the unique positivity maintaining covariant vector potential of Wigner's unitary helicity h = 1 representation.

Saying that the massive s = 1 sl field converges to the massless helicity h = 1 field does not mean that the operators converge but rather refers to the convergence of the correlation functions. The operator representations remain unitarily inequivalent but they can be reconstructed from the correlation function (the GNS reconstruction [7]); for free fields one only needs the 2-point-function [4].

This is particularly important in the presence of interactions since only massive $s \ge 1$ fields permit an operator formulation in a particle Wigner-Fock Hilbert space, whereas the operator formulation of the massless limit has to be reconstructed from the zero mass limits of the correlation functions. This is not a shortcoming of the perturbative approach but rather reflects the fact that important parts of our understanding of interactions involving massless $s \ge 1$ fields as infraparticles and confinement are still missing.

The Coulomb (radiation) potential is obtained from the sl potential by integrating over the spacelike directions e within the t = 0 hypersurface; the result is the unique rotation invariant vector potential. Note that both potentials live in the same Hilbert space and cannot be related by a gauge transformation. Gauge symmetry and gauge-related potentials only exist in a description with *additional unphysical (indefinite metric) degrees of freedom*. Replacing in the degrees of freedom conserving sl escort ϕ field in (4) by the scalar indefinite metric degrees of freedom-carrying Stueckelberg field one obtains instead of the physical sl potential the positivity-violating scalar Gupta-Bleuler potential (the Feynman gauge) [8]. In the presence of interactions, one has to introduce additional unphysical "ghost" degrees of freedom.

Massless $s \ge 1$ potentials share a curious topological property which has no massive counterpart; they violate Haag duality (HD) for multiply-connected localization regions. HD is violated if there exists operators which commute with all operators that are localized in the causal complement \mathcal{O}' of a region \mathcal{O} , but which fail to be localized in \mathcal{O} [7]. Such a violation is still consistent with Einstein causality (EC). The simplest illustration is provided by a magnetic flux through a toroidal region \mathcal{T} (a thickend Wilson loop in terms of $A_{\mu}(x, e)$) [11]. The quantum field theoretical Aharonov-Bohm effect is closely related to this phenomenon; in that case the torus is closed at spacelike conformal infinity [9]. The use of the pl indefinite metric potential does not permit distinguishing between HD and EC because (in contrast to its field strength) it does not account for the correct causal localization. The somewhat eerie feeling concerning the A-B effect with respect to Einstein causality has its origin in that one's heuristic understanding is inclined to identify Haag duality with Einstein causality.

The deviation from physical localization increases in the presence of interactions and there seems to be agreement that the more than 5 decades old problems of a spacetime understanding of infrared and confinement phenomena (which depend on the correct long distance localization of fields) cannot be understood in gauge theory. Attempts to amend this in terms of using a different topology in state space [13] or by recovering physical fields as formally gauge invariant composites [14] seem to be no replacement for the positivity- and physical localization-preserving SLFT.

Another more tangible application of sl fields is related to the problem of massless conserved currents. The simplest case is the conserved current of a complex vector field B_v . The pl definition $j_{\mu} = B_v^* \overleftrightarrow{\partial_{\mu}} B^v$ admits no massless limit but using the sl $B_v(x,e)$ one obtains a conserved sl current $j_{\mu}(x,e)$ with a well-defined global charge. In the massive case, there are two conserved currents. The pl and its sl counterpart lead to the same global charge. In the massless limit, only the sl current survives.

This zero mass situation has a much richer analog for the conserved energymomentum tensor. In that case the problem with zero mass starts at s = 2 since the s = 1 tensor can still be expressed in terms of the massless field strength. The Weinberg-Witten No-Go theorem [15] excludes *pl* E-M tensors, however sl tensors which lead to the same global charges continue to exist. Without going into details [16], I mention the extension of (3) to arbitrary high spin *s* which leads to a linear relation in which the derivative of *s* escort fields of tensor degree from zero to s - 1appear [1].

Fields such as the escort fields, which maintain the cardinality of degrees of freedom (but whose introduction as separate entities is nevertheless necessary) are quite common in quantum mechanical many-body problems when, as the possible result of phase transitions, the basic degrees of freedom reorganize themselves and change the physical properties.

An illustration⁵ is provided by the bosonic two-electron Cooper pairs in the microscopic BCS description of superconductivity which among other things account for the short range nature of London's screened (short range) vector potentials inside a superconductor.

In QFT there is a smooth passage from massless photons described in terms of a positivity obeying long range sl vector potential to a short range massive pl Proca counterpart, but in order to achieve this, one needs the intervention of the scalar sl escort ϕ . As will be seen in the next section, this is independent of what kind

⁵ For a rigorous illustration of such composites, see Haag's presentation of the role of the Cooper pairs in the BCS model [12].

of matter field one couples to the massive vector meson, be it complex spinor ψ , complex scalar φ , or scalar Hermitian *H* matter⁶. The escort fields play precisely that role which in the metaphoric presentation of the Higgs mechanism ("fattening of the photons by swallowing Goldstones") is incorrectly attributed to the *H*.

The correct understanding of the "fattening" is very important because it clears the head for its real raison d'être in models involving massive self-interacting vector mesons.

2 Lowest order perturbation theory using sl s = 1 fields

The previous mainly kinematic observations would remain an academic exercise if the escort fields were not to play an essential dynamic role in the renormalization theory of interactions involving $s \ge 1$ fields. The simplest model which reveals this role is "massive QED". In this case the pl interaction density⁷ L^P can be rewritten with the help of (4) and the use of the current conservation as

$$L^{P} = A^{P}_{\mu} j_{\mu} = L - \partial^{\mu} V_{\mu}(x, e) \text{ with } L = A_{\mu}(x, e) j_{\mu}(x), V_{\mu} := \phi(x, e) j_{\mu}$$
(5)

$$d_e(L - \partial^{\mu} V_{\mu}(x, e)) = 0 = d_e L - \partial^{\mu} Q_{\mu}(x, e) \text{ with } Q_{\mu} = d_e V_{\mu}.$$
 (6)

We will refer to this requirement as the L, V_{μ} (or L, Q_{μ}) pair condition. It preserves the heuristic physical content of L^{P} in the adiabatic S-matrix limit, in lowest order,

$$S^{(1)} = \int L^P = \int L.$$
(7)

In this way the $d_{sd}^{int} = 5$ (3 from the j_{μ} and 2 from A^P) of L^P is lowered to $d_{sd}^{int} = 4$ of L at the expense of the occurrence of the $d_{sd}^{int}(\partial V) = 5$ divergence term. But in models with a mass gap, this term does not contribute to the first order adiabatic S-matrix limit (7).

Note that the pair condition has no analog for s < 1; linear relations as (4) between pl and their lower d_{sd} sl kinsmen only exist for $s \ge 1$, and attempts to use sl L's for s < 1 would end in total delocalization.

At this point a short interlude may be helpful. Recently it had been claimed that a free s = 1/2 and $d_{sd} = 3/2$ Dirac fermion field can be transformed into an "Elko" field with $d_{sd} = 1$ (formula (100) in [18]). But a pl field whose two-point function agrees with that of a 4-component free $d_{sd} = 1$ scalar field is really a fourcomponent scalar field (and not a camouflaged s = 1/2 field); this is the content of a well-known theorem (the Jost-Schroer theorem in [4] page 163). The existence of

 $^{^{6}}$ A significant difference is that the *H* coupling disappears in the Maxwell limit; this accounts for the fact that it was for a long time overlooked.

⁷ Renormalized perturbation theory does not require the Euler-Lagrange quantization setting but only an interaction density L in terms of free fields [17].

an "Elko fermion" would contradict facts about QFT which were already known in the 60s; in particular it would clash with the spin-statistics theorem. It also would be in contradiction with Weinberg's complete classification of all pl fields for any spin.

The short distance dimension of a pl field can only be lowered by integrating it along a spacelike half-line as in (3); starting from a pl $d_{sd} = 3/2$ Dirac field, one obtains a sl $d_{sd} = 1/2$ Dirac field. But this cannot be used to convert the nonrenormalizable 4-Fermi coupling into a renormalizable interaction since the above pair condition can only be fulfilled for spins $s \ge 1$. For more details on the use of sl fields in renormalization theory, we refer to [19].

The fact that divergence operations as in $\partial^{\mu}TV_{\mu}L'$ cannot be taken inside the *T*-products means that the second order validity of the pair requirement

$$(d_e + d_{e'})TLL' - \partial^{\mu}TQ_{\mu}L' - \partial'^{\mu}TLQ'_{\mu} = 0$$
(8)

hence
$$(d_e + d_{e'})S^{(2)} = 0$$
 (9)

is a normalization condition (which has no counterpart in s < 1 renormalization theory). Whereas in massive spinor QED, this (and all higher perturbative extensions) is automatically fulfilled, its fulfillment in scalar QED induces the expected $A \cdot A |\varphi|^2$ term [8] [9]. In contrast to gauge theory where this contribution is induced by imposing BRST gauge invariance on *S*, in the present SLFT setting the *e*-independence of *S* is a consequence of the causal localization principles.

One expects that this perturbation theory of the S-matrix works for all orders. One also hopes that the extension of this adiabatic equivalence also works for the construction of correlation functions of sl fields. Formally speaking this corresponds to the independence from *internal e's* in suitable sums of Feynman graphs after having integrated over inner x's. Second order calculations of sl fields have been started in [21].

This short presentation is not the place to present calculational details for which we refer to the above references and forthcoming work. However it may be of interest to mention those points for which the SLFT formulation leads to a very different physical interpretation of the Higgs model.

- Instead of postulating a Mexican hat potential, the SLFT construction starts from a point-local AAH interaction between a massive vector potential and a Hermitian scalar field. The split into a string-local L and the divergence of a vector field V leads to an L which also depends on the escort field. The required eindependence of the second order S-matrix induces a four-order self-interaction which is of the same form as that derived from the postulated spontaneous symmetry breaking Mexican hat potential. For details see [8,9].
- 2. Massive *self-interacting* vector mesons lead to a new physical phenomenon. The L, Q_{μ} pair condition can be satisfied but there is a hitch; the second order contains an induced renormalizability violating $d_{sd} = 5$ contribution which, if left uncompensated, would wreck the existence of the model. The only way to save this situation is to introduce a coupling to a lower spin *H* field so that the second

order *H*-contraction produces a $d_{sd} = 5$ compensating term. Such compensations one expected from different spin components of a supersymmetric coupling but the present situation is different in that the $d_{sd} = 5$ compensation is not a fringe benefit of a higher symmetry but rather the raison d'être for the *H*-particle.

- 3. The model of *A*-selfinteractions shows another lesser understood phenomenon in that the interaction requires the *A* self-coupling parameters to obey the symmetry of a Lie algebra without any symmetry requirement. Whereas in the BRST gauge formalism one can blame that on the quantization of a classical fibre bundle gauge theory, the SLFT formulation is solely built on causally localized quantum matter.
- 4. Any interaction involving higher spin $s \ge 2$ fields which passes the first order L, Q_{μ} requirement will have $Q'_{\mu}s$ with $d_{sd} \ge 2$ which inevitably lead to second order $d_{sd} > 5$ contribution and hence needs the compensation with lower spin contributions. It would be interesting to know from what *s* on the compensatory mechanism breaks down. Such spin *s* fields will be inert in that they only exist in the form of free fields but may (through their energy momentum tensor) interact with classical gravitational fields.

Acknowledgements I share this project with Jens Mund; its beginnings can be traced back to [6]. I also acknowledge many fruitful discussions and exchange of ideas with José Gracia-Bondia and Joseph Várilly.

References

- 1. J. Mund and Erichardson T. de Oliveira, *String-localized free vector and tensor potentials for* massive particles with any spin: 1. Bosons, arXiv:1609.01667. Unpublished.
- B. Schroer, Beyond gauge theory; positivity and causal localization in the presence of vector mesons, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 378.
- 3. S. Weinberg, The Quantum Theory of Fields I, Cambridge University Press 1991.
- 4. R. S. Streater and A. S. Wightman, PCT, *Spin and Statistics and all that*, New York: Benjamin 1964.
- J. Mund, B. Schroer and J. Yngvason, String-localized Quantum Fields and Modular Localization, Commun. Math. Phys. 268 (2006) 621, math-ph/0511042.
- D. Buchholz, F. Ciolli, G. Ruzzi and E.Vaselli, *The universal C*-algebra of the elec-tromagnetic field*, Lett. Math. Phys. (2016) 106: 269. doi:10.1007/s11005-015-0801-y, arXiv:1506.06603.
- 7. R. Haag, Local Quantum Physics, Fields, Particles, Algebras, Springer-Verlag 1992.
- 8. H. Ruegg and M. Ruiz-Altaba, The Stueckelberg field, Int. J. Mod. Phys A19, 3265 (2003).
- J. Lowenstein and B. Schroer, Gauge Invariance and Ward Identities in a Massive Vector-Meson Model, Phys. Rev. D6, 1553 (1972).
- 10. D. Buchholz and K. Fredenhagen, *Locality and the structure of particle states*, Commun. Math. Phys. **84**, (1982) 1.
- 11. P. Leyland, J. Roberts and D. Testard, *Duality for Quantum Free Fields*, Centre de Physique Théorique, CNRS Marseille, 1978.
- R. Haag, The mathematical structure of the Bardeen-Cooper-Schrieffer model, Nuovo Cim. 25 (1964) 287.
- 13. G. Morchio and F. Strocchi, J. Math. Phys. 44 (2003) 5569.

- 14. O. Steinmann, Ann. Phys. 157 (1984) 232.
- 15. S. Weinberg and E. Witten, Limits on massless particles, Phys. Lett. B 96 (1-2) (1980) 59.
- 16. B. Schroer, Can the inert matter corresponding to Wigner's infinite spin representations be dark matter ?, in preparation.
- Epstein, H. and Glaser, V., 1973. The role of locality in perturbation theory. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, Phys. théor. (Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 211-295).
- 18. D. V. Ahluwalia, A story of phases, duals, and adjoints for a local Lorentz covariant theory of mass dimension one fermions, arXiv;160103188. Unpublished.
- 19. Schroer, B., 2016. Rudolf Haag's legacy of Local Quantum Physics and reminiscences about a cherished teacher and friend, arXiv:1612.00003. Unpublished.
- 20. B. Schroer, *Peculiarities of massive vector mesons and their zero mass limits*, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 365.
- 21. J. Mund and F. Pedrosa, String-local Dirac fields in massive QED, in preparation.

String-localized infinite spin fields and inert matter

Bert Schroer

Abstract Positive energy ray representations of the Poincaré group are naturally subdivided into three classes according to their mass and spin content: m>0, m=0 finite helicity and m=0 infinite spin. Whereas the intrinsic noncompact localization accounts for its inertness, the possible existence of finite spin $s \ge 2$ inert matter is less clear.

1 Wigner's infinite spin representation and string-localization

Wigner's famous 1939 theory of unitary representations of the Poincaré group \mathscr{P} was the first systematic and successful attempt to classify relativistic particles according to the *intrinsic* principles of relativistic quantum theory [1]. As we know nowadays, his massive and massless spin/helicity class of positive energy ray representations of \mathscr{P} does not only cover all known particles, but their "covariantization" [2] leads also to a complete description of all covariant point-local free fields, except that point-local (pl) fields are not available for the infinite spin class. In view of its still insufficiently understood physical properties, we will refer to this matter as the "Wigner stuff" (WS).

The problem with WS is that the standard method of associating local fields through covariantization in terms of $u(p, s_3)$ intertwiners [2] (which convert the unitary Wigner representation into the covariant transformation law of a free field which acts in a Wigner-Fock Hilbert space) is not available. Although there have been constructions of covariant wave functions ever since Wigner's 1939 classification (for a recent covariantization, see [3]), the causal localization properties of WS require addressing the problem of localization in a more intrinsic way.

Bert Schroer

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

CBPF, Dr. Xavier Sigaud 150, 22290-180 Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Permanent address: Institut für Theoretische Physik FU-Berlin, Arnimallee 14, 14195 Berlin, Germany.

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_46

The oldest result in this direction was a No-Go theorem by Yngvason [4] which excluded a description in terms of pl (Wightman) fields. The application of the concept of modular localization to Wigner's irreducible representation spaces supported the idea that the tightest localized subspaces are associated to arbitrary narrow spacelike cones [5], which in turn led to modular construction of string-local (sl) fields whose strings are cores of such cones [6]. The issue of WS localization was finally closed by a theorem which excludes compact localization [7].

The solution of the WS localization problem in [6] begged the question whether the improvement of short distance behavior by relaxing the tightness of localization from pl to sl could improve the renormalizability properties. It is well-kown that as a result of the increase of short distance dimensions of pl fields with spin $d_{sd} =$ s+1 interactions involving $s \ge 1$ lead to nonrenormalizable pl interaction densities¹ $d_{sd}(L^P) > 4$.

The makeshift solution for preserving s = 1 renormalizability has been to yield on the positivity requirement of quantum theory. This leads to Gauge Theory (GT) which is an incomplete QFT since only the restricted set of gauge invariant operators possesses a physical content. The work on sl free fields in [6] suggested that there should also exist a physical way which maintains and achieves renormalizability by using the better short distance properties of sl fields.

The result has been described in several publications and may be summed up as follows, see [8–10]. The nonrenormalizable pl $L^{P}(x)$ corresponds to a pair $L(x,e), V_{\mu}(x,e)$ with

$$L^{P} = L - \partial^{\mu} V_{\mu}, \ d_{e}(L - \partial^{\mu} V_{\mu}) = 0$$
(1)
$$S^{(1)} = \int L^{P} = \int L$$

where the second equation is the L, V_{μ} pair condition in the d_e differential calculus on the d = 1 + 2 dimensional de Sitter space of spacelike string directions $e, e^2 =$ -1. This condition has the immediate consequence that the lowest order S-matrix inherits the best of the two worlds, the *e*-independence from L^P and the $d_{sd} \le 4$ power counting bound (pcb) from *L*, since $\partial^{\mu}V_{\mu}$ divergence terms do not contribute to the adiabatic limit in models with a mass gap.

The origin of the pair property are linear relations between massive spin $s \ge 1$ pl potentials with $d_{sd} = s + 1$ and their $d_{sd} = 1$ sl counterparts. For s = 1, this relations has the form

$$A_{\mu}(x,e) = A^{P}_{\mu}(x) + \partial_{\mu}\phi(x,e)$$
⁽²⁾

where the scalar sl "escort" field $\phi(x, e)$ is just as the two other two free fields, a linear combination of the three s = 1 Wigner creation/annihilation operators; the difference lies in their different intertwiner functions Replacing the A^P in $L^P = A^P_{\mu} j^{\mu}$ by $A - \partial V$, one obtains (1).

¹ The short distance dimension of a field is defined in terms of the short distance scaling behavior of its 2-point function.

For massive scalar QED $j^{\mu}(x) = \varphi^* \overleftarrow{\partial^{\mu}} \varphi$, the implementation of the second order L, V_{μ} pair condition *induces* the expected quadratic second order term $A \cdot A |\varphi|^2$. Different from counterterms, induced terms do not introduce new parameters. Induction of interaction terms is an epiphenomenon of $s \ge 1$ sl renormalization theory which requires the L, V pair condition; it has no counterpart in s < 1 pl interactions. Renormalization counterterms which come with new coupling parameters appear in both cases. Induction means in particular that there is no need to impose the $\partial_{\mu} \rightarrow \partial_{\mu} - iA_{\mu}$ rule from classical fibre bundles, since it is a consequence of the principles of local quantum physics (LQP) namely causal localization + (Hilbert space) positivity which are its defining properties.

Passing from interactions between a vector meson with complex matter to couplings with scalar Hermitian matter H in the form of a $A \cdot AH$ interaction, the higher order induction becomes much richer; in addition to the expected $A \cdot AHH$ and $AA\phi\phi$ terms, there are now induced cubic and quartic H, ϕ self-interactions which have been mistakenly attributed to spontaneous symmetry breaking [9] [10]. For self-interacting massive vector potentials, there is a new phenomenon. Whereas a L, V_{μ} pair exists, second order induction leads to a renormalizability violating the $d_{sd} = 5$ term. The only way the model can be saved is to introduce an additional coupling to a scalar Hermitian field H whose second order compensates this pcb-violating term. This, and not SSB, is the raison d'être for the H.

2 Inert higher spin fields

Perturbative interactions which are pl nonrenormalizable may turn out to be perfectly renormalizable in the SLFT setting. On the other hand, there are good reasons to believe that interactions which are not sl renormalizable do not correspond to a model of QFT. This view receives support from a powerful structural theorem of algebraic QFT [11] (AQFT). Converting its content into the standard setting of QFT, it states that in $s \ge 1$ models with a mass gap, each particle possesses *interpolating sl fields* (fields related to the particle by large time LSZ scattering theory).

Fields which cannot interact with other fields or themselves, and therefore only exist in the form of free fields, will be referred to as "inert". In contrast to massless finite spin *s* sl free fields which can be constructed as $m \rightarrow 0$ limits of massive $d_s = 1$ sl fields (for fermions $d_{sd} = 3/2$), it is not possible to represent the sl fields associated to WS in this way. This is the reason why their presence in an interaction turns out to be inconsistent with the pair property.

The result at the end of the previous section implies that s = 1 fields are fully reactive both with respect to lower spin fields and in the form of self-interactions. But without additional nontrivial calculations it is not clear whether s = 2 fields are reactive or inert. What is easy to see is that $d_{sd}(V_{\mu}) > 4$ and that $d_{sd}(V_{\mu})$ increases with s, so that increasing spin requires an increasing number of second order compensating terms which are second order contributions from interactions of the highest spin with lower spin fields. According to this qualitative observation, the problem of second order compensatory preservation of renormalizability for interactions which fulfill the first order L, V_{μ} pair condition increases with *s*, so that one expects the existence of a maximal *s* beyond which fields will be inert.

Inert matter is highly desirable in connection with the problem of astrophysical darkness. Since free fields of any spin possess an energy-momentum tensor, they couple to classical gravity and contribute to gravitational backreaction. However inertness seems to lead to a "catch 22 situation" since a complete absence of reactivity gets into conflict with the standard model of cosmology according to which all matter originated in a (very reactive) big bang. But since dark matter surrounds us in abundance, the failure to register its reactivity in underground experiments would confront us with a similar problem.

References

- 1. E.P. Wigner, On unitary representations of the inhomogeneous Lorentz group, Ann. Math. 40, (1939).
- 2. S. Weinberg, The Quantum Theory of Fields I, Cambridge University Press 1991.
- 3. P. Schuster and N. Toro. A gauge field theory of continuous-spin particles, JHEP 20, (2013) 10.
- J. Yngvason, Zero-mass infinite spin representations of the Poincaré group and quantum field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 18 (1970), 195.
- 5. R. Brunetti, D. Guido and R. Longo, *Modular localization and Wigner particles*, Rev. Math. Phys. **14**, (2002) 759.
- 6. J. Mund, B. Schroer and J. Yngvason, Commun. Math. Phys. 268, (2006) 621.
- R. Longo, V. Morinelli and K-H. Rehren, Where Infinite Spin Particles Are Localizable, Commun. Math. Phys. (2016) 345: 587. doi:10.1007/s00220-015-2475-9 arXiv:1505.01759.
- 8. B. Schroer, Peculiarities of massive vectormesons, Eur. Phys. J. C (2015) 75:365.
- B. Schroer, Beyond gauge theory: Hilbert space positivity and its connection with causal localization in the presence of vector mesons, Eur. Phys. J. C (2016) 76: 378. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-4179-5.
- 10. B. Schroer, *The role of escort fields in the relation between massless and massive vector potentials*, in this volume, pp 298–307.
- 11. D. Buchholz and K. Fredenhagen, *Locality and the structure of particle states*, Commun. Math. Phys. **84**, (1982) 1.
To eplitz quantization of the quantum group $SU_q(2)$

Stephen Bruce Sontz

Abstract After a brief review of the general theory of Toeplitz quantization in a non-commutative setting, we present an example with the symbol space being the quantum group $SU_q(2)$. This includes creation and annihilation operators as well as their commutation relations. The general way for introducing Planck's constant into this theory is also presented in the example. This seems to be the first example of a quantization of a quantum group.

1 Toeplitz operators: the general theory

The idea is to start with a complex vector space \mathscr{S} , which has this extra structure: a multiplication and a conjugation. So, \mathscr{S} is a *-algebra, called the *symbol space*. We also suppose that we have $\mathscr{P} \subset \mathscr{S}$, where \mathscr{P} is closed under all these operations: sum, scalar product, and multiplication (but not necessarily conjugation). So, \mathscr{P} is a sub-algebra, though not necessarily a sub-*-algebra. The particular symbol \mathscr{P} was chosen, since it could represent a sub-algebra of non-commuting 'holomorphic polynomials'. If that is the case, then \mathscr{H} can be interpreted as a generalized Segal-Bargmann space of 'holomorphic functions'.

In mathematics, the elements of \mathscr{S} are typically functions with values in \mathbb{C} , and so the multiplication in \mathscr{S} is commutative. But for us, the interesting case will be when the multiplication in \mathscr{S} is not commutative, that is, \mathscr{S} is a non-commutative algebra. As physicists we can think of \mathscr{S} as representing the 'functions' defined on some (non-existent!) phase space. Next, we assume that there is a *(linear) projection map* $P : \mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{P}$, that is, P restricted to \mathscr{P} is the identity function.

Now we take an element (or symbol) $f \in \mathscr{S}$ and use it to define a linear map $T_f : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P}$ by

Stephen Bruce Sontz

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Centro de Investigación en Matemáticas, A.C., Guanajuato, Mexico, e-mail: sontz@cimat.mx

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_47

$$T_f(\boldsymbol{\psi}) := P(\boldsymbol{\psi}f)$$
 for all $\boldsymbol{\psi} \in \mathscr{P}$.

We say that T_f is the (*right*) Toeplitz operator with symbol f. Left Toeplitz operators are similarly defined, in which case the symbol multiplies from the left. Their very similar theory is not discussed here.

2 Toeplitz quantization

Since we want to relate this to quantum mechanics, we must introduce a complex Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . As far as I am aware, a Hilbert space is absolutely necessary in order to develop any quantum theory in physics. Therefore \mathcal{H} has an inner product, that is, for all $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in \mathcal{H}$ we have a complex number $\langle \phi_1, \phi_2 \rangle$, linear in ϕ_2 and conjugate linear in ϕ_1 .

Question: How do we relate a Hilbert space to Toeplitz operators?

Answer: We assume that \mathscr{P} is a dense subspace of a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} . Then the Toeplitz operator $T_f : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P}$ is a *densely defined* linear operator acting in \mathscr{H} (but not on \mathscr{H}). If T_f is self-adjoint, then it is a quantum mechanical observable. Let $\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{P}) := \{A : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P} \mid A \text{ is linear}\}$ be the set of all linear maps of \mathscr{P} to itself. The *linear* map $T : \mathscr{S} \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{P})$ given by $f \mapsto T_f$ is called the *Toeplitz quantization* of the symbol space \mathscr{S} . As seen later on, T is not necessarily *-*linear*.

This is called a quantization in part because it conforms to this maxim: *Quantization is operators in place of 'functions'*. This Toeplitz quantization is a type of *second quantization*, that is, it quantizes a theory that is already quantum in the sense of its already being non-commutative. Unlike many other quantization schemes, this Toeplitz quantization does not use a *measure* or a *generalized integral*.

At this point one can continue to develop this into a general theory of Toeplitz quantization. (See [3] and [4].) This includes creation and annihilation operators, their canonical commutation relations and Planck's constant $\hbar > 0$.

Instead, in this note I will present an example of the general theory. This is the latest example of several which I have developed. Due to the required brevity of this paper, proofs will be given in a paper [4] to be published later.

3 The quantum group $SU_q(2)$

One of the earliest and most basic *quantum groups* is $SU_q(2)$. (See [5].) We define this as the universal *-algebra over the complex field \mathbb{C} generated by two elements, say *a* and *c*, that satisfy these relations where $0 \neq q \in \mathbb{R}$:

$$ac = qca$$
 $ac^* = qc^*a$ $cc^* = c^*c$
 $a^*a + c^*c = 1$ $aa^* + q^2c^*c = 1.$

In this example the symbol space \mathscr{S} is $SU_q(2)$. This algebra is commutative if and only if q = 1.

We can think of a and c as being 'holomorphic' elements, while a^* and c^* are then 'anti-holomorphic' elements. Using this intuition, we now define the algebra of 'holomorphic polynomials' to be

$$\mathscr{P} := \operatorname{algebra}\{a, c\} = \operatorname{Free}\{a, c\} / \langle ac - qca \rangle, \tag{1}$$

the sub-algebra of $SU_q(2)$ generated by the elements *a* and *c*. It turns out that as an algebra, \mathscr{P} is the *Manin quantum plane* (with parameter *q*).

For $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$ we define

$$\varepsilon_{klm} := \begin{cases} a^k c^l (c^*)^m = q^{km} (c^*)^m a^k c^l & \text{for } k \ge 0, \\ (a^*)^{-k} c^l (c^*)^m = (a^*)^{-k} (c^*)^m c^l & \text{for } k < 0. \end{cases}$$
(2)

Then it is known that the set $\{\varepsilon_{klm} \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}, l, m \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is a vector space basis of $SU_q(2)$. We also define a sesquilinear form on $\mathscr{S} = SU_q(2)$. We first define this on pairs of basis vectors and then extend to the unique sesquilinear form on $SU_q(2)$. We use the convention that *sesquilinear* means anti-linear in the first entry and linear in the second. So for $k, r \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $l, m, s, t \in \mathbb{N}$ we define

$$\langle \varepsilon_{klm}, \varepsilon_{rst} \rangle_{\mathscr{S}} := w(l+t) \,\delta_{k,r} \,\delta_{l+t,m+s}.$$
 (3)

Here $w : \mathbb{N} \to (0, \infty)$ is any strictly positive, real function whose values are called *weights*. Also, we are using the standard notation $\delta_{i,j}$ for the Kronecker delta. The motivation for this type of sesquilinear form can be found in my paper [2], though it is already implicit in Bargmann's paper [1].

We consider the restriction of the sesquilinear form to the sub-algebra \mathscr{P} . So for $k, l, r, s \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\langle a^k c^l, a^r c^s \rangle_{\mathscr{S}} = \langle \varepsilon_{k,l,0}, \varepsilon_{r,s,0} \rangle_{\mathscr{S}} = w(l) \,\delta_{k,r} \,\delta_{l,s} = w(s) \,\delta_{k,r} \,\delta_{l,s}. \tag{4}$$

This shows that the inner product restricted to \mathscr{P} is positive definite. So, for $k, l \ge 0$ we define

$$\varphi_{kl} := (w(l))^{-1/2} \varepsilon_{k,l,0} = (w(l))^{-1/2} a^k c^l.$$
(5)

Then $\Phi := {\varphi_{k,l} \mid k, l \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an orthonormal, vector space (Hamel) basis of \mathscr{P} . This turns \mathscr{P} into a pre-Hilbert space whose completion with respect to this positive definite inner product is denoted by \mathscr{H} , a Hilbert space.

4 Toeplitz operators and quantization

Define the projection operator $P: SU_q(2) \to \mathscr{P}$ for all $f \in \mathscr{S} = SU_q(2)$ by

Stephen Bruce Sontz

$$Pf := \sum_{i,j \ge 0} \langle \varphi_{i,j}, f \rangle_{\mathscr{S}} \varphi_{i,j}.$$
(6)

We note that only finitely many of the terms in the sum on the right side of this equation are non-zero. So, this infinite sum converges and gives a result in \mathcal{P} .

Moreover, the *Toeplitz operator* associated to the symbol $g \in SU_q(2)$ is $T_g = PM_g$ as in the general theory. Here M_g is the operator of multiplication on the right by the symbol g. Also, $T_g : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P}$, that is, it linearly maps the Manin quantum plane to itself, and so is a densely defined linear operator in the Hilbert space \mathscr{H} . Finally, the map $SU_q(2) \to \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{P})$ given by $g \mapsto T_g$ is a Toeplitz quantization of the quantum group $SU_q(2)$. We do not claim that this is the only possible Toeplitz quantization of $SU_q(2)$. Far from it! Other choices could be made for the sub-algebra \mathscr{P} , for the projection P and for the sesquilinear form. I fully expect that all the quantum group deformations of the classical Lie groups have many Toeplitz quantizations.

5 Creation and annihilation operators

Creation operators are Toeplitz operators of the form T_g where the symbol g is a *holomorphic symbol*, that is, $g \in \mathcal{P}$.

The creation operators associated to $a, c \in \mathcal{P}$ are $T_a = PM_a = M_a$ and $T_c = PM_c = M_c$. (Recall *P* acts as the identity on \mathcal{P} .) Explicit calculations on the basis elements give for $i, j \ge 0$ that

$$T_a(\varphi_{i,j}) = q^{-j} \varphi_{i+1,j}$$
 and $T_c(\varphi_{i,j}) = \left(\frac{w(j+1)}{w(j)}\right)^{1/2} \varphi_{i,j+1}.$ (7)

Both T_a and T_c raise the total degree by 1, though T_a has bi-degree (1,0) while for T_c the bi-degree is (0,1).

These identities in turn immediately imply, as the reader can readily check, this *q*-commutation relation:

$$[T_c, T_a]_q \equiv T_c T_a - q T_a T_c = 0.$$
(8)

Annihilation operators are Toeplitz operators of the form T_g where the symbol g is an *anti-holomorphic symbol*, that is, $g^* \in \mathscr{P}$ or, equivalently, $g \in \mathscr{P}^*$. The annihilation operators for a^* and c^* are respectively $T_{a^*} = PM_{a^*}$ and $T_{c^*} = PM_{c^*}$. Explicit formulas on the basis elements for $i, j \ge 0$ can be readily calculated to be

$$T_{a^*}(\varphi_{i,j}) = q^j \left(1 - q^2 \frac{w(j+1)}{w(j)}\right) \varphi_{i-1,j},$$

$$T_{c^*}(\varphi_{i,j}) = \left(\frac{w(j)}{w(j-1)}\right)^{1/2} \varphi_{i,j-1},$$

where the right side of either identity is taken to be 0 if one of the sub-indices is -1.

6 Commutation relations, Planck's constant

First, here are some curious facts about the relation of the *-operation in $SU_q(2)$ and the adjoint operation of operators: $T_c^* = T_{c^*}$, but $T_a^* \neq T_{a^*}$. Hence this quantization is not *-linear. Those and the remaining results in this section are straightforward, though possibly tedious, calculations.

Here are some more commutation and *q*-commutation relations:

$$[T_a^*, T_a] = 0, \quad [T_c, T_a^*]_q = 0, \quad [T_a, T_c^*]_q = 0, \quad [T_c^*, T_c]_q = K, \quad (\text{CCR})$$

where *K* is the bi-degree (0,0) map defined by

$$K \varphi_{i,j} := \left(\frac{w(j+1)}{w(j)} - q \frac{w(j)}{w(j-1)}\right) \varphi_{i,j}.$$
(9)

The first three CCR's are *classical commutation relations*, that is, the result is zero. The last CCR is a *quantum commutation relation*, that is, the result is (in general) non-zero.

The full quantized version of $[T_c^*, T_c]_q = K$ is actually $[T_c^*, T_c]_q = \hbar^{\alpha} K$, where $\hbar > 0$ is Planck's constant. The power α is determined by dimensional analysis. This is the way that Planck's constant is introduced in general into this theory, namely, as the appropriate factor required in the quantum commutation relations in order that they be dimensionally correct. In this example α depends on the dimensions given to the element *c*. Note that for theoretical physics (where one takes $\hbar = 1$) this is not a relevant matter, but in mathematical physics one is interested in the *semi-classical limit* $\hbar \rightarrow 0$. I also wish to emphasize that this method for introducing Planck's constant into this theory differs sharply from that used in deformation quantization.

7 Concluding remarks

One principal goal of this research program is to introduce new ideas and methods from analysis and quantization into the study of non-commutative geometry and mathematical physics. In this regard, I have not only developed this theory of Toeplitz quantization for a general class of non-commutative algebras with auxiliary structures (as presented here), but also for some other exotic kinds of 'quantum spaces' that are not even algebras and might not necessarily have an inner product. However, a conjugation (also known as a *-operation) seems to be an essential structure. See [3] and references therein for details plus more examples of Toeplitz quantization in some other non-commutative settings.

Acknowledgements I am grateful to the organizers of Group 31, held in June 2016 in Rio de Janeiro, for the opportunity to present these results to an interested and interesting audience.

Dedication I wish to dedicate this paper to the memory of our dear, departed friend and colleague S. Twareque Ali. He will be missed by many, not just by me.

References

- 1. V. Bargmann, On a Hilbert space of analytic functions and an associated integral transform, part I. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 14 (1961), 187–214.
- 2. S.B. Sontz, A Reproducing Kernel and Toeplitz Operators in the Quantum Plane, Communications in Mathematics 21 (2013), 137–160.
- S.B. Sontz, Toeplitz Quantization without Measure or Inner Product, in: Geometric Methods in Physics. XXXII Workshop 2013. Trends in Mathematics, (2014), 57–66.
- 4. S.B. Sontz, *Toeplitz Quantization for Non-commuting Symbol Spaces such as* $SU_q(2)$, eprint (2016) at arxiv:1308.5454v4. Unpublished.
- 5. T. Timmermann, An Invitation to Quantum Groups and Duality, Euro. Math. Soc., 2008.

The sinh-Gordon defect matrix generalized for *n* defects

N.I. Spano, A.L. Retore, J.F. Gomes, A.R. Aguirre and A.H. Zimerman

Abstract In this paper we obtain a general expression for the *n*-defect matrix for the sinh-Gordon model. This in turn generates general Bäcklund transformations (BT) for a system with *n* type-I defects through a gauge transformation.

1 Introduction

Integrable models are known to be characterized by an infinite number of conservation laws which are responsible for the stability of soliton solutions. In fact, these conservation laws may be regarded as hamiltonians generating time evolutions within a multi-time space. Each of these time evolutions are associated to a non-linear equation of motion and henceforth constitute an integrable hierarchy of equations with common conservation laws. Another peculiar feature of integrable models is the existence of Bäcklund transformations which relate two different field configurations of certain non-linear differential equation.

Bäcklund transformations (BT), among other applications, generate an infinite sequence of soliton solutions from a non-linear superposition principle (see [1]). These transformations have also been employed to describe integrable defects [2] in the sense that two solutions of an integrable model may be interpolated by a defect at certain spatial position. A BT connecting two-field configurations is the key ingredient to preserve the integrability of the system. Therefore, its systematic construction is important for the classification of integrable defects.

A.R. Aguirre

J.F. Gomes, A.L. Retore, N.I. Spano, and A.H. Zimerman

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Instituto de Física e Química, Universidade Federal de Itajubá - IFQ/UNIFEI, Av. BPS 1303, 37500-903, Itajubá, MG, Brasil. e-mail: alexis.roaaguirre@unifei.edu.br

Instituto de Física Teórica - IFT/UNESP, Rua Dr. Bento Teobaldo Ferraz 271, Bloco II, 01140-070, São Paulo, Brasil. e-mail: jfg@ift.unesp.br,retore@ift.unesp.br,natyspano@unesp.br,zimerman@ift.unesp.br

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_48

The first type of Bäcklund transformation only involves the fields of the bulk theory, and is named type I. However, there exist integrable models for which such type of Bäcklund transformation are not allowed. This is the case of the Tzitzeica model where additional auxiliary fields are required [2–6]. These are called type II and consist of a new class of Bäcklund transformations. For the sine(sinh)-Gordon model, where a type I Bäcklund transformation exists, the type II Bäcklund transformation is shown to be constructed from the composition of two type I defects.

The novelty presented in this paper is to extend the composition of several consecutive Gauge-Bäcklund transformations for the sinh-Gordon model. This provides the generalization to the case of n defects by constructing the general defect matrix, as well as the corresponding general BT. This is a powerful method since the defect matrix appears to be universal and can be used as a generator of BT for all equations within a hierarchy [7]. Finally, we will present some solutions for such composite BT.

2 Gauge-Bäcklund transformation and defect matrices

The Lax pair for the sinh-Gordon model is given by

$$A_{+}(\phi_{i}) = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{+}\phi_{i} & 1\\ \\ \lambda & -\partial_{+}\phi_{i} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{-}(\phi_{i}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{e^{-2\phi_{i}}}{\lambda}\\ \\ e^{2\phi_{i}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{1}$$

where we denote ϕ_0 and ϕ_1 to be solutions for x < 0 and x > 0 regions, respectively. The defect is placed at x = 0 and connects the two solutions by Bäcklund transformation. We assume the Lax pairs to be related by gauge transformation, i.e.,

$$K(\phi_0, \phi_1)A_{\pm}(\phi_1) = A_{\pm}(\phi_0)K(\phi_0, \phi_1) + \partial_{\pm}K(\phi_0, \phi_1)$$
(2)

where the defect matrix describing the transition from solutions ϕ_0 to ϕ_1 is given by

$$K_{i} \equiv K(\phi_{i-1}, \phi_{i}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\frac{\sigma_{i}}{\lambda} e^{-(\phi_{i-1} + \phi_{i})} \\ -\sigma_{i} e^{(\phi_{i-1} + \phi_{i})} & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3)

and σ_i is the corresponding Bäcklund parameter. The gauge transformation (2) holds provided the following first order equations are satisfied:

$$\partial_{+}(\phi_{0}-\phi_{1}) = -2\sigma_{1}\sinh(\phi_{0}+\phi_{1}), \text{ and } \partial_{-}(\phi_{0}+\phi_{1}) = -\frac{2}{\sigma_{1}}\sinh(\phi_{0}-\phi_{1}),$$
(4)

where $\partial_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x \pm \partial_t)$. Equations (4) are type I Bäcklund transformations for the sinh-Gordon model.

Let us now consider the composition of two Bäcklund-gauge transformations $K^{(2)}(\phi_0, \phi_2) = K(\phi_1, \phi_2) K(\phi_0, \phi_1)$. From expression (3) we find

The sinh-Gordon defect matrix generalized for *n* defects

$$K^{(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \frac{\sigma_1 \sigma_2}{\lambda} e^{p_1 - p_2} & -\frac{1}{\lambda} (\sigma_1 e^{-p_1} + \sigma_2 e^{-p_2}) \\ -\sigma_1 e^{p_1} - \sigma_2 e^{p_2} & 1 + \frac{\sigma_1 \sigma_2}{\lambda} e^{-p_1 + p_2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5)

Denoting $\eta = \frac{\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2}{\sigma_1 \sigma_2}$, $\sigma^2 = -\frac{1}{\sigma_1 \sigma_2}$ and defining

$$\Lambda = -\phi_1 - \ln\left(2\sigma_2 e^{-\phi_0} + 2\sigma_1 e^{-\phi_2}\right) - \ln\frac{\sigma}{4},$$
(6)

we obtain the type II Bäcklund transformations proposed in [5,8], namely,

$$K^{(2)}(p,q,\Lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - \frac{1}{\sigma^2 \lambda} e^q & \frac{e^{\Lambda-p}}{2l\sigma} (e^q + e^{-q} + \eta) \\ -\frac{2}{\sigma} e^{p-\Lambda} & 1 - \frac{1}{\lambda\sigma^2} e^{-q} \end{pmatrix},$$
(7)

where $q = \phi_0 - \phi_2$, $p = \phi_0 + \phi_2$.

Now we consider a system with *n* Type-I defects, each with a different parameter σ_i as showing in the following the diagram,



Fig. 1: Generalization for *n* type-I defects.

By defining $K^{(n)}$ in the following form,

$$K^{(n)} = K_n K_{n-1} \dots K_2 K_1 = \begin{pmatrix} K_{11}^{(n)} & K_{12}^{(n)} \\ K_{21}^{(n)} & K_{22}^{(n)} \end{pmatrix},$$
(8)

we find for even n:

$$K_{11} = 1 + \left[\prod_{a=1}^{n_{\sigma}} \left(\sum_{i_{a}=a}^{n-(n_{\sigma}-a)}\right)\right] \left[\sum_{r=1}^{n/2} \frac{1}{\lambda^{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{2r} \sigma_{i_{j}} e^{(-1)^{j+1} p_{i_{j}}}\right],$$

$$K_{12} = -\left[\prod_{a=1}^{n_{\sigma}} \left(\sum_{i_{a}=a}^{n-(n_{\sigma}-a)}\right)\right] \left[\sum_{r=0}^{(n-2)/2} \frac{1}{\lambda^{r+1}} \prod_{j=1}^{2r+1} \sigma_{i_{j}} e^{(-1)^{j} p_{i_{j}}}\right],$$

$$K_{21} = -\left[\prod_{a=1}^{n_{\sigma}} \left(\sum_{i_{a}=a}^{n-(n_{\sigma}-a)}\right)\right] \left[\sum_{r=0}^{(n-2)/2} \frac{1}{\lambda^{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{2r+1} \sigma_{i_{j}} e^{(-1)^{j+1} p_{i_{j}}}\right],$$

$$K_{22} = 1 + \left[\prod_{a=1}^{n_{\sigma}} \left(\sum_{i_{a}=a}^{n-(n_{\sigma}-a)}\right)\right] \left[\sum_{r=1}^{n/2} \frac{1}{\lambda^{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{2r} \sigma_{i_{j}} e^{(-1)^{j} p_{i_{j}}}\right],$$
(9)

and for odd *n*:

$$K_{11} = 1 + \left[\prod_{a=1}^{n_{\sigma}} \left(\sum_{i_{a}=a}^{n-(n_{\sigma}-a)}\right)\right] \left[\sum_{r=1}^{(n-1)/2} \frac{1}{\lambda^{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{2r} \sigma_{i_{j}} e^{(-1)^{j+1} p_{i_{j}}}\right],$$

$$K_{12} = -\left[\prod_{a=1}^{n_{\sigma}} \left(\sum_{i_{a}=a}^{n-(n_{\sigma}-a)}\right)\right] \left[\sum_{r=0}^{(n-1)/2} \frac{1}{\lambda^{r+1}} \prod_{j=1}^{2r+1} \sigma_{i_{j}} e^{(-1)^{j} p_{i_{j}}}\right],$$

$$K_{21} = -\left[\prod_{a=1}^{n_{\sigma}} \left(\sum_{i_{a}=a}^{n-(n_{\sigma}-a)}\right)\right] \left[\sum_{r=0}^{(n-1)/2} \frac{1}{\lambda^{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{2r+1} \sigma_{i_{j}} e^{(-1)^{j+1} p_{i_{j}}}\right],$$

$$K_{22} = 1 + \left[\prod_{a=1}^{n_{\sigma}} \left(\sum_{i_{a}=a}^{n-(n_{\sigma}-a)}\right)\right] \left[\sum_{r=1}^{(n-1)/2} \frac{1}{\lambda^{r}} \prod_{j=1}^{2r} \sigma_{i_{j}} e^{(-1)^{j} p_{i_{j}}}\right],$$
(10)

where n_{σ} is the number of parameters σ_{i_j} associated with each defect such that $i_1 < i_2 < i_3 < ... < i_n$, and $p_{i_j} = \phi_{i_j} + \phi_{i_j-1}$.

The next step is to derive a general expression for the BT corresponding to this $K^{(n)}$ defect matrix. In order to obtain Bäcklund transformations for *n* defects, we will assume $K^{(n)}$ to be the generator of the gauge transformation (2), leading to

$$\partial_{+}(\phi_{0} - \phi_{n}) = -2\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{i} \sinh p_{i}$$

$$\partial_{-}(\phi_{0} - (-1)^{n}\phi_{n}) = 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{n}}{\sigma_{i}} \sinh q_{i}$$

$$\partial_{+}q_{i} = -2\sigma_{i} \sinh p_{i}$$

$$\partial_{-}p_{i} = -\frac{2}{\sigma_{i}} \sinh q_{i}$$
(11)

with $p_i = \phi_{i-1} + \phi_i$, $q_i = \phi_{i-1} - \phi_i$, and i = 1, ..., n.

3 Bäcklund solutions

In this section we will consider some solutions of the sinh-Gordon model in the presence of two and three defects.

 $\mathbf{n} = \mathbf{2}$

Consider now the fields ϕ_0 and ϕ_2 on each side of the defect with an intermediary field ϕ_1 ,

 $Vacuum \rightarrow One\ Soliton \rightarrow Vacuum\ Solution.$ First, we consider the following solution:

$$\phi_0 = 0, \quad \phi_2 = 0, \quad \phi_1 = \ln\left(\frac{1+\rho_1}{1-\rho_1}\right), \quad \rho_1 = \exp\left(2k_1x_+ + \frac{2}{k_1}x_-\right), \quad (12)$$

which satisfy the Bäcklund equations (11) with n = 2 and the following conditions:

$$\sigma_1 = k_1, \quad \sigma_2 = -k_1. \tag{13}$$

Vacuum \rightarrow One Soliton \rightarrow Two Soliton Solution. Another possible solution is

$$\phi_{0} = 0, \quad \phi_{1} = \ln\left(\frac{1+\rho_{1}}{1-\rho_{1}}\right), \quad \phi_{2} = \ln\left(\frac{1+b_{1}\rho_{1}+b_{2}\rho_{2}+\alpha_{12}b_{1}b_{2}\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}{1-b_{1}\rho_{1}-b_{2}\rho_{2}+\alpha_{12}b_{1}b_{2}\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}\right),$$
$$\rho_{j} = \exp\left(2k_{j}x_{+}+\frac{2}{k_{j}}x_{-}\right), \quad j = 1, 2, \tag{14}$$

where one must have $\alpha_{12} = \left(\frac{k_1 - k_2}{k_1 + k_2}\right)^2$ in the ϕ_2 component. Analogously, we get the following Bäcklund conditions:

$$\sigma_1 = k_1, \quad \sigma_2 = k_2, \quad b_1 = \frac{k_1 + k_2}{k_1 - k_2}.$$
 (15)

n = 3

Finally putting a third defect at the same point as the others, we have the fields ϕ_0 and ϕ_3 on each side of the defects and two intermediary fields ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 at the defect points.

Vacuum \rightarrow **One Soliton** \rightarrow **Vacuum** \rightarrow **One Soliton Solution.** Now taking into account the solutions:

$$\phi_0 = 0, \quad \phi_2 = 0, \quad \phi_1 = \ln\left(\frac{1+\rho_1}{1-\rho_1}\right), \quad \phi_3 = \ln\left(\frac{1+\rho_2}{1-\rho_2}\right).$$
 (16)

The Bäcklund conditions in order to satisfy Type-II BT are: $\sigma_1 = k_1$, $\sigma_2 = -k_1$, $\sigma_3 = k_2$.

 $Vacuum \rightarrow One \ Soliton \rightarrow Two \ Soliton \rightarrow Three \ Soliton \ Solution.$ Lastly, we assume:

$$\begin{split} \phi_{0} &= 0, \quad \phi_{1} = \ln\left(\frac{1+\rho_{1}}{1-\rho_{1}}\right), \quad \phi_{2} = \ln\left(\frac{1+b_{1}\rho_{1}+b_{2}\rho_{2}+\alpha_{12}b_{1}b_{2}\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}{1-b_{1}\rho_{1}-b_{2}\rho_{2}+\alpha_{12}b_{1}b_{2}\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}\right), \\ \phi_{3} &= \ln\left(\frac{1+R_{1}+R_{2}+R_{3}+\alpha_{12}R_{1}R_{2}+\alpha_{13}R_{1}R_{3}+\alpha_{23}R_{2}R_{3}+\alpha_{123}R_{1}R_{2}R_{3}}{1-R_{1}-R_{2}-R_{3}+\alpha_{12}R_{1}R_{2}+\alpha_{13}R_{1}R_{3}+\alpha_{23}R_{2}R_{3}-\alpha_{123}R_{1}R_{2}R_{3}}\right), \\ \rho_{j} &= \exp\left(2k_{j}x_{+}+\frac{2}{k_{j}}x_{-}\right), \quad R_{j} = a_{j}\rho_{j}, \quad j = 1, 2, 3, \end{split}$$
(17)

where one must have $\alpha_{123} = \alpha_{12}\alpha_{13}\alpha_{23}$, with

$$\alpha_{12} = \left(\frac{k_1 - k_2}{k_1 + k_2}\right)^2, \, \alpha_{23} = \left(\frac{k_2 - k_3}{k_2 + k_3}\right)^2, \, \alpha_{13} = \left(\frac{k_1 - k_3}{k_1 + k_3}\right)^2,$$

in order to ensure that ϕ_2 and ϕ_3 satisfy the sinh-Gordon equation. In this case the Bäcklund conditions are $\sigma_1 = k_1, \sigma_2 = k_2, \sigma_3 = k_3, b_1 = \frac{k_1 + k_2}{k_1 - k_2}, a_1 = \left(\frac{k_1 + k_3}{k_1 - k_3}\right) b_1$ and

 $a_2 = \left(\frac{k_2+k_3}{k_2-k_3}\right)b_2$, where b_2 is a free parameter. It is worth mentioning that the BT and their solutions for a four-defect system have been also computed, and the results have shown the expected behaviour.

4 Conclusion

In this paper we considered the sinh-Gordon model and provided general formulas for the defect matrix when *n* defects are considered. Our construction involves the product of *n* Type-I defect matrices. In addition, we have calculated their respective BT in a general way through gauge transformations and provided a few simple examples for n = 2, 3.

It is important to point out that since the BT are constructed as gauge transformations, they preserve the zero curvature representation. The later describes a hierarchy of integrable equations based upon a universal Lax operator. These two facts induce the idea of the universality of the Bäcklund-Gauge transformation within the hierarchy. We have verified [9, 10] that the constructed defect matrix indeed gives the correct BT for the mKdV equation. It provides a systematic construction of BT for all higher grade evolution equations within the mKdV hierarchy. Several examples were verified for KdV hierarchies [7] as well.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank the organizers of the colloquium ICGTMP -Group 31 for the opportunity to present our work. ALR would like to thank the FAPESP So Paulo Research Foundation for their financial support under the process 2015/00025-9. JFG would like to thank FAPESP and CNPq for their financial support. NIS and AHZ would like to thank CNPq for their financial support.

References

- 1. C. Rogers and W. K. Schief Bäcklund and Darboux Transformations: Geometry and Modern Applications in Soliton Theory, 2002, (Cambridge Text in Applied Mathematics) Cambridge University Press.
- 2. P. Bowcock, E. Corrigan and C. Zambon, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 19S2 (2004) 82.
- 3. E. Corrigan and C. Zambon, J. Phys. A 42 (2009).
- 4. A. B. Borisov, S. A. Zykov and M. V. Pavlov, Theor. Mat. Phys. 131 (2002) 550.
- 5. E. Corrigan and C. Zambon, J. Phys. A 43 (2010).
- 6. J. F. Gomes, L. H. Ymai and A. H. Zimerman, J. Phys. A 39 (2006)
- 7. J. F. Gomes, A. L. Retore and A. H. Zimerman (submitted for publication)
- 8. A. R. Aguirre, T. R. Araujo, J. F. Gomes and A. H. Zimerman, JHEP 12 (2011) 056.
- 9. J. F. Gomes, A. L. Retore and A. H. Zimerman, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 597 (2015) 012039
- 10. J. F. Gomes, A. L. Retore and A. H. Zimerman, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 405203.

Higher-genus amplitudes and resurgence in SUSY double-well matrix model for 2D IIA superstrings

Fumihiko Sugino

Abstract We compute higher-genus one-point functions of non-SUSY operators in a SUSY double-well matrix model which has been discussed to correspond with 2D type IIA superstring theory on a nontrivial Ramond-Ramond background. We discuss the validity of resurgence theory in the model by comparing resurgent string perturbation series with instanton contributions.

1 Supersymmetric double-well matrix model

We start with a simple matrix model given by the action [1]

$$S = N \operatorname{tr} \left[\frac{1}{2} B^2 + i B (\phi^2 - \mu^2) + \bar{\psi} (\phi \psi + \psi \phi) \right].$$
⁽¹⁾

B and ϕ are $N \times N$ hermitian matrices, and ψ and $\bar{\psi}$ are $N \times N$ matrices whose components are Grassmann numbers. The action *S* is invariant under SUSY transformations generated by *Q* and \bar{Q} :

$$Q\phi = \psi, \quad Q\psi = 0, \quad Q\bar{\psi} = -iB, \quad QB = 0,$$
 (2)

$$\bar{Q}\phi = -\bar{\psi}, \quad \bar{Q}\bar{\psi} = 0, \quad \bar{Q}\psi = -iB, \quad \bar{Q}B = 0,$$
 (3)

from which one can see the nilpotency: $Q^2 = \bar{Q}^2 = \{Q, \bar{Q}\} = 0$. After integrating out *B*, we have a scalar potential of a double-well shape, $\frac{1}{2}(\phi^2 - \mu^2)^2$. In the case of $\mu^2 > 2$, a large-*N* saddle point solution for the eigenvalue distribution of the matrix $\phi: \rho(\lambda) \equiv \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \delta(\lambda - \phi)$ is given by

Fumihiko Sugino

Okayama Institute for Quantum Physics, Furugyocho 1-7-36, Naka-ku, Okayama 703-8278, Japan (From September in 2016: Fields, Gravity and Strings Group, Center for Theoretical Physics of the Universe, Institute for Basic Science, 501 dong, Graduate Research Center, Seoul National University, 1, Gwanak-ro, Gwanak-gu, Seoul 08826, Korea) e-mail: fusugino@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_49

Fumihiko Sugino

$$\rho(\lambda) = \begin{cases} \frac{\nu_{\pm}}{\pi} \lambda \sqrt{(\lambda^2 - a^2)(b^2 - \lambda^2)} & (a < \lambda < b) \\ \frac{\nu_{\pm}}{\pi} |\lambda| \sqrt{(\lambda^2 - a^2)(b^2 - \lambda^2)} & (-b < \lambda < -a), \end{cases}$$
(4)

where $a = \sqrt{\mu^2 - 2}$ and $b = \sqrt{\mu^2 + 2}$. The filling fractions (v_+, v_-) satisfying $v_+ + v_- = 1$ indicate that $v_+ N$ $(v_- N)$ eigenvalues are around the right (left) minimum of the double-well. The large-*N* free energy and the expectation values $\left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} B^n \right\rangle$ (n = 1, 2, ...) evaluated at the solution turn out to all vanish [1]. This strongly suggests that the solution preserves SUSY. Thus, we conclude that the SUSY minima are infinitely degenerate and parametrized by (v_+, v_-) at large *N*. On the other hand, in case of $\mu^2 < 2$, a non SUSY saddle point solution is obtained [2]. Transition between the SUSY phase $(\mu^2 > 2)$ and the SUSY broken phase $(\mu^2 < 2)$ is of the third order.

The partition function after B, ψ and $\overline{\psi}$ are integrated out is expressed as a Gaussian one-matrix model by the Nicolai mapping $H = \phi^2$, where the *H*-integration is over the *positive definite* hermitian matrices, not over all the hermitian matrices. Refs. [3,4] discuss that the difference of the integration region only affects nonperturbative quantities in 1/N, and the model can be regarded as the standard Gaussian matrix model at each order of genus expansion.

The Nicolai mapping changes the SUSY operators $\frac{1}{N}$ tr ϕ^{2n} (n = 1, 2, ...) to regular operators $\frac{1}{N}$ tr H^n . Hence, the behavior of their correlators is expected to be described by the Gaussian one-matrix model (the c = -2 topological gravity) at least perturbatively in 1/N. However, the non-SUSY operators $\frac{1}{N}$ tr ϕ^{2n+1} (n = 0, 1, 2, ...) are mapped to $\pm \frac{1}{N}$ tr $H^{n+1/2}$ that are singular at the origin. They are not observables in the c = -2 topological gravity, while they are natural observables as well as $\frac{1}{N}$ tr ϕ^{2n} in the original setting (1). Correlation functions among operators

$$\frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \phi^{2n+1}, \qquad \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \psi^{2n+1}, \qquad \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \bar{\psi}^{2n+1} \qquad (n = 0, 1, 2, \ldots)$$
(5)

at the solution (4) exhibit logarithmic singular behavior of powers of $\ln(\mu^2 - 2)$ [5].

In Ref. [5], it has been discussed that the matrix model corresponds to twodimensional type IIA superstring theory [6, 7] on an nontrivial Ramond-Ramond background from the points of view of symmetry and spectrum. Furthermore, in Ref. [8], it has been confirmed at the tree level by performing the explicit computations of correlation functions in both sides. In Ref. [9], nonperturbative instanton computations have been carried out in the matrix model. The instantons induce dynamical SUSY breaking, and the breaking survives after taking the double scaling limit. This suggests that the target-space SUSY in the two-dimensional superstring theory is also spontaneously broken due to nonperturbative dynamics. The double scaling limit defined as

$$N \to \infty, \quad \mu^2 \to 2 \quad \text{with } s \equiv N^{2/3} (\mu^2 - 2) \text{ fixed}$$
 (6)

gives the correspondence of the matrix model to two-dimensional superstring theory beyond the tree level. In its weakly coupled region (*s*: large), instanton effects can be seen in the matrix model which are nonperturbative in 1/N. Although such effects are typically of the order e^{-N} and vanish in the simple large-N limit, interestingly they remain after taking the double scaling limit (6). In Ref. [10], the exact expression of the nonperturbative free energy is given by a solution of the Painlevé II differential equation using the technique of random matrix theory [11].

This matrix model is simple but exhibits quite interesting features as correspondence with two-dimensional type IIA superstring theory on an nontrivial Ramond-Ramond background, nonperturbative spontaneous SUSY breaking, and so on. It should be worth being explored to get deep insights into issues of the Ramond-Ramond background and nonperturbative aspects of superstring theory.

2 Higher-genus amplitudes in the matrix model

In this section, we calculate the one-point function of ϕ_{2k+1} to all orders in the string perturbation theory. Since the operators are not protected by SUSY, nontrivial large-order behavior is expected here. As discussed in [5], the one-point function at the (v_+, v_-) filling fraction is simply related to that at the (1,0) filling fraction by

$$\left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \phi_{2k+1} \right\rangle^{(\nu_+,\nu_-)} = (\nu_+ - \nu_-) \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \phi_{2k+1} \right\rangle^{(1,0)}.$$
 (7)

So, it is sufficient to consider the sector of the (1,0) filling fraction alone. The object is recast in the contour integral of the resolvent of ϕ^2 as

$$\left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \phi_{2k+1} \right\rangle^{(1,0)} = \oint_{[a,b]} \frac{dz}{2\pi i} z^{2k+1} \cdot 2z \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \frac{1}{z^2 - \phi^2} \right\rangle^{(1,0)} + \dots,$$
(8)

where the integration contour surrounds the support of the eigenvalue distribution [a,b]. "..." stands for nonuniversal analytic terms in *s* which we will ignore below. Notice that the resolvent is protected by SUSY because ϕ^2 is essentially equivalent with the auxiliary variable *B*. The resolvent can be explicitly computed at each order of the 1/N expansion using the result of the Gaussian matrix model [12]. After taking the double scaling limit (6), we end up with the following genus expansion [13]:

$$N^{\frac{2}{3}(k+2)} \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \phi^{2k+1} \right\rangle^{(1,0)} = \frac{1}{2\pi^{3/2}} \Gamma\left(k+\frac{3}{2}\right) \sum_{h=0}^{\left\lfloor\frac{k+2}{3}\right\rfloor} \left(-\frac{1}{12}\right)^{h} \frac{s^{k-3h+2}}{h!(k-3h+2)!} \ln s + \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{2\pi^{3/2}} \Gamma\left(k+\frac{3}{2}\right) \sum_{h=\left\lfloor\frac{k+2}{3}\right\rfloor+1}^{\infty} \frac{(3h-k-3)!}{h!} \frac{s^{k+2-3h}}{12^{h}}.$$
(9)

The infinite series in the second line is divergent and not Borel summable. In fact, as a result of the Borel resummation, we have

$$(2nd line) \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{1}{3^{k+5/2}} \frac{s^{k+2}}{(k+\frac{3}{2})(k+\frac{5}{2})} \int_0^\infty dz \left(1 - \frac{z^2}{z_0^2}\right)^{k+5/2} e^{-z} + (less singular)$$
(10)

with $z_0 \equiv \frac{4}{3}s^{3/2}$. The integrand has a branch cut singularity at $z = z_0$ which sits on the integration contour. The result of the integral changes depends on avoiding the singularity upwards or downwards. The difference gives the amount of the nonperturbative ambiguity:

$$i(-1)^{k+1} \frac{\Gamma(k+\frac{3}{2})}{2\pi \cdot 3^{k+5/2}} \frac{s^{k+2}}{(k+\frac{3}{2})(k+\frac{5}{2})} \int_{z_0}^{\infty} dz \left(\frac{z^2}{z_0^2} - 1\right)^{k+5/2} e^{-z},$$
(11)

that is of the order $e^{-\frac{4}{3}s^{3/2}}$, coinciding with the leading instanton contribution [9, 10].

3 Resurgence in the matrix model

Recently, resurgence theory has been discussed in quantum mechanical systems and matrix models, which tells us that ambiguity from large-order behavior of perturbation series should cancel with ambiguity from instanton contributions so that the total expression is well-defined (for example, see [14, 15]). It is interesting to compute instanton effects of the one-point function and check whether the resurgence program works in our case.

The one-point function can be expressed in terms of orthogonal polynomials as

$$\left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \phi^{2k+1} \right\rangle^{(1,0)} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\mu^2} dx \, e^{-\frac{N}{2}x^2} (\mu^2 - x)^{k+1/2} P_n(x)^2,$$
 (12)

where $P_n(x)$ is a monic polynomial of x of the degree n and normalized by

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\mu^2} dx \, e^{-\frac{N}{2}x^2} P_n(x) P_m(x) = h_n \delta_{n,m}.$$
 (13)

Note that $P_n(x)$ is not identical with the orthogonal polynomial of the standard Gaussian matrix model $P_n^{(H)}(x)$ given by the Hermite polynomial, because the integration region of (13) is different from the case of the standard Gaussian matrix model, i.e., whole real line. However, the difference only affects the nonperturbative contribution, and the perturbative expansion (9) can be reproduced by replacing $P_n(x)$ with $P_n^{(H)}(x)$ and evaluating the integral with the integration region being $x \in (-\infty, 2]^{-1}$.

¹ Relevant eigenvalues to perturbative contributions in the sector of the (1,0) filling fraction, $a < \lambda$ (< *b*) in (4), correspond to (-2 <) *x* < 2 in (12) due to the Nicolai mapping $x = \mu^2 - \lambda^2$. In the double scaling limit, a significant contribution comes from the neighborhood of *x* = 2.

Let us consider the integral (12) with the region $[2, \mu^2]$, which is the outside of perturbative eigenvalue distribution and is expected to give nonperturbative contribution. We magnify the region around x = 2 by introducing a new variable ξ as $x = 2 + N^{-2/3}\xi$. As far as considering the lowest order of nonperturbative effects, i.e., one-instanton contribution, we may replace $P_n(x)$ in the integrand with $P_n(H)(x)$. Then, we have

$$N^{\frac{2}{3}(k+2)} \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \phi^{2k+1} \right\rangle^{(1,0)} \bigg|_{1-\operatorname{inst.}} \sim \int_{u}^{s} d\xi \, \frac{e^{-\frac{4}{3}\xi^{3/2}}}{8\pi\xi} \, (s-\xi)^{k+1/2} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\xi^{-3/2}) \right]$$
(14)

with *u* being the $\mathcal{O}(1)$ cutoff. The integrand is valid for ξ large as the symbol "~" means, and we compute the integral around the saddle point $\xi = \xi_* = \mathcal{O}(s)$. Note that expansion by the instanton number is good for *s* large. The saddle point is given as

$$\xi_* = s + \frac{2k+1}{4}s^{-1/2} + \mathcal{O}(s^{-2}).$$
(15)

In order for the Gaussian integral around ξ_* to be reliable in the integral region [u, s], we first take *k* as being large and negative, since $s \gg -k \gg 1$. The steepest descent paths are $\xi - \xi_* = \pm ix$ ($x \in \mathbf{R}$) corresponding to $s \to s e^{\pm i\varepsilon}$. After performing the integral, we eventually rotate back *k* to positive. The final result we arrive at is

$$N^{\frac{2}{3}(k+2)} \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{tr} \phi^{2k+1} \right\rangle^{(1,0)} \bigg|_{1-\operatorname{inst.}}$$

$$\simeq (\pm i)(-1)^{k+1} \frac{1}{2^{k+4}\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{e^{-\frac{4}{3}s^{3/2}}}{s^{\frac{1}{2}k+\frac{7}{4}}} e^{-k-1/2} \left(k+\frac{1}{2}\right)^{k+1} \left[1+\mathcal{O}(s^{-3/2})\right] \quad (16)$$

for $s \to s e^{\pm i\varepsilon}$.

Note that avoiding the singularity onwards or downwards in (10) corresponds to $s \to s e^{-i\varepsilon}$ or $s e^{+i\varepsilon}$, respectively. Hence, we can see that the ambiguity from the one-instanton contribution (16) cancels with the leading ambiguity from the Borel resummed perturbation series (11), when *k* is large and the use of the Stirling formula for $\Gamma(k + \frac{3}{2})$ is allowed.

4 Summary and discussion

We have computed the one-point functions of the non-SUSY operators $\frac{1}{N}$ tr ϕ_{2k+1} (k = 0, 1, 2, ...) in the SUSY double-well matrix model to all orders of genus expansion. The series is divergent and not Borel summable. We have explicitly checked that the leading ambiguity arising from the Borel resummation procedure cancels with that from the one-instanton contribution as the resurgence theory suggests as far as k is large. It is extremely interesting to investigate the instanton contribution

for the case of k not large, and to examine whether the resurgence theory works or not.

In addition, the resurgence theory suggests that subleading ambiguities from the Borel resumed series should be canceled with ambiguities from contributions of higher instanton numbers. Checking these cases is also worth pursuing.

Acknowledgements The author would like to thank Michael G. Endres, Tsunehide Kuroki, Shinsuke M. Nishigaki and Hiroshi Suzuki for collaboration. He is grateful to the organizers of GROUP31, especially Professor Francesco Toppan, for my invitation to this wonderful meeting and for warm hospitality.

References

- 1. T. Kuroki, F. Sugino, Nucl. Phys. B 830 (2010) 434-473.
- 2. T. Kuroki, F. Sugino, Nucl. Phys. B 844 (2011) 409-449.
- I. K. Kostov, in Cargese 1990, Proceedings, Random surfaces and quantum gravity pp. 135– 149.
- 4. D. Gaiotto, L. Rastelli, T. Takayanagi, JHEP 0505 (2005) 029.
- 5. T. Kuroki, F. Sugino, Nucl. Phys. B 867 (2013) 448-482.
- 6. D. Kutasov, N. Seiberg, Phys. Lett. B 251 (1990) 67-72.
- 7. H. Ita, H. Nieder, Y. Oz, JHEP 0506 (2005) 055.
- 8. T. Kuroki, F. Sugino, JHEP 1403 (2014) 006.
- 9. M. G. Endres, T. Kuroki, F. Sugino, H. Suzuki, Nucl. Phys. B 876 (2013) 758-793.
- 10. S. M. Nishigaki and F. Sugino, JHEP 1409 (2014) 104.
- 11. C. A. Tracy and H. Widom, Commun. Math. Phys. 159 (1984) 151-174.
- 12. U. Haagerup and S. Thorbjørnsen, *Asymptotic Expansions for the Gaussian Unitary Ensemble*, arXiv:1004.3479 [math.P.R]. Unpublished
- 13. T. Kuroki and F. Sugino, One-point functions of non-SUSY operators at arbitrary genus in a matrix model for type IIA superstrings, arXiv:1609.01628 [hep-th]. Unpublished
- 14. M. Marino, JHEP 0812 (2008) 114.
- 15. G. V. Dunne and M. Unsal, JHEP 1211 (2012) 170.

3D Higher spin gravity and the fractional quantum Hall effect

Mauricio Valenzuela

Abstract This article is based on the talk "Fractional Spin Gravity" presented at the 31*st International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics*, Rio de Janeiro 19-25 June 2016. There we emphasised a direct implication of the works by N. Boulanger, P. Sundell and the author on fractional spin extensions of 3*D* higher spin gravity [1,2]. This is that higher spin gravity may govern interactions of anyons in the fractional quantum Hall effect. More generally we suggest here also that fractional spin states of matter in 2 + 1 interact with their background geometry by means of higher spin gravity.

1 Introduction: The fractional quantum Hall effect

The fractional quantum Hall effect (**FQHE**) occurs in a planar electric conductor when a perpendicular strong magnetic field yields the condensation of an electron gas. The vacuum of this system consists of a quantum condensate of electrons trapped in Landau levels which form a new state of matter [3]. The phases of the condensate are characterized by the value of the Landau level filling factor, v, i.e., the number of Landau levels that are filled to maximal capacity. The Hall conductance, σ_H , is induced by Lorentz forces on charges in a perpendicular direction to the current. Remarkably enough, σ_H exhibits rational quantization. Its experimental values at FQHE conditions remain approximately constant, with respect to variations of the external magnetic field (*B*) in certain intervals, at a rational number of times the fundamental unit of conductivity (e^2/h) ; these are the Hall plateaux. Thus at FQHE conditions, the Hall conductance reads $\sigma_H = ve^2/h$, where *e* is the electron charge, *h* the Planck constant, and $v \in \mathbb{Q}$ is a rational number. The integer quantum Hall effect refers to the cases of the *v* integer. It is well understood in

Mauricio Valenzuela

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_50

Facultad de Ingeniería y Tecnología, Universidad San Sebastián, General Lagos 1163, Valdivia 5110693, Chile. e-mail: mauricio.valenzuela@uss.cl

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

terms of Landau level quantization without many-body electron interactions. It was predicted in [4] and then experimentally observed in [5] for which Von Klitzing was awarded a Nobel Prize. It was not expected however that the filling factors would be quantized at values v < 1, until it was experimentally observed [3]. A Nobel Prize went to Tsui and Stormer for this discovery, and to Laughlin for his explanation [6]. v = p/q represents the ratio of the number of electronic charges (*p*) to the number ($q = B/\phi_0$) of units of magnetic flux quanta $\phi_0 := hc/e$. When the magnetic field varies an integer number of times the field quanta ϕ_0 , a phase transition must occur, meaning that some charges should either abandon a complete Landau level, jumping to the next excited state, or, otherwise decay to a lower Landau level. This is why the occurrence of values v < 1 are counterintuitive, as it means that there might be less than one unit of electric charge per magnetic field quanta, i.e., that exited states (and holes) have fractional charge.

To explain this odd experimental fact, the Coulomb many-body electron-electron interaction should be taken into account [6]. Indeed, the Coulomb interaction of electrons lowers the gaps between Landau levels, breaking them into fractions. As a consequence, the excitations of the many-electron problem appear to have fractional charge and angular momentum. From variational principles Laughling [6] was able to guess an ansatz for the wave function of that problem, which was actually accurate. Laughlin imposed Wigner lattice symmetries on the many-electron configuration, as electrons repel each other, maximizing their distance inside a given Landau level. The anzats for the ground states and excited states are dubbed "Laughlin's" wave functions. He showed that they carry fractional charge; later on it was shown that they also carry fractional spin and statistics [7–9]. The excitated states behave as free particles, and they are known as "anyons". Anyons have been observed experimentally [10–14]. Anyons are frequently presented as bound states of fractional charges and magnetic fluxes, i.e., magnetic instantons in the plane attached to charges (see e.g., [8, 15, 16]). The braided statistics of anyons can be interpreted as result of the braiding of magnetic fluxes attached to rotating fractional charges.

The existence of anyons was predicted theoretically before the experiments. In fact, based on the analysis of the topology of the configuration space of identical particles in 2 + 1 dimensions and given that the fundamental group of the rotation group in the spatial plane is \mathbb{Z} (and not \mathbb{Z}_2 as for higher dimensions), Leinaas and Myrheim [17] argued in 1977 the existence of generalized braid statistics, generalizing bosonic and fermionic. Their article was considered an academic curiosity, the existence of statistics different from the bosonic and fermionic, but in spite of their mathematical possibility, it was too radical to be believed. Anyons appear also from group representation theory. Indeed, the Poincaré group, which is the isometry group of flat space-time, has also real-valued ($s \in \mathbb{R}$) spin representations in 2+1 dimensions (for a review see [18]). Wigner's view on the existence of particles (fields) as carrying representations of the space-time isometries, together with Frad-kin's belief that "all that is consistent is possible, and all that is possible happens" (in the 89's Dirac Medal ceremony) are validated by the fractional quantum Hall effect: anyons do exist.

The Hall setup can be imagined as a "toy universe" which passes through topological phase-transitions when the magnetic field (or the magnetic length $\ell_B = \sqrt{\hbar/eB}$ which is the typical scale at FQHE conditions) overpasses some critical values, but it stays stable for small variations. In particular, in FQHE phases the anyons make their appearance playing the role of fundamental particles. It is natural therefore to try to describe them by using equations of motion, in the same way that Dirac's equation describes spin 1/2 massive/massless fields. Some examples of anyon wave equations were given by Jackiw and Nair in [19], and by Cortes and Plyushchay in [20]. The interested reader may consult reference [18] for a review of these and other anyon wave equations.

In [2] a topological (massless) first order non-linear action principle for realvalued spin fields coupled to gauge gravity interactions was proposed, and which can be reduced to a Chern-Simons model. In the latter reference, one of the remarkable results is that the gravitational interaction of fractional spin fields are indeed of the higher spin (**HS**) gravity type [21, 22]. It is therefore very suggestive that higher-spin gravity might describe the gravitational interactions of fractional spin fields having FQHE conditions. We shall argue below on theoretical grounds that gravitating anyons must couple to infinite-dimensional extensions of the Lorentz connection, which can be described using the tools of HS gravity [23–26]. Quoting Wigner's and Fradkin's ideas, we would expect that a systematic study of the interactions of anyons based on HS gravity should be consistent with their phenomenology in the FQHE.

2 Fractional higher spin gravity

In an arbitrary 2 + 1D curved background, the description of fractional spin fields requires the introduction of a Lorentz connection taking values in a discrete serie representation [27, 28], which are infinite dimensional, and so, the fractional spin fields must also have infinite components. The formulation of a Chern-Simons action principle, which make use of traces of product of Lorentz generators, might be inconsistent when (infinite) matrix representations are used since traces may either diverge or converge to wrong (Lorentz symmetry broken) values. These problems can be fixed using Vasiliev's HS gravity technology that depends on regularized (super) trace definitions (see e.g., [25]). In doing this we were able in reference [2] to write down an action principle for fractional spin gravity. As we will see, there is a technical need suggesting we look at HS gravity in order to construct a consistent framework of gauge gravity interactions of fractional spin fields. From another point of view, since fractional spin fields must transform under an infinite dimensional (discrete) representations of the Lorentz algebra, they will also admit the action of the universal enveloping algebra of the Lorentz algebra. The latter algebra defines also the gauge algebra of HS Chern-Simons gravity [21, 22]; therefore it becomes natural to promote the whole HS algebra, not only the Lorentz generators, to gauge fields mediating the interaction between fractional spin fields. By doing

this the spin-2 gravity interactions of fractional spin fields are extended by infinite many fields with arbitrary (half-)integer spins. Thus, as pointed out, HS gravity provides natural interactions for fractional spin fields. Let us write down the equations of motion of the fractional spin gravity theory [1, 2] in order to observe this more explicitly. These are:

$$dW + WW + \Psi\overline{\Psi} = 0, \qquad dU + UU + \overline{\Psi}\Psi = 0, \tag{1}$$

$$d\Psi + W\Psi + \Psi U = 0, \qquad d\overline{\Psi} + \overline{\Psi}W + U\overline{\Psi} = 0, \tag{2}$$

which are more succinctly expressed as the vanishing of the gauge curvature,

$$d\mathbb{A} + \mathbb{A}^2 = 0, \qquad \mathbb{A} = \begin{bmatrix} W & \Psi \\ \overline{\Psi} & U \end{bmatrix},$$
 (3)

where A contains the fusion of HS gravity connection (W), a fractional spin one forms (ψ), and a $U \in U(\infty) \otimes U(\infty)$ non-abelian internal field. As shown in [1,2], the ψ fields are valued in a non-polynomial class of functions of universal enveloping algebra generators. Thus the density $\Psi \overline{\Psi}$, when they are Taylor expanded, is source of the field strength (dW + WW) of HS gravity for all spins. The same is valid for the non-abelian curvature dU + UU. Thus non-trivial anyon distributions are the sources of higher-spin gravity and non-abelian interactions. When $\Psi = 0 = U$ the system (1) is equivalent to the Chern-Simons HS gravity [21, 22]. For definiteness and simplicity let us choose W-valued in a representation of the HS algebra $Aq_{+}^{e}(2;\mu)$ [22], up-to tensor-product extensions. W has an expansion of the type

$$W = \sum_{a=0,1,2;n=0,1,\dots,\infty} dx^{I} \frac{1}{n!} W_{I}^{a_{1}a_{2}\dots a_{n}} J_{a_{1}a_{2}\dots a_{n}},$$
(4)

up-to-supersymmetric extensions by fermionic (spinor) components, and idempotent generators. dx^{I} are line elements and $J_{a_{1}a_{2}...a_{n}}$ are symmetric tensors belonging to the universal enveloping algebra of the Lorentz algebra generated by elements J_{a} . Hence $J_{a_{1}a_{2}...a_{n}} = J_{(a_{1}}\cdots J_{a_{n}})$ consists of symmetric products with spin *n*. The parameter μ in $Aq_{+}^{e}(2;\mu)$ determines the lowest spin of the anyons [1,2],

$$s = \frac{1+\mu}{4}.\tag{5}$$

It was noticed in [1,2] that for critical values, $\mu = -(2\ell + 1)$, $\ell = 0, 1, 2, ...$, anyons become bosons or fermions since $s = -\frac{\ell}{2}$, and the $Aq^e_+(2; \nu)$ algebra is truncated to a matrix algebra $Mat_{\ell+1}(\mathbb{C})$ [22], while the $u(\infty)$ algebra is truncated to $u(\ell)$. With suitable reality conditions, W and U will take values respectively in the algebras $sl(\ell + 1, \mathbb{R})$ and $u(\ell)$ (up-to-tensor products), while the boson/fermion (before anyon) Ψ and $\overline{\Psi}$ transform under the one-sided action of these algebras (cf. (1)-(2)) of spin *s*. Thus the model (1) contains $SL(\ell)$ -type of HS gravities.

Though HS gravity interactions in a setup such as the Hall effect are expected to be weak, because of their topological nature, it does not mean that they are trivial. Indeed the braided statistics of anyons is yield by Chern-Simons interactions [8].

Thus, even if HS gravity fields do not propagate, non-trivial topological configurations might be reflected in bulk-edge effects, as the Hall conductance for instance. However, one needs further research to find out which effects of HS gravity can be measured. Our goal here has been to point out that HS gravity may be predictive in FQHE and similar experiments.

3 Conclusions

We have argued that the effects of higher spin gravity [1, 2] may be observed in the FQHE and similar experiments. Consider for instance the statistical phases of anyons in the Quantum Hall effect, given in terms of the filling factor by $\exp(i\pi v)$, and the statistical phases $\exp(-i2\pi s)$ (see (5)) in the models [1,2]. Comparing both statistical phases, we obtain that the filling factor of the FQHE

$$\mathbf{v} = 2s = \frac{1+\mu}{4},\tag{6}$$

is related to the μ -parameter of the fractional spin algebra (1)-(2). On the one hand, for critical values, $\mu = -(2\ell + 1)$, the model [1, 2] is reduced to $SL(\ell) \otimes SL(\ell)$ (matrix) Chern-Simons HS gravity and the spin of the fractional spin fields become bosonic/fermionic $|s| = \frac{\ell}{2}$. Thus $SL(\ell) \otimes SL(\ell)$ HS gravities may be related to gravity interactions of the fundamental excitations/holes in the *integer quantum Hall effect* ($v = \ell$). More generally, for non-critical values of the HS algebra parameter μ , and the related non-integer filling factor (6), we would expect that their interactions will be described by the fractional spin gravity model (1)-(2) or extensions of it. In this way, we expect that fractional spin gravity [1, 2] will contribute to a better comprehension of the FQHE and related phenomena (e.g., [30–32]).

Acknowledgements I would like to thank to N. Boulanger and P. Sundell for their enlightening comments and their collaboration in this project.

References

- N. Boulanger, P. Sundell, and M. Valenzuela, "Three-dimensional fractional-spin gravity," JHEP 02 (2014) 052. [Erratum: JHEP03,076(2016)].
- N. Boulanger, P. Sundell, and M. Valenzuela, "Gravitational and gauge couplings in Chern-Simons fractional spin gravity," *JHEP* 01 (2016) 173.[Erratum: JHEP 03, 075(2016)].
- D. C. Tsui, H. L. Stormer, and A. C. Gossard, "Two-dimensional magnetotransport in the extreme quantum limit," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 48 (1982) 1559–1562.
- 4. T. Ando, Y. Matsumoto, and Y. Uemura, "Theory of hall effect in a two-dimensional electron system," *Journal of the Physical Society of Japan* **39** (1975), no. 2, 279–288.
- K. von Klitzing, G. Dorda, and M. Pepper, "New method for high accuracy determination of the fine structure constant based on quantized Hall resistance," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 45 (1980) 494–497.
- 6. R. B. Laughlin, "Anomalous quantum Hall effect: An Incompressible quantum fluid with fractionally charged excitations," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **50** (1983) 1395.

- 7. B. I. Halperin, "Statistics of quasiparticles and the hierarchy of fractional quantized Hall states," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **52** (1984) 1583–1586. [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett.52,2390(1984)].
- D. Arovas, J. R. Schrieffer, and F. Wilczek, "Fractional Statistics and the Quantum Hall Effect," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 53 (1984) 722–723.
- D. P. Arovas, J. R. Schrieffer, F. Wilczek, and A. Zee, "Statistical Mechanics of Anyons," *Nucl. Phys.* B251 (1985) 117–126.
- R. de Picciotto, M. Reznikov, M. Heiblum, V. Umansky, G. Bunin, and D. Mahalu, "Direct observation of a fractional charge," *Nature* 389 (1997) 162–164.
- J. Martin, et al., "Localization of fractionally charged quasi-particles," *Science* **305** (2004), no. 5686, 980–983.
- R. L. Willett, L. N. Pfeiffer, and K. W. West, "Alternation and interchange of e/4 and e/2 period interference oscillations consistent with filling factor 5/2 non-abelian quasiparticles," *Phys. Rev. B* 82 (Nov, 2010) 205301.
- R. L. Willett, L. N. Pfeiffer, and K. W. West, "Measurement of filling factor 5/2 quasiparticle interference with observation of charge e/4 and e/2 period oscillations," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106 (2009), no. 22, 8853–8858.
- C. W. von Keyserlingk, S. H. Simon, and B. Rosenow, "Enhanced Bulk-Edge Coulomb Coupling in Fractional Fabry-Perot Interferometers," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 115 (2015), no. 12, 126807.
- F. Wilczek, "Quantum Mechanics of Fractional Spin Particles," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 49 (1982) 957.
- N. Itzhaki, "Anyons, 't Hooft loops and a generalized connection in three-dimensions," *Phys. Rev.* D67 (2003) 065008, hep-th/0211140.
- 17. J. Leinaas and J. Myrheim, "On the theory of identical particles," *Nuovo Cim.* **B37** (1977) 1–23.
- P. A. Horvathy, M. S. Plyushchay, and M. Valenzuela, "Bosons, fermions and anyons in the plane, and supersymmetry," *Anns. Phys.* 325 (2010) 1931–1975, 1001.0274.
- R. Jackiw and V. Nair, "Relativistic wave equations for anyons," *Phys. Rev.* D43 (1991) 1933– 1942.
- J. Cortes and M. Plyushchay, "Linear differential equations for a fractional spin field," J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 6049-6057, hep-th/9405193.
- 21. M. Blencowe, "A Consistent Interacting Massless Higher Spin Field Theory in D = (2+1)," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 6 (1989) 443.
- M. A. Vasiliev, "Higher spin algebras and quantization on the sphere and hyperboloid," *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* A6 (1991) 1115–1135.
- M. A. Vasiliev, "More on equations of motion for interacting massless fields of all spins in (3+1)-dimensions," *Phys. Lett.* B285 (1992) 225–234.
- S. F. Prokushkin and M. A. Vasiliev, "Higher-spin gauge interactions for massive matter fields in 3D AdS space-time," *Nucl. Phys.* B545 (1999) 385, hep-th/9806236.
- M. A. Vasiliev, "Higher spin gauge theories: Star-product and AdS space," in Golfand's Memorial Volume, M. Shifman ed., World Scientific (2000), hep-th/9910096.
- M. A. Vasiliev, "Nonlinear equations for symmetric massless higher spin fields in (A)dS(d)," *Phys. Lett.* B567 (2003) 139–151, hep-th/0304049.
- V. Bargmann, "Irreducible unitary representations of the Lorentz group," Annals Math. 48 (1947) 568–640.
- A. O. Barut and C. Fronsdal, "On non-compact groups, ii. representations of the 2+1 lorentz group," *Proc. Roy. Soc. London* A287 (1965) 532–548.
- N. Boulanger, P. Sundell, and M. Valenzuela, "A Higher-Spin Chern-Simons Theory of Anyons," *Phys. Part. Nucl. Lett.* **11** (2014), no. 7, 977–980, 1311.4589. [Erratum: Phys. Part. Nucl. Lett.13, no. 3, 416 (2016)].
- R. B. Laughlin, "The Relationship between high temperature superconductivity and the fractional quantum Hall effect," *Science* 242 (1988) 525–533.
- Y.-H. Chen, F. Wilczek, E. Witten, and B. I. Halperin, "On Anyon Superconductivity," *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* B3 (1989) 1001.
- A. L. Fetter, R. B. Laughlin, and C. B. Hanna, "Anyons and superconductivity: Random phase approximation," *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* B5 (1991) 2751–2790.

The "odd" Gelfand-Zetlin basis for representations of general linear Lie superalgebras

J. Van der Jeugt and N.I. Stoilova

Abstract We introduce a new Gelfand-Zetlin (GZ) basis for covariant representations of $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n)$. The patterns in this basis are fixed according to a chain of subalgebras, all of which are Lie superalgebras themselves. The basic generators consist of odd elements only. This GZ basis is interesting because the limit when *n* goes to infinity becomes clear. This could be used in the description of systems with an infinite number of parabosons and parafermions.

1 Introduction and motivation

The generalization of bosons and fermions to so-called parabosons and parafermions was initiated by Green in 1953 [1]. In this process, the (anti-)commutation relations for the boson and fermion operators were replaced by certain triple relations [1,2]. This allows for more freedom when it comes to representations: where the standard bosons and fermions (with certain conditions such as a unique vacuum vector) allow only one irreducible unitary representation (namely the Fock space), parabosons and parafermions allow several such representations each characterized by a number p, the order of statistics. For the case p = 1, the relations for parabosons and parafermions reduce to those for standard bosons and fermions.

The above generalization is especially interesting because of the underlying mathematical structure. A system consisting of k parafermions f_j^{\pm} (j = 1, ..., k) is known to correspond to the defining relations of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{so}(2k+1)$ [3,4]. Similarly, a system consisting of n parabosons b_j^{\pm} (j = 1, ..., n) corresponds to the

J. Van der Jeugt

N.I. Stoilova

Ghent University, Dept. of Applied Mathematics, Computer Science and Statistics, Krijgslaan 281-S9, 9000 Gent, Belgium, e-mail: Joris.VanderJeugt@UGent.be

Institute for Nuclear Research and Nuclear Energy, Boul. Tsarigradsko Chaussee 72, 1784 Sofia, Bulgaria, e-mail: stoilova@inrne.bas.bg

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_51

defining relations of the Lie superalgebra $\mathfrak{osp}(1|2n)$ [5]. When it comes to a combined system of k parafermions and n parabosons (referred to as the parastatistics operators), there is some choice for the mixed triple relations [2]. The most natural choice implies that such a combined system corresponds to the defining relations of the Lie superalgebra $\mathfrak{osp}(2k+1|2n)$ [6].

The construction of the corresponding parastatistics Fock space of order p, which corresponds to an infinite-dimensional unitary representation of $\mathfrak{osp}(2k+1|2n)$, is far from trivial. This construction, including the explicit action of the parastatistics operators in an appropriate basis, was completed only recently [7].

For people working in quantum field theory, the main interest is in such systems with an infinite degree of freedom, i.e., where $k, n \to \infty$. In order to consider this, recall that the main ingredient in the construction of the parastatistics Fock space of order p is the branching $\mathfrak{osp}(2k+1|2n) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(k|n)$, and the use of Gel'fand-Zetlin (GZ) patterns of covariant representations of $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n)$ to label the states of this Fock space. The GZ-basis for covariant representations of $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n)$ was constructed in [8], and proceeds according to the subalgebra chain

 $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(k|n-1) \supset \cdots \supset \mathfrak{gl}(k|1) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(k) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(k-1) \supset \cdots \supset \mathfrak{gl}(2) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(1)$. The labels of the GZ-basis vectors for $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n)$ follow similar rules as those of the classical GZ-basis for the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{gl}(n)$ [9]. For example, a basis vector for a covariant representation of $\mathfrak{gl}(4|3)$ is given by

 $\begin{array}{c} \mu_{17} \ \mu_{27} \ \mu_{37} \ \mu_{47} \ \mu_{57} \ \mu_{67} \ \mu_{77} \\ \mu_{16} \ \mu_{26} \ \mu_{36} \ \mu_{46} \ \mu_{56} \ \mu_{66} \\ \mu_{15} \ \mu_{25} \ \mu_{35} \ \mu_{45} \ \mu_{55} \\ \mu_{14} \ \mu_{24} \ \mu_{34} \ \mu_{44} \\ \mu_{13} \ \mu_{23} \ \mu_{33} \\ \mu_{12} \ \mu_{22} \\ \mu_{11} \end{array}$

In such a μ -triangle, all $\mu_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, satisfy conditions such as

- betweenness conditions $(1 \le i \le j \le k-1 \text{ or } k+1 \le i \le j \le k+n-1)$ $\mu_{i,j+1} \ge \mu_{ij} \ge \mu_{i+1,j+1}$
- θ -conditions or 0-1-conditions $(1 \le i \le k, k+1 \le s \le k+n)$ $\mu_{is} - \mu_{i,s-1} \equiv \theta_{i,s-1} \in \{0,1\}.$

For a complete description of the conditions, see [8]. Note also that the top row of the above μ -triangle corresponds to the highest weight of the covariant representation. A GZ-basis also includes the explicit action of a set of generators on the basis vectors: for the standard GZ-basis given above; this set consists of the Chevalley generators of $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n)$ [8, Theorem 7] (corresponding to the distinguished set of simple roots).

Although this GZ-basis is perfectly well suited for the finite rank case of $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n)$, the problem is that it cannot be extended to a class of irreducible representations (irreps) of the infinite rank Lie superalgebra $\mathfrak{gl}(\infty|\infty)$. In order to solve this, one needs to use a different GZ-basis according to a different chain of subalgebras:

 $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(n|n-1) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(n-1|n-1) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(n-1|n-2) \supset \cdots \supset \mathfrak{gl}(1|1) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(1).$ This can then be "reversed" in order to give a GZ-basis for $\mathfrak{gl}(\infty|\infty)$: $\mathfrak{gl}(1) = \mathfrak{gl}(1|0) \subset \mathfrak{gl}(1|1) \subset \mathfrak{gl}(2|1) \subset \mathfrak{gl}(2|2) \subset \mathfrak{gl}(3|2) \subset \mathfrak{gl}(3|3) \subset \cdots \subset \mathfrak{gl}(\infty|\infty).$ Thus, first we need to construct a new GZ-basis (the "odd" GZ-basis) for $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n)$ according to the above subalgebra chain. A striking property is that the generators for which the action takes its simplest form is now different: they are the (positive and negative) root vectors corresponding to a non-distinguished simple root system of $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n)$ consisting of odd roots only (justifying the name "odd" GZ-basis).

All results of the current proceedings contribution have been given in [10]. Here we shortly review the problem and list some additional properties and remarks.

2 Overview of the main results

The Lie superalgebra $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{gl}(k|n)$ is defined by [11]:

$$\mathfrak{gl}(k|n) = \{x = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}\}$$

with $A \in M_{k \times k}$, $B \in M_{k \times n}$, $C \in M_{n \times k}$ and $D \in M_{n \times n}$. The even subalgebra $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n)_{\bar{0}}$ has B = 0 and C = 0; the odd subspace $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n)_{\bar{1}}$ has A = 0 and D = 0. It is convenient to use the ordered set $\{-k, \ldots, -2, -1; 1, 2, \ldots n\}$ as the index set for the rows and columns of the above matrices. The Weyl basis is given by elements E_{ij} $(i, j = -k, \ldots, -2, -1; 1, 2, \ldots, n)$, with Lie superalgebra bracket

$$[E_{ab}, E_{cd}] = \delta_{bc} E_{ad} - (-1)^{\deg(E_{ab})\deg(E_{cd})} \delta_{ad} E_{cb}.$$

The Cartan subalgebra \mathfrak{h} of \mathfrak{g} is span (E_{jj}) with $j = -k, \ldots, -2, -1; 1, 2, \ldots, n$. The dual space \mathfrak{h}^* (or weight space) is spanned by the forms ε_i $(i = -k, \ldots, -2, -1; 1, 2, \ldots, n)$. For $\Lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$,

$$\Lambda = \sum_{i=-k}^{n} (i \neq 0) m_{ir} \varepsilon_i,$$

the components are written as (r = k + n)

 $[m]^r = [m_{-k,r}, \ldots, m_{-2,r}, m_{-1,r}; m_{1r}, m_{2r}, \ldots, m_{nr}].$

The roots of $\mathfrak{gl}(k|n)$ are the elements $\varepsilon_i - \varepsilon_j$ $(i \neq j)$; the positive roots consist of $\varepsilon_i - \varepsilon_j$ (i < j), and the positive odd roots of $\varepsilon_i - \varepsilon_j$ with i < 0 and j > 0. The distinguished set of simple roots [11] is

 $\varepsilon_{-k} - \varepsilon_{-k+1}, \ \varepsilon_{-k+1} - \varepsilon_{-k+2}, \dots, \varepsilon_{-1} - \varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2, \dots, \varepsilon_{n-1} - \varepsilon_n.$

In general, an integral dominant weight Λ corresponds to a finite-dimensional irrep $V(\Lambda)$ and vice versa. Here, we are only dealing with covariant representations: these are labelled by a partition $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_\ell)$ such that λ is inside the (k, n)-hook: $\lambda_{k+1} \leq n$ [12]. The corresponding highest weight: $\Lambda^{\lambda} \equiv [m]^r$ is determined by [13]

$$m_{ir} = \lambda_{k+i+1}, \quad -k \le i \le -1,$$

$$m_{ir} = \max\{0, \lambda'_i - k\}, \quad 1 \le i \le n,$$

where λ' is the partition conjugate to λ . Conversely, if $[m]^r$ is integral dominant and $m_{-1,r} \ge \#\{i: m_{ir} > 0, 1 \le i \le n\}$, then this corresponds to the covariant module with

,

$$\begin{aligned} \lambda_i &= m_{i-k-1,r}, \quad 1 \leq i \leq k, \\ \lambda_{k+i} &= \#\{j : m_{jr} \leq i, \ 1 \leq j \leq n\}, \quad 1 \leq i \leq n. \end{aligned}$$

The main property of covariant representations is that their character is known to be a supersymmetric Schur function [12]. With $x_i = e^{\varepsilon_i}$ ($i \le -1$) and $y_i = e^{\varepsilon_i}$ ($1 \le i$),

char
$$V([\Lambda^{\lambda}]) = s_{\lambda}(x_{\overline{k}}, \dots, x_{\overline{2}}, x_{\overline{1}}|y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n)$$

(For convenience, we sometimes write \overline{j} instead of -j, as in the indices of the x's).

Using properties of these supersymmetric Schur functions [14], one can "peel off" a variable y_n or a variable $x_{\bar{k}}$. This allows the decomposition of a covariant representation of $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n)$ according to the subalgebra chain $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(n|n-1) \supset \mathfrak{gl}(n-1|n-1)$. Labelling the highest weights of the respective covariant representations as follows:

$$\mathfrak{gl}(n|n) \leftrightarrow [m]^r = [m_{-n,r}, \dots, m_{-2,r}, m_{-1,r}; m_{1r}, m_{2r}, \dots, m_{nr}]$$

$$\mathfrak{gl}(n|n-1) \leftrightarrow [m]^{r-1} = [m_{-n,r-1}, \dots, m_{-1,r-1}; m_{1,r-1}, \dots, m_{n-1,r-1}]$$

$$\mathfrak{gl}(n-1|n-1) \leftrightarrow [m]^{r-2} = [m_{-n+1,r-2}, \dots, m_{-1,r-2}; m_{1,r-2}, \dots, m_{n-1,r-2}],$$

the decompositions $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n) \to \mathfrak{gl}(n|n-1)$ and $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n-1) \to \mathfrak{gl}(n-1|n-1)$ are given by, respectively,

$$V([m]^r) = \bigoplus_k V_k([m]^{r-1}), \qquad V([m]^{r-1}) = \bigoplus_k V_k([m]^{r-2})$$

according to the rules

(1)
$$m_{ir} - m_{i,r-1} = \theta_{i,r-1} \in \{0,1\}$$
 $(-n \le i \le -1)$
(2) $m_{ir} - m_{i,r-1}$ and $m_{i,r-1} - m_{i+1,r} \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ $(1 \le i \le n-1)$
(3) $m_{i,r-2} - m_{i,r-1} = \theta_{i,r-2} \in \{0,1\}$ $(1 \le i \le n-1)$
(4) $m_{i,r-1} - m_{i+1,r-2}$ and $m_{i+1,r-2} - m_{i+1,r-1} \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ $(-n \le i \le -2).$

This process can now be repeated, and thus one obtains a new GZ-basis for covariant representations $V([m]^r)$ of $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n)$. The *m*-patterns of these vectors take the form

$$|m)^{r} = \begin{vmatrix} m_{\bar{n}r} & m_{\bar{n}-1,r} & \cdots & m_{\bar{2}r} & m_{\bar{1}r} & |m_{1r} & m_{2r} & \cdots & m_{n-2,r} & m_{n-1,r} & m_{nr} \\ m_{\bar{n},r-1} & m_{\bar{n}-1,r-1} & \cdots & m_{\bar{2},r-1} & m_{\bar{1},r-1} & |m_{1,r-1} & m_{2,r-1} & \cdots & m_{n-2,r-1} & m_{n-1,r-1} \\ m_{\bar{n}-1,r-2} & \cdots & m_{\bar{2},r-2} & m_{\bar{1},r-2} & |m_{1,r-2} & m_{2,r-2} & \cdots & m_{n-2,r-2} & m_{n-1,r-2} \\ m_{\bar{n}-1,r-3} & \cdots & m_{\bar{2},r-3} & m_{\bar{1},r-3} & |m_{1,r-3} & m_{2,r-3} & \cdots & m_{n-2,r-3} \\ & & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \\ & & m_{\bar{2}4} & m_{\bar{1}4} & |m_{14} & m_{24} \\ & & & m_{\bar{2}3} & m_{\bar{1}3} & |m_{13} \\ & & & & m_{\bar{1}2} & |m_{12} \\ & & & & & m_{\bar{1}1} & | \end{vmatrix} \right)$$

where the inbetweenness conditions and θ -conditions to be satisfied for the integers m_{ij} follow from the above rules (1)-(4), and we have followed the same notational convention as before: \overline{j} stands for -j. The set of all vectors $|m\rangle^r$ satisfying these conditions constitute a basis in $V([m]^r)$ [10].

Recall that in the standard GZ-basis the action of the Lie superalgebra is determined by the (diagonal) action of the Cartan subalgebra elements E_{ii} and the explicit action of the Chevalley generators, i.e., the root vectors

$$E_{-n,-n+1},\ldots,E_{-2,-1},E_{-1,1},E_{1,2},\ldots,E_{n-1,n}$$

corresponding to the simple roots (in the distinguished basis) and those corresponding to the negatives of the simple roots. In this distinguished choice for the simple roots, there is only one odd simple root, depicted by a cross in the Dynkin diagram:

In the "odd" GZ-basis, the situation is different. For the GZ-patterns $|m\rangle^r$, one can again give the (diagonal) action of the Cartan subalgebra elements E_{ii} . The set of positive root vectors for which an explicit action can be computed is now different and given by

$$E_{-1,1}, E_{-2,1}, E_{-2,2}, E_{-3,2}, E_{-3,3}, \dots, E_{-n,n-1}, E_{-n,n}$$

consisting of odd roots only. (Similarly, there is the action of the corresponding set of negative root vectors.) Thus the root vectors $E_{\pm\alpha}$ correspond to the following choice of simple roots (with only odd roots):

$$\varepsilon_{-1} - \varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_{-2}, \varepsilon_{-2} - \varepsilon_2, \varepsilon_2 - \varepsilon_{-3}, \dots, \varepsilon_{-n+1} - \varepsilon_{n-1}, \varepsilon_{n-1} - \varepsilon_{-n}, \varepsilon_{-n} - \varepsilon_n$$

with a Dynkin diagram of the form

The main result of [10] is the determination of the explicit action of the above generators on the new GZ basis vectors. We shall not repeat these formulae here, but just note that the action of the E_{ii} is a simple diagonal action on $|m\rangle^r$, whereas the action of the remaining generators takes the form

$$\begin{split} E_{-i,i}|m\rangle^{r} &= \sum_{k=-i}^{-1} A_{ik}|m\rangle^{r}_{+(k,2i-1)} + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} A_{ik}|m\rangle^{r}_{+(k,2i-1)} \\ E_{-i-1,i}|m\rangle^{r} &= \sum_{k=-i}^{-1} B_{ik}|m\rangle^{r}_{-(k,2i)} + \sum_{k=1}^{i} B_{ik}|m\rangle^{r}_{-(k,2i)} \\ E_{i,-i}|m\rangle^{r} &= \sum_{k=-i}^{-1} C_{ik}|m\rangle^{r}_{-(k,2i-1)} + \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} C_{ik}|m\rangle^{r}_{-(k,2i-1)} \\ E_{i,-i-1}|m\rangle^{r} &= \sum_{k=-i}^{-1} D_{ik}|m\rangle^{r}_{+(k,2i)} + \sum_{k=1}^{i} D_{ik}|m\rangle^{r}_{+(k,2i)}. \end{split}$$

Herein, $|m|_{\pm(ij)}^r$ is the pattern obtained from $|m|^r$ by replacing the entry m_{ij} by $m_{ij} \pm 1$; the actual expressions for the matrix elements $A_{ik}, B_{ik}, C_{ik}, D_{ik}$ can be found in [10, Theorem 4]. Observe that the action of a generator makes changes in only one row of the pattern of $|m|^r$.

The major advantage is that the "odd" GZ basis for $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n)$ can easily be extended to the infinite rank Lie superalgebra $\mathfrak{gl}(\infty|\infty)$, defined as the set of matrices with index set $\{\ldots, -3, -2, -1; 1, 2, 3, \ldots\} = \mathbb{Z}^* \equiv \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ with only a finite number of nonzero elements, and with the appropriate bracket. A highest weight is an infinite sequence $[m] \equiv [\ldots, m_{-k}, \ldots, m_{-2}, m_{-1}; m_1, m_2, \ldots, m_k, \ldots]$, and provided these numbers satisfy certain conditions, the corresponding highest weight representation V([m]) is a covariant representation. The basis vectors of V([m]) consist of "infinite GZ-patterns": similar to those of $\mathfrak{gl}(n|n)$, but with the above sequence as top row and consisting of an infinite set of rows in a triangular pattern. These GZ-patterns should – apart from inbetweenness conditions and θ -conditions – also satisfy a *stability condition*. The set of infinite stable GZ-patterns |m| form a basis of the irreducible representation V([m]), and the transformation of the basis under the action of the $\mathfrak{gl}(\infty|\infty)$ generators is easily obtained from the finite rank case [10].

Acknowledgements The authors were supported by the Joint Research Project "Representation theory of Lie (super)algebras and generalized quantum statistics" in the framework of an international collaboration programme between the Research Foundation - Flanders (FWO) and the Bulgarian Academy of Sciences. NIS also wishes to acknowledge the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation for its support and Prof. H.-D. Doebner for constructive discussions.

References

- 1. H.S. Green, Phys. Rev. 90 (1953) 270-273.
- 2. O.W. Greenberg, A.M.L. Messiah, Phys. Rev. B 138 (1965) 1155-1167.
- 3. S. Kamefuchi, Y. Takahashi, Nucl. Phys. 36 (1962) 177-206.
- 4. C. Ryan, E.C.G. Sudarshan, Nucl. Phys. 47 (1963) 207-211.
- 5. A.Ch. Ganchev, T.D. Palev, J. Math. Phys. 21 (1980) 797-799.
- 6. T.D. Palev, J. Math. Phys. 23 (1982) 1100-1102.
- 7. N.I. Stoilova, J. Van der Jeugt, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48 (2015) 155202 (16pp).
- 8. N.I. Stoilova, J. Van der Jeugt, J. Math. Phys. 51 (2010) 093523 (15 pp).
- 9. A.I. Molev, Handbook of Algebra 4 (2006) 109-170.
- 10. N.I. Stoilova, J. Van der Jeugt, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 49 (2016) 165204.
- 11. V.G. Kac, Adv. Math. 26 (1977) 8-96.
- 12. R. Berele, A. Regev, Adv. Math. 64 (1987), 118-175.
- J. Van der Jeugt, J.W.B. Hughes, R.C. King, J. Thierry-Mieg, J. Math. Phys. 18 (1990) 2278-2304.
- 14. R.C. King, IMA Vol. Math. Appl. 19 (1990), 226-261.

Bannai–Ito algebras and the osp(1,2) superalgebra

Hendrik De Bie, Vincent X. Genest, Wouter van de Vijver, and Luc Vinet

Abstract The Bannai–Ito algebra B(n) of rank (n-2) is defined as the algebra generated by the Casimir operators arising in the *n*-fold tensor product of the osp(1,2) superalgebra. The structure relations are presented and representations in bases determined by maximal Abelian subalgebras are discussed. Comments on realizations as symmetry algebras of physical models are offered.

1 Introduction

The Bannai–Ito (BI) algebra B(3) of rank one is the associative algebra with three generators $\Gamma_{12}, \Gamma_{13}, \Gamma_{23}$ obeying the relations

 $\{\Gamma_{12},\Gamma_{23}\} = \Gamma_{13} + \omega_{13}, \quad \{\Gamma_{12},\Gamma_{13}\} = \Gamma_{23} + \omega_{23}, \quad \{\Gamma_{13},\Gamma_{23}\} = \Gamma_{12} + \omega_{12}, \quad (1)$

where $\{A, B\} = AB + BA$ and $\omega_{12}, \omega_{13}, \omega_{23}$ are central. It has been introduced in [10] to encode the bispectrality of the BI polynomials. Indeed, the Dunkl shift operators of which the BI polynomials are eigenfunctions, the spectrum variable of the

Hendrik De Bie

Vincent X. Genest Department of Mathematics, Masschusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, USA, e-mail: vxgenest@mit.edu

Wouter van de Vijver

Department of Mathematical Analysis, Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: Wouter.VandeVijver@UGhent.be

Luc Vinet Centre de Recherches Mathématiques, Université de Montréal, Montréal, Canada, e-mail: vinet@ crm.umontreal.ca

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Department of Mathematical Analysis, Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: Hendrik.DeBie@UGhent.be

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_52

recurrence relation, and the anticommutator of these two operators satisfy (1), up to affine transformations. This algebra is also isomorphic to a degeneration of the double affine Hecke algebra of type (C_1^{\vee}, C_1) [8] and has appeared in a variety of contexts. For a review, see [3].

Interestingly, the algebra (1) arises in the context of the representation theory of the Lie superalgebra osp(1,2), more specifically in the recoupling schemes for the tensor product of three irreducible representations. In this framework, the BI polynomials are seen to be essentially the Racah coefficients of osp(1,2), that is the elements of the matrices relating the bases associated to the coupling of the first two factors of the three-fold product to the basis corresponding to the situation where the last two factors are initially regrouped. This connection of B(3) to osp(1,2) extends to *n*-fold tensor products and leads to the BI algebra B(n) of arbitrary rank.

This will be presented in the following. We shall also give indications of how representations of B(n) can be constructed in bases associated to maximal Abelian subalgebras. We shall conclude by mentioning some applications of B(n).

2 osp(1,2) and the Bannai–Ito algebra

The osp(1,2) superalgebra can be presented as follows. It is generated by two odd elements J_{\pm} and one even element J_0 that obey

$$[J_0, J_{\pm}] = \pm J_{\pm}, \quad \{J_+, J_-\} = 2J_0,$$

with [a,b] = ab - ba. The \mathbb{Z}_2 grading can be accounted for by introducing the grade involution *P* and including the relations

$$[J_0, P] = 0, \qquad \{J_{\pm}, P\} = 0, \qquad P^2 = 1.$$

The Casimir operator in the universal enveloping algebra $\mathscr{U}(osp(1,2))$

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2} \left([J_{-}, J_{+}] - 1 \right) P = J_0 P - J_{+} J_{-} P - P/2, \tag{2}$$

is found to commute with all generators. There is an algebra morphism $\Delta : osp(1,2) \rightarrow osp(1,2) \otimes osp(1,2)$ called comultiplication that acts as follows on the generators:

$$\Delta(J_0) = J_0 \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes J_0, \qquad \Delta(J_{\pm}) = J_{\pm} \otimes P + 1 \otimes J_{\pm}, \qquad \Delta(P) = P \otimes P,$$

and is coassociative, i.e., $(\Delta \otimes 1)\Delta = \Delta(1 \otimes \Delta)$. The coproduct can be iterated to form higher tensor powers of osp(1,2). For a positive integer *n*, define $\Delta^{(n)}$: $osp(1,2) \rightarrow osp(1,2)^{\otimes n}$ as $\Delta^{(n)} = (1^{\otimes (n-2)} \otimes \Delta) \circ \Delta^{(d-1)}$, with $\Delta^{(1)} = \text{Id}$.

Let $[n] = \{1, ..., n\}$ and let $A = \{a_1, ..., a_k\}$ be an ordered k-subset of [n]. For $1 \le k \le n$, one has a realization of osp(1,2) in $osp(1,2)^{\otimes n}$ for any A. This realization, denoted by $osp^A(1,2)$, has generators

Bannai–Ito algebras and osp(1,2)

$$J_{\pm}^{A} = \sum_{a_i \in A} J_{\pm}^{(a_i)} \prod_{j=a_i+1}^{a_k} P^{(j)}, \qquad J_0^{S} = \sum_{a_i \in A} J_0^{(a_i)}, \qquad P^{A} = \prod_{a_i \in A} P^{(a_i)},$$

where $J_{\pm}^{(i)}$, $J_{0}^{(i)}$, $P^{(i)}$ denote the generators of the *i*th factor of osp(1,2) in $osp(1,2)^{\otimes n}$. We can now define the following elements in $\mathscr{U}(osp(1,2)^{\otimes n})$:

$$\Gamma_{A} = J_{0}^{A} P^{A} - J_{+}^{A} J_{-}^{A} P^{A} - P^{A} / 2.$$
(3)

Clearly $\Gamma_{\{i\}}$, i = 1, ..., n, are the Casimir elements corresponding to each of the factors in $osp(1,2)^{\otimes n}$; these are constant multiples, say λ_i , if one considers products of irreducible representations. $\Gamma^{[n]}$ is the total Casimir operator of $osp(1,2)^{\otimes n}$. It will be convenient to take $\Gamma_{\emptyset} = -1/2$. We define the Bannai–Ito algebra B(n) as the algebra generated by the elements Γ_A with $A \subset [n]$.

Let us now determine the structure relations. Consider first the case n = 3. There are seven generators in this instance: $\Gamma_{\{i\}} \equiv \Gamma_i$, i = 1, 2, 3, $\Gamma_{\{i,j\}} \equiv \Gamma_{ij}$ for $\{i, j\} = \{1, 2\}, \{1, 3\}, \{2, 3\}$, and $\Gamma_{[3]} \equiv \Gamma_{123}$. Here, $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2, \Gamma_3$ and Γ_{123} are central. A direct calculation shows that

$$\{\Gamma_{ij},\Gamma_{jk}\}=\Gamma_{ik}+2\Gamma_{j}\Gamma_{ijk}+2\Gamma_{i}\Gamma_{k}, \qquad i\neq j\neq k,$$

which coincides with the B(3) defining relations (1) when the central ω_{ik} are identified as $\omega_{ik} = 2\Gamma_j\Gamma_{ijk} + 2\Gamma_i\Gamma_k$. This is the result obtained in [6]. The structure relations for the higher rank extension are obtained from this result using the following argument. Take any triple of pairwise disjoint subsets of [*n*] called *K*, *L*, and *M*. There is an obvious isomorphism

$$osp^{K}(1,2) \otimes osp^{L}(1,2) \otimes osp^{M}(1,2) \cong osp(1,2) \otimes osp(1,2) \otimes osp(1,2),$$

which leads to an embedding of B(3) into B(n). Indeed, in view of this isomorphism, the Casimir elements Γ_K , Γ_L , Γ_M , $\Gamma_{K\cup L}$, $\Gamma_{K\cup M}$, $\Gamma_{L\cup M}$, and $\Gamma_{K\cup L\cup M}$ will generate B(3) and we shall have for instance

$$\{\Gamma_{K\cup L}, \Gamma_{L\cup M}\} = \Gamma_{K\cup M} + 2\Gamma_L \Gamma_{K\cup L\cup M} + 2\Gamma_K \Gamma_M.$$
(4)

We wish to know $\{\Gamma_A, \Gamma_B\}$ for any two subsets *A* and *B* of [n]. To that end, take $K = A \setminus B$, $L = A \cap B$, $M = B \setminus A$ and make the corresponding Casimir operators in $\mathscr{U}(osp(1,2)^{\otimes n})$ using (3). The relation (4) becomes

$$\{\Gamma_A, \Gamma_B\} = \Gamma_{(A\cup B)\setminus(A\cap B)} + 2\Gamma_{A\cap B}\Gamma_{A\cup B} + 2\Gamma_{A\setminus(A\cap B)}\Gamma_{B\setminus(A\cap B)}.$$
(5)

This provides the desired structure relations for B(n), namely the relations obeyed by the Casimir elements Γ_A labeled by subsets A of [n] [1].

3 Maximal Abelian subalgebras, representation bases, and connection coefficients

We wish to indicate here how representations of B(n) can be obtained from the knowledge of representations of B(3). To that end, we shall first introduce bases for representation spaces that are associated to maximal Abelian subalgebras of B(n).

3.1 Maximal Abelian subalgebras

We readily see from (5) that $[\Gamma_A, \Gamma_B] = 0$ if $A \subset B$, $B \subset A$ or $A \cap B = \emptyset$; recall that $\Gamma_{\emptyset} = -1/2$. It follows that $\mathscr{Y}_n = \langle \Gamma_{[2]}, \Gamma_{[3]}, \dots, \Gamma_{[n-1]} \rangle$ forms an Abelian subalgebra (AS) of B(n) that is readily seen to be maximal. Note that $\Gamma_{\emptyset}, \Gamma_{[1]}$ and $\Gamma_{[n]}$ are not included in \mathscr{Y}_n as they are central in B(n). Other such maximal AS can be obtained by applying a permutation and taking $\pi \mathscr{Y}_n = \langle \Gamma_{\pi[2]}, \Gamma_{\pi[3]}, \dots, \Gamma_{\pi[n-1]} \rangle$.

3.2 Bases for representation spaces

Bases for representations spaces can now be obtained by taking their elements to be joint eigenvectors of the operators (hereafter denoted by the same symbols) representing the generators of the various maximal AS. Given one such basis, one would wish to provide the action of the generators in the complement of the AS in order to construct the representation of B(n). We shall indicate how this can be accomplished from knowledge of the connection coefficients between bases associated to different maximal AS. With this understood, we shall complete the picture with a characterization of the connection coefficients.

Suppose that a basis has been picked and that we want to give the action of a generator Γ on the elements of this basis. It is easy to see that every generator of B(n) belongs to a maximal AS. There is a thus another basis, call it prime, in which Γ is diagonal. Now if the connection coefficients between the elements of the original bases and those of the prime basis are known, it follows from linear algebra that the action of Γ in the original basis can be written down. This applies to any generator. Hence if all bases associated to maximal AS can be connected, the action of all generators in a single basis can be obtained with the help of the connection coefficients.

3.3 Connection coefficients

Irreducible representations of B(3) have been constructed, and as a result the connection coefficients (CCs) between the bases associated to the AS generated respectively by Γ_{12} , Γ_{13} and Γ_{23} are known; see [1, 4, 6, 10]. We shall simply set the notation and recall the main features. Consider an irreducible representation of B(3) and let $\langle \phi_k \rangle$ be a set of basis vectors on which Γ_{12} acts diagonally, say $\Gamma_{12}\phi_k = \mu_k\phi_k$. The central elements are multiples of the identity: $\Gamma_i\phi_k = \lambda_i\phi_k$, $\Gamma_{123}\phi_k = \lambda_{123}\phi_k$ for i = 1, 2, 3. It has been found that Γ_{13} and Γ_{23} act in a tridiagonal fashion in the basis $\langle \phi_k \rangle$ and one has for instance $\Gamma_{23}\phi_k = a_{k,k-1}\phi_{k-1} + a_{k,k}\phi_k + a_{k,k+1}\phi_{k+1}$. The coefficients $a_{k,k}$, $a_{k,k\pm 1}$ have been explicitly determined from the properties of B(3). Now if $\langle \psi_k \rangle$ denotes the basis in which Γ_{23} is diagonal, the CCs defined by

$$\psi_k = \sum_s B_{ks}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3, \lambda_{123})\phi_s,$$

are nothing but the Racah coefficients of osp(1,2). Knowing the action of Γ_{23} in both bases $\langle \phi_k \rangle$ and $\langle \psi_k \rangle$, one finds that B_{ks} satisfies a three-term recurrence relation which shows that these CCs can be expressed in terms of BI polynomials.

Let us now discuss the rank two case B(4) to illustrate how one bootstraps from rank one to higher ranks. First consider the CCs between two bases associated to two maximal AS that differ by only one generator. An example is $(\Gamma_{12}, \Gamma_{123})$, $(\Gamma_{12}, \Gamma_{124})$. Γ_{123} and Γ_{124} will preserve the eigenspaces of the common generator Γ_{12} . Now note that Γ_{123} and Γ_{124} are also generators of a rank one BI algebra. Indeed, let $K = \{1, 2\}$, $L = \{3\}, M = \{4\}, \Gamma_{K\cup L} = \Gamma_{123}, \Gamma_{K\cup M} = \Gamma_{124}, \Gamma_{L\cup M} = \Gamma_{34}$ provide an embedding of B(3) into B(4). These generators all commute with Γ_{12} and the basis vectors with fixed eigenvalues of Γ_{12} will support representations of B(3). The representation theory of the rank one BI algebra tells us that the CCs will again be BI polynomials. Thus since $\langle \phi_{j_1,j_2} \rangle$ and $\langle \psi_{j_1,j_2} \rangle$ are the bases diagonalizing the maximal AS of our example with $\Gamma_{12}\phi_{j_1,j_2} = \mu_{j_1}^{12}\phi_{j_1,j_2}$ and $\Gamma_{12}\psi_{j_1,j_2} = \mu_{j_1,j_2}^{12}\psi_{j_1,j_2}$, we have

$$\psi_{j_1,j_2} = \sum_k W_{j_2k}(\mu_{j_1}^{12},\lambda_3,\lambda_4,\lambda_{1234})\phi_{j_1,k}.$$

This then allows us to obtain the actions of Γ_{124} and Γ_{34} on the basis vectors ϕ_{j_1,j_2} . To find the action of other generators, one must consider the relations of the basis $\langle \phi_{j_1,j_2} \rangle$ with other subalgebra-type bases. It can be seen that there is always a path between any given basis to all the others that is made out of intermediary segments where the corresponding AS only differ by one element. The CCs between any two bases are then obtained by iterating for each of those segments the procedure just described when only one generator is different. The resulting CCs will hence be given by a product of BI polynomials. Furthermore, since all generators are part of maximal AS and are diagonal in the corresponding bases, knowing the CCs allows us to obtain the action of all generators in a chosen basis. These considerations extend from B(4) to B(n) and it follows that the representations of B(n) in a fixed subalgebra-type basis can be fully characterized.

4 Conclusion

We conclude by mentioning that the Bannai–Ito algebra B(n) has arisen in various systems. These models are obtained from particular realizations of osp(1,2):

- The Dunkl Laplacian when Dunkl operators are used [7];
- The Dirac–Dunkl equation when Clifford algebras are introduced [1,4];
- The superintegrable model with reflections governed by the Hamiltonian

$$H = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} J_{ij}^2 + \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\mu_k(\mu_k - r_k)}{x_k^2}$$

with $r_k f(x_1, ..., x_k, ..., x_n) = f(x_1, ..., -x_k, ..., x_n)$ and $J_{ij} = i(x_j \partial_{x_i} - x_i \partial_{x_j})$ when gauge-transformed parabosonic operators are called upon [2, 5]. In this connection, see [9, 11, 12]

All these models have the Bannai–Ito algebra as a symmetry algebra. We may suspect that B(n) and its representations will keep appearing in different guises.

Acknowledgements This paper was completed during a stay of LV at the School of Mathematical Sciences of the Shanghai Jia Tong University as Chair Visiting Professor. HDB is supported by the Fund for Scientific Research-Flanders (FWO-V), project "Construction of algebra realizations using Dirac-operators", grant G.0116.13N. VXG holds a postdoctoral fellowship from the Natural Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC). The research of LV is supported in part by NSERC.

References

- H. De Bie, V. X. Genest, and L. Vinet. The Zⁿ₂ Dirac–Dunkl operator and a higher rank Bannai–Ito algebra. Adv. Math., 303:390–414, 2016.
- 2. H. De Bie, V. X. Genest, J.-M. Lemay, and L. Vinet. A superintegrable model with reflections on S³ and the rank two Bannai–Ito algebra. *Acta Polytechnica*, 56:166–172, 2016.
- 3. H. De Bie, V. X. Genest, S. Tsujimoto, L. Vinet, and A. Zhedanov. The Bannai–Ito algebra and some applications. J. Phys. Conf. Ser., 597:012001, 2015.
- 4. H. De Bie, V. X. Genest, and L. Vinet. A Dirac–Dunkl equation on S² and the Bannai–Ito algebra. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 344:447–464, 2016.
- 5. V.X. Genest, L. Vinet, and A. Zhedanov. The Bannai–Ito algebra and a superintegrable system with reflections on the 2-sphere. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 47:205202, 2014.
- V. X. Genest, L. Vinet, and A. Zhedanov. The Bannai–Ito polynomials as Racah coefficients of the sl₋₁(2) algebra. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 142:1545–1560, 2014.
- 7. V. X. Genest, L. Vinet, and A. Zhedanov. A Laplace–Dunkl equation on S² and the Bannai–Ito algebra. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 336:243–259, 2015.
- 8. V. X. Genest, L. Vinet, and A. Zhedanov. The non-symmetric Wilson polynomials are the Bannai–Ito polynomials. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 144:5217–5226, 2016.
- 9. M. S. Plyushchay. Deformed heisenberg algebra, fractional spin fields and supersymmetry without fermions. *Ann. Phys.*, 245:339–360, 1996.
- S. Tsujimoto, L. Vinet, and A. Zhedanov. Dunkl shift operators and Bannai–Ito polynomials. *Adv. Math.*, 225:2123–2158, 2012.
- 11. E. P. Wigner. Do the equations of motion determine the quantum mechanical commutation relations? *Phys. Rev.*, 77:711, 1950.
- 12. L. M. Yang. A note on the quantum rule of the harmonic oscillator. Phys. Rev., 84:788, 1951.
Exact state revival in a spin chain with next-to-nearest neighbour interactions

Matthias Christandl, Luc Vinet and Alexei Zhedanov

Abstract An extension with next-to-nearest neighbour interactions of the simplest XX spin chain with perfect state transfer (PST) is presented. The conditions for PST and entanglement generation (balanced fractional revival) can be obtained exactly and are discussed.

1 Introduction

Certain spin chains have been known to model advantageously devices that effect perfectly the transfer of quantum states between locations [1, 2, 3]. Calling upon their dynamics to realize the transport has the merit of minimizing the need for external interventions and of protecting coherence. Analytic models have been found for which the ocurrence of this perfect state transfer (PST) is demonstrated from an exact analysis. As a rule, the couplings between spins must be non-uniform. The simplest such spin chain is of the XX type with parabolic couplings only between its nearest neighbours [4]. It is referred to as the Krawtchouk model in view of the family of orthogonal polynomials that emerge in its description. This model is proving quite useful not only as a paradigm example but also as a test bed for experimentalists. As it turns out, these spin models have a translation in terms of arrays of optical waveguides in view of the mathematical equivalence of the single excitation

Luc Vinet

Alexei Zhedanov

Matthias Christandl

Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Universitetspanken 5, 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark.e-mail: christandl@math.ku.dk

Centre de Recherches Mathématiques, Université de Montréal, C.P. 6128, Succursale Centre-ville, Montréal, QC, Canada, H3C 3J7. e-mail: vinet@crm.umontreal.ca

Department of Mathematics, Information School, Renmin University of China, Beijing 100872, China. e-mail: zhedanov@yahoo.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_53

dynamics of spin chains with the coupled mode theory of optical lattices. Recent experimental implementations [5, 6] have in fact been carried in this framework using the Kratwchouk model. Restricting to nearest-neighbour (NN) interactions is obviously an approximation in this context and it becomes relevant to examine, exactly if possible, the situation beyond this restriction. It is with this perspective that we present in Sect. 2 an analytic extension of the NN Krawtchouk model that includes next-to-nearest neighbour (NNN) couplings. The conditions for PST along that chain can again be found exactly and will be given in Sect. 3.

There is another phenomenon of importance for quantum information that can be realized in spin chains, namely entanglement generation. This is obtained by endto-end balanced fractional revival whereby a wavepacket initially at one end is reproduced simultaneously (with half the intensity) at both ends. The NN Krawtchouk model does not exhibit this effect but it proves possible when NNN interactions are included. This will be covered in Sect. 4. A summary and remarks on experiments that this analysis suggests will form the concluding section.

2 The model

We shall condier a spin chain with the following Hamiltonian of type XX on $(\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes (N+1)}$ where each of the (N+1) spins interacts with its nearest and next-to-nearest neighbours on the left and on the right:

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=0}^{N-1} \left[J_{\ell+1}^{(1)} \left(\sigma_{\ell}^{x} \sigma_{\ell+1}^{x} + \sigma_{\ell}^{y} \sigma_{\ell+1}^{y} \right) + J_{\ell+2}^{(2)} \left(\sigma_{\ell}^{x} \sigma_{\ell+2}^{x} + \sigma_{\ell}^{y} \sigma_{\ell+2}^{y} \right) \right] + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=0}^{N} B_{\ell} \left(\sigma_{\ell}^{z} + 1 \right)$$
(1)

As usual, $\sigma_{\ell}^{x}, \sigma_{\ell}^{y}, \sigma_{\ell}^{z}$ stand for the Pauli matrices with the index ℓ indicating on which of the \mathbb{C}^{2} factors they act. The nearest-neighbours couplings are taken to be the same as those of the Krawtchouk model: $J_{n}^{(1)} = \beta J_{n}$ with $J_{n} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{n(N-n+1)}$ and β a parameter. The next-to-nearest neighbour couplings are given by $J_{n}^{(2)} = \alpha J_{n-1}J_{n}$ with α another parameter and the local magnetic fields are $B_{n} = \alpha (J_{n}^{2} + J_{n+1}^{2})$. Note that when $\alpha = 0$, the NN Krawtchouk model with no magnetic fields is recovered. Owing to rotational symmetry about the *z*-axis, *H* preserves the number of spins that are up over the chain, i.e., the number of eigenstates of σ_{ℓ}^{z} with eigenvalue +1. In the following, we shall only need to consider chain states that have a single spin up. A natural basis for that subspace is given by the vectors $|n\rangle = (0, 0, \dots, 0, 1, 0, \dots, 0)^{T}$, $n = 0, \dots, N$, with only 1 in the nth position corresponding to the only spin up at the nth site. The action of *H* on those states is given by $H|n\rangle = J_{n+2}^{(2)}|n+2\rangle + J_{n+1}^{(1)}|n+1\rangle + B_{n}|n\rangle + J_{n}^{(1)}|n-1\rangle + J_{n}^{(2)}|n-2\rangle$. Now consider the operator *J* that acts as follows on the vectors $|n\rangle : J|n\rangle = J_{n+1}|n+1\rangle + J_{n}|n-1\rangle$. It follows that $J^{2}|n\rangle = J_{n+1}J_{n+2}|n+2\rangle + (J_{n+1}^{2}+J_{n}^{2})|n\rangle + J_{n}J_{n-1}|n-2\rangle$. We thus observe that

$$H|n\rangle = (\alpha J^2 + \beta J)|n\rangle.$$
 (2)

Let $|x_s\rangle$ be the eigenstates of *J* with eigenvalues x_s : $J|x_s\rangle = x_s|x_s\rangle$. In view of Eq. (2), these will be eigenstates of *H* with eigenvalues $E_s = \alpha x_s^2 + \beta x_s$. As it turns out, the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of *J* can be obtained from angular momentum theory. Let L_z and L_{\pm} be the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ generators represented in the standard fashion by

$$L_{z}|\ell,m\rangle = m|\ell,m\rangle \quad , \quad L\pm|\ell,m\rangle = \sqrt{(\ell\mp m)(\ell\pm m+1)}|\ell,m\pm 1\rangle$$
(3)

on the usual angular momentum states $|\ell, m\rangle$, $-\ell \le m \le \ell$.

Identify $|\ell, m\rangle = |\frac{N}{2}, n - \frac{N}{2}\rangle \equiv |n\rangle$, $n = 0, 1, \dots, N$. Then $L_x|n\rangle = \frac{1}{2}(L_+ + L_-)|n\rangle$ = $J_{n+1}|n+1\rangle + J_n|n-1\rangle$ and the action of L_x is seen to be that of J. Since $L_x = e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}L_y}L_z e^{i\frac{\pi}{2}L_y}$, the spectrum of $L_x = J$ is the same as the spectrum of L_z , thus $x_s = s - \frac{N}{2}$. Now consider the expansion of the eigenstates $|x_s\rangle$ on the vectors of the occupational basis

$$|x_s\rangle = e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}L_y}|s\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^N \langle n|e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}L_y}|s\rangle |n\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^N \sqrt{\omega_s}\chi_n(x_s)|n\rangle.$$
(4)

At this point, either from the 3-term recurrence relation $J_{n+1}\chi_{n+1}(x) + J_n\chi_{n-1}(x) = x\chi_n(x)$ that follows from $J|x_s\rangle = x_s|x_s\rangle$ or the knowledge of the Wigner \mathscr{D} functions, we find that the expansion coefficients are given by the normalized Krawtchouk polyomials which are defined as follows:

$$\chi_n(x) = (-1)^n \sqrt{\binom{N}{n}} \, _2F_1 \begin{pmatrix} -n, -s \\ -N \end{pmatrix} 2 \end{pmatrix} \tag{5}$$

with the hypergeometric series given by

$${}_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c}a,b\\c\end{array}\middle|z\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_{k}(b)_{k}}{(c)_{k}} \frac{z^{k}}{k!}$$
(6)

and $(a)_k = a(a+1)\cdots(a+k-1)$. These polyomials are orthogonal with respect to the binomial distribution: $\omega_s = \frac{N!}{s!(N-s)!} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^N$. Since $\langle n|e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}L_y}|s\rangle = \sqrt{\omega_s}\chi_n(x_s)$ are elements of an orthogonal matrix, we also have the inverse expansion

$$|n\rangle = \sum_{s=0}^{N} \sqrt{\omega_s} \chi_n(x_s) |x_s\rangle.$$
⁽⁷⁾

For later purposes, observe that when n = N:

$$\chi_N(x_s) = (-1)^N \sum_{k=0}^N (-s)_k \frac{2^k}{k!} = (-1)^N \sum_{k=0}^N \frac{s!}{(s-k)!} \frac{(-2)^k}{k!} = (-1)^{N+s}.$$
 (8)

3 Perfect state transfer

Let us examine the conditions for PST, that is the transfer with probability one, after time T, of a spin up from one end of the chain to the other. This will happen if

$$e^{-iTH}|0\rangle = e^{i\phi}|N\rangle, \qquad (9)$$

where ϕ is some phase. In order to analyze this condition, use the expansion in Eq. (7) in terms of the eigenstates of *H* with eigenvalues $E_s = \alpha x_s^2 + \beta x_s$ to find that Eq. (9) amounts to $e^{-i\phi}e^{-iTE_s} = \chi_N(x_s) = (-1)^{N+s}$ in view of Eq. (8). This last equation can be rewritten as follows in terms of the exponents:

$$TE_s = -\phi + \pi \left(N + s + 2L_s \right) , \quad s = 0, 1, \dots, N,$$
(10)

where L_s are arbitrary integers that may depend on *s*. Let us consider first the NN model, with $\alpha = 0$, and verify that PST occurs. In this case $E_s = \beta \left(s - \frac{N}{2}\right)$, and one has

$$T\beta\left(s-\frac{N}{2}\right) = -\phi + \pi\left(N+s+2L_s\right). \tag{11}$$

This shows that the integer numbers L_s must depend linearly on *s* and take the form $L_s = \ell s + m$ with ℓ and *m* integers. With ϕ appropriately chosen to take care of the constant terms, Eq. (11) reveals that PST will be achieved at times *T* given by $T = \frac{\pi}{\beta}(2\ell + 1), \ \ell = 0, 1, \ldots$ with the minimal time for PST in the NN model being $T = \frac{\pi}{\beta}$.

Can PST be maintained in the presence of NNN interactions? The answer is in the affirmative provided certains conditions are verified by the parameters α and β . When $\alpha \neq 0$, the eigenvalues E_s of H are given by $E_s = \alpha \left(s - \frac{N}{2}\right)^2 + \beta \left(s - \frac{N}{2}\right)$ and condition (10) reads

$$T\left[\alpha\left(s-\frac{N}{2}\right)^{2}+\beta\left(s-\frac{N}{2}\right)\right]=-\phi+\pi N+\pi s+2\pi L_{s}.$$
(12)

Although more involved, the analysis of this equation proceeds in a way analogous to that of Eq. (11). The reader will find the details in [7]. The upshot is the following. As distinct from the NN model, PST does not always occur. It will happen in the model with NNN interactions if $\frac{\alpha}{\beta}$ is rational, in other words if $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} = \frac{p}{q}$, with *p* and *q* co-prime integers. The minimal PST time is $T = \frac{\pi}{\beta}q$. Moreover if *p* is odd, *q* and *N* must be either both odd or both even.

4 Fractional revival

We discuss next the possibility of observing fractional revival (FR) at the two ends of the chain. This FR phenomenon will occur after time τ if

Exact state revival in a spin chain with next-to-nearest neighbour interactions

$$e^{-iH\tau}|0\rangle = \mu|0\rangle + \nu|N\rangle \tag{13}$$

with $|\mu|^2 + |\nu|^2 = 1$. Note that PST is a special case of FR with $\mu = 0$ ($|\nu| = 1$). Furthermore, it is readily recognized that when $|\mu| = |\nu| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$, the state obtained at time τ is maximally entangled as a balanced coherent sum of $|0\rangle = |\uparrow\downarrow\downarrow\cdots\downarrow\rangle$ and $|N\rangle = |\downarrow\downarrow\cdots\downarrow\uparrow\rangle$. Now upon using expansion (7), condition (13) is translated into $e^{-i\tau E_s} = e^{i\phi} (\mu' + \nu'(-1)^{N+s}), \mu = e^{i\phi}\mu', \nu = e^{i\phi}\nu'$ and μ' is chosen real without loss of generality. Taking the modulus on both sides, we see that $Re(\mu'\nu') = 0$. Given that μ' is real, ν' must thus be imaginary. We shall write $\mu' = \cos\theta, \nu' = i\sin\theta$ which makes the FR condition become

$$e^{-iE_s\tau} = e^{i\phi} \left(\cos\theta + i(-1)^{N+s}\sin\theta\right). \tag{14}$$

In this parametrization, up to integer multiples of π , $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ corresponds to PST. The conditions for FR at two sites in NN spin chains of type XX have been thoroughly analyzed in [8]. Let us first examine here if FR can be found in the NN Krawtchouk model. For $E_s = \beta \left(s - \frac{N}{2}\right)$, (14) splits into the following two Eqs. according to the parity of *s*:

$$\beta \tau \left(2s + j - \frac{N}{2} \right) = -\phi - (-1)^{N+j} \theta + 2\pi L_s^{(j)} , \qquad (15)$$

where $L_s^{(j)}$, j = 0, 1, are two independent sequences of integers that must be of the form $L_s^{(j)} = \gamma_j s + \delta_j$, with γ_j and δ_j integers. It follows from (15) that $\gamma_0 = \gamma_1 =$ 1,2,... and that $\tau = \pi \frac{\gamma_0}{B}$. Moreover, apart from a relation determining the phase ϕ in terms of the parameters, one finds that $\theta = (-1)^N \left[\frac{\eta_0}{2} + (\delta_0 - \delta_1)\right] \pi$. Therefore, up to sign and integer multiples of π , θ can only take the values 0 and $\frac{\pi}{2}$. This means that only PST and perfect return are possible. We thus reach the conclusion that FR at two sites cannot happen in the NN Krawtchouk model. Let us now turn to the NNN extension. In this case, the FR condition (14) yields relations analogous to (15) with the l.h.s replaced by $\left[\alpha\left(2s+j-\frac{N}{2}\right)^2+\beta\left(2s+j-\frac{N}{2}\right)\right]\tau$ and the sequences of integers $L_s^{(j)}$ having instead a quadratic form: $L_s^{(j)} = \xi_j s^2 + \eta_j s + \zeta_j$, j = 0, 1, j = 0, j =where for each j, independently, ξ_j and η_j can be simultaneously integer or halfinteger while ζ_j is integer. Once again, we refer the reader to [7] for the detailed analysis of what these equations entail. The findings are as follows. FR can happen in NNN spin chains that have $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} = \frac{p}{q}$ with p and q co-prime integers and p odd; again, q and N must have the same parity. When these conditions are met $\theta \simeq \frac{\pi}{4}$, entanglement generation or balanced FR will be realized and its first occurrence will be observed at time $\tau = q \frac{\pi}{2\beta}$.

The picture with respect to FR is thus as follows. While it does not occur in the NN Krawtchouk spin chain, the presence of additional NNN interactions allows this phenomenon to take place under the circumstances that we have spelled out. However, the only form of FR at sites 0 and N that can be realized is of the balanced type which corresponds to the generation of maximally entangled state.

5 Conclusion

Summing up, we have provided an analytic model with NNN interactions that extends the simplest XX spin chain with PST, namely the NN Krawtchouk model. This extended model involves two parameters α and β . The NN model is recovered when $\alpha = 0$. When $\alpha \neq 0$, for PST to occur, we must have $\frac{\alpha}{\beta} = \frac{p}{q}$ where p and q are co-prime integers. If FR is to happen, it can only be of the balanced type and p must be odd and in that case N must be of the same parity as q.

It would now be quite interesting to obtain an experimental validation of these results. Discussions are underway regarding the design of an optical array in which entanglement generation would be observed as per the predictions and specifications of the analysis that we have described here.

Acknowledgements M.C. acknowledges financial support from the European Research Council (ERC Grant Agreement no 337603), the Danish Council for Independant Research (Sapere Aude) and the Swiss National Science Foundation (project no PP00P2-150734). The research of L.V. is supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Council (NSERC) of Canada.

- 1. S. Bose, Quantum communication through spin chain dynamics : an introductory review. Contemporary Physics, **48**(11): 13-30, 2007.
- 2. A. Kay, Perfect, efficient, state transfer and its application as a constructive tool. International Journal of Quantum Information, **8**(04) : 641-676, 2010.
- 3. G. M. Nikolopoulos, I. Jex, *Quantum State Transfer and Network Engineering*. (Springer, 2014)
- C. Albanese, M. Christandl, N. Datta, A. Ekert, Mirror inversion of quantum states in linear registers. Physical Review Letters, 93(23): 230502, 2004.
- A. Perez-Leija, R. Keil, A. Kay, H. Moya-Cessa, S. Nolte, L.-C. Kwek, B. M. Rodríguez-Lara, A. Szameit, D. N. Christodoulides, Coherent quantum transport in photonic lattices. Physical Review A, 87(1): 012309, 2013.
- R. J. Chapman, M. Santandrea, Z. Huang, G. Corrielli, A. Crespi, M.-H. Yung, R. Osellame, A. Peruzzo, Experimental perfect state transfer of an entangled photonic qubit. Nature Communications, 7(11339), 2016.
- M. Christandl, L. Vinet, A. Zhedanov, Analytic next-to-nearest neighbour XX models with perfect state transfer and fractional revival. https://arxiv.org/abs/1607.02639, 2016. Unpublished
- V. X. Genest, L. Vinet, A. Zhedanov, Quantum spin chains with fractional revival. Annals of Physics, 371 : 348-367, 2016.

A triality between weak mutually unbiased bases, zeros of their analytic representations, and finite geometries

T. Olupitan, C. Lei, A. Vourdas

Abstract Quantum systems with variables in $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ are considered, and three different structures are studied. We show that there is a correspondence (triality) between (1) weak mutually unbiased bases; (2) their analytic representation in the complex plane based on Theta functions, and their zeros; (3) finite geometries in the $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ phase space

1 Introduction

There has been much work on mutually unbiased bases in systems $\Sigma(d)$ with variables in $\mathbb{Z}(d)$. Two bases $|B_1;n\rangle$ and $|B_2;m\rangle$ (where $n,m \in \mathbb{Z}(d)$) are mutually unbiased [1] if

$$|\langle B_1; n | B_2; m \rangle| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}}.$$
(1)

In the case that d = p (where p is a prime number), $\mathbb{Z}(p)$ is a field, and it is known that there are d + 1 such bases. Related is the result that there are d + 1 mutually unbiased bases, in systems with variables in the Galois field $GF(p^e)$. It is a very difficult problem to find the number of mutually unbiased bases in the general case that $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ is a ring.

From this we might conjecture that the concept of mutually unbiased bases is tailored for fields, and another revised concept is needed for rings. Refs [2, 3] have introduced the concept of weak mutually unbiased bases, and have shown that it fits naturally to the concept of rings. For simplicity we discuss the case where $d = p_1 p_2$, where p_1, p_2 are prime numbers. Then the $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ factorizes as $\mathbb{Z}(p_1) \times \mathbb{Z}(p_2)$, and

T. Olupitan, C. Lei, A. Vourdas

Department of Computing, University of Bradford, Bradford BD7 1DP, UK, e-mail: A.Vourdas@bradford.ac.uk

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_54

consequently the quantum system $\Sigma(d)$ factorizes in terms of two 'factor systems' $\Sigma(p_1)$ and $\Sigma(p_2)$ (there are bijective maps that relate the states in $\Sigma(d)$ to tensor products of states in the $\Sigma(p_1)$ and $\Sigma(p_2)$). The weak mutually unbiased bases (WMUB) are tensor products of mutually unbiased bases in the factor systems $\Sigma(p_1)$ and $\Sigma(p_2)$, which both have prime dimension. An alternative, equivalent definition of weak mutually unbiased bases is

$$|\langle B_1; n | B_2; m \rangle| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{f}}; \text{ or } 0; f | d.$$
 (2)

It has been shown in ref [3] that there is a duality (correspondence) between mutually unbiased bases, and the finite geometry in the $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ phase space. This geometry is very interesting, because it is an example of a non-near-linear geometry. Near-linear geometries [4, 5] are based on the axiom that two lines have at most one point in common. The geometries studied here violate this axiom and this is intimately related to the fact that $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ is a ring.

In ref [6], we studied another aspect of these systems. We considered an analytic representation based on Theta functions, and its zeros. We then showed that there is a triality (correspondence) between this analytic representation and its zeros, the finite geometry in the $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ phase space, and the weak mutually unbiased bases.

Here we review briefly this work, with a minimum of mathematical formulas. The emphasis is on the overall physical picture and how this can evolve in future work, rather than the mathematical proofs of the various statements (which have been given in ref [6]). The proofs use a factorization of the WMUB, their analytic representation, and the lines in $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$, which is based on the Chinese remainder theorem.

2 Lines and sublines in $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$

 $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ is a non-near-linear geometry. Straight lines in it do not obey the axiom that two lines have at most one point in common. Two lines can have a 'subline' in common. This is related to the fact that the additive group $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ with $d = p_1 p_2$, has non-trivial subgroups (the $\mathbb{Z}(p_1)$ and $\mathbb{Z}(p_2)$). In this case two lines in $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ might have in common a 'subline' in $\mathbb{Z}(p_1) \times \mathbb{Z}(p_1)$ or in $\mathbb{Z}(p_2) \times \mathbb{Z}(p_2)$. The concept of 'subline' is intimately related to the fact that *d* has non-trivial divisors, and consequently $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ is a ring but it is not a field. There is a partial order that relates the finite geometry in $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ and its sub-geometries (based on non-trivial subgroups of $\mathbb{Z}(d)$), which has been studied in ref [10].

A line through the origin in $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ is defined as

$$\mathscr{L}(\mathbf{v},\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \{(\mathbf{v}\boldsymbol{\alpha},\boldsymbol{\mu}\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \mid \boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z}(d)\}.$$

The number of points in $\mathscr{L}(v,\mu)$ is $d/\mathfrak{G}(v,\mu,d)$ (where $\mathfrak{G}(v,\mu,d)$ is the greatest common divisor of these integers). If $\mathfrak{G}(v,\mu,d) = 1$, the corresponding line is maximal line with *d* points. If $\mathfrak{G}(v,\mu,d) > 1$, the corresponding line is a subline, and the number of points is a divisor of *d*. In the case of prime *d*, there are no sublines. There are $\psi(d) = (p_1 + 1)(p_2 + 1)$ (Dedekind psi) maximal lines through the origin.

As an example, we consider the case with d = 15. Then $\mathcal{L}(2,3)$ is a maximal line with 15 points, and the

$$\mathcal{L}(6,9) = \{(6,9), (12,3), (3,12), (9,6), (0,0)\} \subset \mathcal{L}(2,3)$$
$$\mathcal{L}(10,0) = \{(10,0), (5,0), (0,0)\} \subset \mathcal{L}(2,3)$$
(3)

are sublines. Fig.1 shows the lines $\mathcal{L}(1,13)$ (circles), and $\mathcal{L}(1,7)$ (crosses), in the case d = 15. The two lines have in common the three points (0,0), (5,5), (10,10).



Fig. 1: The lines $\mathscr{L}(1,13)$ (circles), and $\mathscr{L}(1,7)$ (crosses), in the case d = 15. The two lines have in common the three points (0,0), (5,5), (10,10).

3 Quantum systems with variables in $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ and analytic representations with Theta functions

We consider quantum systems with variables in $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ [7–9]. We also consider the position basis $|X;m\rangle$, where $m \in \mathbb{Z}(d)$ (odd d), and the momentum basis $|P;m\rangle$:

$$|P;n\rangle = F|X;n\rangle; \quad F = d^{-1/2} \sum_{m,n} \omega_d(mn) |X;m\rangle \langle X;n|$$

$$\omega_d(m) = \exp\left(i\frac{2\pi m}{d}\right). \tag{4}$$

We define an analytic representation, in which an arbitrary state

$$|g\rangle = \sum_{m} g_{m} |X;m\rangle; \qquad \sum_{m} |g_{m}|^{2} = 1$$
(5)

is represented by

$$G(z) = \pi^{-1/4} \sum_{m=0}^{d-1} g_m^* \,\Theta_3\left[\frac{\pi m}{d} - z\frac{\pi}{d}; \frac{i}{d}\right].$$
 (6)

This is defined on a cell $\mathfrak{S} = [0,d] \times [0,d]$, because

$$G(z+d) = G(z)$$

$$G(z+id) = G(z)\exp(-\pi d - 2i\pi z).$$
(7)

The scalar product is given by

$$\langle g_2 | g_1^* \rangle = \frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{d^{5/2}} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} dz_R dz_I \exp\left(\frac{-2\pi}{d} z_I^2\right) G_1(z) G_2(z^*),$$

G(z) has exactly d zeros ζ_r in each cell, with sum

$$\sum_{r=1}^{d} \zeta_r = \frac{d^2}{2} (1+i).$$

Therefore in each cell d-1 zeros are independent.

4 Duality between weak mutually unbiased bases and lines in $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$

The weak mutually unbiased bases are tensor products of mutually unbiased bases in the factor systems of prime dimension. An alternative, equivalent definition is given in Eq.(2).

There is a duality between weak mutually unbiased bases and lines in $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$, as follows. A pair of maximal lines through the origin, belongs to one of the following three categories:

• They have only the origin as the common point. There are $d\psi(d)/2$ such pairs of maximal lines.

A triality between weak mutually unbiased bases...

- They have p_2 points in common. There are $p_1\psi(d)/2$ such pairs of maximal lines.
- They have p_1 points in common. There are $p_2 \psi(d)/2$ such pairs of maximal lines.

This corresponds to a pair of weak mutually unbiased bases, with absolute value of the overlap equal to

- $d^{-1/2}$. There are $d\psi(d)/2$ such pairs of bases,
- p₁^{-1/2}. There are p₁ψ(d)/2 such pairs of bases,
 p₂^{-1/2}. There are p₂ψ(d)/2 such pairs of bases.

5 Triality between weak mutually unbiased bases, zeros of their analytic representations, and finite geometries

The duality of the previous section is extended to include the lines of zeros that represent the vectors in WMUB. The vectors in a WMUB are represented with analytic functions, whose zeros have the following properties:

- The *d* zeros of any vector in a WMUB are on a straight line.
- The *d* vectors in a WMUB have zeros on parallel straight lines. The slope labels the WMUB.
- The d vectors in a WMUB have a total of d^2 zeros. The set of these zeros is the same for all WMUB.

In Fig.2 we show the lines of zeros of the WMUB corresponding to the lines in Fig.1. There are d parallel lines of zeros for each WMUB, and only a representative is shown. Comparison of the figures 1, 2 shows the correspondence between the lines in $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ and the lines of zeros representing the vectors of WMUB. The precise mathematical formalism is given in ref [6].

6 Discussion

In the general context of finite quantum systems with variables in $\mathbb{Z}(d)$, we considered three different structures. The first is weak mutually unbiased bases. The second is their analytic representation in Eq.(6) and in particular the zeros of analytic functions that represent the vectors in WMUB. The third is the $\mathbb{Z}(d) \times \mathbb{Z}(d)$ as non-near-linear finite geometry. We have shown that there is a triality between these three structures.

This can be interpreted as an indication that the WMUB are more suitable concept than the MUB, for the case that d is a non-prime number and $\mathbb{Z}(d)$ is a ring (which is not a field).



Fig. 2: The lines of zeros of the two WMUB corresponding to the lines in Fig.1. There are *d* parallel lines of zeros corresponding to the *d* vectors in a given WMUB, and only a representative one is shown. It is seen that this figure is a 'shifted version' of Fig.1.

- 1. W. Wootters, B.D. Fields, Ann. Phys. 191, 363 (1989).
- 2. M. Shalaby, A. Vourdas, J. Phys. A45, 052001 (2012).
- 3. M. Shalaby, A. Vourdas, Ann. Phys. 337, 208 (2013).
- 4. L. M. Batten, 'Combinatorics of finite geometries', Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- 5. J. W. P. Hirchfeld, 'Projective geometries over finite fields' (Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford, 1979).
- 6. T. Olupitan, C. Lei, A. Vourdas, Ann. Phys. 371, 1(2016).
- 7. A. Vourdas, Rep. Prog. Phys. 67, 267 (2004).
- 8. M. Kibler, J. Phys. A42, 353001 (2009).
- 9. T. Durt, B. G. Englert, I. Bengtsson, K. Zyczkowski, Int. J. Quantum Comp. 8, 535 (2010).
- 10. S. Oladejo, C. Lei, A. Vourdas, J. Phys. A47, 485204 (2014).

The U(2) Fourier group for rectangular pixellated images

Alejandro R. Urzúa and Kurt Bernardo Wolf

Abstract We study the model of optics in which images are two-dimensional pixellated arrays of values on a screen, and in particular the unitary transformations that have direct correspondence with those in the paraxial geometric and wave optical models. This correspondence is established for the U(2) Fourier group that consists of rotations, gyrations, and two-dimensional Fourier transformations.

1 Introduction

The finite model of optics regards images as matrices $\mathbf{f} = ||f(q_x, q_y)||$ with generally complex elements $f(q_x, q_y)$, whose columns and rows are seen as integer coordinates $q_x|_{-j_x}^{j_x}, q_y|_{-j_y}^{j_y}$ that count the $N_x \times N_y = (2j_x + 1) \times (2j_y + 1)$ pixels in a generally rectangular screen. We shall consider N_x, N_y to be odd integers so as to have a pixel at the center of the screen and to simplify our computations by having j_x, j_y integers as SO(3) irreducible representation labels. Unitary transformations of these images will be represented by $N_xN_y \times N_xN_y$ matrices that will be elements of the *Fourier* group U(2)_F to be defined below.

In the paraxial geometric optical model with 2*D* screens (which is isomorphic to 2*D* classical mechanics) where positions $\mathbf{q} = (q_x, q_y)$ and momenta $\mathbf{p} = (p_x, p_y)$ are continuous and form a 4*D* phase space, the Fourier group U(2)_F [6] consists of *rotations* between the *x*-*y* components, *gyrations* in the (q_x, p_y) and (q_y, p_x) planes jointly, and *fractional Fourier* transformations that rotate the (q_x, p_x) and (q_y, p_y) planes independently. In the wave optical model (isomorphic to 2*D* quantum me-

Alejandro R. Urzúa

Kurt Bernardo Wolf Instituto de Ciencias Físicas, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Av. Universidad s/n, Cuernavaca, Morelos 62210, México e-mail: bwolf@fis.unam.mx

Posgrado en Ciencias Físicas, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México e-mail: alejandro@fis.unam.mx

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_55

chanics), the images on a 2*D* screen are given by functions $f(q_x, q_y)$ where U(2)_F is given by integral linear canonical transforms [3–5]. We are particularly interested in gyrations which, in the wave model, relate cartesian Hermite-Gauss with Laguerre-Gauss modes of angular momentum.

In previous works on the discrete model and its transformations [1, 9, 10] only square $N \times N$ screens were considered, where *discrete* angular momentum states have a relatively clear analogy with the wave model counterparts. Their definition on *rectangular* screens $N_x \neq N_y$ is not immediately obvious; the thrust in this contribution is to extend it to the generic case.

2 The model of discrete optics

Since this work has appeared in extended version in Ref. [8], we shall dispense with its lengthy recount of the one-dimensional quantum harmonic oscillator dynamical algebra osc_1 , generated by position and momentum operators \overline{Q} , \overline{P} , $\overline{1}$ and the Hamiltonian $\overline{H} = \frac{1}{2}(\overline{P}^2 + \overline{Q}^2)$.¹ To build the discrete model of optics, with pixellated screens, we *pre-contract* this Lie algebra osc_1 to su(2), which is well known to group theorists.

To start with, we assign to the three generators of su(2) the following roles:

position
$$Q \equiv J_1$$
, momentum $P \equiv -J_2$, mode $H - j1 \equiv J_3$, (1)

in the representation *j*, where the Casimir operator has eigenvalue j(j+1), and whose dimension is 2j + 1 –the number of pixels in our one-dimensional screen, where we sense the image 'wavefunctions' f(q), on the discrete eigenvalues $q|_{-j}^{j}$ of *Q*. The commutators $[J_i, J_j] = iJ_k$, with *i*, *j*, *k* cyclic, thus become

$$[H,Q] = -iP, \quad [H,P] = iQ, \quad [Q,P] = iH.$$
 (2)

The first two expressions are the geometric and dynamical Hamilton equations respectively, and the last determines the model to be that of discrete, finite optics. Furthermore, as is known, when the density and number of pixels $j \rightarrow \infty$, su(2) can be contracted to osc_1 [1], so the discrete model limits smoothly to the continuous model.

In two dimensions quite naturally we build $su(2)_x \oplus su(2)_y$ with two mutually commuting sets of generators, Q_i , P_i , H_i , $i \in \{x, y\}$. In the continuous model of osc_2 one further builds the real symplectic Lie algebra sp(4,R) with the ten symmetric quadratic products $\overline{Q}_i \overline{Q}_j$, $\overline{P}_i \overline{P}_j$ and $\frac{1}{2} \{\overline{Q}_i, \overline{P}_j\}_+$, which generates all linear transformations in the classical and quantum models of osc_2 that preserve this algebra. Now, this sp(4,R) algebra contains a maximal compact subalgebra u(2) that generates the *Fourier* group U(2)_F, whose center is the fractional isotropic Fourier transform (FT).

¹ We use the overbars to indicate that the symbols refer to the *continuous* model of paraxial wave optics, as they do for quantum mechanics.

We define and name the following four quadratic operators,

symmetric FT
$$\overline{L}_0 := \frac{1}{4} (\overline{P}_x^2 + \overline{P}_y^2 + \overline{Q}_x^2 + \overline{Q}_y^2 - 2\overline{1}) = \frac{1}{2} (\overline{H}_x + \overline{H}_y),$$
 (3)

antisymmetric FT
$$\overline{L}_1 := \frac{1}{4} (\overline{P}_x^2 - \overline{P}_y^2 + \overline{Q}_x^2 - \overline{Q}_y^2) = \frac{1}{2} (\overline{H}_x - \overline{H}_y),$$
 (4)

gyration
$$\overline{L}_2 := \frac{1}{2} (\overline{P}_x \overline{P}_y + \overline{Q}_x \overline{Q}_y),$$
 (5)

rotation
$$\overline{L}_3 := \frac{1}{2} (\overline{Q}_x \overline{P}_y - \overline{Q}_y \overline{P}_x) =: \frac{1}{2} \overline{M},$$
 (6)

where $\overline{M} = 2\overline{L}_3$ is the 'physical' angular momentum operator, and whose commutation relations are those of u(2),

$$[\overline{L}_0, \overline{L}_k] = 0, \quad [\overline{L}_i, \overline{L}_j] = i\overline{L}_k.$$
(7)

This structure will be *imported* [2] to the discrete model, below.

3 Discrete bases for discrete optics

Consider now a one-dimensional pixellated 'screen' of N = 2j+1 pixels, and the space of all 'images' $f(q), q \in \{-j, ..., j-1, j\}$. Evidently we have a 'pixel basis' with Kronecker deltas, $\delta_{q^*}(q) = \delta(q - q^*)$, which consists of 'black' zeros and 1 on the pixel q^* , determined by the eigenvalues of $Q = J_1$ in (1), in the representation j of su(2). Similarly, we can build the *mode* eigenbasis $\Psi_n^{(j)}(q)$ of H using that of $J_3 = H - j1$. Since $Q = J_1$ and J_3 are related through a $\frac{1}{2}\pi$ rotation generated by J_2 , their images on the screen will be related by a Wigner 'little-d' function, so

$$\Psi_n^{(j)}(q) := d_{n-j,q}^j(\frac{1}{2}\pi) = \frac{(-1)^n}{2^j} \sqrt{\binom{2j}{n}\binom{2j}{j+q}} K_n(j+q;\frac{1}{2},2j), \qquad (8)$$

where $K_n(s; \frac{1}{2}, 2j) = {}_2F_1(-n, -s; -2j; 2) = K_s(n; \frac{1}{2}, 2j)$ is the symmetric Kravchuk polynomial, $n|_0^{2j}, q|_{-j}^j, s|_0^{2j}$, and which forms an su(2) *multiplet* of 2j+1 functions. In generally two-dimensional, rectangular pixellated screens of $N_x \times N_y$ pixels,

In generally two-dimensional, rectangular pixellated screens of $N_x \times N_y$ pixels, we build the *cartesian mode* real eigenbasis with an evident notation

$$\Psi_{n_x,n_y}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y) := \Psi_{n_x}^{(j_x)}(q_x)\Psi_{n_y}^{(j_y)}(q_y).$$
(9)

All images $f(q_x, q_y)$ on the screen can be expanded as

$$f(q_x, q_y) = \sum_{n_x, n_y} f_{n_x, n_y} \Psi_{n_x, n_y}^{(j_x, j_y)}(q_x, q_y), \quad f_{n_x, n_y} = \sum_{q_x, q_y} f(q_x, q_y) \Psi_{n_x, n_y}^{(j_x, j_y)}(q_x, q_y), \quad (10)$$

because the basis is orthonormal and complete. The two fractional Fourier-*Krachuk* transforms of the mode eigenbasis (9) are generated by $L_0 := \frac{1}{2}(H_x + H_y)$ and $L_1 := \frac{1}{2}(H_x - H_y)$, in direct correspondence with (3) and (4),

$$\mathscr{K}_{iso}(\phi) : \Psi_{n_x,n_y}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y) = e^{-i\frac{1}{2}\phi(n_x+n_y)}\Psi_{n_x,n_y}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y), \mathscr{K}_{aniso}(\alpha) : \Psi_{n_x,n_y}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y) = e^{-i\frac{1}{2}\alpha(n_x-n_y)}\Psi_{n_x,n_y}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y).$$

$$(11)$$

where $\mathscr{K}_{iso}(\phi) := \exp(-2i\phi L_0)$ and $\mathscr{K}_{aniso}(\alpha) := \exp(-2i\alpha L_1)$. These transformations are *domestic* to the finite model.

4 Importation of U(2)_F transformations

Now we shall *import* the transformations generated by \overline{L}_2 and \overline{L}_3 in (5) and (6), as gyration and rotation, using the same 'little-*d*' Wigner coefficients and phases that describe rotations around the 2- and 3-axis for any U(2) group realization. Out of the n_x , n_y mode numbers we posit that $n := n_x + n_y$ yields their *total mode* (energy), while $\mu := \frac{1}{2}(n_x - n_y)$ is their *angular momentum* within multiplets of spin $\lambda(n)$.

Gyrations and rotations of the cartesian basis (9) are then defined respectively as

$$\mathscr{G}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}): \Psi_{\boldsymbol{n}_{x},\boldsymbol{n}_{y}}^{(j_{x},j_{y})}(q_{x},q_{y}) = e^{-\mathrm{i}\pi(\boldsymbol{n}_{x}-\boldsymbol{n}_{y})/4} \sum_{\boldsymbol{n}_{x}'+\boldsymbol{n}_{y}'=\boldsymbol{n}} e^{\mathrm{i}\pi(\boldsymbol{n}_{x}'-\boldsymbol{n}_{y}')/4} d_{\boldsymbol{\mu},\boldsymbol{\mu}'}^{\lambda(\boldsymbol{n})}(2\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \Psi_{\boldsymbol{n}_{x}',\boldsymbol{n}_{y}'}^{(j_{x},j_{y})}(q_{x},q_{y}),$$
(12)

$$\mathscr{R}(\boldsymbol{\theta}): \Psi_{n_x, n_y}^{(j_x, j_y)}(q_x, q_y) = \sum_{n'_x + n'_y = n} d_{\mu, \mu'}^{\lambda(n)}(2\boldsymbol{\theta}) \Psi_{n'_x, n'_y}^{(j_x, j_y)}(q_x, q_y),$$
(13)

where $\mathscr{G}(\gamma) = \exp(-2i\gamma L_2)$ and $\mathscr{R}(\theta) = \exp(-2i\theta L_3)$. The relations between $\mu, \lambda(n)$ and n_x, n_y , in a rectangle $N_x \ge N_y$, are given in Ref. [8] and take three forms depending on whether $0 \le n \le 2j_y, 2j_y < n < 2j_x$, or $2j_x \le 2(j_x+j_y)$, belonging to the lower, middle and top sections of the cartesian multiplet shown in Fig. 1 (left). Importantly, we note that the domestic Fourier-Kravchuk transforms and the imported gyrations and rotations compose as all U(2) transformations do, and that they are *unitary* in the vector space of images $f(q_x, q_y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N_x N_y}$ under the usual sesquilinear inner product.

Importantly, the gyration $\mathscr{G}(\frac{1}{4}\pi)$ transforms —in the *continuous* model— from Hermite-Gauss to Laguerre-Gauss beams. We use the same transformation to *define* the modes of 'rectangular angular momentum,' or Laguerre-*Kravchuk* modes:

$$\Lambda_{n,m}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y) := \mathscr{G}(\frac{1}{4}\pi) : \Psi_{n_x,n_y}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y)$$
(14)

$$= e^{-i\pi(n_x-n_y)/4} \sum_{n'_x+n'_y=n} e^{i\pi(n'_x-n'_y)/4} d^{\lambda(n)}_{\mu,\mu'}(\frac{1}{4}\pi) \Psi^{(J_x,J_y)}_{n'_x,n'_y}(q_x,q_y).$$
(15)

These are shown in Fig. 1 (right); they are complex: $\Lambda_{n,m}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y) = \Lambda_{n,-m}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x,q_y)^*$, as the Laguerre-Gauss modes are, and are orthogonal and complete in the ordinary sesquilinear $\mathbb{R}^{N_x N_y}$ inner product. Since $\mathscr{R}(\theta) = \mathscr{K}_{aniso}(-\frac{1}{4}\pi)\mathscr{G}(\theta) \mathscr{K}_{aniso}(\frac{1}{4}\pi)$, under rotations these modes are only multiplied by a phase $e^{-\mathrm{i}m\theta}$.



Fig. 1: *Left*: The 77 cartesian modes in (9) for $N_x = 11$ and $N_y = 7$, $(j_x, j_y) = (5,3)$, referred to the diagonal axes $n_x|_0^{10}$, $n_y|_0^{6}$, and to *total mode* $n = n_x + n_y$ and 'angular momentum' $m = n_x - n_y$. *Right*: The 77 'Laguerre-Kravchuk modes' in (15), with $n|_0^{18}$ and 'rectangular angular momentum' $m|_{-\lambda(n)}^{\lambda(n)}$, $\lambda(n) \le 3$. Note the three regions (lower and upper triangles, and the intermediate rhomboid of states) correspond in both multiplets. Each 'screen' has 11×7 pixels.

5 Rotation of rectangular pixellated images

Heretofore we had examined rotations only for square pixellated screens $N_x = N_y$, which could also be unitarily transformed to circular, polar-pixellated screens. In the present work we generalize the cartesian pixellation to rectangular shape with a plausible definition of angular momentum states. Rotation in rectangular screens of generic images $f(q_x, q_y)$ can be effected either expanding it in the $\Psi_{n_x,n_y}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x, q_y)$ or in the $\Lambda_{n,m}^{(j_x,j_y)}(q_x, q_y)$ bases. The latter contains complex elements, so we have preferred the former because it is real as in (10), and rotate through,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{R}(\theta) : f(q_{x}, q_{y}) &= \sum_{n_{x}, n_{y}} f_{n_{x}, n_{y}}^{(\theta)} \Psi_{n_{x}, n_{y}}^{(j_{x}, j_{y})}(q_{x}, q_{y}), \end{aligned}$$
(16)
$$f_{n_{x}, n_{y}}^{(\theta)} &= \sum_{q_{x}, q_{y}} f(q_{x}, q_{y}) \mathscr{R}(\theta) : \Psi_{n_{x}, n_{y}}^{(j_{x}, j_{y})}(q_{x}, q_{y}) \\ &= \sum_{q_{x}, q_{y}} \sum_{n_{x}', n_{y}'} f(q_{x}, q_{y}) d_{\mu, \mu'}^{\lambda(n)}(2\theta) \Psi_{n_{x}', n_{y}'}^{(j_{x}, j_{y})}(q_{x}, q_{y}). \end{aligned}$$
(17)



Fig. 2: Successive rotations of a 0-to-1 image " \mathscr{B} " on a 61×37 pixellated screen $(j_x, j_y) = (30, 18)$, by angles 0, $\frac{1}{6}\pi$, $\frac{1}{3}\pi$, $\frac{1}{2}\pi$, and π . We chose to cut the bottom and upper graylevels of the intermediate rotations to give better visual information. The cut levels are: all values below -0.30 are black; all values above 1.30 are white.

In Fig. 2 we show a sample of succesive rotations of an image, on which we can give a few observations.

Rotations by $\frac{1}{2}\pi$ will exchange the long and short dimensions of the rectangle, so we expect —and see— that Gibbs-like oscillations take place which in a few pixels overshoot the maximum initial values of the original image. The same occurs for any other rotation, except for multiples of π , where the initial image is reproduced. The Gibbs phenomenon is unavoidable when unitarity is preserved, as we know from discrete and finite Fourier analysis. Rotation algorithms provided by interpolation algorithms loose information and cannot be inverted or concatenated as unitary transformations do.

Questions further afield are the possibility of generalizing image preservation through a change of the pixel coordinates. A map to polar pixellation of *annular* screens was postulated, as they can be built with the same number of pixels; this map was computed and tested [7], but the essential quality of image recognizability fades rapidly with $|N_x - N_y|$. On the other hand, screens with some kind of *elliptic* equal-area pixellation have not been found. Yet we can underline that our present work has achieved to find the correct analogue of the action of the geometric and wave 4-parameter Fourier group U(2)_F on generic images on rectangular pixellated screens.

Acknowledgements We thank the support of the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México through the PAPIIT-DGAPA project IN101115 *Óptica Matemática*, and acknowledge the help of Guillermo Krötzsch with the figures.

References

 N.M. Atakishiyev, G.S. Pogosyan, L.E. Vicent and K.B. Wolf, Finite two-dimensional oscillator. II: Cartesian mode. J. Phys. A 34, 9381–9398 (2001).

- L. Barker, Ç. Çandan, T. Hakioğlu, and H.M. Ozaktas, The discrete harmonic oscillator, Harper's equation and the discrete fractional Fourier transforms, J. Phys. A 33, 2209–2222 (2000).
- S.A. Collins Jr., Lens-system diffraction integral writen in terms of matrix optics. J. Opt. Soc. Am. 60, 1168–1177 (1970).
- S. Liberman and K.B. Wolf, Independent simultaneous discoveries visualized through network analysis: the case of Linear Canonical Transforms, in Scientometrics 104(3), 2015, doi:10.1007/s11192-015-1602-x.
- M. Moshinsky and C. Quesne, Linear canonical transformations and their unitary representation. J. Math. Phys. 12, 1772–1780 (1971).
- R. Simon and K.B. Wolf, Fractional Fourier transforms in two dimensions, J. Opt. Soc. Am. A. 17, 2368–2381 (2000).
- A.R. Urzúa, Rotaciones y giraciones en pantallas cartesianas rectangulares, M.Sc. Thesis, Posgrado en Ciencias Físicas, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (2016).
- A.R. Urzúa and K.B. Wolf, Unitary rotation and gyration of pixellated images on rectangular screens. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 33, 642–647 (2016).
- L.E. Vicent and K.B. Wolf, Analysis of digital images into energy-angular momentum modes. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 28, 808–814 (2011).
- K.B. Wolf and T. Alieva, Rotation and gyration of finite two-dimensional modes systems. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 24, 365–370 (2008).

Part IV Short Articles

Finding a dictionary between tensor models and crystallization theory

Grace Itunuoluwa Akinwande

Abstract Crystallization theory has been useful in representing piecewise-linear (PL) manifolds in any dimension as *D*-regular edge-colored bipartite graphs. PL manifolds are of increasing interest to theoretical physicists as a tool to explore discretized versions of geometry in quantum gravity. We provide here a dictionary and compare quantities which have appeared in two contexts: in the so-called crystallization theory of simplicial manifolds (mathematics) and in colored tensor models which are simplicial models in view of providing a quantum version of general relativity (physics).

1 Crystallization Theory and the Regular Genus

The representation of PL manifolds has been difficult beyond dimension 4. But crystallization theory [2] has been very useful in representing compact PL manifolds of any dimension making use of a class of edge-colored graphs.

A (D+1)-colored graph, G, is a graph that has an edge-coloration of D+1 colors, with the color set $\Delta_D = \{0, 1, \dots, D\}$, such that each pair of adjacent edges does not have the same color.

A graph encoded manifold also called gem is a (D+1)-colored graph, G, that represents a D-dimensional manifold M^D , that is, the pseudocomplex associated to G is homeomorphic to M^D . A crystallization is a contracted gem.

A simplicial manifold is obtained by gluing the facets of *D*-simplices according to certain rules (see [2]). On the other hand, Pezzana's existence theorem states that every closed connected manifold admits a crystallization [5, 6].

A regular embedding of a colored graph on a surface is such that each region in the embedding is bounded either by a cycle or by an open path of the (D+1)-

Grace Itunuoluwa Akinwande

AIMS, Senegal; and Universität Osnabrück, Germany,

e-mail: graceitunuoluwa.akinwande@uni-osnabrueck.de

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_56

colored graph, *G*, with edges alternatively colored by ε_j and ε_{j+1} , $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{D+1}$, where $\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_0, \varepsilon_1, \dots, \varepsilon_D)$. These embeddings are $\frac{1}{2}D!$ up-to-uniqueness. The regular genus of *G* is given as $\rho(G) = \min_{\varepsilon} \{\rho_{\varepsilon}(G)\}$, where $\rho_{\varepsilon}(G)$ is the genus of the embedding ε . Furthermore, the regular genus of a manifold *M* is defined as

$$\mathscr{G}(M) = \min\{\rho(G) \mid G \text{ represents } M\}.$$

2 From tensor models to simplicial manifolds

Tensor models generalize matrix models [3]. To make contact with PL manifolds and crystallization theory, we will focus on the colored version of tensor models [4]. The partition function of a colored tensor model of rank D is given by

$$\mathscr{Z}_{N}(\lambda,ar{\lambda}) = \int d\,ar{\psi}d\,\psi e^{-(\sum_{i=0}^{D}\sum_{ec{n}}ar{\psi}^{i}_{ec{n}_{i}}\psi^{i}_{ec{n}_{i}}+\lambda\sum_{ec{n}}\prod_{i=0}^{D}\psi^{i}_{ec{n}_{i}}+ar{\lambda}\sum_{ec{n}}\prod_{i=0}^{D}ar{\psi}^{i}_{ec{n}_{i}})},$$

where $\psi_{\vec{n}_i}^i$ is a rank *D* complex tensor. At the perturbative level, they naturally give rise to Feynman graphs which are bipartite (D+1)-colored graphs. The *d*-bubbles of the graph are maximally connected subgraphs consisting of edges with exactly *d* colors, $d \in \Delta_D$. The sets that are indexed by these bubbles give rise to a simplicial manifold (see Figure 1).



Fig. 1 A Feynman graph in a rank 3 tensor model which is a gluing of two tetrahedra.

Another important ingredient in colored tensor models is the notion of jackets. A jacket is a ribbon graph determined by a (D+1)-permutation cycle, namely τ , such that each of its faces is given by $(\tau^k(0), \tau^{k+1}(0)), k \in \Delta_D$. It should be noted that the notion of jacket coincides with the notion of regular embedding in crystallization theory.

The Gurau degree, $\omega(G)$, of a (D+1)-colored graph, G, is defined as

$$\omega(G) = \sum_{\mathscr{J}} g_{\mathscr{J}},$$

where the sum is performed over all jackets and $g_{\mathscr{J}}$ is the genus of a jacket \mathscr{J} . Thus, $\rho(G) \leq \omega(G)$, and the two quantities coincide in dimension 2.

3 Conclusion

There are many quantities and notions in crystallization theory which match with notions in colored tensor models. In [1], we discuss and show the following table:

Table 1: Comparison of notions and quantities in both theories (SM: Simplicial manifold).

Crystallization theory	Colored tensor models
D-residue	D-bubble
SM: attaching simplices to vertices	SM: indexing D-bubbles by all bubbles
<i>h</i> -dipole cancellation	<i>h</i> -dipole contraction
<i>h</i> -dipole insertion	<i>h</i> -dipole creation
Regular embedding, $F_{\mathcal{E}}$	Jacket, J
Heegaard surface, Σ	Jacket, J

The Gurau degree is related to the number of faces, and hence to a discrete version of the integral of the curvature. One could possibly make this statement more precise. Finally, if we define $\omega(M) = \min\{\omega(G) \mid G \text{ represents } M\}$ for a manifold M, one could ask if this quantity $\omega(M)$ coincides, or at least can be compared with the notion of scalar curvature.

Acknowledgements I am grateful to J. Ben Geloun and V. Rivasseau for their direction and support. I also thank the African Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Senegal, for the scholarship granted for the research work. I appreciate the organisers of the Group31 Colloquium and TWAS for funding my attendance at the Colloquium.

- 1. G. I. Akinwande, *Colored graphs, tensor models and crystallization theory*, Masters Thesis, African Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Senegal (2016).
- P. Bandieri and M. R. Casali and C. Gagliardi, *Representing manifolds by crystallization* theory: foundations, improvements and related results, Atti Del Seminario Matematico E Fisico Universita Di Modena, vol 49 (Unione Stampa Periodica Italiana 2001), pp. 283-338.
- 3. P. Di Francesco and P. Ginsparg and J. Zinn-Justin, *2D gravity and random matrices*, Physics Reports, vol 254 (1995), pp. 1-133.
- 4. R. Gurau and J. P. Ryan, Colored Tensor Models: a Review, SIGMA, 8 (2012), 020.
- 5. M. Pezzana, *Diagrammi di Heegaard e triangolazione contratta*, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital., vol 12 Suppl. fasc. 3 (1975), pp. 98-105.
- M. Pezzana, Sulla struttura topologica delle varietá compatte, Atti Sem. Mat. Fis. Univ. Modena, vol 23 (1974), pp. 269-277.

Quantum cosmology of scalar-tensor theories and self-adjointness

Carla R. Almeida

Abstract Self-adjointness of the Hamiltonian operator obtained from quantizing the classical Brans-Dicke action with a non-minimally coupled scalar field in minisuperspace is addressed. The matter field plays the role of time, introduced by Schultz's formalism by means of a perfect fluid. We determine the conditions for self-adjointness of the Hamiltonian operator.

1 Introduction

We canonically quantise the classical Brans-Dicke theory with a non-minimally coupled scalar-field having a matter component. Considering a FLRW metric and a change of coordinates, the Wheeler-DeWitt equation gives us the following Hamiltonian operator:

$$\hat{H} = -\frac{b^{3\alpha}}{\varphi^{\frac{3\alpha}{2}}} \left\{ \frac{\varphi^{\frac{1}{2}}}{b} \left[\partial_b^2 + \frac{p}{b} \partial_b \right] - \varpi \frac{\varphi^{\frac{3}{2}}}{b^3} \left[\varphi \partial_{\varphi}^2 + q \partial_{\varphi} \right] \right\},\tag{1}$$

where *b* is related with the scalar factor, α is the matter constant of the EoS, $\overline{\omega}$ is a constant, and *p*, *q* are the ordering factors. This operator is symmetric only if we consider the measure

$$\langle \Psi, \phi \rangle = \int \bar{\Psi} \phi b^{p-3\alpha+1} \varphi^{q+\frac{(3\alpha+5)}{2}} db d\varphi.$$
⁽²⁾

Notice that it depends on the ordering factors.

Carla R. Almeida,

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_57

Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, CEP 29075-910, Vitória-ES, Brazil; e-mail: carlagbjj@hotmail.com

2 Self-adjointness

To verify the self-adjointness of an operator or the existence of self-adjoint operators, we have to determine the number of linearly independent solutions of the eigenvalue equation $\hat{H}^*\Psi = \pm i\Psi$. For our case, the von Neumann theorem assures us that the Hamiltonian operator is (essentially) self-adjoint or has self-adjoint extensions for every kind of matter chosen. However, the eigenvalue equation is only separable for $\alpha = 1/3$ (radiative matter) and $\alpha = 1$ (stiff matter). For $\alpha = 1/3$, the eigenvalue equation becomes a system of differential equations:

$$\left(-\partial_b^2 - \frac{p}{b}\partial_b + \frac{k^2}{b^2}\right)X(b) = 0; \quad \varpi\left(\varphi^2\partial_\varphi^2 + q\varphi\partial_\varphi\right)Y(\varphi) = k^2Y(\varphi), \quad (3)$$

where *k* is the constant of separation. We proceed with the von Neumann method showing that there are square-integrable solutions, that is, the Hamiltonian has self-adjoint extensions, only if $\boldsymbol{\varpi} < 0$, q = 1 and p < -1 or p > 3. Therefore, we have:

(i) For $\varpi < 0$, q = 1 and p < -1 or p > 3, the operator has self-adjoint extensions. (ii)For every other case, the operator is already self-adjoint.

For $\boldsymbol{\omega} < 0$ the Hamiltonian operator \hat{H} is positive and bounded from below; then we can chose a unique extension, called Friedrich's extension, which always preserves the ground state. A similar analysis and similar results can be obtained for the case of stiff matter $\alpha = 1$.

2.0.1 Conclusion

In this work [1], we quantized the Hamiltonian of the classical Brans-Dicke theory and determined the conditions for its self-adjointness. As expected, we were able to reproduce the results obtained in [2] for a conformal matter field ($\alpha = 1/3$), showing the equivalence of the Einstein and Jordan frames.

Acknowledgements I would like to thank CAPES (Brazil) for partial finantial support.

- C.R. Almeida, A.B. Batista, J.C. Fabris, P.V. Moniz, *Quantum Cosmology of Scalar-tensor Theories and Self-adjointness*, J. Math. Phys. 58, 042301 (2017); http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4979537. 1608.08971v1 [gr-qc].
- 2. C.R. Almeida, A.B. Batista, J.C. Fabris, P.V. Moniz, *Quantum Cosmology with Scalar Fields: Self-adjointness and Cosmological Scenarios*, Gravitation and Cosmology, 21, 191 (2015).
- M. Reed, B. Simons, in Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics II: Fourier Analysis, Selfadjointness (Academy Press, INC, 1975).

Luminosity of ultrahigh energy cosmic rays as a probe of black strings

Rita C. Anjos, Carlos H. Coimbra-Araújo

Abstract Ultrahigh energy cosmic rays (UHECRs) can originate from extragalactic sources as Active Galactic Nuclei. We propose a mechanism to calculate bounds on the upper limits of the AGN luminosity fraction that can be converted into UHECRs. This result comes from the mechanism powered by central black holes to produce the AGN luminosity and observation of UHECRs and gamma-rays from experiments to reconstruct proton and iron luminosities of a given AGN source.

1 Introduction

This contribution provides a better understanding of the effects of luminosities from shower, AGN mechanisms and braneworld AGN corrections, and provides a background model for considering UHECR luminosity. We investigate the bolometric luminosity that comes from the accretion mechanism. We argue that the jet contribution comes as a quantity that is proportional to the bolometric luminosity, i.e., a fraction of such luminosity, assuming that any geometrically thick or hot inner region of an accretion disk produces powerful jets [1–3]. The method connects an upper limit on the integral GeV-TeV gamma-ray flux and upper limit on the UHECR luminosity through the cascading process that takes place during propagation of the cosmic rays in background radiation fields. The simulated spectra were normalized with an upper limit on the energy spectrum measured by the Pierre Auger Observatory [4, 5]

Rita C. Anjos

Carlos H. Coimbra-Araújo

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Rita C. Anjos, Departamento de Engenharias e Exatas, Universidade Federal do Paraná, Rua Pioneiro 2153, 85950-000, Palotina, Brazil, e-mail: ritacassia@ufpr.br

C.H. Coimbra Araújo, Departamento de Engenharias e Exatas, Universidade Federal do Paraná, Rua Pioneiro 2153, 85950-000, Palotina, Brazil, e-mail: ritacassia@ufpr.br

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0 58

2 Luminosity of black strings and cosmic rays

The luminosity Lacc of AGNs due to black hoke (BH) accretion is given by equation

$$L_{acc}^{Theory} = \frac{GMM}{6R_{-}},\tag{1}$$

where \dot{M} denotes the accretion rate and depends on some specific model of accrection, $R_{-} = R_{brane}$, R_{+kerr} and $R_{+kerbrane}$ are the horizons of BHs which are, respectively, static with extra dimension corrections, rotating, without and with, extra dimension corrections. The luminosity of AGNs are produced essentially by the accretion mechanism of supermassive black holes [3]. We can consider that the jet contribution comes as a proportional quantity to the bolometric luminosity (L_{acc}^{Theory}), namely, a fraction (η_{CR}), assuming that any geometrically thick or hot inner region of an accretion flow can advance magnetic field fluctuations to produce powerful jets. We can write the fraction of the total luminosity going into UHECR as

$$L_{CR}^{Theory} = \eta_{CR} L_{acc}^{Theory}.$$
 (2)

The luminosity decreases for some cases when extra dimension effects are taken into consideration [1].

3 Conclusion

We calculated the luminosity due to accretion of nine sources. The luminosities calculated based on theory were compared to an upper limit on the UHECR luminosity. The comparison resulted in being able to determine upper limits on the energy conversion from accretion to UHECR. The theoretical estimations of this conversion efficiency represents important information about the energy balance in BH [1].

Acknowledgements The author would like to express his sincere thanks to Universidade Federal do Paran.

- 1. R.C. Anjos, et. al. JCAP 03 (2016) 014.
- 2. C.H. Coimbra-Arajo and R.C. Anjos, PRD 92 (2015) 103001.
- 3. R da Rocha and C.H. Coimbra-Arajo, JCAP 12 (2005) 009.
- 4. A. D. Supanitsky and V. de Souza, JCAP 12 (2013) 023.
- 5. R.C. Anjos, A.D. Supanitsky and V. de Souza, JCAP, 07 (2014) 049.

About nonlinear coherent states in graphene

Erik Díaz-Bautista, David J. Fernández C.

Abstract We analyze the nonlinear coherent states for electrons in graphene interacting with a homogeneus magnetic field which is orthogonal to the layer surface. We also evaluate the corresponding Heisenberg uncertainty relation.

1 Introduction

Graphene is a single layer of carbon atoms arranged in a hexagonal honeycomb lattice whose conduction and valence bands meet at the Dirac points, six locations in momentum space on the edge of the first Brillouin zone [1]. Around the Dirac points, low energy electrons interacting with a magnetic field **B**, which is orthogonal to the layer surface, are ruled by the Dirac-Weyl equation [2, 3]:

$$v_F \,\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot (\mathbf{p} + e\mathbf{A}/c) \,\Psi(x, y) = E \,\Psi(x, y), \tag{1}$$

where $v_F \sim 0.003 c$ is the Fermi velocity, σ is the vector of Pauli matrices, $\Psi(\mathbf{r}) = (\Psi^+(\mathbf{r}), \Psi^-(\mathbf{r}))^{\mathrm{T}}$, *E* is the energy, -e is the electron charge and $\mathbf{A} = B(x)\hat{e}_y$. For a constant magnetic field $\mathbf{B} = B_0\hat{e}_z$, $B_0 > 0$, its solutions are given by the following eigenvalues with their related normalized eigenvectors:

$$E_n = \pm \hbar v_F \sqrt{n\omega}, \quad \Psi_n(x, y) = \left(\Psi_{n-1}^+(x), \ \Psi_n^-(x)\right)^{\mathrm{T}} e^{iky} / \sqrt{2}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$
(2)

where $\Psi_0(x,y) \equiv (0, \psi_0^-(x))^{\mathrm{T}} e^{iky}$ and $\psi_n^{\pm}(x) = \psi_n^{\pm}(z(x))$ are the standard harmonic oscillator eigenfunctions with $z = \sqrt{\omega/2} (x + 2k/\omega), \omega = 2eB_0/c\hbar$.

Erik Díaz-Bautista and David J. Fernández C.

Physics Department, CINVESTAV-IPN, A.P. 14-740, 07000, Ciudad de Mexico, Mexico. e-mail: ediaz@fis.cinvestav.mx, david@fis.cinvestav.mx

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_59



Fig. 1: Heisenberg uncertainty relation $(\sigma_z)^2_{\alpha}(\sigma_p)^2_{\alpha}$ as a function of α for some choices of $g(\hat{N})$.

2 Annihilation operator

The annihilation operator is not unique. We will choose $\hat{A}^- = \text{diag} (f(\hat{N})\hat{\vartheta}^-, g(\hat{N} + \hat{1})\hat{\vartheta}^-)$, since $\hat{A}^-\Psi_n = \sqrt{n} g(n)\Psi_{n-1}$, where $f(\hat{N}) = \sqrt{\hat{N} + \hat{2}}g(\hat{N} + \hat{2})/\sqrt{\hat{N} + \hat{1}}$, $\hat{\vartheta}^{\pm} = (z \mp \partial_z)/\sqrt{2}$ and $\hat{N} = \hat{\vartheta}^+ \hat{\vartheta}^-$. The coherent states (CS) Ψ_{α} are built as eigenstates of \hat{A}^- with eigenvalue $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. Explicit forms of Ψ_{α} appear for simple *g*-choices:

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2_0 F_1(1; |\alpha|^2) - 1}} \left[\Psi_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sqrt{2\alpha^n}}{n!} \Psi_n \right], \quad \text{if } g(\hat{N}) = \sqrt{\hat{N}}, \quad (3)$$

$$\Psi_{\alpha} = \begin{cases} e^{-|\alpha|^2/2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^n}{\sqrt{n!}} \Psi_{n+1}, & \text{if } g(\hat{N} + \hat{1}) = \frac{\sqrt{\hat{N}}}{\sqrt{\hat{N} + \hat{1}}}, \end{cases}$$
(4)

$$\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{{}_{0}F_{2}(1,2;|\alpha|^{2})}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^{n}}{n!\sqrt{(n+1)!}} \Psi_{n+2}, \qquad \text{if } g(\hat{N}+\hat{2}) = \frac{\hat{N}\sqrt{\hat{N}+\hat{1}}}{\sqrt{\hat{N}+\hat{2}}}.$$
(5)

3 Conclusions

For graphene in a constant magnetic field, we have identified annihilation and creation operators \hat{A}^{\pm} and built its CS as eigenstates of \hat{A}^{-} . Due to the non-uniqueness of \hat{A}^{-} , we can find different sets of CS and the Heisenberg uncertainty relation for each one is calculated. It achieves a minimum, equal to 1/4, for the CS of Eq. (3), and it reaches a maximum for those of Eqs. (4) and (5), depending on which is the lowest energy of the excited states involved in their linear combination (see Fig. 1).

- 1. K. S. Novoselov et al., Science 306, 666 (2004).
- 2. S. Kuru, J. Negro and L.M. Nieto, J. Phys.: Condens Matter 21, 455305 (2009).
- 3. B. Midya and D.J. Fernández, J. Phys. A: Math Theor. 47, 035304 (2014).

Painlevé IV solutions from systems with a harmonic oscillator gapped spectrum

MI Estrada-Delgado and David J. Fernández C.

Abstract Supersymmetry transformations of order k are applied to the harmonic oscillator for generating potentials V_k^j whose spectra have a gap of thickness k + 1 with respect to the initial spectrum. The system's extremal states are identified and, since the conditions ensuring that the Hamiltonian has third order ladder operators and thus it is connected with the PIV equation are satisfied, solutions to this equation can be found. An alternative supersymmetry transformation is applied to the harmonic oscillator by adding the levels needed to reproduce the spectrum of V_k^j , up to a constant energy displacement. The three new extremal states are as well identified and we get the corresponding solutions to the PIV equation. Finally, the PIV solutions found through both transformations are analysed.

1 Supersymmetric quantum mechanics

In the *k*-th order intertwining technique k + 1 Hamiltonians H_j and 2k first order operators A_l^{\pm} given by

$$H_j = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + V_j(x), \ A_l^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\mp \frac{d}{dx} + \alpha_l(x, \varepsilon_l) \right), \ j \in \mathbb{N}_0 \le k, \ l \in \mathbb{N} \le k, \ (1)$$

are intertwined in the way $H_i A_i^+ = A_i^+ H_{i-1}$ with $i \in \mathbb{N} \leq k$.

Mario Ivan Estrada Delgado

David J. Fernández C. Departamento de Física, CINVESTAV, A.P. 14-740, 07000 México D.F. México, e-mail: david@fis.cinvestav.mx

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_60

Departamento de Física, CINVESTAV, A.P. 14-740, 07000 México D.F. México, e-mail: iestrada@fis.cinvestav.mx

With the substitution of $\alpha_1(x, \varepsilon_l) = u'_l/u_l$, it turns out that we require k solutions u_l of the initial stationary Schrödinger equation associated to ε_l . Moreover, the SUSY partners generated from the harmonic oscillator through connected seed solutions become associated with the PIV equation, allowing us to generate solutions to such equation in a simple way [1].

2 Equivalent SUSY transformations

Choosing as factorization energy $\varepsilon_1 = -\frac{5}{2} (k=1)$, the potential will be non-singular if $v \in (-1, 1)$, as proved in [1]. In particular, for v = 0 we denote the potential as V_1^{-3} . On the other hand, a second-order transformation which employs the first two excited states leads to the SUSY partner potential V_2^1 . Plots of these potentials and the associated spectra are shown in Figure 1a and 1b.



Fig. 1: (a) Plot of three potentials of the family of SUSY partners of the oscillator generated by adding a new level at $-\frac{5}{2}$ for different v's, in particular, the one for v = 0 is called V_1^{-3} ; (b) Spectrum associated to these SUSY partner potentials, which is the same for V_2^1 but displaced down by 3; (c) Solutions to the *PIV* equation associated to V_2^1 and V_1^{-3} .

The eigenfunctions for both potentials turn out to be the same and, after identifying and sorting the extremal states, the PIV solutions are calculated (see Fig. 1c).

Acknowledgements The authors acknowledge the support of Conacyt.

- [1] D. Bermúdez, D. J. Fernández, SIGMA 7 (2011) 025, doi: 10.3482/SIGMA.2011.025.
- [2] D. Bermúdez, D. J. Fernández, In XXXth Workshop of Geometric Methods in Physics, 2011, ed. by. P. Kielanowski et al., Trends in Mathematics, (Springer Basel, 2013), pp. 199-209.
- [3] J. M. Carballo, D. J. Fernández, J. Negro, L. M. Nieto. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 37(2004) 10349-10362.
- [4] D. J. Fernández, V. S. Morales Salgado, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 47 (2014) 035304.
- [5] J. Junker, P. Roy, Ann. Phys., 270 (1998) 155-177.
- [6] D. J. Fernández, N. Fernández-García, AIP Conf. Proc., 744 (2005) 236-276.

Interior solution for a translating cylinder of matter

Pedro Henrique Meert Ferreira and Maria de Fátima Alves da Silva

Abstract Solutions to Einstein's Field Equations with cylindrical symmetry have drawn much attention because they are significantly different from what the Newtonian picture predicts. Solutions of this kind are widely known and many cases have been studied. In particular, Van Stockum spacetime describes the interior of a cylinder with rotating dust; this solution is known to satisfy junction conditions with Lewis spacetime, which is the solution to the exterior part, i.e., gravitational field produced in vacuum by a rotating cylinder. We notice that the Van Stockum line element has a symmetry between its axial and angular coordinates; such a metric allows us to study a cylinder with a fluid moving along the axis of symmetry. We are currently studying this solution, and here we present some consequences such as the equation of state that the fluid should satisfy as well as energy conditions.

1 Outline and discussion of the problem

From a work of 1937, W. J. van Stockum showed that solutions for axisymmetric distributions of matter exist; his own solution is for dust rotating around an axis of symmetry [1], i.e., a cylinder of matter. We notice that van Stockum's original solution is symmetric under the change $z \leftrightarrow \varphi$ (within a multiplicative factor to correct dimensions); we associate this solution to an infinitely long cylinder of matter translating along the *z* axis. We are motivated to do so in order to verify whether there is a frame dragging effect, which is known to occur in solutions associate do rotating sources. Once we have a source for such a spacetime, we can calculate quantities associated to the exterior geometry, namely, Lewis spacetime with translation. Af-

Pedro Henrique Meert Ferreira

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Rua São Francisco Xavier, 524, terceiro andar, Maracanã, Rio de Janeiro. e-mail: ferreiraphm@gmail.com

Maria de Fátima Alves da Silva

Rua São Francisco Xavier, 524, terceiro andar, Maracanã, Rio de Janeiro. e-mail: mfasnic@gmail.com

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_61

ter performing the interchange of coordinates, we are faced with the following line element, written in geometric units $8\pi G = c = 1$:

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + e^{-\alpha^{2}r^{2}} \left(\lambda d\varphi^{2} + dr^{2}\right) + \frac{r^{2} \left(1 - \alpha^{2}r^{2}\right)}{\lambda} dz^{2} + \frac{\alpha r^{2}}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(dt dz + dz dt\right), \quad (1)$$

where we adopted the conventional cylindrical coordinates $\{0, 1, 2, 3\} \mapsto \{t, r, z, \varphi\}$. The parameter α is a constant related to angular momentum density in the original solution in which particles are rotating; by analogy we presume that this parameter is related to linear momentum density. λ is a real positive constant factor which asserts that the line element has the correct dimensions, thus $\lambda \sim [length]^2$.

We use the anisotropic energy-momentum tensor

$$T_{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p_z) u_{\mu} u_{\nu} + p_z g_{\mu\nu} + (p_{\varphi} - p_z) P_{\mu} P_{\nu} + (p_r - p_z) S_{\mu} S_{\nu}, \qquad (2)$$

where p_i stand for the pressure in the ith component. u_{μ} is the covariant four velocity which satisfies the normalization condition $u_{\mu}u^{\mu} = -1$, and P^{μ} , S^{μ} are orthonormal space-like four vectors. Using (1) and (2) we solve Einstein's equation, $G_{\mu\nu} = kT_{\mu\nu}$, for the energy density, ρ , pressure components, p_i , and the velocity along de *z* axis which we call ν .

By solving Einstein's equations for the most general case, one obtains

$$\rho = \frac{4F\alpha^2 e^{\alpha^2 r^2}}{G^2} \left\{ 1 - \frac{\left(\alpha^2 r^4 - \frac{H^2}{G^2}\right)\left(\frac{G^2}{F} - 1\right)}{\frac{H^2}{G^2} + \frac{r^2}{\lambda}\left(1 - \alpha^2 r^2\right)} \right\}, \ p_z = \frac{4\alpha^2 e^{\alpha^2 r^2} \left(\alpha^2 r^4 - \frac{H^2}{G^2}\right)}{\frac{H^2}{G^2} + \frac{r^2}{\lambda}\left(1 - \alpha^2 r^2\right)},$$

where we defined the following functions: $F(v) = 1 - \frac{\alpha r^2}{\sqrt{\lambda}}v + \frac{r^2(1-\alpha^2 r^2)}{\lambda}v^2$, $G(v) = -1 + \frac{\alpha r^2}{\sqrt{\lambda}}v$ and $H(v) = \frac{\alpha r^2}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \frac{r^2(1-\alpha^2 r^2)}{\lambda}v$. The only solution for v that does not require α, λ , or both parameters to be complex or imaginary is the solution of a comoving reference frame, i.e., v = 0. Setting this value for v, we find from Einstein's equation that $\lambda = 1$ and from this result one can see that $p_z = 0$ and $\rho \propto e^{\alpha^2 r^2}$, which means that we have a cylinder of dust with rigid translation along the axis of symmetry. It is interesting to notice that although we claim that α is related to linear momentum density –we are not able to prove it, the only possibility is v = 0. We expect this solution to be related to the static spacetime by a boost, as it happens to be in a newtonian theory, in which the potential is the same independent of any translation or rotational motion of the source. Also, the so-called frame dragging is not present in this simple case. We expect to find it in the case of differential translation, as suggested by [2], which we are currently investigating.

- 1. van Stockum, W. J. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh A 57: 135 (1937).
- 2. Griffiths, J. B., Santos, N. O. Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 2010-19:79-84

A classical calculation of the W-boson magnetic moment

Alexandre Hefren de Vasconcelos Júnior

Abstract We aim to calculate the *electromagnetic* correction for the magnetic moment of an electric-charged massive elementary particle of spin-1, the intermediate vector W-boson of the weak interaction. It is a classical (or semi-classical) calculation, which is not based on diagrams. Our purpose is not to substitute the standard calculation, but to highlight the notion of extended fields. Is it possible to simulate quantum effects by using a notion of extended field? Interestingly, there is a concept in the algebraic approach to QFT called modular localization [1] that makes use of string instead of pointlike localization.

1 Introduction

The giromagnetic adimensional factor of elementary particles provides us with the most successful result in the history of science. That is because the agreement between theoretical calculations and experimental data is astonishingly precise [2].

The theory behind this calculations is quantum field theory (QFT); the first result was derived by Schwinger [3] in 1948. It was about the leptonic magnetic moment of the electron calculated using Feynman diagrams. The result is extremely famous in terms of the anomaly $a_e = \alpha/2\pi$. The pertubative approach based on quantization of classical interactions and gauge theory is very fruitful. Nevertheless, the Standard Model (SM) is not settled as a mathematically complete quantum field theory. Following the idea presented in [4], we give special status to the Compton wavelength and work the bosonic case.

Alexandre Hefren CBPF, Dr. Xavier Sigaud, 150 - Urca, Rio de Janeiro - RJ, 22290-180, e-mail: hefren@cbpf.br

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0 62

2 The calculations

From the electroweak sector of the SM, the lagrangian for the W-boson is

$$\mathscr{L} = -\frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}W^{\star}_{\mu\nu}W^{\mu\nu} + m^2W^{\star}W + ieqF_{\mu\nu}W^{\star\mu}W^{\nu}.$$
 (1)

Noether's second theorem gives us the off-shell current which, in the Lorenz gauge, reads

$$\partial_{\nu}F^{\nu\mu} = \Box A^{\mu} = J^{\mu} = -2eqIm[W_{\nu}(\partial^{\mu}W^{\star\nu}) + W^{\star\nu}(\partial^{\nu}W^{\mu})] + 2e^{2}q^{2}W^{\star\nu}W_{\nu}A^{\mu} -e^{2}q^{2}[W^{\star\mu}W_{\nu} + W^{\mu}W_{\nu}^{\star}]A^{\nu} - ieq\partial_{\nu}(W^{\nu}W^{\star\mu} - W^{\star\nu}W^{\mu}).$$
(2)

For the magnetic sector, $\mu = i$, the Ampère-Maxwell is given by

$$-\nabla^{2}A^{i} + 2e^{2}q^{2}(\mathbf{W}^{\star} \cdot \mathbf{W})A^{i} - e^{2}q^{2}(W^{i\star}\mathbf{W} \cdot \mathbf{A} + W^{i}\mathbf{W}^{\star} \cdot \mathbf{A})$$

$$= +2eqIm\left[\mathbf{W} \cdot \partial^{i}\mathbf{W}^{\star} - \mathbf{W}^{\star} \cdot \partial W^{i}\right] - ieq\partial_{j}\left(W^{j}W^{i\star} - W^{j\star}W^{i}\right).$$

$$(3)$$

Thinking about corrections for the magnetic moment in $\mathcal{O}(e^2q^2)$, we define the (factored) total current \widetilde{J} by $J^{\mu} \equiv eq\widetilde{J}^{\mu}$. In the Lorenz gauge with static approximation, the potential associated with \widetilde{J} is

$$\mathbf{A} = \frac{eq}{4\pi} \int \frac{\mathbf{\tilde{J}}(\mathbf{x}')d^3\mathbf{x}'}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|}.$$
(4)

For simplicity, we consider the non-relativistic limit and ignore the back-reaction effect, so the subsidiary condition is $W^0 = 0$. The convective term of the current, related to the massive boson, is therefore absent. Let us define the pure electromagnetic spin current

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{J}}^{\iota} = -i\partial_j \left(W^j W^{i\star} - W^{j\star} W^i \right) = -i\partial_j \left[W_+ W_+^{\star} \left(\varepsilon_{+i}^{\star} \varepsilon_{+j} - \varepsilon_{+i} \varepsilon_{+j}^{\star} \right) \right],$$
(5)

and the associated particle density $\frac{\rho_{part}}{m} = 2\mathbf{W}^* \cdot \mathbf{W}$. Choosing a particular polarization for the W boson, $\varepsilon_{\mu}^+ = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(0, 1, i, 0)$, the spin current takes the form

$$\widetilde{J}^{i} = -\frac{i}{2m}\partial_{j}\left[\rho_{part}\left(\varepsilon_{+i}^{\star}\varepsilon_{+j} - \varepsilon_{+i}\varepsilon_{+j}^{\star}\right)\right].$$
(6)

Going back to the general expression of the current,

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{J}}^{\widetilde{i}}(\mathbf{r}) = \widetilde{J}^{\widetilde{i}} - \left(\frac{2e^2q^2}{4\pi}\right) \int \frac{\widetilde{J}^{\widetilde{i}}(\mathbf{r}')W^{\nu\star}W_{\nu}d^3\mathbf{r}'}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|} + \left(\frac{e^2q^2}{4\pi}\right) \int \frac{\widetilde{J}^{\widetilde{j}}(\mathbf{r}')\left[W^{i\star}W_j + W^iW_j^{\star}\right]d^3\mathbf{r}'}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|}.$$
(7)
Now, we can express the total current in terms of the spin current by

$$\widetilde{\vec{J}}^{i} = \widetilde{J}^{i} \left(1 - \frac{e^2 q^2}{16\pi^2} \right), \tag{8}$$

where we used the main heuristic consideration of taking $|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'| \equiv \lambda$ as a fixed distance related to the Compton wavelength associated with the W-boson. Therefore, $m\lambda = 2\pi$ appears immediately. Also, there was a delta "function" associated to the particle's density inside the integrals.

For the magnetic moment, the famous classical expression is

$$\boldsymbol{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \int \mathbf{r} \times \left(e q \widetilde{\mathbf{J}} \right) d^3 r', \tag{9}$$

which can be expressed as

$$\mu = \frac{eq}{2m} \left(1 + \frac{\alpha}{4\pi} \right)^{-1} 2 \int \left(\left(\varepsilon_+^* \mathbf{S} \varepsilon_+ \right) \frac{\rho_{part}}{2} \right) d^3 r' = \frac{eq}{2m} 2 \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{4\pi} \right)^{-1} \mathbf{s}, \quad (10)$$

with the spin vector related to the euclidean rotation generator $\mathbf{s} = \int \frac{\rho_{part}}{2} (\varepsilon_+^* \mathbf{S} \varepsilon_+) d^3 r'$. Finally, for $\alpha \ll 1$, one gets

$$\mu = \frac{eq}{2m} 2\left(1 + \frac{\alpha}{4\pi}\right) \mathbf{s}.$$
 (11)

The experimental result from 2001 [5] gives us the value of the magnetic moment of the W-boson, $\mu_W \left(\frac{2M}{eq}\right) = 2.22^{+0.20}_{-0.19}$.

The electromagnetic corrections are small compared to the contributions of the others interactions for the magnetic moment of the W-boson and this goes to the boson being very massive. Nevertheless, the electromagnetic corrections scale as expected, i.e., as α/π .

Acknowledgements I thank Prof. José Abdalla Helayël-Neto, my Master's advisor, for our discussions about this work.

- Mund, J., Schroer, B. and Yngvason, J., 2006. String-localized quantum fields and modular localization. Commun. Math. Phys., 268(3), 621-672.
- Gabrielse, G., Hanneke, D., Kinoshita, T., Nio, M. and Odom, B., 2006. New determination of the fine structure constant from the electron g value and QED. Phys. Rev. Lett., 97(3), p.030802.
- Schwinger, J., 1948. On quantum-electrodynamics and the magnetic moment of the electron. Phys. Rev., 73(4), p.416.
- 4. Fabbri, L., 2016. A classical calculation of the leptonic magnetic moment. Int. J. Th. Phys., 55(2),669-677.

5. Collaboration, T.D.E.L.P.H.I. and Abreu, P., 2001. Measurement of Trilinear Gauge Boson Couplings WWV, $(V \equiv Z, \gamma)$ in e^+e^- Collisions at 189 GeV, Phys. Lett. B, 502, 9-23.

Quantum angle from $\mathbf{E}(2)$ coherent states quantization of motion on the circle

Diego Noguera

Abstract Covariant integral quantisation using coherent states for the Euclidean Group E(2) is applied to construct quantum observables for the motion on the circle. An important issue of our approach is a self-adjoint angle operator with excellent localisation properties.

1 Introduction

A crucial property of coherent states (CS) in view of integral quantisation is the resolution of the identity. Our construction of CS is based on unitary irreducible representations of the Euclidean group $E(2) = \mathbb{R}^2 \rtimes SO(2)$, and it is strongly influenced by the seminal paper by De Bièvre [1] and Chapter 9 of the book [2]. An interesting and original outcome of our approach is a self-adjoint angle operator showing satisfying localisation on the circle. Details are given in [3].

2 E(2) **coherent states**

The existence of our coherent states is encapsulated in the following result (proof is given in [3]).

Theorem 1. Let $\kappa = (\kappa \cos \gamma, \kappa \sin \gamma) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $\lambda = (\lambda \cos \zeta, \lambda \sin \zeta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, and $\eta \in L^2(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathrm{d}\alpha)$. The vectors $\eta_{p,q}(\alpha) = e^{i[\kappa p \cos(q-\alpha+\gamma)+\lambda \cos(q-\alpha+\zeta)]}\eta(\alpha-q)$ form a family of CS for E(2), which resolves the identity on $L^2(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathrm{d}\alpha)$ if η is admissible in the following sense:

Diego Noguera

CBPF, Rio de Janeiro, e-mail: diegomac@cbpf.br

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_63

Diego Noguera

$$I_{L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{1},\mathrm{d}\alpha)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{S}^{1}} \frac{\mathrm{d}p\mathrm{d}q}{c_{\eta}} |\eta_{p,q}\rangle\langle\eta_{p,q}|, \ 0 < c_{\eta} := \frac{2\pi}{|\boldsymbol{\kappa}|} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{1}} \frac{|\eta(q)|^{2}\mathrm{d}q}{|\sin(\arg\boldsymbol{\kappa}-q)|} < \infty, \ (1)$$

where supp η is an interval excluding the roots of $|\sin(\arg \kappa - q)|$.

Consequently, the covariant integral quantization [2] of a function f is defined by

$$A_f = \frac{1}{c_\eta} \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^1} \mathrm{d}p \, \mathrm{d}q \, f(p,q) |\, \eta_{p,q} \,\rangle \langle \, \eta_{p,q} \,| \,. \tag{2}$$

3 Quantum angle operator

For the 2π periodic angle function $a(\alpha)$ defined by $a(\alpha) = \alpha$ for $\alpha \in [0, 2\pi)$, the **angle operator** computed from (2) is the multiplication operator

$$A_{\mathcal{A}}\psi(\alpha) = (E_{\eta;\gamma} * \mathcal{A})(\alpha)\psi(\alpha) \quad \text{where } E_{\eta;\gamma}(\alpha) := \frac{2\pi}{\kappa c_{\eta}} \frac{|\eta(\alpha)|^2}{|\sin(\gamma - \alpha)|}.$$
(3)

With the conditions on supp η given in Th. 1, the convolution $E_{\eta;\gamma} * a$ becomes

$$(E_{\eta;\gamma} * a)(\alpha) = \int_{\alpha-\gamma}^{\alpha+\pi-\gamma} \mathrm{d}q E_{\eta;\gamma}(\alpha-q)a(q), \qquad (4)$$

which corresponds to the spectrum of A_a . As an example, for $\gamma = \pi/2$ and $a = \kappa c_{\eta}/2\pi$, the expression (4) yields to

$$\left(E_{\eta,\frac{\pi}{2}} \ast a\right)(\alpha) = \alpha - \int_{-\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \mathrm{d}x \frac{x|\eta(x)|^2}{a\cos(x)} - \begin{cases} \int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}x \frac{2\pi|\eta(x)|^2}{a\cos(x)} & 0 \leqslant \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}, \\ 0 & \frac{\pi}{2} \leqslant \alpha < \frac{3\pi}{2}, \\ \int_{-\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\alpha-2\pi} \mathrm{d}x \frac{2\pi|\eta(x)|^2}{a\cos(x)} & \frac{3\pi}{2} \leqslant \alpha < 2\pi. \end{cases}$$
(5)

A further analysis of A_{a} , the quantisation of many other relevant obsevables, and the study of their semi-classical analysis are found in [3].

4 Conclusions

The coherent states given in Th. 1 allow us to map the angle function α to the bounded self-adjoint multiplication operator A_{α} on $L^2(\mathbb{S}^1, d\alpha)$. Its spectrum is given by the periodic function (4), where the additional term to α can be made arbitrarily small almost everywhere through suitable choices of the function $\eta(\alpha)$.

398

- 1. S. De Bièvre. Coherent states over symplectic homogeneous spaces, J. Math. Phys. 30, 1401-1407 (1989).
- 2. S.T. Ali, J.-P. Antoine, and J.-P. Gazeau, *Coherent States, Wavelets and their Generalizations*, 2d edition, Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, Springer, New York, 2013.
- 3. R. Fresneda, J.-P. Gazeau, and D. Noguera, Covariant integral quantization of the motion on the circle, *in preparation*.

Free-energy formalism for inhomogeneous nonlinear Fokker-Planck equations

Peter Rapčan, Gabriele Sicuro and Constantino Tsallis

Abstract We extend the free-energy formalism recently introduced for homogeneous Fokker–Planck equations to a wide class of inhomogeneous nonlinear Fokker–Planck equations, providing sufficient conditions for the equation coefficients to obtain a free-energy that does not increase with time. Some properties of the stationary solutions of these Fokker–Planck equations are discussed.

Consider a Fokker-Planck equation (FPE) in (1+1) dimensions, i.e., a continuity equation for the probability density $\rho(x,t)$

$$\frac{\partial \rho(x,t)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial J[x,\rho(x,t)]}{\partial x},\tag{1}$$

with a probability-current density given by

$$J[x,\rho(x,t)] := A(x)\Psi[\rho(x,t)] - D(x)\Omega[\rho(x,t)]\frac{\partial\rho(x,t)}{\partial x}.$$
(2)

We assume the following boundary conditions $\forall t \ge 0$:

$$\lim_{x \to \pm \infty} \rho(x,t) = \lim_{x \to \pm \infty} \frac{\partial \rho(x,t)}{\partial x} = \lim_{x \to \pm \infty} J[x,\rho] = 0.$$
(3)

Peter Rapčan

Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas, Rua Dr. Xavier Sigaud, 150, 22290-180, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; e-mail: rapcan@cbpf.br

Gabriele Sicuro

Constantino Tsallis

Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas and National Institute of Science and Technology of Complex Systems, Rua Dr. Xavier Sigaud, 150, 22290-180, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, and Santa Fe Institute, 1399 Hyde Park Road, Santa Fe, NM 87501, USA; e-mail: tsallis@cbpf.br

Centro Brasileiro de Pesquisas Físicas, Rua Dr. Xavier Sigaud, 150, 22290-180, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil; e-mail: sicuro@cbpf.br

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_64

Moreover, we assume that $\forall x \in R, 0 < D(x) < \infty$ and $\Omega[\rho] > 0$ almost everywhere. We search therefore for a trace-form free-energy-like functional

$$F(t) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f[x, \rho(x, t)] \mathrm{d}x \tag{4}$$

$$f[x, \boldsymbol{\rho}(x, t)] := \boldsymbol{\varphi}(x)\boldsymbol{\rho}(x, t) - \boldsymbol{\Theta}s[\boldsymbol{\rho}(x, t)], \tag{5}$$

where *f* is a free-energy density, φ is an effective potential, *s* is an entropy density such that s[0] = s[1] = 0, and $\Theta > 0$ is a parameter that plays the role of a temperature. Evaluating the time derivative of *F*, and imposing Eq. (1), we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}F(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Theta D(x)\Psi(x) \left[-\frac{A(x)}{D(x)} + \frac{\Omega[\rho]}{\Psi[\rho]} \frac{\partial\rho(x,t)}{\partial x} \right] \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{\Theta} \frac{\partial\varphi(x)}{\partial x} - \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 s[y]}{\mathrm{d}y^2} \Big|_{y=\rho(x,t)} \frac{\partial\rho(x,t)}{\partial x} \right] \mathrm{d}x.$$

We assume, without loss of generality, that $\Psi[\rho]$ is positive. The integrand is nonnegative, i.e., the free energy is non-increasing along the entire time evolution, if

$$\frac{1}{\Theta}\frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi(x)}{\mathrm{d}x} = -\frac{A(x)}{D(x)}, \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 s[\rho]}{\mathrm{d}\rho^2} = -\frac{\Omega[\rho]}{\Psi[\rho]}.$$
(6)

The relations above have been obtained for the first time in Refs. [1, 2] for the homogenous case $D(x) \equiv D = constant$.

One may wonder whether the structure of J presented in Eq. (2) and adopted in Eq. (1), might be substituted by a more general structure like

$$J[x,\rho(x,t)] = \tilde{\Psi}[x,\rho(x,t)] - \tilde{\Omega}[x,\rho(x,t)] \frac{\partial\rho(x,t)}{\partial x}.$$
(7)

It turns out that the structure of our free-energy functional as defined in Eqs. (4) and (5) is not compatible with the structure of the above probability-current density unless $\tilde{\Psi}[x,\rho(x,t)] = A(x)\Psi[\rho(x,t)]$ and $\tilde{\Omega}[x,\rho(x,t)] = D(x)\Omega[\rho(x,t)]$. If we instead do not specify the structure of $f[x,\rho]$, we can still write down a set of equations such that $\frac{dF(t)}{dt} \leq 0$ which, in turn, constrain the pair $\tilde{\Psi}, \tilde{\Omega}$ as follows:

$$\frac{\frac{\partial^2 f[x,\rho]}{\partial x \partial \rho} = \tilde{\Psi}[x,\rho]}{\frac{\partial^2 f[x,\rho]}{\partial \rho^2} = \tilde{\Omega}[x,\rho]} \right\} \Rightarrow \frac{\partial \tilde{\Psi}[x,\rho]}{\partial \rho} = \frac{\partial \tilde{\Omega}[x,\rho]}{\partial x}, \tag{8}$$

where the implied condition is not satisfied a priori.

Let us now come back to the factorized probability-current density in Eq. (2). It can be shown [3] that if a stationary distribution of Eq. (1), $\rho_{st}(x)$, exists, then it is unique, coinciding with the limit distribution $\rho_{st}(x) = \lim_{t\to\infty} \rho(x,t)$, and it can be written in the form

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_{st}(x) = \exp_s[-\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\varphi}(x) + c], \qquad (9)$$

where, given $g(\rho) := \frac{ds(\rho)}{d\rho}$, $\exp_s(x) := g^{-1}(-x)$ is a deformed exponential associated with the (generalized) entropy density *s* and *c* is a normalization constant. Hence, even for a fixed entropic form, one can obtain a wide class of stationary distributions by an appropriate choice of the argument of the deformed exponential, and in particular of D(x).

Observe that (A, Ψ, D, Ω) and $(\gamma A, \gamma^{-1}\Psi, \delta D, \delta^{-1}\Omega)$, with $\gamma, \delta \neq 0$, lead to the same FPE. Therefore the quantities $\Theta^{-1}\partial_x \varphi$ and *s* are given up to a common multiplicative constant, unless additional information is available. In particular, the parameter Θ can be only fixed on the basis of the specific properties of the model under consideration. Supposing φ fixed in this way, and evaluating the second moment of the stationary distribution $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x^2 \rho_{st}(x) dx$, the following identity can be written

$$\Theta = \frac{-\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x^3 \frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi(x)}{\mathrm{d}x} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 s[z]}{\mathrm{d}z^2}|_{z=\rho_{st}(x)}\right)^{-1} \mathrm{d}x}{3\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x^2 \rho_{st}(x) \mathrm{d}x}.$$
(10)

Summarizing, we have extended the free-energy formalism introduced in [1,2], to a wide class of inhomogeneous nonlinear Fokker–Planck equations. The connection with *q*-statistics (and its associated nonadditive entropy S_q) can be straightforwardly obtained as a particular case. A more complete analysis of the formalism, addressing properties of the free-energy functional, entropy production in the process of relaxation towards the equilibrium, derivation of the stationary solution, accompanied by a proof of the existence of a unique limit distribution, is being published elsewhere [3].

Acknowledgements We acknowledge financial support by CNPq and Faperj (Brazilian Agencies), and by the John Templeton Foundation (USA). P.R. also acknowledges financial support by the Institute of Physics, Slovak Academy of Sciences.

- 1. V. Schwämmle, M. E. Curado, and D. F. Nobre. A general nonlinear Fokker–Planck equation and its associated entropy. *The European Physical Journal B*, 58(2):159–165, 2007.
- V. Schwämmle, F. D. Nobre, and E. M. F. Curado. Consequences of the *H* theorem from nonlinear Fokker–Planck equations. *Physical Review E*, 76:041123, 2007.
- G. Sicuro, P. Rapčan, and C. Tsallis. Nonlinear inhomogeneous Fokker–Planck equations: entropy and free-energy time evolution. Phys. Rev. E 94, 062117 (2016) DOI:10.1103/PhysRevE.94.062117.

Relativistic deformation of Helmholtz wavefields

Cristina Salto-Alegre, Amalia Torre, and Kurt Bernardo Wolf

We investigate the aberration of images on a plane screen produced by a threedimensional Helmholtz wavefield when the sphere of plane wave directions is subject to relativistic deformation. This aberration was originally studied in the geometric optics model in Refs. [1, 2] and [3, Sect. 5.7], and for the wave model in [1]_(II), albeit with simplifications. Here we apply the relativistic deformation to the monochromatic wave model provided by solutions of the Helmholtz equation, $(\partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2 + \partial_z^2 + k^2) f(x, y, z) = 0$, which can be written equivalently in *evolution* form as a 2 × 2 matrix operator equation,

$$\mathbf{H}\mathbf{f} = \partial_{z}\mathbf{f}, \qquad \mathbf{H} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -\Delta_{k} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{f} := \begin{pmatrix} f(\mathbf{r}, z) \\ f_{z}(\mathbf{r}, z) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{1}$$

where $\mathbf{r} = (x, y)$, k is a wavenumber, and $\Delta_k := \partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2 + k^2$. The wavefield is $f(\mathbf{r}, z)$ and $f_z(\mathbf{r}, z) = \partial_z f(\mathbf{r}, z)$ is its normal derivative at a z = constant plane.

The operator **H** generates translations of (1)in the *z*-direction from the standard screen: $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{r}, z) = \exp(z\mathbf{H})\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{r})$, where $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{r}) := \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{r}, z)|_{z=0}$. Solutions to the Helmholtz equation are a superposition of plane waves whose directions lie on the sphere. We can imagine being in a space vehicle; at relativistic speeds, the sphere of stars will be deformed so that they will apparently crowd towards the direction of motion, the angles to it will map as $\tan \frac{1}{2}\theta \mapsto \tan \frac{1}{2}\theta' = e^{-\chi} \tan \frac{1}{2}\theta$. One can deform the Euclidean symmetry algebra of translations and rotations that accompanies (1) into a Lorentz algebra [1]_(II) to translate the boost map as generated by

$$\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{r}} = \frac{1}{k} \begin{pmatrix} (\hat{D}+1)\partial_{\mathbf{r}} + k^{2}\mathbf{r} & 0\\ 0 & (\hat{D}+2)\partial_{\mathbf{r}} + k^{2}\mathbf{r} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{B}_{z} = \frac{1}{k} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ k^{2} - (\hat{D}+2)\Delta_{k} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2)$$

where $\hat{D} := \mathbf{r} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{r}}$ and $\hat{C} := k^2 - (\hat{D} + 2)\Delta_k$. The relativistic deformation of functions on the screen is $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{r}) \mapsto \mathbf{f}_{\gamma}(\mathbf{r}) = \exp(i\gamma\omega \cdot B)\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{r})$, with the 3-vector $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ of directions

Cristina Salto-Alegre

Posgrado en Ciencias Físicas, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, e-mail: cristina@fis.unam.mx

Amalia Torre

ENEA, via E. Fermi 45, 00044 Frascati (Rome), Italy, e-mail: amalia.torre@enea.it

Kurt Bernardo Wolf

Instituto de Ciencias Físicas, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Av. Universidad s/n, Cuernavaca, Morelos 62210, México, e-mail: bwolf@fis.unam.mx

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0 65

on the sphere and $B = (\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{r}}, \mathbf{B}_{z})$; for finite boosts γ in the *z* direction, the operator is

$$\frac{k}{2\pi^{3/2}} \begin{pmatrix} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{(2n)!} (\frac{\gamma}{k})^{2n} (\hat{D}\hat{C})^n \right) \operatorname{sinc} (k|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_0|) \\ \frac{i\gamma}{k} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{(2n+1)!} (\frac{\gamma}{k})^{2n} (\hat{C}\hat{D})^n \right) \hat{C} \operatorname{sinc} (k|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_0|) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3)

The function of minimal width in a Helmholtz field is a spherical Bessel function $j_0(r)$, which is expressible as a trigonometric function: $\psi(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_o) = (k/2\pi^{3/2}) \times \operatorname{sinc}(k|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_0|)$, with zero normal derivative $\psi_z(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_o) = 0$. In Fig. ?? we show the series (3) successively computed up to the terms $n = 0, 1, \ldots, 5$. Previous work [1]_(II) presented results for $n \leq 2$ on a Gaussian —which is not properly a Helmholtz field.



Fig. 1: The relativistic coma aberration of the Helmholtz wavefield $\psi(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_o)$ as given by the *n* first terms in the series (3), for n = 0, 1, ..., 5, $\gamma = -2$, and centered on $\mathbf{r}_o = (3,0)$ —marked in the second row; color range is (0,1). Note that the apex maximum is displaced to the right while there are increasing $\sim n$ oscillations that form the coma with the characteristic $\sim 60^\circ$ opening angle.

Acknowledgements We thank the support of the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México through the PAPIIT-DGAPA project IN101115 *Óptica Matemática*, and PASPA-UNAM 2015_{II} .

- N.M. Atakishiyev, W. Lassner, and K.B. Wolf, The relativistic coma aberration. I. Geometrical optics. J. Math. Phys. **30** 2457–2462, *ibid*. II. Helmholtz wave optics, 2463–2468 (1989).
- K.B. Wolf, Relativistic aberration of optical phase space, J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 10, 1925–1934 (1993).
- 3. K.B. Wolf, Geometric Optics on Phase Space (Springer-Verlag, 2004).

Part V Memorials: S. T. Ali and L. Boyle

Syad Twareque Ali

Jean-Pierre Antoine and Jean-Pierre Gazeau

Nitya kaaler utshab taba Bishyer-i-dipaalika Aami shudhu tar-i-mateer pradeep Jaalao tahaar shikhaa¹

- Tagore



Fig. 1: Excursion on the Ganges river during the Bose School and Conference on Current Topics in Physics, held in Dakha, Bangladesh, December 15–21, 2007: Twareque Ali with two participants.

Jean-Pierre Antoine

Jean-Pierre Gazeau

Laboratoire APC, Univ Paris Diderot, Sorbonne Paris Cité, 75205 Paris, France, e-mail: gazeau@apc.in2p3.fr

¹ Thine is an eternal celebration ... – A cosmic Festival of Lights! ... Therein I am a mere flicker of a wicker lamp ... O kindle its flame, (my Master!); from the preface of AAG.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Institut de Recherche en Mathématique et Physique, Université catholique de Louvain B-1348 Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium, e-mail: jean-pierre.antoine@uclouvain.be

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_66

The career of Twareque exhibits several contrasting features. First, he is one of the few people we know who had FOUR successive nationalities. Born a citizen of the British Empire, he became a Pakistani in 1947, a Bangladeshi in 1971, and finally a Canadian.

Actually Twareque travelled a lot professionally. After a MSc in Dhaka, Bangladesh, in 1966, and a PhD in Rochester, USA, in 1973, he occupied positions successively at ICTP, Trieste (Italy), U. of Toronto, U. of Prince Edward Island, TU Clausthal (Germany), finally Concordia U., Montréal. In addition, he has been invited professor at uncountably many foreign universities throughout the world and invited speaker at as many conferences.

During his whole life, his scientific worldline was fully coherent. Indeed his entire career can be summarized in those keywords which were his favorite topics: phase space, positive operator valued measures, reproducing kernels, quantization, coherent states, orthogonal polynomials ... Throughout these years, Twareque has relentlessly preached mathematical rigor in the field of coherent states, too often left to the rather sloppy treatment of quantum optics fans (in Wikipedia, for instance !).

Let us be more specific. In the 1970s and 1980s, he devoted much time to measurement problems in (fuzzy) phase space and stochastic, Galilean and Eisteinian, quantum mechanics, mostly with E. Prugovečki, in Toronto (which led to a memorable and lasting dispute with Gerald Kaiser), G. Emch in Rochester and H.-D. Doebner in Clausthal. His 1985 monumental review paper [1] is a pedagogical landmark for the domain. Then he gradually focused on coherent states for the Galileo group, the Poincaré group, and other semi-direct product groups. These were the topics on which we started our collaboration at the end of the eighties and continued up to the end. Along the way, eleven joint papers were written (plus four with JPA alone and ten with JPG), three books edited (Białowieża proceedings), two more written as co-authors [2, 3] and a special issue of J. Phys.A [4] was published. A notable result of the joint enterprise was the extension of square integrability of group representations to homogeneous spaces [5] and the introduction of continuous frames in Hilbert spaces - the key to many applications, including wavelets [6]. Then he started to be interested in quantization, mostly Berezin or coherent states quantization, and in the mathematics of signal processing. A particularly nice achievement was his review paper with M. Englis [7]. In the last years, he studied noncommutative quantum mechanics, quaternionic Hilbert spaces and complex orthogonal polynomials.

An important part of Twareque's life is the organization of meetings. Two series are notable. First, the Białowieża Workshops on Geometric Methods in Physics, famous for the wild forest, bisons, vodka, Russian mathematicians of the highest caliber and, of course, their charismatic chief organizer, Anatol Odzijewicz. From 1992 on, the XIth meeting, Twareque was instrumental in transforming a small local workshop into a full-fledged international event, still going strong — the last edition was Nr.XXXV, last July.

Another remarkable achievement is the series of workshops in Havana, Cuba, organized jointly by Concordia U. and the University of Havana. Here again,

Twareque was one of the "chevilles ouvrières" of the meeting, who succeeded in attracting a number of recurrent distinguished participants to these beautiful surroundings and almost singlehandedly took care of the proceedings. More recently Twareque has also become a faithful participant in the school and workshops on mathematical physics (COPROMAPH) organized in Cotonou, Bénin, by Norbert Hounkonnou.

To conclude, being more explicit about numerous (around 150) Twareque's contributions listed by "order of importance" would be illusory because there are so many different, even contradictory, classification criteria. We would like just to stress the fact that Twareque had a very deep and subtle knowledge and understanding of Quantum Physics, in its foundations as well as in its working mathematical tools. And, above all, he never showed arrogance for that. It was always extremely pleasant to work with him because of his intelligence and extreme tolerance for the ideas advanced by others. Open-mindedness was one of his great qualities. His clean, polished mathematical style is a pleasure to read, even if his papers are sometimes dense and compact. His nonscientific writings have the same quality, even poetry — we still remember a memorable poem composed by him in Białowieża! His talks, of which we attended quite a number, were always extremely clear and pedagogical. His ideas were often thought provoking. Altogether we feel fortunate to have been able to work with him for so long, and so do surely all his other collaborators.

- S.T. Ali, Stochastic localization, quantum mechanics on phase space and quantum space-time, *Riv. Nuovo Cimento* 8 (1985) 1–128.
- 2. S.T. Ali, J-P. Antoine, and J-P. Gazeau, *Coherent States, Wavelets and Their Generalizations*, 2nd ed., Springer-Verlag, New York et al., 2014.
- 3. J-P. Antoine, R. Murenzi, P. Vandergheynst, and S.T. Ali, *Two-Dimensional Wavelets and their Relatives*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (UK), 2004; paperback edition, 2008.
- 4. S.T. Ali, J-P. Antoine, F. Bagarello and J-P. Gazeau (eds), *J. Phys. A*, special issue on "Coherent states: a contemporary panorama", **45** (2012).
- S.T. Ali, J-P. Antoine, and J-P. Gazeau, Square integrability of group representations on homogeneous spaces I, II Annales de l'Institut H. Poincaré 55 (1991) 829–856, 857–890.
- S.T. Ali, J-P. Antoine, and J-P. Gazeau, Continuous frames in Hilbert space, *Annals of Physics* 222 (1993) 1–37.
- S.T. Ali and M. Engliš, Quantization methods: A guide for physicists and analysts, *Rev. Math. Phys.* 17 (2005), 391–490.

Laurence Boyle - In Memoriam

Maia Angelova



Fig. 1: LL Boyle born 15th May 1942 in Oxford and died 6th October 2015 in Kent

Lewis Laurence Boyle, always known as Laurence, was born in Oxford on 15 May 1942. He was brought up the eldest of a large family, seven children, brothers and sisters, of Catherine and Donald Boyle on the outskirts of Oxford, near the village of Iffley. Laurence's early years were in many ways typical of a child brought up during the years of austerity, and with the national housing shortage,

Maia Angelova

Department of Mathematics, Physics and Electrical Engineering, Northumbria University, Newcastle upon Tyne NE21XE, UK, e-mail: maia.a@deakin.edu.au

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0_67

the Boyle family lived with their maternal grandparents until Laurence was thirteen. This was a stimulating environment for the obviously bright little boy, where education was highly regarded. With the shortage of toys, even paper being rationed until 1953, Laurence collected what was available, especially tickets, both train and bus, timetables and stamps. Meccano and Dinky toys were treats.

Laurence attended Notre Dame Prep School in Oxford, where he rapidly proved his abilities, particularly in Mathematics, and he went on to secondary school when he was only ten years of age. Rather small, a year younger than his classmates and with poor eyesight, Laurence was not a born sportsman, but the Salesian College in Cowley provided a good range of interesting activities and clubs, and it was at school there that he developed what were to be three life-long interests, geology, chess and languages, especially Spanish.

Laurence was very adept with timetables, and from an early age was organising the family holidays by train. Aged 12 he was trusted by his parents to arrange the travel for by then the parents and four children to Southport, including finding the most economical method, (mid-week tickets), purchasing the tickets with money from his mother, and even taking the luggage in advance to Littlemore station by pram. The trips, including several to Ireland, went very smoothly, with no parental input other than the arrangement of accommodation.

Aged 16, Laurence went on his own to Spain to spend a month with the relations of a Spanish priest who was a friend of his grandparents. Again, all the travel arrangements were done by Laurence himself, (and Spain was certainly not a holiday destination at that time!) The travel went well, but the family he stayed with spoke only Basque, so Laurence returned home with a basic knowledge of that language rather than improved Spanish. The ease with which Laurence had learned basic Basque gave him the confidence to learn many languages, and he eventually spoke about twelve, being able to give scientific lectures in a number of them.

Laurence was actively involved with the local geology group since age of 14. He was one of the founding members of the Oxford Geology Group.

When he was sixteen, Laurence sat the Oxford University entrance exam "for practice" and was awarded a place at Christ Church, Oxford. At that time, the university regulations prohibited a student starting before he or she was eighteen, so Laurence stayed on at school, eventually attaining eight A levels, before reading Chemistry as his first degree.

He graduated from Oxford University with the degrees:BA (Hons) (1963) in Chemistry with supplementary Mineralogy and BSc (1965) in Chemistry and Mathematics and an MA (1966) (Figures 2 and 3). He obtained a DPhil in Theoretical Chemistry in 1966 under the supervision firstly of Professor A.D. Buckingham, FRS who left to take up a post in Princeton, and secondly under Professor C.A. Coulson, FRS in the Mathematical Institute at Oxford.

Laurence was appointed as an Assistant Lecturer in Chemistry at the University of Kent at Canterbury in October 1966 at the age of 24, being one of the second cohort of academic staff after the University first opened a year earlier. He did not undertake a period of post-doctoral work, and his tenured post at Kent was his first and only ever job! He retired in 2009 [1]. At the University of Kent, Laurence was involved in teaching, research and administration. He taught a very wide range of courses, including Spectroscopy, Electron Paramagnetic Resonance, Quantum Chemistry, Advanced Ligand Field Theory, Bonding, Crystal Structures, Theoretical Organic Chemistry, Geochemistry for Chemists and for Environmental Physical Scientists, and Rocks and Minerals. As part of the Environmental Physical Sciences degree course, his geology teaching involved organising and running single-handedly annual week-long field trips during the summer vacation to Scotland, as well as day trips to Boulogne. He gave many 'outreach' lectures on symmetry in chemistry for visiting sixth-form students.

He was a College Tutor and Natural Sciences Faculty Senior Tutor for eight years, and a Convenor for the very successful Chemical Physics degree. This course, which ran for many years and attracted some very bright students, was essentially unique among UK undergraduate degree programmes [1]. Laurence's role involved co-ordinating all the teaching arrangements and organising the examinations, including setting the papers and dealing with the external examiners. He was Chemistry Library Purchasing Officer in which role he was able to exploit his love of books. In particular, he assembled a very impressive array of back-runs of many major scientific journals, which he procured on the second-hand market as library collections elsewhere were being disbanded. Sadly, because of storage space requirements and associated costs, this legacy of Laurence has now largely disappeared [1].



Fig. 2: Lewis Laurence Boyle BSc, MA, DPhil



Fig. 3: LL Boyle in Christ Church, Oxford with his tutor, Dr Paul W Kent, on the right and friends.

By 1994 he had supervised 13 PhD students and 4 MSc (by research) students. He had received 13 post-doctoral workers from abroad: six Spaniards, one Pole, three Bulgarians, one Indian, one Iranian and one Ukrainian. He had lectured in 20 different countries in, to use his own words, "the most appropriate of five languages". He had a constant stream of professors, mainly from Eastern Europe, who

visited and worked with him during his time at Kent [1]. He published with his PhD students, his post-doctoral students and his collaborators (see examples [2-4].)

Laurence specialized in Applications of Group Theory to Chemistry, Spectroscopy and Crystallography. He published about 80 papers, the latest one in 2014, in scientific journals and proceedings of international conferences. He was most proud of his paper with Kerie Green (Figure 4, right-hand side) on the complete derivation of the representation groups and projective representations of the classical point groups [2]. He was considered a leading expert on symmetries of vibrational spectroscopy and crystallographic space groups (for example [3]).

Laurence was a very keen editor of academic work. His last editorial work was of AJ Ceuleman's Group Theory Applied to Chemistry published by Springer in 2013. In the Acknowledgements of the book AJ Ceulemans wrote: "I am very grateful to L. Laurence Boyle for the critical reading of the entire manuscript, taking out remaining mistakes and inconsistencies."

I met Laurence in the summer of 1987 in Varna, where we attended the 16th International Colloquium on Group-Theoretical Methods in Physics (ICGTMP), organised by Chavdar Palev and Vladimir Dobrev. I had just completed my PhD from the University of Sofia under the supervision of Dr. Josef Kotzev. I worked with Laurence for a year in 1988 as a Visiting Research Fellow at the University of Kent, funded by The British Council. The project was on co-representations of magnetic space groups. I had two shorter visits to Kent in 1990 and 1991, after which I moved to Oxford University and Somerville College and continued to work with Laurence until the end of 1996. We wrote several papers together (see for example [4]).



Fig. 4: Left: Ms Miriam Lewis Laurence's long term partner; right: Dr. Kerie Green, a former PhD student of L L Boyle with whom he published [2] and who is now a Senior lecturer in Mathematics at the University of South Wales.

Laurence was appointed to the Standing Committee in 1979 in anticipation of his organizing the Xth International Colloquium on Group-Theoretical Methods in Physics (ICGTMP) in Canterbury in 1981 with Arthur Cracknell (Dundee). The chairman at the time was Aloysio Janner (Nijmegen) and Laurence was appointed Honorary Secretary, a post which he held for 29 years. When I and Wojtek Za-krzewski (Durham) organised the 28th ICGTMP in Newcastle upon Tyne in the summer of 2010, Laurence helped with many useful suggestions.

Laurence organised a number of large international conferences, undertook a Royal Society Study Visit to South Korea, and was a member of numerous external committees. He organised the 3rd Wigner Symposium (Oxford, 1993) with Allan Solomon (Open University) and Maia Angelova (then Somerville College, Oxford), The 24th Quantum Theory Conference (Guernsey,1993) and two smaller conferences in a stately home near Canterbury in fulfilment of a contract with the European Commission. He was actively involved in the establishment of the series of symposia on Quantum Theory and Symmetries and was a member of its International Board (Figure 5).



Fig. 5: Laurence Boyle with Reidun Twarock and Vladimir Dobrev in Prague from the Quantum Theory and Symmetry QTS7 conference in 2011.



Fig. 6: Laurence Boyle with his sister Julia in Downing Street.

He loved books, geology, antique furniture and the challenges of travelling. He enjoyed dining out. He spoke several languages fluently. Laurence was a valued member of our community (Figures 6), was an excellent researcher and teacher, and a very good organiser of academic events. He had many close friends (Figure 4) and loved his family (Figure 7). He will remain in our hearts.



Fig. 7: XXVIII ICGTMP Goup28 Newcastle upon Tyne July 2010, organised by M Angelova and W Zakrzewski

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr Katy Kidd, Laurence's sister for some of the pictures and stories about Laurence's early years, Ms Miriam Lewis, Laurence's long term partner for stories about Laurence's social life in Kent, Dr ... student at chemistry at Christ Church Oxford with Laurence and close friend and colleague, Professor John Todd, friend and colleague of Laurence at the University of Kent or facts and stories about Laurence's academic life at University of Kent at Canterbury, Professor AJ Ceulemans for stories about Laurence's passion about symmetry and group theory in chemistry, Professors V Dobrev and G Pogosyan for pictures and facts from Laurence's involvement in the ICGTMP Standing Committee work.

- 1. J Todd. Eulogy for Laurence, 22 January 2016, private communication.
- L L Boyle, Kerie F. Green. The Representation Groups and Projective Representations of the Point Groups and their Applications. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical and Physical Sciences 288 (1351) 237-269 (1978) doi: 10.1098/rsta.1978.0017.
- 3. L L Boyle. The Method of Ascent in Symmetry I. Theory and Tables. Acta Cryst. A **28**, 172-178 (1972) https://doi.org/10.1107/S0567739472000373.
- M Angelova and L L Boyle. On the classification and enumeration of the irreducible corepresentations of magnetic space groups. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 29 (5) 993-1010 (1996) doi: 10.1088/0305-4470/29/5/014.



Colloquium group photo at the campus of UFRJ, nearby CBPF where parallel sessions were hold. Image by Alvaro Farias (2016).

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0

List of participants

Abreu. Luciano Melo Aghaebrahimi, Zahra Aguirre, Alexis Roa Aizawa, Naruhiko Akinwande, Grace Itunuoluwa Alegre, Ma. Cristina Salto Almeida, Carla Rodrigues Amelino-Camelia, Giovanni Angelova. Maia Aoude, Rafael T. Jadallah Atakishivev. Natig Atakishiyeva, Masuma Bagchi, Debarshee Bai, Chengming Bengeloun, Joseph Berceanu, Stefan A. A. Bohm. Arno Borowiec, Andrzej Brando, Guilherme Bryant, Peter William Cabrera, David J. Fernández Campiglia, Miguel Cao, Junpeng Castaños. Octavio Chavez-Cerda, Sabino Churata Saul J. Panibra Curado, Evaldo M. F. Cunha, Ivan Eugénio da Silva, Malú Maira de Brito, Kelvyn P. Sousa de Guise, Hubert de Gracia, G. Brandão Delgado, Mario I. E. de Lima e Silva, Gabriel del Olmo, Mariano A. de Montigny, Marc de Vasconcelos Júnior, A. H. Dev. Sanjib Diles, Saulo de Mesquita Díaz-Bautista, Erik dos Anjos, Rita de Cássia Duarte. Lucía

Duarte, Sergio J. Barbosa **Dvoeglazov**, Valeriy Eulália, Maria Fabris, Júlio César Faci. Sofiane **Farías**. Francisco J. Martínez Faustino, Nelson J. Rodrigues Ferreira, Pedro H. Meert Filho. Elso Drigo Filho. Gilberto N S Fragoso. Ricardo Mendez França, Yuri Dias Freidel. Laurent Fresneda, Rodrigo Galtsov, Dmitry Gazeau, Jean Pierre Giacchini. Breno Loureiro Goldin, Gerald Alan Gomes, Jose Francisco Gomes, Yuri M. Plumm Goncalves, Hilario A. R. Górska, Katarzyna Gromov. Nikolai Guaitolini Junior. J. T. Guerrero. Julio Helayël-Neto, José A. Heluani. Reimundo Holanda, N. Linneu Horzela, Andrzej Katanaev, Mikhail Kerner, Richard Khusnutdinov. Nail Kielanowski, Piotr Koide, Tomoi Kornev, Alexandr Kostant, Bertram Kullock, Ricardo Kuznetsova, Zhanna Lavra, Laís Soares Léandre, Remi Ley-Koo, Eugenio Links. Jon

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Duarte et al. (eds.), *Physical and Mathematical Aspects of Symmetries*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0

Maciel, Diego G. Noguera Malkiewicz, Przemyslaw Martinez, Florencia Benitez Marques. Célio Martinovic, Lubomir Micklitz, Tobias Mignemi, Salvatore Mouayn, Zouhair Moylan, Patrick J. Neto, Ozorio B. Holanda Neto, Simão C. de Albuquerque Nicotina. Amanda Niemi. Antti Nogueira, Álvaro L. M. de A. Noseda, Francesco Novaes. Marcel Osei, Prince K. Oste, Roy Pan. Feng Pati, Kishor Chandra Paycha, Sylvie Pestun, Vasily **Pinto**. Eric M. de Assis Pinto-Neto. Nelson Pogosyan, George Prester, Predrag Dominis Pupasov-Maksimov, Andrey Rapcan, Peter Rego-Monteiro, Marco Retore, Ana Lúcia Ricotta, Regina Maria Rodrigues, Lígia M. C. de S. Rodriguez, Ubaldo Baños Rosa, Reinaldo Roberto Sadovski, G. S. de Araújo

Salazar, Hector Leny Carrion Sánchez, Anahí Alvarado Sánchez, Adrian Lozano Santos. Ricardo José Scherer Satheeshkumar, VH Schroer. Bert Sicuro. Gabriele Silva. Gabriel Freitas Silveira, Fernanda Alvarim Soares, Ivano Damião Sontz, Stephen Bruce Spano, Nathaly Sugino, Fumihiko Szajewska, Marzena Tomaz, Anderson Alves Toppan, Francesco Toribio, Alan M. Velasquez Torres, Marcus A. C. Tsallis. Constantino Tupia, Martn D. Arteaga Uhlig, Cyntia V. H. Bezerra Valenzuela, Mauricio Van der Jeugt, Joris Vergne, Michèle Vidal, Diego Vieira. Pedro Vinet, Luc, CRM Vitelli, Vicenzo Vourdas, Apostol Weberszpil, José Wolf, Kurt Bernardo Yakhno, Alexander Yang, Wenli Zajac, Anton Zanelli, Jorge